(P-ISSN 0972-3099) (e-ISSN 2278-5124)

Environment Conservation Journal

Volume 23, Number (1&2), 2022

An International Journal Devoted to Conservation of Environment (A Peer Reviewed Journal)



Editor in-Chief Prof. D.R. Khanna

Executive Editors Dr. Ashutosh Gautam Dr. A. Goutam Dr. R. Bhutiani



Action for Sustainable, Efficacious Development and Awareness (ASEA), India www.environcj.in

Environment Conservation Journal

(P-ISSN 0972-3099) (e-ISSN 2278-5124)

An International Journal Devoted to Conservation of Environment (A Peer Reviewed Journal)

Volume 23, Number (1&2), 2022

Issue DOI: https://doi.org/10.36953/ECJ.2022.2312

NAAS Rating: 5.66

Index Copernicus Value (ICV):100



Enlisted in Index Copernicus International Master Journal List

Editorial Head Office 405, VivekVihar, Ranipur More, Opposite Hotel Vinayak, Haridwar- 249407 Uttarakhand, India

The Editors and ASEA assume no responsibility for the originality/views expressed by the authors of articles/papers printed in Environment Conservation Journal.

Published by: Action for Sustainable Efficacious Development and Awareness (ASEA) Phone: 09897020147, 09412072917 www.environcj.in E-mail: environcj@gmail.com © ASEA

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) ISSN 2278-5124 (Online)

Editor-In-Chief

Prof. D.R. Khanna Former Head, Deptt. of Zoology and Environmental Science, Gurukula Kangri Vishwavidyalaya, Hardwar, India.

Executive Editors

Dr. Ashutosh Gautam India Glycols Limited, Bazpur Road, Kashipur,India

Dr. Aditya Gautam

Shriram College, Muzaffarnagar, India Dr. R. Bhutiani

Department of Zoology and Environmental Science Gurukula Kangri Vishwavidyalaya, Hardwar India

Editorial Board

Prof. Imran Ali, Jamia Millia Islamia (Central University) New Delhi, India Dr. Inderjeet Tyagi. Zoological Survey of India, Kolkata-India Dr. Neeraj Kumar, Meerut College Meerut (U.P.)-India Dr. Rakesh Kumar Baccheti, Addis Ababa Science and Technology University, Ethopia Dr. Evgeny Galunin, Tomsk Polytechnic University, Tomsk, Russia. Dr. Shachindra Pandey, K & S Partners, Gurgaon, Haryana, India Dr. Joanna Goscianska, Adam Mickiewicz University in Poznań, Dr. Kuheli Sen, Washington University, Saint Louis, Missouri Dr. (Mrs.) R. Gnaneswaran, University of Jaffna, Jaffna, Srilanka Dr. Vikas Kumar, Zoological Survey of India, Kolkata-India Prof. Jaswant Singh RML Awadh University, Faizabad, India Prof. Ashish Thapliyal Graphic Era Deemed to be University, Dehradun, India Dr. Shiv Om Singh ITM University Gwalior-India Dr. Pracheta Banasthali Vidyapith, Banasthali, Rajasthan-, India Prof. N.K. Agarwal H.N.B. Garhwal University Campus Badshaahithaul Tehri Garhwal Dr. L. N. Thakural National Institute of Hydrology, Roorkee, India Dr. D.P. Uniyal Science and technology council, Uttarakhand, India Dr. Kaomud Tyagi Zoological Survey of India, Kolkata-India Prof. Nishant Rai Graphic Era Deemed to be University, Dehradun, India Prof. Sanjay Kumar Bhardwaj Ch. Charan Singh University Meerut, India Prof. Anil K. Raina University of Jammu, Jammu, India Dr. Mukesh Ruhela Subharti University, Meerut, India Prof. A. K. Dobriyal H.N. B. Garhwal University, Srinagar, Garhwal, India Prof. S. B. Zade RTM Nagpur University, Nagpur, India Prof. R.G. Upadhayay, Palampur, Himachal Pradesh, India Dr. Shashi Bala, Deptt.of Chemistry, Swami Vivekanand Subharti University, Meerut, India Prof. Raj Kumar Rampal, Deptt. of Environmental Science, University of Jammu, Jammu, India Mr. Faheem Ahamad Subharti University, Meerut, India Er. Mukul Sain, Baba Banda Singh Bahadur Engg. College, Fatehgarh Sahib, Punjab, India Dr. Mohd. Faisal Siddiqui, Deptt. of Zoology, Gyan Mahavidhyalaya, Aligarh, India Dr. Anil Dhiman, Gurukul Kangri University, Haridwar- India Dr. Mohd. Ashaq Malik, Department of Botany, Govt. PG College, Rajouri, J&K, India Dr. Kapila Mahajan, PG Department of Zoology D.A.V. College , Jalandhar, Punjab, India Dr. Atal Bihari Bajpai, Department of Botany, HNB Garwal Universoty (A central University) Srinagar Garhwal, India Advisory Board Professor L. Szpyrkowicz, Italy

Professor L. Szpyrkowicz, Italy Professor Michael Jeffery, ustralia Er. Pieter Hilbrand, Netherlands Dr. Juan Martin Garia, Spain Dr. Shiv Nayyar, Canada Professor S.P. Badola, India Professor S.P.S. Dutta, India Professor H.S. Singh, India

Professor P. Kaushik, India Professor A.K. Chopra, India Professor B.N. Pandey,India Professor Uttam Sharma, India Professor G. P. Gupta, India Professor S. K. Pathak, India Professor Manmohan Srivastava, India Professor R. R. Kanhere, India

Abstracted/Indexed in

- DOAJ (DIRECTORY OF OPEN ACCESS JOURNALS)
- Chemical Abstracts Services (U.S.A.)
- Aquatic Science and Fisheries Abstracts (U.S.A.)
- NATIONAL ACADEMY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE (NAAS)
- EBSCO (U.S.)
- Indian Science Abstracts (India)
- CAB Abstracts (U.K.)
- J-Gate (India)
- WorldCat (USA)
- Scilit (Switzerland)
- **PKP Index (Canada)**
- BASE (Bielefeld Academic Search Engine) Germany
- Euro Pub (U.K.)
- Scope database, India
- Index Copernicus (Poland)
- Google Scholar (U.S.A.)
- Indian Citation Index (India)
- IP indexing (India)

DISCLAIMER: Though we try our best to get abstracted/ indexed/ enlisted each and every article in the above repositories but we cannot guarantee the inclusion of each and every published articles in these websites.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Aims and Scope: Environment Conservation Journal aims to publish original research/ review papers/ Book reviews/ Reports on conferences/ seminars/ important events, news of interest/ information on forthcoming seminar/ books on the environment related aspects. It encourages submission of two categories of papers. The first category comprises scientific papers and second category comprises engineering papers. The study of environment is inherently multidisciplinary.

Authors Guidelines

Submission, revisions and publication:

Manuscripts should be submitted online as a Microsoft Word file in a single column format on our website through the submission portal.

- The manuscript should be in English
- Use a normal, plain font (12-point Times new Roman) for text with 1.5 space.
- Use italics for emphasis.
- Use the automatic line numbering and page numbering function to number the pages and lines.
- Use tab stops or other commands for indents, not the space bar.
- Use the table function, not spreadsheets, to make tables.
- Use the equation editor or MathType for equations.
- Save your file in docx format (Word 2007 or higher) or doc format (older Word versions).
- Abbreviations should be defined at first mention and used consistently hereafter.
- Acknowledgments of people, grants, funds, etc. should be placed in a separate section on the title page. The names of funding organizations should be written in full.

Once the manuscript is submitted online on our website, our editorial team will do an initial assessment (Plagiarism and Quality Check) of the submitted manuscript to ascertain its eligibility to be sent for review. After passing the plagiarism and quality check stage the manuscript will be sent for review, Authors are also encouraged to provide the names of three referees/reviewers along with the manuscript.

The authors are given reasonable time and opportunities to revise the paper to address the comments of the reviewers and editorial team. If the author is unable to revise the manuscript as requested, the manuscript will be rejected. Also, if the revisions are not received within the requested dates of the revision, the manuscript will not be processed further and the authors will be requested to submit the manuscript again and will be treated as a new submission for re-review. Any manuscript which has been dormant for more than a year due to any reason whatsoever will be deleted from our system.

After a thorough review and revision process, if the paper is accepted for publication then, Article Processing charges would be charged. Please refer to the Payments and Subscriptions section of our website for the current fee structure.

The decision of the Editor-in-Chief would be final for the acceptance of the manuscript for publication in the journal.

Manuscript Preparation

The manuscript should be in English in Times new roman (font size 12, space 1.5) with wide margins on high quality white paper. Subdivision of the paper into Abstract (Not more than 300 words), Introduction, Materials and Method, Results and Discussion, Conclusion, Acknowledgements and References is recommended.

<u>Page 1:</u> of the manuscript should contain Short and informative Title of paper, Article type, Keywords for computer aided searching, Author(s) and Co-authors name(s), Affiliation(s), complete address for correspondence including electronic address (Email id), telephone and Fax number.

Page 2: of the manuscript should contain the Abstract (Not more than 300 words) and at least six keywords in alphabetical order.

<u>Consecutive pages:</u> of the manuscript should contain Introduction, Materials and Method, Results and Discussion, Acknowledgement, Conflict of Interest, funding if any, References.

Tables

All the tables/figures/histogram/photographs should be consecutively numbered with a brief caption below and should be placed at the end of the manuscript. The illustrations should be of good quality. Illustration should be designed to allow 50 % reduction. These should be numbered sequentially.

- All tables are to be numbered using Arabic numerals.
- Tables should always be cited in text in consecutive numerical order.
- For each table, please supply a table caption (title) explaining the components of the table.
- Identify any previously published material by giving the original source in the form of a reference at the end of the table caption.
- Footnotes to tables should be indicated by superscript lower-case letters (or asterisks for significance values and other statistical data) and included beneath the table body.

References

The list of references should only include works that are cited in the text and that have been published or accepted for publication.

Reference list entries should be alphabetized by the last names of the first author of each work.

Journal names and book titles should be italicized.

If available, please always include DOIs as full DOI links in your reference list (e.g. "https://doi.org/abc").

Reference Citations in text

For single author

Cite last name every time the reference appears in the text. For example: (Khanna, 2018) or Khanna (2018)

For two authors

Cite both names every time the reference appears in the text. For example: (Khanna and Bhutiani, 2018) or Khanna and Bhutiani (2018)

For more than two authors

Cite the last name followed by et al. in italic. For example: (Khanna et al., 2018) or Khanna et al. (2018)

Citing authors with multiple works from one year

Cite the multiple works with a, b, c and so on. Assign these letters within the reference list also, which is sorted alphabetically by the surname of the first author. For example: (Khanna, 2017a,b,c) or Khanna, (2017a,b,c)

If these works are by the same author, cite the surname once followed by the years in chronological order. For example: (Bhutiani, 2007, 2013, 2017) or Bhutiani (2007, 2013, 2017)

No author

If there is a title of a book, periodical, brochure or report, it should be italicised. For example: (A guide to citation, 2017).

Citing a group or organisation

Cite the full name of the group. For example: (Food and Agriculture Organization, 2017) or Food and Agriculture Organization (2017)

Citing an entire website

When you refer to a website in your text without quoting or paraphrasing from a specific part of it, you do not need a formal citation. Use the same format as you use for print, with a URL added at the end. For example: <u>www.environcj.in</u> or (www.environcj.in)

For this kind of citation, you do not need to include the website in the list of Reference sections.

Citing a specific page of the entire website

If you are citing a specific page or article from a website, you will need a formal citation in the text and also in the reference list of the Reference section.

For example: (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021) or Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021)

All references cited in the text should be listed at the end of the manuscript alphabetically in the following style:

References in the Reference list

For paper

Bhutiani, R., Ram, K. & Ahamad, F. (2019). Assessment of suitability of ground water quality in and around Laksar, Haridwar, Uttarakhand on the basis Water Quality Index (WQI). Environment Conservation Journal, 20 (1), 41–46. https://doi.org/10.36953/ECJ.2019.1008.1207

For book

Khanna, D.R. & Bhutiani, R. (2017): Water Biology. Discovery Publishing House, New Delhi.

Society, association, or institution as author and publisher

American Public Health Association (2012). Standard methods for examination of water and waste water.23th Ed. Washington DC, USA.

Chapter, essay, or article by author in a book or encyclopedia edited by another

Priyanka, Tiwari, Ramesh Chandra and Bhutiani, Rakesh (2021): Green tea and its effects with special reference to ayurvedic concept about tea and rasayana. In: Green Tea (pp: 99-109) Nova Publications.

Ph.D. Thesis, Dissertation and Reports

Bhutiani, R., (2004). Limnological status of river Suswa with reference to its mathematical modeling, Ph.D. Thesis submitted to Gurukul Kangri University, Haridwar, Uttaranchal, India.

For webpage

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2021). Water treatment. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases (NCEZID), Division of Foodborne, Waterborne, and Environmental Diseases (DFWED). Retrieved March 3, 2021, https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/public/water_treatment.html

Annual report

United States Department of Agriculture (2016). World Rice Production, Consumption, and Stocks. United States Department of Agriculture. Foreign Agricultural Service. Retrieved from http://apps.fas.usda.gov/psdonline/psdHome.aspx)

Permissions

If you include figures that have already been published elsewhere, you must obtain permission from the copyright owner(s) for both the print and online format. Please be aware that some publishers do not grant electronic rights for free.

<u>Animal Ethics and Informed Consent for Human</u> <u>Participants:</u>

The author should ensure that appropriate permission are taken from the concerned Animal Ethics Committee for the conduct of the research using animals. The research involving human participants proper guidelines should be followed to protect their privacy and written consent should be taken informing the participants about the data to be used in the research.

Author contributions

The Publisher recommends authors to include contribution statements in the work that specifies the contribution of every author in order to promote transparency. These contributions should be listed at the separate title page.

Changes to authorship

Authors are strongly advised to ensure the correct author group, the Corresponding Author, and the order of authors at submission. Changes of authorship by adding or deleting authors, and/or changes in Corresponding Author, and/or changes in the sequence of authors are not accepted after acceptance of a manuscript.

Please note that author names will be published exactly as they appear on the accepted submission

Please make sure that the names of all authors are present and correctly spelled, and that addresses and affiliations are current.

Adding and/or deleting authors at revision stage are generally not permitted, but in some cases it may be warranted. Reasons for these changes in authorship should be explained. Approval of the change during revision is at the discretion of the Editor-in-Chief.

If there is suspicion of misbehavior or alleged fraud the Journal and/or Publisher will carry out an investigation following COPE guidelines. If, after investigation, there are valid concerns, the author(s) concerned will be contacted under their given e-mail address and given an opportunity to address the issue.

Proofs

Galley proofs will be sent to the corresponding author by e-mail, your response, with or without corrections, should be sent within 72 hours. However, on non-receipt of the proof, the care would be taken by the publisher to get the papers corrected and published at the earliest possible. As part of our Go Green initiative, ECJ has decided not to provide hard copies. This will help us fulfil our environmental commitment to care of the earth for ourselves and generations to come. A secured pdf file of the published research paper/review article would be provided by e-mail to the corresponding author. Authors will be able to view the manuscript on the journal's website.

Article Processing Charges: Article processing charges of INR 4000 up to 10 print pages of the journal and there-after INR 300 (within India)/ USD 10 (outside India) for additional each print page, will be charged for publication of the Manuscript. For any subsequent MS, separate Article processing charges would be charged. The Article processing charges cover the costs including those of publication management, journal production, online hosting and archiving, abstracting and indexing services, online distribution to discovery services, content aggregators, Digital Object Identifier (DOI) numbers and other related services.

Print Copies: As part of our Go Green policy we print very limited hard copies of the issues on special request only. It's INR 1000/USD 120 for 1 issue, which includes postal charges.

Volume-23, Number (1&2), 2022	
Contents	Page no.
Comprehensive assessment of heavy metals contamination in soil and water in peri-urban areas of National Capital Territory, Delhi Jaya N. Surya, Ashok Kumar, Gaurav Singh, D.K. Singh, Neelam Patel	1-7
Assessing the indoor air pollution level as per energy ladder and its effect on respiratory health Anju Bala, Kiran Singh, Komal, Manju Mehta	8-14
Effect of <i>Ailanthus</i> species and seasons on yarn parameters of eri silk R. R. Borah. M. Saikia	15-21
Strategies and methods for improving phosphorus acquisition and its use efficiency: A review Purushottam Dev, S. S. Paliyal, Mridula, Navjot Rana, R. G. Upadhyay	22-30
Standardization of asexual propagation techniques in rambutan (<i>Nephelium lappaceum</i> L.) for humid tropical region of India Panchaal Bhattacharjee, T. Sakthivel, Subhash Chander, P. K. Nimbolkar	31-38
Repurposing of drugs and leading vaccines work against COVID-19 Prabha Rana, Vagisha Rawal	39-48
Biomethanated distillery spentwash application and its impact on soil health, growth and yield of Elephant foot yam R. Jayashree, Sharmi, S. Asha Priyanka	49-54
Estimation of seasonal surplus labour in agriculture in different agro-climatic regions of Rajasthan Arjun Singh Rajput, Latika Sharma, P. S. Sekhawat, Vikash Pawariya	55-64
Detection of antibiotic resistance in <i>Escherichia coli</i> isolates from Egyptian vultures from arid regions of India Khushboo Panwar, Taruna Bhati, Sanju Ritod, B. N. Shringi	65-71
Assesment of divergence among soybean [<i>Glycine max</i> (L.) Merrill] genotypes based on phenological and physiological traits Subhash Bijarania, Anil Pandey, Mainak Barman, Monika Shahani, Gharsiram	72-82
Evaluating anti-microbial and anti-oxidative potential of red biopigment from Monascus purpureus Vishu Chaudhary, Priya Katyal, Harsh Panwar, Anil Kumar Puniya, Anuj Kumar Poonia	83-93
Effect of phosphorus and biofertilizers on growth and yield of Mothbean (<i>Vigna aconitifolia</i> (Jacq.) Marechal) in Prayagraj conditions	94-98

Anu Nawhal, Umesha, C.

Subhash palekar natural farming - scope, efficacy and critics Purushottam Dev, S. S. Paliyal, Navjot Rana	99-106
Response of different methods of sowing and organic manures on growth and yield of Wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> L.) Bandi Gnana Prakash, Joy Dawson, Thomas Abraham, M. R. Meshram	107-113
Conservation and successful utilization of landraces for rice improvement Bidhan Roy, Surje Dinesh Tulsiram, Swarnajit Debbarman, Gadge Sushant Sundarrao, Monish Roy, Pallabi Saha, Sagnik Poddar, Utpal Maity, H.A. Murali, Ranjeet Kumar	114-123
Integrating weather model & Remote sensing indices for wheat yield prediction in Haryana, India Manjeet, Anurag, Ram Niwas, Dinesh Tomar	124-130
Statistical and temporal trends analysis of rainfall in Bundelkhand region, Central India Liansangpuii Fanai, K. N. Singh, R. Singh, R. M. Singh, D. Khalkho	131-142
Effect of scouring and laundering on functional properties of natural colour cotton fabric concentrations of fluoride Sannapapamma K J, Sakeena Naikwadi, Deepa Bhairappanavar, Rajesh Patil, Y. R. Aladakatti	143-153
Diversity of Geometrid moths (Geometridae: Lepidoptera) in Kashmir valley, India Deelak Amin, Zakir Husain Khan	154-163
Impact of growth hormones on vegetative propagation of <i>Elaeocarpus ganitrus</i> Roxb. Abigail Rai, Amarendra Nath Dey, Nilesh Bhowmick, Mihir Ranjan Panda, Dinesha S., Bidyut Sarkar	164-171
Response of irrigation scheduling and nitrogen levels on growth and yield contributing parameters of radish (<i>Raphanus sativus</i> L.) under mid hills of Himachal Pradesh Archana Sharma, Jagjeet Chand Sharma, Krishan Lal Gautam, Jigmet Namgial	172-182
The dynamics of the first wave of COVID-19 on environment and wildlife– a boon or a bane? Yashita Sharma, Yashika Mago, Vagisha Rawal	183-191
Diagnostic analysis of Baroda branch canal of Som Kamla Amba irrigation project, Rajasthan, India Kishan Makadiya, R C Purohit, Jitendra Rajput, Dimple, Ashish Rai	192-202
Agroforestry: Viable alternatives for ensuring green fodder production around the year Sneh Yadav, R. S. Dhillon, K.S. Ahlawat, Chhavi Sirohi, Vishal Johar, Ashish Kumar	203-210
Forewarning of insect incidence based on weather variables for management of cropping practices in Sugarcane Y. A. Garde, H. V. Gundaniya, V. S. Thorat, R. R. Pisal, Alok Shrivastava	211-216

Evaluation of F _{2:3} rice population resistant to <i>Rhizoctonia solani</i> Kuhn inciting sheath blight disease Uday Kumar Thera, Ashmita Timsina, Naveen Kumar Ramasamy, Mounika Aadika	217-226
Spatial variability map of micronutrients in vegetable growing area of Varanasi Kshirod Chandra Sahoo, Rajeswari Das, Pramod Kumar Sharma	227-233
Spatial mapping of groundwater quality using GIS for Jakham River basin of Southern Rajasthan Vinay Kumar Gautam, Mahesh Kothari, Pradeep Kumar Singh, Sita Ram Bhakar, Kamal Kishor Yadav	234-243
Effect of tillage and cultivars on growth and growth indices of rice (<i>Oryza sativa</i> L.) Ankit, Samsher, Sandeep Manuja, Suresh Kumar, Shilpa, Shabnam Kumari, Nikhil Dogra	244-250
Effect of pre-treatments on nutritional quality of dehydrated spine gourd (<i>Momordica dioica</i> Roxb.) powder Hamsa, R., Bhuvaneshwari, G, Jagadeesh, S. L., Jameel, J. M. D., Rudresh, D. L.	251-257
Water usage pattern in the aftermath of COVID-19 Venu Prasad H D, Naveena K	258-264
Evaluation of antibacterial activity and phytochemical investigation of <i>Azadirachta indica L.</i> against certain bacterial species Aparajita Gupta, Shiwani Thakur	265-271
Evaluation and validation of disease management module for Alternaria Blight in Mustard Jai Singh, Ashish Kumar, A.K. Chaubey	272-277
Effect of plant size on growth and flower production of <i>Phaius tankervilleae</i> (Banks ex L'Hérit.) Blume - an endangered orchid of North-Eastern India Preeti Hatibarua, Ningombam Sushma Devi, Sunil Kumar Borah, Nirmal Mazumdar	278-282
Fluctuations in soil nutrients and physico-chemical properties following controlled fire in North-Western Himalayas Sakshi Vishvamitera, Uday Sharma, Abhinav Guleria	283-289
Drought in Indian perspective, its impact on major crops and livestock and remedial measures Alok Singh Jayara, K. Indudhar Reddy, Roshan Lal Meena	390-301
Assessment of water footprint based on estimated crop evapotranspiration for paddy, sugarcane and banana under semi-arid climate J. Ramachandran, R. Lalitha, S. Vallal Kannan, K. Sivasubramanian	302-308
Regulation of soil organic carbon stock with physical properties in alluvial soils of Bihar Vandana Kumari, Ranjan Laik, Shishpal Poonia, Debabrata Nath	309-314

Development of interspecific hybrids between urdbean & mungbean Shailja Sharma, RK Mittal, VK Sood, HK Chaudhary	315-321
Performance of timely sown wheat (<i>Triticum aestivum</i> L.) genotypes under irrigated condition Sriperambuduru Vikas, Umesha C., Mayurkumar R Meshram, Lalith Kumar Sanodiya	322-32
Evaluation of production and environmental aspects of different pig production systems in the Northern State of India, Punjab Navjot Kaur, Inderpreet Kaur, Varinderpal Singh	328-334
Garrett scoring technique for assessing the constraints faced by dairy farmers of Madhepura district, Bihar Kishan Raj, Ramachandra	335-341
Soil biological properties as affected by the conjunction of chemical fertilizers, bacterial consortia and bio-enhancers in foxtail millet cultivation M. Veerendra, B. Padmaja, M. Malla Reddy, S. Triveni	342-350
Analysis of climate variability and influence of climate variables on major crop yields in Nalgonda District of Telangana State, India Akshith Sai Pabba, Balaji Naik Banoth, Ravinder Naik Vankudothu, Sudha Rani Voliveru	351-364
Effect of different tillage systems and cultivars on yield and yield attributes of rice (<i>Oryza sativa</i> L.) Ankit, Sandeep Manuja, Suresh Kumar, Shilpa, Shabnam Kumari, Anil Kumar, Deepika Suri	365-36
Evaluation of spring water quality using water quality index method for Bageshwar District, Uttarakhand, India Mohd Azam, Jyothi Prasad, Halkurike Jayadevaiah Shiva Prasad	370-379
Effect of varying altitudes on energy consumption and wheat production in Himachal Pradesh Sarwan Kumar, Rajendra Prasad, Gurpreet Singh, Navjot Rana, S. S. Rana, R. G. Upadhayay, Ishavjot Singh Mandian	380-384
Carbon dioxide sequestered by trees in an urban institution: A case study Ritica Mohan, Saima Qamar, Anil K. Raina	385-391
Assessment of the effects of fungicide (Thiram) on somatic cells of broad bean (<i>Vicia faba</i> L.) Naina Srivastava	392394
Species richness and abundance of Coccinellids (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) in agricultural ecosystem of Doiwala region, Dehradun (U.K), India Pushnendra K. Sharma, Pramod Chandra Khanduri, Rashmi Tyagi Rawat	395-399

Present status and future directions for management of root lesion nematode (<i>Pratylenchus thornei</i>) in chickpea	400-409
Ashish Kumar, Vedant Gautam, R. K. Tiwari, Stuti Sharma, Jayant Bhatt, Radheshyam Sharma, R. Shiv RamaKrishnan	
Chemical and morphological variations in <i>Terminalia bellirica</i> (Gaertn.) Roxb. – a species of commercial ayurvedic formulation triphla from central India Hari Om Saxena, N. D. Khobragade, Samiksha Parihar, M. Kundu, G. Rajeshwar Rao, Ganesh Pawar	410-416
Morphometric analysis for sustainable development of natural resource management by using remote sensing and GIS techniques in Tikamgarh District, M.P., Central India Karuna Nidhan Singh, Ramesh Singh, Dhiraj Khalkho, Mahendra Prasad Tripathi	417-426

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Comprehensive assessment of heavy metals contamination in soil and water in peri-urban areas of National Capital Territory, Delhi

Java N. Surva 🖂 ICAR-National Bureau of Soil Survey and Land Use Planning, Regional Centre New Delhi, India. Ashok Kumar ICAR-National Bureau of Soil Survey and Land Use Planning, Regional Centre New Delhi, India. **Gauray Singh** ICAR-National Bureau of Soil Survey and Land Use Planning, Regional Centre New Delhi, India. **D.K. Singh** Department of Zoology, University of Delhi, Delhi, India. **Neelam Patel** National Institution for Transforming India (NITI Aayog), New Delhi, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 21 August 2021	Contamination of soil and irrigation water by heavy metals (HMs) is a genuine
Revised : 12 October 2021	concern due to the possible effect on human well-being via food chain. Thus, an
Accepted : 08 November 2021	assessment was carried out to find HMs concentration level in water and soil
	samples of peri-urban areas of National Capital Territory (NCT) Delhi.
Published online: 31 January 2022	Analytical results revealed that significant amount of HMs concentration were
	found in irrigation water, out of which concentrations of Cu (2590 µg/L), Fe
Key Words:	(5549 µg/L), Cr (1910 µg/L), Mn (2570 µg/L), Zn (2155 µg/L) and Cd (405
Heavy metals contamination	μg/L) in drain water were exceeded the permissible limit of FAO. Cu (108.94
Soil and water in peri-urban areas	μg/g) and Pb (163 μg/g) concentration in surface soils of majority of sites were
NCT Delhi	recorded beyond the permissible limit of FAO. The overall mean HMs
Irrigation	concentration in soil found in the sequence Zn>Cu>Fe>Mn>Cr>Ni>Pb>Cd. It
	reveals that increasing trend of HMs concentration in water used for irrigation
	results in metal accumulation in soil, and their consequent accrual in the crops
	lead to adverse impact on human well-being.

Introduction

Peri-urban areas have dominance in a wide range of their movement from soil-to-crop is the main allied activities along with arable farming and are often used for production of horticulture, floriculture, poultry and dairy development due heavy demands and profitability. But majority of peri-urban lands are polluted with toxic metals by various sources such as industrial effluents, dumping sites, sewerage, vehicular emission, human induced pollution and indiscriminate use of chemicals fertilizers (Bhattacharva et al., 2015; Bhardwaj et al., 2020). Irrigation water is contaminated with toxic metals due to various sources (Khan et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2021). Thus, agriculture products grown in these areas are liked to be contaminated by heavy metals (HMs). HMs contamination of cultivated soils may create great ecological and environmental issues. Besides,

pathway of human exposure to these metals. Continuous population growth leads to increased food requirement, large consumption of pesticides, manures, fertilizers and so on is also on the rise besides use of wastewater for agricultural irrigation. Such practices not only led to deterioration of food quality but also have serious impact on food security. Since, the physicochemical characteristics of soil and nature of plant species is important factor for HMs accumulation (Khan et al., 2015; Chabukdhara et al., 2016; Singh et al., 2021).Globally more than 70% water is consumed by the agriculture sector (Mancosu et al., 2015). However, the availability of fresh groundwater for agriculture is decreasing largely due to increasing demand of water from energy and municipal industries in urban as well as peri-urban regions. Irrigation with metal contaminated water *i.e.* drain, river, groundwater can lead to increase in metals concentration in cultivated soil (Gola *et al.*, 2020). Normally, wastewater contains noteworthy quantity of beneficial nutrients and toxic HMs. Increased use of agro-chemicals also causes polluted crop land by HMs (Balkhair and Ashraf, 2016).

River Yamuna is the imperative water source for northern India, and covered about 48 km of the national capital territory (NCT), Delhi, and contributing about 94%, 4% and 2% for irrigation, household and industrial and other applications, respectively (CPCB 2006). Due to metropolitan city and capital of India, industrialization and urbanization are major factor for water and soil pollution. NCT of Delhi has an impenetrable population of around 160 lakhs (Census 2011). It has the larger load of small to medium size industries deals in electroplating steel processing, battery, dyeing, electrical appliances manufacturing and printing etc. The effluents produced from these various industries are discharged into open drains or into sewerage lines which are finally disposed into river Yamuna (Bhattacharya et al., 2015). Moreover, the river is also connected by around 23 drains carrying huge quantity of sewage /wastewater that released into the river without proper treatment and hence contributed sources of pollution. Considering the above problem the study was conducted to assess the HMs concentration in irrigation water as well as soil at different places belongs to NCT of Delhi.

Material and Methods

Sampling: In Per-urban and urban area of Delhi NCT, total 10 sampling sites were identified for soil and water samples collection. A Location map of sampling site is given in Figure 1. Water samples were collected from various sources such (i) drains from Najafgarh (S1), Wazirabad (S2) and Nizamuddin (S3), (ii) Yamuna River from Yamuna Vihar (S4) and Sonia Vihar (S5) and (iii) Tube wells water from Ranhaula (S6), SaritaVihar (S7), Dinchaon Kalan (S8), Madanpur Khadar (S9) and Jagatpur (S10) during post-monsoon in 2019 and 2020. Besides, soil samples from surface (0-30cm) and subsurface (30-60cm) layers were also collected from cultivated fields, which have

different contamination sources due to industrialization and urbanization of Delhi NCT.

Sample preparation and heavy metal analysis: 15ml of Di-acid mixture (HNO₃ and HClO₄ in 9:4 ratio) was added in 100 ml of water samples and heated at 80°C till a clear solution was attained. After cooling, this sample was filtered by filter paper (Whatman # 42) and make up the volume of the filtrate to 100 ml with double distil water. Further, One gram of soil sample was digested subsequently adding 15 ml of tri-acid mixture (nitric, sulfuric and perchloric acids in ratio 5:1:1) at 80°C until a clear solution was achieved. Sample was cooled and filtered by Whatman No. 42 filter paper and make up the volume of the filtrate to 25 mL with double distilled water (Singh et al., 2021). Copper (Cu), Iron (Fe), manganese (Mn) nickel (Ni), lead (Pb), zinc (Zn),Cadmium (Cd) and chromium (Cr), in prepared water and soil samples were examined through an atomic absorption spectrophotometer (AAS4141, ECIL, India). The instrument was calibrated by a manually prepared standard solution of each metals and drift blanks. Standard stock solutions of 1000ppm used for all metals.



Figure 1: Location map of sampling site in Delhi NCT.

Results and Discussion

Irrigation water: A comprehensive range of eight HMs concentrations (µg/L) present in Yamuna River, associated drains and tube well water of Delhi NCT is compared with the previous studies (Table 1). Figure 2 a, b, and c representing the each metal concentrations at different sampling sites from S1 to S3 for drain, from S4 and 5 for river and S6 to S10 for tube well water. The overall mean with standard deviation (SD) of Cu, Fe, Mn, Ni, Pb, Cd, Cr, and Zn were found 795.4 ± 1153.2 , 1784.4±2353.8, 893.1±1045.4, 218.4±260.4, 5137±618,133±163.8, 472.2±693.5 and 776.1±915.7µg/L, respectively. Results reveal that, the HMs i.e. Cd, Cr, Ni and Pb in tube-well water were reported below detection limit (BDL) whereas, all the metals concentration in tube-well water were recorded as under permissible limit as suggested by FAO for irrigation. The AAS-4141 detection limit for Cu, Fe, Mn, Ni, Pb, Cd, Cr, and Zn was 40, 50, 30, 200, 200, 10, 60 and 10 µg/L, respectively. Highest concentration of Cd (405 $\mu g/L$) and Cr (1910 $\mu g/L$), Fe (5549 $\mu g/L$), Mn (2570 µg/L), Ni (612 µg/L), Pb (1490 µg/L), and Zn (2155 µg/L) were recorded at Najafgarh site followed by Nizamuddin. It may be due to contamination by industrial effluents dyes as Najafgarh site has major drain which carries lots of industrials and municipal wastewaters/ effluents. Farmers in peri-urban areas along these drains are frequently uses this water as irrigational purposes. Hence, it is serious concern to monitor the quality of soil and agricultural produce. However, higher Cu concentration (2590 µg/L) was recorded at Nizamuddin site followed by Najafgarh site. Nizamuddin sites also having industrials belt including Okhla area and carries wastewaters. More or less similar concentration of HMs were reported by Bhattacharya et al. (2015) for Zn (130-2220 µg/L), Bhardwaj et al. (2017) for Fe (878.5-53940 μ g/L), Cr (2.6–1983 μ g/L), and Cd (1.7–433 μ g/L) (Table 1). Najafgarh drain is highly polluted, mainly due to the effluent release of the nearby industrial enclaves (alloy, pickling, printing, steel, battery, plastic, chemical, electroplating, dyeing, galvanization and leather). Nizamuddin drain is the confluence point of several drains, hence carry significant amount of pollutants from small scale industrial effluents, sewage and sludge.

Yamuna River is ultimately discharge point of all drains of Delhi NCT. The concentrations of Cu, Fe, Mn, Cr, Cd, and Zn in drain water found beyond the permissible limit of FAO, except Fe and Zn concentration at Wazirabad. Pb concentration was within safe limit of FAO at all sampling sites water. Moreover, Cu, Fe, Pb and Zn concentration in river water was within limit of FAO. However, Cd, Cr, Mn and Ni concentration was beyond the permissible limit of FAO.

Heavy metals concentration in soil of peri-urban **areas:** HMs concentration $(\mu g/g)$ in cultivated soils of different peri-urban areas and Yamuna sites of Delhi NCT is given in Table 2. The overall mean with SD of Cd, Cu, Mn, Fe, Ni, Pb, Cr, and Zn in farming soil were found 1.72±0.42, 59.53±23.99, 47.9±14.7, 54.91±11.55, 35.06±7.61, 33.56±9.81, 43.13 \pm 12.2, and 92.02 \pm 26.45 µg/g, respectively. The overall mean metal concentration reported in decrease order Zn>Cu>Fe>Mn>Cr>Ni>Pb>Cd. Concentration of all these eight metals at each sampling sites were reported in Figure3. Maximum concentrations of Cd (2.76 μ g/g), Cr (66.44 μ g/g), Cu (108.94 µg/g), Ni (51.92µg/g) and Zn (162.99 $\mu g/g$) were recorded at Najafgarh site followed by Nizamuddin. However, maximum Fe (79.89 μ g/g), Mn (70.73 μ g/g) and Ni (53.14 μ g/g) concentration were recorded at Nizamuddin followed by Najafgarh. This is probably due to frequent use of Najafgarh and Nizamuddin drains water for irrigation. Moreover, this drain discharges across the industrial sites inflicted with huge effluents, vehicular emission, sewage and sludge, diesel generators and pesticides application in farming. This HMs load is often led to deterioration of soil health as well as contamination of agricultural produce.HMs concentration in soil is mainly depends on soil geogenic property, irrigation water qualities, indiscriminate use of chemical fertilizers and pesticides (Singh et al., 2021). Slightly similar HMs concentration in per-urban soil was observed by Bhatia et al. (2015) for Cd (2.28–2.51 µg/g), Pb (21.25- 59.38 µg/g) and Zn (73.25-174.5 µg/g) (Table 2). Moreover, Patel et al. (2019) was reported Cr concentration $10.1-73.6 \,\mu g/g$, which is almost close to present finding.

Lower heavy metal concentration was recorded in sub-surface soil in comparison to surface soil. Minimum HMs concentrations were recorded in

Cd	Cr	Cu	Fe	Mn	Ni	Pb	Zn	Water category	Reference
20-40	-	80-310	-	-	-	0.0-800	0.0–240	Drain and tube well	Singh and Kumar
									(2006)
0.02-	-	0.18-0.28	-	-	-	0.30-	0.04-0.06	Tube well	Bhatia <i>et al.</i> ,(2015)
0.07						0.43			
0.0–70	0.0-420	20-640	-	-	10-130	30–270	130–2220	Yamuna River and linked drains	Bhattacharya et
									al.,(2015)
1.7–433	2.6–1983	18.4–	878.5-	-	1.4–	6.8–1112	15.4-	Yamuna River and linked drains	Bhardwaj <i>et al.</i> ,(2017)
		17642	53940		2748		28520		
1-8	60–940	50-520	-	-	-	450-680	-	Yamuna River and linked drains	Rahman and Singh
									(2018)
_	20–270	40–380	_	_	40–230	490–970	80–760	Yamuna River	Patel et al., (2019)
0–75	0–2436	0–2617	_	_	0–596	0-1579	0-12400	Drains	Gola <i>et al.</i> ,(2020)
-	35–52	50-120	40-190	_	88–253	2–40	840-1800	Yamuna River	Asim and Rao (2021)
BDL-	BDL-	47-2590	58-5549	51-	BDL-	BDL-	28-2155	Yamuna River, linked drains and	Present study
405	1910			2570	612	1490		tube well	
10	100	200	5000	200	200	5000	2000	Irrigation water	FAO Safe limit ^a

Table 1: Rang	e of heavy metal	l concentration ((µg/L) in wat	ter of Yamuna	River and	associated	drains in	Delhi NCT
	e or newly meen		PB	ver or runnanna				20001001

Source: ^aMandal *et al.*, (2019).

Table 2: Range of heavy metal concentration (µg/g) in soil in different per-urban and Yamuna sites of Delhi NCT

Cadmium	Chromium	Copper	Iron	Manganese	Nickel	Lead	Zinc	Place	References
0.6-1.30	43-95	6.39-39		142-651	11.8-48	9.90-32	31-108	Delhi	Mehra et al.,(2000)
2.1–2.5	-	28.8–129.6	-	-	-	32.1–59.6	83.1–196.3	Delhi	Singh and Kumar
									(2006)
2.28-2.51	_	23.75-76.75			_	21.25- 59.38	73.25–174.5	Delhi	Bhatia <i>et al.</i> ,(2015)
_	10.1-73.6	7.1–42.1	-	_	6.4–19.3	9.1 -25.8	13.5–55.6	Along	Patel et al., (2019)
								Yamuna	
								River	
1.22-2.76	21.84-66.44	29.67-108.94	37.39–79.89	28.02-70.73	25.11-51.92	20.59–53.14	56.43-162.99	Delhi	Present study
3	75	100	5000	2000	100	50	300	-	FAO/WHO
									standards ^{a, b}
3–6	NA	135-270	-	-	75-150	250-500	300-600	-	Indian standards ^c

Sources: ^aGitet et al.,(2016), ^bNartey et al.,(2012), ^cBhatia et al.,(2015)



Figure 2: Heavy metals concentrations at different sampling sites in (a) drain, (b) River and (c) tube well water.



⁵

Environment Conservation Journal

reported occasional use of drain water for irrigation purpose in some of the agricultural fields. A significant amount of HMs concentration was found in soil along Yamuna River sites (S5–S6). Cu and Pb concentration in surface soil of Najafgarh and Nizamuddin were beyond the permissible limit of FAO *i.e.* 100 and 50 µg/g, respectively. Other metals concentration in soil falls within the permissible limits as per FAO and Indian standards. The availability of HMs and differences in heavy metal level in soils may be due to quality of irrigation water, physico-chemical properties as well as different sources of contaminations such as quality of sludge and sewage, use of agrochemicals/ fertilizers, pesticides, kind of industrialization close to the sampling locations, industrial emission and industrial waste, nearness of cultivated field from road/ highways and urban areas.

Conclusion

Majority of soils and irrigation water of peri-urban areas are found to be contaminated with HMs by various sources such as industrial effluents, dumping sites, sewage and sludge, vehicular emission, human induced pollution and

References

- Asim, M., & Rao, K. N. (2021). Assessment of heavy metal pollution in Yamuna River, Delhi-NCR, using heavy metal pollution index and GIS. *Environmental Monitoring and* Assessment, 193(2), 1-16.
- Balkhair, K. S., & Ashraf, M. A. (2016). Field accumulation risks of heavy metals in soil and vegetable crop irrigated with sewage water in western region of Saudi Arabia. *Saudi journal of biological sciences*, 23(1), S32-S44.
- Bhardwaj, R., Gupta, A., & Garg, J. K. (2017). Evaluation of heavy metal contamination using environmetrics and indexing approach for River Yamuna, Delhi stretch, India. *Water Science*, 31(1), 52-66.
- Bhardwaj, S., Khanna, D. R., Ruhela, M., Bhutiani, R., Bhardwaj, R., & Ahamad, F. (2020). Assessment of the soil quality of Haridwar Uttarakhand India: A comparative study. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 21(3), 155-164.
- Bhatia, A., Singh, S., & Kumar, A. (2015). Heavy Metal Contamination of Soil, Irrigation Water and Vegetables in Peri-Urban Agricultural Areas and Markets of Delhi. *Water Environment Research*, 87(11), 2027-2034.

indiscriminate use of chemicals fertilizers. HMs concentration in collected samples from different sources of irrigation water along with soils from NCT reveals that most Delhi of metal concentrations in drain water found beyond the permissible limit of FAO. Continuous use of contaminated water for irrigation observed HMs accumulation in soil, agricultural produce and finally in comes into food chain. Arable contaminated soils may create soil health deterioration and long-term ecological issues. Thus, periodic monitoring of soil and water quality could ensure appropriate and safe usage of irrigation water. Irrigation with drainage water should be restricted in cultivated areas of peri-urban.

Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to National Agricultural Science Fund (NASF, CA-6030), Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi for providing fund to conduct the research.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Bhattacharya, A., Dey, P., Gola, D., Mishra, A., Malik, A., & Patel, N. (2015). Assessment of Yamuna and associated drains used for irrigation in rural and peri-urban settings ofDelhi NCR. *Environmental monitoring and* assessment, 187(1), 1-13.
- Census-of-India 2011. URL: http://www.census2011.co.in/
- Chabukdhara, M., Munjal, A., Nema, A. K., Gupta, S. K., & Kaushal, R. K. (2016). Heavy metal contamination in vegetables grown around peri-urban and urban-industrial clusters in Ghaziabad, India. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 22(3), 736-752.
- CPCB (2006).Water quality status of Yamuna river (1999–2005). Assessment and Development of River Basin Series: ADSORBS/41/2006-07.
- Gitet, H., Hilawie, M., Muuz, M., Weldegebriel, Y., Gebremichael, D., & Gebremedhin, D. (2016). Bioaccumulation of heavy metals in crop plants grown near Almeda Textile Factory, Adwa, Ethiopia. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 188(9), 1-8.
- Gola, D., Bhattacharya, A., Dey, P., Malik, A., & Ahammad, S. Z. (2020). Assessment of drain water used for irrigation in the Delhi region. *Journal of Health and Pollution*, 10(26).

- Khan, A., Khan, S., Khan, M. A., Qamar, Z., & Waqas, M. (2015). The uptake and bioaccumulation of heavy metals by food plants, their effects on plants nutrients, and associated health risk: a review. *Environmental Science* and Pollution Research, 22(18), 13772-13799.
- Mancosu, N., Snyder, R. L., Kyriakakis, G., & Spano, D. (2015). Water scarcity and future challenges for food production. *Water*, 7(3), 975-992.
- Mandal, S. K., Dutta, S. K., Pramanik, S., & Kole, R. K. (2019). Assessment of river water quality for agricultural irrigation. *International Journal of Environmental Science* and Technology, 16(1), 451-462.
- Mehra, A., Farago, M. E., & Banerjee, D. K. (2000). A study of eichhornia crassipes growing in the overbank and floodplain soils of the River Yamuna in Delhi, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 60(1), 25-45.
- Nartey, V. K., Haizel, M., Doamekpor, L. K., & Dankyi, E. (2012). Studies on the contribution of fertilizers to heavy metal levels in soils and cocoa from some cocoa farms in

the western region of Ghana. Journal of Natural Sciences Research, 2(8), 111-121.

- Patel, N., Pal, S., Malik, A., & Singh, D. K. (2019). Impact assessment of contaminated River Yamuna water irrigation on soil and crop grown in peri-urban area of Delhi-NCR. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 20(3), 99-112.
- Rahman, Z., & Singh, V. P. (2018). Assessment of heavy metal contamination and Hg-resistant bacteria in surface water from different regions of Delhi, India. Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences, 25(8), 1687-1695.
- Singh, G., Patel, N., Jindal, T., & Ranjan, M. R. (2021). Heavy Metal Contamination in Soils and Crops Irrigated by Kali River in Uttar Pradesh, India. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 1-7.
- Singh, S., & Kumar, M. (2006). Heavy metal load of soil, water and vegetables in peri-urban Delhi. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 120(1), 79-91.
- Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Assessing the indoor air pollution level as per energy ladder and its effect on respiratory health

Aniu Bala

Department of Family Resource Management, College of Home Science, CCS Haryana Agriculture University, Hisar. **Kiran Singh** Department of Family Resource Management, College of Home Science, CCS Haryana Agriculture University, Hisar.

Komal 🖂

Department of Family Resource Management, College of Home Science, CCS Haryana Agriculture University, Hisar. Manju Mehta

Department of Family Resource Management, College of Home Science, CCS Haryana Agriculture University, Hisar.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 06 July 2021	In rural areas of developing countries, where about 40 % of all people live, the
Revised : 18 November 2021	household stove accounts for more of all national fuel combustion occur under
Accepted : 28 November 2021	cooking pots. The present study was undertaken in Hisar district of Haryana
	state to assess the indoor air pollution level as per the energy ladder and its
Published online: 31 January 2022	effect on respiratory health. The study was conducted in the rural villages of
	Hisar district and rural women who were using traditional chullah were
Key Words:	selected as the sample of the study. Results revealed that most of the women
Chullah	were using chullah for cooking their own food and hara for animal feed with
Energy	fuel placed on the lower rung of energy ladder i.e. crop waste and dung cakes,
Health	wood, kerosene, and LPG. Major health problems faced by women were
Indoor air Pollution	'headache' and 'irritation in eyes' while using the traditional chullah and hara.
	The majority of them were also having respiratory problems like 'phlegm'
	(mean score-2.7) 'shortness of breath' (mean score-2.6), 'cough' (mean score-
	2.5), and 'wheezing' (attacks) with mean score of 2.0, respectively. Mean PEFR
	values for the traditional chullah and hara exposed women were significantly
	lower as compared with MDV chullah and improved hara. Therefore, it is
	recommended that the use of cheap improved chullan and hara are the best
	alternative, which is the permanent solution of smoke and also consumes less
	fuel than traditional chullah and hara.

Introduction

In India over 70 % of the population live in rural in Asia and Africa: 95 % of the population in areas and less than 1 % of rural households has accessed to electricity and biomass such as firewood, coal, charcoal, kerosene, and agricultural residues. For cooking purposes, the household sector relies heavily on traditional chullah and hara. Pitt et al. (2005) observed that the households at lower levels of income and development tend to be at the bottom of the energy ladder, using solid fuel that is cheap and locally available but not clean and nor efficient to use. Over three billion people worldwide are at these lower rungs, depending on biomass fuels-crop waste, dung, wood, leaves etc., and coal to meet their energy needs. A disproportionate number of these individuals reside

Afghanistan uses these fuels, 95 % in Chad, 87 % in Ghana, 82 % in India, 80 % in China, and so forth (Duflo *et* al., 2008). According to International Energy Agency (2015) an estimated 2.7 billion people cook meals over brick, stone or clay stoves fuelled by wood, leaves, dung etc. The World Health Organization (2015) reported that the traditional use of solid biomass for cooking, including the release of harmful indoor air pollutants are the major causes of premature death. Mohapatra et al. (2018) around three billion people use solid fuels (biomass and coal) for cooking and heating, and this number is expected to grow until at least 2030. Many women and children are

exposed to high levels of indoor air pollution chullah. There is a serious impact of air pollutants on human health as they are taken by blood and circulated in the body. These chullah and hara are thermally as well as environmentally inefficient and are prone to damage because these are made from mud and baked mud which is quite a good insulator but at the same, it needs to be very thick as mud can crack allowing heat to escape that way and hence creating drudgery and heat problems and indoor pollution. Recently, the concentration of indoor pollution in households that burn traditional fuels is at an alarming point. Burning such fuels produce a large amount of smoke and other air pollutants in the confined space of the home. Policies to reduce indoor air pollution focus on either inducing a healthier fuel choice or on making biomass use cleaner and safer, for example through improved stoves or better ventilation in the cooking areas. As incomes rise, we would expect that households would substitute for higher quality fuel choices. Keeping the above facts in mind a study was planned to assess the indoor air quality and health hazards faced by families who were using the chullah for cooking.

Material and Methods

The present study was undertaken in Hisar district of Haryana state to assess the indoor air pollution level as per the energy ladder and its effect on respiratory health. Two villages (Ludas and Gangwa) from Hisar district were selected randomly. From the selected villages, 50 women (from each village) making a total sample of 100 women were selected randomly to find out the health problems faced by them due to the use of traditional chullah. From the selected women, ten women who were physically fit and willing to cooperate and had not MDV chullah and hara in their households were selected purposively to impart the knowledge regarding construction and benefits of improved chullah and hara. A selfstructured schedule was prepared to collect the data regarding problems faced by women during the use of traditional chullah with the different fuels. An observation sheet was prepared to observe the temperature, humidity, and air pollutants in the households. A thermometer, hygrometer, and air quality monitor were used to measure the indoor air

emitted from biomass fuel used in quality parameters respectively. For the lung capacity of the women, peak flow meter was used. percentage, mean score, rank, and t-test were computed to assess the different parameters in the study.

Results and Discussion

Fuel switching behaviour of respondents for cooking as per energy ladder: It is evident from perusal of data presented in Figure 1 that in totality, all of the respondents were using crop waste and dung cakes for cooking, followed by 81.00 % respondents who were using wood for cooking purposes, 17.00 % respondents were using LPG gas and an equal number of respondents (3.00% each) were using kerosene and electricity for cooking in both the villages i.e. Gangwa and Ludas. Banerjee (2019) supported this and mentioned that 63% of the rural households were using firewood as the primary cooking fuel while another 23% were using crop residues/dung cakes as fuels for cooking. Only 11 % of rural households were using LPG as primary cooking fuel.

Health-related problems while using chullah and hara: The data presented in Table 1 show that respondents reported health problems when they were using the chullah and hara. The various health constraints' reported by the respondents were; 'headache' got the first rank with a mean score of 2.8, 'irritation in eyes' got the second rank with a mean score of 2.7, 'skin problem' and 'respiratory problem' got 3rd rank with mean score of 2.6, 'backache' and 'bronchial' got 4th rank with mean score of 2.5, 'low visibility, 'decreased working efficiency' and 'cough' got 5th and 6th rank with mean score of 2.4 and 2.2 respectively. Mohapatra et al. (2018) also found similar results and concluded that dry cough was the most common reported symptom (15.03%), followed by eye and nose irritation present in nearly 12 % each by the respondents. Headache, dry cough, and hypertension (HT) were found to be associated with the number of cooking years and were also found to be statistically significant (P = 0.03, 0.02, and 0.0065, respectively).

Health-related problems in respondents by use of different fuels Respondents were found to face



Figure 1: Fuel switching behaivour of respondents for cooking as per energy ladder

traditional chullah and hara. The various health constraints' reported by the respondents were; 'headache' and 'trouble breathing' got the first rank with mean score of 1.4, 'cough' and 'respiratory problem, got 2nd rank with mean score of 1.3, 'irritation in eyes' and 'low visibility' got the third rank with mean score of 1.2 respectively (Table 2). Jaiswal and Meshram (2019) found that most of the selected women in the households achieved a sort of comfort level with the smoke produced from the burning of biomass in chullah while cooking. In the studied populace, (96.7%) were awared about the effects of smoke produced by chullah on women's health like irritation to eyes (95.3%), cough (87.3%), and chest illness (23.8%).

Respiratory health status of respondents:The major respiratory health problems faced by them were cough, phlegm (sputum), shortness of breath and wheezing (attacks) which have been presented in Table 3. The respiratory health problems reported by the respondents were; 'phlegm' (sputum) got the first rank with mean score of 2.7, 'shortness of breath' got 2nd rank with mean score of 2.6, 'cough' got the third rank with mean score of 2.5 and 'wheezing' (attacks) got 4th rank with mean score of 2.0, respectively. According to Dass and Panda (2017), about 400 million people in

India were exposed to respiratory, pulmonary, and vision problems allied with indoor air pollution from the use of biomass.

Frequency of respiratory diseases in respondents during the last year: The perusal of data given in Table 4 depicts the frequency of occurrence of respiratory diseases viz. 3 or more, 1 or 2, and not at all by the respondents during the last one year. Respiratory diseases faced by the majority of the respondents were in 'not severe' (2.6) followed by 'moderate' (1.5) and 'severe' (1.4) categories respectively. James et al. (2020) also concluded the self-reported health conditions among women were grouped as follows-ophthalmic conditions included diminished vision, cataract, irritation, and watering of eyes, while respiratory conditions included throat irritation, ear pain, asthma, nasal stuffiness/ running nose, cough with/ without phlegm by the exposure of biomass fuel used in chullah.

Environmental parameters in the household as per energy ladder with use of chullah:To measure the difference in environmental parameters while using different fuels as per energy ladder, only crop waste and dung cake were used as a fuel for chullah and it was observed that SPM was (456 μ g/m³) in the traditional chullah before cooking and

SN	Health problems	Severe (3)	Moderate (2)	Not severe (1)	Mean score	Rank
1.	Cough	40	40	20	2.2	VI
2.	Backache	60	30	10	2.5	IV
3.	Headache	80	20	-	2.8	Ι
4.	Low visibility	50	40	10	2.4	V
5.	Irritation in eyes	70	30	-	2.7	II
6.	Decreased working efficiency	40	40	20	2.2	VI
7.	Respiratory problems	60	40	-	2.6	III
8.	Skin problem	60	40	-	2.6	III

Table 1 : Health related problems while using chullah and hara (n=100)

Table 2: Health related problems in respondnets by using of different fuels (n=100)

SN	Health problems		Fuels	Mean score	Rank
		Wood (2)	Crop waste and dung cakes (1)		
1.	Cough	30	70	1.3	II
2.	Headache	40	60	1.4	Ι
3.	Low visibility	20	80	1.2	III
4.	Irritation in eyes	20	80	1.2	III
5.	Respiratory problems	30	70	1.3	II
6.	Trouble breathing	40	60	1.4	Ι

Table 3: Respiratory health status of respondents (n=10)

SN	Respiratory problem	Most days a week (4)	Several days a week (3)	Only with chest infections (2)	Not at all (1)	Mean score	Rank
1.	Cough	2	2	5	1	2.5	III
2.	Phlegm (sputum)	2	4	3	1	2.7	Ι
3.	Shortness of breath	2	4	2	2	2.6	II
4.	Wheezing (Attacks)	1	1	5	3	2.0	IV

*St. George respiratory health status

Table 4: Frequency of respiratory diseases in respondents during the last year (n=10)

SN	Types of diseases	3 or more (3)	1 or 2 (2)	None (1)	Mean score	Rank
1.	Severe	1	2	7	1.4	III
2.	Moderate	2	1	7	1.5	II
3.	Not severe	7	2	1	2.6	Ι

Table 5:	Environmental	parameters in	household a	s per energy	ladder with	use of chullah (n=10)
			nousenore e			abe of enterior (

Parameters	Permissible limit	Permissible Crop waste u			sed for cooking		Dung cakes used for cooking			
	lillit	Traditional chullah		MDVcl	hullah	Tradit chul	ional lah	Impro chul	oved lah	
		Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After	
SPM(µg/m ³)	500	456	670	456	490	498	980	498	596	
Temp. (^{0}C)	25-30	34.5	37.3	34.5	36.4	34.4	38.1	34.4	36.7	
R.H. (%)	40-60	50.6	47.2	50.6	48.1	50.1	46.2	50.1	48.5	
CO ₂ (ppm)	400-600	524	782	524	672	694	825	694	745	

Parameters	Permissible limit	Dung cakes used for cooking				
		Traditional hara		Improved	hara	
		Before	After	Before	After	
SPM(µg/m ³)	500	657	710	657	545	
Temp. (⁰ C)	25-30	35.1	38.4	35.1	36.9	
R.H. (%)	40-60	52.0	48.4	52.0	49.3	
CO ₂ (ppm)	400-600	668	914	668	823	

Table 6: Environmental	parameters in households as p	per energy l	ladder with use of	f hara(n=10)
				()

Table 7: Comparative analysis of PEFR (Peak expiratory flow rate) in village Gangwa and Ludas (n=1)

SN	PEFR	Permissible	Traditional	MDV Chullah and	Difference	t-value
		Limit (L/min.)	chullah and hara	Improvedhara		
Gang	gwa					
1.	Before		250±14.14	346±11.40	96.3**	18.83
		300-400				
2.	After		238±8.37	324±11.19	86.2**	12.50
-						
Luda	IS					
1.	Before		262±19.23	360±15.81	98.3**	16.81
		300-400				
2.	After		220±18.71	332±13.04	112.5**	9.33

after cooking was 670 μ g/m³ whereas, in the MDV chullah, it was observed that SPM before cooking (456 μ g/m³) and after cooking (490 μ g/m³) while using the crop waste. Whereas, in use of dung cakes, before cooking activity, it was 498 µg/m³ and after cooking 980 µg/m³ on traditional chullah whereas, in MDV chullah before cooking 498 $\mu g/m^3$ and after cooking 596 $\mu g/m^3$. The permissive value was 500 μ g/m³. Data in table 5 show that the mean temperature near the cooking unit was 37.3°C where cooking on traditional chullah whereas, mean temperature of the household where cooking was carried out on MDV chullah was 36.4°C as use of crop waste for cooking. Whereas, the use of dung cakes for cooking, in traditional chullah the average mean temperature was 38.1°C, and MDV chullah was 36.7°C.

Average relative humidity was least in the household where cooking was carried out on MDV chullah i.e. 47.2% whereas 48.1% in the household environment where cooking was carried out on traditional chullah as crop waste used for cooking. The recommended level was 40 to 60 %. As dung cakes used for cooking, the average relative humidity on traditional chullah was 48.5 % whereas, 46.2 % on MDV chullah. Data in the table also show that the average CO_2 in the environment of traditional chullah before cooking was 524 ppm

and after cooking was 782 ppm. Whereas, in MDV chullah it was 524 ppm before cooking and 672 ppm after cooking, respectively as used for crop waste. As dung cakes used for cooking, the average CO₂ on traditional chullah was 825 ppm whereas, 745 ppm in MDV chullah. Kasom (2019) & Baqir *et al.* (2019) reported that the majority of the rural people were using U-shaped traditional chulha. That is thermally inefficient and emitted emissions directly into the indoor areas of households and raised health and environmental issues.

Environmental parameters in the household as per energy ladder with use of dung cakes in hara: In the process of cooking in hara with dung cakes, it was observed that in the smoke of traditional hara and improved hara, the SPM present was with the difference of 710 and 545 $\mu g/m^3$ respectively (Table 6) but the permissive value was 500 µg/m³. Suspended particulate matter of smoke released from both the hara was not in the permissible limit, but in improved hara it was on the lower side. After cooking, the average mean temperature of traditional hara was 38.4 °C and improved hara was 36.9°C. Whereas the relative humidity of traditional hara was 48.4% and improved hara was 49.3%. Data in the table also show that the average CO_2 in the environment of traditional hara after cooking was 914 ppm and in improved hara it was 823 ppm. Faizan and Thakur (2019) also stated that the use of solid fuels in household cooking contributes to indoor air pollution and is the cause of more than 4 million deaths around the world annually. High dependence on solid fuels (80.5%) and a higher risk of respiratory diseases were observed in rural areas as compared to urban areas.

Comparative analysis of PEFR (Peak expiratory flow rate)

Before the cooking activity: Data in Table 7 elucidate that the average PEFR of the respondents of Gangwa village before cooking on traditional chullah and hara was 250±14.14 (L/min), on MDV chullah and improved hara it was 346±11.40 (L/min) and in Ludas village respondents before cooking on traditional chullah and hara was 262±19.23 (L/min), on MDV chullah and improved hara was 360±15.81 (L/min). Results were also in consonance with Ibhazehiebo et al. (2006) who studied the ventilatory function peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) of 350 rural women engaged in cooking. The mean PEFR value for the wood exposed women (289 \pm 19.6 L/mm) was significantly lower (P<0.05) compared with control (non-wood smoke exposure) (364 ± 17.2 L/mm). The PEFR decreases with increase in years of exposure to wood smoke and the fall was neither accounted for by age nor height. The respiratory symptom was also markedly elevated in these women compared to control.

After cooking activity: Data in Table 7 shows that the average PEFR of the respondents after minutes of cooking on traditional chullah and hara was 238 ± 8.37 (L/min), followed by MDV chullah and improved hara with PEFR of 324 ± 11.19 (L/min) in Gangwa village and 220 ± 18.71 and 332 ± 13.04 (L/min.). The 't' test proved that mean PEFR values for the traditional chullah and hara exposed women were significantly lower compared with MDV chullah and improved hara exposure at 5% level of significance. Hence, it can be concluded

References

Banerjee, M. (2019). Increasing the share of cleaner cooking among rural households of India. *Observer research foundation*, https://www.orfonline.org/expertspeak/increasing-the-share-of-cleaner-cooking-amongrural-households-of-india-50882/

that with the use of MDV chullah and improved hara which clearly shows that quantity of smoke generated decreased in MDV chullah and improved hara. Johnson *et al.* (2011) found that PEFR was significantly decreased (319.3 l/min) in biomass users as compared to users of clean fuel (371.7 l/min). Dudi *et al.* (2017) reported that Peak Expiratory Flow Rate (PEFR) in the biomass user group was 2.34 ± 0.38 while in LPG user group FVC is 2.51 ± 0.31 which is significantly lower as compared to LPG user group.

Conclusion

It was concluded that cent percent of respondents were using chullah for own food and hara for animal feed with fuel placed on the lower rung of the energy ladder i.e. crop waste and dung cakes. While using chullah and hara, respondents faced major health problems of 'headache (mean score-2.8)', 'irritation in eyes (mean score-2.7)', respiratory and skin problems (mean score-2.6 respectively). In respiratory problems, the majority of them were having like 'phlegm' (2.7) 'shortness of breath' (2.6), 'cough' (2.5), and 'wheezing' (attacks) with mean score of 2.0, respectively. By using of dung cakes SPM and CO2 values were high in traditional hara in comparison to improved hara. There was a significant difference in PEFR value in traditional and MDV chullah and improved hara. SPM and CO₂ were found to be in permissible limits i.e. 500 μ g/m³ and 400-600 ppm respectively with the use of improved hara and MDV chullah and hence, found to be reducing pollution burden to some extent. It is recommended that motivational programmes need to be conducted with help of anganwadi/volunteers/extension workers to promote improved cookstoves for a healthy indoor environment and to reduce respiratory problems of women.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Baqir, M., Bharti, S.K., Kothari, R.,& Singh, R.P. (2019). Assessment of an energy-efficient metal chulha for solidnbiomass fuel and evaluation of its performance. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 16, 6773–6784.

- Das, S.S., & Panda, H. (2017). Smokeless Chulha- A Way for Enhancing Quality of Life" *International Journal of Research and Scientific Innovation*, 4(7), 70-78.
- Dudi, R.R., Choudhary, R., Soni, N.D, Choudhary, K., Singhvi, R.,& Kanojia R. (2017). The Comparative Study of Pulmonary Function Tests between Healthy Non Smoking Rural Women using Biomass Fuel and Liquefied Petroleum Gas, Scholars Journal of Applied Medical Sciences (SJAMS), 5(2D), 574-580.
- Duflo, E., Greenstone, M., & Hanna, R. (2008). Indoor air pollution, health and economic well-being. S.A.P.I.EN.S. Online since 19 December 2008, connection on 31 August 2021. URL: http://journals.openedition.org/sapiens/130
- Faizan, M.A., & Thakur, R. (2019). Association between Solid Cooking Fuels and Respiratory Disease across Socio-Demographic Groups in India. *Journal of Health and Pollution*, 9(23), 1-11.
- Ibhazehiebo, K., Dimkpa, U., & Iyawe. (2006). Peak Expiratory Flow Rate and Respiratory Symptoms Following Chronic Domestic Wood Smoke Exposure in Women in Edo, Nigeria, Acta Physiologica, 18.
- International Energy Agency. (2015). World Energy Outlook 2015-Traditional Use of Solid Biomass for Cooking. London: OECD/IEA.
- Jaiswal, V.B., & Meshram, P.U. (2019). Are We Really Out of Chulha Trap: A Case Study from a District of Maharashtra. *International Journal of Health Sciences & Research*, 9(7), 195-202.
- James, B.S., Shetty, R.S., Kamath, A.,& Shetty, A. (2020). Household cooking fuel use and its health effects among rural women in southern India—A cross-sectional study. *Plos one*, 15(4), e0231757. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231757

- Johnson, P., Ramaswamy, P., Ghosh, S., Paul, P., Ramadoss, S., Balakrishnan, K., Thanasekaraan, V.,& Subhashini, A.S. (2011). Evaluation of mucociliary clearance among women using biomass and clean fuel in a periurban area of Chennai: A preliminary study, *Lung India*, 28(1), 30-33.
- Kasom, J. (2019). Addressing indoor pollution and climate change with fuel-efficient cook stoves. *Down to earth*. https://www.downtoearth.org.in/blog/air/addressingindoor-pollution-and-climate-change-with-fuel-efficientcook-stoves-64933
- Mohapatra, I.,Das, S.C., & Samantaray, S.(2018). Health impact on women using solid cooking fuels in rural area of Cuttack district, Odisha. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 7(1), 11–15.
- Pitt, M., Rosenzweig, M., Hassan, M. N. (2005). Sharing the Burden of Disease: Gender, the Household Division of Labor and the Health Effects of Indoor Air Pollution. CID Working Paper No. 119. https://www.hks.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/centers/cid/f iles/publications/faculty-working-papers/119.pdf
- Smith, K. R. (2002). Environmental Health Sciences University of California, USA, Department of Epidemiology, Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland, USA, Pan-American Health Organization, UK. Environ Health Perspect, 110(11), 1057–1068.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2002). Health and environment in sustainable development: Five years after the earth summit, WHO/EHG/97.8, Geneva.
- World Health Organization. (2016). Household air pollution and health. Fact sheet 292. Geneva: World Health Organization. http://www.iberglobal.com/files/2015/IndiaEnergyOutlook. pdf
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of *Ailanthus* species and seasons on yarn parameters of eri silk

R. R. Borah

Department of Sericulture, Faculty of Agriculture, Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat, Assam. **M. Saikia**

Department of Sericulture, Faculty of Agriculture, Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat, Assam.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 10 September 2021	Present research entails an in-depth analysis on the effect of two secondary
Revised : 08 October 2021	host plants of eri silkworm viz., borpat (Ailanthus grandis Prain) and
Accepted : 13 November 2021	borkesseru (Ailanthus excels Roxb.) and seasons on yarn parameters of eri silk
Published online: 31 January 2022	as quality of silk depends on food quality and rearing season. Seasons had significant effect on all the yarn parameters <i>viz.</i> , yarn size, breaking load, tenacity and elongation except twist per inch. Significantly the highest yarn size
Key Words:	(10.26 ^s) was observed in autumn season which was at par with the spring
Borkesseru	season. But the maximum breaking load (0.67 kg) and tenacity (1.40 g/denier)
Breaking Load	were recorded in spring season and elongation (26.54%) in early summer
Borpat	season. Regardless of the seasons, significantly the higher breaking load (0.64
Elongation	kg) and tenacity (1.51 g/denier) were recorded on the borkesseru leaves. The
Eri Silk	interaction effect of seasons and two host plants on eri silk yarn was found to
Tenacity	be non-significant. Diversiform effect of both the seasons and the host plants
Twist Per Inch	pertaining to yarn characters were witnessed. It can be ensured that all the
Yarn Size	seasons and host plants are relevant with slight alteration in the yarn quality.

Introduction

The finished product of sericulture industry is the silk, the 'Queen of Textiles'. In India, North-Eastern region is considered as hotspot of seribiodiversity contingent upon vanya silk area. The eri silkworm (Samia ricini Boisduval), a vanva silkworm, is reared indoor mostly as a part time job by the females of the tribal communities of North-East region. The North-Eastern region of India shares major portion of eri silk production in the country and Assam being the highest producer. Eri silk is also known as 'poor man's silk'. It is also referred as 'Ahimsa silk' or 'Non violent silk' as processing of cocoon does not require killing of the pupa. The unique properties of this fiber in terms of its fineness, density, cross sectional shape and surface properties play an important role in determining its end use and have immense potential for commercial exploitation by making finest quality blankets, sweaters and suiting materials (Tamta and Mahajan, 2021).

Silkworm nutrition is an important component in silk production, and this constituent determines the silk quality and silk trade all over the world (Ruth et al., 2019). Qualities and production of eri silk cocoon and eri silk yarn depends on the different food plants (Gahlaut and Arjun, 2016). Silk yarn quality is also affected by the rearing activities. The execution of fibres during processing and the properties of the finished product are determined by the physical properties of spun yarn. In respect of physical properties of spun yarn, the seasonal variation plays an important role (Renuka and Shamitha, 2014; Bhuyan et al., 2017). Lower (1988) disclosed that with respect to the seasons, the physical properties of the silk viz., strength and elongation differs. In terms of single fibre denier and tenacity of eri silk, noticeable differences were observed when the silkworms were reared on different seasons (Chattopadhyay et al., 2018). Variation in the yarn quality is greatly influenced

by the environmental condition also (Nath *et al.*, 2013). Despite the fact that various studies have been conducted, there is insufficient of literature on the impact of season and secondary host plants on yarn parameters of eri silk. The current study will have the potential to aid in the development of a feasible usage of the secondary host plant in appropriate seasons for eri silkworm without jeopardizing the quality and quantity of silk produce per crop.

Material and Methods

The eri spun yarn from feeding two Ailanthus species viz., borkesseru and borpat under family simaroubaceae were tested during four different seasons viz., spring (March-April), early summer (May-June), late summer (August-September), autumn (October-November) in the year 2019. The sericin of harvested cocoons was eliminated by the degumming process as suggested and optimized by Somashekar (2003). The eri cakes (Figure 1: A & B) were prepared from degummed cocoons by squeezing and the cakes were dried for further spinning process. The spinning of the degummed cocoons for producing single spun varn filament out of discontinuous filament of the cocoons was performed in the Choudhury spinning machine. The testing of eri spun varn (Figure 2: A & B) samples for varn size (count's'), breaking load (kg), tenacity (g/denier) and elongation (%) were conducted in Indian Jute Industries' Research Association (IJIRA), Guwahati, Assam. The breaking load, tenacity and elongation test of the spun varn were performed according to I.S procedure (1960-1991) by using computerized Instron tensile tester (Model no. 4444) with CRT (Constant Rate Traverse) principle. The twist per inch of the eri silk yarn was recorded by using manual yarn twist tester. The data were laid out in two factorial completely randomized designs for statistical analysis. Each treatment consisted of three replications. The data were subjected to ANOVA table in order to separate out all possible errors. The experimental errors of the various effects were determined by calculating their respective F-values following (Panse and Sukhatme, 1989).

Results and Discussion

The effect of seasons and host plants on yarn size (Table 1) of eri silk was found to be significantly

different. Markedly the highest yarn size was observed in the autumn season (10.26°) whereas the undermost in the early summer (9.09°) which was found *at par* with the spring season (9.41°) . Host plants have non-significant effect on yarn size. However, the higher yarn size was recorded on borpat leaves (9.77°) compared to borkesseru leaves (9.42°) . The interaction effect due to season and host plant was found to be non-significant.

The analysis (Table 2) for the effect of host plants on breaking load of eri silk yarn revealed significant effect during various seasons. The highest significant breaking load values were recorded in spring season (0.67 kg) and the lowest was observed in the autumn season (0.49 kg)among various seasons. Apart from the season's, highest significant breaking load was found in borkesseru leaves (0.64 kg) while the lowest in borpat leaves (0.54 kg). Interrelationship between the seasons and host plants were also found to be non-significant for the trait studied. However, the breaking load was recorded highest on borkesseru leaves in spring season (0.71 kg) and the least on borpat leaves during autumn season (0.44 kg) respectively. Seasons and host plants had significant effect on the tenacity (Table 3) of eri silk yarn. Notably tenacity of the eri silk yarn was revealed highest in the spring season (1.40 g/denier) and lowest in the late summer (1.22 g/denier). Irrespective of the seasons. comparatively tenacity of the eri silk yarn was recorded significantly higher on the borkesseru leaves (1.51 g/denier) than borpat leaves (1.11 g/denier). Interrelation impact on tenacity due to season and host plant was found to be nonsignificant.

A perusal of data (Table 4) revealed that the season had significant effect on the elongation percentage of eri silk yarn. The elongation percentage was found to be significantly maximum in early summer (26.54%) and minimum in autumn season (23.67%). Despite of showing non-significant effect by the host plants on elongation percentage, borkesseru leaves (25.26%) exhibited the maximum elongation percentage. The interaction effect was found to be non-significant due to seasons and host plants. However, borkesseru leaves in early summer (27.31%) showed the maximum elongation percentage and the borpat during autumn season (23.06%) exhibited minimum values.



A. Degummed eri cakes (borpat)



B. Degummed eri cakes (borkesseru)

Figure 1: Degumming of eri cocoons and preparation of eri cakes

Seasons	H	Mean	
	Borpat	Borkesseru	
Spring (Mar-April)	9.62	9.20	9.41
Early summer (May-June)	9.23	8.96	9.09
Late summer (Aug-Sept)	9.89	9.33	9.61
Autumn (Oct-Nov)	10.33	10.19	10.26
Mean	9.77	9.42	
	SED (±)	CD (5%)	
Seasons	0.24	0.51	
Host plants	0.17	NS	
Seasons × Host plants	0.34	NS	

Table 1: Effect of season and *Ailanthus* species on eri silk yarn size (count 's')

Data are mean of 3 replications, NS = Non-Significant, SED = Standard error of difference

Table 2: Effect of season and Ailanthus species on breaking load (kg) of eri silk yarn.

Seasons	H	Host plants		
	Borpat	Borkesseru		
Spring (Mar-April)	0.63	0.71	0.67	
Early summer (May-June)	0.58	0.68	0.63	
Late summer (Aug-Sept)	0.52	0.63	0.58	
Autumn (Oct-Nov)	0.44	0.54	0.49	
Mean	0.54	0.64		
	SED (±)	CD (5%)		
Seasons	0.02	0.04		
Host plants	0.01	0.03		
Seasons × Host plants	0.03	NS		
Data and many of 2 nonlightights $NS = N$	$I_{\text{end}} = \mathbf{C}^{1}_{\text{end}} + \mathbf{C}^{1}_{\text{end}} + \mathbf{C}^{1}_{\text{end}} = \mathbf{C}^{1}_{\text{end}}$	6 1 1		

Data are mean of 3 replications, NS = Non-Significant, SED = Standard error of difference

Table 3: Effect of season and Ailanthus species on tenacity (g/denier) of eri silk yarn

Seasons		Mean	
	Borpat	Borkesseru	
Spring (Mar-April)	1.18	1.62	1.40
Early summer (May-June)	1.12	1.54	1.33
Late summer (Aug-Sept)	1.03	1.40	1.22
Autumn (Oct-Nov)	1.10	1.46	1.28
Mean	1.11	1.51	
	SED (±)	CD (5%)	
Seasons	0.04	0.08	
Host plants	0.03	0.06	
Seasons × Host plants	0.06	NS	
Data are mean of 3 replications NS	S = Non-Significant SED	= Standard error of difference	

error of afference

Environment Conservation Journal



SpringEarly summerLate summerAutumnA. Eri spun yarn produced from eri silkworm reared on borpat leaves in different seasons





Spring

Early summer





Late summer

Autumn

B. Eri spun yarn produced from eri silkworm reared on borkesseru leaves in different seasons Figure 2: Eri spun yarn in different seasons. The impact of seasons and host plants *viz.*, borpat and borkesseru (Table 5) was found to be nonsignificant for twist per inch of eri silk yarn. It was found significantly the highest in the late summer (10.10 TPI) and the lowest values were observed in the spring season (9.27 TPI). Regardless of the seasons, the notable higher value in respect to twist per inch was observed in the borkesseru leaves (10.31 TPI) in contrast to borpat leaves (9.22 TPI).

The interaction effect on twist per inch due to season and host plant was also found to be nonsignificant. The physical properties of eri spun yarn are technically important which contribute to the behaviour of the yarn in processing and to the quality of the final product. The yarn count is the numerical expression which shows fineness or roughness of a yarn. The breaking load of a yarn indicates the maximum amount of stress that can be

Table 4: Effect of season and Ailanthus species on elongation (%) of eri silk yarn

Seasons	Host plants		Mean
	Borpat	Borkesseru	
Spring (Mar-April)	24.07	24.98	24.53
Early summer (May-June)	25.76	27.31	26.54
Late summer (Aug-Sept)	23.77	24.48	24.13
Autumn (Oct-Nov)	23.06	24.28	23.67
Mean	24.17	25.26	
	SED (±)	CD (5%)	
Seasons	0.81	1.74	
Host plants	0.58	NS	
Seasons × Host plants	1.15	NS	

Data are mean of 3 replications, NS = Non-Significant, SED = Standard error of difference

Seasons		Host plants	Mean
	Borpat	Borkesseru	
Spring (Mar-April)	8.73	9.80	9.27
Early summer (May-June)	9.23	10.33	9.78
Late summer (Aug-Sept)	9.57	10.62	10.10
Autumn (Oct-Nov)	9.36	10.49	9.93
Mean	9.22	10.31	
	SED (±)	CD (5%)	
Seasons	1.38	NS	
Host plants	0.97	NS	
Seasons × Host plants	1.95	NS	

Table 5. Effect of season and Auuninus species on twist per men (111) of eff sik yarn

Data are mean of 3 replications, NS = Non-Significant, SED = Standard error of difference

developed in a yarn due to the applied loads prior to breakdown of the yarn. The combine property of strength and elongation of silk yarn is a measure of toughness of material which is related to weaving property.

Baruah *et al.* (1990) revealed that tensile strength of cocoon filaments of eri, muga and *pat* (mulberry) were 4.96 g/d, 5.54 g/d and 3.18 g/d respectively and their elongation (%) was 34.5%, 35.80% and 18.72% respectively which show the dependency of elongation of filaments on tenacity. The strength of the yarn is generally increased by the twist however

detrimental impact would occur beyond the optimum point and ultimately the yarn will degrade (Sonwalkar, 2001). In case of mill spinning, the elongation (%) of the spun yarn decreases with the rise in the count (Kariyappa *et al.*, 2006). Saikia (2008) observed that tenacity and elongation percentage in barkesseru (5.83 g/tex and 23.58% respectively) was comparatively higher than in borpat (5.18 g/tex and 23.10% respectively) while on contrary, lower values in comparison to both were observed in castor. The present study revealed highest twist per inch during early summer

and in borkesseru leaves though the results are not case of breaking elongation for all the three factors significant. In respect to twist per inch slightly lower values were observed in the present investigation as compared to the findings of Chutia (2011) who revealed highest twist per inch (16.8 TPI) in kesseru followed by tapioca (16.2 TPI) and castor (16.0 TPI) during autumn season. Goswami et al. (2014) found comparatively higher tensile strength and elongation (%) of green leaf fed cocoons than the red petiole castor leaf fed cocoons in case of eri silk yarn might be due to the result of higher content of the moisture percentage in the green variety castor leaf and the season observed best was spring. Brahma (2015) recorded the highest values in terms of yarn count's', breaking load, tenacity and elongation percentage in castor followed by borpat (13.95 's', 0.61 kg, 1.20 g/d and 18.90% respectively) whereas mixture of borpat with castor and kesseru exhibited slightly lower values. For garments appropriate twist is needed for the support of the dimensional stability of fabric (Sreenivasa et al., 2016). Sharma and Kalita (2017) noticed variation in the quality of the yarn by the six strains of eri silkworm where, the higher maximum load and breaking tenacity $(7.90 \pm 0.86g)$ and 3.419 ± 0.31 g/d) was exhibited by Greenish Blue Spotted and lowest by Yellow Plain (5.64 \pm 1.29g and 2.25 \pm 0.515 g/d). In contrast to the present findings, Bhuyan et al. (2017) revealed that elongation showed no significant difference in the cocoons from Kesseru fed worms in different seasons. However, Chattopadhyay et al. (2018) while studying on the structural and fibre quality characteristics of eri silk cocoons in different seasons and places observed significant influence in

References

- Baruah, G. C., Talukdar, C. L., & Bora, M. N. (1990). Study of the tensile properties of natural silk fibres. Journal of Assam Science Society, 32(4), 9-14.
- Bhuyan, D., Sarmah, M. C., & Dutta, K. (2017). A study on the seasonal variation of the post cocoon parameters of eri silkworm Samia ricini (Donovan) reared on kesseru, Heteropanax fragrans (Roxb.) Seem. International Journal of Scientific Research, 6(1), 375-376.
- Brahma, L. R. (2015). Interchange effect of food plants on yield and qualitative characters of cocoon and silk yarn of eri silkworm, Samia ricini Boisd [Unpublished M.Sc. Assam Agricultural University, (Agri.) dissertation]. Jorhat, Assam.

viz., places, seasons and cocoon layers.

Conclusion

Eri silk is gaining popularity in the national and international market due to its 'ahimsa' way of cocoon processing, unique property and low cost compared to other natural silks. In order to capture the global competitive market and generating sustainable livelihood among the farmers by earning more income from this activity quality of the silk should be maintained. Quality of yarn is affected by various factors. In terms of physical properties of eri spun yarn food, rearing activities and seasonal variation play vital role. Due to the physical structure and chemical composition of the cocoon shells variation in the properties or characteristics of silk yarn occurs. The silk from the same species might differ due to the change in environmental conditions at the time of rearing, spinning of cocoon, mounting and processing of silk. Present study clearly revealed that spring season and borkesseru leaves exhibited better results in terms of physical property of the eri silk varn.

Acknowledgement

Authors are thankful to Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat for providing necessary support to conduct the experiment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Chattopadhyay, D., Chakraborty, A., & Chatterjee, S. M. (2018). Studies on structural and fibre quality characteristics of eri silk cocoons in different seasons and places. The Journal of the Textile Institute, 109(4), 543-551.
- Chutia, P. (2011). Cocoon and yarn parameters of eri silkworm, Saima ricini Boisduval reared on kesseru and tapioca [Unpublished M.Sc. (Agri.) dissertation]. Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat, Assam.
- Gahlaut, A. K. & Arjun, J. (2016). Relative impacts of different diets on the qualities of eri silk cocoon and eri silk yarn of four different mutants strains of Philosamia ricini Bsd. International Journal of Research -Granthaalayah, 4(11), 77-81.

- Goswami, B., Chutia, B. C., Nath, C., & Sarma, B. K. (2014). Effect of moisture content of castor leaf variety on tensile strength and elongation of cocoon filaments of eri silkworm, *Samia ricini* Donovan, *The Ecoscan*, 8(1&2), 97-99.
- Kariyappa, G. N., Ramaswamy, G. N., Somasekar, T. H., Roy, S., Shasidar, C., & Pattanashetty, R. B. (2006). Studies on processing of eri cocoon in mill spinning to produce quality spun silk yarn and its characterization. *Man-made Textiles in India*, 339-349.
- Lower, E.S. (1988). Silk its properties and main end uses. *Textile Month*, 28(9), 9-10.
- Nath, R., Haloi, K., Talukdar, B., & Devi, D. (2013). Comparative study on the tensile properties of different color morph and wild counter part of muga silkworm (Antheraea assamensis Helfer) of north east India. International Journal of Research in Biological Science, 3(4), 141-144.
- Panse, V. G. & Sukhatme, P. V. (1989). Statistical methods for agricultural workers (5th ed.). Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi.
- Renuka, G., & Samitha, G. (2014). Studies on the economic traits of eri silk worm *Samia cynthia ricini* in relation to seasonal variations. *International Journal of Advanced Research*, 2(2), 315-322.
- Ruth, L., Ghatak, S., Subbarayan. S, Choudhury, B. N., Gurusubramanian, G., Kumar, N. S., & Bin, T. (2019). Influence of micronutrients on the food consumption rate

and silk production of *Bombyx mori* (lepidoptera: bombycidae) reared on mulberry plants grown in a mountainous agro-ecological condition. *Frontiers Physiology*, *10*, 1-11, Article 878.

- Saikia, P. (2008). Cocoon and yarn parameters of eri silkworm reared on certain host plants [Unpublished M.Sc. (Agri.) dissertation]. Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat, Assam.
- Sharma, P., & Kalita, J. C. (2017). Comparative study on tensile properties of silk fibres of different eri silkworm strains, *Samia ricini* (Donovan). *NeBIO*,8(2), 121-123.
- Somashekar, T. H. (2003). Recent advances in eri spinning, weaving and future prospects. *Indian Silk*, 41(12), 49-52.
- Sonwalkar, T.N. (2001). *Handbook of Silk Technology* (Reprint ed.). New Age International (P) Limited, Publishers, New Delhi.
- Sreenivasa, I. M. R., Hipparagi, S. A., & Vijay Kumar, H. L. (2016). Development and characterization of eri silk blended union fabrics. In: *Proceedings of 24th International Congress on Sericulture and Silk Industry* held on 10-14th August, 2016, Bangkok, Thailand. pp. 1-15.
- Tamta, M., & Mahajan, S. (2021). The novel silk fiber: Eri. International Journal of Home Science, 7(1), 101-104.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.


Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Strategies and methods for improving phosphorus acquisition and its use efficiency: A review

Purushottam Dev

Department of Soil Science, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India.

S. S. Paliyal

Department of Soil Science, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India. **Mridula**

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India. Naviot Rana

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India.

R. G. Upadhyay

Department of Biology and Environmental Sciences, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 22 September 2021	Phosphorus (P) is considered an essential nutrient for all and is also essential
Revised : 13 December 2021	from global food security point of view but it is a limited, non-renewable
Accepted : 23 December 2021	nutrient resource, making its use vitally important. Nowadays, lower
	productivity in phosphorus availability is major concern. The decreasing ores
Published online: 31 January 2022	and suboptimal levels of plant available phosphorus (P) can lead to lower yield.
	Its interaction with several other plant nutrients makes it very hard for plant
Key Words:	availability. Several approaches have been tried and tested and many of them
Environmental impact	have been found effective, sustainable and cost efficient. However, the need for
Fertilizer	novel approaches for better phosphorus acquisition like physiological
Fixation	manipulation, better root structure and genetic alteration will help for resource
Macronutrient	conservation and is environmentally sustainable. But to diagnose
Sustainable	environmental impact on excess use of phosphate fertilizers more improvement
	is required in order so that limited phosphorus stocks can be managed. Thus,
	there is a need for integrative approach to solve the lower P in soil system.

Introduction

becoming scarcer in future has posed a danger to global agricultural systems (Cordell et al., 2011). While, in terms of crop availability, phosphorus is a tricky element. But it will be difficult for policymakers in a country like India, where the government spends billions of rupees on fertiliser subsidies despite rising fertiliser production costs. One of the key variables limiting fertility and agricultural productivity is soil P. The plants need it for root germination, energy currency for meristem nitrogen fixation, flowering, growth, and maturation, and meristematic growth strengthens straw and reduces the likelihood of lodging. However, the regulation of metabolic pathways and

The mere possibility of phosphorus (P) ores for the control of important enzyme processes becoming scarcer in future has posed a danger to inorganic phosphorus

is also required. In plant growth, phosphorus is the second most often limiting macronutrient. It can cause stunted growth, low seed quality, and delayed maturity. The majority of the samples examined for available P in soil were found insufficient, and just a few were optimal, while total P was in a good amount, comparable to available P. India imports a large amount of phosphatic fertiliser from other countries, putting a strain on the Indian government. About 1-2 tonnes/ha are lost due to sheet erosion, pH imbalances cause fixation on either side of the pH scale, and leaching into streams causes eutrophication, disrupting natures delicate balance. Further, the runoff from

agricultural lands is deposited in rivers and other bodies of water, making them non-source points of pollution that are difficult to remediate. In water critical limit of phosphorus is 0.03 mg L⁻¹ dissolved phosphorus and over which eutrophication is likely to occur in 0.2 mg L⁻¹ total phosphorus (Brady and Weil, 2014). The build-up of P in soil, with no long-term consequences, resulted in enhanced crop yield and quality, thus Indian farmers are using P fertilizers in excess amounts.

Due to low efficiency of phosphorus fertilisers, scientists had to think of alternate ways to manage soil phosphorus rather than adding more inputs. Soil P management has become an important aspect for optimal crop growth without any visible or invisible side effects due to vertical leaching of soil P, which is main reasons of decline and also is a source of groundwater contamination. In 2017-18, the actual NPK (Nitrogen, Phosphorus, and Potassium) consumption ratio was 6.10:2.46:1, as compared to the desired ratio of 4:2:1. Although this is a slight improvement above the consumption ratio of 7.23:2.9:1 in 2015-16, it is still a significant improvement (The Hindu 9th Oct 2019). In this heavily farmed area, 35% of the people tested surpassed the phosphate limit set by drinking water standards, according to a study of groundwater quality from wells in the Palar and Cheyyar River basins in Tamil Nadu, India (Rajmohan and Elango, 2005). So, to reduce the chemical usage of phosphorus in soil, various agronomic and chemical management strategies are necessary. However, the low phosphorus levels are due to soluble phosphate's high reactivity with other elements. In acidic soils, for example, phosphorus is combined with Al and Fe compounds (Norrish and Rosser, 1983) whereas calcium phosphate is the most prevalent inorganic phosphate (Lindsay et al., 1989).

Factors for improving availability of phosphorus/PUE:-

1. Liming effect on soil P

Plants absorb phosphorus mostly as $H_2PO_4^{-1}$ and HPO_4^{-2} to a lesser extent. Soil pH determines the availability of these ions. Phosphate ions are absorbed by aluminium and iron cations at acidic pH. Higher organic matter and alkalinity were able to keep soluble P at a higher pH range, according to an aquaponics study. Plant available P remains poor

in pH. Liming can increase soil phosphorus availability in a variety of ways, but it can also decrease availability by forming insoluble calcium complexes such as MCP, DCP, and apatite over time. Liming reduced the total organic phosphorus content of incubated surface samples of seven acid soils from eastern Canada by 3.6 percent in a laboratory experiment. Liming is suggested to minimise the toxicity of aluminium in the rhizosphere. Liming is also reported to enhance the intake of micronutrients like iron, boron, zinc, copper, and magnesium by balancing the pH.

2. Root Architecture

To live and finish its lifespan, phosphorus deprivation causes adaptive metabolic and structural modifications. Plants respond to low P levels in the soil by changing their root architecture, either by increasing root hairs or increasing root density. In some lowland rice genotypes, P deficiency increased the rate of organic acid exudation by 81 per cent (Hoffland *et al.*, 2006).

For solubilizing P, citric and oxalic acids are the most effective of the acids released (Hinsinger, 2001). Rhizosphere acidification reduces the pH of the bulk soil by 2-3 units. As a result of the acidification, various organic acids such as citrate and oxalate are secreted, causing the dissolution of various compounds and organic phosphorus through chelation and ligand exchange. Due to enhanced stimulation of root growth at the expense of shoot growth, an increase in root-to-shoot dry weight ratio is a common response to P deficit (Mollier and Pellerin, 1999). According to Roger and Benfey (2015) the presence of root hairs and the morphology of root tips aids in root penetration and anchoring inside the soil. Plant roots also release specialised metabolites such as phytosiderophores in addition to organic acids. Siderophores are low-molecular-mass compounds that chelate iron in the rhizosphere while also releasing P from Fe-bound-P (Guan et al., 2000).

3. P Solubilizing Microbes

The search for the efficacy and promise of P solubilizing microorganisms began in the 1960s and has continued since then. *Bacillius megaterium* and *Pseudomonas striata* are the most common bacteria engaged in P solubilization, while *Aspergillus awamori* and *Penicillium* have been observed in fungal species. It may be a realistic

solution in terms of P management, but it is not particularly popular among farmers. The reason for this can be rationalised by the fact that low organic carbon content is a requirement for these bacteria in Indian subcontinent circumstances. Another reason is that this PSM only works in a very low temperature and humidity range. There are not a lot of convincing reviews on how effective they are. In their study, for the P-deficient calcareous Aridisol, Gunes *et al.* (2009) discovered that increased P availability resulted in significant P-fertilizer savings. Both microorganisms enhanced strawberry yield and mineral concentrations above what could be attained merely by fertilising with P.

4. Effect of tillage

Tillage has a variety of effects on soil parameters such as bulk density, erosion control, infiltration rate, water holding capacity, and soil compaction. So that conservation tillage, zero tillage, minimum tillage and no-tillage have a beneficial effect because these types of tillage practises disturb the soil minimally and thus loss is negligible as compared to deep tillage or conventional tillage practises. Tillage is also thought to have an impact on biochemical changes in the soil, which modify the liable fraction of soil nutrients. Gradual increase in soil MBC (microbial biomass carbon) and N were resulted in the minimum tillage residue retained (MT+R) treatment, while the lowest levels were obtained in the conventional tillage residue removed (control) treatment. Continuous no-tillage approaches can successfully enhance the amount of nutrients accessible in the soil. No-tillage methods can not only improve the amount of accessible P in the soil, but they can also efficiently maintain a constant soil P supply throughout the maize growing season (Xomphoutheb et al., 2020). It is critical to establish adequate tillage and fertilisation methods in order to reduce fertiliser loss in agricultural production in order to maintain sustainable agricultural development and safeguard the environment. The availability of phosphorus is depending on the production system used (Carvalho et al., 2014).

5. Effect of mulching

In 2009 and 2010, according to Vijay Kumar (2011), farmyard manure mulch had the highest soil OC (organic carbon) (6.65 and 6.85 g/kg), soil available N (239.00 and 240 kg/ha), soil available P (20.21 and 22.01 kg/ha) and soil available K

(170.02 and 174.27 kg/ha). Mulching facilitates nutrient redistribution in the soil, reduces gaseous nutrient loss, and adds nutrients through decomposition of crop and mulch residues, all of which help to keep nutrients in the soil longer and boost plant uptake capacity (Amin *et al.*, 2014; Liu *et al.*, 2015; Rychel *et al.*, 2020; Wang *et al.*, 2020).

6. Agronomic practices

Good agronomic methods increase the build-up of nutrients in the soil and hence improve their bioavailability which could improve nutrient utilisation efficiency and nutrition uptake. Agronomic methods can reduce phosphorus fixation and increase phosphorus availability in soils (Horst et al., 2011). Several agronomic strategies have been proven to increase the efficiency of P fertiliser use on agricultural fields (Simpson et al., 2011 and McLaughlin et al., 2011). However, there are numerous opportunities to reduce external P inputs effectively manipulating soil crop by and environment.

a. For Band Placement of Fertilizers

The way fertiliser is applied has an impact on the speciation of the P fertiliser reaction product (Khatiwada et al., 2012). To maintain phosphorus available for plants, banding phosphorus fertilisers a preferable agronomic method. is When phosphatic fertilisers are broadcast or mixed with soil, they interact with more soil components and are swiftly transformed into insoluble complexes with calcareous soils calcium proportion (Malhi et al., 2002). In-band placements of P fertilisers are more successful at reducing P-fixation and hence improving fertiliser efficiency in P-fixing soils. The amount of interaction between the soil and fertiliser is significantly reduced as a result of band placement, lowering P fixation. P fertiliser is kept in an accessible state for a longer period of time because to band placement, which improves Puptake. When compared to the broadcast form of P administration, increased crop output and P accumulation plant tissues in have been documented in canola (Rehim et al., 2012) and wheat (Karamanos, 2017). The distribution of P fertiliser in the soil at a site where P can contact active roots of the crop plant has been associated with increased fertiliser band placement efficiency. The banding enhances the likelihood that the root surface will be in close proximity to the fertiliser, which is more essential than increased P availability (Sleight *et al.*, 1983). Deep–banding methods, which apply fertilisers deep below the soil surface, are indicated for cereal crops grown on alkaline calcareous soils. Banding below the seed permits budding radicle and seminal roots to come into direct touch with the fertiliser, as per Gokmen *et al.* (1999). Thus, there are two management methods which are for promoting P nutrition in the agricultural system are banding P fertiliser in or near the seed-row and maintaining soil P levels by long-term fertiliser oversight (Rehim *et al.*, 2012; Grant *et al.*, 2001).

b. Increasing the root surface/soil contact area

This can be accomplished by altering the morphology of the roots. The roots having a longer specific root length (i.e., roots with a smaller diameter) can cover a larger area while maintaining the same level of root biomass. Increased hair root development is another method for accomplishing the same goal. P uptake efficiency in wheat is influenced by root fineness or branching (Jones et al., 1989). As long as there is evidence of high genetic variability for this trait in wheat, this route appears promising. However, the current timeconsuming and labour-intensive methodologies limit its use in breeding programmes that require the screening of large numbers of genotypes. Improving plant root systems ability to forage for this very immobile nutrient is one of the most important strategies for increasing P efficiency in agricultural systems (Richardson et al., 2011). A variety of root morphological and architectural changes could be used to improve P absorption. Plants improve overall soil exploration through lengthening roots, branching roots, lengthening particular roots, and changing branching angles (Lynch and Brown, 2001; Gahoonia and Nielsen, 2004a; Lynch, 2007).

c. Increasing the effective root area

Root symbiosis with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) has been demonstrated to increase the effective root area, hence enhancing P absorption (Haymann and Mosse, 1971). P influx (P uptake per unit root length) is improved by AMF infection. On the other hand, a lack of consistency is seen in the information available about the genetic diversity present among wheat cultivars when it comes to vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza (VAM).

Alternatively, wheat cultivars were thoroughly examined for the mycorrhizal association that only show minor changes among genotypes, which were not highly connected to increased P absorption, it was revealed during CIMMYT's (Manske *et al.*, 2000b). VAM is known to boost Cu and Zn uptake while decreasing Mn availability, in addition to P uptake.

d. Increasing nutrient availability

Nutrient availability and uptake, ranging from protons to complex chemical compounds can be affected from the root's exudates. To convert poorly available organic P, phosphatases are considered good which makes up 45-55 percent of a plants total P supply into inorganic forms that are more readily available to the plant (Randall, 1995). Root phosphatase secreted or bound at the basis surface differs according to genotype (McLachlan, 1980). An andisol study in wheat and triticale cultivars found a link between acid phosphatases and P absorption (Portilla Cruz *et al.*, 1998)

e. Crop species/variety

Plant breeding programmes can improve P use efficiency by identifying and selecting genotypes/species that are more effective in absorbing P from soils. Genotypes with efficient and wide root systems, as well as those with effective linkages with mycorrhizal fungi to access a larger soil volume are linked to this (Lynch, 2007).

f. Cover Crops and Conservation Tillage Practices

For minimizing tillage and keeping a minimum 30% crop residue on farm conservation tillage is recommended. The use of cover crops can also help to minimize P (Geohring et al., 2011; Reid et al., 2011). Conservation tillage is a process that involves integrating crop wastes into the soil (Gynor and Findley, 1995). This practice has been shown to reduce overall P losses and minimize particle bound P export (Ulen et al., 2010). While it can improve nutrient efficiency, and cover crops can also reduce erosion and leaching. It produces rhizo-deposits that allow for the uptake of soil P (Nuruzzaman et al., 2005). Some plant species, such as the Lupinus albus, can effectively solubilize soluble soil P (Braum and Helmke, 1995). This allows them to use soil as a cover crop or rotation (Njeru et al., 2014).

g. Organic amendments

I tis known that the addition of organic manures in the soil can overcome the problem of soil P limitation. However, this method requires the proper quantity and quality of this practice (Kwabiah *et al.*, 2003). An organic residue can help to improve the soil's conditions by increasing the plant's available P. After breakdown, the organic manures can convert soil P into chemical form from native places (Smith *et al.*, 1998). The release of CO_2 occurs when soil's pH is lowered to a level that allows the uptake of H₂CO₃ (Mujeeb *et al.*, 2008). The organic acids released by the microbial decomposition process help in the breakdown of the soil's P.

Organic compounds that are generated during decomposition may boost the availability of P by covering or anionizing P adsorption sites or by releasing organic P into the soil (Nelson and Janke 2007). It is also important to note that organic compounds, which include phytin, are responsible for around 20% of total soil Phosphorus. Also, farmvard manure increases the microbial load on soils (Araujo et al., 2009). To create a variety of organic acids and organic waste matter operation of soil microbe's breakdown was occurred (Liu et al., 2017). Microbes help in the decomposition of organic debris, which helps in the release of nutrients slowly to the crop (Habai et al., 2016). Increase in soil physical properties aid in P uptake by aiding root spread and enhancing mycorrhizal development (Cavigelli et al., 2003; Medina and Azcon, 2010). Combination of inorganic fertilizers in conjunction with organic amendments resulted in increased crop yields and reduce liability on others inputs. Inorganic P fertilisers that are used in conjunction with FYM have been shown to improve their efficacy by lowering P fixation in the soil, boosting bioavailability, and extending the time they are available in the soil (Reddy et al., 1996). Rock phosphate has a poor solubility in neutral and alkaline soils, but a higher solubility in acidic soils (Hongqing et al., 2001). More solubilization was done when co-composting rock phosphate in combination with organic manures was applied (Akande et al., 2005) (Tian and Kolawole, 2004). The release of organic acids during the decomposition of organic components can explain the increase in available P in rock phosphate (Kolawole and Tian, 2007).

h. Composting

Organic waste materials (composted) are recognized to reinforce manufacturing via means of improving soil physical, chemical, and biological properties as compared to raw organic waste materials (Ahmad et al., 2006; Ogbonna et al., 2014). During compost production, raw organic matter undergoes physical, chemical, and organic alterations, ensuing in large degrees of stabilised organic matter. As these stabilised organic components degrade, nitrogen and phosphorus are released into the soil (Sullivan et al., 2003; Franklin et al., 2015). This method is one of the efficient methods to boom bioavailable P and, as a result, enhance P availability from many organic materials. After composting, P conversion (Natural rate) into inorganic compounds (insoluble) is decreased. The organic component of the soil rises during the composting process, allowing for greater microbial activity and diversity. Humic material which are fresh drastically increase the addition of tens of thousands and thousands of native bacterial groups to the soil. The exothermic nature of composting contributes in the formation of various bacterial habitat.

All of these microbial communities degrade organic waste by feeding on it. During the breakdown process, organic acids are released. Some organic acids aid in the formation of a symbiotic interaction with root-invading fungus. Symbiotic partnerships with root colonisation fungi aid in increasing nutrient uptake from the soil. The composting process also aids in the convert nearby insoluble P sources so that they can converted into available form. In this process, insoluble P minerals are dissolved which react with CO_2 with the soil solution to form carbonic acid. The compost's physical, chemical, and biological activity all work together to provide long-term P nutrition to the growing plant (Kucey *et al.*, 1989).

i. Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungi

Root systems of most of the plants interact with symbiotic interactions that is widespread soil habitant in AMF. Over 400 million years, plants had a long relationship with AMF and this relationship resulted in a slew of positive outcomes. Multiple studies have shown that increased AMF colonisation of the host plant roots increases nutrient absorption (Smith and Smith 2011). AMF plays a role in modifying P and increasing its In cereals plants like Rice, the more relevant pathway for absorption of P is AMF. Fine hyphae of AMF were extended when more P was absorbed by Plants and also surface area was also exposed to the soil. When total P uptake by the plant roots was increased it will gradually increase symbiosis benefits among the plants. Lower soil pH was resulted in AMF- assisted soil, which benefits the mineralization of phytate as a result, host plant transmission and P bioavailability for AMF absorption was increased (Wang et al., 2013). Acid phosphatase enzyme activity is increased with AMF effect on plant P uptake (Feng et al., 2003). In the vacuoles, AMF hyphae store polyphosphate enzymes. These enzymes have a strong selectivity for cleaving P bound to organic phosphates and converting them to an inorganic form. In the host plants, AMF arbuscules and inorganic P is transported. During Starvation AMF has a great role in P nutrition, when P is applied alone only 49 per cent absorption was done as compare to AMF, 78 per cent absorption was done (Thingstrup et al., 2000).

References

- Ahmad, R., Khalid, A., Arshad, M., Zahir, Z.A., & Naveed, M. (2006). Effect of raw (un-composted) and composted organic waste material on growth and yield of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Soil Environment*, 25 (2), 135–142.
- Akande, M.O., Adediran, J.A., & Oluwatohinbo, F.I. (2005). Effects of rock phosphate amended with poultry manure on soil available P and yield of maize and cowpea. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 4(5), 444–448.
- Amin, M.G.M., Bech, T.B., Forslund A., Hansen M., Petersen S.O., & Lægdsmand, M. (2014). Redistribution and persistence of microorganisms and steroid hormones after soil-injection of swine slurry. *Science of the Total Environment*, 1003-1010.
- Araujo, A.S.F., Leite, L.F.C., Santos, V.B., & Carneiro, R.F.V. (2019). Soil microbial activity in conventional and organic agricultural systems. *Sustainability*, 1(2), 268–276.
- Brady, N.C., & Weil, R.R. (2015). Soil Phosphorus and Potassium. *The Nature and Property of Soils*, 671-716.
- Braum, S.M., & Helmke, P.A. (1995). White lupin utilizes soil phosphorus that is unavailable to soybean. *Plant and Soil*, *176*(1), 95–100.

bioavailability in soils (Fitter et al., 1991).

Conclusion

This paper highlights how to overcome P deficiencies and their management. It is seen that today agriculture system is more dependent on intensive agriculture farming, relying too much on cereals may also cause fewer improvements in phosphorus availability. In the future, farm outputs may be affected which also increase the cost of cultivation and decrease farm income. With the scarcity of P, food security and stability are going to be affected. Soil and plant with soil interactions need to be understood to understand more about P availability. Also, more research is needed in numerous components of agricultural systems, and better strategies need to be developed to meet out the issue of boosting plant P availability, while increasing the crop yield in a sustainable manner.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Carvalho, A. M. D., Bustamante, M. M. D. C., Almondes, Z. A. D. P., & Figueiredo, C. C. D. (2014). Forms of phosphorus in an oxisol under different soil tillage systems and cover plants in rotation with maize. *Revista Brasileira de* Ciência do Solo, 38, 972– 979, https://doi.org/10.1590/s0100-06832014000300029
- Cavigelli, M.A., & Thien, S.J. (2003). Phosphorus Bioavailability following Incorporation of Green Manure Crops. Soil Science Society of America, 1, 1186–1194.
- Cordell, D., Rosemarin, A., Schroder, J.J., & Smit, A.L. (2011). Towards global phosphorus security: a systems framework for phosphorus recovery and reuse options. *Chemosphere*, 84(6), 747–758.
- Feng, G., Song, Y.C., Li, X.L., & Christie, P. (2003). Contribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to utilization of organic sources of phosphorus by red clover in a calcareous soil. *Applied Soil Ecology*, *22*(2), 139–148.
- Fitter, A.H., Helgason, T., & Hodge, A. (2011). Nutritional exchanges in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis: Implications for sustainable agriculture. *Fungal Biological Review*, 25(1), 68–72.
- Franklin, D., Ozenç, D.B., Ozenç, N., & Cabrera, M. (2015). Nitrogen mineralization and phosphorus release from

Strategies & methods for improving phosphorus acquisition

composts and soil conditioners found in the south-eastern united states. *Soil Science Society America*, 79(5), 1386.

- Gahoonia, T. S., & Nielsen, N.E. (2004a). Barley genotypes with long root hairs sustain high grain yields in low-P field. *Plant and Soil*, *262*, 55–62.
- Gaynor, J.D., & Findlay, W.I. (1995). Soil and phosphorus loss from conservation and conventional tillage in corn production. *Journal of Environment Quality, 24,* 734.
- Geohring, L.D., McHugh, O.V., Walter, M.T., Steenhuis, T.S., Akhtar, M.S., & Walter, M.F. (2001). Phosphorus transport into drains by macropores after manure applications: Implication for best manure management practices. *Soil Science*, 166, 896–909.
- Gokmen, S., & Sencar, O. (1999). Effect of phosphorus fertilizers and application methods on the yield of wheat grown under dryland conditions. *Turkish Journal of Agricultural Forages*, 23, 393-399.
- Grant, C.A., Flaten, D.N., Tomasiewicz, D.J., & Sheppard, S.C. (2001). The importance of early season phosphorus nutrition. *Canada Journal of Plant Sciences*, 81, 211-224.
- Guan, L.L., Onuki, H., & Kamino, K. (2000). Bacterial growth stimulation with exogenous siderophore and synthetic Nacylhomoserine lactone autoinducers under iron-limited and low-nutrient conditions. *Applied Environment Microbiology*, 66, 2797–803.
- Gunes, A., Nizamettin, A., Metin, T., Ahmet, E., & Ketterings, Q.M. (2009). Effects of phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms on strawberry yield and nutrient concentrations. *Soil Science*, 172, 385–392.
- Habai, R., Nwakaego, V., Deusdedit, P., Odeh, I., Singh, A., & Buchan, D. (2016). Nitrogen mineralization dynamics of different valuable organic amendments commonly used in agriculture. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 101, 185–193.
- Haymann, D.S., & Mosse, B. (1971). Plant growth response to vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza. I. Growth of Endogone inoculated plants in phosphate deficient soils. *New Phytologist*, 70, 19-27.
- Hinsinger, P. (2001). Bio-availability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by root induced chemical changes: a review. *Plant and Soil, 237*, 173–195.
- Hoffland, E., & Wissuwa, W.C. (2006). Organic acid exudation by lowland rice (*Oryza sativa L.*) at zinc and phosphorus deficiency. *Plant and Soil, 283*, 155–162.
- Hongqing, H., Chunying, T., Chongfa, C., Jizheng, H. & Xueyuan, L. (2001). Availability and residual effects of phosphate rocks and inorganic p fractionation in a red soil of central china. *Nutrient Cycle*, 59(3), 251–258.

- Horst, W.J., Kamh, M., Jibrin, J.M., & Chude, V.O. (2011). Agronomic measures for increasing P availability to crops. *Plant and Soil*, 237(2), 211–223.
- Jones, G.P.D., Blair, G.J., & Jessop, R.S. (1989). Phosphorus efficiency in wheat - a useful selection criteria. *Field Crops Research*, 21, 257-264.
- Karamanos, R. (2017). The impact of phosphorus fertilizer placement on crop production. Agricultural Research & Technology, 125-132.
- Khatiwada, R., Hettiarachchi, G.M., Mengel, D.B., & Fei, M. (2012). Speciation of phosphorus in a fertilized, reducedtill soil system: In-field treatment incubation study. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 176-185.
- Kolawole. G.O., & Tian, G. (2007). Phosphorus fractionation and crop performance on an alfisol amended with phosphate rock combined with or without plant residues. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, *6*(16), 1972–1978.
- Kucey, M.E., Janzen H.H., & Leggett (1989). Microbially mediated increases in plant available phosphorus. Advances in Agronomy, 42(42), 199–221.
- Kumar, V. (2011). Effect of different organic mulching materials on soil properties of na '7' aonla (EMBLICA OFFICINALIS GAERTN) under rainfed condition of shivalik foothills of himalayas INDIA. *The Bioscan*, 9(1), 561-564.
- Kwabiah, A.B., Stoskopf, N.C., Palm, C.A., Voroney, R.P., Rao, M.R., & Gacheru, E. (2003). Phosphorus availability and maize response to organic and inorganic fertilizer inputs in a short-term study in western Kenya. *Agriculture Ecosystem Environment*, 95(1), 49–59.
- Lindsay, W.L., Vlek, P.L.G., & Chien, S.H. (1989). Phosphate minerals, in: Dixon J.B., Weed S.B., Soil environment, 2nd ed., Soil Science Society of America, 1089–1130.
- Liu, X.E., Li, X.G., Guo, R.Y., Kuzyakov, Y., & Li, F.M. (2015). The effect of plastic mulch on the fate of urea-N in rain-fed maize production in a semiarid environment as assessed by 15N-labeling. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 70, 71-77.
- Lynch, J.P. (2007). Roots of the second green revolution. Australian Journal of Botany, 55, 1-20.
- Lynch, J.P., Brown, K.M. (2001). Topsoil foraging—an architectural adaptation of plants to low phosphorus availability. *Plant and Soil*, 237, 225–237.
- Malhi, S.S., Haderlein, L.K., Pauly, D.G., & Johnston, A.M. (2002). Improving fertilizer phosphorus use efficiency. *Better Crops*, 86(4), 8–9.
- Manske, G.G.B., Monasterio, J.I.O., Ginkel, M.V., Gonzalez, R.M., Rajaram, S., Molina, E., & Vlek, P.L.G. 2000. Traits associated with improved Puptake efficiency in CIMMYT's

semidwarf spring bread wheat wheat grown on an acid andisol in Mexico. *Plant and Soil*, 22(1), 189-204.

- McLachlan, K.D. (1980). Acid phosphatase activity of intact roots and phosphorus nutrition of plants. II. Variation among wheat roots. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 31, 441-448.
- McLaughlin, M.J., McBeath, T.M., Smernik, R., Stacey, S.P., Ajiboye, B., & Guppy, C. (2011). The chemical nature of P accumulation in agricultural soils-implications for fertiliser management and design: An Australian perspective. *Plant Soil*, 349(1–2), 69–87.
- Medina, A., & Azcon, R. (2010). Effectiveness of the application of arbuscular mycorrhiza fungi and organic amendments to improve soil quality and plant performance under stress conditions. *Journal of soil Science*, 10(3), 354–372.
- Mollier, A., & Pellerin, S. (1999). Maize root system growth and development as influenced by P deficiency. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 50, 487–497.
- Mujeeb, F., Hannan, A., & Maqsood, M.A. (2017). Response of maize to diammonium phosphate and farmyard manure application on three different soils. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Science*, 45(3), 13–18.
- Nelson, N.O., & Janke, R.R. (2007). 'Phosphorus sources and management in organic production systems. *Horttechnology*, 17(4), 442–454.
- Njeru, E.M., Avio, L., Sbrana, C., Turrini, A., Bocci, G., Bàrberi, P., & Giovannetti M. (2014). First evidence for a major cover crop effect on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and organic maize growth. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 34(4), 841–848.
- Norrish, K., & Rosser, H. (1983). Mineral phosphate, in: Soils, an Australian viewpoint, Academic press, Melbourne, CSIRO/London, UK, Australia, 335–361.
- Nuruzzaman, M., Lambers, H., Bolland, M.D.A., & Veneklaas, E.J. (2005). Phosphorus benefits of different legume crops to subsequent wheat grown in different soils of Western Australia. *Plant and Soil*, 271(1–2), 175–187.
- Ogbonna, D.N., Isirimah, N.O., & Princewill, E. (2014). Effect of organic wastes compost and microbial activity on the growth of maize in the utisoils in effect of organic waste compost and microbial activity on the growth of maize in the utisoils in Port Harcourt, Nigeria. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11, 62.
- Rajmohan, N., & Elango, L. (2005). Nutrient chemistry of groundwater in an intensively irrigated region of southern India. *Environmental Geology*, 47, 820–830.
- Randall, P.J. (1995). Genotypic differences in phosphate uptake. In: Genetic manipulation of crop plants to enhance

integrated management in cropping systems. I. Phosphorus: Proceedings of an FAO/ ICRISAT Expert Consultancy Workshop Andhra Pradesh, India: *International Crops Research Institute for the Semiarid Tropics*, 31-47.

- Reddy, K.S., Rao, A.S. & Takkar, P.N. (1995). Transformation of fertilizer P in a Vertisol amended with farmyard manure. *Biological Fertilizer*, 22, 279–282.
- Rehim, A., Farooq, M., Ahmad, F., & Hussain, M. (2012). Band placement of phosphorus improves the phosphorus use efficiency and wheat productivity under different irrigation regimes. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 727-733.
- Rehim, A., Hussain, M., Abid, M., Zia, M., & Ahmad, S., (2012). Phosphorus use efficiency of canola as affected by band placement of phosphorus and farmyard manure on calcareous soils. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 44, 1391-1398.
- Reid, D.K. (2011). A modified Ontario P index as a tool for on farm phosphorus management. *Canada Journal of Soil Science*, 91(3), 455–466.
- Richardson, A.E., Lynch, J.P., Ryan, P.R., Delhaize, E., Smith, F.A., Smith, S.E., Harvey, P.R., Ryan, M.H., Veneklaas, E.J., Lambers, H., Oberson, A., Culvenor, R.A., & Simpson, R.J. (2011). Plant and microbial strategies to improve the phosphorus efficiency of agriculture. *Plant* and Soil, 349, 121–156.
- Roger, E.D., & Benfey, P.N. (2015). Regulation of plant root system architecture: implications for crop advancement. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 32, 93–98.
- Rychel, K., Meurer, K.H.E., Borjesson, G., Stromgren, M., Getahun, G.T., Kirchmann, H., & Katterer, T. (2020). Deep N fertilizer placement mitigated N₂O emissions in a Swedish field trial with cereals. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 118, 133-148.
- Simpson, R.J., Oberson, A., Culvenor, R.A, Ryan, M.H., Veneklaas, E.J., Lambers, H., Lynch, J.P., Ryan, P.R., Delhaize, E., Smith, F.A., Smith, S.E., Harvey, P.R., & Richardson, A.E. (2011). Strategies and agronomic interventions to improve the phosphorus-use efficiency of farming systems. *Pakistan journal of agricultural research*, 349(1–2).
- Smith, K.A., Chalmers, A.G., Chambers, B.J., & Christie, P. (2000). Organic manure phosphorus accumulation, mobility and management. *Soil Use Management*, 14, 154– 159.
- Smith, S.E., & Smith, F.A. (2011). Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant nutrition and growth: New paradigms from cellular to ecosystem scales. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 62(1), 227–250.

- Sullivan, D.M., Bary, A.I., Nartea, T.J., Cogger, C.G., & after a high-rate food waste compost application. *Compost Science & Utilization*, 11(3), 265–275.
- Thingstrup, I., Kahiluoto, H. & Jakobsen, I. (2000). Phosphate transport by hyphae of field communities of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at two levels of P fertilization. *Plant and Soil*, *221*(2), 181–187.
- Tian, G., & Kolawole, G.O. (2004). Comparison of various plant residues as phosphate rock amendment on savanna soils of west Africa. *Journal of Plant Nutrition*, 27(4), 571–583.
- Ulen, B., Aronsson, H., Bechmann, M., Krogstad, T., Oygarden, L., & Stenberg, M. (2010). Soil tillage methods to control phosphorus loss and potential side-effects: A Scandinavian review. *Soil Use Management*, 26(2), 94– 107.
- Wang, F., Jiang, R., Kertesz, M.A., Zhang, F., & Feng, G. (2013). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal hyphae mediating

Fransen, S.C. (2003). Nitrogen availability seven years acidification can promote phytate mineralization in the hyphosphere of maize (*Zea mays L.*). Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 65, 69–74.

- Wang, X., Wang, G., Turner, N.C., Xing, Y., Li, M., & Guo, T. (2020). Determining optimal mulching, planting density, and nitrogen application to increase maize grain yield and nitrogen translocation efficiency in Northwest China. *BMC Plant Biology*, 20, 282.
- Xomphoutheb, T., Jiao, S., Guo, X., Mabagala, F.S., Sui, B., Wang, H., Zhao, L., & Zhao, X. (2020). The effect of tillage systems on phosphorus distribution and forms in rhizosphere and non-rhizosphere soil under maize (*Zea mays* L.) in Northeast China. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 6574 https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-63567-7
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Standardization of asexual propagation techniques in rambutan (*Nephelium lappaceum* L.) for humid tropical region of India

Panchaal Bhattacharjee 🖂

Department of Horticulture, Anand Agricultural University, Gujarat, India.

T. Sakthivel

Division of Fruit Crops, ICAR- IIHR, Hessaraghatta, Bengaluru, Karnataka, India.

Subhash Chander

Horticulturist, Punjab Agricultural University, RRS, Abohar (Punjab), India.

P. K. Nimbolkar

College of Horticulture and Forestry, Pasighat, CAU (I), Arunachal Pradesh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 06 October 2021	Rambutan (Nephilium lappaceum L.) is a potential exotic crop, fetching high
Revised : 18 November 2021	value demand in the tropical markets of the world. In India the states like
Accepted : 28 November 2021	Kerala and Karnataka are pioneer in cultivation of Rambutan. It is a natural
	inhabitant of warm and humid climate of South East Asia gradually finding its
Published online: 31 January 2022	spread and cultivation across continents of both the spheres, but in order to
	sustain the demand of this crop, there is an urgent need to find out the best
Key Words:	method of propagation. In order to assess and determine a suitable vegetative
Rambutan	propagation protocol for true to type plant multiplication in Coorg region of
Arka Coorg Arun	Karnataka, different types of budding and grafting techniques were evaluated
Propagation	in Rambutan. Three different methods of budding (<i>i.e.</i> patch budding, forkert
Budding	budding and chip budding) were employed, among these three methods patch
Grafting	budding was proven to the best with a significantly higher rate of budding
Agricultural Science	success (70.00 %), minimum days taken for sprouting (36.86 days) and with a
	lower rate of mortality (6.28 %). In a separate concurrent experiment,
	approach grafting method showed superior results among three different
	gratting methods (<i>viz.</i> approach gratting, cleft gratting and veneer gratting)
	studied. It showed maximum rate of graft success (72.86 %), higher number of
	sprouted bud (4.29) and minimum days taken for sprouting (46.29 days) and
	also had a very low mortality rate (5.87 %).

Introduction

The aspect of fruit cultivation is constantly growing, promoted through the investment made by producers or by the consumers, to meet the demand of a healthy diet cart. Along with the popular fruits, obscure yet nutritious fruits are taking up their slots in supermarket shelves. This has greatly contributed to the expansion of underutilized and exotic fruits.

Among these exotic fruits, one commonly found is Rambutan (*Nephelium lappaceum* L.) which belongs to the Sapindaceae family. The name of this fruit derived from its place of origin's vernacular Malayan language word "Rambut", which translates into "Hair" in English, concerning to its soft thorn like hairy outgrowth that cover the

fruit surface. Rambutan fruit varies from dark red to yellowish green in colour depending on the cultivar; ovoid in its shape with gelatinous white flesh inside adhering to its seed (Li *et al.*, 2018). Rambutan has a huge potential for industrial and neutraceutical usage in future. Edible fats extracted from seeds are found to be potential for replacing cocoa butter in confectionary industries (Solis-Fuentes *et al.*, 2011). Peel flour can be constituted as an effective ingredient in biopolymer production (Nadhirah *et al.*, 2016). Rind extractants has many effective uses such as anti-viral or anti-herpes (Nawawi *et al.*, 1999), anti-oxidant, anti-bacterial (Thitilertdecha *et al.*, 2008), anti-hyperglycemic, anti-inflammatory (Palanisamy et al., 2011) and anti-proliferative (Kumar et al., 2012). Rambutan crop has immense economic potential in market, which fetches an approximate price of ₹200/Kg of fruit for export from the states like Kerala and Karnataka. The successful commercial cultivation of this crop depends on many climatic and agronomical factors. Nevertheless a proper propagation technique is equally essential in order to supply true to type quality planting material, which eventually plays an important role in increasing the fruit yield and quality. Air layering is a common technique of propagation for Rambutan relatives such as litchi and longan. However, propagating Rambutan using air layering proved difficult (Morton, 1987). Grafting and budding success is generally determined by various factors such as grafting methods, grafting seasons, propagation environment, etc. (Chander et al., 2016). There are different grafting and budding are being practiced techniques which for commercial production of different fruit crops (Chander et al., 2016). As of now, there is no work done in India, for standardizing vegetative propagation methods in Rambutan. Hence, it is very much essential to arrive at a credulous method of vegetative propagation technique to maintain the genetic veracity of a variety and which can also be exploited at commercial level to increase the area of exotic crops like Rambutan. The study was undertaken to standardize suitable method for adoptable vegetative propagation technique with less rate of mortality in Rambutan under humid tropical region of Kodagu (Coorg) district Karnataka, Southern India.

Material and Methods

The experimental site of current study was located at the Central Horticultural experiment station (CHES, ICAR-IIHR), Chettalli, Kodagu, Karnataka (12°26' N latitude and 75°57' E longitude at 1050 m above mean sea level). The average annual temperature stays around 21.6 °C and the average 1900-1950 rainfall is about mm, during experimental duration average maximum temperature and average relative humidity were recorded as 29.04 °C and 97.5 % respectively. The Rambutan fruits are generally harvested during September to October month in this region. Under two separate experiments, budding and grafting

operations were carried out during first week of November, 2017 and the observations were recorded upto next 120 days. One year old seedling of local variety of Rambutan, sourced from Kerala was utilized as rootstock. The seedlings of 25 to 30 cm height, thickness of a pencil grown in polybags were used for budding inside shade house. Bud woods were collected from cv. Arka Coorg Arun (CHES-27), a Rambutan selection growing in healthy manner at Rambutan orchard of CHES. Chettalli used in budding experiment. Bud woods (2.0-2.5 cm thickness) which matched with the rootstock's girth were carried to experimental site after covering in a moist sack bag to avoid desiccation. Different budding techniques were employed to find most suitable method of budding in Rambutan, Among the three different budding techniques were used the first one was patch budding (T_1) , where a rectangular patch of bark (2.5 cm long and 1.0 to 1.5 cm wide) was removed from the stock and a similar patch, containing a bud was removed from the scion of Arka Coorg Arun (CHES-27). After removal, it was immediately inserted on to the stock. The patch containing bud fitted tightly at top and bottom, it was then wrapped with polythene strip (Figure 1). Under forkert budding (T_2) , the root stock is prepared by giving two vertical cuts and a transverse cut above the vertical cuts to join them, along these cuts the bark was removed carefully, on which the flap of bark remains hanged down. The scion bud is prepared in same fashion as of patch budding with precise fit on root stock. The scion was then slipped into exposed portion of the stock and the flap is drawn over the inserted bud patch, followed by wrapping the region with a polythene strip and the third budding technique was chip budding (T_3) , wherein a chip of bark and wood was removed from the smooth surface between the nodes of the stock. A chip of wood removed in same fashion and of similar size from the bud wood, ensuring that the bud was in middle of chip which precisely fits into stock ensuring cambium contact between chip bud and stock. It was tightly wrapped by polythene strip leaving protruding bud uncovered. After the sprout of the bud, wrapping material and above portion of stock were removed in all the treatments. In another concurrent experiment on standardization of grafting methods in rambutan, different graftingtechniques three (viz. G_1 : Approach grafting; G₂: Cleft grafting; G₃:



A-B: Removal of patch bud from scion.



C-D: Insertion of the patch bud on rootstock.



E:Bud-stock union is wrapped with polythene



F: Sprouting of successful patch bud

Figure 1: Patch budding in Rambutan (A-F)

33 Environment Conservation Journal Side/Veneer grafting) were evaluated on same type of rootstocks used in previous budding experiment. The seedling rootstocks grown in polybags were brought in adjacent to the scion mother plant in orchard for approach grafting whereas, same types of rootstocks were placed inside shade house for cleft and side/veneer grafting. Selection of scion plant is the important factor for the propagation of fruit plants by grafting. Considering this fact, uniform bearing 10 years or older mother plant of rambutan (CHES-29) was selected as scion mother plant. The non-flowering scion shoots having dark green colored leaves, about 10-15 cm long, straight, smooth, healthy, pest and disease free were chosen from new season's growth, which were about 3-4 months old containing sufficient reserved food materials. Scion shoots were selected and marked for approach grafting on mother plant itself as it is an attached method of grafting and other selected scion shoots for detached method of grafting such as cleft and side/veneer grafting were pre-cured by defoliating them, leaving one-fourth of the petiole on the mother plants about one week before the grafting operation. After their detachment scions were carried in a poly bag to the experimental plots and kept in shady or cool place to avoid desiccation. In approach grafting technique, a thin slice of bark about 6 to 8 cm long at a height of about 20 to 25 cm above the ground level was removed from the stock. A similar reciprocate cut was made in scion with a sharp knife. Thus the cambium layer of both stock and scion were exposed. These cuts were brought together and tied tightly with the help of polythene strips (Figure 2).The rootstocks were cleft grafted after decapitating the stock 30 to 45 cm above the ground level. Beheaded stocks were split to about 5 cm depth through the centre of stem with sharp grafting knife. The scion of 15 to 20 cm size is taken from terminal shoot and wedged securely (6 to 7 cm). The cleft of the scion was slipped into the split of the stock followed by a tight wrapping of graft region with the polythene strips. In veneer grafting, the scion was inserted into the side of the rootstock, which is generally larger in diameter than the scion. First, a long sloping cut was given (2.5 to 3 cm) on the side of the rootstock at about 20 cm height. Cut was given on the scion into a wedge shape with one side slightly longer then the cut on the rootstock. Inserted the scion laid up the

cambium layers. Bind the graft with wrapping material.

To evaluate the effect of treatments in these two experiments parameters like, budding success (Number of successful budding/ Total number of budding attended x 100) were recorded, successful bud showing green in colour and sprouting indicates in each treatment was counted at 20 days interval upto 60 days after budding. Similarly in grafting experiment, grafting success (%) =(Number of successful grafts/ Total number of grafted plants x 100); was recorded at 15 days interval upto 45 days after grafting. The shoot with the opened leaves from the terminal bud of scion was considered as the success of a graft. Observation regarding approach graft union was recorded by observing the greenness of the tissue. Among the other different common observations, days taken for bud sprouting, number of bud sprouts; number of leaves, number of branches, scion height, plant height, these observations were recorded on a cumulative basis 30 days interval upto 120 days after grafting. Union girth and rootstock girth were measured using vernier caliper. After 30-45 days of initial success, the grafts were observed for the next two months and in some successful budding or grafts, some scions were found to dry up due to failure of vascular connection. The number of buds or grafts mortality was recorded in percentage by using formula, Mortality (%) = (Total number of dead budded plant or grafts/ Total number of initially successful buds or grafts x 100). Design adopted for both of these experiments was randomized block design. There were three treatments with seven replications and ten numbers of grafts in each replication. The data in percentages were transformed to arc sine values for statistical analysis. The data were subjected to statistical analysis using WASP 2.0 software (ICARGOA-ICAR-Central Coastal Agricultural Research Institute). Critical difference values were tabulated at five per cent probability where "F" test was significant.

Results and Discussion

Among the different budding methods were employed to find out suitable one in Rambutan at CHES, Chettalli conditions in Karnataka, theobtained findings (Table 1) depicts that patch budding was the best among the three different



E: Wrapping the graft with polythene sheet tightly.

F: Growth of rootstock and scion in successful approach graft.

G: Successfully approach grafted plants.

Figure 2: Approach grafting in Rambutan

budding treatments carried out with a significant regarding union girth (Table 1), represents the higher rate of budding success (70.00 %), minimum days taken for sprouting (36.86 days), highest number of branches (2.86) and leaves (18.00). In addition to that, patch budding results indicating a successful bud union through significantly lowest rate of mortality (6.28 %) and maximum plant height (35.04 cm) with scion length of 17.06 cm in comparison to forkert and chip budding. Among the treatments, there was no significant variation

normal growth of budded plants. Normally, swelling in union region indicates lower bud growth in compared to root stock. The better performance of patch budding can be attributed to the factors like larger surface area attachment of scion bud, a precise fit on stock, less chance of injury to bud while removing the portion as patch, moreover it is easy to perform. Results from present investigation were in accordance with Morton

Treatment	Budding success (%)	Days taken for bud sprouting	Number of branches	Number of leaves	Plant height (cm)	Union girth (cm)	Rootstock girth (cm)	Scion height (cm)	Mortality (%)
T ₁ : Patch budding	70.00 (56.95)	36.86	2.86	18.00	35.04	0.60	0.89	17.06	6.28 (9.63)
T ₂ : Forkert budding	48.57 (44.16)	44.43	1.86	14.00	29.16	0.59	0.84	13.03	32.38 (34.46)
T ₃ : Chip budding	24.29 (29.10)	48.86	1.57	12.71	28.86	0.69	0.80	13.53	46.43 (42.84)
Mean	47.62 (43.40)	43.38	2.10	14.90	31.02	0.62	0.84	14.54	28.36 (28.98)
S.Em±	1.95	0.75	0.23	0.71	1.10	0.04	0.04	0.43	3.35
CD (5%)	6.09	2.33	0.70	2.21	3.411	NS	NS	1.35	10.44

Table 1: Effect of different budding methods on different characters related to successful budding in Rambutan

Note: Values in the parentheses are arc sine transformed data, NS= Non significant

Table 2: Effect of different grafting methods on different characters related to successful grafting in Rambutan

Treatment	Grafting percent success (%)	Days taken for bud sprouting	Number of bud sprouts	Number of branches	Plant height (cm)	Union girth (cm)	Rootstock girth (cm)	Scion height (cm)	Mortality (%)
G ₁ :Approach grafting	72.86 (58.75)	46.29	4.29	3.29	54.29	0.54	0.86	18.03	5.87 (9.30)
G ₂ : Cleft grafting	32.86 (34.70)	50.57	1.57	1.86	39.20	0.49	0.83	12.93	29.48 (30.64)
G ₃ :Side/Veneer grafting	18.57 (25.18)	52.43	1.71	1.71	35.46	0.73	0.86	12.04	38.09 (33.52)
Mean	41.43 (39.55)	49.76	2.52	2.29	42.98	0.58	0.85	14.33	24.48 (24.49)
S.Em±	2.31	1.24	0.32	0.36	1.18	0.03	0.10	0.51	6.67
CD (5%)	7.19	3.86	1.00	1.12	3.67	0.09	NS	1.58	20.77

Note: Values in the parentheses are arc sine transformed data, NS= Non significant

(1987) and Tindall (1994) in rambutan. Obtained results were also supported by Kem and Rawat (2008) in aonla, where among the four methods of budding *i.e.*, T, Patch, Ring and Forkert budding, the maximum budding success was found in patch budding in cv. Krishna. Singh et al. (2003), Saroj et al. (2000) also observed that patch budding performed best, Prasad et al. (2003) also stated that patch budding gave higher success in comparison with chip budding in bael. Tripathi and Kumar (2004) and Syamal et al. (2013) also documented patch budding as the best budding technique. Rao et al. (1984) observed the maximum success under patch budding in guava than the forkert budding. Parallel reports were observed by Singh and Singh (2007) reporting that patch budding in months with high relative humidity may be adoptable for multiplication of elite tamarind genotypes. Summarized data of grafting experiments (Table 2),

indicated that approach grafting was the most suitable method of grafting in rambutan under Chettalli conditions with maximum rate of graft success (72.86 %) and least day required for sprouting (46.29 days); for any successful grafting technique an early response from scion inserted is highly acceptable. It also had a higher number of sprouted bud (4.29), number of branches (3.29) and number of leaves (13.43). Approach grafting was found to be significantly, better in influencing proper scion and root stock growth. It was recorded, highest plant height (54.29 cm) and scion length of 18.03 cm along with a very low mortality rate (5.87 %). Though being considered as a cumbersome method of grafting because of essential prerequisites but in case of approach grafting, the scion used to receive continuous flow of nutrition from mother plant which act for better cambial activity led to callus development in graft

union resulting into higher success rate, a higher humidity also tends to facilitate this phenomenon. Brunner (2002) also reported, approach grafting is more dependable than cleft grafting for clonal propagation of desirable varieties in rambutan in Puerto Rico. Rajamanickam et al. (2002) in aonla and Bhagat et al. (1999) in guava also advocated the benefit of approach grafting in humid tropics. In sapota, similar results were recorded by Shirol et al. (2005) on grafting methods (viz. inarching, in-situ and softwood grafting) of sapota cv. Kalipatti on 18 months old khirni (Manilkara hexendra) rootstock, where highest graft success (85 %) was in inarch grafting. Inarching was significantly superior with 98% success rate and maximum emergence of new leaves and no. of new branches in comparison to veneer grafting, stone grafting and air layering in mango plants (Sengupta, 2005).

Conclusion

The results of current study pointed out the possibilities of exploiting patch budding and approach grafting as an answer to the quest of emerging with a suitable standard vegetative propagation approach for true to type multiplication of rambutan in Kodagu (Coorg) region of

References

- Bhagat, B. K., Jain, B. P., & Singh, C. (1999). Success and survival of intergeneric grafts in guava (*Psidium guajava* L.). Journal of Research, Birsa Agricultural University, 11(1), 79-81.
- Brunner, B. (2002). Rambutan (Nephelium lappaceum) grafting experiments. University of Puerto Rico.
- Chander, S., Kumar, S., Kavino, M., & Bora, L. (2016). Effect of seasonal variation on softwood grafting under different environmental conditions in jamun (*Syzygium cumini* Skeels.). *Research on Crops*, 17(3), 524-528.
- Chander, S., Kumari, S., Nimbolkar, P.K. and Bora, L. (2016). Seasonal variability and environmental condition to grafting success in fruit crops-A Review. *Advances in Life Sciences*. 5(16): 5812-5816.
- Kem, J. C., & Rawat, S. S. (2008). Standardization of time and methods of budding in aonla cultivars under subtropical conditions of Garhwal Himalaya. *Progressive Horticulture*, 40(1), 78-82.
- Kumar, D., Arya, V., Kaur, R., Bhat, Z. A., Gupta, V. K., & Kumar, V. (2012). A review of immunomodulators in the

Karnataka. Patch budding can be preferred over approach grafting due its feasibility in adoption.

Acknowledgement

The authors would like to express their gratitude to the Director, ICAR-IIHR, Bangalore, and the PG Dean, Director of Research, UHS, Bagalkot for facilitating this research work under MoU between ICAR-IIHR and UHS, Bagalkot. During the current research duration, the first author was a post graduate student enrolled at UHS, Bagalkot of Also indebted to Head, CHES, ICAR-IIHR, Chettalli for providing the essential amenities for the study's successful completion.

Abbreviations

cv. : Cultivar

CHES: Central Horticultural Experiment Station **ICAR:** Indian Council of Agricultural Research **IIHR:** Indian Institute of Horticultural Research **WASP:** Web Agri Stat Package

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Indian traditional health care system. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, 45(3), 165-184.

- Kumar, S., Karunakaran, G. and Sakthivel, T. (2004). Influence of growth regulators and time on rooting of air layers in guava cv. Allahabad Safeda in Kodagu. (In) Abstracts of first Indian Horticulture Congress, November 6-9, New Delhi. pp:139.
- Li, W., Zeng, J. and Shao, Y. (2018). Rambutan -Nephelium lappaceum. Exotic fruits. S Rodriguez, E. O. Silva and E. S de Brito (Eds.). Academic Press, Massachusetts. pp: 369-375.
- Morton, J.F. (1987). Rambutan.Fruits of warm climates, Morton, J. F. (Ed). Creative Resource Systems. Inc., Winterville, NC. pp: 262–265.
- Nadhirah, A. A., Sam, S. T., Noriman, N. Z., Al Bakri, M. M. A., Omar, M. F., & Kamarudin, H. (2016).
 Characterization of Linear Low Density Polyethylene/Rambutan Peels Flour Blends: Effect of Loading Content. In *Key Engineering Materials* (Vol. 673, pp. 171-179). Trans Tech Publications Ltd.

- Nawawi, A. A., Nakamura, N., Hattori, M., Kurokawa, M., & Shiraki, K. (1999). Inhibitory effects of Indonesian medicinal plants on the infection of herpes simplex virus type 1. Phytotherapy Research: An International Journal Devoted to Pharmacological and Toxicological Evaluation of Natural Product Derivatives, 13(1), 37-41.
- Palanisamy, U., Manaharan, T., Teng, L. L., Radhakrishnan, A. K., Subramaniam, T., & Masilamani, T. (2011). Rambutan rind in the management of hyperglycemia. *Food Research International*, 44(7), 2278-2282.
- Prasad, A., Singh, R. D. and Sirohi, R. S. (2003). Comparative study of patch budding and chip budding in aonla. *Punjab Horticultural Journal*. 13(1): 1-7.
- Rajamanickam, C., Anbu, S., Balakrishnan, K. and Rajangam, J. (2002). Studies on propagation techniques in aonla. *South Indian Hortculture*. 50(1-3): 220-222.
- Rao, Y. R., Kaul, G. L. and Suryanarayana, V. (1984). Studies on vegetative propagation of guava (*Psidium guajava* L.). *Andhra Agricultural Journal*.31(4): 277-281.
- Saroj, P. L., Nath, V., & Vashishtha, B. B. (2000). Effect of polycontainers on germination, seedling vigour, root characters and budding success in aonla. *Indian Journal of Horticulture*, 57(4), 300-304.
- Sengupta, S. (2005). Studies on different methods of propagation of mango (*Mangifera indica* L.). *The Orissa Journal Horticulture*. 33(1): 24-26.
- Shirol, A. M., Habamashetti, S. I., Kanamadi, V. C., Thammaiah, N., & Patil, S. (2010). Studies on pre-soaking, method and season of grafting of sapota rootstock khirnee. Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences, 18(1).
- Singh, B. K., Sharma, S., Niwas, R., & Kumar, S. (2003). Effect of methods and time of budding on bud sprouting in

aonla (*Emblica officinalis* Gaetn.) cv. Chakaiya. *Haryana Journal of Horticultural Sciences*, 32, 27-28.

- Singh, S., & Singh, A. K. (2007). Standardization of method and time of vegetative propagation in tamarind under semiarid environment of western India. *Indian Journal of Horticulture*, 64(1), 45-49.
- Solís-Fuentes, J. A., Camey-Ortíz, G., del Rosario Hernández-Medel, M., Pérez-Mendoza, F., & Durán-de-Bazúa, C. (2010). Composition, phase behavior and thermal stability of natural edible fat from rambutan (Nephelium lappaceum L.) seed. *Bioresource technology*, 101(2), 799-803.
- Suganthi, A., & Josephine, R. M. (2016). Nephelium lappaceum (L.): an overview. International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research, 1(5), 36-39.
- Syamal, M. M., Maurya, V. K., & Joshi, M. (2013). Effect of methods and time of propagation in bael under different growing conditions. *Indian Journal of Horticulture*, 70(1), 127-129.
- Thitilertdecha, N., Teerawutgulrag, A., & Rakariyatham, N. (2008). Antioxidant and antibacterial activities of *Nephelium lappaceum* L. extracts. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, 41(10), 2029-2035.
- Tindall, H. D. (1994).Rambutan cultivation- Plant Production and Protection Paper, Tindall H D (Ed). Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome.pp:121-163.
- Tripathi, A. & Kumar, R., (2004), Studies on the effect of method and time of budding in bael (Aegle marmelos L.). Haryana J. Hort. Sci., 33 (3 -4):195 -198.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Repurposing of drugs and leading vaccines work against COVID-19

Prabha Rana

Sri Venkateswara College, South Campus, University of Delhi, Delhi, India. Vagisha Rawal 🖂 Sri Venkateswara College, South Campus, University of Delhi, Delhi, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 29 September 2021	The novel coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) is a highly contagious and
Revised : 31 October 2021	pathogenic viral infection caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome
Accepted : 21 December 2021	coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). The first known case was reported / identified in
	Wuhan, China. In March 2020, the World Health Organization (WHO)
Published online: 31 January 2022	declared it a 'pandemic' due to its Worldwide spread. Researchers have been
-	trying to find a suitable treatment from available drugs like Dexamethasone,
Key Words:	and Remdesivir to fight the novel coronavirus outbreak. AstraZeneca-SK Bio,
Coronavirus	Moderna, Pfizer-BioNTech and Janssen vaccines were added to the WHO's list
COVID-19 pandemic	of emergency use. Our review work highlights the repurposing of drugs and
Pfizer/BioNTech	leading vaccines to counter COVID-19.
Astrazeneca-SK Bio	
Janssen and Moderna	

Introduction

Coronaviruses are a large family of viruses that get antibodies. The drug development process is more their name from the halo of spiked proteins (S proteins) on their outer surface that looks like a crown under the microscope (Shereen et al., 2020). The new coronavirus, called severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) caused COVID-19 or 2019 Novel Coronavirus. On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organisation (WHO) declared this ongoing lethal disease a global pandemic (Bayat et al., 2021). Even though SARS-CoV-2 has 79% similarity with SARS-CoV and 50% similarity with MARS-CoV, the infectivity and spreading rate of SARS-CoV-2 is higher than other coronaviruses (Noor, 2021). This explains the importance of developing a treatment or vaccine quickly. Reports suggested that the high spreading rate of SARS-CoV-2 maybe because of the mutation capability that makes it highly transmittable. SARS-CoV-2 has undergone 4400 amino acid substitutions and thousands of mutations since early 2020. This spike protein, which is used to enter the host cell, has demonstrated 14 mutations (Shariare et al., 2021). Some scientists believed that these mutations can modify the sensitivity of the virus to neutralize reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction

challenging due to limited understanding of the molecular mechanism involved in SARS-CoV-2 infection. The host cell proteins and viral proteins are the crucial targets for drug targeting. These furin activation site, viral include spike glycoprotein, RNA polymerase and protease enzymes, host cell-ACE2 receptor, protease enzymes, etc (Shariare et al., 2021). There are 2 categories for the treatments of COVID-19 - host cell proteins and targeting SARS-CoV-2 or improving the human immune system (Shariare et al., 2021). Developing a new drug is a timeconsuming process, thus repurposing an existing drug seems to be one of the few solutions for the pandemic. Repositioning old drugs to treat COVID-19 is an attractive strategy as the information about the side effects, safety profile and posology are known (Gautret et al., 2020). As per the clinical studies, antivirals reduce the viral load by targeting the enzymes of SARS-CoV-2 hence interfering with the viral cycle (Joshi et al., 2021).

Challenges

The genome-based standard technology called

(RT-PCR) is the basis for several diagnostic tests for COVID-19, although none of these tests is fully standardized. The RT-PCR test can identify viral genetic material, only if there is an adequate RNA in the sample. Therefore, in early stage of infection, there is not usually enough RNA material before someone begins to feel sick (Shariare et al., 2021). Hence, the RT-PCR test could deliver falsenegative results and less useful information for asymptomatic patients. One of the challenges for scientists is to find an ideal animal model for testing. The SARS-CoV-2 uses the cellular surface protein angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) to invade host cells and the ACE2 of the mouse (Mus musculus) does not adequately bind with the viral spike protein (Muñoz-Fontela et al., 2020). Thus, none of the animal models mimics the severe or critical patterns correlated with mortality as seen in humans with COVID-19 (Ehaideb et al., 2020).

The World Health Organisation (WHO) has added some vaccines to the emergency use list. Moreover, old drugs are repurposed to fight COVID-19. Here, we discuss a few old drugs and leading vaccines that work to counter COVID-19.

Rapid Repurposing of Drugs

The following section contains a summary of some of the medications being tested as treatments for COVID-19. Few of these drugs were later not recommended for use in the treatment of COVID 19 patients by WHO, FDA and other agencies due to more harm than good and/or had limited effect due to efficacy reasons.

1. Hydroxychloroquine with Azithromycin

Hydroxychloroquine is an antimalarial drug and according to a small study by French scientists published in the International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, hydroxychloroquine with antibiotic azithromycin might be effective against COVID-19 (Gautret et al., 2020). The COVID-19 virus attaches to a small particle in the cell called a lysosome. The lysosome cell has an acidic medium for the virus to thrive. Hydroxychloroquine competes for the same site on the lysosomes and makes the cell less acidic or more alkaline. As a result, the virus is unable to replicate within the cell and dies (Singh et al., 2020).

2. Dexamethasone

Dexamethasone is a steroid that reduces inflammation. According to Oxford University's RECOVERY clinical trial, a low dose of

dexamethasone increases the survival rate of COVID-19 patients who need respiratory support (Ledford, 2020). In a trial, led by Oxford University, about 2,100 hospital patients were given dexamethasone and compared with more than 4,300 who were not. The risk of death for patients on ventilators was lowered from 40.7% to 29%, while the risk of death for patients using oxygen was reduced from 25% to 21.5% (Mahase, 2020).

3. Favipiravir

Favipiravir is an antiviral, used to treat influenza. Studies revealed that favipiravir inhibits the RNAdependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) that is crucial for COVID-19 viral replication (Joshi *et al.*, 2021). An open-label multicenter trial involving 240 patients with COVID-19 from China concluded that those who got the drug tended to have a significantly high clinical recovery rate (Joshi *et al.*, 2021).

4. Remdesivir

Remdesivir is an antiviral drug used to fight Ebola. Remdesivir inhibits RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) by imitating a part of the viral RNA and replacing it in the replicating site (Beigel *et al.*, 2020). Therefore, the virus fails to replicate further. According to the clinical trials, Remdesivir can reduce the recovery time from 15 to 11 days and the mortality rate from 11.6% to 8% in participants (National Institutes of Health, 2020).

Vaccines

While the drugs listed above may be useful to treat COVID-19, there are also vaccines in use to produce immunity. The following section contains information on the leading vaccines and vaccine candidates.

1. AstraZeneca Covid-19 vaccine

The coronavirus vaccine ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 or AZD1222 was developed and tested by the University of Oxford in collaboration with the British-Swedish company AstraZeneca (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The SARS-CoV-2 virus has spiked protein that is used to enter human cells. The researchers added the gene of the spike protein into chimpanzee adenovirus, known as ChAdOx1. Adenovirus causes cold or flu-like symptoms. The adenovirus tough protein coat protects the genetic material inside (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). Therefore, this vaccine doesn't have to stay frozen. If refrigerated at 38–46°F (2–8°C) the vaccine can last for at least six months (Corum and Zimmer,



Figure 1: Summary of Types of COVID-19 Vaccines. Created with BioRender.com



Figure 2: COVID-19 Viral Vector Vaccines.

British Society for Immunology. (2021). *Types of vaccines for COVID-19*. https://www.immunology.org/coronavirus/connect-coronavirus-public-engagement-resources/types-vaccines-for-covid-19



Figure 3: COVID-19 Genetic Vaccines.

British Society for Immunology. (2021). Types of vaccines for COVID-19. https://www.immunology.org/coronavirus/connect-coronavirus-public-engagement-resources/types-vaccines-for-covid-19



Figure 4: Comparison of frequencies of adverse effects between Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna Vaccines.

Meo, S. A., Bukhari, I. A., Akram, J., Meo, A. S., & Klonoff, D. C. (2021). COVID-19 vaccines: comparison of biological, pharmacological characteristics and adverse effects of Pfizer/BioNTech and Moderna Vaccines. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences, 25, 1663–1669. <u>https://www.europeanreview.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/1663-1669.pdf</u>



Figure 5: A preliminary study showing Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine protection compared with people taking a placebo.

Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). *How the Pfizer-BioNTech Covid-19 Vaccine Works*. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/health/pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine.html



Figure 6: COVID-19 Inactivated Vaccines.

British Society for Immunology. (2021). Types of vaccines for COVID-19. <u>https://www.immunology.org/coronavirus/connect-coronavirus-public-engagement-resources/types-vaccines-for-covid-19</u>

How some of the Covid-19 vaccines compare				
Company	Doses		Storage	
RNA				
Pfizer (BioNTech)	11	i (-80 to -60°C 6 months) and 2 to 8°C (for up to 5 days)	
Moderna	11	6	-25 to -15°C 6 months) and 2 to 8°C (for 30 days)	
Viral vector				
Oxford-AstraZeneca	11	ā	2 to 8°C (6 months)	
Sputnik V (Gamaleya)	11	Ō	-18.5°C (liquid form) 2 to 8°C (dry form)	
Johnson & Johnson (Janssen)	1	õ	2 to 8°C (3 months)	
Inactivated virus				
CoronaVac (Sinovac)	11	ā	2 to 8°C	
Sinopharm	11	õ	2 to 8°C	
Covaxin (Bharat Biotech)	11	õ	2 to 8°C	
Protein-based				
Novavax	11	Ō	2 to 8°C	
Source: Wellcome Trust, BBC research				

Figure 7: Comparison of COVID-19 Vaccines.

BBC News. (2021, May 7). Sinopharm: Chinese Covid vaccine WHO emergency approval. gets https://www.bbc.com/news/world-asia-china-56967973

2021). After entering the cell, the adenovirus engulfs the virus in a bubble and leaves the bubble to inject its DNA into the nucleus (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). Although the adenovirus cannot replicate itself, the coronavirus spike protein gene is read by the cell and transcribed into messenger

mRNA is translated. These spike proteins form spike and protein fragments that migrate to their surface and stick out their tips (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The immune system recognises these protruding spikes and spikes protein fragments afterwards. Helper T cells activate B cells, causing RNA (mRNA). Spike proteins are formed when them to produce and pour out antibodies that target the spike protein. Antibodies bind to coronavirus spikes, marking them for destruction and preventing them from connecting to other cells (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccine requires two shots four weeks apart. Depending on the dosage, the vaccination is either 62% or 90% effective (Financial Times, 2021).

2. Moderna Candidate Vaccine: mRNA-1273

US biotechnology company Moderna partnered with the National Institutes of Health to develop a coronavirus vaccine known as mRNA-1273 (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). According to clinical trials, the vaccine has an efficacy rate of more than 90% in preventing COVID-19 (Mishra, 2020). Moderna's vaccine uses mRNA that is read to make proteins (Noor, 2021). The mRNA is wrapped in oily bubbles made of lipid nanoparticles to protect it from being degraded by the body (S.A. Meo et al., 2021). Moderna's vaccine should be stable for up to six months if stored at $-4^{\circ}F(-20^{\circ}C)$ (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). After injection, the vaccine releases its mRNA into cells and builds spike proteins. The immune system recognises these spike proteins and builds antibodies against them (Meo et al., 2021). If an individual ever encounters the coronavirus, these antibodies can neutralize the virus. Moderna's vaccine requires two shots 28 days apart. Additionally, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) authorized the Moderna vaccine for emergency use (Tanne, 2020).

3. Pfizer-BioNTech

BioNTech partnered with Pfizer to develop a coronavirus vaccine called BNT162b2 (Bernal et al., 2021). According to clinical trials, the vaccine has an efficacy rate of over 90% in preventing COVID-19 (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine is based on the coronavirus's genetic instructions for making spike protein, just like the Moderna vaccine. The vaccine storage temperature is between -80°C and -60°C to remain viable (Meo et al., 2021). The vaccine introduces mRNA into the cells to develop the spike proteins. The body recognizes this protein and creates antibodies that can fight off future SARS-CoV-2 infections (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The Pfizer-BioNTech vaccine requires 2 injections 21 days apart. A preliminary study

indicates that the Pfizer vaccine offers strong protection about 10 days after the initial dose as compared with people taking a placebo (Bernal *et al.*, 2021). The Pfizer vaccine is safe and immunogenic for adolescents aged 12 to 15 years old, according to a recent study published in the New England Journal of Medicine with an efficacy of 100% against COVID-19 from 7 days after dose 2 (Frenck *et al.*, 2021).

4. Sputnik V

The Sputnik V or Gam-Covid-Vac coronavirus vaccine was created by the Gamaleya National Research Institute of Epidemiology and Microbiology in Moscow (Jones and Roy, 2021). A study published by Gamaleya showed that two doses of the vaccine had an efficacy rate of 91.6% (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). Sputnik V is based on the coronavirus's genetic instructions for building the spike protein. Unlike the Moderna and Pfizer-BioNTech vaccines, Sputnik V uses doublestranded DNA. It is a vector vaccine based on adenovirus DNA, a cold virus (Jones and Roy, 2021). The researchers added the gene for the coronavirus spike protein to Ad26 and Ad5, two types of adenoviruses to invade cells but not replicate (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). After Sputnik V is injected, the adenoviruses enter the cell and engulf the virus in a bubble. After leaving the bubble, the adenovirus injects DNA into the nucleus. The gene for the coronavirus spike protein is copied into messenger RNA or mRNA. After translating mRNA, spike proteins are produced by the cell (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The immune system recognises these protruding spikes and begins to generate antibodies in response. This prepares the immune system to fight coronavirus when it encounters it for real. Sputnik V requires two doses 21 days apart (Jones and Roy, 2021). This vaccine uses two different versions for the first and second doses. The researchers used one type of adenovirus, Ad26, for the first dose, and another, Ad5, for the second dose (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The theory is that by combining two separate formulae, the immune system will be boosted even more and will provide longer-lasting protection. In addition, a version of the vaccine known as Sputnik Light uses only the first dose and skips the second dose (Corum and Zimmer, 2021).

5. Covaxin

An inactivated coronavirus vaccine called Covaxin is manufactured by the Indian company Bharat Biotech partnered with the Indian Council of Medical Research and the National Institute of Virology (Kumar et al., 2021). Researchers doused a large stock of the coronavirus with betapropiolactone that inactivated coronaviruses by bonding to their genes, but their proteins, including spike, remained intact (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The inactivated viruses were then drawn off and mixed with adjuvant, an aluminium-based chemical that stimulates the immune system to boost its reaction to a vaccine (Kumar et al., 2021). When injected into the body, B cells produce antibodies that target the spike protein (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). Covaxin requires two doses 4-12 weeks apart. According to the preliminary data from its phase 3 trial, Covaxin's efficacy rate is 80.7% (Kumar et al., 2021).

6. Sinopharm Vaccine

Another inactivated coronavirus vaccine called BBIBP-CorV was developed by the Beijing Institute of Biological Products (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). According to clinical trials run by Sinopharm, the vaccine has an efficacy rate of 79%. The WHO also announced a similar efficacy estimate of 78.1% (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The Beijing Institute researchers collected three coronavirus variants from Chinese hospitals to create BBIBP-CorV (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). One of the variants was chosen because it could rapidly expand in monkey kidney cells cultivated in bioreactor tanks. After mass-production of coronaviruses, the researchers drenched them in a chemical called beta-propiolactone, which rendered the coronaviruses inactive. After that, researchers mixed them with a tiny amount of an adjuvant to boost immune system response to a vaccine (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). Once vaccinated with BBIBP-CorV, B cells produce antibodies that target the spike protein to prevent the virus from invading cells. The Sinopharm vaccine is to be given in two doses three to four weeks apart (Corum and Zimmer, 2021).

7. Covishield

Covishield is being developed by Oxford University in collaboration with AstraZeneca and their manufacturing and trial partner is Serum Institute of India (Inbaraj *et al.*, 2021). Covishield

or AZD-1222 uses a viral vector made from a weakened version of a common cold virus (called an adenovirus) from chimpanzees (Pramod *et al.*, 2021). When the vaccine is injected, the immune system recognizes the spike protein and builds antibodies against it. There are two doses of Covishield given 12-16 weeks apart. According to the phase 3 clinical trials, the vaccine showed an efficacy of 67% (95% confidence interval [CI]: 57%-74%) against symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection (Pramod *et al.*, 2021). Covishield was added to the Emergency Use List (EUL) by the World Health Organisation (WHO).

8. Johnson & Johnson Vaccine

Johnson & Johnson developed a coronavirus vaccine called JNJ-78436735 or Ad26.COV2.S (Sadoff et al., 2021). It is a single dose vaccine with an efficacy rate of 85% against COVID-19. The vaccine is based on the coronavirus's genetic instructions for building the spike protein. It uses double-stranded DNA. The researchers used Adenovirus 26 (common cold virus) and added the gene for the coronavirus spike protein to it (Corum and Zimmer. 2021). The Johnson & Johnson team used a modified adenovirus so that it would not cause any illness inside the cells. The vaccine can be refrigerated at 36-46°F (2-8°C) for up to three months (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). Once the disabled adenovirus is inside, the cell engulfs the virus in a bubble. The adenovirus breaks free from the bubble and pushes its DNA into the nucleus. The gene for the coronavirus spike protein is copied into mRNA. The cell's molecules read the mRNA sequence and begin assembling spike proteins. These spike proteins migrate to the cell surface and are recognized by the immune system (Corum and Zimmer, 2021). The immune system begins producing antibodies and activates other immune cells that target the spike protein. If ever encountered the virus that causes COVID-19 the immune system has antibodies to fight it.

Vaccine Coming Soon:

Corbevax

Corbevax is a "recombinant protein sub-unit" vaccine, which suggests that the corbevax is made from the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 (Raghavan, 2021). When injected into the body, an immune response is developed against the injected spike protein. Hence, the body will already have an immune response ready when the real virus

attempts to infect the body. In India, Corbevax has endangered global health security. Certain vaccines been approved for Phase III clinical trials (Raghavan, 2021). The manufacturer of Corbevax is Biological E, a Hyderabad-based company. For the first time, India has placed an advance order of 300 million doses for a vaccine that has not received emergency use authorisation (Sharma, 2021). Corbevax is administered in two doses. This vaccine is also predicted to be among the most affordable vaccinations available in the country.

Conclusion The COVID-19 pandemic has

References

- Bayat, M., Asemani, Y., & Najafi, S. (2021, August). Essential considerations during vaccine design against COVID-19 and review of pioneering vaccine candidate platforms. International Immunopharmacology, 97. 107679. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S156757 6921003155
- Beigel, J. H., Tomashek, K. M., Dodd, L. E., Mehta, A. K., Zingman, B. S., Kalil, A. C., ... & Lane, H. C. (2020, November 5). Remdesivir for the Treatment of Covid-19 Final Report. The New England Journal of Medicine, 383,1813-26. https://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJMoa2007764?a rticleTools=true
- Bernal, J. L., Andrews, N., Gower, C., Robertson, C., Stowe, J., Tessier, E., ... & Ramsay, M. (2021, May 13). Effectiveness of the Pfizer-BioNTech and Oxford-AstraZeneca vaccines on covid-19 related symptoms, hospital admissions, and mortality in older adults in England: test negative case-control study. The BMJ, 373, 1088.

https://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/373/bmj.n1088.full.pdf

- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How Bharat Biotech's Covaxin Vaccine Works. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2021/health/bharatbiotech-covid-19-vaccine.html
- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How Gamaleya's Sputnik V Vaccine Works. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2021/health/gamaley a-covid-19-vaccine.html
- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How Moderna's Covid-19 Vaccine Works. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/health/moderna -covid-19-vaccine.html
- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How the Johnson & Johnson Covid-19 Vaccine Works. The New York Times.

have been approved by the World Health Organization (WHO), giving hope for controlling the pandemic. Moreover, repurposing drugs or medications can help COVID-19 patients to recover. Our review work highlights some key aspects related to the recent development of drugs and vaccines to counter COVID-19.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/health/johnsonjohnson-covid-19-vaccine.html

- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How the Oxford-AstraZeneca Covid-19 Vaccine Works. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/health/oxfordastrazeneca-covid-19-vaccine.html
- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How the Pfizer-BioNTech Covid-19 Vaccine Works. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/health/pfizerbiontech-covid-19-vaccine.html
- Corum, J., & Zimmer, C. (2021, August 4). How the Sinopharm Covid-19 Vaccine Works. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2020/health/sinophar m-covid-19-vaccine.html
- Ehaideb, S. N., Abdullah, M. L., Abuyassin, B., & Bouchama, A. (2020, October 6). Evidence of a wide gap between COVID-19 in humans and animal models: a systematic Critical 594. review Care, 24, https://ccforum.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13054 -020-03304-8
- Frenck, R. W., Klein, N. P., Kitchin, N., Gurtman, A., Absalon, J., Lockhart, S., ... & Gruber, W. C. (2021). Safety, Immunogenicity, and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 Covid-19 Vaccine in Adolescents. The New England Journal of Medicine, 385, 239-250. https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa2107456
- Gautret, P., Lagier, J.-C., Parola, P., Hoang, V. T., Meddeb, L., Mailhe, M., ... & Raoult, D. (2020, July). Hydroxychloroquine and azithromycin as a treatment of COVID-19: results of an open-label non-randomized clinical trial. International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents, 56, 105949.

https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S01406736210 01914

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S120197 1220322736

- Inbaraj, L. R., George, C. E., & Franklyn, N. N. (2021, March 24). How safe is Covishield (ChAdOx1nCoV-19) vaccine? Experience from a tertiary care hospital in South India. *medRxiv*. https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.03.16.2125 3744v1.full
- Johnson & Johnson. (2021, February 27). Johnson & Johnson COVID-19 Vaccine Authorized by U.S. FDA For Emergency Use - First Single-Shot Vaccine in Fight Against Global Pandemic. https://www.jnj.com/johnsonjohnson-covid-19-vaccine-authorized-by-u-s-fda-foremergency-usefirst-single-shot-vaccine-in-fight-againstglobal-pandemic Jones, I., & Roy, P. (2021, February 2). Sputnik V COVID-19 vaccine candidate appears safe and effective. *The Lancet, 397*,642–643.
- Meo, S. A., Bukhari, I. A., Akram, J., Meo, A. S., & Klonoff, D. C. (2021). COVID-19 vaccines: comparison of biological, pharmacological characteristics and adverse effects of Pfizer/BioNTech and Moderna Vaccines. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences*, 25, 1663–1669. https://www.europeanreview.org/wp/wpcontent/uploads/1663-1669.pdf
- Mishra, S., PhD. (2020, November 19). How mRNA vaccines from Pfizer and Moderna work, why they're a breakthrough and why they need to be kept so cold. *The Conversation.* https://theconversation.com/how-mrnavaccines-from-pfizer-and-moderna-work-why-theyre-abreakthrough-and-why-they-need-to-be-kept-so-cold-150238
- Muñoz-Fontela, C., Dowling, W. E., Funnell, S. G. P., Gsell, P.-S., Riveros-Balta, A. X., Albrecht, R. A., ... & Barouch, D. H. (2020, September 23). Animal models for COVID-19. *Nature*, 586, 509–515.
 www.nature.com/articles/s41586-020-2787-6
- National Institutes of Health. (2020, April 29). NIH clinical trial shows Remdesivir accelerates recovery from advanced COVID-19. *National Institutes of Health (NIH)*. https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/nihclinical-trial-shows-remdesivir-accelerates-recoveryadvanced-covid-19
- Noor, R. (2021, March 3). Developmental Status of the Potential Vaccines for the Mitigation of the COVID-19 Pandemic and a Focus on the Effectiveness of the Pfizer-BioNTech and Moderna mRNA Vaccines. Current Clinical Microbiology Reports, 8, 178–185. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40588-021-00162-y?error=cookies_not_supported&code=404ec087f204-469b-9453-2b4c290f415a
- Pramod, S., Govindan, D., Ramasubramani, P., Kar, S. S., Aggarwal, R., Manoharan, N., & Thabah, M. M. (2021).
 Effectiveness of Covishield vaccine in preventing Covid-19 – A test-negative case-control study. *medRxiv*.

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021.07.19.2126 0693v1.full

- Raghavan, P. (2021, June 10). Explained: How is Biological E's Corbevax different? *The Indian Express*. https://indianexpress.com/article/explained/corbevaxvaccine-biological-e-india-7344928/
- Reporters, F. T. (2021, January 26). Covid vaccine development: The shots available and the doses administered. *Financial Times.* https://www.ft.com/content/ac5e5ef8-bccb-482b-9f8d-0dab5cac6f9a
- Sadoff, J., Gars, M. L., Shukarev, G., Heerwegh, D., Truyers, C., Groot, A. M., ... & Schuitemaker, H. (2020, September 25). Safety and immunogenicity of the Ad26.COV2.S COVID-19 vaccine candidate: interim results of a phase 1/2a, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *medRxiv*. https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.09.23.2019

https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.09.23.2019 9604v1.full

- Shariare, M. H., Parvez, M. A. K., Karikas, G. A., & Kazi, M. (2021, February). The growing complexity of COVID-19 drug and vaccine candidates: challenges and critical transitions. *Journal of Infection and Public Health*, 14, 214–220. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S187603 4120307656
- Sharma, E. K. (2021, July 23). Biological E to make up to 100m Corbevax vaccine doses a month, seeks nod for studies on children. *The Financial Express*. https://www.financialexpress.com/lifestyle/health/biologica l-e-to-make-up-to-100m-corbevax-vaccine-doses-a-monthseeks-nod-for-studies-on-children/2296274/
- Shereen, M. A., Khan, S., Kazmi, A., Bashir, N., & Siddique, R. (2020, July). COVID-19 infection: Emergence, transmission, and characteristics of human coronaviruses. *Journal of Advanced Research*, 24, 91–98. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S209012 3220300540
- Singh, A. K., Singh, A., Shaikh, A., Singh, R., & Misra, A. (2020). Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in the treatment of COVID-19 with or without diabetes: A systematic search and a narrative review with a special reference to India and other developing countries. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome, 14*(3), 241–246. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7102587/
- Tanne, J. H. (2020, December 21). Covid-19: FDA authorizes Moderna vaccine as US starts vaccinating health workers. British Medical Journal (Online), 371. <u>https://www.proquest.com/openview/8b9d3fda9114959c90</u> 96d0ba60064b3b/1?pq-origsite=gscholar&cbl=2043523.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Biomethanated distillery spentwash application and its impact on soil health, growth and yield of Elephant foot yam

R. Jayashree 🖂

Department of Soil and Environment Agricultural College and Research Institute, Madurai, Tamilnadu, India.

Sharmi

Department of Soil and Environment Agricultural College and Research Institute, Madurai, Tamilnadu, India.

S. Asha Priyanka

Department of Soil and Environment Agricultural College and Research Institute, Madurai, Tamilnadu, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 20 July 2021	Agrobased industries are contributing socio-economic development of the
Revised : 15 November 2021	country, distillery industries are using sugarcane molasses as a raw material
Accepted : 28 November 2021	for alcohol production. Every litre of alcohol production ten to fifteen litres of
	waste water generated named as spentwash. The disposal of spentwash is a
Published online: 31 January 2022	seroious issue and looking for recycling option to enhance soil health.r
	Distillery Spentwashis important organic liquid manure contain high amount
Key Words:	of nutrients like nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, calcium and sulfur and also
Distillery Spentwash	it contains high amount of micronutrients such as iron, zinc, copper,
Soil health	manganese, boron and molybdenum. Field experiment was conducted to study
Yield	the efficiency of Biomethanated distillery spentwash, on improving the yield
Quality	and quality of Yam at Research and Development farm of Bannari Amman
Elephant foot yam	Sugars Ltd., Modur, Sathyamangalamtaluk, Erode district. Distillery
	Spentwashwas applied in a field with the treatments from 10 to 60 KL/ha and
	soil samples are collected at initial, vegetative and harvesting stage of Elephant
	foot yam. The application of spent wash as manure was improved soil health
	and resulted in increased root and snoot length quality and yield of Elephant
	1001 Yam. There was emiranced available N and K status of som with the
	application of spent wash, particularly for K. The increase in yield and quanty parameters was observed at harvest stage of Elephant foot Vam Application of
	Biomethanated Distillary Spontwashat 50 KI /ba recorded higher yield of 38 20
	t /ha Flenhant foot vam quality narameters like Carbohydrata Vitamin C
	Reta carotene were significantly increased when compared to control field
	beta carotene were significantly increased when compared to control field.

Introduction

Elephant foot yam (*Amorphophallus paeonii folius* Dennst. Nicolson) is a tropical tuber crop associated with the family Arecaceae and widely consumed as vegetable (Rahman, 2020). A famine food crop in the pacific Islands which has acquiring popularity as a cash crop among the farming community of our country. It has high production potential, increased biological efficiency, good culinory properties, and medicinal utility and therapeutic values. It is grown commercially as annual crop, generally with one to few broad heavily dissected leaves with long petiole and rhizomatous stem called corm Theyare used as

staple food and wealthy in starch content. After boiling, baking, and frying, the corm is eaten like a vegetable In some states like northern and eastern states use cultivars like wild and local mainly in pickle making. Elephant foot yam has high dry matter production capacity per unit area comparing with most of the othe rvegetables. The yam offers a range of health benefits and is sought after by Ayurvedic doctors. It treats abdominal pain, dysentery and spleen enlargement. Perhaps due to its numerous benefits, it has a rich cultural association in India. The assortment for business development in our nation is "Gajendra", which is a neighborhood determination from Kovvur, West Sample collection: Godavari region of Andhra Pradesh. It has high yielding potential with enthusiastic developing propensity. The corms are smooth, hemispherical and discouraged in the middle, 20-25 cm distance across and generally dull-yellowish earthy colored tone at collect. The corms are likewise liberated from corrosiveness, produce less or no cormels and have better nature of tissue.

In cultivation of different crops, spent wash have been utilized (where applied) as manure provides successful results. Continued increase was also observed in case of nutrientstatus availability of soil, uptakeof nutrientby crops and germination. It has also improved nutrient availability and uptake without having any negative post-harvest effects on soil texture, chemistry, or biology. The positive effect of spent wash on crop production is well recorded (Rajagopal et al., 2014; Pugazh et al., 2016) reported that total chlorophyll content, crop growth rate (CGR), total dry matter, and nutrient uptake all rose when distillery effluent was added (N. P and K). It was discovered that a one-time controlled application of diluted spentwash improved soil fertility and agricultural yields (Chandraju et al., 2013; Chopra et al., 2013; Bhardwaj et al., 2019; Ruhela et al., 2020). The availability of nutrients in distillery effluents, as well as the prospect of substituting them for inorganic fertiliser in agriculture, holds a lot of promise (Joshi and Singh, 2010).

Material and Methods Study Location

This study was investigated to monitor the effect of distillery spentwash on soil health, growth, yield of Elephant foot Yam atBannari Amman Sugars unit, Modhur near Sathyamangalam in Erode district of Tamil Nadu. The experimental setup was conducted in Randomised Block Design (RBD) with three replications. Treatment details areT₁: Control (Recommended dose of NPK), T_2 : Biomethanateddistillery spent wash @ 60 KL/ha, T_3 : Biomethanateddistillery spent wash (a) 50 KL/ha, T_4 : Biomethanateddistillery spent wash (a) 40 KL/ha, T₅: Biomethanateddistillery spent wash (a) 30 KL/ha. T₆: Biomethanateddistillery spent wash (a)20 KL/ha and T_7 : Biomethanateddistillery spent wash @ 10 KL/ha

The soil was loamy in texture and soil samples were periodically collected (initial stage, vegetative stage and harvesting stage) and analysed for physicchemical properties as per the standard procedure (American Public Health Association, 2012). Biometric observations and ield data's were recorded at harvest stage.

Results and Discussion Effect of BDS application on pH

The pH of the soil (Figure1) shows slightly increased with increasing dose of BDS application except control but this shows no significant change in the pH of soil (Fig 1). The highest pH recorded are 8.05 at Initial stage of crop, 8.09 at vegetative stage and 7.45 at harvesting stage in T_2 (Biomethanateddistillery spent wash @ 60 KL/ha). There was increase in soil pH due to the application of spentwash. The spentwash reacts with the soil minerals during decomposition and dissolving large amounts of Ca, Al and Fe, Soil pH incresed subsequently due to precipitation of Ca and Mg. The new compounds formed during precipitation resulted in increase of soil pH. Addition of base materials like calcium from spentwash also has increased the pH (Baskaran et al., 2010).





(Note: T1=1, T2=2, T3=3, T4=4, T5=5, T6=6 and T7=7)

Effect of BDS application on EC

The EC of the soil was significantly higher than the control at all stages of observation. The highest EC of the soil was recorded 0.68 dS m⁻¹ at Initial stage of crop, 0.60dS m⁻¹ at vegetative stage of crop and 0.53 dS m⁻¹ at harvesting stage of cropin T_2 . In the control group, the lowest EC was 0.14 dS m^{-1} . (Figure 1). PBSW contains higher amounts of soluble salts (34.90- 38.06 dS m-1). Increase in EC of soil due to increase in PBSW. Kamble and Deshpande, 2014 reported that the EC of soil increased markedly due to accumulation of salts from spentwash

Effect of BDS application on Exchangeable Sodium Percentage (ESP) of soil

There was no much variation observed for ESP which indicated that through the content of exchangeable cations like Ca, K and Mg were also present at higher level in the BDS, thereby the ESP was not appreciably increased by the application of spentwash. The ESP of the soils under study showed that it was within the critical limit of less than 15%. Soils having ESP > 15% will lead to alkali soil which is a problem soil wherein crop growth will be affected by the unfavourable physical properties of soil. Similarly when the sil possess high EC (>4 dSm⁻¹) leads to saline soil ultimately affects crop growth by diosmosis and other unfavourable effects. Kamble and Deshpande (2014) reported the increase in ESP due to repeated application of distillery effluent and it was maintained below 15. The ESP of soil was gradually increased at the end of experiment as compare to initial values. The greater ESP of soil was observed in wheat harvest 2010-11 i.e. at the end of experiment as compare to soybean harvest 2009-10. This was due to continuous application of spentwash.

Effect of BDS application on Organic Carbon

With the exception of the control (T1), the carbon (organic) content of the soil increased significantly as the dose of BDS was increased. When compared to the control group, the organic carbon level was considerably greater (0.65%) (0.33 %). The organic carbon content increased over different stages of crop in all the treatments (Fig 1). The spentwash treatment greatly enhanced the soil organic carbon con The spentwash used in the study was rich in organic carbon which might have enriched the Organic Carbon. The improvement in Organic Carbon due to the application of spentwash was reported by Kalaiselvi and Mahimairaja (2011). Kumar and Chopra (2012), reported increase in soil organic carbon with increase in spentwash application. Addition of organic matter through effluent and better crop growth with concomitant increase in root biomass could be the probable

reasons for the improvement in organic carbon content in spentwash applied soil.

Effect of BDS application on Available Nitrogen and Potassium content of soil

T2 had the highest N and K concentrations at the starting stage of the crop, with 135 kg per hectare and 169 kg per ha, respectively. The highest concentration of N and K (158 kg/ ha and 209 kg/ ha) were observed at vegetative stage in T_2 and 117 kg per ha and 139 kg per ha were observed in harvest stages in T₂ (Figure 2). There was enhanced available N andK status of soil with the application of spent wash, particularly for K. The increased N and K availability in soil could be due to the additional N and K support provided by the spent wash, and the other reason for the significant increase in the available N and K status of the soil could be due to increased microbial activity caused by the addition of organic matter via BDS, which in turn could have increased sufficient release of native sources of these nutrients. Because the spent wash includes adequate N and K, it is considered a nutrient source and is used to raise crops in proportion to the fertilizer's amount of these nutrients. BDS contained just a little amount of nitrogen and its application greatly improved the soil's available nitrogen status as the spentwash contains plant based proteinaceous substances the ammonification of organic N followed by nitrification of NH₄ might have occurred and increased the mineral N content of soil (Chandraju et al., 2010). A remarkable increase in the availability of N, P and K content of both in the treated and raw spentwash was also reported by Moazzam et al. (2012).







Figure 3. Field view and Yield of Elephant foot Yam

Table 1. Effect of Biomethanated distillery spentwash application on growth parameters of Elephant foot yam

Treatments	Plant height (cm)	Petiole length (cm)	Culm girth (cm)	No.of leaflets (no's)
T1	43.20	43.50	12.10	253.20
T2	62.53	52.70	15.20	311.10
T3	63.30	53.90	15.60	343.20
T4	59.17	49.20	14.60	288.90
T5	57.80	47.30	14.30	283.50
T6	55.30	46.20	13.40	275.20
T7	50.10	45.30	13.20	235.30

Effect of BDS application on exchangable distillery effluent on the unavailable native forms. The addition of Ca, Mg and S through effluents in

Distillery spentwash significantly improved the amount of exchangeable Ca and Mg in the sample. The highest Exchangeable Ca and mg concentration at initial stage of crop were 122.47kg/ ha and 38.97 kg /ha recorded in T₂.The highest concentration of Ca and Mg (122.70 kg/ ha and 37.95kg/ ha) were observed at vegetative stagein T₂ and 119.87 kg ha⁻¹ and 35.79 kg/ha were observed in harvest stages in T₂(Figure 2). At all stages, the lowest concentration was recorded in control soil (T₁) that received no spentwash. The Exchangeable Ca content grew dramatically as the rate of spentwash application increased. also noticed increased Ca and Mg content in the soil, which might be attributed to Ca and Mg addition through effluent addition or both.

(due to the application of biomethanated distillery spentwash. Therefore, spentwash must be applied judiciously according to crop requirements. The application of spentwash increased the CEC, K, Ca, and Mg content of the soil, which might be due to addition of K, Ca and Mg either through the effluent addition or the solubilising effect of

distillery effluent on the unavailable native forms. The addition of Ca, Mg and S through effluents in soil increased the availability of Ca, Mg and S in soil ultimately reflected the uptake of these nutrients. The results are similar to the findings of Chandraju *et al.* (2010).

Effect of BDS application on growth, yield and quality parametres

It is obvious from Table 1 that plant height, cum girth, length of petiole and number of leaflets showed maximum in T3 treatment when compare to other treatments. The treatments T3 and T2 showed slight variation in culmgirth and petiol length. The maximum growth period, which included synchronised height physiological activity with maximum nutrient intake, may have benefited in increasing plant height 150 days after planting. Increased culmgirth as a result of increased photosynthatis being diverted from the source (leaves) to the sink (corm), which is a common occurrence in practically all root and tuber crops Application of BDS @ 50 KL/ ha recorded higher yield of 36.23 t per ha, BDS@ 10 t per ha(35.81 t/ha) and BDS @ 60 KL /ha recorded the yield of 35.03 t/ha (Table 2, Figure 3) BDS application at 50 KL/ha gave significant difference on yield and other yield characters such as corm diameter and yield. The increasing in yield may be due to increase in nutrient uptake. Analysis of drymatter, beta carotene, starch, calcium oxalate showed maximum in T3 treatment when compared to other

treatments. The quality like parameters Carbohydrate, Vitamin C and Beta carotene were analysed and BDS @ 50 KL/ ha recorded maximum of 453 µg/100g of Beta Carotene, Carbohydrate 10.7% and 1.35 mg /100g of Vitamin (Table 2). Elephant foot yam quality parameters like Carbohydrate, Vitamin C, Beta

Table 2. Effect of Biomethanated distillery spentwash application on yield and quality parameters of **Elephant foot yam**

Treatments	Corm Diameter	Corm Yield (ha)	Dry matter (%)	Starch (%)	Calcium Oxalate (%)	Vitamin (IU)	B- Carotene (μg/100g)
T1	11.50	24.40	26.90	15.20	0.0209	138.30	381.20
T2	14.20	32.60	31.40	16.25	0.0208	146.40	422.90
T3	14.80	38.20	32.60	17.60	0.0312	148.70	453.70
T4	13.20	33.20	29.70	16.50	0.0216	142.30	371.80
T5	12.30	33.00	27.40	16.20	0.0217	140.50	403.90
T6	12.10	29.70	27.20	15.80	0.0213	140.10	399,40
Τ7	12.00	27.60	27.00	15.60	0.0200	140.20	377.50

carotene were significantly increased when nutrient source for the cultivation of Elephant foot compared to control field.Based on the findings of Yam.f this study, it can be concluded that the effect of Biomethanated Distilley Spent wash had a significant impact on Elephant foot Yam growth and yield.

Conclusion

Application of BDS @50KL /ha has recorded higher yield and also brought tremendous changes in quality parameters like carbohydrate and vitamin C and beta carotene. Hence BDS can be used as a

References

- American Public Health Association (APHA).(2012). "Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Waste water". Ed. Clesceri, A.D., Rice, L.S. and Greenberg, A.E., American water works association, Washington, 1368.
- Baskaran, L., Ganesh, K. S., Chidambaram, A. L. A., & Sundaramoorthy, P. (2009). Amelioration of sugar mill effluent polluted soil and its effect of green gram (Vigna radiata L.). Botany Research International, 2(2), 131-135.
- Bhardwaj, S., Ruhela, M., Bhutiani, R., Ahamad, F., & Bhardwaj, R. (2019). Distellery spent wash (DSW) treatment methodogies and challenges with special reference to incineration: An overview. Environment Conservation Journal, 20(3), 135-144.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to M/s. Bannari Amman Sugars distillery division Ltd., Erode for their support and financial assistance provided during the course of investigation.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Chopra, A. K., Srivastava, S., Kumar, V., & Pathak, C. (2013). Agro-potentiality of distillery effluent on soil and agronomical characteristics of Abelmoschus esculentus L.(okra). Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 185(8), 6635-6644.
- Joshi, H. C., & Singh, G. (2010). Use of distillery effluent in agriculture. Water: a Human Right or a Commodity?, 20.
- Kamble, B. M., & Deshpande, A. N. (2014). Impact of post biomethanated spentwash on soil properties, nutrient uptake and yield of soybean â€"wheat cropping sequence. Journal of Applied and Natural Science, 6(2), 552-569.

- Kalaiselvi, P., & Mahimairaja, S. (2011). Effect of distillery spentwash on yield attributes and quality of groundnut crop. *Middle East Journal of Scientific Research*, 7(2), 189-193.
- Kumar, V., & Chopra, A. K. (2012). Fertigation effect of distillery effluent on agronomical practices of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* L. (Fenugreek). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 184(3), 1207-1219.
- Khan, M. A., Shaukat, S. S., Shahzad, A., & Arif, H. (2012). Growth and yield responses of pearl millet (Pennisetum glaucum [L.] R. Br.) irrigated with treated effluent from waste stabilization ponds. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 44(3), 905-910.
- Nedunchezhiyan, M., Jata, S. K., Mukherjee, A., & Misra, R. S. (2011). Impact of Growth Regulators on Cormel

Production and Dormancy Breaking in Elephant Foot Yam[AmorphophalluspaeoniifoliusNicolson]. Journal of Root Crops, 37(1), 24-28.

- Pugazh, G., Thiyagu, R., & Sivarajan, P. (2016). Physicochemical characterization of raw and diluted effluent from distillery industry. *International Research Journal of Engineering and Technology*, 3(4), 2055-2059.
- Vadivel, R., Minhas, P. S., Singh, Y., DVK, N. R., & Nirmale, A. (2014). Significance of vinasses waste management in agriculture and environmental quality-Review. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 9(38), 2862-2873.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Estimation of seasonal surplus labour in agriculture in different agro-climatic regions of Rajasthan

Ariun Singh Raiput 🖂

Department of Agricultural economics and management, Rajasthan College of Agriculture, Maharana Pratap University of Agriculture and Technology, Udaipur, Rajasthan.

Latika Sharma

Department of Agricultural economics and management, Rajasthan College of Agriculture, Maharana Pratap University of Agriculture and Technology, Udaipur, Rajasthan.

P. S. Sekhawat

SKN College of Agriculture, SKNAU, Jobner, Jaipur, Rajasthan.

Vikash Pawariya

Department of Agricultural economics, College of Agriculture, Nagaur, Agriculture University, Jodhpur.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 17 September 2021	The present investigation was undertaken with a view to estimate the total
Revised : 03 December 2021	surplus labour in agriculture to get an idea of how far agriculture provides
Accepted : 13 December 2021	employment to those who are fully engaged in it. The author then estimates the
	extent of surplus labour which is removable and the extent of seasonal surplus
Published online: 31 January 2022	labour in different agro-climatic regions of Rajasthan as well as state as a
	whole. For this study, the primary data were collected from 200 households of
Key Words:	10 villages during 2018- 2019 and secondary data were used from census 2011.
Labour absorption	The results showed that there exists the total surplus labour ranging from 49.45
Agro-climatic regions	% in arid western and northern plain region to 80.13 % in semi-arid and flood
Labour surplus	prone region with the state level estimate of 68.33 % of labour availability. It
Seasonal surplus	was estimated that at the state level seasonal surplus labour is 10.51 % of the
Livestock activity	labour availability. Across the regions, the seasonal surplus labour ranges from
Crop production	5.93 % in sub-humid and humid southern plain region to 19.61 % in arid
	western and northern plain region. This cause the unemployment, lower
	productivity of labour and migration of labour. To overcome such type of
	problems initiative to integrate MGNREGA with agriculture, create additional
	income opportunities for agricultural labourers, entrepreneursnip training,
	sman scale moustries, and establishment of agri-dusiness units.

Introduction

The term labour absorption means the total labour wage rates and more in the lean season due to that is used or utilized in the process of production. The terms absorption and utilization, which are interchangeably used, refer to the labour employed rather than the labour required in agriculture. The actual labour employed may be more or less than the labour required. Labour required is the amount of labour to be put in the production process to get the optimum production. Due to seasonality factor in agriculture, it is very difficult to use the necessary amount of labour required. Farmers may employ less than the required number of workers in the peak season due to shortage of labour at higher

social obligations that would force the farmers to accept extra hands every day (Chand and Srivastava, 2014). Inelastic supply of labour in peak season leading to mechanization and lack of demand for labour in lean season is the major problem in agriculture sector. Peak season being of very short duration the stress is always on the demand side of labour market. According to population census 2011, the total population of Rajasthan state is 6.85 crore of which male and female are 3.55 crore and 3.29 crore, respectively. Out of the total population in Rajasthan, the total

workers comprise 43.60 % (i.e. 2.99 crore). Out of workers engaged in self cultivation should also these total workers, cultivators and agricultural labourers are 1.36 crore (45.6%) and 0.50 crore (16.5%), respectively. Agricultural workers constitute the most neglected class in Rajasthan's rural economic structure. Their income is low and employment is irregular. Since, they possess no skill or training, they have no alternative employment opportunities. Fragmentation of land holdings is major reason for increase in agricultural labour over the years.

Despite a large labour force in India, the labour shortages at peak period of agricultural activities are acute in agriculture. This problem has been compounded by the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA). It seems that MGNREGA has made a perceptible difference to the 'choice of work' of the casual labour in rural and semi urban areas. It has not only increased the base wage rates but has also affected the timely operations in agriculture and thereby productivity levels. The farm-wages have shot up in many states indicating switching over towards improved techniques. According to ISEC. Bangalore, India's flagship rural wage employment scheme is causing a labour shortage for agriculture, besides increasing farm production costs by about 20 percent. The study also said that the National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme launched in 2006 "has weaned away agricultural labour during the *kharif* sowing season that lasts from July to August during the southwest monsoon period". Ever since the scheme came into being, daily wages in the farm sector have shot up by a whopping 50 percent (Kumar and Maruthi, 2011).

Surplus labour is not really surplus unless it is such as could be mobilized for development need. For instance, it is not proper to compute surplus labour by assuming 365 days available per worker, because in reality a worker is not available for farm work for all the day in a year. Similarly, one has taken into account the labour days spent in different activities in agriculture. Farm workforce does not confine itself to crop production, & so any attempt to compute surplus by considering labour spent in crop production only would to an upward bias of surplus. One more important activity to be consider i.e., tending of cattle; considerable amount of labour is utilized for this purpose. Likewise, an estimate of surplus labour of the farm family

considering days spent in crop production and related activities. Any attempt to estimate surplus without considering the seasonality of employment would again give an incorrect picture of the real situation. The surplus estimated, thus, would not be free from the seasonality factor and any idea of removing the surplus from any farm work would affect the peak period labour requirement.

The surplus or redundant labour in agriculture. which is a typical feature of developing countries, is believed to be one of the consequence of or causes of economic backwardness. Most of the developing countries undergo from excess population growth, and the quantum of labour surplus varies from region to region depending on the structural characteristic of the region. In this context the present study investigated the region wise labour absorption in principal crops & livestock activities, labour availability and seasonal surplus labour in each agro-climatic region as well as state level in Rajasthan.

Material and Methods

In Rajasthan there are five agro-climatic regions which is subdivided into 10 agro-climatic zones. In the first stage, one district from each agro-climatic zones were selected on the basis of highest gross cropped area. From 10 agro-climatic zones, total 10 districts were selected for the study. The selected districts were Hanumangarh, Bikaner, Nagaur, Jodhpur, Jaipur, Alwar, Bhilwara, Udaipur, Baran and Jhalawar. In the second stage, one tehsil from each selected district was selected randomly. Thus, 10 tehsils were selected randomly from 10 districts for the study. The name of 10 selected tehsils were Hanumangarh, Nokha, Nawa, Luni, Bassi, Bansur, Shahpura, Vallabhnagar, Krishnganj and Jhalrapatan. In the third stage one village from each selected tehsil was selected randomly. And in the final stage twenty farmers from each village were selected according to five standard size classes i.e. marginal (<1 ha), small (1-2 ha), semi-medium (2-4 ha), medium (4-6 ha) and large (>6 ha) making random selection within each category size. Thus, 200 farmers were selected from the chosen 10 districts of five agro-climatic regions, respectively. The systematic flow chart of sampling procedure is given in Figure 1. The principal crops those covering more than 75 % of the gross cropped area


(GCA) in each district were selected purposively to estimate the labour absorption in crop production. The study was based on both primary and secondary data for the analysis. The primary data from the farm household was collected by personal based interview on specially designed comprehensive schedule. Secondary data were collected from the various administrative reports, government publications, surveys, records, articles, and official documents from 1981 (three decades) onwards and primary data for the year 2018-2019 was used for the present study.

Estimation of surplus labour in agriculture

The method of estimation of surplus labour in various studies can be categorized as "Indirect" and "Direct" methods. The indirect method has been used in its three variants;

- (i) The number labour hours required to produce a given output is subtracted from the number of labour hours available from the active agrarian population.
- (ii) The density of population deemed adequate for a given type of cultivation is subtracted from the actual density of the population, and
- (iii) The number of hectares required under a given type of cultivation to provide one person with a standard income is contrasted with the number of hectares and the agrarian population available.

However, Roden (1957) described that out of these two methods, direct method is the only satisfactory method based on empirical investigations with questionnaires distinguishing different cultivation practices, size and forms of property and composition of labour force. Indirect method does not give any clear idea about the extent of surplus labour. At the most, these methods can be used to test whether there exists surplus labour or not. Therefore, the present study chose direct method of estimation procedure was chosen for the study as used by Roden (1957), Rudra (1973), Reddy (1988) and Parthasarthy (1990) with some modifications in their assumptions.

The present study estimated the available labour time of agricultural work force and total labour time actually utilized in crop production and other allied activities with the current level of technique and organization. The difference between the two would provide the extent to which available labour

time is actually unemployed and hence the study estimated the resultant surplus labour. Three sets of surplus labour estimates were made separately, namely, total, removable and seasonal (nonremovable) surplus for each of the agro-climatic region and for the state as a whole.

Estimation of available labour time in agriculture: Cultivators and agricultural labourers are the two main constituents of agricultural work force. Though, there is some seasonal migration of agricultural labourer to agriculturally developed regions from agriculturally backward regions. Due to absence of any such reliable data region wise, it was not included in the present study. Gender wise population of cultivators and agricultural workers in each district were obtained from population census report of 2011. This census data was then extrapolated by the annual rate of growth of population to get the figure for 2018-19. Total number of labour available in agriculture sector were then converted into man-days considering availability for employment 300 days for male workers and 270 days for female workers. A lower level of female labour availability was considered Indian because in traditional household. irrespective of being employed or not, females manage most of the household responsibilities including bringing up the children and maternity related demands. Besides, female labour demand is bv and large. seasonal/operation specific (Parthasarthy, 1990). It is pertinent to mention here that estimates of available labour time in the present study were made by accounting main and marginal workers. Main workers are the workers who work for more than six months in a year, while marginal workers are those who work for less than six months in a year.

Estimation of surplus labour: The difference between total available labour time as estimated in Table 1 and total labour time actually utilized for carrying out crop production and livestock activities as estimated in Table 2 was taken as an estimate of surplus labour. These region wise estimates show the extent to which agriculture provides employment to agricultural work force. This is known as disguised unemployment as this surplus is not altogether removable. This surplus includes both seasonal (non-removable) as well as removable surplus. Therefore, three sets of surplus labour estimated consisting of total, removable and seasonal (non-removable) surplus were separately $L_{Si} = L_{Pi} - L_{Ti}$ worked out for five agro-climatic regions as well as state level as a whole.by summing up estimates of all the regions, estimates at the state level was arrived.

To arrive at region wise peak operational labour requirement in the crop production, the per hectare coefficient of peak operation labour use was worked out for each crop and multiplied by the respective area under different crops in each region. In order to compute peak operation labour use coefficient, the study considered labour use per hectare in peak operation of each crop multiplied by its crop duration. The estimates of peak operational labour requirement were deducted from the total available labour time to arrive at an estimate of removable surplus in the given region. The procedure can be expressed mathematically as follows.

$$L_{pi} = \sum_{c=1}^{J} A_{ic} \cdot l_{pic}$$

Where,

L_{pi}= Total peak operational labour requirement in ith region (man-days)

 A_{ic} = Area under cth crop in ith region (hectares)

 $l_{\rm pic}$ = Peak operational labour use per hectare throughout cth crop duration in ithregion (man-days) C= Number of crops grown in the region (1, 2, ----------i)

Removable surplus estimates in crop production were obtained in the following manner

 $L_{Ri} = L_{Ti} - L_{pi}$

Where.

 L_{Ri} = Removable surplus labour in ith region (mandays)

 L_{Ti} = Labour time availability in i^{th} region (mandavs)

 L_{pi} = Peak operational labour requirement in crop operation in ith region (man-days)

Seasonal surplus labour in crop production is the extent of labour which is either not engaged or partially engaged during the lean season but is fully engaged during the peak seasons. Hence, this seasonal surplus is non-removable. In order to arrive at the seasonal surplus estimates, the difference between the peak operational labour requirement and the average labour use in crop production was estimate. Algebraically, the method can be expressed a s follows;

Where,

ith L_{Si}= surplus labour in the Seasonal district/zone/region in man-days.

 L_{Pi} = Peak operational labour requirement in the ith district/zone/region in man-days.

 L_{Ti} = Average labour use throughout the year in ithdistrict/zone/region in man-days.

Results and Discussion

Estimates of Surplus Labour in Agriculture in **Different Agro-Climatic Regions**

The study follows the direct estimation procedure for surplus labour estimation as used by Reddy (1988) and Parthasarthy (1990). Focusing on the time dimension aspect of underemployment, the present study attempted to empirically estimate the magnitude of surplus labour engaged in agriculture in terms of utilized man-days across different agroclimatic regions of the state of Rajasthan. The estimates of surplus labour were worked out by comparing the total labour availability and total labour utilization in agriculture. First, total surplus labour was calculated considering labour use in crop production activities only (Table 1). In the crop production activities from land preparation, input procurement, sowing, inter-culture, fertilizer/manuring application, plant protection measures, irrigation, harvesting/picking, threshing upto marketing of farm produce were considered. Secondly, total surplus labour was estimated considering both labour use in crop production as well as livestock activities. In the third set peak operational labour usage in crop production was taken for the estimation of surplus labour. Seasonal surplus labour was also estimated as the gap between peak operational labour use and average labour use in crop production. This estimate shows the amount of seasonal unemployment in agriculture sector. For calculating total labour availability the number of cultivators and landless agricultural laborers were aggregated (including both main workers as well as marginal workers) from the census 2011 extrapolated by the annual rate of growth of population to get the figure for 2018-19 for Rajasthan.

Total available labour man-days in agriculture sector were 2416.30 million man-days in Rajasthan. Thus, 2416.30 million man-days of labour were

Table 1: Region wise Estimates of Surplus Labour in Rajasthan, 2018-2019 (million man-days)

				Regions	5		
SN.	Particulars	Arid Western and Northern	Transitional Plain	Semi-Arid and Flood Prone	Sub Humid and Humid Southern	Humid Southern Eastern Plain	State
1	Labour available	367.23	595.01	665.85	479.29	308.92	2416.30
2	Labour usage in crop production	131.15	163.19	92.91	62.55	50.62	500.42
3	Total surplus labour considering crop production only (1-2)	236.08	431.82	572.94	416.74	258.29	1915.88
4	Row 3 as % of row 1	64.29	72.57	86.05	86.95	83.61	79.29
5	Labour use in livestock activity	54.48	63.27	39.36	49.48	58.18	264.77
6	Total surplus labour considering crop production and livestock activity (3-5)	181.60	368.55	533.58	367.26	200.11	1651.11
7	Row 6 as % of row 1	49.45	61.94	80.13	76.63	64.78	68.33
8	Peak operational labour usage in crop production	203.15	244.82	135.20	90.95	80.33	754.44
9	Removable surplus considering crop production only (1-8)	164.08	350.19	530.65	388.34	228.59	1661.86
10	Row 9 as % of row 1	44.68	58.86	79.70	81.02	74.00	68.78
11	Removable surplus labour considering crop production and livestock (9-5)	109.60	286.92	491.29	338.86	170.41	1397.09
12	Row 11 as % of row 1	29.85	48.22	73.78	70.70	55.16	57.82
13	Seasonal surplus labour (8-2)	72.00	81.63	42.29	28.40	29.70	254.01
14	Row 13 as % of row 1	19.61	13.72	6.35	5.93	9.61	10.51

SN	Particulars	Arid We Norther	stern and n Region	Transitio Reg	onal Plain gion	Semi-a Flood Easter Reg	rid and Prone n plain gion	Sub hui Humid S Plain l	mid and Southern Region	Humid S Easter Reg	Southern n Plain gion	Sta	ate
	Total human labour absorption	LACA	LALA	LACA	LALA	LACA	LALA	LACA	LALA	LACA	LALA	LACA	LALA
1	Male	12.84 (32.48)	12.60 (23.13)	17.50 (36.89)	17.28 (27.31)	15.70 (32.22)	8.76 (22.26)	20.51 (33.84)	9.53 (19.26)	11.16 (19.26)	40.05 (28.79)	14.67 (32.58)	13.70 (33.18)
2	Female	26.69 (67.52)	41.88 (76.87)	29.95 (63.11)	45.99 (72.69)	33.02 (67.78)	30.60 (77.74)	40.10 (66.16)	39.95 (80.74)	27.60 (80.74)	18.13 (71.21)	30.36 (67.42)	27.58 (66.82)
3	Total Labour Absorption	39.53 (100.00)	54.48 (100.00)	47.45 (100.00)	63.27 (100.00)	48.72 (100.00)	39.36 (100.00)	60.61 (100.00)	49.48 (100.00)	38.76 (100.00)	58.18 (100.00)	45.03 (100.00)	41.29 (100.00)
4	Share of Total Labour Absorption	42.05	57.95	42.86	57.14	55.31	44.69	55.05	44.95	39.98	60.02	52.17	47.83

Table 2: Region wise Comparison of Total Human Labour Utilization between Crop Activity and Livestock Activity in the State of Rajasthan

LACA=Labour absorption in crop activities (man-days/hectare); LALA= Labour absorption in livestock activities (man-days/animal/year) Figures in parentheses denote percentage of total labour absorption available in Rajasthan in agriculture sector in 2018-19. Out of five regions of the state the highest labour availability was in semi-arid and flood prone (665.85 million man-days) followed by transitional plain (595.01 million man-days), sub-humid and humid southern plain (479.29 million man-days), arid western and northern plain (367.23 million man-days) and the lowest in humid southern and eastern plain (308.92 million man-days) (Table 1). Labour utilization in crop production (row 2) is estimated to be 500.42 million man-days at the state level. Of this, transitional plain region accounts for the highest share (32.61 %) followed by arid

western and northern plain (26.21 %), semi-arid and flood prone (18.57 %, sub-humid and humid southern plain (12.50 %) and humid southern and eastern plain (10.12 %).

The variations in labour availability across the regions is essentially because of agricultural work force availability differentials, while labour usage in crop production is the result of per hectare labour use, cropping pattern and gross cropped area of the respective regions (Reddy, (1989). Considering surplus labour estimates based on the crop production only (row 4), the results showed that there exists surplus labour ranging from 64.29 % in arid western and northern plain region to 86.95 % in sub-humid and humid southern plain region with the state level estimate of 79.29 % of labour availability respectively. A relatively lower level of surplus labour found in arid western and northern plain region is mainly on account of the fact that this region has availability of irrigation from Indra Gandhi Nahar Pariyojana (IGNP). Thus, relatively higher level of irrigation, fertilizer use, cropping intensity and cultivation of high labour intensive crops as compared to other regions. These results imply that cropping pattern in favour of the labour intensive crops and higher level of farming technology tends to enhance labour use.

Apart from crop production, 'livestock activity' constitute the other important engagements, especially carried out by agricultural workers. Thus, any attempt to estimate surplus labour by considering labour time spent only crop production alone would lead to an upward bias. Therefore, at the state level (row 7) total surplus labour taking into account crop production and livestock activity, turns out to be 68.33 % of the available labour. Across the regions, the total surplus labour ranges

from 49.45 % in arid western and northern plain region to 80.13 % in semi-arid and flood prone region. Out of five regions of the state, two regions namely, semi-arid and flood prone region and subhumid and humid southern plain region have surplus labour higher than that at the state level (row 7). The labour utilization on livestock based activities in relation to other farm activities in different size groups of different regions under study indicated that labour utilization per farm family for livestock based activities is remarkably very high. This confirms the fact that livestock is an integral component of economic activities for income and employment generation in all the regions of the state. It provided an important economic base of farm families in rural areas as evidenced by the large share of employment by this activity. The estimates of total surplus labour seem to be high because it includes both removable as well as seasonal (non-removable) surplus labour. Removable surplus labour is the extent of surplus labour that can be removed from agriculture without affecting the output. In other words, this surplus labour is estimated by deducting peak operational labour usage from the labour availability. The estimates of removable surplus (row 12) turns out to be relatively higher in semiarid and flood prone region (73.78 %) and subhumid and humid southern plain region (70.70 %) compared to arid western and northern region (29.85 %) with the state level estimate of 57.82 %. Out of five regions of the state, two regions namely, semi-arid and flood prone region and sub-humid and humid southern plain region have higher percentage of removable surplus labour than that of state average.

The results broadly point out that the region with lower proportion of removable surplus labour (arid western and northern region) mainly comprise of developed region either agriculturally (by using new tools and techniques) and/or industrially. In contrast to this, higher proportion of removable surplus labour in semi-arid and flood prone region (73.78 %) and sub-humid and humid southern plain region (70.70 %) may perhaps be due to low level of agricultural development (use of new technology) which was due to water scarcity problem and fact that these regions from the hinterlands which explain the relatively large proportion of worker's dependent on agriculture regions of the state and the country. These results (Pal *et al.* (2018) and Kwan *et al.* (2018). were in conformity with Venu *et al.* (2016),

Seasonal surplus labour reflects that the labour are partly and wholly unemployed during the lean season but employed during the peak season. Therefore, removal of seasonal surplus labour would affect the peak season labour operations. Therefore, it is estimated as the difference between the peak period labour requirement and the average labour requirement throughout the year. The results (row 14) showed that at the state level seasonal surplus labour is 10.51 % of the labour availability. Across the regions, the estimates ranges from 5.93 % in sub humid and humid southern region to 19.61 % in arid western and northern region. The results indicated that in relatively developed region, i.e. arid western and northern region the seasonal surplus labour turn out to be higher due to larger peak operational labour requirement. In sub-humid and humid southern plain region and humid southern eastern plain region, the incidence of seasonal surplus labour is found to be relatively less. Out of five regions of the state, two regions namely, arid western and northern region and transitional plain region have higher percentage of seasonal surplus labour than that of state average.

The demand for labour in agriculture is characterized with high seasonality followed by inelastic supply of labour at peak season and lack of demand for labour in lean season. Inelastic supply of labour at peak season leading to mechanization and similarly lack of demand for labour in lean season is one of the major causes of poverty. Thus, result revealed the existence of surplus labour in the all regions of the state. However, nature and magnitude of surplus labour seem to be associated with development and socio-economic character of each region. In relatively developed region (arid western and northern region), there is higher seasonal surplus labour (i.e. more non-removable surplus) along with lower removable surplus labour. As against this, in relatively backward region sub-humid and humid southern region, the incidence of removable surplus labour is found to be relatively high along with relatively low level of seasonal surplus labour (non-removable). The high level of removable surplus in this region perhaps explains the generally observed phenomena of migration of agricultural labour to other developed

regions of the state and the country. These results were in conformity with Venu *et al.* (2016), Gunabhagya *et al.* (2017), Pal *et al.* (2018) and Kwan *et al.* (2018).

Conclusion

- 1. The study showed existence of seasonal surplus labour to the tune of 10.51 % of labour availability. This labour can be utilized through initiative to integrate MGNREGA with agriculture. This will improve the productivity of labour and also may check the seasonal migration of labourers.
- 2. The study emphasised the role and importance of livestock sector as the major employment generation sector of state economy. The potential of livestock sector for employment generation can be utilized by framing policies for creation of milk processing facilities, developing supply chains, cold chains and improvement of breeds.
- 3 Total available labour in agriculture sector was 2416.30 million man-days in Rajasthan in agriculture sector in 2018-19. Due to mechanization, labour absorption is being reduced and surplus labour is enormous in the state. Therefore, absorb this surplus labour by through developing agricultural created services, small scale industries, establishment agri-business units to make them of atmanirbhar.
- 4. The results showed that there exists surplus labour. This unemployment of agricultural labourers has negative impact on their income, consumption expenditure and savings. So there is need to create additional income opportunities for agricultural labourers.
- 5. In relatively developed region (arid western and northern region), there is higher seasonal surplus labour (i.e. more non-removable surplus) along with lower removable surplus labour. As against this, in relatively backward region sub-humid and humid southern region, the incidence of removable surplus labour is found to be relatively high along with relatively low level of seasonal surplus labour (nonremovable).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Agriculture Statistics (2019). Directorate of Economics & Planning, Jaipur Rajasthan.
- Chand, R. & Srivastava, S. K. (2014). Changes in rural labour market and their implications for agriculture. *Economic* and Political Weekly, 69(10), 47-54.
- GOI (2019). 20th livestock census 2019 all India report. Ministry of fisheries, animal husbandry and dairying. New Delhi.
- Gunabhagya, Joshi, A. T., Patil, S. S. & Maraddi, G. N. (2017). Agricultural labour shortage: An abysmal to agriculture in north eastern Karnataka. *Economic Affairs*, 62(4), 589-594.
- Kumar, P. & Maruthi, I. (2011). Impact of NREGA on wage rate food security and rural urban migration in Karnataka. Agricultural development and rural transformation centre. Institute for Social and Economic Change, Bangalore-560 072.
- Kwan, F., Wu, Y. & Zhuo, S. (2018). Surplus agricultural labour and China's Lewis turning point. *China Economic Review*, 48(4), 244-257.
- Parthasarathy, R. (1990). Labour utilization in Tamil Nadu agriculture. *Artha Vijnana*, *32(2)*, 109-137.

- Pal, B. K. (2018). Seasonal labour migration: A case study of Leh-Town, Ladakh. *Economic Affairs*, 63(2), 481-487.
- Rajasthan Agricultural Statistics at a Glance (2019). Commissionerate of Agriculture, Jaipur, Rajasthan.
- Reddy, R. (1989). Labour absorption in agriculture: Need for an alternative development strategy. *ArthaVijnana*, 31(4), 429-437.
- Reddy, V. R. (1988). Surplus labour, poverty and agricultural development: A case study of Andhra Pradesh. *ArthaVijnana*, 30(4), 340-360.
- Rodan Rosenstein, P. N. (1957). Disguised unemployment and underemployment in agriculture. *Monthly bulletin of Agricultural Economics and Statistics*, 6(7), 1-7.
- Rudra, A. (1973). Direct estimates of surplus labour in agriculture. *Economics and Political Weekly*, 8(4,5,6), 277-280.
- Statistical year book of Rajasthan (2018). Directorate of Economics & Planning, Jaipur Rajasthan.
- Venu, B. N., Umesh, K. B. & Gaddi, G. M. (2016). Agricultural labour migration and remittances in Karnataka state of India. *International Journal of Agriculture Sciences*, 58(8), 3227-3230.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Detection of antibiotic resistance in Escherichia coli isolates from Egyptian vultures from arid regions of India

Khushboo Panwar 🖂

Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Biotechnology, College of Veterinary and Animal Science, Rajasthan University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bikaner, Rajasthan, India.

Taruna Bhati

Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Biotechnology, College of Veterinary and Animal Science, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bikaner, Rajasthan, India.

Saniu Ritod

Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Biotechnology, College of Veterinary and Animal Science, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bikaner, Rajasthan, India.

B. N. Shringi

Department of Veterinary Microbiology and Biotechnology, College of Veterinary and Animal Science, University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bikaner, Rajasthan, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 26 July 2021	Egyptian vultures (Neophron percnopterus) wintering in north-western India
Revised : 15 October 2021	remains for several months (October to March) and with due course they have
Accepted : 08 November 2021	become an inhabitant of a synanthropic site in Jorbeer, a livestock and other
	animal carcasses dumping and disposing site in the outskirts of Bikaner city of
Available online: 11 February 2022	Rajasthan. The main purpose of this study was to isolate and identify E. coli
	from critically endangered Egyptian vultures through conventional and
Key Words:	molecular methods along with determining their antibiotic resistance profile.
Antibiotic resistance	Bacteriological analyses were conducted on 38 freshly voided fecal samples,
Bacteria	leading to the isolation of E. coli in 30 samples which were identified by
Egyptian vultures	biochemical tests and 16S rRNA sequencing. In the antibiogram study, out of
Escherichia coli	12 antibiotics two antibiotics namely norfloxacin and co-trimoxazole were
Rajasthan	highly effective against most (93.33%) of the isolates. Highest resistance was
16S rRNA	against cephotaxime (56.65%) followed by amoxyclav (43.33%). Antibiogram
	showed a moderate spread of <i>E. coli</i> strains showing antibiotic resistance
	among Egyptian vultures at Jorbeer, Bikaner.

Introduction

Egyptian vultures wintering in north-western India (Cuthbert et al., 2006). All bacteria including E. remain for several months (October to March), with some of them assembling at a synanthropic site in Jorbeer, located in the outskirts of Bikaner city and used to dump livestock and other animal carcasses. The key source of food for these vultures in shared dumps is farm animal carcasses and stray animal which contain levels carcasses. high of antimicrobial resistance (Kang et al., 2004). This species has been listed as critically endangered by IUCN and in India, there has been a rapid decline in the population with a 35% decrease each year since 1999 which has been attributed mainly to the use of **NSAIDs** (diclofenac sodium in particular)

coli isolated from vultures, internally or externally, can potentially be the cause of diseases both in wildlife, domestic animals and humans (Hubalek, 2004).

Escherichia coli (E. coli) is a common colonizer of the gastrointestinal tract which belongs to the family Enterobacteriaceae and is a short gram negative, non-spore forming, peritrichous and fimbriate bacillus which may have a capsule or a microcapsule. Escherichia been coli has extensively studied in various taxonomic classes of mammals and bird species. The majority of acquired virulence factors that differentiate

pathogenic E. coli from harmless E. coli are encoded on mobile genetic elements capable of horizontal gene transfer or on elements that were once mobile but now have become a stable part of the genome with time (Kaper et al., 2004). The selective pressure exerted by antibiotic exposure has been proposed as a key factor in the development and spread of antimicrobial resistance in commensal E. coli which is a reliable indicator of antimicrobial selection pressure (Fluckev et al., 2007). The fact that antibiotic use increased by 30%globally between 2000 and 2010 demonstrates the rise in antibiotic use. A survey conducted in India between 2005 and 2009 revealed a 40% rise in the use of antibiotics (Ganguly et al., 2011). Due to its natural history and habits, Egyptian vultures are suitable for testing both virulence and antibiotic resistance trends, but very little microbial studies and antibiotic sensitivity profiling using this host species have been conducted to date in this region (India). Hence the present study was conducted to antibiotic resistance pattern detect the of Escherichia coli isolates from Egyptian vultures from Bikaner, Rajasthan, India.

Material and Methods Sampling

A total of 38 freshly voided faecal samples were collected from Egyptian vultures from Jorbeer conservation area, Bikaner (Raj.). The faecal droppings were collected aseptically with the help of sterile spatula in sterile collection bottles. For further processing, the samples were transported to the laboratory as soon as possible and incubated overnight in nutrient broth for 24 hours.

Isolation and Identification of E. coli

Escherichia coli strains from faecal samples were isolated and identified as described by Edward and Ewing (1986) and Ouinn et al. (2000).Identification of the E. coli isolates was based on culture and biochemical characteristics. For genotypic confirmation, amplification of the 16S rRNA genes was performed. Bacterial DNA was extracted using method of Chen and Kuo (1993) and 5'-GCTTGACACTGAACATTGAG-3' was primer 3'used as the forward and GCACTTATCTCTTCCGCATT-5' as the reverse primer in a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) as per Khaled et al. (2010).

Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

The antibiotic susceptibility of 30 E. coli isolates was determined by the disc diffusion method on Mueller-Hinton agar (Hi Media) by Bauer et al. (1966). A set of 12 antibiotics representative of the main classes used in human and veterinary medicine were used in the antibiogram study. The surface of Mueller-Hinton agar plates was inoculated by swabbing overnight broth cultures of E. coli with turbidity adjusted to 0.5 McFarland standards. Seven antibiotic discs were carefully placed on the surface of one MHA plate with enough space around each disc to allow diffusion of the antibiotic and incubated at 37 °C for 16 to 18 h. The inhibition zone around each disc was measured millimetres and results were interpreted in according to CLSI guidelines (CLSI, 2013). Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index was determined according to the method described by Krumperman (1983).

Results and Discussion

In the present study, out of 38 faecal samples collected from Egyptian vultures from Jorbeer conservation area, Bikaner (Raj.), 30 (78.94%) E. coli isolates were identified using conventional and molecular tests (Figure1, 2). The antibiotic sensitivity test using 12 antibiotics was determined for 30 isolates and the results of the antibiograms are presented in Table 1. Two antibiotics namely norfloxacin and co-trimoxazole were highly effective against most (93.33%) of the isolates followed by tetracycline (86.67%), ciprofloxacin (83.33%), gentamicin (76.66%) and chloramphenicol (73.33%) (Figure 3,4). The highest resistance was found against cephotaxime (56.65%) followed by amoxyclav (43.33%) and streptomycin (33.33%). Escherichia coli may have a multi-resistant phenotype because of distant use of antibiotics, which lead to evolution of a multiresistant organism which has spread to various ecological niches. The sensitivity of E. coli isolates to ciprofloxacin was recorded as 83.34% in present study which is similar to observation made by Sharada et al. (2008) who reported 83% E. coli isolates from poultry in Bangalore sensitive to ciprofloxacin. In the present study, no E. coli was resistant to ciprofloxacin which is similar to the observations made by Shrestha et al. (2011), Borges et al. (2012) and Saidi et al. (2012). This

CN	A		Antibiogram pattern (%	b)
SN	Antibiotic disc	Sensitive	Intermediate	Resistant
1.	Norfloxacin(NX)	93.33	6.67	-
2.	Co-Trimoxazole(COT)	93.33	-	6.67
3.	Tetracycline(TE)	86.67	13.33	-
4.	Ciprofloxacin (CIP)	83.33	16.67	-
5.	Gentamicin(HLG)	76.66	16.67	6.67
6.	Chloramphenicol (C)	73.33	20	6.67
7.	Ampicillin(AMP)	23.33	56.67	20
8.	Streptomycin(S)	23.33	43.33	33.34
9.	Nalidixic acid(NA)	20	66.67	13.33
10.	Kanamycin(K)	16.66	76.67	6.67
11.	Amoxyclav (AMC)	6.67	50	43.33
12.	Cephotaxime (CTX)	-	43.35	56.65

Table 1: Antibiogram of *E. coli* isolated from Egyptian Vultures

may be due to less use of ciprofloxacin and other which is similar to results obtained by Miles *et al.* fluoroquinolones at farms or hospitals in the study area since ciprofloxacin resistance in gram negative bacilli is coincident with increased use of In contrary, high level of fluorquinolones. resistance was reported from China against ciprofloxacin by Gyles (2008). Kibret and Abera (2011) in a study on *E. coli* from clinical sources in Ethopia found high degree of sensitivity to norfloxacin (90.6%) and gentamicin (79.6%) which is almost similar to our results. Similarly Akond et al. (2009) found 80% E. coli strains from poultry and poultry environment in Bangladesh susceptible to gentamicin and none of the isolates showed resistance to norfloxacin. Similar to present study Miles et al. (2006) reported 2.9% isolates from avian samples resistant to chloramphenicol.

In the present study, 13.33% of *E. coli* isolates were found resistant to nalidixic acid which is similar to the observations made by Costa et al. (2008) and Umar et al. (2018) who recorded 14% and 18.03%. E. coli isolates obtained from wild animals and Indonesian zoo birds respectively, resistant to nalidixic acid. Contrary to present observation Salehi and Bonab (2006) found 100% E. coli isolates from broiler chickens with colisepticemia resistant to nalidixic acid. Blanco et al. (2016) detected the residues of fluoroquinolones in the plasma of 92% nestling vultures feeding on domestic livestock carcasses. In the present study, 20% E. coli isolates were resistant to ampicillin

(2006) who reported 20.6% E. coli isolates from broiler chickens and humans and Aksoy et al. (2007) reporting 13.1% E. coli isolates from cattle and sheep resistant to ampicillin. Contrarily, 100% resistance was observed by Matin et al. (2017) from faecal, liver and spleen samples of chicken and by Sarker et al. (2019) in E. coli from broilers. About 50% of E. coli isolates from cloacal samples of Canarian Egyptian vultures were resistant to ampicillin and tetracycline which is in contrast to present study. Whereas susceptibility to ampicillin (23.33%) among E. coli isolates was almost similar to that observed by Gyles (2008) (38%) from avian population from Canada.

In present study, 56.62% of E. coli isolates were found resistant to cephotaxime which is contrary to observation made by Kar et al. (2015) who observed 100% E. coli isolates from poultry faecal and cattle milk samples resistant to cephotaxime. Resistance to cephotaxime and ampicillin is also suggestive of relatively high proportion of extended spectrum β-lactamases (ESBL) producing E. coli strains in Egyptian vultures in the present study which could contribute to the spreading of such ESBL producing strains as observed by Alcalá et al. (2016). No resistance was found in E. coli isolates for tetracycline in given study which is similar to observation made by Allen et al. (2011) from samples of landfills and natural habitats. On contrary high percentage of resistance against



Figure 1: Metabolic and biochemical reactions by Hi *E. coli*TM Identification Kit.



Figure 2: 16S rRNA ribotyping of *Escherichia coli* isolates from Egyptian vultures



Figure 3: Sensitivity pattern of *E. coli* isolates against various tested antibiotics

tetracycline was observed by other scientists viz. 100% by Sarker *et al.* (2019) in *E. coli* from broilers. A high level of resistance to tetracycline (83.08%) and co-trimoxazole (76.92%) reported by Sharada *et al.* (2008) and resistance to co-trimoxazole (88%), ciprofloxacin (83%), norfloxacin (78%) and tetracycline (77%) noted by Kar *et al.* (2015) in *E. coli* isolates from poultry faecal and cattle milk samples is in contrast to

present study. The *E. coli* isolates from poultry are resistant to these drugs because of regular usage in poultry industry for control of pathogenic avian colibacillosis which is not commonly done in wild birds like vultures.

Ammar *et al.* (2015) observed *E. coli* isolates from avian samples in Egypt to be 100% resistant to amoxyclav which is way higher than our observation (43.33%). The resistance observed in our study is much higher than the observation made by Costa *et al.* (2008) in which resistance of *E. coli* isolates from wild animal was in range of 4.5-7%.

Except for gentamicin an overall high resistance (intermediate + resistant) was recorded for other aminoglycosides *i.e.* streptomycin (76.68%) and kanamycin (83.34%), in the present study. A higher resistance of 60.4% in *E. coli* isolates from turkey to streptomycin was seen by Cunha et al. (2014) which is similar to present study. Salehi et al. (2007) found out susceptibility to kanamycin for E. coli isolates to be 11% which is almost similar to our observation (16.67%). Horn et al. (2015) determined that E. coli strains isolated from necropsy samples and cloacal swabs of canaries were resistant to gentamicin (4%) and 40% to streptomycin. De Pontes et al. (2018) observed a high resistance to aminoglycosides (74%), and streptomycin (67%) in E. coli isolates from cockatiels kept in captivity. Aminoglycosides, such as amikacin or gentamicin, are clinically important therapeutic agents for treatment of infections particularly severe infections by Gram-negative bacteria in human and veterinary medicine, but they are less preferred in birds because of the toxicity disadvantage (Flammer, 2006). However, carcasses and other remains, frequently from diseased animals treated with aminoglycosides, can be consumed by vultures leading to the ingestion of antimicrobial residues or resistant bacteria such as E. coli. The difference in the prevalence of antimicrobial resistance in wildlife living in natural habitats in different geographic sites may reflect different levels of general pollution in the local environment. All the multidrug resistant E. coli isolates were subjected to determination of MAR (Multiple Antibiotic Resistance) index. Five antibiotic resistant patterns with MAR index ranging from 0.08-0.41 were obtained. In addition, the results obtained showed the presence of eight multidrug-resistant strains (MDR), which were

S N	MAR index value type	Isolate I.D.	No. of isolates	No. of antibiotics to which isolates were resistant	MAR Index value	Significance
1	MAR1	$E_{1,}E_{3,}E_{4},E_{6},E_{7},E_{8},E_{9},E_{10},\\E_{11},E_{12},E_{14},E_{15}$	12	1	0.08	22 (73.3%) isolates had less than 0.2
2	MAR2	$ \begin{array}{c} E_{16}, E_{17}, E_{19}, E_{20}, E_{21}, E_{23}, \\ E_{24}, E_{27}, E_{29}, E_{30} \end{array} $	10	2	0.16	MAR index value with less risk source of MDR strains
3	MAR3	E ₂₂ ,E ₂₅ ,E ₂₆ ,E ₂₈ ,E ₁₈	5	3	0.25	08 (26.7%)
4	MAR4	E_{5},E_{13}	2	4	0.33	more than 0.2 MAR
5	MAR5	E ₂	1	5	0.41	index value with high risk potential source of spread of MDR strains

Table 2: Multiple antibiotic resistance (MAR) index of E. coli isolates

resistant to three or more antibiotics having MAR index more than 0.2. The majority of the E. coli (12 isolates) were resistant to only one antibiotic (MAR index of 0.08). The majority of isolates (73.3%) had a MAR index of less than 0.2 while 26.7% isolates had MAR index value more than 0.2 and were considered as multiple drug resistant (Table 2) suggesting exposure of the vultures to bacteria from significantly contaminated sites. These results are almost identical to the findings of Kelsey et al. (2003), who found that 97% of E. coli isolates from surface water were resistant to one or two antibiotics, with only one isolate resistant to more than two antibiotics. Multidrug resistance (MDR) was detected in 18.8% of E. coli isolates from healthy wildlife and livestock by Kabali et al. (2021) which corroborates present study. On the contrary, Adzitey, 2015 had only four isolates with MAR index less than 0.2 out of 45 isolates of E. coli. All E. coli isolates from fecal matter samples of migratory birds in Bangladesh were found to be multidrug resistant (MDR) by Islam et al. (2021) which is in contrast to present study. Szmolka and Nagy, 2013 described the role of antimicrobial therapy in animals in the selection of multidrug resistant populations of commensal E. coli that could transfer those resistance genes in vivo to pathogenic strains of E. coli or to Salmonella.

Conclusion

In conclusion, considerable number of MDR E. coli strains from Egyptian vultures in arid regions of Rajasthan was observed that raises concern regarding the use of antimicrobials in human and veterinary medicine. Hence to protect the populations of this threatened species it is necessary to prevent the vultures from feeding largely on the carcasses of farm animals or from different clinical settings which contain high rates of antimicrobial resistance as they can serve as a source of antimicrobial-resistant bacteria and can spread them to other species and into the environment, and consequently may pose a risk to human and animal health. The proper disposal of diseased and subsequently medicated livestock carcasses through burial or incineration can prevent the spillover of veterinary antimicrobials in the scavenging vultures.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Dean, College of Veterinary and Animal Sciences Rajasthan University of Veterinary and Animal Sciences, Bikaner for providing necessary facilities and funds to carry out this research work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Adzitey, F. (2015). Antibiotic resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolated from beef and its related samples in Techiman municipality of Ghana. *Asian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 9(5): 233-240.
- Akond, M.A., Alam, S., Hassan, S.M.R., & Shirin, M. (2009). Antibiotic resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolated from poultry and poultry environment of Bangladesh. *International Journal of food safety*, 11, 19-23.
- Aksoy, A., Yildirim, M., Kaçmaz, B., Apan, T.Z., & Göçmen, J.S. (2007). Verotoxin production in strains of *Escherichia coli* isolated from cattle and sheep, and their resistance to antibiotics. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences*, 31(4), 225-231.
- Alcalá, L., Carla, A.A., Carmen, S., Chabier, G.E., Jesús, O., Antonio R., Carmelo, O., & Carmen, T. (2016). Wild Birds, Frequent Carriers of Extended-Spectrum β-Lactamase (ESBL) Producing Escherichia coli of CTX-M and SHV-12 Types. *Microbial Ecology*, *72*(4), 861-869.
- Allen, S.E., Boerlin, P., Janecko, N., Lumsden, J.S., Barker, I.K., Pearl, D.L., & Jardine, C. (2011). Antimicrobial resistance in generic *Escherichia coli* isolates from wild small mammals living in swine farm, residential, landfill, and natural environments in southern Ontario, Canada. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 77(3), 882-888.
- Ammar, A.M., El-Hamid, M.I., Eid, S.E.A., & El Oksh, A.S. (2015). Insight into antimicrobial resistance and virulence genes of emergent multidrug resistant avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* in Egypt: How closely related are they. *Revue de Medecine Veterinaire*, 166(9-10), 304-314.
- Bauer, A.W., Kirby, W.M.M., Sherris, J.C., & Turck, M. (1966). Antibiotic susceptibility testing by a standardized single disk method. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 45(4), 493-496.
- Blanco, G., Alexandra, J., David, S., José, B., & Dolores, B. (2016). Wildlife contamination with fluoroquinolones from livestock: Widespread occurrence of enrofloxacin and marbofloxacin in vultures. *Chemosphere*, 144, 1536-43.
- Borges, C.A., Beraldo, L.G., Maluta, R.P., Cardozo, M.V., Guth, B.E.C., Rigobelo, E.C., & de Avila, F.A. (2012). Shiga toxigenic and atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in the Faeces and carcasses of slaughtered pigs. *Foodborne Pathogens and Disease*, 9(12), 1119-1125.
- Chen, W., & Kuo, T. (1993). A simple and rapid method for the preparation of Gram negative bacterial genomic DNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 21(9), 2260.
- CLSI, (2013). Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Twenty-Third informational Supplement (M100-S23). Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Pennsylvania, USA. pp: 72-81.

- Costa, D., Poeta, P., Sáenz, Y., Vinué, L., Coelho, A.C., Matos, M., & Torres, C. (2008). Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolates recovered from wild animals. *Microbial Drug Resistance*, 14(1), 71-77.
- Cunha, M.P., de Oliveira, M.G., de Oliveira, M.C., da Silva, K.C., Gomes, C.R., Moreno, A.M., & Knöbl, T. (2014). Virulence profiles, phylogenetic background, and antibiotic resistance of Escherichia coli isolated from turkeys with airs acculitis. *The Scientific World Journal*, 289024. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/289024
- Cuthbert, R., Green, R.E., Ranade, S., Saravanan, S., Pain, D.J., Prakash, V., & Cunningham, A.A. (2006). Rapid population declines of Egyptian vulture (*Neophron percnopterus*) and red-headed vulture (*Sarcogyps calvus*) in India. *Animal Conservation*, 9(3), 349–354.
- De Pontes, P.S., Coutinho, S.D.A., de Oliveira Iovine, R., Cunha, M.P.V., Knöbl, T., & de Carvalho, V.M. (2018). Survey on pathogenic *Escherichia coli* and Salmonella spp. in captive cockatiels (*Nymphicus hollandicus*). *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology, 49* Suppl(Suppl 1), 76-82.
- Edward, P.R., & Ewing, W.H. (1986). Identification of Enterobacteriaceae. (4th edn.), pp. 1-107. Elsevier Science Publishing Co. Inc., New York.
- Flammer, K. (2006). Antibiotic Drug Selection in Companion Birds. *Journal of Exotic Pet Medicine*, 15(3), 166-176.
- Fluckey, W.M., Loneragan, G.H., Warner, R., & Brashears, M.M. (2007). Antimicrobial Drug Resistance of Salmonella and Escherichia coli Isolates from Cattle Feces, Hides, and Carcasses. Journal of Food Protection, 70(3), 551–556.
- Ganguly, N.K., Arora N.K., Sujith, J.C., Mohamed, N.F., Gill, J.P.S., Gupta, U., Shah, H., Sadhna, J., Joshi, P.C., Kakkar, M., Kotwani, A., Rattan, A., Sudarshan, H., Kurien, T., Chand, W., Alice E., & Ramanan, L. (2011). Rationalizing antibiotic use to limit antibiotic resistance in India Indian Journal of Medical Research, 134(3), 281-294.
- Gyles, C.L. (2008). Antimicrobial resistance in selected bacteria from poultry. *Animal Health Research Reviews*, 9(2), 149-158.
- Horn, R.V., William, M., Cardoso, E., Lopes, S., Régis, S.C., Teixeira, Á. H., Albuquerque, R.C., Rocha-e-Silva, D.N., Machado, W., & Bezerra, G.A. (2015). Identification and antimicrobial resistance of members from the Enterobacteriaceae family isolated from canaries (Serinus canaria) *Pesquisa Veterinary Brasileira*, 35(6): 552-556.
- Hubalek, Z. (2004). An annotated checklist of pathogenic microorganisms. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, 40, 639– 659.

- Islam, S., Md, M.H.N., Md, A. S., Samina, I., Md, A.I., Saifur, R., Md Abdul, K., Hossam, M., and Md, Tanvir, R. (2021). Virulence Determinants and Multidrug Resistance of *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Migratory Birds. *Antibiotics*, 10:190.
- Kang, H.Y., Jeong, Y.S., Oh, J.Y., Tae, S.H., Choi, C.H., Moon, D.C., & Lee, J.C. (2004). Characterization of antimicrobial resistance and class 1 integrons found in *Escherichia coli* isolates from humans and animals in Korea. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*, 55(5): 639-644.
- Kabali, E., Pandey, G.S., Musso, M., Kapila, P., Mukubesa, A.N.,bNdebe, J., Muma, J.B., Mubita, C., Muleya, W., Elizabeth, M., ...et al (2021). Identification of *Escherichia coli* and Related Enterobacteriaceae and Examination of Their Phenotypic Antimicrobial Resistance Patterns: A Pilot Study at A Wildlife–Livestock Interface in Lusaka, Zambia. *Antibiotics*, 10, 238.
- Kaper, J.B., Nataro, J.P., & Mobley, H.L. (2004). Pathogenic Escherichia coli. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 2(2): 123.
- Kar, D., Bandyopadhyay, S., Bhattacharyya, D., Samanta, I., Mahanti, A., Nanda, P.K., & Bandyopadhyay, S. (2015). Molecular and phylogenetic characterization of multidrug resistant extended spectrum beta-lactamase producing *Escherichia coli* isolated from poultry and cattle in Odisha, India. *Infection Genetics and Evolution*, 29, 82-90.
- Kelsey, R.H., Scott, G.I., Porter, D.E., Thompson, B., & Webster, L. (2003). Using multiple antibiotic resistance and land use characteristics to determine sources of fecal coliform bacteria pollution. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 81, 337–348.
- Kibret, M., & Abera, B. (2011). Antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of *E. coli* from clinical sources in northeast Ethiopia. *African Health Sciences*, 11(1): 40-45.
- Khaled, A., Razik, E.I., Abdel, R., Youssef, F., Alaa, M., & Hazem, A. (2010). Direct identification of major pathogen of bubaline subclinical mastitis in Egypt using PCR. *American journal of Science*, 6(10), 652-660.
- Krumperman, P.H. (1983). Multiple antibiotic resistance indexing of *Escherichia coli* to identify high-risk sources of fecal contamination of foods. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 46, 165-170.
- Matin, M.A., Islam, M.A., & Khatun, M.M. (2017). Prevalence of colibacillosis in chickens in greater Mymensingh district of Bangladesh. *Veterinary world*, 10 (1): 29

- Miles, T.D., McLaughlin, W., & Brown, P.D. (2006). Antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolates from broiler chickens and humans. *BMC Veterinary Research*, 2(7):1-9.
- Quinn, P.J., Carter, M.E., Markey, B.K., & Carter, G.R. (1994). Wolfe Publishing, Mosby-Year Book Europe Ltd. Lynton House, 7-12. Tavistock Square, London WCH 9LB, England. *Clinical Veterinary Microbiology*.
- Saidi, B., Mafirakureva, P., & Mbanga, J. (2012). Antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolated from chickens with colibacillosis in and around Harare, Zimbabwe. *Avian diseases*, 57(1), 152-154.
- Salehi T.Z., Safarchi, A., Peighambari, S.M., Mahzounieh, M., & Rabbani Khorasgani, M. (2007). Detection of stx1, stx2, eae, espB and hly genes in avian pathogenic Escherichia coli by multiplex polymerase chain reaction. Journal of Veterinary Research, 62, 37-42.
- Salehi, T.Z., & Bonab, S.F. (2006). Antibiotics susceptibility pattern of *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from chickens with colisepticemia in Tabriz province, Iran. *International Journal of* Poultry *Science*, 5(7), 677-684.
- Sarker, Md. S., Md. Shahriar, M., Md. Younus, A., Md. Bayzid, A.A., & Zamila, B.B. (2019). Antibiotic resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolated from broilers sold at live bird markets in Chattogram, Bangladesh. *Journal of Advance Veterinary and Animal Research*, 6(3), 272–277.
- Sharada, R.S., & Thiyageeswaran, R.M. (2008). Antibiotic Resistance Pattern Of *Escherichia Coli* Isolated From Poultry In Bangalore. *The Internenational Journal of Microbiology*, 7(1).
- Shrestha, E.K., Dhakal, I.P., Sapkota, M., Manandhar, P., & Rijal, T.B. (2011). Antimicrobial resistance pattern of *Escherichia coli* isolates from chicken and human samples in Chitwan. *Nepalese Veterinary Journal*, 38.
- Simões, R.R., Poirel, L., Da Costa, P.M., & Nordmann, P. (2010). Seagulls and beaches as reservoirs for multidrugresistant *Escherichia coli*. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 16(1), 110.
- Szmolka, A., & Nagy, B. (2013). Multidrug resistant commensal *Escherichia coli* in animals and its impact for public health. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 4, 258.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Assessment of divergence among soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill] genotypes based on phenological and physiological traits.

Subhash Bijarania 🖂

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

Anil Pandey

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

Mainak Barman

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India. **Monika Shahani**

Department of Plant Breeding and Genetics, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

Gharsiram

Department of Agronomy, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 07 August 2021	A study was conducted to understand genetic divergence in Randomized
Revised : 15 November 2021	complete block design accommodating 30 soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merrill]
Accepted : 28 November 2021	genotypes randomly in three replications. These genotypes were evaluated for
	twenty-seven traits: five phenological, nine agro-morphological, eight
Available online: 11 February 2022	physiological traits (from field-trial) and five physiological traits (from
	laboratory experiment) recorded and subjected to PCA (Principal Component
Key Words:	Analysis) and cluster analysis. Among all the studied cultivars, significant
D ² -statistic	diversity, as well as analysis of dispersion, was recorded for different agro-
Randomized complete block design	morphological characters. D ² -statistic (Tocher method) framed (generalized
PCA	distance-based) nine clusters: largest with eight and five were oligo-genotypic.
Variability	Harvest index>seed yield per plant>germination relative index>seedling dry
	weight contributed maximum towards total divergence. From the most
	divergent clusters, 21 crosses involving cluster v genotypes (PS-1347, RKS-18,
	PS-1092, NRC-142, VLS-94, NRC-136, and Shalimar Soybean-1) with
	monogenotypic cluster VII (AMS-2014), VIII (RSC-11-15) and III (RSC-10-71)
	suggested for future hybridization. Out of eighteen, only eight principal
	components revealed more than 1.00 eigen value and exhibited about 85.03%
	variability among the traits studied. The highest variability (25.41%) by PC1
	followed by PC2 (15.60%), PC3 (12.35%), PC4 (10.13%), PC5 (7.20%), PC6
	(5.43%), PC7 (4.80%) and PC8 (4.11%) for characters under study.

Introduction

Soybean is the globally oldest cultured plant. Historical shreds of evidence indicate its use for over 5000 yrs by human. It dates back to 1000 AD when soybean was introduced from China to India. Soybean development programme of India was initiated in the 1960s and the expansion was exceptionally rapid between 1972 and 1984. Now, it has centers all across the country. This crop has a fairly wide range of adaptation involving a wide array of climatic, soil and growth conditions and is known for its highly valued protein and oil owing

to its use in food, feed and industrial applications (Kumar *et al.*, 2015). At present, soybean has acquired global importance, first ranked oilseed contributing 25% and 40% share in global and national level, respectively in oilseed production. Brazil, U.S.A and Argentina contribute 80% of the world's soybean production. India is the fourth largest country in the world following the United States of America, Brazil and Argentina regarding area but fifth regarding total production after China. In India, major soybean-producing states are

Madhya Pradesh, Maharashtra and Rajasthan whereas, Bihar is an emerging state for soybean cultivation. It recorded 15-20% annual growth in India. Since the early eighty's it has emerged very fast and in agriculture, edible oil economy, foreign exchange and upliftment of the social status of farmers, soybean played a vital role. According to the first advance estimate in 2019-20, India has an 11.398 million-hectare area, 13.505 million tonnes production and 1.190 tonnes per ha average yield at the national level. D^2 -Statistic using tocher method was extensively used by several breeders in many crops but more critically, Principal Component Analysis method for factor extraction using statistical analysis system (SAS,2011) using scree plot and rotated component matrix can help to identify and classify maximum variability into total variability and genotype grouping considering between their several trait and relationship. Genetic variability, as this provides a wider scope for selection, is the basic need for every crop improvement(Chandra et al., 2018). To incorporate useful diversity in breeding programme breeders required a better understanding of evolutionary relationships among accessions, to sample germplasm in a more systematic fashion and to develop strategies to incorporate useful diversity in their breeding programs (Yadav and Pandey, 2018).

Material and Methods

The experiment was carried out during Kharif, 2019 at the farm of Tirhut College of Agriculture, Dholi $(25.5^{\circ}N, 35.4^{\circ}S \text{ and } 52.2 \text{m MSL})$ in Muzaffarpur District (North Bihar) located in the eco-geographical region I Sub-region IV of Bihar. Thirty entries (including 3 checks) were sown in Randomized Complete Block Design. Each plot consisted of three rows of 3-meter length. The row to row and plant to plant distance was 45 cm and 5 cm, respectively. Trial laid out for 27 (22 field and 5 laboratory screening) morpho-physiological traits viz., germination relative index seedling length (cm), seedling dry weight (g), vigour index I, vigour index II, formation of flower tubercles (days), flower budding (days), first flowering (days), cessation of flower (days), physiological maturity (days), plant height (cm), main shoot length (cm), primary branches plant⁻¹, secondary branches plant⁻¹, no of clusters plant⁻¹, no of pods

cluster⁻¹, no of pods plant⁻¹, pod length (cm), no of seeds pod⁻¹, growing degree days (°c), specific leaf weight (g/cm²), leaf area index, 100-seed weight (g), harvest-index (%), dry matter efficiency, effective rainfall use efficiency, seed yield plant⁻¹ (g). Data for individual characters were observed replication-wise and mean data was used for statistical analyses.

Two methods of genetic divergence with D^2 statistic following tocher clustering and PCA were performed to assess the diversity. SAS software 2011 utilised to perform multivariate analysis for PCA.

Results and Discussion

Based on D^2 (Tocher) values (Table 1), the 30 genotypes were grouped into 9 clusters. Cluster I was polygenotypic with 8 genotypes followed by cluster II with 7 genotypes, cluster V with 7 genotypes, cluster IV with 3 genotypes, cluster III with 1 genotype, cluster VI with 1 genotype, cluster VII with 1 genotype, cluster VIII with 1 genotype and clusters IX with 1 genotype. In conformity to the present investigation, Tyagi and Sethi (2011) 6 clusters by evaluating 40 genotypes, Patil et al. (2011) 6 clusters by evaluating 36 genotypes, Pawar et al. (2013) 7 clusters by evaluating 42 genotypes and Adsul and Monpara (2014) 15 clusters by evaluating 100 genotypes of soybean, Mehbub et al. (2016) 5 clusters by evaluating 28 genotypes, Milli et al. (2017) 5 clusters by evaluating 27 genotypes.

Divergence analysis exhibited (Table 2, Fig 1) the maximum inter-cluster distance between clusters V and VII, followed by clusters V and VIII. Larger distance showing clusters are desirable for the breeders. The highest intra-cluster divergence was recorded for cluster V followed by IV. Similar findings have been reported by Tyagi and Sethi (2011) among total 6 clusters highest genetic divergence was observed between cluster II and IV, followed by clusters III and IV. Adsul and Monpara (2014) inter-cluster distance was highest between clusters XIII and XIV followed by clusters X and XII, XIII and XIV, III and XIV and XII and XIV, Pawar et al. (2013) among total 7 clusters, intra cluster distance is highest in cluster VI and lowest in cluster V whereas highest inter cluster distance was noticed between cluster III and VII and the

Cluster	No. of genotypes	Genotypes included
Ι	8	SL1074, JS9752(NC), JS9305, MACS1493, Pusa9712, SL688, SL955, JS-
		20-116
II	7	RSC1052, NRC132, NRC12, NRC137, RSC1103, NRC128, PS1572
Ш	1	RSC1071
IV	3	SL1028, JS335(NC), RSC11-7
V	7	PS1347, RKS18(NC), PS1092, NRC142, VLS94, NRC136, Shalimar
		soyl
VI	1	RSC-11-17
VII	1	AMS-2014
VIII	1	RSC-11-15
IX	1	NRCSL-1

lowest was between cluster I and II. Mehbub *et al.* (2016) highest intra cluster distance was found in Table 1: Distribution in different cluster based on D^2 statistic (Tocher method)

Fable 2: Mean intra and inter-cluster distances	(Toucher)	for soybean	Glycine max	(L.) Merril	I
--	-----------	-------------	-------------	-------------	---

Cluster	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII	IX
Ι	12.63	20.25	25.48	17.19	20.59	27.36	28.51	27.1	27.14
II		15.55	19.39	23.51	22.38	18.56	22.38	20.45	18.46
III			0	22.36	32.13	15.29	10.87	12.18	20.6
IV				15.63	28.2	26.57	24.53	23.45	28.51
V					16.65	29.92	35.33	33.75	29.06
VI						0	14.72	17.05	22.84
VII							0	13.58	26.14
VIII								0	19.49
IX									0



Figure 1: Clustering Pattern of 30 Genotypes of Soybean([Glycine max (L.) Merrill]) by Toucher method.

74 Environment Conservation Journal cluster V and the lowest in cluster IV whereas highest inter cluster distance was noticed between cluster II and IV followed by II and V, III and IV and the lowest between II and III, and Milli et al. (2017) among total 5 clusters highest inter cluster distance was found between cluster I and IV followed by I and V. The independent character contribution percentage (Table 3) was found maximum in 100-seed weight (g), followed by grain yield per plant (g), germination relative index, seedling dry weight, vigour index I, days to cessation, seedling length, harvest- index (%), specific leaf weight, effective rainfall use efficiency, days to physiological maturity, vigour index II, days to flower budding, pod length (cm), and seed per pod. The above results revealed that the highest percentage contribution towards genetic divergence was recorded by yield and yield attributing traits. In conformity to the present investigation Dhapke et al. (2011) for no. of branches per plant, Shadakshari et al (2011) for seed per pod and seed yield per plant, Adsul and Monpara (2014) for pods per plant revealed highest percentage contribution.

The cluster mean values (Table 4) of all the twentyseven characters were studied in the present investigation and found high for most of the yield and yield attributing traits in cluster I, cluster V, cluster VI, and cluster III. The overall conclusion of D^2 analysis revealed that the genotypic distribution into various clusters was at random and sufficient D^2 values among different clusters suggests that the genetic constitution of the promising entries in one cluster is in close proximity with the promising line in other clusters of the pair. A sufficient intracluster distance was also observed among the genotypes of different polygenotypic clusters. The genotypes of cluster V (PS1347, RKS18 (NC), PS1092, NRC142, VLS94, NRC136, Shalimar soy1) showing higher inter-cluster distance with cluster VII (AMS-2014) may be crossed to broaden the genetic base of soybean. Intra cluster distance has been found the highest of cluster V hence, the hybridization among the genotypes of cluster V may also result in transgressive recombinants.

PCA analyses provide superiority over D^2 statistics following the Tocher method as it offers an opportunity to compute the voluminous data and interpretation thereof. Loading of many traits on particular PCs reflects their comparative superiority and value thus provide criteria to a researcher for selecting genotype for genetic divergence through such measure axis of differentiation. In this investigation, out of eighteen, only 8 principal components (PCs) revealed more than 1.00 eigen value and exhibited about 85.03% variability among the traits studied (Table 5, Figure 2). A similar result was reported by Li *et al.* (2020) in which 3 principal componants with cumulative contribution of 84.4-87.6 % was found.

Rotated component matrix had shown that the first principal component (PC1) which accounted for the highest variation (25.41%) was mostly related to traits such as effective rainfall use efficiency, grain yield per plant, seedling length and vigour index I.

In PC2 (15.60%) the traits viz., days to tubercles formation, days to flower budding, days to first flowering and days to the cessation of flowering, PC3 (12.35%) was consisting of mainly three traits viz., no of pod per cluster, harvest index and dry matter efficiency, PC4 (10.13%) was related with seedling dry weight (g) and vigour index II, PC5 (7.20%) was related with no of primary branches and leaf area index, PC6 (5.43%) with specific leaf weight, while PC7 (4.80%) with no of pod per plant. Whereas, principal component 8 (4.11%) was more related with days to physiological maturity, no of secondary branches, no of cluster per plant and leaf area index (Table 5). Based on PCA, most of the important yield and yield attributing traits were present in PC1, PC2 and PC8. The top principal component scores (PC score) for all the traits and in 30 soybean genotypes, were estimated in these eight components and shown in table 6. To propose precise selection indices, these scores can be utilized whose intensity can be decided by variability explained by each principal component. For a particular genotype, a high PC score in a particular component indicates high values for the variables in that particular genotype. NRC-136 had the highest PC score followed by SL 955, MACS 1493, NRC 137, and NRC-128 in PC1 indicated that these genotypes possess high values of traits viz., effective rainfall use efficiency, grain yield per plant, seedling length and vigour index I. The highest PC score of AMS 2014 followed by NRC 128, RSC 11-17, RSC 11-15, RSC 1071, and NRC 132 in PC2 was mainly related to days to tubercles formation, days to flower budding, days first to

Bijarania *et al*.

					I	Mean of clust	ter				
	Character	Ι	II	Ш	IV	V	VI	VII	VIII	IX	Total mean
1	DT	29.00	31.19	31.00	28.89	28.86	35.00	30.67	33.00	33.33	31.22
2	DFB	38.17	39.19	41.67	36.56	35.29	40.67	41.33	39.00	37.67	38.84
3	DFF	42.58	44.71	46.33	43.11	41.57	43.67	46.33	46.67	41.67	44.07
4	DC	54.00	56.43	59.00	53.78	52.67	61.67	66.33	57.67	55.00	57.39
5	DPM	112.21	107.48	113.33	107.00	102.33	98.00	108.67	112.33	112.33	108.19
6	PH	66.83	68.05	81.00	59.56	59.05	49.33	74.33	69.00	78.33	67.28
7	MSL	50.42	63.81	81.00	46.44	47.29	57.00	63.33	69.00	50.33	58.74
8	PB	8.61	7.20	6.83	7.71	6.80	7.92	6.97	7.77	4.83	7.18
9	SB	3.87	3.35	3.44	3.37	3.19	3.84	2.74	2.49	3.42	3.30
10	C/P	29.20	25.90	24.72	24.76	24.29	21.15	31.33	28.77	21.69	25.76
11	P/C	3.01	2.90	3.13	3.13	3.42	3.40	3.07	3.13	3.13	3.15
12	P/P	83.09	74.32	82.69	74.95	80.86	62.76	91.15	81.13	69.12	77.79
13	PL	3.25	3.28	3.50	3.08	3.65	2.67	2.40	3.10	4.40	3.26
14	S/P	3.00	2.55	3.44	2.55	2.98	1.77	1.89	2.66	3.77	2.73
15	GDD	18.06	18.25	18.03	18.29	18.45	18.65	18.20	18.07	18.07	18.23
16	SLW	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02
17	LAI	8.98	6.32	4.97	6.82	5.76	5.30	5.15	6.82	5.50	6.18
18	SW	8.64	6.01	5.97	9.63	6.29	4.86	5.99	7.85	6.64	6.88
19	HI	39.57	36.33	47.93	36.77	43.47	48.67	35.72	48.60	29.27	40.70
20	DME	1.29	1.29	1.36	1.31	1.42	1.52	1.28	1.38	1.18	1.34
21	ERUE	2.15	1.92	1.64	1.53	1.89	1.24	1.90	2.15	1.46	1.76
22	GYPP	13.53	11.39	9.82	9.71	11.74	6.54	11.34	11.43	7.77	10.36
23	GER	91.71	87.10	89.33	84.67	86.19	87.67	81.33	81.33	62.67	83.56
24	SL	29.06	28.59	27.67	30.30	26.94	22.13	25.03	29.83	30.73	27.81
25	SDW	0.61	0.43	0.87	0.59	0.55	0.82	0.89	0.70	0.09	0.62
26	V1	2667.71	2497.47	2474.13	2609.03	2348.29	1955.93	2036.47	2425.40	1919.40	2325.98
27	V2	56.36	37.42	77.68	49.39	47.48	71.75	72.66	56.66	6.06	52.83

Table 3: Cluster mean for 27 morpho-physiological characters in soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merrill

SN	Character	Times ranked first	Contribution
1	DT	0	0.00%
2	DFB	3	0.69%
3	DFF	0	0.00%
4	DC	11	2.53%
5	DPM	5	1.15%
6	PH	0	0.00%
7	MSL	0	0.00%
8	PB	0	0.00%
9	SB	0	0.00%
10	C/P	0	0.00%
11	P/C	0	0.00%
12	P/P	0	0.00%
13	PL	2	0.46%
14	S/P	2	0.46%
15	GDD	0	0.00%
16	SLW	6	1.38%
17	LAI	0	0.00%
18	SW	129	29.66%
19	HI	8	1.84%
20	DME	0	0.00%
21	ERUE	6	1.38%
22	GYPP	99	22.76%
23	GER	63	14.48%
24	SL	9	2.07%
25	SDW	53	12.18%
26	V1	35	8.05%
27	V2	4	0.92%

Table 4: Independent character contribution towards total divergence of soybean [Glycine max]



⁷⁷ Environment Conservation Journal

$\begin{tabulative}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
Cumulative % 25.41 41.01 53.36 63.49 70.69 76.12 80.91 85.02 Traits Eigen vectors PC1 PC2 PC3 PC4 PC5 PC6 PC7 PC8 Days to tubercle formation -0.2661 0.6378 0.2316 -0.3423 -0.2589 -0.1266 -0.3271 0.0905 Days to flower 0.0446 0.8842 -0.0541 -0.0046 -0.1481 -0.1038 0.1356 0.2524 Days to first 0.1129 0.8962 -0.0959 -0.0148 -0.0879 0.1722 0.0498 -0.0106 Days to first 0.1238 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0999 -0.1123 Days to cessation -0.0053 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1601 -0.0672 0.9075 physiological maturity 0.3529 0.1329 -0.3680 0.2705 -0.6443 0.0723 0.1901 0.3522 Plant height (cm)
Traits Eigen vectors PC1 PC2 PC3 PC4 PC5 PC6 PC7 PC8 Days to tubercle -0.2661 0.6378 0.2316 -0.3423 -0.2589 -0.1266 -0.3271 0.0905 Days to flower 0.0446 0.8842 -0.0541 -0.0046 -0.1481 -0.1038 0.1356 0.2524 Days to first 0.1129 0.8962 -0.0959 -0.0148 -0.0879 0.1722 0.0498 -0.0106 Days to cessation -0.0053 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0099 -0.1123 Days to cessation 0.0230 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0099 -0.1123 Days to cessation 0.0232 0.1329 -0.3680 0.2705 -0.6443 0.0723 0.1901 0.3522 Plant height (cm) 0.2321 0.0992 0.1938 0.2205 0.6326 -0.0930 0.0889 0.4501 No. of Secondary
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
Days to tubercle formation -0.2661 0.6378 0.2316 -0.3423 -0.2589 -0.1266 -0.3271 0.0905 Days to flower budding 0.0446 0.8842 -0.0541 -0.0046 -0.1481 -0.1038 0.1356 0.2524 Days to first 0.1129 0.8962 -0.0959 -0.0148 -0.0879 0.1722 0.0498 -0.0106 Days to cessation -0.0053 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0099 -0.1123 Days to cessation -0.0053 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0099 -0.1123 Days to cessation -0.0352 0.1329 -0.3680 0.2705 -0.6443 0.0723 0.1901 0.3522 Main shoot length 0.2138 0.4967 -0.177 0.2097 -0.7060 -0.0122 -0.0192 0.0621 Vo. of Secondary 0.1096 -0.0383 0.1690 -0.0500 0.1265 -0.4173 0.1042 0.6741 Dranches
formation
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
budding 0.1129 0.8962 -0.0959 -0.0148 -0.0879 0.1722 0.0498 -0.0106 Days to cessation -0.0053 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0099 -0.1123 Days to cessation -0.2436 0.1062 -0.1451 -0.0577 -0.0115 0.0671 -0.0672 0.9075 physiological maturity 0.3529 0.1329 -0.3680 0.2705 -0.6443 0.0723 0.1901 0.3522 Main shoot length 0.2138 0.4967 -0.1777 0.2097 -0.7060 -0.0122 -0.0192 0.0621 (cm) 0.3521 0.0992 0.1938 0.2205 0.6326 -0.0930 0.0889 0.4501 branches 0.1096 -0.0383 0.1690 -0.0500 0.1265 -0.4173 0.1042 0.6741 branches 0.4755 0.3682 -0.0176 -0.1320 0.2244 -0.1687 0.2415 0.5237 plant 0.4755 0
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
Interventing -0.0053 0.8783 0.0906 -0.0133 0.0473 0.1660 -0.0099 -0.1123 Days to 0.2436 0.1062 -0.1451 -0.0577 -0.0115 0.0671 -0.0672 0.9075 physiological maturity -0.3529 0.1329 -0.3680 0.2705 -0.6443 0.0723 0.1901 0.3522 Main shoot length 0.2138 0.4967 -0.1777 0.2097 -0.7060 -0.0122 -0.0192 0.0621 (cm) 0.3221 0.0992 0.1938 0.2205 0.6326 -0.0930 0.0889 0.4501 No. of Primary 0.3221 0.0992 0.1938 0.2205 0.6326 -0.0930 0.0889 0.4501 No. of Secondary 0.1096 -0.0383 0.1690 -0.0500 0.1265 -0.4173 0.1042 0.6741 Stanches 0.0220 -0.1781 0.6186 0.2071 -0.1515 0.4090 -0.1096 cluster 0.0970 -
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
physiological maturity number of the sign of the s
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
No. of Primary branches 0.3221 0.0992 0.1938 0.2205 0.6326 -0.0930 0.0889 0.4501 No. of Secondary branches 0.1096 -0.0383 0.1690 -0.0500 0.1265 -0.4173 0.1042 0.6741 No of Cluster per plant 0.4755 0.3682 -0.0176 -0.1320 0.2244 -0.1687 0.2415 0.5237 No of Pod per cluster 0.0220 -0.1781 0.6186 0.0586 0.2071 -0.1515 0.4090 -0.1096 No of Pod per plant 0.0955 0.1724 0.0227 0.2176 -0.1321 0.5481 0.2692 No of Sed per pod -0.0664 -0.4523 0.0643 -0.4017 0.0089 0.4023 0.0269 0.4976 Pod length (cm) pod -0.2647 -0.0981 0.1613 0.0581 0.0240 -0.0628 0.0664 -0.8983 Growing weight(g/cm ²)leaf -0.2684 -0.1580 -0.1158 0.1071 0.5587 -0.1470 0.0259 0.5746 I00-Seed
Initial branches 0.0211 0.0312 0.0312 0.0210 0.0321 0.0421 0.0321 0.0412 0.0411 0.0511 0.1042 0.0511 0.0121 0.1613 0.0211 0.1613 0.0211 0.01211 0.1613 0.0211 0.0211 0.1613 0.0211 0.02115 0.01321 0.0563 0.0241 0.0234 0.0194 uster 0.0664 -0.0981 <td< td=""></td<>
No. of Secondary branches 0.1096 -0.0383 0.1690 -0.0500 0.1265 -0.4173 0.1042 0.6741 No of Cluster per plant 0.4755 0.3682 -0.0176 -0.1320 0.2244 -0.1687 0.2415 0.5237 No of Pod per cluster 0.0220 -0.1781 0.6186 0.0586 0.2071 -0.1515 0.4090 -0.1096 No of Pod per plant 0.4839 0.0955 0.1724 0.0227 0.2176 -0.1321 0.5481 0.2692 No of Seed per pod -0.0664 -0.4523 0.0643 -0.4017 0.0089 0.4023 0.0269 0.4976 No of Seed per pod -0.2647 -0.0981 0.1613 0.0581 0.0240 -0.6628 0.0664 -0.8983 Growing degree days(⁰ c) -0.0982 0.1227 0.0232 0.1000 -0.0563 0.9214 0.0234 0.0194 weight(g/cm ²) -0.1580 -0.1158 0.1071 0.5587 -0.1470 0.0559 0.5746 100-Seed weight(g) 0.2684 -0.3080 -0.1540 0.1322 0.4944 0.2739 -0.0030 0.4847 Harvest index 0.0828 0.0478 0.9526 0.0813 0.0563 0.0569 -0.0567 0.0209 Drymatter -0.1142 -0.0370 0.7815 0.1133 0.0600 -0.0100 0.0015 -0.5594
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
NoofPodper 0.4839 0.0955 0.1724 0.0227 0.2176 -0.1321 0.5481 0.2692 Pod length (cm) -0.0970 -0.5031 0.1026 -0.4294 -0.5061 0.2319 0.1372 -0.1260 NoofSeedper 0.0664 -0.4523 0.0643 -0.4017 0.0089 0.4023 0.0269 0.4976 PodGrowingdegree -0.2647 -0.0981 0.1613 0.0581 0.0240 -0.0628 0.0664 -0.8983 Growing degree -0.2647 -0.0981 0.1613 0.0581 0.0240 -0.0628 0.0664 -0.8983 geneticleaf -0.0982 0.1227 0.0232 0.1000 -0.0563 0.9214 0.0234 0.0194 weight(g/cm ²) 0.2198 -0.1580 -0.1158 0.1071 0.5587 -0.1470 0.0559 0.5746 100-Seed 0.2684 -0.3080 -0.1540 0.1322 0.4944 0.2739 -0.0030 0.4847 weight(g)Harvest index 0.0828 0.0478 0.9526 0.0813 0.0563 0.0569 -0.0567 0.0209 Drymatter -0.1142 -0.0370 0.7815 0.1133 0.0600 -0.0100 0.0015 -0.5594
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
NoofSeedper 0.0664 -0.4523 0.0643 -0.4017 0.0089 0.4023 0.0269 0.4976 podGrowingdegree -0.2647 -0.0981 0.1613 0.0581 0.0240 -0.0628 0.0664 -0.8983 days(^{0}c)Specificleaf -0.0982 0.1227 0.0232 0.1000 -0.0563 0.9214 0.0234 0.0194 Weight(g/cm ²) 0.2198 -0.1580 -0.1158 0.1071 0.5587 -0.1470 0.0559 0.5746 100-Seed 0.2684 -0.3080 -0.1540 0.1322 0.4944 0.2739 -0.0030 0.4847 weight(g)Harvest index 0.0828 0.0478 0.9526 0.0813 0.0563 0.0569 -0.0567 0.0209 Drymatter -0.1142 -0.0370 0.7815 0.1133 0.0600 -0.0100 0.0015 -0.5594
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
Leaf area index 0.2198 -0.1580 -0.1158 0.1071 0.5587 -0.1470 0.0559 0.5746 100-Seed 0.2684 -0.3080 -0.1540 0.1322 0.4944 0.2739 -0.0030 0.4847 weight(g)
100-Seed weight(g) 0.2684 -0.3080 -0.1540 0.1322 0.4944 0.2739 -0.0030 0.4847 Harvest index 0.0828 0.0478 0.9526 0.0813 0.0563 0.0569 -0.0567 0.0209 Dry matter -0.1142 -0.0370 0.7815 0.1133 0.0600 -0.0100 0.0015 -0.5594
weight(g) weight(g) <thweight(g)< th=""> <thweight(g)< th=""> <thw< td=""></thw<></thweight(g)<></thweight(g)<>
Harvest index 0.0828 0.0478 0.9526 0.0813 0.0563 0.0569 -0.0567 0.0209 Dry matter -0.1142 -0.0370 0.7815 0.1133 0.0600 -0.0100 0.0015 -0.5594
Dry matter -0.1142 -0.0370 0.7815 0.1133 0.0600 -0.0100 0.0015 -0.5594
efficiency
Effective rainfall 0.8629 0.0836 0.2453 0.0795 0.0119 -0.0999 0.0914 0.2140
use
efficiency(kg/ha)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
planugy 0.2527 0.0097 0.2400 0.2242 0.1100 0.1414
Germination 0.5527 -0.0987 0.0902 0.2406 0.2242 -0.1166 -0.7138 0.1414
Seedling 0.8494 0.0262 _0.2768 0.0061 _0.1107 0.0655 _0.0722 0.1746
lenoth(cm)
Seedling dry 0.0550 -0.0121 0.0828 0.9715 -0.0202 0.0594 0.0204 -0.0825
weight(g)
Vigour index I 0.8671 -0.0239 -0.2042 0.1153 -0.0081 0.0045 -0.3109 0.1801
Vigour index II 0.1096 -0.0532 0.0810 0.9629 -0.0151 0.0409 -0.1047 -0.0270

Figure 2: 3D Diagram of 30 Genotype of Soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill] Table 5: Principal components (PCs) for twenty- seven traits of soybean

flowering and days to cessation which are mainly yield attributing traits. The highest PC score was obtained by NRC-136 followed by PS-1092, Shalimar soy 1, RSC 11-17 and RSC 1028 in PC3 for characters namely no of pod per cluster, harvest index and dry matter efficiency. PC scores in PC4 were recorded the highest value for characters *viz.*, seedling dry weight and vigour index II by the genotypes NRC 142, JS 20-116, AMS 2014, RSC 1071, SL 688, NRC 137 and JS 97-52. PC scores in PC5 were recorded the highest value for characters *viz.*, no of primary branches and leaf area index by the genotypes Pusa 9712, SL 955, SL 1028, SL 688 and RSC 1103.

PC scores in PC6 were recorded the highest value for characters *viz.*, specific leaf weight by the genotypes RSC 1071, PS 1572, Pusa 9712, NRCSL 1, VLS-94, NRC-128 and RSC 11-15. PC scores in PC7 were recorded the highest value for characters viz., no of pods per plant by the genotypes VLS-94, Shalimar Soy 1, NRC 12, NRC-136, AMS-2014, NRCSL 1 and SL-688. However, SL 1074, SL 688, Pusa 9712, RSC 1071, and PS 1092 had the highest PC scores in PC8 for Days to physiological maturity, no of secondary branches, cluster per plant and leaf area index. Genotypes were categorized in table 6, based on top PC scores.

Table 6: Scoring of soybean genotypes in eight principal components

Genotypes	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8
SL 1074	-1.0165	-0.1880	0.2491	0.2720	0.6430	-0.4156	-0.2631	1.6818
SL 1028	-0.2779	-0.0701	-1.3125	0.2121	1.5167	0.0003	-0.0241	0.6918
SL 955	2.0295	-0.0299	0.1256	-0.6855	1.5761	-0.1709	-0.0383	0.9771
SL 688	-0.5252	-1.2065	-0.0477	1.1265	1.1750	-0.6176	1.0367	1.6628
Pusa 9712	-0.2577	-0.2231	0.0382	-1.1184	1.7326	1.3082	0.1873	1.1986
JS 9305	-0.4307	0.4301	0.3569	0.7799	0.5665	-0.9888	0.1384	0.9597
Shalimar soy-1	-0.5386	-0.1519	1.6398	-1.6697	0.3798	-0.6765	1.7271	-0.9756
RSC 1103	-1.4011	0.6380	0.4291	-0.6933	1.0267	0.0879	-1.5027	-1.6552
RSC 11-7	-0.6358	-0.1413	0.2214	0.3978	0.4754	0.9444	0.5336	-1.8975
RSC 11-17	-1.5785	1.5325	1.6131	0.9997	0.2313	-1.2243	-1.3299	-0.7703
RSC 11-15	0.1194	1.2644	0.8263	0.3095	-0.3156	1.0033	-0.0106	0.3813
RSC 1052	-0.5068	0.6820	-0.6745	-1.2075	-0.4069	-1.0325	0.3223	0.6122
RSC 1071	-0.4851	1.0761	1.2838	1.2152	-1.7708	2.5826	-0.0302	1.1952
NRC-128	1.0813	1.5515	-0.1055	-0.3493	-0.3447	1.0380	-0.3003	0.0851
NRC-132	0.1173	1.0335	-0.9533	-1.1904	0.5436	-1.6171	-0.8503	0.1501
NRC-136	2.5750	0.0436	1.9839	0.2282	0.4257	-0.7772	1.2502	-1.1396
NRC-137	1.6481	0.1016	-0.1948	1.0500	-1.5055	-1.2734	0.2157	0.4126
NRC-142	-0.3064	-1.8892	-0.7151	1.8299	-0.5170	-0.3892	0.3614	-1.2501
PS-1572	0.6484	-0.2509	-0.7272	-0.4363	0.0364	1.5873	-1.8968	-0.9442
PS-1347	0.3567	-1.1244	0.5780	-0.3904	-0.9138	0.1688	-0.9157	-0.8856
PS-1092	0.0080	-1.5387	1.8551	-0.9565	-1.5747	-0.9565	-1.0929	1.1913
MACS-1493	1.9521	0.5562	-0.8199	-0.7095	-0.5305	0.3415	0.6221	-0.4560
NRC-12	-1.1920	0.6645	-1.3545	-0.1695	-1.7678	-1.2718	1.5325	-0.1963
NRCSL-1	-1.0192	-0.6597	-0.8483	-2.0932	-1.7998	1.1725	1.1339	0.7641
VLS-94	-0.7346	-1.7164	0.4631	0.4497	0.8773	1.1575	1.8447	-1.0094
AMS-2014	-0.2942	2.3342	-0.7455	1.2486	0.3710	0.1373	1.2284	-0.4065
JS-20-116	0.5063	-0.6136	-1.8889	1.6107	-0.5537	-0.2157	-0.7287	-0.4148
JS-335(NC)	0.4171	-0.6028	-1.1446	0.0494	0.8951	0.8210	-0.5476	0.3826
JS-97-52(NC)	0.0372	-0.9071	0.6979	1.0054	-0.2030	-0.0910	-1.4804	0.8840
RKS-18(NC)	-0.2963	-0.5946	-0.8289	-1.1151	-0.2686	-0.6325	-1.1229	-1.2291

	Construe		РСА			Tocher		CVPP
SN	& Pedigree	Desirable <i>per se</i> * for Traits	РС	% Variability	Traits	Cluster (O/P)	Traits	per se (g)
1	NRC-136 (JS 97-52 X NRC-36)	<u>GYPP, DPM, P/C, P/P, HI,</u> DME, ERUE	PC1, PC3, PC7	25.41 12.35 4.80	ERUE, GYPP, SL, V1, P/C, HI, DME P/P	V (P)	Early DT, DFB(E), DFF(E), DC(E); more P/C ,	21.00**
2	SL-955 (SL599 X PK1283)	<u>GYPP, PB,</u> SB, C/P, <u>LAI, ERUE, SL, V1</u>	PC1, PC5	25.41 7.20	<u>ERUE, GYPP,</u> SL, <u>V1</u> PB <u>, LAI</u>	I (P)	More PB, SB, <u>LAI</u> , <u>ERUE, GYPP</u> , GER, <u>V1</u>	20.17**
3	NRC-128 (JS 97-52 X PBM-1-1-9-2-6-1)	PH, MSL	PC1, PC2, PC6	25.41 15.60 5.43	ERUE, GYPP, SL, V1 DT, DFB, DFF, DC SLW	II (P)	High GER Medium DPM	15.46 (at par)
4	RSC-10-71 (BRAGG X JS 335)	PH, MSL, S/P, <u>SLW</u>	PC2, PC3, PC4, PC6, PC8	15.60 12.35 10.13 5.43 4.11	DT, DFB, DFF, DC P/C, HI, DME SDW, <u>V2</u> <u>SLW</u> DPM, SB, C/P, LAI	III (O)	PH & MLS (tall) more <u>SLW,</u> high <u>V2</u>	9.82
5	SL-688 (PK 416 X SL 317	P/C, P/P, <u>LAI,</u> SL, V1	PC4, PC5, PC7, PC8	10.13 7.20 4.80 4.11	SDW, V2 PB, LAI P/P DPM, <u>SB,</u> C/P, <u>LAI</u>	I (P)	More PB, <u>SB, LAI,</u> ERUE, GYPP, GER, V1	11.70 (at par)
6	ShalimarSoybean-1(SelectionfromlocallandracegenotypeAGR/538)	DPM(E), C/P, <u>P/P,</u> PL, GDD, <u>DME</u>	PC3, PC7	12.35 4.80	<u>P/C,</u> HI, DME P/P	V (P)	Early DT, DFB(E), DFF(E), DC(E); <u>more</u> <u>P/C</u>	7.19
7	RSC-11-17 (JS 97-52 X JS 93-05)	DPM(E) <u>, P/C, </u> GDD, <u>DME</u>	PC2, PC3	15.60 12.35	DT, DFB, DFF, DC P/C, <u>HI, DME</u>	VI (0)	PH (dwarf), SW (low), high HI, & DME	6.54
8	RSC-11-15 (JS 335 X PS 1024)	MSL	PC2, PC6	15.60 5.43	DT, DFB <u>, DFF</u> , DC SLW	VIII (O)	<u>Late DFF.</u> High HI	11.43 (at par)
9	AMS-2014 (AMS 99-33 X H6P5)	DPM(E), PH, MSL, C/P	PC2, PC7	15.60 4.80	DT, DFB, DFF, DC <u>P/P</u>	VII (O)	More C/P & <u>P/P</u> , high SD W	11.34 (at par)
10	Pusa -9712 (Mutant Of DS-74)	<u>C/P,</u> S/P <u>, LAI</u>	PC6, PC8	5.43 4.11	SLW DPM, <u>SB,</u> C/P, <u>LAI</u>	I (P)	More PB, <u>SB, LAI,</u> ERUE, GYPP, GER, V1	10.32 (at par)
NC	JS-97-52 (NC) (PK327XL129)	GYPP, <u>SDW, V2</u> , PB, LAI, ERUE, GER(High)	PC4	10.13	SDW, V2	I (P)	More PB, SB, LAI, ERUE, GYPP, GER, V1	13.90 ± 3.68 CD (5%)

Table 7: Genotypes based on overall superiority in divergence and *per se* performance for yield and morpho-physiological traits in soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merrill].

Tochers method resulted in nine clusters; I Maximum intra-cluster distance (7genotypes in i cluster V) depicting diversity within cluster, which (might be attributed to their pedigree. Maximum inter-cluster distance between V-VII followed by a V-VIII and V-III; suggested that seven above prementioned genotypes of cluster V were distant and diverse to oligo-genotypic clusters VII, VIII and III prewith unique genotypes. Genetic divergence and geographical distribution were incomparable mainly due to the free sharing of breeding lines. It

was very clear that genotypes from one and

different geographic regions are grouped together. Harvest- index (%) > grain yield per plant (g) > germination relative index > seedling dry weight explaining 71 % of the total divergence were most important contributor traits. Genotypes RS-11-17, SL-1074, JS-97-52, JS 93-05, MACS-1493, Pusa-97-12, SL-688, SL-955 and JS-20-116 and AMS-2014 were found desirable for above mentioned traits. Eight Principal Components explaining 85.02 per cent cumulative (Spatial distance-based) variability was obtained in Principal component analysis (PCA). Yield (GYPP) related best genotype was NRC-136 (In PC1, PC3 and PC7) followed by SL-955 (PC1 and PC5); NRC-128 (PC1, PC2 and PC6). For phenol-agro-morphophysiological traits best source was RSC-10-71(PC2, PC3, PC4, PC6 and PC8) along with SL-688 (PC4, PC5, PC7 and PC8); Shalimar Soybean-1 (PC3, PC7); RSC-11-17 (PC2 and PC3); RSC-11-15 (PC2 and PC6), and AMS-2014 (PC2, PC7). NRC-136, Shalimar Soybean-1(common in PCA and Cluster V: Tocher) RSC-10-71(common in

References

- Adsul, H. R. and Monpara, B. A. (2014). Genetic divergence analysis in indigenously developed Indian soybean (Glycine max L. Merrill) germplasm. *Genetika*, 46(2): 401-409.
- Chandra, K., Pandey, A. and Mishra, S. B. (2018). Genetic diversity analysis among Indian mustard [Brassica juncea (L.) Czern and Coss] genotype under rainfed condition. *International Journal of current Microbiology* and Applied sciences, 7: 256-268.
- Chandra, K., Anil, P. and Mishra, S. B. (2018). Principal Component Analysis of Indian mustard genotypes for morpho-physiological traits under rainfed condition. *Green Farming*, 9(3): 404-408.

PCA and Cluster III: Tocher), RSC-11-15(common in PCA and Cluster VIII: Tocher) and AMS-2014 (common in PCA and Cluster VII: Tocher) along with SL-955 (PC1 and PC5), NRC-128 (PC1, PC2 and PC6), Pusa -9712 (PC5, PC6 and PC8) may prove their merit as diverse parents for pheno-agromorpho-physiological traits (table 7). Their pedigree: NRC-136 (JS-97-52 X NRC-36) and Shalimar soybean-1 (selection from Local Landrace genotype AGR/538)]; RSC-1071(Bragg X JS-335); RSC-11-15(JS-335 X PS-1074); AMS-2014 (AMS-99-33X H6P5); SL-955(SL-599X PK-1283); NRC-128 (JS-97-52 X PBM-1-1-9-2-6-1) and Pusa-9712 (Mutant of DS-4) is quite diverse as they involved Local Landrace genotype (AGR/538) / EC: Bragg /Strain: H6P5/ Line: PBM-1-1-9-2-6-1 as parent as well as mutant derivative (table 7).

Conclusion

Crosses may be attempted in future between such diverse parents could through useful transgressive segregants for yield and component traits related to earliness in flowering and maturity, seedling growth and vigour, effective rainfall use efficiency, germination, branching, pod, leaf parameters toward redesigning, for various purposes (for yield, earliness, effective rainfall use efficiency, germination, growth and vigour) the soybean plant types.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Dhapke, S. K., Patil. S. P. and Wankhade, R. S. (2011). Studies on genetic diversity in elite soybean genotypes. *Crop Research Journal*, 42(1/2/3): 255-258.
- Jeffers JNR. (1967). Two case studies in the application of its principal component analysis. *Journal of Applied Statistics*, 16: 225-236.
- Kumar, A., Pandey, A. and Pattanayak, A. (2015). Assessment of genotypic variation in soybean (Glycine max). *Legume Research-An International Journal*, *38*(2): 174-177.
- Li M, Liu Y, Wang C, Yang X, Li D, Zhang X, Xu C, Zhang Y, Li W and Zhao L (2020) Identification of Traits Contributing to High and Stable Yields in Different

Soybean Varieties Across Three Chinese Latitudes. Front. Plant Science, 10:1642.

- Mahbub, M. M., Rahman, M. M., Hossain, M. S., Nahar, L. and Shirazy, B. J. (2016). Morphophysiological variation in
- Mahbub, M. M. and Shirazy, B. J. (2016). Evaluation of genetic diversity in different genotypes of soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merrill). *American Journal of Plant Biology*, 1(1): 24-29.
- Mili, K. N., Shirazy, B. J. and Mahbub, M. M. (2017). Evaluation of Genetic Diversity in Soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merrill) Genotypes Based on Agronomic Traits. *Scientia*, 20(3): 92-98.
- Patil, S. S., Naik, M. R., Patil, P. P., & Shinde, D. A. (2011). Genetic variability, correlation and path analysis in soybean. Legume Research-An International Journal, 34(1): 36-40.
- Pawar K. K., Yadav S. K., Jarman M. and Singh A. K. (2013). Assessment of Divergence in Soybean (Glycine Max L.

soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merrill). *American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences*, 16(2): 234-238.

Merrill) Germplasm for Yield Attributing Traits., International Journal of Scientific Research, 2: 27-33.

- Shadakshari, T. V., Kalaimagal, T., Senthil, N., Boranayaka, M. B.,Kambegowda, R. and Rajesha, G. (2011). Genetic diversity studies in soybean [Glycine max (L.) Merrill] based on morphological characters. *Asian Journal of Biological Sciences*, 6(1): 7-11.
- Yadav, S. and Pandey, A. (2018). Multivariate analysis approach to select parents for hybridization aiming at yield improvement in Indian mustard (Brassica juncea L.) genotypes. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 7(5): 2132-2138.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Evaluating anti-microbial and anti-oxidative potential of red biopigment from *Monascus purpureus*

Vishu Chaudhary 🖂

Department of Microbiology, College of Basic Sciences and Humanities, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India. Priva Katval

Priya Katyal

Department of Microbiology, College of Basic Sciences and Humanities, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India.

Harsh Panwar

Department of Dairy Microbiology, College of Dairy Science and Technology, Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Sciences University Ludhiana-Punjab, India.

Anil Kumar Puniya

Department of Dairy Microbiology, ICAR-National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India.

Anuj Kumar Poonia

Department of Applied Sciences and Biotechnology, School of Biotechnology, Shoolini University, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 30 August 2021	In the present study, Monascus red biopigment produced by solid-state
Revised : 23 September 2021	fermentation was evaluated for its anti-microbial and antioxidative potential.
Accepted : 30 Sptember 2021	The antibacterial activity through Scanning Electron Microscopy against
	Bacillus cereus, Escherichia coli, and Staphylococcus aureus was found to show
Published online: 31 January 2022	morphological damage in some cells, as evidenced by the outflow of cell
	contents, deep craters, burst cells, and cell death at concentration of 200 µg/ml
Key Words:	of biopigment. Moreover, antibacterial activity through agar well diffusion
Antimicrobial	method against Bacillus cereus, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumonia
Antioxidative	and Pseudomonas aeruginosa was in range of 2-6 mm by varying concentration
Food colorants	of biopigment from 1 to 20 mg/ml.Next, the antifungal activity of the extracted
Monascus purpureus	biopigment was in the range of 2-9 mm for Aspergillus flavus, Fusarium
Red biopigment	oxysporum and Alternaria alternata. In addition, antioxidant efficacy of red
	biopigment through DPPH, ABTS and FRAP assay results was found to show
	59.69 %, 91.1 %, and 15.22 % free radical scavenging activity. The results of
	this study revealed that red biopigment has potential to modulate the
	antimicrodiai and antioxidative activity.

Introduction

food "natural" The colorants, based on biopigments, are highly preferable over present day used "synthetic" chemical colors, which are generally "toxic" in nature and may cause various allergic and intolerance reactions (Weiss, 2012; Tkaczyk et al., 2020). On contrary, "natural" biopigments serve additional health benefits with a number of anti-cancers, anti-microbial and therapeutic properties (Park and Kim 2011; Lin et al., 2019). The biopigments are derived from plants and microorganisms such as Monascus purpureus (M. purpureus) and Rhodotorula etc. (Marova et al., 2012; Vendruscolo et al., 2016), among which, M. purpureus, a filamentous fungus, is highly versatile and produces several bioactive secondary

metabolites of polyketide origin, such as mixture of three (orange, yellow and red) biopigments, monacolins K (Lovastatin) etc. (Chen *et al.*, 2015; Chen *et al.*, 2017). The biopigment is commonly produced by fermentation method with both solidstate and submerged cultivation, among which, solid state fermentation (SSF) offers high yield of biopigment due to the use of solid substrate, generally agricultural products, for release of biopigment (Thomas *et al.*, 2013). On contrary, the biopigments in submerged cultivation are mainly retained intracellularly, which impedes further development and evolution of biopigment (Velmurugan *et al.*, 2011). Among two, the red biopigment is of high demand in food industry due synthetic nitrites colorants (Yu et al., 2015).

Monascus spp naturally produces other secondary metabolites, chemical constituents (monascin, monascopyridines, monapurpyridines A, monacolin) and phytochemical such as flavonoids, polyphenols, terpenoids in significant quantities (Wild et al., 2002; Hsu et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2013; Ji et al., 2018). Additionally, polyphenolic components of higher fungi like M. purpureus. etc. alongside oxidative loss protected through preventing or reducing free radicals as well as reactive oxygen species in vitro. Molecules like flavonoids, phenolics, phenylpropanoids in addition strongly polymerized molecules (i.e. tannins) and acetate accumulate naturally end products through shikimate pathways, signifying the extensively antioxidant activity in a generally distributed subgroup and can be applied in the food, health, and cosmetics industries (Smith et al., 2015; Tan et al., 2018). These pigments and chemical components are secondary metabolites with a common skeleton of azaphilone might be having antimicrobial and antioxidative activity (Chen et al., 2017; Patakova et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2019).

Keeping in view of the importance of Monascus pigments and their associated biochemical activities, the current study was aimed to reveal the antimicrobial (antibacterial and antifungal) potential including anti-oxidative activity of biopigment. In this manuscript the effect of red Monascus biopigment was evaluated on bacterial pathogens through scanning electron microscopy and agar well assay including fungal pathogens through agar well asasay. Next, the antioxidative effect of Monascus red biopigment was evaluated through DPPH, ABTS and FRAP assay. The current study specifies the antimicrobial and antioxidative effect of Monascus red biopigment.

Material and Methods

The red biopigment was produced at a pilot-scale using tray-type fermenter from *M. purpureus* (MTCC-369) using broken rice as substrate through solid-state fermentation. Subsequently, red biopigment from was extracted Monascus fermented biomass through static extraction method (Roy, 1967) with 60% ethanol at 60°C for 80 min at 10,000 rpm. The extracted red biopigment was

to its extensive use in meat products to replace collected and stored in refrigerated conditions (-20°C) till further analysis.

> Antibacterial activities: Antibacterial activity of red biopigment against various bacterial pathogens **Bacillus** MTCC such as cereus 1272, Staphylococcus aureus MTCC 96, Streptococcus mutans MTCC 890, Listeria monocytogenes MTCC 1143, Klebsiella pneumoniae MTCC 109, Proteus mirabilis MTCC 425, Pseudomonas aeruginosa MTCC 741. Salmonella typhi MTCC 733. Shigella flexneri MTCC 1457 and Escherichia coli MTCC 723 was determined using agar well diffusion assay and scanning electron microscopy. The bacterial cultures were revived on Brain Heart Infusion broth incubated at 37°C for 24 hrs. The stock cultures were preserved at 4°C in a refrigerator and subcultured every three weeks.

> Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM): The overnight grown bacterial cultures of B. cereus, E. coli, and S. aureus was used to perform the SEM for antibacterial evaluation as described previously (Chen et al., 2018). The reaction mixture of red biopigment was prepared by mixing 1 mg/ml with DMSO. For the antibacterial assay, 2 ml microcentrifuge tubes were taken and the reaction mixture was prepared by adding 200 µg of 1 mg/ml red biopigment mixed each tube along with 100 µl of the bacterial culture. After mixing the reaction mixture make the final volume was 1.5 ml with BHI broth. BHI broth as such served as a negative control whereas BHI broth with culture instead worked as a positive control. The mixture was vortexed and incubated at 37°C for 96 hrs. After incubation bacterial cells were harvested at 8000 rpm for 10 min. Cell pellets were washed 3 times with phosphate buffer saline (10 mM PBS), after washing cells were re-suspended in normal saline and made smear on a glass coverslip. Briefly, cells were fixed with 3 % glutaraldehyde buffered with 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.2) at 4°C for 24 hrs. After fixation, cells were washed for 3x10 min in 0.1 M phosphate buffer and Post-fixation, with 2 % osmium tetroxide (in 0.1 M phosphate buffer pH =7.2) for 4 hrs at room temp in a light-tight container. The samples were then washed in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (3×10 min.) and dehydration was done with a graded ethanol solutions in water -30%, 50 %, 70 %, 80 %, 90 %, 96 %, 100 % for 5-15 min each; 2 x 100 % ethanol for 15-30 min each. The treated samples were dried in a desiccator and

metal coated by an ion spray instrument (MSP-2S, IXRF, USA) followed by analysis using S-3400 scanning electron microscopy carried out at Electron Microscopy Centre of Dairy Microbiology Division, ICAR-NDRI Karnal, Haryana.

Agar well diffusion assay: The overnight grown bacterial cultures of B. cereus, S. aureus, S. mutans, L. monocytogenes, K. pneumoniae, P. mirabilis, P. aeruginosa, S. Typhi, S. flexneri and E. coli was used to evaluate the antibacterial activity of biopigment (Vendruscolo et al. 2014). The reaction mixture of red biopigment was prepared by mixing mg/ml, 5 mg/ml, and 20 mg/ml with 1 Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) and DMSO as such without biopigment served as control. For the antibacterial assay, Brain Heart Infusion agar plates were prepared and 100 µl of 24 hrs grown test bacterial culture was seeded on the surface of Petri plates. Wells of approximately 10 mm was bored using a cork borer and sealed with soft agar. Then 100 µl samples of various concentration i.e. 1 mg/ml, 5 mg/ml, and 20 mg/ml of biopigment were introduced in each well. Petri plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 hrs. Growth of bacterial culture was observed at 6, 12, 24, 48 hrs and diameters of zones of inhibition were recorded after 48 hrs. The antibacterial activity was assayed by measuring the diameter of the inhibition zone formed around the well.

Antifungal Activity: The Antifungal activity of red biopigment was estimated using the agar well assay method described by Ferdes et al. (2009) with slight modification. In brief, five fungal species Aspergillus flavus NCIM535. Penicillium chryosogenum ATCC66564, Mucor azygosporus ATCC15087, Fusarium oxysporum NCIM1008, and Alternaria alternata ATCC6663 were procured from the Institute of Microbial Technology, Chandigarh, India. The culture was revived on Potato Dextrose Agar incubated at 30°C for 7 days. The stock culture was preserved at 4°C in a refrigerator and sub-cultured every three weeks. The reaction mixture of red biopigment was prepared by mixing 1 mg/ml, 5 mg/ml, and 20 mg/ml with DMSO and DMSO alone served as control. For the antifungal assay, PDA plates were prepared and wells of approximately 10 mm were bored using a cork borer and sealed wells with soft agar. The fungal culture bit size of 8 to 10 mm was

placed onto the center of the Petri plate and 100 μ l of different dilutions was introduced in each well around the fungal bit. The Petri plates were then incubated at 30°C for 7 days. The growth of fungal species was observed each day and diameters of zones of inhibition were recorded after 7 days. The antifungal activity was assayed by measuring the diameter of the inhibition zone formed around the well.

Anti-oxidative activity: Radical scavenging activity was determined using 2, 2 diphenyl-1picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay, 2, 2"-Azino-Bis-(3– Ethylbenzthiazoline–6-Sulfonic acid) assay (ABTS) and ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay.

DPPH assay: The antioxidant activities of the Monascus red biopigments were determined by the activities of 2,2-Diphenyl-1-(2,4,6-trinitrophenyl) hydrazyl (DPPH) free radical scavenging activity assay (Tan et al., 2018) with minor modifications. In brief, the reaction mixture was prepared by using various concentration 2, 10, 20, 40 60, 80, 160, 320, 640 µl/ml of 5 mg/ml red biopigment combined with 2 ml of the DPPH ethanol solution (0.05 mM in ethanol). Ethanol served as blank whereas DMSO instead of sample functioned as control. The mixture was vortexed and incubated for 60 min at room temp in the dark. Following incubation, reaction mixtures were centrifuged (8000 rpm for 10 min) and each reaction mixture (200 µl) was transmitted to a 96 well plate, and absorbance was measured at 517 nm on ELISA plate reader (Thermo Fisher, Scientific). Positive controls included BHT, Ascorbic acid, and Quercetin. The concentration of sample that resulted in free radical scavenging activity was recorded.

DPPH scavenging ability (%) = $\left(1 - \frac{(S - B)}{C}\right) \times 100$

Where; A_{sample} = Absorbance of the test sample, A_{blank} = Absorbance of blank, $A_{control}$ - Absorbance of control

ABTS Assay: The freshly prepared ABTS solution was prepared by oxidation of 7.4 mmol/L ABTS with 4.90 mmol/l potassium persulfate according to Tan *et al.* (2018) with minor modification. In brief, the reaction mixture was prepared 5 mg/ml of red biopigemt at various concentration of 2, 10, 20, 40 60, 80, 160, 320, 640 µl/ml. 50µl of different dilution of red biopigment was mixed with 200 µl ABTS solution. Ethanol served as blank whereas DMSO instead of sample served as control. The mixture was vortexed and incubated for 5 min at room temp in the dark. Absorbance was measured at 734 nm on an ELISA plate reader. All the values were normalized with control. The positive controls included BHT, Ascorbic acid, and Quercetin. The scavenging ability of the ABTS was estimated by following Equation:

ABTS free radical scavenging activity (%) = $\left(1 - \frac{(S - B)}{C}\right) \times 100$

FRAP assay: The freshly prepared FRAP (Xiao 2015) reagent consisted of 300 mM acetate buffer (pH 3.4), 100mM 2,4,6-tripydyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) solution in 40 mM HCl and 20 mM FeCl₃.6H₂O in ratio of 10:1:1. In brief, the reaction mixture consist of 5 mg/ml of red biopigemt at various concentration of 2, 10, 20, 40 60, 80, 160, 320, 640 μ l/ml. 50 μ l of each dilution was mixed with 200 μ l of FRAP reagent and incubated at 37°C temp for 30 min in the dark. An ELISA plate reader was used to measure the absorbance at 517 nm. Different concentrations of ferrous sulphate (0-1mM) were used to create the standard curve (Figure 1) by following the same procedure; just replacing the sample with the known concentration of ferrous sulphate solution (Ferrous sulphate 1mM = 1.51mg/10ml) (Shokryazdan et al., 2018). The FRAP antioxidant activity was expressed as mM ferrous sulphate equivalent using a standard curve prepared by ferrous sulphate. The values were normalized with control. BHT, Ascorbic acid, and quercetin were used as positive control.



Statistical analysis: The collected research data in triplicate was analyzed for the mean values and standard error through Microsoft Excel. To determine the significance of the collected data one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) tests were used in SPSS (16.0v). Differences in means of less than 0.05 % were measured statistically significant.

Results and Discussion Antibacterial activity

The antibacterial activity of extracted red biopigment was determined against strains of Gram-positive and Gram-negative food pathogenic bacteria by the scanning electron microscopy (SEM) and agar well diffusion method.

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

The antibacterial activity was observed in 200 µg/ml of extracted biopigment against Bacillus cereus, Escherichia coli, and Staphylococcus aureus after 96 hrs of incubation at 37°C temperature. Morphological changes were analyzed and are shown in (Figure 2). Bacterial cells in the control group were healthy and smooth, with no signs of damage. In contrast, B. cereus, E. coli, and S. aureus cells treated with Monascus biopigment were found to show morphological damage in some cells, as evidenced by the outflow of cell contents, deep craters, burst cells, and cell death (Figure 2 a,b and c). Furthermore, the total numbers of cells into given suspension were reduced with treatment of biopigment in comparison to the control cells. The extracted biopigment was observed to be slightly effective based on SEM results. Zhao et al. (2016) also demonstrated that a 2.5 mg/ml concentration of orange pigment derived from *M. purpureus* damage E. coli bacterial cells, resulting in cell death. Likewise, 100 μ l of red biopigment from M. purpureus MTCC 1090 was also found to be effective against S. aureus, E. coli, Klebsiella pneumonia, and Providencia by Bi and Gajalakshmi (2018).Furthermore, Feng et al. (2019) used scanning electron microscopy and transmission electron microscopy to analyze that 10 mg/ml Monascus pigment has antibacterial activity against S. aureus. The antibacterial properties of Monascus pigment can be due to disruption to bacterial cell cellular membranes, which allows some components such as proteins and DNA to escape, resulting in bacterial cell death (Feng et al., 2019). As a result, Monascus biopigment could be used as a natural food preservative in the food industry.



(a): Bacillus cereus



(b): Escherichia coli



(c): Staphylococcus aureus

Figure 2: Morphological changes of a) *B. cereus*, b) *E. coli* andc) *S. aureus* after treatment with red biopigment for 96 hrs with 200 μ g/ml of biopigment. Red arrows indicate formation deep craters and cell death.

Agar well diffusion assay: The antibacterial activity of the extracted biopigment was tested against B. cereus, S. aureus, K. pneumonia and Pseudomonas aeruginosa by varying the concentration from 1, 5 and 20 mg/ml (Figure 3). The zone of inhibition produced by biopigment at varying concentration was in the range of 2-6 mm for B. cereus, 2-5 mm for S. aureus, 2-4 mm for K. pneumonia and again 2-6 mm against P. aeruginosa (Figure 3 a-d). Whereas, biopigment exhibited no activity against Sreptococcus mutans, monocytogenes, Proteus Listeria mirabilis. Salmonella typhi, Shigella flexneri, and E. coli (Table 1). Based on the agar well assay, extracted biopigment was found to be slight effective against B. cereus, S. aureus, K. pneumoniae, P. aeruginosa. The results were corroborated with Mukherjee and Kumar (2011), who demonstrated that extracted pigment from M. purpureus NFCCI 1756 strain exhibited the antibacterial activity against Bacillus megaterium, Bacillus mycoides and B. subtilis ranging from 1.26 to 1.36 cmand no activity against Salmonella typhimurium, S. typhi, and E. coli. Similarly, Vendruscolo et al. (2014) reported that extracted biopigment from *M. purpureus* CCT 3802 was effective against S. aureus and E. coli while showed no antagonostic activity against Salmonella enteritidis. Ferdes et al. (2009) demonstrated that pigment extracted from M. purpureus M5 strain exhibited antibacterial activity against Bacillus subtilis, P. aeruginosa, E. coli species ranging from 8 to 12 mm. Antibacterial activity of Monascus pigments demonstrated the preservative properties of natural food colorants.

Antifungal activities: The antifungal activity of the extracted biopigment was tested against *Aspergillus flavus, Penicillium chryosogenum, Mucor azygosporus, Fusarium oxysporum,* and *Alternaria alternata* by varying the concentration from 1, 5 and 20 mg/ml (Figure 4) (Table 2). The zone of inhibition produced by biopigment at varying concentration was in the range of 2-8 mm for *A. flavus,* 3-9 mm for *F. oxysporum* and 2-6 mm for *A. alternata* (Figure 4 a, d and e). Biopigment did not show any antifungal activity against *P. chryosogenum* (Figure 4 b) and *M. azygosporus* (Figure 4 c). In addition, DMSO which was used as a solvent, thereby served as



(a): Bacillus cereus



(b): Staphylococcus aureus



(c): Klebsiella pneumonia



(d): Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Figure 3: Zone of inhibition produced by different concentration of biopigment against bacterial pathogens (a) *B. cereus* MTCC 1272 (b) *S. aureus* (c) *K. pneumoniae* (d) *P. aeruginosa.*

control, exhibited no activity against the fungal pathogens. Based on the agar well assay, extracted biopigment was the most effective against A. flavus, F. oxysporum, A. alternata. The antifungal activity of extracted pigment from M. purpureus against some fungal strains might be due to monascidin A, the main compound responsible for the inhibitory activity (Ferdes et al., 2009). The results were corroborated with Ferdes et al. (2009), who demonstrated that pigment extracted from M. purpureus M5 strain exhibited the antifungal activity against Aspergillus, Mucor, Penicillium, and Fusarium species. In addition, another study conducted by Cheng et al. (2011) showed that chemical constituents extracted from *M. purpureus* BCRC 38038 were also found to be effective against Candida albicans and Saccharomyces cerevisiae by a TLC bioautographic approach. Antifungal activity of Monascus pigments demonstrated the preservative properties of this natural food biopigment.

Screening for antioxidative potential of *Monascus* **biopigment:** The antioxidant efficacy of red biopigment were tested in this study using 2, 2 Diphenyl-1- Picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) free radical scavenging assay, 2, 2 -Azino-Bis-(3– Ethylbenzthiazoline–6-Sulfonic acid) assay (ABTS) and ferric reducing antioxidant power (FRAP) assay.

Diphenyl-1-Picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assav: Basically, DPPH molecule is characterized as a stable free radical by virtue of the delocalization of the spare electron over the molecule that gives rise to the deep violet color. When a solution of DPPH is mixed with tested antioxidant substance, that can donate a hydrogen atom, the intensity of violet color gets reduced. Therefore, in order to evaluate the antioxidant efficacy through free radical scavenging by the test samples, the change in optical density of DPPH radicals is monitored (Alam et al., 2013). The results showed that there was a significant difference between concentrations of biopigment on the antioxidant ability at 5 % (0.05 %) level of significance. The results revealed that 640 µl of 5 mg/ml of extracted biopigment and positive control BHT, ascorbic acid and quercetin had higher free radical scavenging activities as compared to other concentration (Figure 5a-b). In particular, 1 to 640 µl/ml of 5 mg/ml red biopigment significantly increased antioxidant ability ranging from 1.16 to 59.69 % (51.45 fold).

Red biopigment concentration (mg/ml)					
1	2.5	5	10	20	
Zone of inhibition (mm)					
2	2	2	4	6	
2	2	2	3	5	
-	-	-	-	-	
-	-	-	-	-	
2	2	2	3	4	
-	-	-	-	-	
2	3	3	5	6	
-	-	-	-	-	
-	-	-	-	-	
-	-	-	-	-	
	1 2 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - 2 - - - - - - - - - - -	Red biopigm 1 2.5 Zone 2 2 2 2 - - 2 2 - - 2 2 - - 2 2 - - 2 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Red biopigment concent 1 2.5 5 Zone of inhibitio 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 - - - - - 2 2 2 2 2 - - - - - 2 2 3 3 - - - - - - 2 3 3 - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Red biopigment concentration (mg/r 1 2.5 5 10 Zone of inhibition (mm) 2 2 4 2 2 2 4 2 2 2 3 - - - - 2 2 2 3 - - - - 2 2 2 3 - - - - 2 3 3 5 - - - - 2 3 3 5 - - - - 2 3 3 5 - - - - - - - -	

Table 1: Antibacterial activity of extracted red biopigment of *M. purpureus*

- Nil

 Table 2: Antifungal activity of extracted red biopigment of M. purpureus

Test Fungi	Red biopigment concentration (mg/ml)			
	1	5	20	
	Zone of inhibition (mm)			
Aspergillus flavus NCIM535	2	4	8	
Penicillium chryosogenum ATCC66564	-	-	-	
Mucor azygosporus ATCC15087	-	-	-	
Fusarium oxysporum NCIM1008	3	4	9	
Alternaria alternata ATCC6663	2	4	6	

- Nil

(Figure 5a). Similarly, 1 to 640 μ l/ml of 5 mg/ml BHT, ascorbic acid and quercetin showed significantly increased antioxidant ability ranging from 3.77 to 45.33 % (12.02 fold), 2.40 to 38.52 % (16.05 fold) and 3.40 to 40.52 % (11.91 fold) (Fig 5 b). The antioxidant activity of red biopigment might be due to the reduction of hydroperoxide, inactivation of free radicals or complex formating with metal ions or combination there of (Lee *et al.* 2008). Moreover, this good antioxidant activity of red biopigment might be attributed to the presence of phytochemical nutrients (Wang and Wixon, 1999). The results imply that these active extracts may contain constituents with strong protondonating abilities (Olivero *et al.*, 2010).

The results corroborated to Tan *et al.* (2018), who reported that 1 mg/ml red yeast *Monascus* pigment extracted from *Monascus ruber* CGMCC 10910 has the highest antioxidant activity of 32.84 %. In

addition, red yeast rice extracted from *M.* purpureus CICC 40942 were found to show 9.739 \pm 0.652 mg AEE/g of sample scavenging activity (Huang *et al.*, 2017). According to a comparable investigation, several *M. purpureus* extracts have DPPH radical scavenging activity ranging from 69.18 to 77.33 % at 100 mg/ml concentration of sample (Lin *et al.*, 2019). The good antioxidant activity of red biopigment might be attributed to the presence of many peptides and some metabolites produced by *Monascus* species during the fermentation and pigment derived from polyketides (Cheng *et al.*, 2016).

2,2'-Azino-Bis-(3-Ethylbenzthiazoline-6-Sulfonic

acid) assay (ABTS): 2, 2'-azinobis (ethyl benzothiazoline 6-sulfonate) is oxidized by oxidants to its radical cation, ABTS•–, which is intensely colored, and antioxidant capacity is measured as the ability of test compounds to



(a) Aspergillus flavus (b) Penicillium chryosogenum





(c)Mucor azygosporus

(d) Fusarium oxysporum



(e) Alternaria alternata

Figure 4: The inhibition zone (mm) produced by different concentration of *Monascus* biopigment against (a) *A. flavus*, (b) *P. chryosogenum*, (c) *M. azygosporus*, (d) *F. oxysporum*, and (e) *A. alternate*.

decolorize the ABTS radical directly. The results showed that 640 μ l of 5mg/ml of extracted biopigment and positive control BHT, ascorbic acid and quercetin had higher free radical scavenging activities as compared to other concentration (Figure 5 c-d). There was a significant difference between concentration of biopigment and the antioxidant ability at 5 % (0.05 %) level of significance. In particular, 1 to 640 μ l/ml of 5 mg/ml red biopigment significantly increased antioxidant ability ranging from 7.25 to 91.1 % (12.56 fold) (Figure 5 c). While, 1 to 640 μ l/ml of 5 mg/ml BHT, ascorbic acid and quercetin showed

significantly increased antioxidant ability ranging from 69.66 to 82.77 % (1.18 fold), 68.29 to 84.99 % (1.24 fold) and 66.22 to 83.19 % (1.25 fold) (Figure 5 d). The antioxidant action of red biopigment could be attributed to hydroperoxide reduction, free radical inactivation, metal ion complexing, or a combination of these factors Lee *et al.* (2008). Furthermore, the presence of phytochemical elements may be responsible for red biopigment's high antioxidant activity Wang and Wixon, (1999).

The results corroborated to earlier studies by Tan et al. (2018) showing that 1 mg/ml red yeast Monascus pigment extracted from Monascus ruber CGMCC 10910 has the highest antioxidant activity of 84.92 %. The antioxidant activity of Monascus fermented rice bran produced by Monascus pilosus KCCM60084 increased from 25 to 75 % at concentration of 0.25, 0.5, and 1 mg/ml of test samples (Cheng et al., 2016). According to a comparable study, red yeast rice extracted from M. purpureus CICC 40942 were also found to show 9.739 ± 0.652 mg AEE/g of sample scavenging activity (Huang et al., 2017). Due to several metabolites formed during the fermentation, the results suggest that the Monascus red pigment contain components with considerable mav antioxidant potential (Olivero et al., 2010; Cheng et al., 2016).

Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power (FRAP) assay: FRAP assay is widely-used to directly test the total antioxidant potential of several foods and plant extracts based on the reduction of complexes of 2,4,6-32 tripyridyl-s-triazine (TPTZ) with ferric chloride hexahydrate (FeCl₃.6H₂O), which are almost colorless. The solution eventually turns slightly brownish forming blue ferrous complexes after complete reduction. The results showed that 640 µl of 5 mg/ml of extracted biopigment and positive control BHT, ascorbic acid and quercetin had higher free radical scavenging activities as compared to other concentration. There was a significant difference between concentrations of biopigment on the antioxidant ability at a 5 % (0.05 %) level of significance. In particular, 1 to 640 µl/ml of 5 mg/ml red biopigment significantly increased antioxidant ability ranging from 0.48 to 15.22 % (31.74 fold) (Figure 5 e). Whereas, 1 to 640 µl/ml of 5 mg/ml BHT, ascorbic acid and quercetin showed significantly increased antioxidant ability ranging from 0.26 to 7.32 % (28.15 fold), 0.22 to 6.96 % (31.63 fold) and 0.24 to 4.27 % (17.79 fold) (Figure 5 f). The increased antioxidant activity could be



Error bars are the mean ± standard deviation from independent variations

Figure 5: Free radical DPPH, ABTS and FRAP scavenging activity of red biopigment with respect to positive controls.

attributable to the increased polyphenol and flavonoid contents. Furthermore, fermentation can generate a large number of small peptides and other secondary metabolites with high antioxidant potential (Wang and Wixon, 1999; Cheng *et al.*, 2016).

The results corroborated to Chang *et al.* (2016) who reported that 1 mg/ml extract from *Monascus* fermented rice bran by *Monascus ruber* CGMCC 10910 demonstrated 15 to 38 % reducing activity at concentration of 0.25, 0.5, and 1 mg/ ml of test samples. In addition, according to a comparable study, extract of red yeast rice produced from *M. purpureus* CICC 40942 were found to show 0.023 \pm 0.002a mmol Fe²⁺/g of sample reducing activity (Huang *et al.*, 2017). The results imply that extracted biopigment may contain constituents with

strong proton-donating abilities (Olivero *et al.*, 2010).

Conclusion

The efficacy of Monascus biopigment as an agent that selectively inhibits bacterial and fungal pathogens. The antibacterial activity through Scanning Electron Microscopy and agar well assay against B. cereus, E. coli, and S. aureus, K. pneumonia and P. aeruginosa was observed show morphological damage in some cells and zone of inhibition produced. Whereas, biopigment exhibited no antibacterial activity against S. mutans, L. monocytogenes, P. mirabilis, S. Typhi and S. flexneri. Next, the antifungal activity of the extracted biopigment was observed zone of inhibition produced for A. flavus, F. oxysporum and A. alternata. Biopigment did not show any antifungal activity against P. chryosogenum and M. azygosporus. Monascus biopigment demonstrated the potential antimicrobial effect through inhibition of bacterial cells and fungal pathogens. In addition, antioxidative assay DPPH, ABTS and FRAP based results showed that there was a significant difference between various concentrations of biopigment on the antioxidant ability. Considering these observations, it appears that red biopigment may be a useful supplement for antimicrobial and therapeutic related diseases.

References

- Bi, M. A., & Gajalakshmi, P. (2018). Antibacterial and Antioxidant Activity of the pigment produced by *Monascus purpureus*. *Eurasian Journal of Analytical Chemistry*, 13,378-384.
- Alam, M. N., Bristi, N. J., & Rafiquzzaman, M. (2013). Review on in vivo and in vitro methods evaluation of antioxidant activity. *Saudi Pharmaceutical Journal*, 21, 143-52.
- Chen, F., He, Y., & Zhou, Y. (2015). Edible Filamentous Fungi from the Species *Monascus*: Early Traditional Fermentations, Modern Molecular Biology and Future Genomics. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety*, 14, 65-87.
- Chen, R., Zhang, K., Zhang, H., Gao, C., & Li, C. (2018). Analysis of the antimicrobial mechanism of porcine beta defensin 2 against E. coli by electron microscopy and differentially expressed genes. *ScientificReports*, 8, 14711.
- Chen, W., Chen, R., Liu, Q., He, Y., He, K., Ding, X., Kang, L., Guo, X., Xie, N., Zhou, Y., Lu, Y., Cox, R. J., Molnar, I. A., Li, M., Shaoa, Y., & Chen, F. (2017). Orange, red, yellow: biosynthesis of azaphilone pigments in *Monascus* fungi. *Chemical Science*, 8, 4917.
- Cheng, J., Choi, B., Yang, S. H., & Suh, J. (2016). Effect of Fermentation on the Antioxidant Activity of Rice Bran by Monascus pilosus KCCM 60084. Journal of Applied Biological Chemistry, 59, 57-62.
- Cheng, M., Wu, M., Chen, I., Tseng, M., & Yuan, G. (2011). Chemical constituents from the fungus *Monascus purpureus* and their antifungal activity. *Phytochemistry Letters*, 4, 372-376.
- Cheng, M. J., Wu, M. D., Chen, Y. L., Chen, I. S., Su, Y. S., & Yuan, G. F. (2013). Chemical constituents of red yeast rice fermented with the fungus *Monascus pilosus*. *Chemistry Natural Compounds*, 49, 249-252.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Department of Dairy Microbiology, College of Dairy Science and Technology, Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, for providing the financial support to carry out the present work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Feng, L. H., Li, Y. Q., Sun, G. J., & Zhao, X. Z. (2019). Antibacterial effect of orange *Monascus* pigment against *Staphylococcus AureusActa Alimentaria*, 48, 169-176.
- Ferdes, M., Ungureanu, C., Radu, N., & Chirvase, A. A. (2009). Antimicrobial effect of *Monascus purpureus* red rice against some bacterial and fungal strains. *ChemicalEngineeringTransactions*, *17*, 1149-1154.
- Hsu, L. C., Hsu, Y. W., Liang, Y. H., Liaw, C. C., Kuo, Y. H., & Pan, T. M. (2012). Induction of Apoptosis in Human Breast Adenocarcinoma Cells MCF-7 by Monapurpyridine A, a New Azaphilone Derivative from *Monascus purpureus* NTU 568. *Molecules*, 17, 664-673.
- Huang, Q., Zhang, H., & Xue D. (2017). Enhancement of antioxidant activity of Radix Puerariae and red yeast rice by mixed fermentation with *Monascus purpureus*. *FoodChemistry*, 17, 30021-3.
- Ji, Y. B., Xu, F., Liu, B. Y., Wei, Q., Guo, Y. Z., Dong, Y., Sun, Y., & Hu, Y. (2018). Trace phenolic compounds from Red Yeast Rice. China Journal Chinese Mater Medicine,43, 755-759.
- Lee, Y. L., Yang, J. H., & Mau, J. L. (2008). Antioxidant properties of water extracts from *Monascus* fermented soybeans. *Food Chemistry*, 106, 1128-1137.
- Lin, C. S., Hur, H. F., & Lin, C. C. (2019). Antioxidant properties and antibacterial activity of fermented *Monascus purpureus* extracts. *MOJFoodProcessTechnology*, 7, 49-54.
- Marova, I., Carnecka, M., Halienova, A., Certik, M., Dvorakova, T., & Haronikova, A. (2012). Use of several waste substrates for carotenoid-rich yeast biomass production. *Journal Environmental Management*, 95, 338-342.
- Mukherjee, G., & Kumar, S. (2011). Purification and characterization of a new red pigment from *Monascuspurpureus* in submerged fermentation. *Process Biochemistry*, 46, 188-92.

- Olivero Verbel, J., González–Cervera, I., Güette–Fernandez J., Jaramillo-Colorado, B., & Stashenko, E. (2010). Chemical composition and antioxidant activity of essential oils isolated from Colombian plants. *Revistabrasileirafarmacognosia*, 20, 568-574.
- Park, H. J., & Kim, I. S. (2011). Antioxidant Activities and Anticancer Effects of Red Yeast Rice Grown in the Medium Containing Garlic. Food Science Biotechnology, 20, 297-302.
- Patakova, P., Branska, B., & Patrovsky, M. (2017). *Monascus* Secondary Metabolites. Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2017 J.M. Mérillon, K.G. Ramawat (eds.), Fungal Metabolites, Reference Series in Phytochemistry, Book Chapter.
- Roy, K. (1967). Static extraction-novel extraction technique. *Analytical Chemistry*, 39,1903-04.
- Shokryazdan, P., Jahromi, M. F., Bashokouh, F., Idrus, Z., & Liang, J. B. (2018). Antiproliferation effects and antioxidant activity of two new Lactobacillus strains. *Brazilian Journal of Food Technology*, 21, e2016064.
- Smith, H., Doyle, S., & Murphy, R. (2015). Filamentous fungi as a source of natural antioxidants. *Food Chemistry*, 185, 389-397.
- Tan, H., Xing, Z., Chen, G., Tian, X., & Wu, Z. (2018). Evaluating Antitumor and Antioxidant Activities of Yellow *Monascus* Pigments from *Monascus ruber* Fermentation. *Molecules*, 23,3242.
- Thomas, L., Larroche, C., & Pandey, A. (2013). Current development in solid state fermentation. *Biochemistry EngineeringJournal*, 81, 146-161.
- Tkaczyk, A., Mitrowska, K., &Posyniak, A.(2020). Synthetic organic dyes as contaminants of the aquatic environment and their implications for ecosystems: A review. *Science of the total environment*, 15, 137222.
- Velmurugan, P., Hur, H., Balachandar, V., Kamala-Kannan, S., Lee, K. J., Lee, S. M, Chae, J. C., Shea, P. J., & Oh, B. T. (2011).*Monascus* pigment production by solid-state fermentation with corn cob substrate. *Journal of Bioscience Bioengineering*, 112, 590-594.

- Vendruscolo, F., Bühler, R. M. M., Carvalho, J. C. D., Oliveira, D. D., Moritz, D. E., Schmidell, W., & Ninow, J. L. (2016). Monascus: a Reality on the Production and Application of Microbial Pigments. *Applied Biochemistry Biotechnology*, 178, 211-223.
- Vendruscolo, F., Tosin, I., Giachini, A. J., Schmidell, W., & Ninow, J. L. (2014). Antimicrobial activity of *Monascus* pigments produced in submerged fermentation. *JournalFoodProcessingPreservation*, 38, 1860-1865.
- Wang, C., & Wixon, R. (1999). Phytochemicals in soybeans: Their potential health benefits. *Inform*, 10, 315-321.
- Weiss, B. (2012). Synthetic Food Colors and Neurobehavioral Hazards: The View from Environmental Health Research. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 120, 1-5.
- Wild, D., Gareis, M., & Humpf, H. U. (2002). Analyses of red fermented rice (angkak) and report of a new *Monascus* metabolite. *Mycotoxin Research*, 18, 212-216.
- Wu, H. C., Cheng M. J., Wu M. D., Chen J. J., Chen Y. L., & Chang H. S. (2019). Three new constituents from the fungus of *Monascus purpureus* and their anti-inflammatory activity. *Phytochemistry Letters*, 31, 242-248.
- Xiao, Y., Wang, L. X., Rui, X., Chen, X. H., Jiang, M., & Dong, M. S. (2015). Enhancement of the antioxidant capacity of soy whey by fermentation with Lactobacillus plantarum B1–6. *Journal ofFunctionalFood*, 12, 33-44.
- Yu, X., Wu, H., & Zhang, J. (2015). Effect of *Monascus* as a nitrite substitute on color, lipid oxidation, and proteolysis of fermented meat mince. *Food Science Biotechnology24*,575-581.
- Zhao, G., Li, Y. Q., Yang, J., & Cui, K. Y. (2016). Antibacterial Characteristics of Orange Pigment Extracted from *Monascus* Pigments against Escherichia coli. *CzechJournal Food Science*, 34, 197-203.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.
Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of phosphorus and biofertilizers on growth and yield of Mothbean (Vigna aconitifolia (Jacq.) Marechal) in Prayagraj conditions

Anu Nawhal 🖂

Department of Agronomy, NAI, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj, U.P., India. Umesha, C.

Department of Agronomy, NAI, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj, U.P., India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 16 July 2021	The present study was carried out during Kharif, 2020 at Crop Research Farm,
Revised : 22 September 2021	Department of Agronomy, SHUATS, Prayagraj to determine the effect of
Accepted : 24 October 2021	phosphorus and biofertilizers on growth and yield of Mothbean (Vigna
	aconitifolia (Jacq.) Marechal). The experiment was set up in Randomized
Published online: 31 January 2022	Block Design, consisting of 10 treatments replicated three times. The RMO 40
	variety of Mothbean was sown in June, 2020. The results of the field experiment
Key Words:	propound that application of 30 kg P/ha and seed inoculation by Rhizobia and
Biofertilizers	Phosphate Solubilizing Bacteria significantly increased the growth parameters
Growth parameters	of mothbean viz., plant height (21.09 cm), branches per plant (6.53), nodules
Phosphate Solubilising Bacteria(PSB)	per plant (16.93), dry weight (5.481 g), crop growth rate (5.37 g/m ² /day). This
Phosphorus	treatment also showed its positive effect on number of pods (20.40), number of
Rhizobia	seeds (3.87), test weight (22.06 g) and seed yield (452.88 kg/ha) of the crop.

Introduction

Arid legumes form a very important source of mangodi, bhujia), as well as mature and immature staple food and nutrients, rich in protein for human beings. Arid legumes such as mothbean, lentil, horse gram, etc. are grown mostly in infertile and eroded soils, dry land areas with lack of irrigation facility and low in rainfall. They have spreading habit with good vegetative growth, provide effective cover to ground surface, prevent soil erosion and improves the fertility of the soil. Growing arid legumes with proper cultural practice and addition of fertilizers allows for the remedy o soil deficiencies as well as creation of proper soil physical conditions required for crop growth and productivity. Mothbean, also known as moth, mat bean, matki and dew bean is an essential component of dry land farming system in arid and semi-arid areas of India. It is one of the significant wellspring of protein, and one of the most drought tolerant crop among kharif pulses. Dry seeds offer a variety of delicious confectionary snacks (papad,

green pods as vegetable consumption. Uttar Pradesh produces 100 tonnes from an area of 300 ha with an average productivity of 333 kg ha⁻¹ (Anonymous, 2010). Moth bean is generally grown on the less managed and neglected lands, which are extremely poor in physical properties and deficient in plant nutrients. Phosphorus is required for the conversion of essential biochemical reaction in plants and as a component of several key plant structural compounds. Amongst the several factors restricting the plant growth, phosphorus shortage is a recognized key obstacle in attaining the maximum vield potential of mothbean (Patel et al., 2008). It is responsible for root growth and development as well as influencing nodulation in positive way. It also has a significant impact on energy storage and transport. Phosphorus is an integral part of nucleic acids (DNA and RNA) and most of enzymes involved in energy conversion in carbohydrate metabolism and plant respiration. As nitrogen is fixed through symbiosis with Rhizobium bacteria, phosphorus fertilization for legumes is foremost than nitrogen. Rhizobium and Phosphate Solubilising Bacteria play a critical role in N₂fixation and P-solubilisation in soil. Rhizobium inoculation improves root nodulation by promoting root growth and increasing nutrient availability, leading in better nutrient uptake and use (Singh et al., 2007). The PSB (Phosphate Solubilising Bacteria), dissolves interlocked phosphates in soil appears to have a significant impact on Indian agriculture. Dual inoculation of Rhizobia and PSB may benefit the plant in acquiring both nitrogen and phosphorus. Seed inoculation with Rhizobia and PSB has gathered a lot of attention to increase the availability of phosphate fixed in rhizosphere and to reduce fertilizer use (Chakrabarti et al., 2007).

Hence, Phosphorus application in addition with biofertilizers inoculation (Rhizobia and PSB) in pulse crop provide easy access of nitrogen and phosphorus to the cropped plant. Phosphorus application along with biofertilizers creates a favourable environment for microorganism's proliferation in the rhizosphere that leads to easy nutrient assimilation by plants during their growth and developmental period.

Material and Methods

A field trial was conducted during the *Kharif* 2020, at the Crop Research Farm, Department of Agronomy, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj (U.P.). The experimental field's soil is neutral and deep, constituting a part of central Gangetic alluvium. It had sandy loam texture and contained medium nitrogen (N) and low phosphorus (P). The experiment was set up using Randomized Block Design with ten treatments that were replicated three times $viz., T_1$ – control (farmer's practice 20-40-0 kg NPK/ha), T₂ - Rhizobia+20 kg P/ha, T₃ -Rhizobia+30 kg P/ha, T₄ - Rhizobia+40 kg P/ha, T₅ -PSB+20 kg P/ha, T₆ - PSB+30 kg P/ha, T₇ -PSB+40 kg P/ha, T₈ - (Rhizobia+PSB)+20 kg P/ha, T₉ -(Rhizobia +PSB)+30 kg P/ha, T_{10} (Rhizobia+PSB)+ 40 kg P/ha. The experimental field was thoroughly ploughed, harrowed and brought to fine tilth and 30 plots each of 3.0 m x 3.0 m size were laid out according to layout design.

The inorganic fertilizers were applied as per treatment combination in the form of urea and SSP entire as basal dose. The seeds of moth bean (RMO-40) were sown in lines 30 cm apart at seed rate of 15 kg/ha. The seeds were treated with liquid rhizobia (10 ml/kg seeds) and liquid PSB (10 ml/kg seeds) as per the treatment combination and shade dried one hour before sowing. The growth parameters such as plant height (cm), number of branches (No.), number of nodules (No.), and dry weight per plant (g) were recorded at various growth stages while crop growth rate $(g/m^2/day)$ was calculated by the methods described by Watson, 1947. The pods/plant, seeds/pod, test weight and seed yield were recorded at the time of harvest and averages were calculated and data was statistically analysed using ANOVA technique (Gomez and Gomez, 1984).



Figure 1: Measuring Plant height



Figure 2: Flowering and pod formation



Figure 3: Intercultural operation in field

Results and Discussion

Observation of Growth determining attributes viz., plant height, number of branches, number of nodules, and dry weight per plant presented in Table 1. Significantly highest plant height (21.09 cm) and number of branches (6.53) were recorded with seed inoculation by Rhizobia and PSB along with application of 30 kg P/ha over control. This could be owing to the combined effect of dual biofertilizers and phosphorus which increased nutrient availability during the crop growth. Haque and Khan (2012) and Rasool and Singh (2016) both reported similar results. At 45 DAS, maximum number of nodules per plant (16.93) has been recorded with combined inoculation of seed with Rhizobia and PSB and application of 30 kg P/ha over control. However, nodules per plant in Rhizobia+ PSB+40 kg P/ha (16.13) and in seed inoculation with PSB and basal dose of 30 kg P/ha (15.80) found on par with highest. This is due to synergistic effect of the Rhizobia and Phosphate Solubilising Bacteria for biological nitrogen fixation as opposed to their individual application. Similar results were also validated by Rudresh et al. (2005) and Tagore et al. (2013). This result might be due to the fact that when in Rhizobia and phosphate solubilizing bacteria are inoculated together, both microorganisms assist the plant in acquiring nitrogen and phosphorus. By supplying

assimilates to roots in the rhizosphere, phosphorus not only aids in proliferation and growth but also promotes nodulation and nitrogen fixation, reported by Puniya, 2010. The seed inoculation with Rhizobia and PSB along with basal dose of phosphorus @ 30 kg/ha recorded significantly higher dry weight per plant (5.481 g) over control, whereas seed inoculation by Rhizobia and PSB along with basal application of 40 kg P/ha (5.274 g), found statistically on par with highest. The higher dry weight per plant in T₉ might be due to increased availability of phosphorus results in increased plant vigour, number of new cells, and root growth, which speeds up the leaf development, aids in utilizing the radiant energy and nitrogen assimilation by plant. Similar findings were reported by Puniya (2010) and Iqbal (2018). During 45-60 DAS significant and higher crop growth rate $(5.37 \text{ g/m}^2/\text{day})$ was recorded with seed inoculation by Rhizobia and PSB and application of phosphorus @ 30 kg/ha, might be because of direct and higher translocation of nutrients during crop development stage. which enhances the physiological and metabolic activities of plant, allowing it to put up more growth by faster assimilation of the available nutrients and facilitate more photosynthesis and ultimately increase Crop Growth Rate (Kumawat et al., 2017).

`		At Harvest		At 45 DAS	During 45-60 DAS
Treatments	Plant Height (cm)	Branches per plant(No.)	Dry weight (g plant ⁻¹)	Nodules per plant (No.)	CGR (g/m²/day)
T ₁ : Control	18.25	5.27	4.224	12.27	4.26
T ₂ : Rhizobia + 20 kg P/ha	13.00	4.40	3.528	12.13	3.67
T ₃ : Rhizobia + 30 kg P/ha	16.36	4.60	3.884	14.27	3.85
T ₄ : Rhizobia + 40 kg P/ha	17.45	5.33	4.265	13.47	4.50
T ₅ : PSB + 20 kg P/ha	17.41	4.67	3.607	12.67	3.68
T ₆ : PSB + 30 kg P/ha	19.83	6.00	5.022	15.80	5.07
T ₇ : PSB + 40 kg P/ha	19.29	5.27	4.598	15.27	4.91
T ₈ : (Rhizobia + PSB) + 20 kg P/ha	18.87	5.93	4.426	13.13	4.61
T ₉ : (Rhizobia + PSB) + 30 kg P/ha	21.09	6.53	5.481	16.93	5.37
T ₁₀ : (Rhizobia. + PSB) + 40 kg P/ha	20.98	6.20	5.274	16.13	5.12
S.Em (±)	0.63	0.15	0.143	0.50	0.52
CD (5%)	1.89	0.45	0.424	1.49	1.09

Table 1. Effect of phosphorus and biofertilizers on growth parameters of mothbean

Table 2: Effect of	phosphorus and	biofertilizers on y	vield attributes and g	yield of mothbean
--------------------	----------------	---------------------	------------------------	-------------------

Treatments	Pods/plant (No.)	Seeds/pod (No.)	Test weight (g)	Seed yield (kg/ha)
T ₁ : Control	17.93	3.63	18.81	232.91
T ₂ : Rhizobia sps. + 20 kg P/ha	13.80	3.05	17.31	129.49
T ₃ : Rhizobia + 30 kg P/ha	14.67	3.46	17.97	176.32
T ₄ : Rhizobia + 40 kg P/ha	18.07	3.69	19.04	241.40
T ₅ : PSB + 20 kg P/ha	16.47	3.22	17.21	145.83
$T_6: PSB + 30 \text{ kg P/ha}$	18.73	3.79	21.07	345.73
T_7 : PSB + 40 kg P/ha	18.20	3.77	20.47	288.18
T ₈ : (Rhizobia + PSB) + 20 kg P/ha	18.47	3.69	19.79	269.65
T ₉ : (Rhizobia + PSB) + 30 kg P/ha	20.40	3.87	22.06	452.88
T_{10} : (Rhizobia + PSB) + 40 kg P/ha	19.60	3.83	21.66	430.51
S.Em (±)	0.72	0.05	0.29	12.39
CD (5%)	2.15	0.16	0.86	36.82

The observation related to yield attributing parameters were shown in Table 2. The pods/plant (20.40), seeds/pod (3.87) and test weight of seeds (22.06 g) were notably higher in T_9 . The observed results of yield attributing parameters were attributed to phosphorus' regulatory activities in photosynthesis and glucose metabolism in leaves, which limit plant growth, especially during the reproductive phase. The observation of seed yield at the time of crop harvest is shown in Table 2. It shows significantly highest seed yield (452.88 kg ha⁻¹) in dual seed inoculation by biofertilizers with 30 kg P/ha, whereas seed yield in T_{10} (Rhizobia+PSB+40 kg P/ha) (430.51 kg/ha), was found to be statistically on par with highest. The maximum seed yield in dual inoculation of biofertilizers and 30 kg P/ha application is due to

the collateral increament in pods/plant, seeds/pod and test weight under this treatment. This could be due to surplus assimilates being stored in the leaves and then translocated into seeds during senescence, resulting in increased seed yields. These findings are in agreement with Kumawat (2006).

Conclusion

In eastern plain zones of Uttar Pradesh, under inceptisol soil order, cultivation of mothbean with the application of phosphorus at the rate of 30 kg per hectare along with seed co-inoculation by Rhizobia and Phosphate Solubilising Bacteria was found to be more desirable in terms of increasing growth parameters, yield attributing parameters, seed yield of Mothbean crop during *Kharif* season.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Anonymous, (2010). *Economic Survey*, Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Department of Agriculture and Cooperation, Government of India.
- Chakrabarti, J., Chatterjee N. C., & Dutta, S. (2007). Interactive effect of VAM and Rhizobium on nutrient uptake and growth of *Vigna mungo L. Journal of Mycopathological Research*, 45(2), 289-291.
- Gomez, K. W., & Gomez, A. A. (1984). *Statistical procedures* for agricultural research, Second edition. John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp: 680.
- Haque, M. A., & Khan, M. K. (2012). Effects of phosphatic biofertilizers with inorganic and organic sources of phosphorus on growth and yield of lentil. *Journal of Environmental Science and Natural Resources*, 5(2), 225-230.
- Iqbal, A., Amanullah, Ali, A., Mazhar, I., Ikarmullah, & Imran, (2018). Integrated use of phosphorus and organic matter improve fodder yield of Moth bean (*Vigna aconitifolia* (Jacq.) Marechal) under irrigated and dryland conditions, *Pakistan Journal of Agriculture Search*, 4(1), 10-15.
- Kumar, D., & Singh, N. B. (2001). Agronomy in Mothbean in India. Scientist Publishers, Jodhpur.
- Kumawat, Yadav, S., kumar, M., & Singh, I. P. (2017). Economic Analysis of Yield gap and Constraints Inhibiting the Attainment of Higher Yield of Moth bean in Rajasthan. *International Journal of Agriculture Sciences*, 9(34), 4501-4503.
- Patel, A. M., Patel, P. S., Patel, P. G., & Patel, D. G. (2008). Production potential of different moth bean [Vigna aconitifolia (Jacq.) Marechal] varieties under north Gujarat

condition. 3rd National symposium on enhancing productivity, Nutritional security and export Potential through Arid Legumes, 1, 66-70.

- Puniya, M. (2011). Response of Mothbean (Vigna aconitifolia (Jacq.) Marechal) to Phosphorus and Zinc Fertilization.
 M.Sc. (Ag.) Thesis, Swami Keshwanand Rajasthan Agricultural University, Bikaner.
- Rasool, S., & Singh, J. (2016). Effect of Biofertilizers and Phosphorus on Growth and Yield of Lentil (*Lens culinaris* L.). *International Journal of Advances in Agricultural Science and Technology*, *3*, 35-42.
- Rudresh, D. L., Shivaprakash, M. K., & Prasad, R. D. (2005). Effect of combined application of Rhizobium, phosphate solubilizing bacterium and Trichoderma spp. on growth, nutrient uptake and yield of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Applied Soil Ecology*, 28(2), 139-146.
- Singh, S. R., Najar, G. R., & Singh, U. (2007). Productivity and nutrient uptake of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) as influenced by bio-inoculants and farmyard manure under rainfed conditions. *Indian Journal Agronomy*, 52(4), 325-329.
- Tagore, G. S., Namdeo, S. L., Sharma, S. K., & Kumar, N. (2013). Effect of Rhizobium and Phosphate Solubilizing Bacterial Inoculants on Symbiotic Traits, Nodule Leghemoglobin, and Yield of Chickpea Genotypes. *International Journal of Agronomy*, 1, 1-8.
- Watson, D. J. (1947). Comparative physiological studies on the growth of field crops, variation in net assimilation rate and leaf area between species and varieties and within and between years. *Annals of Botany*, *11*, 41-76.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Subhash palekar natural farming - scope, efficacy and critics

Purushottam Dev

Department of Soil Science, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India. S. S. Palival

Department of Soil Science, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India.

Naviot Rana 🖂

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.), India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 25 September 2021	By 2050, India is expected to surpass China as the world's most populated
Revised : 12 December 2021	country, with a population of almost 1.7 billion people. To feed this
Accepted : 21 December 2021	exponentially increasing population, the country must pursue a policy of
	vertical productivity growth, as the possibilities for additional horizontal
Published online: 31 January 2022	expansion of cultivated land are rapidly diminishing. Furthermore, continual
	cropping depletes soil nutrient resources, necessitating the replenishment of
Key Words:	soils with critical major and minor plant nutrients. The country cannot
Cow dung	compromise with nutritional supply in order to end "Silent Hunger" and the
Green revolution	immoral perpetuation of high concentrations of increasing number of
Natural farming	malnourished children and anaemic moms. While the country is intending to
Organic farming	restructure its agricultural production system, including R&D, to meet the
Productivity growth	needs of rising problems, the 2018-19 economic survey established a strong case
	for the widespread adoption of 'Zero Budget Natural Farming' (ZBNF) to
	double farmers' revenue. As a result, crop productivity will remain low, and
	farmers will not be able to earn enough to double their income and get out of
	debt with this level of output. Also at the country level, we will not be able to
	meet the expanding populations food and nutritional demands and hence will
	fail to meet the sustainable goals of "Zero Hunger and Poverty Elimination" by
	2030. Thus, with zero budget natural farming practices we can feed to the India
	and world, our emphasis is too elaborate all aspects.

Introduction

India is the second largest country in terms of NABARD gave the country a gift on August 16 demography and feeding the population of 130 crores is a humongous task. Sustainable development and food security are the wheels on which Indian agriculture runs. However, the term food security replaced with nutritional security is more appropriate. Green revolution has certainly made us self-dependent in terms of food security but its aftermath was devastating. The input intensive agriculture lured farmers of taking noninstitutional loans but the low productivity, monsoon dependence, low minimum support price, market upsets trapped farmers in infinite loop of debts. According to the National Bank for Agriculture and Rural Development's (NABARD), 2018 financial inclusion survey, 52.5 percent of all agricultural households in India were in debt.

when it released the results of its All-India Rural Financial Inclusion Survey (NAFIS), which revealed that 87 percent of families were small and marginal farmers. NAFIS estimates that in the agriculture year 2015-16, according to householdlevel statistics, the average Indian agricultural household earned Rs. 8931 per month. Annual changes in agricultural production have been connected to weather, minimum support prices, demand-supply gaps, and natural disasters. India has certainly grown from its days of hunger to exporting food commodities of worth about 11.72 billion US dollars (DGCIS, 2019-20), but after the green revolution India has heavily depended on import of fertilizers pesticide and several other chemicals for conventional farming worth 2,098.61

million US Dollars in year 2014-15 (Department of fertilizers, 2014-15). The injudicious use of chemicals in soil has damaged the fertility by degrading its physical, chemical and biological aspects damaging native soil flora, loss in population of honeybees and several other agriculturally beneficial insects, polluting water and atmosphere compelled the policy makers and scientists to steer their strategies towards organic farming.

The other problems include shift in cropping system, depletion in groundwater, loss of nutrients, loss of organic carbon and pesticide residual effects. The subsidies on fertilizer also cost a staggering amount of 79,996 crores during year 2019-20 according to the budget estimate (FAI). India aims to double the farmers income by 2022, but there are several roadblocks ahead in achieving this goal. There are several problems which can be mitigated through organic farming system. However, organic farming has 5-12% less production than conventional farming in low water stress areas and 7-15% less production in water stress areas. Organic farming has shown promising results in terms of sustaining soil health but lags behind yield and productivity in comparison to conventional farming. In order to feed the evergrowing population, the agrarian crisis must be resolved by combining strong government policies with funding and improved agricultural practises. The concept of natural farming originated from naturalist and philosopher Japan by а named Masanobu Fukuoka (1913–2008).

Principally it minimises the human interaction while it gives nature to do its own so it is also called do nothing farming.

According to FAO, 2017 India still has a quarter of the world's hungry population and about 190 million people who are malnourished. Poverty is currently estimated to affect approximately 30% of the population. In the period from July 2012 to June 2013, farm households earned INR 77,888 or INR 6491 per month (NSSO, 2016). Even though, being leading producer in many agricultural а commodities, India lags behind many developing countries in terms of per capita income and living standard of farmers. These huge gaps between the earning of small and large farmers can be filled by Palekar's natural farming which require low input and tailored fitted for small and marginal farming.

In India, Subhas Palekar introduced the idea of zero budget natural farming which include a desi cow (*Bos indicus*) as the focal point for input. Cow urine, dung, butter milk, jaggery, pulse flour and other several homemade products serve as input. The basic principles of natural farming are of intercropping, agro-forestry, microbial inoculation and increasing the activity of native soil biota. The inputs for natural farming are homemade, low cost and has no negative ecological impact.

What is Subhash Palekar Natural Farming (SPNF)

It is naturistic way of farming given by Subhas Palekar for the farming of marginal and small farmers using desi cow's products. There are basically four wheels of natural farming named-1) Beejamrit (Nectar for seeds), 2) Jeevamrit (Nectar of microbes), 3) Acchadana (mulching) and 4) Whapasa (Soil moisture). According to Palekar for 30 acres only one desi cow is required and in absence of cow, buffalo can be used but he suggest that native cow breed have greater microbes population compared to exotic counter parts and desi cow is more adaptable to Indian conditions, less disease susceptibility and it is easily manageable by the resource poor farmers. It is extreme form of LEISA (low external input sustainable agriculture) that use the symbiotic relationship between cow output as farm input. Cow dung is also said to attract earthworms that are currently missing from our farms. It is a grass root level movement started by Padmashri Subash Palekar (2006) in mid 1990s which spread through Karnataka, Andhra Pradesh, Punjab, Himachal Pradesh and Kerala is planning to adopt it. Central government has also talked in length and breadth about it but there was no budget allocation in the year 2019-20. India has about 82% small and marginal farmers but till date there are only few viable options for small scale farmers thus, there is huge gap in earning of large and small-scale farmer. Natural farming system should be seen as a solution to small farmers. Palekar was appointed as advisor to Karnataka state government. Andhra Pradesh has a very ambitious plan regarding adoption of SPNF/ZBNF, according to Galab et al., 2019 6 million farmers are ready to adopt zero budget natural farming by 2024.

The main contribution of natural farming is making small farmer financially independent. It promotes neo-Gandhian virtues such as self-sufficiency and autonomy. (Khadse and Rosset, 2019). It involves a variety of agro-ecological principles, such as diversification, nutrient recycling and promoting positive biotic interactions, among others, to improve soil fertility (Palekar 2006).

A survey was conducted on ZBNF, and it was noted that among 97 farmers and their households who adopt ZBNF, debt was reduced up to 30 %, environmental reasons by 42 % and also decrease in cost of cultivation by 38 % and apart from all these benefits **to** their family health was increased up to 54 % as compare to farmers who adopt other farming practices (Khadse *et al.*, 2018).

From the survey it was revealed that adoption was not only for food security or for sustaining development but it was overall development of a farmer. Finance Minister Nirmala Sitharaman had mentioned in her budget speech the need to "return to basics" and "replicate this unique concept (that) will aid in doubling our farmers income". Zero budget natural farming practices major advantages are- it is fully chemical free, sustaining soil and environmental health, almost zero cost of cultivation, use of traditional seed (climate resilient, low input intensive, preservation of traditional seeds), risk reduction by crop rotation, easier to adopt, preservation and entanglements of desi cow breeds. Palekar has done workshops throughout India and spreading his innovative idea.

Beejamrit/ Beejamruth

It is a fermented cow-based product used for protecting seeds from soil and seed borne disease in their early establishment. It is not a nutrient source but microbial load and growth hormones. It is a concoction made from water (20 litre), cow dung (5 kg), cow urine (5 litre), lime and a handful of soil. The seed or seedling are dipped in *Beejamrit* and then planted. Various experiments have been conducted throughout India to find the efficiency of *Beejamrit* and *Jeevamrit* in various agro-ecological regions of India. In organic solutions, Sujana *et al.* (2019) discovered that the *Jeevamrit* treatment had considerably higher growth attributes and quality parameters of chilli fruits than the *Beejamrit* + *Jeevamrit* + *Amrutpani* treatment, with the

exception of fruit length. According to Jandaik *et al.* (2015) all three fungal pathogens (*Ralstonia stolonifer, Sclerotium rolfsii* and *Fusarium oxysporum*) growth was maximum with the application of cow urine @ 15 % concentration. In ancient Indian literatures it was well documented that cow and its product have always a special place. According to Shubha *et al.* (2014), microbial population was increased when seeds was treated with *Panchgavya* and *Beejamrit*.

An experiment in Nanded (Maharashtra) showed that the Jeevamrit, FYM and Beejamrit increases the micro flora population of soil and yield suggesting thereby a positive correlation between fungal population and yield of Arhar (Cajanus cajan) in organic field compared to inorganic field (Shaikh and Gachande, 2015). A trial in Dharwad (Karnataka) stated that Bacteria isolated from Beejamrit increases N2 fixation, inocitol acetic acid, gibberalic acid production and P-solubilization in addition to suppression of Sclerotium. However, not every experiment was in favour of Beejamrutha other liquid organic formulations as like Panchgavva, vermiwash were far better in terms of chemical analysis and growth and yield (Chadha et al., 2012). They also discovered that Beejamrit was the most successful seed treatment, with 92 percent seed germination of pea seeds compared to 56 percent in the control treatment. It acts as a potent antibacterial and antifungal solution. Chandrakala, (2008) found out that seed weight of chilli was control treatments with increased over the application of Beejamrut +Jeevamrit +Panchagavva.

Jeevamrit/ Jeevamruta

Jeevamrit is a fermented microbial culture which acts as a fertilizer substitute made from water (200 litre), cow dung (10 kg), cow urine (5-10 litre), pulse flour (2 kg), jaggary (2 kg) and handful of soil from the farm. To ferment and to multiply aerobic and anaerobic bacteria 48 hours are given to mixture. It is believed that jaggery acts as a nutrient source for native soil microbes. Very high amount of microbial load was found under *jeevamrit* which helps in increasing soil bio mass even if we supply it at very lesser rate which helps in increasing soil health. *Jeevamrit* comparison with various other organics, Chongre *et al.* (2019) in Mohanpur (West Bengal) inferred that for better organic package for gram, FYM @ 12 kg N equivalent at land preparation and Panchgavya @ 8 kg N equivalent (twice at 30 DAS and 45 DAS by irrigation water) may be advised. It is often said that it promotes immense biological activity. According to Palekar, to make system selfsustaining Jeevamrit is given only first three years. Lahariya et al. (2013) recorded significantly highest yield of soybean grain (16.70 g/ha) and straw application (30.27)q/ha) with of 100% recommended of dose nitrogen through vermicompost +Jeevamrit which was statistically at par with that of 100% RDN through vermicompost, whereas lowest yield was obtained in control and Jeevamrit alone. However, the minimum bulk density was found with application of 100% RDN through vermicompost + *jeevamrut*. According to Palekar (2005) all the nutrients that are required for the growth and development of crops are already presented in the soil thus no external input is required, we have to unlocked the existing nutrients and make bioavailable via Jeevamrit. Later it was called Annapurna.

With the application of Beejamrit, Jeevamrit and Panchagavya increase in yield of soybean by 25 to 35 % was reported by Shwetha and Babalad (2008). In general, it is not a substitute for fertilizer but it acts as a catalytic agent that promotes microbes and biological activities. In another experiment in Ludhiana (Pb), Aulakh et al. (2018) reported that crop productivity was not influenced with the application of Jeevamrit on the other hand soil microbial population was increased. Jeevamrit is also said to increase earthworm count that increases the aeration and water holding capacity and thus root surface area that increases the nutrient absorption. Lahariya et al. (2013) recorded the minimum bulk density of soil and highest hydraulic conductivity (HC), mean weight diameter (MWD) and available water capacity (AWC) with application of 100% RDN through vermicompost + Jeevamrit, might be due to presence of organic material.

Acchadana (mulch)

By managing soil temperature, maintaining soil moisture and lowering soil evaporation, mulching is an effective means of manipulating the cropgrowing environment to boost crop productivity and quality (Chakraborty *et al.*, 2008). Three types

of mulches which was suggested according to Palekar- i) Soil mulch- It protect the top soil during cultivation. He also suggested to avoid deep tillage, ii) Straw mulch- The previously grown crops residues or biomass from nearby trees or shrubs are used as a mulching and iii) Live mulch- It is necessary to grow monocot and dicot crops in the same field to get all the essential nutrients.

One of the key benefits of mulch is that it conserves soil moisture (Mulumba and Lal, 2008). Mulching enhanced soybean seed yields, according to Sekhon *et al.* (2005) in addition they said that it also raised plant biomass and nodule mass. All of the growth parameters were also improved. Despite these benefits, farmers have not taken to mulching since crop response varies depending on the season. According to Jordan *et al.* (2010), increasing mulching rates increased soil physical qualities. Under a mulching rate of 6 Mg ha-1year-1, there was a reduction in runoff generation and soil losses to bare soil.

Plastic mulching is considered as a better option for disease control as it leaves no chemical residue. Jalota et al. (2007) review shows that improvement was found in yield of crops with the use of straw mulching in Punjab. This practice also saved irrigation water and fertilizer nitrogen. The benefits of mulching are more in summer/ kharif season and on soils having low water retentivity. Chakraborty et al. (2010) burning of wheat and rice straw in the Indo-Gangetic plains is also causing one of the major causes of air pollution in northern Indian states. Central and state governments are also giving incentives to the farmers for not burning stubble and straw but it doesn't seem to be working at all. Mulching found to be effective in improving 25 % efficiency of crop water use and reduction of 3-11% water. Mulumba and Lal (2008) found that increasing mulch rates increased available water capacity up to 35%, total porosity up to 46% and soil moisture retention at low suctions up to 70%.

Legume intercropping advantages

Intercropping refers to planting two or more crops on the same field at the same time (Sangakkara *et al.*, 2003; Belel *et al.*, 2014). Baby corn equivalent yield and land use efficiency were higher in intercropping systems (47.2 percent), land use efficiency (15.3 percent) and monetary advantages, notably in 2:2 row ratios baby corn + pea and baby corn + chickpea appeared to be the best intercropping systems in terms of yield benefits and economic returns. There are plenty of documents that praise the idea of intercropping both theoretically and practically that includes better yield, better use of environment resources, reduction of insect- pest and weed damage and fertility. improved soil Among different intercropping systems studied, According to Swain et al. (2012), the mango + guava + cowpea system increased soil physical and chemical properties. It may be suggested that inter-cropping breaks the chain of infection/events and it is also known that mono-cropping generally make the soil sick. It is generally said that inter-cropping increases dry mass production, reduced nitrogen application, crop diversity, better land utilization than sole cropping system according to Gitari et al. (2018). It is also generally seen that in intercropping there should be companion effect between major crop and intercrop otherwise it may have negative effect on yield and other growth factors. It may not come as a surprise that largest importers of pulses in world is India and in the year 2018 it has imported pulses to a staggering amount of 1040 million US dollars (APEDA, 2018).

Plant Protection

According to Subhas Palekar, disease control and prevention in natural farming can be done by locally sourced concoctions like *Neemasatra*, *Agniastra* and various others.

Rana et al. (2006) reported that fermented buttermilk and cow urine mixture (1:1) was found to inhibit the pathogen at 10 % concentration. For seed treatment, seeds were also treated with organic inputs and Beejamrit was more successful as it resulted in 94.66 % seed germination and also reduced Pvricularia infection to 4% compared with control where infection was 24%. Pathania et al. (2006) reported that maximum mycelial inhibition of 72.9 % followed by Panchgavya with 62.9 % was recorded with cow urine @10 %. When dashaparni extract, Azadirachta indica leaf extract and Azadirachta gcapsicum alliums extract were used instead of a combination of the above bioorganic formulations, the total plant biomass was found to be higher. Sharma et al. (2015) found that 10 % aqueous leaf extract of Polygonum

hydropiper followed by Panchgavya @ 10% in capsicum and a module containing soil treatment with Panchgavya @ 10% followed by sprays of neem oil at 10-day intervals, respectively, were effective against mustard aphid. Panchgavya and Lantana camara were proven to be highly effective aphidicides against cowpea and okra aphids. Lower cost of cultivation, no toxic effects, no toxic effect on environment and have no residual effect these all-good impacts are linked to organic insecticides.

Subhash palekar natural farming

Other organic pesticides and insecticides are also available in market as *Chrysanthemum* based pyrethroids and *neem*-based insecticides as *Achook* and various others.

Vocal critique of ZBNF

The government should not spend financial and human resources promoting ZBNF, which is behind in terms of production and productivity, and will result in a significant setback to the goal of food security according to Panjab Singh, president of the National Academy of Agricultural Sciences (NAAS). Indian soil is deficient in many nutrients and *Jeevamrit* is not able to supply all the nutrients in the required amount and time. Natural farming uses traditional varieties that yield lower than high yielding varieties (HYV). Many scientists calling it a half-baked concept which overthrows the whole idea of two centuries study of soil chemistry and fertility. It is basically considered as more of naturistic and philosophical way of farming rather logical and scientific way of doing it. It is fairly new concept rather an untested one that needs a scientific validation from the farmers, scientists, policymakers and NGOs across the country. The Subhas Palekar natural farming (SPNF) methods are not new discovery and products obtained from desi cows were used in pre-green revolution era and that resulted in famine, low crop productivity, hunger and several other predicaments that has been proven albatross for food security at national level and this farming system should not entrusted with farmers money, time and resources. As its adoption rate is increasing it can be seen as threat to capitalist industries of fertilizers, pesticides and several other agricultural chemicals. There is the trend that positively correlates the increases in use of NPK fertilizers has increased the yield.

ICAR/NITI Aayog view of ZBNF

In the Business Standard Vice- Chairman NITI Aayog wrote a two-part article on ZBNF. He described it as a "unique and proven solution for environmental degradation and farmer distress". He wanted it quickly scaled up without awaiting certification from some "respected foreign institutions". With ZBNF, he said, "Indian agriculture can emerge as an example for the rest of the world". Speaking to The Print, Trilochan Mohapatra, Secretary, Agricultural Research and Education, said: "Trials are going on in Modipuram (Uttar Pradesh), Ludhiana (Punjab), Pantnagar (Uttarakhand) and Kurukshetra (Haryana). It will take at least two to three years to get results. We will only launch the scheme then." Mohapatra added that a team has been constituted under Telangana University vice-chancellor Dr Praveen Rao and Prof. Jaishankar of the same university to oversee the trials. The plan is to expand the tests to 20 other locations. Natural farming overthrows the whole idea of father of fertilizer industry 'Justus Von Liebig' law of restitution and calls him Mr Lie Big. In my conclusion I want to say that it is a very unique and tailored fit farming system for small and marginal farmers to uplift them from poverty. In terms of soil health, it is an excellent idea as it doesn't rely on chemicals for growth and development but uses native micro-flora for nutrients and also makes soil sustainable and healthy.

Conclusion

Beejamrit was seen to result better germination percentage than any treatment and cow urine is known to have antibiotic effects. Jeevamrit was unable to provide all the adequate nutrients in the required time but in combination with other vermicompost, organics like FYM and Panchgavya, it has shown better results than other treatments. The increase in native earthworm species increased water-holding capacity and aeration that make the crops less dependent on irrigation. The low cost of preparation of Beejamrutha and Jeevamrit certainly has edge over chemical fertilizers and other seed treatments. Nature farming is one of the highways through

which India can achieve all sustainable development goals and inspire a million more to adopt it. Adoption of ZBNF will remove the extra burden of fertilizers and other chemicals imports, taxes and fertilizers subsidies which will certainly save thousands of crores of government money. Maintenance of soil fertility through crop rotation was an old idea but effective one and use of agroforestry to conserve soil and water erosion is also effective and it will also give extra income. The use of neem products and black pepper also found effective because of less incidence of pest and disease due to zero application of chemical nitrogen and more resilient traditional seeds varieties. But it was worth notable that there was no measure to counteract weeds and their ill effects as we all know that weeds cause about 33% loss in crop productivity and this coupled with low efficiency of Jeevamrit will jolt the crop productivity and hence, in the era of food security we cannot afford to suffer from low productivity. Economic survey has dedicated a section to natural farming dictating its ecological benefits to soil fertility and water stress. Subhas Palekar natural farming (SPNF) has a great potential among low income farmers but wide research across every ecological situation with willingness by policymaker will inspire the world to adopt chemical free farming. Conventional farming has ensured that India produce enough grain to export but the modern farming system has become unsustainable as the yield is decreasing along with ecological contamination and financial troubles for farmers make it dysfunctional. In the 21st century we have to find an alternative that doesn't compromise our battle with poverty and hunger along with sustaining nature.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank Dharmik. G. Borisagar for supporting this review with economics data and Disha Patiyal for her constant support in writing this review article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Akarsh, S., Pavithra, G.R., Roopa, K.N., Ranjitha, M.C., & Kekuda, T.R.P. (2016). Antifungal Activity of Cow Urine Extracts of Selected Plants against Phytopathogenic. *Scholars Journal of Agriculture and Veterinary Sciences*, 305-308.
- Aulakh, C.S., Singh, H., Waliya, S.S., Phutela, R.P., & Singh, G. (2018). Evaluation of nutrient sources for organic production of rice (*Oryza sativa*)-wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cropping system in north-west India. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*, 63(2), 137-144.
- Belel, M.D., Halim, R.A., Rafii, M.Y, & Saud, H.M. (2014). Intercropping of cornwith some selected legumes for improved forage production: A review. *Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 6(3), 48–62.
- Chadha, S., Rameshwar, Ashlesha, Saini, J.P., & Paul, Y.S. (2012). Vedic Krishi: Sustainable livelihood option for small and marginal farmers. *Indian Journal of traditional Knowledge*, 11(3), 480-486.
- Chakraborty, D., Nagarajan, S., Aggarwal, P., Gupta, V.K., Tomar, R.K., Garg, R.N., Sahoo, R.N., Sarkar, A., Chopra, U.K., Sarma, K.S.S., & Kalra, N. (2008). Effect of mulching on soil and plant water status and the growth and yield of wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*) in a semi-arid environment. *Agriculture Water Management*, 95, 1323-1334.
- Chakraborty, D., Garg, R.N., Tomar, R.K., Singha, R., Sharma, S.K., Singh, R.K., Trivedi, S.M., Mittal, R.B., Sharma, P.K., & Kamblea, K.H. (2010). Synthetic and organic mulching and nitrogen effect on winter wheat (*Triticum* aestivum L.) in a semi-arid environment. Agricultural Water Management, 97, 738–748.
- Chandrakala, M. (2008). Effectof FYM and fermented liquid manures on yield and quality of chilli (*Capsicum annuum* L.). M.Sc. Thesis. University of Agriculture Science, Dharwad.
- Chongre, R., Mondal, R., Biswas, S., Munshi, A., Mondal, R., & Pramanick, M. (2019). Effect of Liquid Manure on Growth and Yield of Summer Green Gram (*Vigna radiata* L. Wilczek). *Current Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 1-7.
- Galab, S., Reddy, P.P.D., Raju, D.S.R., Ravi, C. & Rajani, C. (2019). Impact Assessment of Zero Budget Natural Farming in Andhra Pradesh – *Kharif* 2018-19. ZBNF Issue Brief. http://www.vedicbooks.net/principles-spiritualfarming-volume-p-14779.html.
- Gitari, H.I., Nancy, Karanjaa, N., Charles, K.K., Gachenea, Kamaua, S., Sharma, K., Geldermannb, S.E. (2018). Nitrogen and phosphorous uptake by potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) and their use efficiency under potato-legume intercropping systems. *Field Crops Research*, 222, 78–84.

- Jalota, S.K., Khera, R., Arora, V.K. & Beri, V. (2007). Benefits of straw mulching in crop Production: A review. *Journal of Research, Punjab agricultural University*, 44(2), 104-107.
- Jandaik, S., Thakur, P., & Kumar, V. (2015). Efficacy of Cow Urine as Plant Growth Enhancer and Antifungal Agent. *Advances in Agriculture*, 1-7.
- Jordan, A., Zavala, L.M., & Gil, J. (2010). Effects of mulching on soil physical properties and runoff under semi-arid conditionsin southern Spain. *Catena*, 81, 77–85.
- Khadse, A., Rosset, P. M., Morales, H., & Ferguson, B. G. (2018). Taking agroecology to scale: The zero-budget natural farming peasant movement in Karnataka, India. *The Journal of Peasant Studies*, 45(1), 192-219.
- Khadse, M., & Rosset, P.M. (2019). Zero Budget Natural Farming in India – from inception to institutionalization. *Agro-ecology-and-sustainable-food-systems*, 43(7), 848– 871.
- Kumar, S.S., Punam, Saini, J.P., & Chadha, S. (2014). Management of aphid pest by growing organic input in organically grown crops. *International Journal of Agriculture Science & Veterinary Medicine*, 2(1), 116-121.
- Kumar, A., Shiri, T., Jain, S., Kushwaha, A., & Tyagi, N. (2019). Studies on indigenous cow (*Bos indicus*) based bioorganic formulations (BOFS) in tomato cultivation for increasing soil health stipulation. *Journal of Plant Development Sciences*, 11(1), 20-29.
- Lahariya, G.S., Patil, D.U., & Damare, P.R. (2013). Effect of organic sources on soil fertility, nutrient uptake and yield of soybean. *Crop Research*, 45(1), 155-159.
- Mulumba, L.N., & Lal, R. (2008). Mulching effects on selected soil physical properties. *Soil & Tillage Research*, 98, 106– 111.
- NAAS. (2019). Zero Budget Natural Farming A Myth or Reality? Policy Paper No. 90, National Academy of Agricultural Sciences, New Delhi: 20
- Palekar, S. (2005). The philosophy of spiritual farming I. 2nd ed. Amravati: Zero Budget NaturalFarming Research, Development & Extension Movement, Amravati, Maharashtra, India.
- Palekar, S. (2006). The principles of spiritual farming II. 2nd ed. Amravati: Zero Budget Natural Farming Research, Development & Extension Movement, Amravati, Maharashtra, India.
- Pathania, R., Thakur, B.R., & Rana, D. (2019). Efficacy of organic products against *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. Ciceris *Plant Disease Research*, 34(1), 51-53.

- Rana, D., Paul, Y.S., & Upmanyu, S. (2016). Organic management of paddy blast using indigenous technical knowledge based organic inputs. *Plant Disease Research*, 31(1), 15-18.
- Sangakkara, U.R., Richner, W., Schnider, M.K. & Stamp, P. (2003). Impact of intercropping beans (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) and sunhemp (*Crotalaria juncea* L.) on growth, yields and nitrogen uptake of maize (*Zea mays* L.) grown in the humid tropics during the minor rainy season. *Maydica*, 48, 233–238.
- Sekhon, N.K., Hira, G.S., Sidhu, A.S., & Thind, S.S. (2005). Response of soybean (*Glycine max Mer.*) to wheatstraw mulching in different cropping seasons. *Soil Use and Management*, 21, 422–426.
- Shaikh, N.F., & Gachande, B.D. (2015). Correlation between Soil Mycoflora and Productivity under Influence of Organic and Inorganic Inputs Applied Field of *Cajanus cajan. International Journal of Science and Research*, 5(1), 191-195.
- Sharma, C.R. & Banik, P. (2015). Baby Corn-Legumes Intercropping Systems: I. Yields, Resource Utilization Efficiency and Soil Health, Agroecology and Sustainable Food Systems, 39(1), 41-61.
- Shubha, S., Devakumar, N., Rao, G.G.E., & Gowda, S.B. (2014). Effect of Seed treatment, Panchagavya application

and Organic Farming Systems on Soil microbial population, Growth and Yield of Maize. Proceedings of the 4th ISOFAR Scientific Conference. 'Building Organic Bridges', at the Organic World Congress 2014, 13-15 Oct., Istanbul, Turkey (23483).

- Shwetha, B.N., & Babalad. (2008). Effect of nutrient management through organics in soybean wheat cropping system. M. Sc. (Agri.) Thesis, University of Agricultural Sciences, Dharwad, Karnataka.
- Sreenivasa, M.N., Naik, N., & Bhat, S.N. (2009). Beejamrutha: A source for beneficial bacteria. *Karnataka Journal* Agriculture Science, 22(5), 1038-1040.
- Sujana, S., Kohale, V.S., Gawali, K., Khadse, K. & Nagmote, A.V. (2019). Effect of FYM and organic solutions on yield and quality of chilli (*Capsicum annum L.*). Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry, 8(5), 251-254.
- Swain, S.C., Dora, D.K., Sahoo, S.C., Padhi, S.K., & Sanyal, D. (2012). Influence of mango-based intercropping systems on improvement of soil health under rainfed situation. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 43(15), 2018-2026.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal





Response of different methods of sowing and organic manures on growth and yield of Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)

Bandi Gnana Prakash 🖂

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agriculture Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India.

Joy Dawson

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agriculture Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India.

Thomas Abraham

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agriculture Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India.

M. R. Meshram

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agriculture Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 09 September 2021	To study the retaliation performances of various methodologies of sowing by
Revised : 30 November 2021	accompanying organic manures on growth, yield, and all other yield attributes
Accepted : 13 December 2021	of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) crop. A field experiment was executed
	during the Rabi season of 2020-21 at the crop research farm of SHUATS,
Published online: 31 January 2022	Prayagraj. The experiment was laid out in the most commonly encountered
- <u></u>	Randomized Block Design (RBD) with three replications of each treatment for
Key Words:	all traits. Given this experiment three methods of sowing, i.e. M1
Agronomic	(Broadcasting), M2 (Line sowing), M3 (System of Wheat Intensification) as
Manure	well as three organic manures <i>i.e.</i> O1 (Farmyard manure 12 t/ha), O2 (Poultry
Organic farming	manure 5 t/ha), O3 (Vermicompost 4 t/ha) and two liquid manures
Sowing	Panchagavya 3% and Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha. And the liquid manures were
Wheat	foliar sprayed at 15, 30, and 45 days after sowing (DAS). Results were revealed
	that the maximum number of tillers (10.53), Dry weight (18.00 g/plant),
	Effective tillers (10.43), Spike length (11.73 cm), and Grains per spike (58.38)
	were found to be significantly higher with the application of treatment SWI +
	Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500/h FS as
	compared to the other treatments. Maximum values were ensured with Plant
	height (78.30 cm), test weight (36.73 g), Grain vield (3.16 t/ha), Straw vield
	(4.48 t/ha), and harvest index (41.39 %). Hence with the current experiment's
	outputs, this study concluded that Line sowing + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) +
	Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS were produced more grains
	and productivity as compared to other organic treatment combinations.
	outputs, this study concluded that Line sowing + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS were produced more grains and productivity as compared to other organic treatment combinations.

Introduction

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) is one of the entire world's greatest crops that excels all other cereals both in area and production, called as "king of cereals". It's a highly nutritious cereal foodstuff and its organic compound yield per acre far exceeds that of animal products. Wheat grain rich in food value containing 12% protein, 1.72% fat, 69.60% carbohydrate, and 27.20% minerals (BARI, 2016). Wheat occupied a dominant position in the Indian

food security system and it was consumed as one of the major staple food around a minimum of 43 countries. Global wheat is cultivated in an area of about 220 million hectares with a record production of 763.06 million tonnes of grain. In India wheat is the second most important cereal crop next to the rice and key crop of the revolution era. India stands second among wheat-producing countries in area and production. In India, the wheat cultivated area rose to 30.54 million hectares from 29.04 million hectares with a net gain of 5% in area APEDA

(2019). The Broadcasting method produced the foremost effective spacing. While different methods of sowing methods are adopted by farmers for wheat cultivation. In which as compared to traditional drill planting, broadcast seedling would force 10-20 yet one more seed, it's simple, faster, easier than traditional row and spacing methodology. Line sowing is being practiced with proper row spacing and is an advisable sowing method because of its uniform plant population per unit area. As seeds are planted at an even depth and covered with soil, high germination and uniform stands are expected. Wheat intensification may be a new concept and goes with the systematic rice intensification (SRI) principle. Just in the case of SWI, all agronomic principles of SWI are put into practice and integrated with a package of practices of wheat crop. The technology has a high potentiality to provide a high wheat yield per drop of water as well per kg of agriculture inputs (Dhar et al., 2016). Adaptation of this technology can increase the productivity of wheat over two times (Uphoof et al., 2011). The role of foliar application or seed soaking of panchagavya in the production of many plantation crops had been well documented in India. These organic formulations contain all the trace elements and some essential plant growth hormones. Natural plant growth regulators (e.g. Auxin, Gibberellin, and cytokinin) present in these liquid organic formulations give a major boost to crop yields by accelerating the plant metabolic function. Presence of macro (N, P, K, and Ca) and micro (Zn, Fe, Cu, and Mn) nutrients besides total reducing sugar (glucose) in liquid manure (Papen et al., 2002; Swaminathan et al., 2007). Organic manures in agriculture add up a much-needed organic and mineral touch on the soil. The organic matter added is an imperative component of soil, and plays a vital role in the maintenance and improvement of soil fertility and productivity. The rise in eco-friendly production of wheat is often made possible by wider spread adaption of improved technologies of which fertilizer management, particularly that the nitrogen and organic manure can play a key role. It must be stressed that the worth of FYM, Vermicompost, Poultry manure, and manures in soil improvement is because of their nutrient content. To overcome

the problem of nutrient deficiency and help nature rather than destroy it. Organic sources of nutrients are the best option to maintain the health of soil, plant, and animal and provide equal opportunity for all living existence to live and use from their beneficial activities, like nitrogen fixation, phosphorus solubilization, recycling of animal's waste, etc. Hence, the present study was undertaken. This, those two-factor sowing methods and organic manure interrelate providing important insight to the study combination effect on wheat production. Keeping these in view, an experiment was planned to study the Response of methods of sowing and organic manures on the growth and yield of wheat.

Hence, the present investigation was carried out to study the agronomic evaluation of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) under a certified organic production system.

Material and Methods

A field experiment was conducted during the Rabi season of 2020-21 at Crop Research Farm, Department of Agronomy, SHUATS, Prayagraj (U.P) which is located at 25 degrees 24'41.27" N latitude, 81 degrees 50'56" E longitude, and 98 m altitude above the sea level. During this season soil (sandy loam), tested at a certified organic farm, SMOF. [SMOF was developed under the National Project on Organic Farming (NPOF) by the Department of Agronomy, the 2 hectares area has been certified by Lacon Quality Certification (P) Ltd, (Accreditation by Ministry of Commerce, Govt. of India). Naini Agriculture Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj. Having nearly neutral in soil reaction (pH 7.0), organic carbon (0.375 %), available nitrogen (168.75 kg/ha), available phosphorus (17.4 kg/ha) and available potassium (231.7 kg/ha). The climate of the region is semi-arid subtropical. In this experiment, a total of nine treatments has been developed and were tested. Treatment comprised of T_1 - Broadcasting + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T_2 - Line sowing + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T₃- SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T4-Broadcasting + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T_5 - Line sowing + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T₆- SWI + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T₇-Broadcasting + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T₈- Line sowing + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T₉- SWI + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS, T₉- SWI + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS. Nine treatments were replicated thrice in Randomized Complete Block Design. Organic Manures were applied in advance to the sowing day and whereas the liquid foliar sprays were applied in different time intervals as 15, 30, and 45 days after sowing (DAS).

Chemical analysis of soil

Composite soil samples are collected before the layout of the experiment to determine the initial soil properties. The soil samples are collected from 0-15 cm depth and were dried under shade, powdered with wooden pestle and mortar, passed through a 2 mm sieve, and were analyzed for organic carbon by rapid titration method by Nelson (1975). Soil texture by Bouyoucos Hydrometer Method (Gee and Baudev, 1986). Available nitrogen was estimated by alkaline permanganate method by Subbiah and Asija (1956), available phosphorus by (Olsen et al., 1954) and available potash was determined by Flame photometric method, Jackson (1973), available potassium was determined by using the flame photometer normal ammonium acetate solution and estimating by using flame photometer (ELICO Model) as outlined.

Statistical analysis

The data recorded were different characteristics were subjected to statistical analysis by adopting Fishers the method of analysis of variance (ANOVA) as described by Gomez and Gomez (2010). Critical difference (CD) values were calculated the 'F' test was found significantly at 5% level.

Results and Discussion Response on plant height (cm)

Observations recorded in respective to the plant height of wheat were represented in Table 1 there was an increase in crop age and plant height was progressively noticed with the advancement during the experimentation period. The analysis on plant height was significantly higher in all the different growth intervals with the different methods of sowing and organic manures. At harvest, maximum plant height (78.30 cm) was recorded with the application of Line sowing + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which was significantly superior over all the treatments and statistically at par with treatment of Line sowing + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (77.80 cm) and Line sowing + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (76.76 cm). This may be due to the application of poultry manure leading to the availability of nutrients necessary for the good growth of the plant. These results are consistent with what was achieved by Abbas et al. (2012) and Rasul et al. (2015). Chandrashekar et al. (2000) reported that application of poultry manure at 10 t/ha with recommended rates of fertilizers produced taller plants (187.5 cm) as compared to control.

Response on No. of tillers per plant of wheat

The obtained results in response to the tillers per hill were depicted in Table 1 and there were tillers progressively increased with the advancement of the crop during the crop growth period. At harvest maximum number of tillers per plant (10.53) was recorded with the application of SWI + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which is significantly superior over all the treatments and statistically at par with treatment of SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (10.26) and SWI + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (10.23). Several tillers were influenced significantly by different spacings and planting methods. SWI technique decreases the competition between the plant for light, water, space, and nutrients hence there is an increased number of tillers. There is an increase in the number of tillers in wheat crops due to the influence of different organic fertilizer combinations (Singh et al., 2011).

Response on Dry weight (g/plant)

Recorded observations relative to the dry weight were given in Table 1 and there was dry weight had given consecutively increased performance from 20 DAS to till harvest. At harvest, maximum dry weight (18.00 g/plant) was recorded with application of SWI+ Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS

Tuostanonta	Growth attributes of wheat at Harvest			
reatments	Plant height (cm)	No. of Tillers/plant	Dry weight (g)	
T ₁ - Broadcasting + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	72.57	5.43	16.94	
T ₂ - Line sowing + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	77.8	7.41	17.01	
T ₃ - SWI + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	72.9	10.26	17.59	
T ₄ - Broadcasting + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	74.43	5.7	16.04	
T ₅ -Line sowing + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	78.3	7.47	16.71	
T ₆ - SWI + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	73.7	10.53	18.00	
T ₇ - Broadcasting + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	70.26	5.58	15.14	
$T_{\rm 8^-}$ Line sowing + Vermi compost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	76.76	7.23	16.02	
T ₉ - SWI + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	71.93	10.23	17.05	
SEm (±)	1.24	0.13	0.35	
CD (5%)	3.68	0.41	1.05	

Table 1: Response of wheat by different methods of sowing and organic manures



Treatment	No. of Effective	Spike length	No of grains	Test weight
	tillers	(cm)	per spike	(g)
T ₁ - Broadcasting + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	5.26	10.44	47.11	29.23
T ₂ - Line sowing + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	7.27	10.75	48.56	35.13
T ₃ - SWI + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	10.16	11.35	54.76	30.43
T ₄ - Broadcasting + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	5.53	10.43	45.7	29
T ₅ -Line sowing + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	7.36	10.94	49.97	36.73
T ₆ - SWI + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	10.43	11.73	58.38	31.1
T ₇ - Broadcasting + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	5.48	10.21	41.82	27.6
T ₈ - Line sowing + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	7.13	10.63	47.96	31.5
T ₉ - SWI + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	10.13	11.00	52.28	29.93
SEm(±)	0.13	0.29	1.46	0.69
C.D (P=0.05)	0.39	0.88	4.34	2.05

which were significantly superior over all other treatments except with application of SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (17.59 g/plant), SWI + Vermicompost (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (17.05 g/plant), Line sowing + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (17.01 g/plant) were statistically on par. The cause of the rapid increase of Dry matter at crop harvest or ripening stage was possibly due to the emergence of the number of new tillers per plant and more fertile spike per plant (Alam, 2012).

The response over yield attributes of wheat

Observations regarding yield attributes are given in Table 2. Maximum number of effective tillers per plant (10.43) was recorded with application of SWI + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which was significantly superior over all other treatments except with the application of SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (10.16) and SWI + VC (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l /ha FS (10.16) are statistically at par with SWI + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS.

Treatment	Grain yield	Straw yield	Harvest index
T Broadcasting + EVM 12 t/ba + Panchagayya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 I /ba	2 28	3 55	39.05
T_1 - Broadcasting + F100 12 tha + Fahenagavya 5/6 + Sectamental 300 E/ha T_2 - Line sowing + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.99	4.31	40.80
T ₃ - SWI + FYM 12 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.75	3.95	41.03
T ₄ - Broadcasting + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.2	3.44	38.95
T ₅ -Line sowing + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	3.16	4.48	41.39
T ₆ - SWI + Poultry manure 5 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.66	3.92	40.45
T ₇ - Broadcasting + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.12	3.37	38.61
T ₈ - Line sowing + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.51	3.78	39.91
T ₉ - SWI + Vermicompost 4 t/ha + Panchagavya 3% + Jeevamrutha 500 L/ha	2.37	3.63	39.52
SEm(±)	0.05	0.05	0.42
C.D (P=0.05)	0.17	0.17	1.26

Table 3: Yield of wheat by different methods of sowing and organic manures

Spike length (11.73 cm) was recorded maximum with the application of SWI + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which were significantly superior over all other treatments except with the application of SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (11.35 cm), SWI + VC (4 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (11.00 cm) and Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (10.94 cm) were statistically at par with SWI + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS. The maximum number of grains per spike (58.38) was recorded with the application of SWI + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which was significantly superior over all other treatments except with the application of SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (54.76) was found. Maximum test weight (36.73 g) was recorded with the application of Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which were significantly superior over all the treatments except with the application of Line sowing + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (35.13 g) was found statistically at par with Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) +Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS.

The improvement in yield attributes, i.e., the number of grains per spike of wheat with the application of organic manures may be assigned to decomposition that fact proper the and mineralization of these manures supplied available plant nutrients directly to plants and also had a solubilizing effect on the fixed form of nutrients in the soil (Singh and Singh, 2005). The observation regarding yield is given in Table 3. Grain yield is an important and considerable trait all the time. Maximum grain yield (3.16 t/ha) and Straw yield (4.48 t/ha) were recorded with the application of Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS which were significantly superior overall the treatments except with the treatment of Line sowing + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS with grain yield (2.99 t/ha) and Straw yield (4.31 t/ha) which were statistically on par with Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS. This in turn might have increased the values of growth and yield contributing attributes which are reflected in the grain and straw yield of wheat. A similar finding was reported by the higher yield maybe because these organic manures supply directly available nutrients such as nitrogen to plants and these organic manures improve the portion of water

holding stable aggregates of the 2008). (Channabasanagowda *et al.*, While maximum harvest index (41.39 %) was recorded with application of Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) +Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 /ha FS which were significantly superior over all the treatments except with the treatment of SWI + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (41.03 %), Line sowing + FYM (12 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (40.80 %) and SWI + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS (40.45 %) which were statistically at par with Line sowing + PM (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS. It might be due to enhancement of grain yield and straw yield which in turn results in a higher harvest index. Due to the yield and straw yield which is out turned into higher harvest index. Similar findings are found by the Amin and Baque (2019).

References

- Abbas, G., Khattak, J. Z. K., Mir, A., Ishaque, M., Hussain, M., Wahedi, H. M., ... & Ullah, A. (2012). Effect of organic manures with recommended dose of NPK on the performance of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). J. Anim. Plant. Sci, 22(3), 683-687.
- Alam, M. S. (2012). Effect of sowing patterns and nitrogen rates on quality traits and yield of wheat. *Journal of Environmental Science and Natural Resources*, 5(1), 267-272.
- Amin, A. K. M. R., & Baque, M. A. (2020). Influence of Organic Manures on Drought Stress at Different Growth Stages of Wheat. *Bangladesh Agronomy Journal*, 23(2), 81-86.
- Anonymous, APEDA (2019). Analytical trade profile of Basmati rice. APEDA Agriexchange. In: https://agriexchange.apeda.gov.in/indexp/reportlist.aspx.
- Auti, A.K., Wadile, S.C. and Pawar, V.S. 1999. Yield, quality, and nutrient removal of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) as influenced by levels and sources of fertilizer. *Indian J. Agron.* 44(1): 119-120.
- BARI (Bangladesh Agricultural Research Institute). Annual report for (2016). *Bangladesh Agril. Res. Inst.*, Joydebpur, Gazipur, Bangladesh 2016, 22-23.
- Chandrashekara, C. P., Harlapur, S. I., Muralikrishna, S., & Girijesh, G. K. (2000). Response of maize (Zea mays L.) to organic manures with inorganic fertilizers. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 13(1), 144-146.

soil Conclusion

It is concluded that application of Line sowing + Poultry manure (5 t/ha) + Panchagavya 3% FS + Jeevamrutha 500 l/ha FS was found more productive in grain yield (3.16 t/ha).

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Department of Agronomy, Naini Agriculture Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj- 211007, Uttar Pradesh, India for providing us necessary facilities to undertake the studies.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Channabasanagowda, N. K., Patil, B., Patil, B. N., Awaknavar, J. S., Ninganurn, B. T., & Hunje, R. (2008). Effect of

organic manures on growth, seed yield and quality of wheat. *Karnataka J. Agric. Sci*, 21(3), 366-368.

- Dhar, S., Barah, B. C., Vyas, A. K., & T. Uphoff, N. (2016). Comparing System of Wheat Intensification (SWI) with standard recommended practices in the northwestern plain zone of India. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, 62(7), 994-1006.
- Gee, G.W. and Baudev, J.W. 1986. Particle size analysis. In methods of soil analysis. Part 1, Physical and mineralogical method (A. kluse Ed) pp. 404-408. Agronomy monogram No.9, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, w1.
- Gomez, K.A. and Gomez, A.A. 1984. *Statistical Procedures* for Agricultural Research. 2nd edition. New York, 680p.
- Hegsted, D. N., 1965, What challenges to nutritionists. *Cereals Sci.* Today, 10:257-259.
- Jackson, M. L. (1973). Soil chemical analysis, pentice hall of India Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, India, 498, 151-154.
- Mac Gillivray, J.H., and Basley, J. B., 1962, Amino acid production per acre by plants and animals. *Acon. Bot.*, 16:25-30.
- Nelson, D.W. and Sommers, L.E. 1975. A rapid and accurate procedure for estimation of organic carbon in the soil. *Proceedings of Indian Academy of Sciences* 64; 1815-1826.

- Papen, H., Gabler, A., Zumbusch, E. and Rennenberg, H. 2002. Chemo litho autotrophic nitrifiers in the phyllosphere of a Spruce ecosystem receive high nitrogen input *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences.* 44: 56-60.
- Raghuwanshi, R.K.S. and Umat, Rajiv 1994. Integrated nutrient management in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor)-wheat (Triticum aestivum) cropping system. Indian Journal of Agronomy 39(2): 193-197.
- Rasul G.A.M, Ahmed, S.T., Ahmed, M.Q. 2015. Influence of different organic fertilizers on growth and yield of wheat. Am-Euros. J. Agric. & Environ. Sci. 15(6):1123-1126.
- Singh, C.M., P., Mishra, P. K., Singh, A. P., Verma, R., Raha, P., 2011. Impact of integrated nutrient management on growth, yield, and nutrient uptake by wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Asian J. Agriculture Research*. 5(1):76-82.

- Singh, J., & Singh, K. P. (2005). Effect of organic manures and herbicides on yield and yield-attributing characters of wheat. *Indian Journal of Agronomy*, 50(4), 289-291.
- Subbaiah, B. V., & Asija, G. L. (1956). A rapid method for estimation of available N in soil. *Current Science*, 25, 259-260.
- Swaminathan, C., Swaminathan, V. and Vijayalakshmi, K. 2007. Panchagavya: Boon to organic farming. *International Book, Distributing Co.*, Lucknow.
- Uphoff, N., Kassam, A., & Harwood, R. (2011). SRI as a methodology for raising crop and water productivity: productive adaptations in rice agronomy and irrigation water management. *Paddy and Water Environment*, 9(1), 3-11.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Envi

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)

Conservation and successful utilization of landraces for rice improvement

Bidhan Roy 🖂

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar West Bengal, India.

Surje Dinesh Tulsiram

Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Swarnajit Debbarman

Department of Genetics and Plant Breeding, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Gadge Sushant Sundarrao

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Monish Roy

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Pallabi Saha

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Sagnik Poddar

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Utpal Maity

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

H.A. Murali

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

Ranjeet Kumar

Department of Seed Science and Technology, Faculty of Agriculture, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 16 August 2021	Germplasm is the basis of all plant improvement programmes. The collected
Revised : 05 October 2021	landraces of rice possessed high probability of the useful genes for efficient
Accepted : 24 October 2021	application in the breeding programmes to develop high yielding varieties with
	quality and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. Those landraces needs to be
Published online: 31 January 2022	conserved ex situ or in situ. In the rice repository of Uttar Banga Krishi
	Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari has about 200 landraces collected from West
Key Words:	Bengal, Assam and Manipur. Every <i>Kharif</i> season, they are being cultivated and
Farmers' Varieties	seeds are collected to conserve since 2008. High variability has been observed
Mutation	among those varieties. Some special characteristics also have been identified
Recombinants	during characterization and ex situ conservation of those landraces, such as,
Rice biodiversity	long and white sterile lemma, double and triple kernelled spikelets. Important
Somaclonal variation	landraces were used as donor in rice improvement. A number of desirable
Special characters	mutants, recombinant lines and somaclones have been have been developed
	which are in different yield trials. Some pure lines also have been isolated from
	the collected famers' varieties.

Introduction

The creation of rice repository is the most important for crop important. India harbours thousands of local land races of rice. As a cause of land and agro-climate diversities, a large diversity of rice genotypes are present in India. Assam and adjoining states is the primary centre (The Hindustan Centre of Origin, which includes Myanmar, Assam, Malaya Archipelago, Java, Borneo, Sumatra and Philippinese) of origin of rice. Rice landraces are repository of precious characters and need further care for its conservation, characterization and utilization in plant breeding. Huge number of scented and non-scented traditional Farmers' Varieties (FVs) of rice are available in Indian subcontinent. Some cultivars are being extensively grown in specific problem oriented areas. Most of the FVs are tall, lodging susceptible, low yield potential and highly photoperiod-sensitive. There is strong need that the local germplasm of scented and non-scented rice to be collected, preserved and characterized in detail for subsequently utilization of the FVs for rice improvement. The modern high yielding rice varieties were developed following conventional breeding tools, such as pureline selection, hybridization and backcross selection using locally adopted high yielding genotypes. The numbers of parental lines used for rice improvement are extremely limited leading to creation of narrow genetic base. Genetic similarity in crop is undesirable in respects of susceptibility of the crop to disease or insect pest epidemics. A new important source for the introduction of new trait or development of new plant type is the existence of genetically diverse gene pool of scented and nonscented rice in our country. Little effort has been taken to use the local landraces of scented rice for their improvement. Considering the importance of aromatic rice in the international market, and the biotic and abiotic tolerance ability of non-scented rice, in this endeavour about 200 FVs have been collected, characterized and few important FVs have been utilized for rice improvement.

Material and Methods

Collection and Characterization

The collected FVs mostly belong to northern part of West Bengal. A considerable number of FVs were

also collected from southern part of West Bengal, Assam and few were from Manipur. Basic information about FVs were gathered from the particular individual conserving or cultivating farmer. To obtain complete distinctive features of individual cultivar, the FVs were characterized following the Table of Characteristics in the "Guidelines for Conduct of Test for Distinctiveness, Uniformity and Stability on Rice (Oryza sativa L.)" published by PPV&FRA (2007), Government of India. The collected FVs were grown in the University Research Farm, Pundibari, situated at 26°19'N latitude, 99°23'E longitude and at a height of 43 MSL following the standard package of practices for FVs as described by Roy (2015).

Ex situ conservation

About 200 FVs are being conserved *ex situ* by cultivating during every *Kharif* season at Rice Repository, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal.

Utilization in rice improvement

The important FVs were used as donor for rice improvement, such as, Tulaipanji used in mutation breeding, Kalo Nunia used for development of somaclonal variation, Nilachal, Kalo Nunia, Bhog Jeera-1 were used for development of recombinants etc.

Results and Discussion Characterization

The FVs were characterized as per the Table of *Characteristics* in the "Guidelines for Conduct of Test for Distinctiveness, Uniformity and Stability on Rice (Oryza sativa L.)" published by PPV&FRA (2007), Government of India. Considerable variations were reported for yield and yield attributing characters (Roy, 2013; Roy et al., 2013; Roy and Surjec, 2016; Roy et al., 2016; Mahato et al., 2017; Debbarma and Roy, 2017; Surje et al., 2018; Surje et al., 2019).Genetic variations were also observed for grain quality parameters (Mandal et al., 2021). The FVs were found to be nutritionally unique and having high nutritive value. Kataribhog, Sadanunia, Chakhao were identified as promising in terms of resistant starch content, amylose content, glycemic index and antioxidant content. Kataribhog had low glycemic index (~45.72%) and it was lower than the

recommended concentration (Mandal et al., 2021). Regular intake of rice with high glycemic index is associated with risk of type II diabetes, obesity, coronary heart disease and other chronic conditions (Choi et al., 2012). High genetic variability had been reported for number of tillers per plant, days to 50% heading, plant height, number of panicle per plant, panicle length, number of filled grain per panicle, spikelet sterility (%), test weight, grain dimension (length, breadth and thickness) and grain yield. Notable variation was also observed in FVs in terms of qualitative characters (Roy, 2013; Mahato et al., 2017; Surje et al., 2018; Surje et al., 2019), such as panicle shape (compact, loose, erect), awning (awnless, short to long awned), husk colour, (straw, golden, golden brown, purple black), grain shape (long slender, short slender, medium slender, long bold and short bold), lodging (susceptible and tolerant) and aroma (non-aromatic, strong aromatic, mild aromatic).

Ex situ conservation

All the collected FVs are being conserved *ex situ* by cultivating during every Kharif season. For crop standard package of practices cultivation. compatible to the humid tropic of Tarai Zone for FVs as described by Roy (2015) is being followed. Seedlings are raised in the puddle condition during second week of June. Thirty days old seedlings are transplanted (singles seedling per hill) in four lines of 6 m length for each traditional cultivars. Row to row and plant to plant spacing were 30 and 20 cm, respectively. Stringent roguing is done during all the critical stages to keep the cultivars genetically pure. FVs are being conserved ex situ since 2009 at Rice Repository, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India (figure 1). It is worthy to mention that flood during September-October, 2020 in Alipurduar district completely destroyed the field of traditional rice. Jasova. The seed of this cultivar was not available to the farmers due to the flood. During 2013, this variety was collected from Tarai Research Society, Alipurduar and is being conserved *ex situ* at Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari. When it was come to the notice of the Communicating Author of this article about the non-availability of seeds of Jasova. 500 g of seeds was supplied to the farmer of Alipurduar for reviving the cultivation of the

traditional cultivar, Jasoya at farmers' field. This is a successful and unique example of importance of conservation of rice cultivars, reviving of the cultivar and saved the cultivar from extinction.

Utilization in rice improvement

Pure Line Selection: About 40 pure lines were isolated from Kalo Nunia (Roy, 2013). Few of them are performing well. Uttar Sugandhi (IET 24616) is pure line isolated from Kalo Nunia (table 1 & figure 2) performed well in multi-locational trials conducted by Indian Institute of Rice Research, Hyderabad (Anonymous, 2014 & 2015). Uttar Sugandhi has been submitted to West Bengal State Variety Release Committee for release for cultivation in West Bengal. It is photoperiod sensitive, long duration rice variety bearing medium slender grains with strong aroma. Yield is about double (3.5 t/ha) of the parental cultivar-Kalo Nunia (1.5 t/ha). Another pure line selection, IET 25439 performed well in AICRIP trials (ASG-IVT, 2015-16). It ranked first at Ambikapur in CG (7627 kg/ha), fifth at Pundibari in West Bengal (3469 kg/ha). Its overall mean was 3671 kg/ha (Anonymous, 2015).

Recombination Breeding: A number of crosses have been made using FVs, such as Kalo Nunia, BJ-1, Kalo Nunia/Anjali, Kalo Nunia/IR 64, Kalo Nunia/UBKVR 124, Kalo Nunia/ Pusa Basmati 1637, Kharadhan/MTU 1010, Nilachal/MTU 7029 etc. The promising recombinant derived from those crosses are under different stages of yield trials. IET 28102 developed from the cross in between Bhog Jeera-1 and Gontra Bidhan-1 (Table 1) performing well in AICRIP trials (Anonymous, 2019). It is a medium duration rice variety (120 days, seed to seed) with long slender grains and the yield potential is 6.50 t/ha. It is tolerant to leaf blast, neck blast, sheath rot, stem borer. UBKVR-190 (Nilachal/MTU 7029) also performed well in IVT-Boro. Some other promising recombinant lines are IET 28102, IET 28840, IET 24610, UBKVR-154, UBKVR-156, UBKVR 132 and UBKVR 144 (table 1).

Mutation Breeding: Mutation induced variability is an important method in plant breeding to create nonexisting desirable genotype(s) for crop improvement. In this endeavour, gamma radiation was used to create variability for improving plant type and yield attributing traits in a local aromatic cultivar, Tulaipanji. Eight desirable mutants were

Crop improvement tools	Cultures/varieties	Parents
Pure line selection	Uttar Sugandhi (IET 24616)	Pure line selection from Kalo Nunia
	IET 25439	Pure line selection from Kalo Nunia
Recombinants	IET 28102	Bhog Jeera-1/Gontra Bidhan-1
	UBKVR-154	Nilachal/MTU 7029
	UBKVR-156	Nilachal/MTU 7029
	IET 28840	Nilachal/MTU 7029
	UBKVR 132	Bhog Jeera-1/Gontra Bidhan-1
	UBKVR 144	Kalo Nunia/Anjali
	IET 24610	Kalobhog/PB-1
Mutation Breeding	TP3-2 (IET 28104)	Tulaipanji mutant
	UBKVR-143	Tulaipanji mutant
Somaclonal Variations	TC 5-1, TC 4/4, TC 4/5, TC 4/7	Somaclones of Kalo Nunia

Table 1: The variety of advance lines developed using FVs as donor

identified from M4 generation. All those eight mutants induced from Tulpanji were photoperiodinsensitive, non-lodging, and semi-dwarf with high yield potential and retained the aroma (Roy et al., 2018). Mutants TP3-2, TP3-4 and TP3-6 showed high increase in yield (> 89%) over the control cultivar, Tulpanji. As the mutants were photoperiod insensitive, they may be recommended for cultivation for both Boro and Kharif seasons after necessary trials and demonstrations. TP3-2 (IET 28104) is medium duration, medium tall, medium slender grains, aromatic, golden yellow husk colour, tolerant to common diseases and insect pests and moderate yield potential (3.3 t/ha) (Anonymous, 2014). Another non-aromatic Tulaipanji mutant, UBKVR-143 is also performing well in the station trial (Figure 3). It is of medium duration, medium tall, non-aromatic, spikelet sterility is very low, short bold grains, tolerant to common diseases and insect pests, high yield potential (5.5-6.0 t/ha).

Somaclonal Variation: The aromatic FVs of rice possess very low combining ability with the modern high yielding varieties and consequently development of transgressive segregants. Accordingly, the need was felt to develop suitable genotype(s) using biotechnological tools (Figure 4). Somaclonal variations created through seed derived callus induction and regeneration of plantlets. Thus, somaclonal variation may be considered as alternative breeding tool for improvement of aromatic FVs of rice. The somaclones isolated by Roy (2020), such as, TC 4/8, TC 5-1, TC 4/4, TC 4/5, and TC 4/7 showed high yield advantage over Kalo Nunia ranging from 27.21% to 54.78% (Roy,

2020). Thus, plant tissue culture technique may be recommended for creation of genetic variability in rice as a biotechnological tool. In vitro response of traditional indica rice, namely Black Burma, Black Jeera, White Jeera, Tulaipanji, Kalobhog and Badsha Bhog were studied (Roy et al., 2011). The analysis of variance showed significant differences among the varieties for callus-ability, plantlet regeneration and number of plantlets per culture. Inoculated seeds germinated on the medium within 3-4 days after inoculation. Light, yellow globular calli were found to be initiated at mesocotyle region of germinating seeds. On tenth day after seed implantation on callus maintenance medium, observations were recorded in respect of callus induction. Highest percentage of callus induction was reported in Tulaipanji and White Jeera when MS medium was supplemented with 2 mg/L of 2,4-D and 0.5 mg/L NAA, followed by Black Jeera. The calli of White Jeera were fragile, compact and fast growing. Black Burma had lowest response towards callus induction. Callus induction ranged from 6.20 to 100.00% among the indigenous genotypes considered for this experiment. Calli become more fragile in regeneration medium, particularly the calli of White Jeera. Embryogenic callus started to regenerate in second week of inoculation on the regeneration medium. Highest percentage of plantlet regeneration was also observed in White Jeera followed by Black Jeera. Embryogenic responsive calli produced roots and shoots simultaneously in the regeneration medium. White Jeera had given rise an average of 32.38 plantlets per callus. The study suggested that the callus induction and plantlet regeneration were genotype specific. It was found that traditional scented cultivars also have



Figure 1: Rice repository at Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya and traditional cultivar, Jasowa



Figure 2: Uttar Sugandhi. A) Field view; B) Undehusked rice; C) Dehusked rice



Figure 3: Mutation breeding



Figure 4: In vitro development of plantlets from an indica local rice, Kalo Nunia involving mature seed embryos and the performance of somaclones at field (A) Stereomicroscopic view of callus proliferation on callus maintenance medium (MS + 1 mg L⁻¹ 2,4-D). (B) Embryogenesis, producing roots and shoots simultaneously in regeneration medium (MS + 1 mg L⁻¹ kinetin + 1 mg L⁻¹ BAP + 0.5 mg L⁻¹ NAA). (C) Regenerated plantlets in culture tubes. (D) S₀ plant after hardening on earthen pot in net-house. (E) S₂ plants in the field. (F) S₄ somaclonal of population of TC4/8 derived from Kalo Nunia

high *in vitro* response towards plantlet regeneration via callus formation. The findings of this study may be used in genetic transformation of those local land races of aromatic rice subsequently massmultiplication of transgenic derived from those cultivars.

Floating Rice: FVs, viz., Betho, Kauka, Singara etc. are submergence tolerant rice (Roy *et al.*, 2013). Those cultivars are being maintained by Mr. Harendra Nandi of Salsalabari, Alipurduar district (Figure 5A).

Betho (Figure 5A-E), Kauka (Registration No. 96 of 2020), Singara have been registered as Farmers' Varieties under Protection of Farmers Rights Authority, New Delhi. Floating rice are being cultivated in low-laying areas, particularly in Cooch Behar, Jalpaiguri and Uttar Dinajpur districts of West Bengal. Those floating rice are direct seeded without sprouting on a marginal ploughed field. It germinate with the grass. Conversely, at onset of monsoon, the water level rises and the plant height also increases by elongation of internode. Upper part of those rice



Figure 5: Floating rice. A) Mr. Harendra Nandi of Salsalabari, Alipurduar district; B&C) Field view of floating rice; D) Branching of Betho; E) Height of Betho



Figure 6: Special characters of FVs. A) Double kernelled rice- Jugal; B) Long sterile lemma- Ramee Galee (arrowheads are the long sterile lemma); C) Black rice- Sadabhat Kalo; D) Purpled leaf blades and leaf sheath- Nilachal; E) Clustered panic- Thuri

plants remain floating on the surface of the water during entire season (Figure 5B&C). After withdraw of the monsoon rain, the plants fall down and initiate branching from the upper nodes (Figure 5D).

Drought Tolerance: Water stress is the most important abiotic stress for low productivity of rice in rain-fed environments. Early tolerance ability of plant to drought is expected to be maintained throughout the productive life. *Ausdhan*, such as Bitti (Roy *et al.*, 2013) are generally drought tolerant. They are being cultivated purely under rain-fed condition. In some parts of northern districts of West Bengal the traditional, *Ausdhan* are dibbled during March-April in the revenue forest areas or in plantations. In another study, Kashiyabinni, Jhagrikartik and Garu Chakua were found to be tolerant and Kashiyabinni as highly tolerant (Debbarma, 2018).

Lodging Tolerance: Lodging trait of FVs of rice is an important criterion for determination of grain yield and their acceptability among the rice farming community. Boichi and Seshaphal were identified as highly lodging tolerant (Debbarma and Roy, 2017). Majority of the FVs were noted to be susceptible to lodging and the reason for susceptibility was their height and weak culm. Lodging susceptibility was recurrent in irrigated condition than the normal terminal drought condition or drought situation created by spraying of potassium iodide along with normal irrigation (Debbarma and Roy, 2017). Consequently, the reduction in yield was more in the drought situation created by spraying of potassium iodide along with normal irrigation (20.62%) than the normal terminal drought (18.66%). It was observed that in most of the cases lodging caused remarkable yield loss.

Medicinal Use: Exact medicinal properties of the FVs are not known, but few FVs are being used in preparation of traditional medicine. Shri Ramesh Roy of Ramsahi, Jalpaiguri district of West Bengal cultivates the FV Sati which is being procured by a traditional medicine practitioner and he uses the powder of this rice as the carrier material for pills of traditional medicine.

Special Characters

Multi-kernelled Rice Spikelets: Rice bears single kernelled spikelets. Very rarely multi-kernelled

spikelets are reported. In India, the cultivar Jugal had multiple (2-3) kernels per spikelet (Figure 6A). The ratio of single, double and triple kernels per spikelet in Jugal was 54, 42 and 4%, respectively (Roy and Surje, 2016; Saha et al., 2020). This was also studied by Chakrabarty et al. (2012) and they found similar ratio of single, double and triple kernels per spikelet. Jugal had medium bold grain, straw coloured lemma and palea, and brown kernel. Long Sterile Lemma: Sterile lemmas of rice are usually much smaller in size than the fertile lemma. They do not bear flower, hence they had been named as "sterile lemma" (Figure 6B). The sterile lemmas of Rami Gelee most of the time exceeded fertile lemma and palea by length (Roy and Surje, 2016). The average length of the sterile lemma was 9.09 mm, whereas the length of fertile lemma was 8.67 mm. The colour of the fertile lemma of Rami Gelee was simple white or off-white. Grain was long bold, lemma and palea colour was dark brown, and colour of the kernel was brown.

Black Rice: Dehusked rice of Sadabhotkalo (Figure 1C) and Chakhao Poiterin were dark purple to black and cooked rice also black. It has a dark purple to black bran layer. Genotypes with red or purple bran layer are being cultivated since ancient time in Asia (Ahuja et al., 2007). Coloured rice, black rice in particular is reported to be effective sources of antioxidants and their consumption is encouraged (Yawadio et al., 2007; Anggraini et al., 2015). Black rice contains comparatively high anthocyanin, such as, cyaniding-3-O-glucoside and peonidin 3-O-glucoside in the pericarp layer leading to dark purple color (Ryu et al., 1998). Anthocyanin rich rice is known for their bioactive properties and accepted as health-enhancing substances for their antioxidant activities, antiinflammatory accomplishment, anticancer property, anti-atherogenic execution, and anti-hypoglycemic effects (Wang and Stoner, 2008). Coloured rice is also having low sugar, high fibre and plant compounds that combat heart disease and cancer (Sutharut and Sudarat, 2012).

Clustered Panicle: Rice pedicel bears one spikelet in a panicle. In the repository of FVs in the Rice Repository of Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, *Narkeldari* and *Thuri* showed more than one spikelet borne in a pedicel (Roy *et al.*, 2013). This feature resulted high grain density in a panicle (Figure 1E). This result also corroborated with the derived from pre-breeding programme, landraces findings of Chakrabarty *et al.* (2012), but the local have been used as donor for development of high vielding varieties. Different breeding tools, like

Purpled Leaf and Leaf Sheath: The colour of fully opened leaves and leaf sheath of Khara dhan (Figure 1D) and Nilachal are deep purple (Roy *et al*, 2013; Roy and Surje, 2016). However, the detail of its importance in photosynthesis and other activities yet to be studied. Sakamoto *et al*. (2001) studied about the purple locus of rice and they stated that the purple leaf (*Pl*) locus of rice affects regulation of anthocyanin biosynthesis.

Conclusion

Conservation of rice landraces has furthermost practical utility in crop improvement. Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya is conserving about 200 rice landraces collected from West Bengal and adjoining states. Those collected landraces have been characterized and based on the information

References

- Ahuja, U., Ahuja, S. C., Chaudhary, N., & Thakrar, R. (2007). Red rices-past, present and future. Asian Agri-History, 11(4), 291-304.
- Anggraini, T., Limber, U., & Amelia, R. (2015). Antioxidant activities of some red, black and white rice cultivar from West Sumatra, Indonesia. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 14(2), 112-117.
- Anggraini, T., Limber, U., & Amelia, R. (2015). Antioxidant activities of some red, black and white rice cultivar from West Sumatra, Indonesia. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 14(2), 112-117.
- Anonymous (2014). Varietal Improvement, Vol. 1, All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Project, ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500 003, Telangana State, India, pp. 1.444-1.461.
- Anonymous (2015). Varietal Improvement, Vol. 1, All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Project, ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500 003, Telangana State, India, pp. 1.254-1.263.
- Anonymous (2019). Varietal Improvement, Vol. 1, All India Coordinated Rice Improvement Project, ICAR-Indian Institute of Rice Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500 003, Telangana State, India, pp. 1.298-1.305.
- Basunanda, P., Murti, R. H., & Widyayanti, S. (2012). Morphological of genetic relationships among black rice landraces from Yogyakarta and surrounding areas. *Journal* of Agricultural and Biological Science, 7(12), 982-989.

yielding varieties. Different breeding tools, like pure line selection, recombinant breeding, mutation and plant tissue culture technique have been implemented. Uttar Sugandhi (IET 24616) have been developed from Kalo Nunia through pure line selection. Few desirable recombinants, namely IET 28102, IET 28840 and IET 24610 have been developed traditional rice using cultivars. Photoperiod insensitive variety, IET 28104 has been developed using mutation. Desirable somaclonal variants also isolated from Kalo Nunia. In nutshell, the landraces of rice have great potentiality in rice improvement.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Chakrabarty, S. K., Joshi, M. A., Singh, Y., Maity, A., Vashisht, V., & Dadlani, M. (2012). Characterization and evaluation of variability in farmers' varieties of rice from West Bengal. *Indian Journal of Genetics and Plant Breeding*, 72(2), 136.
- Choi, Y., Giovannucci, E., & Lee, J. E. (2012). Glycaemic index and glycaemic load in relation to risk of diabetesrelated cancers: a meta-analysis. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 108(11), 1934-1947.
- Debbarma, S., & Roy, B. (2017). Genetic Diversity of Farmers' Varieties of Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) with Special Orientation to Lodging Characteristics. *Journal of Rice Research*, 5(181), 2.
- Debbarma, S. (2018). Screening of farmers' varieties of Rice (Oryza sativa L.) for drought tolerance. Thesis submitted to Department of of Genetics and Plant Breeding, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India.
- Ichikawa, H., Ichiyanagi, T., Xu, B., Yoshii, Y., Nakajima, M., & Konishi, T. (2001). Antioxidant activity of anthocyanin extract from purple black rice. *Journal of medicinal food*, 4(4), 211-218.
- Mahato, S., Surje, D. T., DebBarma, S., & Roy, B. (2017). Characterization of Some Aromatic Farmers' Varieties of Rice (Oryza sativa L.) from West Bengal and Adjoining States. *Indian Journal of Plant Genetic Resources*, 30(2), 120-129.

- Mondal, D., Kantamraju, P., Jha, S., Sundarrao, G. S., Bhowmik, A., Chakdar, H., ... & Choudhury, A. (2021). Evaluation of indigenous aromatic rice cultivars from sub-Himalayan Terai region of India for nutritional attributes and blast resistance. *Scientific reports*, 11(1), 1-25.
- Roy, B. (2013). Genetic diversity in farmers' varieties and some advanced lines of aromatic rice (Oryza sativa L.) from West Bengal. *Indian Journal of Plant Genetic Resources*, 26(3), 215-219.
- Roy, B. (2015). Khetriya Phsaler Beej Utpadaner Adhunic Paddhati (Quality Seed Production Technology of Field Crops). Publ. Director of Farm, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, 95-105.
- Roy, B. (2020). Development of superior somaclones of aromatic local cultivar of rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Indian J. Genet*, 80(3), 329-333.
- Roy, B., & Surje, D. T. (2016). Specific Characteristics Features of Farmers' Varieties of Rice (Oryza sativa L.) for Testing of Distinctiveness. *Indian Journal of Plant Genetic Resources*, 29(2), 163-169.
- Roy, B., Surje, D. T. & Debbarma, S. (2016). Genetic Variability of Local Cultivars of West Bengal and Adjoining States with Special Orientation to Northern Part of West Bengal. Proceeding of National Seminar on "Biodiversity"-Prospectus: Threats and Current Scenario, from 26-27th February, 2016. Tufanganj Mahavidyalaya, Tufangan, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India. pp. 11-16.
- Roy, B., Basu, A. K., & Das, S. (2011). In vitro response of aromatic farmers' varieties of rice towards callus induction and plantlet regeneration. *Role of Biotechnology in Food Security and Climate Change*, 59-66.
- Roy, B., Surje, D. T., & Mahato, S. (2013). Biodiversity of farmers' varieties of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) at repository of Roy, B., Kumar, V., Tulsiram, S. D., & Das, B. K. (2018). Development of high yielding aromatic mutants of rice
- (Oryza sativa L.) from a local aromatic cultivar, Tulaipanji by using gamma radiation. Indian J. Genet, 78(4), 409-416.

- Ryu, S. N., Park, S. Z., & Ho, C. T. (1998). High performance liquid chromatographic determination of anthocyanin pigments in some varieties of black rice. *Journal of Food* and Drug analysis, 6(4), 729-736.
- Saha, P., Murali, H. A., & Roy, B. (2020). Developmental variation in ovaries and kernels in a multi-kernelled rice variety-Jugal. *bioRxiv*.
- Sakamoto, W., Ohmori, T., Kageyama, K., Miyazaki, C., Saito, A., Murata, M., & Maekawa, M. (2001). The Purple leaf (Pl) locus of rice: the Pl w allele has a complex organization and includes two genes encoding basic helixloop-helix proteins involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis. *Plant and cell physiology*, 42(9), 982-991.
- Surje, D. T., Kumar, V., & Roy, B. (2018). Grouping of farmers' varieties of rice (Oryza sativa L.) collected from West Bengal and adjoining states. *Indian Journal of Plant Genetic Resources*, 31(3), 251-259.
- Surje, D. T., Debbarma S., Roy, B. 2019. Diversity among traditional cultivars of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) of West Bengal and north eastern India. *Journal of Agriculture and Technology*. 6(1&2): 27-33.
- Sutharut, J., & Sudarat, J. (2012). Total anthocyanin content and antioxidant activity of germinated colored rice. *International Food Research Journal*, 19(1).
- Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya: a reservoir of important characters. *The Ecoscan*, 4, 145-151.
- Wang, L. S., & Stoner, G. D. (2008). Anthocyanins and their role in cancer prevention. *Cancer letters*, 269(2), 281-290.
- Yawadio, R., Tanimori, S., & Morita, N. (2007). Identification of phenolic compounds isolated from pigmented rices and their aldose reductase inhibitory activities. *Food Chemistry*, 101(4), 1616-1625.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal





Integrating weather model & Remote sensing indices for wheat yield prediction in Harvana, India

Manieet 🖂

Department of Agricultural Meteorology, CCS Haryana Agrivulture University, Hisar.

Anurag

Department of Agricultural Meteorology, CCS Haryana Agrivulture University, Hisar.

Ram Niwas

Department of Agricultural Meteorology, CCS Haryana Agrivulture University, Hisar.

Dinesh Tomar

Department of Agricultural Meteorology, CCS Haryana Agrivulture University, Hisar.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 11 August 2021	Wheat is a major food grain crop of main agricultural region <i>i.e.</i> northern
Revised : 10 October 2021	plain of India. Haryana state holds a premium position in wheat production
Accepted : 17 October 2021	(Rabi Season) in the country. Pre-harvest yield estimation of wheat has key role
	in policy framing. In Haryana, Agriculture is a big support to its economy
Available online: 11 February 2022	which continues to occupy a prominent position in State GDP. In present research, Agromet-Spectrals models have been developed for this purpose
Key Words:	<i>i.e.</i> yield estimation in Haryana with the help of input data such as
Agromet-Spectral model	meteorological indices and satellite based NDVI(NASA's-MODIS) from 2000-
MODIS	2017. Empirical models were developed for predicting wheat yield for Hisar
NDVI	and Karnal districts representation the two agro-climatic zone of state in
Remote sensing	Haryana, India.The models were developed used weather variable
Weather parameter	(Temperature (Minimum and Maximum), Relative Humidity (Morning and
	Evening) and Rainfall) and spectral indices Normalized Difference Vegetative
	Index viz. Agromet- model(weather model) and Agromet-spectral model
	(MODIS-NDVI). Weather or Agromet model was integrated with NDVI values
	for both location to enhanced the accuracy of models. Regression models were
	developed using significant weather variables and NDVI data for wheat yield
	prediction at both location. The result revealed that the models when
	integrated with remote sensing data (NDVI) gave better prediction as
	compared to agromet model that depends only on weather variables. Agromet- models (adjusted $\mathbf{P}^2 = 0.39$ to 0.79) whereas satellite data based NDVI is
	models (aujusteu R -0.30 to 0.76) whereas satemite data based NDV1 i.e. MODIS NDVI for both stationgaya bast result (Adjusted $P^2 = 0.61.0.86$) as
	MODIS-NDVI for both stationgave best result (Aujusteu K - 0.01-0.00) as compared to weather models MODIS-NDVI pixel based values observed to be
	more effective for wheat yield predication in integrated with weather
	narameters This study could help the provincial government of Harvana as
	well as in northern plains in estimation of vield prior harvest at first week of
	Anril by using weather spectral (NDVI-MODIS) models.

Introduction

Wheat (Triticumaestivum L.) is a major Cereal crop decisions related to distribution and export-import of the world in terms of production. In India, wheat is the second important food crop being next to rice (Ranjan et al., 2012) and contributes to the total food grain production of the country to the extent of about 35 per cent. (Anonymous, 2019). Yield prediction is a major step for various policy

of food grain. In Haryana, Agriculture is a big support to its economy which continues to occupy a prominent position in State GDP. Despite the decline in the share of agriculture sector in the Gross State Domestic Product to 18 percent (2017-18) about two third population of the state still depends upon agriculture for their livelihood. The growing population in agrarian countries like India posing a great pressure on food-grain production. Therefore, for proper planning and management of products, various models and techniques have been developed for accurately prediction of production especially in wheat being main food grain. Mostly, all models use meteorological parameters as input for yield prediction.

Besides meteorological data, remote sensing data have also proved helpful to increase accuracy and timely forecast of yield. A prominent crop weather model was developed by Fisher et al., (1924) and experimentally applied by Agarwal et al. (2007) on the basis of different weather parameter combination for forecasting yield. Weather plays a dominated role on growth and overall condition of a crop. Different weather parameters affect differently on different stages of crop growth. The present study is an effort to find out the weather element or their combination that are responsible for crop yield prediction. Correlation and regression analysis was carried out using Excel spread sheet and SPSS package. A regression correlation analysis was carried out between weather parameters and yield of wheat crop. To carry out this task, sum and sum product values (Agarwal et al., 2007) were taken as input independent factor and yield data as dependent factor in SPSS software to find out those parameters or their combination which were most affecting wheat yield. Sisodia et al. (2014) developed agromet statistical regression models based on meteorological parameter i.e minimum and maximum temperature, relative humidity, wind-velocity and sunshine hours using 20 years data from (1990-91 to 2009-10), to predict wheat yield two month prior to harvest. Saeed et al. (2017) developed agromet-spectral model to forecast wheat yield before harvest with root mean square errors (RMSEs) less than 5%. The NDVI shows strong relationship with crop physiological attributes and high value of NDVI is associated with faster growth rate and higher biomass accumulation during the vegetative stage, and a longer grain filling period by delaying leaf senescence during the ripening phase thereby increasing yield (Babar et al., 2006). The NDVI values of wheat during different phonological stages was observed 0.3 to 0.35 at emergence stage,

0.40 to 0.50 at tillering stage, 0.55 to 0.65 at milking stage, 0.35 to 0.45 at maturity and 0.25 to 0.30 at harvesting stage (Parida and Ranjan, 2019). Remotely sensed imagery give the information of crop quality and development at different growth stages but some uncertainty in soil, climatic condition, management and other input data will decrease the prediction accuracy (Jin *et al.*, 2018).

Bognnar *et al.* (2017) also used minimum and maximum temperature, rainfall and sunshine hours with MODIS derived NDVI values that gave better performance in forecasting wheat yield three weeks before harvest in Punjab province of Pakistan. A robust yield model was exercised for estimating and forecasting wheat yield in Hungary at country level in the period of 2003–2015 using MODIS-NDVI data. Keeping in view these efforts worldwide, this study was designed with the objective to develop an integrated model for yield prediction of wheat by taking meteorological data incorporation with Remote Sensing data derived from two sources IRS and MODIS-NDVI for two locations of different Agro-climatic zones of Haryana state in India.

Material and Methods Study area

The present study was conducted for Haryana state by taking two locations *i.e.* Hisar and Karnal that represent the two agro-climatic zone of the state. Hisar and Karnal districts are located between of 29^{0} 09' N, 75^{0} 43' E and 29° 43' N latitude, 76° 58' E longitude of western and eastern part of Haryana respectively (Figure1). The climatic region lies between semi-arid to humid condition.

Data Collection

Satellite based NDVI values taken from NASA's Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS, 16 days composite imageries of 250 m resolution) were used from 2000-2017. Rabi season MODIS imagery of path 147 and row 41 were downloaded for whole of growing season on fortnight basis. These composite images were spanning from first-November to April (Rabi Season) were obtained for the time period of 2000 to 2017, covering the entire wheat crop cycle at Hisar and Karnal district of Haryana. Meteorlogical parameters viz. Temperature (Maximum and Minimum), Relative Humidity (Morning and Evening) and Rainfall data were collected from



Department of Agricultural Meteorological, Chaudhary Charan Singh, Haryana Agricultural

Figure 1: Wheat growing sites for NDVI image interpretation in Karnal and Hisar district

SIMPLE WEATHER INDICES								WEIGHTED WEATHER INDICES						
	T _{MAX}	T _{MIN}	RH 1	RH	Rf	NDVI	T _{MAX}	T _{MIN}	RH 1	RH	Rf	NDVI		
				Π						Π				
T _{MAX}	Z10						Z11							
T _{MIN}	Z120	Z20					Z121	Z21						
RH 1	Z130	Z230	Z30				Z131	Z231	Z31					
RH II	Z140	Z240	Z340	Z40			Z141	Z241	Z341	Z41				
Rf	Z150	Z250	Z350	Z450	Z50		Z151	Z251	Z351	Z451	Z51			
NDVI	Z160	Z260	Z360	Z460	Z560	Z60	Z161	Z261	Z361	Z461	Z561	Z61		

 Table 1: Weather and spectral indices used in models using composite weather variables

University, Hisar (Haryana) and Central Soil Salinity Research Centre, Sirsa (Haryana) from 2000 to 2017. These models integrated with NDVI values from both of sources for corresponding location for above said time period (2000-2017) to enhance the accuracy of models. The statistics of the wheat yield (Kg/ha) from 2000 to 2017 for Hisar and Karnal (Haryana) were collected from the Haryana Statistical Abstract published on annual basis by Department of Economic and Statistical Analysis, Govt. of Haryana. Correlation of different combination of yield and weather parameter and then sum products (Agarwal *et al.*, 2007) were derived using M S Excel.

Coefficient of determination

R-squared also known as the coefficient of determination-is a statistical analysis tool used to predict the future output and how closely it aligns to a single measured model. The adjusted R-squared compares the descriptive power of regression models two or more variables that include a diverse number of independent variables

University, Hisar (Haryana) and Central Soil known as a predictor. The validation of these Salinity Research Centre, Sirsa (Haryana) from 2000 to 2017. These models integrated with NDVI two consecutive years 2015-16 &2016-17. Values from both of sources for corresponding location for above said time period (2000-2017) to enhance the accuracy of models. The statistics of NDVI) for wheat yield estimation at regional level in Haryana and described as under.

Normalized Vegetation Index (NDVI)

Normalized vegetation index (NDVI) is calculated as (Rouse Jr *et al.*, 1974):

NDVI = (NIR-RED) / (NIR+ RED)

Where, NIR and RED are the reflectance in the near- infrared and red spectral channels, respectively.

Selection of Region of Interest (ROIs):

The FCC (False Colour Composite) image of Rabi season of Hisar and Karnal districts were analyzed in different location for identification of wheat crop and polygon (region of interest) were generated. Three locations were chosen Figure 1 for both district to minimize of chance of error that may occurred to mixing of pixels with other crops. These polygons were used as a mask to obtain NDVI values of each season.

Generation of NDVI Values:

Average NDVIs of each polygon was calculated through masking the field by overlaying the ROIs with MODIS-NDVI images using Overlay option of ENVI ("Environment for Visualizing Images"). Average NDVI of each polygon was obtained and so obtained 3 NDVI values corresponding to each polygon were further analyzed to get final NDVI value of a season for a station. NDVI, which is measurement of vigour of crop plant, was calculated using following equation:

Results and Discussion

Regression analysis gave summary output that included partial regression coefficient of effective parameter and intercept value to form equation in which yield as dependent and other significant parameters are independent. Table 2 details the variables derived based on sum product-correlation of significant weather variables for developing regression models for Hisar and Karnal districts.

Where, Z131 = sum of product of maximum temperature and morning relative humidity, Z41 =Sum of product of evening relative humidity, Z230 =sum of minimum temperature and morning relative humidity, Z451 = sum of product of evening relative humidity and rainfall.

Agromet Model: The Agromet model worked better for Karnal station with adjusted R² value of 0.78. The reason may be climatic variability which is less at Karanl as compared to Hisar where the model could not show better results (Adjusted R^2 0.38). Agromet yield model equation for Hisar and Karnal districts is present in Table 3. Further theAgromet Yield models were validated for 2015-16 & 2016-17 for wheat yield estimation for districts Hisar and Karnal as shown in Table 4.The validation of Agromet models revealed that result were better for first year 2015-16 as compared to 2016-17. The post validation test is done for the fitted model using (Percentage deviation) test. This measure the deviation (in percentage) of forecast yield from the observed yield. For the year 2015-16, percentage deviation is comes out to be 3.80%. there is only one dependent variable in the given

model along with intercept term. Validity test based on a single year can't be considered since it can't be because of the changes in the trend of observed value. In order to select a good model, the model validation for multiple years. It is very clear from the 2016-17 (%deviation 16.48) data that the model is not so good to explain the forecasting. The wheat yield was higher in 2016-17 from normal, that's why the errors are on higher side.

Agromet-Spectral Model (MODIS-NDVI): In this model the Agrometmodelswereintegrated with crop specific NDVI values or real ground/pixel based NDVI(MODIS satellite data). The regression yield model developed for Hisar and Karnal districts showed considerable improvements over previous checked models (table 5). Again the model worked better for Karnal region as compared to Hisar and this time the adjusted R^2 value express its applicability for Hisar region also.

MODIS-NDVI (wheat pixel based) satellite data considerably improved the accuracy of agromet models for both of the regions as this NDVI values is pixel based or wheat grown area. Agromet models with integration of satellite based NDVI (MODIS) data can help in predicting wheat yield before two month of harvest upto 90% accuracy. The validation of model shows that prediction of yield was within acceptable limits for 2015-16. The production was exceptionally high in 2016-17 as compared to recent past due to supporting weather condition, which increase the validation errors (table 6). But in normal year the prediction were very close to real values. The values were 0.66& 0.90 for Hisar and \mathbf{R}^2 KarnalrespectivelyThis is due to more homogeneity of wheat cropped area in Karnal as compared to Hisar.Similar result found by Singh et al., (2002) estimated the wheat yield in small areas in India using IRS-NDVI and obtained very low error in the range of 1.6-6.7%. Also Nagy et al., (2018) also estimated the wheat and maize yield 6-8 weeks befroe harvest at regional level in Hungary using MODIS-NDVI. Wang et al., (2019) estimation the winter wheat yield with a realtive of about 6% for selected regions of China.Lopresti et al., (2015) found that an empirical model was fit between NDVI and yield, to estimate wheat yield 30 days early before harvest. Ranjan et al., (2012) had developed a regression model to estimate the wheat yield using different weather parameter and NDVI as input. This showed a positive relationship with predicted and observed yield.

Location	Year	2000-01	2001-02	2002-03	2003-04	2004-05	2005-06	2006-07	2007-08	2008-09	2009-10	2010-11	2011-12	2012-13	2013-14	2014-15	2015-16	2016-17
	Time	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17
	Yield	4447	4283	4182	4062	4135	4162	3704	4392	3920	4829	4139	4600	5098	4477	4180	4310	4758
	Z131	-1934.95	-2363.81	-2167.82	-2282.69	-2067.37	-2791.21	-2614.77	-1770.12	-2466.38	-2039.63	-2522.52	-1940.19	-1946.65	-2120.04	-2693.18	-2018.48	-2696.40
Hisar	NDV Imax (MODIS)	0.76	0.78	0.73	0.78	0.77	0.77	0.76	0.76	0.80	0.82	0.82	0.79	0.83	0.84	0.83	0.83	0.84
	Yield	4395	4635	4580	4363	4138	4183	4367	4423	4629	4601	4518	4670	5670	4912	4046	4543	5212
	Z41	9.71	8.57	34.04	10.85	-14.22	-1.05	4.02	-12.25	7.73	10.39	12.08	5.12	36.32	4.55	-11.45	-17.03	-3.80
	Z230	16053.73	17847.26	19116.87	19958.49	20369.28	18076.10	20010.13	17108.26	19894.71	18848.47	18855.91	17758.99	17925.56	18083.11	19185.72	19367.65	18480.04
nal	Z451	-225.09	1586.86	208.84	-341.22	-243.17	-1158.36	877.09	-322.05	486.46	225.44	-183.06	-119.54	6385.68	1413.93	-5144.58	-382.51	-1013.38
Kar	NDVmax (MODIS)	0.82	0.84	0.84	0.83	0.82	0.83	0.8	0.8	0.86	0.82	0.85	0.83	0.86	0.85	0.85	0.85	0.86

 Table 2: Effective weather parameters for Hisar and Karnal district (Sum products-correlation)

Location	Regression Equation	Adjusted R ²	\mathbf{R}^2
Hisar	Y= 5942.17+0.73(Z131)	0.38	0.42
Karnal	Y =5237.23+6.44(Z41)-0.04(Z230) + 0.12(Z451)	0.78	0.83

Table 3: Agromet regression model equation for Hisar and Karnal districts

Table 4: Validation of Agromet models

Location	Observed		Regression Equation	Predicted Yield (Kg/ha)				
	Yield (Kg/hac.)							
	2015-	2016-		2015-	%	2016-	%	
	2016	2017		2016	Deviation	2017	Deviation	
Hisar			Y=5942.17+0.73(Z131)					
	4310	4758		4474.30	3.80	3973.79	-16.48	
Karnal			Y=5237.23+6.44(Z41)-					
	4543	5212	0.04(Z230)+0.12(Z451)					
				4283.46	-5.70	4351.97	-16.50	

Table 5: Regression yield model equation developed with addition of NDVI (MODIS) for Hisar and Karnal district

Location	Regression Equation	Adjusted R ²	\mathbf{R}^2
Hisar	Y=1850.72 +0.77 (Z131) +5318.85 (NDVI _{max})	0.61	0.66
Karnal	Y=354.78 + 1.99 (Z41)-0.05(Z230) + 0.13 (Z451) +		
	6155.59(NDVI _{max})	0.86	0.90

Table 6: Validation of Agromet-spectral (MODIS-NDVI) Yield models for wheat yield estimation for districts Hisar and Karnal during 2015-16& 2016-17

Location	Observed		Regression Equation	Predicted Yield (Kg/ha)				
	Yield (Kg/ha)						
	2015-	2016-			%		%	
	16	17		2015-	Deviatio	2016-	Deviati	
				16	n	17	on	
Hisar	4310	4758	Y=1850.72+0.77(Z131)+5318.85(NDVI	4701.		4242.		
			max)	5	8.32	3	10.84	
Karnal	4543	5212	Y=354.78 + 1.99 (Z41)-0.05(Z230) +	4479.		4590.		
			0.13 (Z451) + 6155.59(NDVI _{max})	2	1.42	4	11.93	

Conclusion

The main objective of the study was to develop a models that gave high coefficient of determination. best fit regression model for early wheat yield The result was better for Karnal as compared to forecasting during wheat growing season using parameters (viz. weather max. and min. temperature, morning and evening relative humidity and rainfall). The agromet models were developed on the basis of correlations of wheat yield and weather parameters of rabi season (October to March) for the period of fifteen years (2000-2015). The results revealed that weather model alone worked (forecast) well for yield prediction for both Hisar and Karnal regions. Further, to increase the accuracy of models remote sensing data (NDVI) was integrated in weather

Hisar due to different climatic condition or continuous wheat growing area and high soil moisture retentation capacity. MODIS derived NDVI (exact wheat pixels in field) was tested by integrated with Agrometmodel.It was found that the weather model integrated with MODIS-NDVI gave more accurate model for wheat yield estimation. The result revealed that maximum temperature and morning R_H are determining factors for prediction of wheat yield at Hisar. By inclusion of NDVI as another variable the model accuracy was highest (Adjusted $R^2=0.61$) and error were 8% & 10% for
(2015-16 &2016-17). Similarly, temperature & R_H (morning and evening) were yield with highest accuracy in comparison to determining factor for yield prediction at Karnal. By Integration of NDVI, the model accuracy reached to highest among all previous models (Adjusted $R^2=0.86$). The errors were 1.4% and 11.9% for the two year *i.e.* 2015-16 & 2016-17 for validation of wheat yield. The results also emphasis that NDVI values can be a good estimator of crop vield and used for vield estimation and prediction. Agromet models with integration of satellite based

References

- Agrawal, R. and Mehta, S.C.(2007). Weather based forecasting of crop yields, pests and diseases-IASRI Models. Journal of Indian Society Agriculture statistics., 61(2): 255-263.
- Anonymous, (2019) www.business-standard.com, news article dt. February 28, 2019.
- Babar, M.A., Reynolds, M.P., Van Ginkel, M., Klatt, A.R., Raun, W.R. and Stone, M.L., (2006). Spectral reflectance indices as a potential indirect selection criteria for wheat yield under irrigation. Crop Science, 46(2): 578-588.
- Bognar, P., Kern, A., Pásztor, S., Lichtenberger, J., Koronczay, D. and Ferencz, C., (2017). Yield estimation and forecasting for winter wheat in Hungary using time series of MODIS data. International journal of remote sensing, 38(11): 3394-3414.
- Fisher, R.A., (1924): On a Distribution Yielding the Error Functions of Several Well Known Statistics.
- Jin, X., Kumar, L., Li, Z., Feng, H., Xu, X., Yang, G. and Wang, J., (2018). A review of data assimilation of remote sensing and crop models. European Journal of Agronomy, 92:141-152.
- Lopresti, M. F., Di Bella, C. M. and Degioanni, A. J. (2015) 'Relationship between MODIS-NDVI data and wheat yield: A case study in Northern Buenos Aires province, Argentina', Information Processing in Agriculture. 2(2), pp. 73-84.
- Nagy, A., Fehér, J. and Tamás, J., (2018). Wheat and maize yield forecasting for the Tisza river catchment using MODIS NDVI time series and reported crop statistics. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, 151: 41-49.

minimum NDVI (MODIS) data can help to predict wheat Agromet. This study could help the provincial government of Haryana as well as in northern plains in estimation of yield prior harvest at first week of April by using weather spectral (NDVI-MODIS) models.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Parida, B.R. and Ranjan, A.K., (2019). Wheat Acreage Mapping and Yield Prediction Using Landsat-8 OLI Satellite Data: a Case Study in Sahibganj Province, Jharkhand (India). Remote Sensing in Earth Systems Sciences, 2(2-3): .96-107.
- Ranjan, R., Nain, A.S. and Panwar, R.(2012), Predicting yield of wheat with remote sensing and weather data. Journal of Agrometeorology.9(2): 158-166.
- Rouse Jr, J., Haas, R. H., Schell, J. A., & Deering, D. W., (1974). 'Monitoring vegetation systems in the Great Plains with ERTS' NASA. Goddard Space Flight Center 3d ERTS-1 Symposium1: 309–317.
- Saeed, U., Dempewolf, J., Becker-Reshef, I., Khan, A., Ahmad, A., & Wajid, S. A. (2017), 'Forecasting wheat yield from weather data and MODIS NDVI using Random Forests for Punjab province, Pakistan', International journal of remote sensing. 38(17): 4831-4854.
- Singh, R.A.N.D.H.I.R., Semwal, D.P., Rai, A. and Chhikara, R.S., (2002). Small area estimation of crop yield using remote sensing satellite data. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 23(1), :49-56.
- Sisodia, B. V. S., Yadav, R. R., Kumar, S., & Sharma, M. K (2014). 'Forecasting of pre-harvest crop yield using discriminant function analysis of meteorological parameters', Journal of Agrometeorology. 16(1): 121-125.
- Wang, Y., Xu, X., Huang, L., Yang, G., Fan, L., Wei, P. and Chen, G., (2019). An Improved CASA Model for Estimating Winter Wheat Yield from Remote Sensing Images. Remote Sensing, 11(9): 1-19.
- Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Statistical and temporal trends analysis of rainfall in Bundelkhand region, Central India

Liansangpuii Fanai 🖂

Department of Agricultural Engineering, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, BHU, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India.

K. N. Singh

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, IGKV, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India.

R. Singh

ICRISAT Development Centre, International crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, Hyderabad, Telangana, India.

R. M. Singh

Department of Agricultural Engineering, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, BHU, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India.

D. Khalkho

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, IGKV, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 11 August 2021	Three timescale i.e. monthly, seasonal and annual rainfall data of Bundelkhand
Revised : 14 October 2021	region, Central India, was analyzed for 40 years (1981-2020). The annual
Accepted : 08 November 2021	mean average rainfall for the region ranges between 657.7 mm and 1146.4 mm
	for the studied period with the month August receiving the highest amount of
Available online: 11 February 2022	rainfall. The region receives about 90 % of its annual rainfall during South
	West Monsoon period i.e. from June to September. Temporal trend of rainfall
Key Words:	for different timescale was analysed using nonparametric Mann-Kendall test
Central India	and Sen's slope estimator. Increasing and decreasing trend were found for the
Rainfall	three timescale in which the study was carried out. Annual rainfall trend of
Nonparametric Mann-Kendall test	Bundelkhand region is found to follow decreasing trend except for Sagar
Sen's slope.	district. A decreasing South West Monsoon rainfall trend was also observed in
-	11 districts of Bundelkhand region.

Introduction

Producing enough food for growing population is a 70% of fresh water resources (CWC,2005) great challenge for mankind due to persistently growing pressure on finite freshwater and soil resources. According to 2011 census 54.6 % of Indian citizens are dependent on agriculture and its allied sectors to it. Agriculture contributes about 17 % to India's Gross Value added and hence it is very vital for the economic growth in India (GoI, 2016-17). Availability of the required water at the correct time is one of the main factors which affect agricultural production and power consumption in agricultural sector in the country. Irrigated land, covering 40% of India's agricultural land has contributed extensively to meeting 55% of the country's demand for food (GOI,2012). But on the other hand, there is a limited room for further expansion of the irrigation area as it uses nearly

.Therefore, development of rainfed agriculture will help in achieving national food security in the future (Wani et al., 2009, 2012).

According to Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), by 2020, India will be negatively affected by greater climate variability, higher temperatures, and significant reductions in summer rains in some areas, as well as water stress (Cruz et al., 2007). Once in every eight years, Bundelkhand region is affected by severe drought (Alam et al., 2012 and 2014). This reveals the inevitable impact of changing climate in Bundelkhand region. Lack of water availability is the main factor which limits production of crop in this region (Alam et al., 2016). Agricultural failure has become a repeated trend in this region (Jain, 2009). Analysing the prevailing trend of Indian summer monsoon rainfall is a necessity (Guhathakurta and Rajeevan, 2008). Precipitation trends have been analysed in several countries at different scales in the last century. Many studies were conducted to find outrainfall trends in India at different spatial scales, but it was found that rainfall trends are different for each regional level (Krishnakumar et al., 2009). Therefore, the current study was conducted to identify the different characteristic of rainfall and its monthly, seasonal and annual trends to present reliable scientific knowledge for the effective preparation, planning, design and managing the limited water resources for the improvement of agricultural production under current climate change scenarios.

Material and Methods

General Features of the Study Area

Bundelkhand region is located in the transitional Figure 1: Map of study area

zone between peninsular plateau and northern plain and comprises of 7 districts of Uttar Pradesh and 6 districts of Madhya Pradesh. It is located between $23^{\circ} 8'-26^{\circ} 30'$ N and $78^{\circ} 11'-81^{\circ} 30'$ E covering a total geographical area of 7.085 million ha and a

forest cover of 17.63% (FSI, 2005). The region is located at 230 to 280 m above mean sea level (MSL).The agro-climate is characterized in three distinct seasons, viz. summer, rainy and winter. The mean temperature of region varies from 3 °C to 49 °C. During summer the temperature is about 34 °C and can go up to 46 °C to 49 °C.During winter the area have a mean temperature of 16 °C and it can decrease up to 3 °C to 5 °C during December and January. The relative humidity in Bundelkhand ranges from 40 to 60 %.

Bundelkhand region is receiving an annual rainfall of 800 to 1300 mm. Hard rocks such as Archaen granite, gneiss, metamorphic and igneous rocks are found in its geomorphology. The aquifers are either perched or unconfined with low water storage capacity. In this poorly permeable hard rock aquifer, shallow wells are the main resource of water for different activities. Agricultural productivity is about 0.5-1.5 t/ha which is a result of undulating terrain, low groundwater potential, high temperatures, low and unreliable rainfall. Depending on rain and temperature, different crops in Bundelkhand region have 90 and 150 days growing period. Figure 1 is showing the map of the study area.



Figure 1 : Map of study area

132 Environment Conservation Journal

Data Collection and Methodology

Daily gridded rainfall data of 0.25X0.25 degree spatial resolution covering all the district of Bundelkhand region was obtain from India Meteorological Department (IMD), Pune, India for the period of 1981 to 2020 (Pai et al., 2014). Monthly, annual and seasonal rainfalls were constructed using the daily rainfall data. The entire year was divided into four seasons viz., Pre monsoon (March-May), South West monsoon (June-September), Post monsoon (October to November) and Winter (December to February) in order to analyze the seasonal rainfall pattern. The mean, standard deviation and coefficient of variations of the rainfall data were analysed.75% dependable rainfall was also calculated for different timescale using Weibull's plotting position method (Weibull, 1939). An attempt was also made to detect rainfall trend using the nonparametric Mann-Kendall test (Mann, 1945; Kendall, 1975: Bayazit and Onoz, 2007). The nonparametric Sen's method (Gilbert, 1987) was used to determined the slope of a linear trend. Figure 2 represents the methods used during trend analysis.

Results and Discussion Rainfall Characteristics

Statistical parameters of rainfall for 13 districts of Bundelkhand region of Central India are shown in Table 1. The results of average monthly analysis shows that for all the studied districts January, February, March, April, May, November and December received less than 20 mm rainfall for the studied period i.e. 1981 to 2020. A rainfall depth of 66.8 mm to 153.8 mm was received in the month of June. Minimum rainfall depth of 199.2 mm was observed in Jalaun district while Sagar district received a maximum rainfall depth of 348.2 mm for the month of July. The rainfall depth varies between 188.7 mm to 366.6 mm and 125.1 mm to 189.4 mm for the month of August and September respectively. The rainfall depth varies between 22.7 mm in Sagar district to 36.6 mm in Chitrakoot district for the month of October. The average annual rainfall ranges between 657.7 mm in Jalaun district to 1146.4 mm in Sagar district. Figure 3 shows the annual variations of rainfall for different districts of Bundelkhand region from 1981 to 2020. The highest average annual rainfall was 1548.4 mm

for Chhatarpur district in the year 2016 while the lowest average annual rainfall was found at Jalaun district with rainfall depth of 205.1 mm in the year 2012. During Pre Monsoon period the region received a rainfall depth of 13.6 mm in Lalitpur district to 25.1 mm in Banda district.



Figure 2: Methodology for calculating trend and slope of rainfall.

Liansangpuii *et al*.

Districts		Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total	Pre	Swm	Post	WIn
Jalaun	Mean	12.3	11.2	5.0	3.9	8.3	66.8	199.2	188.7	125.1	30.0	2.7	4.5	657.7	17.2	579.7	32.7	28.0
	S.D	18.4	19.2	9.9	8.2	9.3	54.0	81.7	100.4	105.3	44.0	8.6	7.2	225.5	18.5	203.2	43.9	30.3
1	C.V	149.5	171.3	197.1	209.6	112.7	80.8	41.0	53.2	84.2	146.7	316.1	161.6	34.3	107.8	35.1	134.1	108.2
1	75%	-1.2	-2.7	-1.9	-1.4	1.3	26.0	139.5	113.6	45.0	-3.0	-2.5	-0.9	496.6	3.5	436.5	-0.5	5.2
	% Con	1.9	1.7	0.8	0.6	1.3	10.2	30.3	28.7	19.0	4.6	0.4	0.7	100.0	2.6	88.2	5.0	4.3
Jhansi	Mean	10.2	12.8	6.3	5.5	9.4	85.4	224.9	243.0	139.8	29.9	2.8	5.0	775.0	21.1	693.1	32.7	28.0
]	S.D	14.4	19.7	11.1	11.0	8.5	73.6	77.6	114.7	125.2	48.7	6.8	10.9	232.6	20.1	207.8	48.9	31.4
]	C.V	141.5	154.1	178.3	200.4	90.6	86.1	34.5	47.2	89.5	162.9	241.5	217.5	30.0	95.1	30.0	149.5	112.0
	75%	-0.6	-1.8	-1.8	-1.9	2.9	29.7	170.4	156.2	44.7	-6.0	-1.8	-2.4	600.1	5.9	541.6	-3.7	4.2
	% Con	1.3	1.7	0.8	0.7	1.2	11.0	29.0	31.4	18.0	3.9	0.4	0.6	100.0	2.7	89.4	4.2	3.6
Hamirpu	Mean	13.4	12.7	6.9	4.6	11.0	84.9	217.3	231.8	142.2	28.9	2.1	4.5	760.3	22.5	676.2	31.1	30.6
r	S.D	16.0	20.2	13.2	8.1	10.8	73.9	92.0	95.6	107.4	41.9	4.8	6.7	201.5	20.1	193.4	41.8	30.0
	C.V	119.8	159.5	191.6	177.8	97.7	87.0	42.3	41.2	75.5	144.7	222.8	147.4	26.5	89.6	28.6	134.5	98.2
	75%	1.2	-2.1	-2.2	-1.0	2.8	28.5	149.7	162.5	60.5	-2.3	-1.1	-0.5	613.9	7.2	535.4	-0.3	7.6
	% Con	1.8	1.7	0.9	0.6	1.4	11.2	28.6	30.5	18.7	3.8	0.3	0.6	100.0	3.0	88.9	4.1	4.0
Mahoba	Mean	12.8	14.8	6.3	4.3	11.5	91.9	240.5	258.3	151.8	27.8	3.5	5.1	828.4	22.0	742.5	31.2	32.7
]	S.D	15.5	21.0	10.9	6.7	13.1	84.3	88.1	112.8	123.8	40.5	9.0	12.1	235.7	20.0	239.0	43.3	30.7
	C.V	121.2	141.8	173.7	157.7	113.8	91.8	36.6	43.7	81.6	146.1	260.1	237.1	28.5	91.0	32.2	138.5	93.8
	75%	1.0	-1.0	-1.7	-0.7	1.8	28.4	178.3	175.4	58.5	-2.4	-2.4	-2.9	656.8	7.0	569.0	-1.3	9.3
	% Con	1.5	1.8	0.8	0.5	1.4	11.1	29.0	31.2	18.3	3.4	0.4	0.6	100.0	2.7	89.6	3.8	3.9
Banda	Mean	14.8	14.4	6.7	5.1	13.2	100.8	225.3	247.7	155.6	29.9	2.1	5.8	821.5	25.1	729.4	32.0	35.0
1	S.D	18.8	21.0	13.8	8.8	14.8	97.6	101.4	96.5	112.6	44.3	5.0	8.9	200.0	26.1	191.2	44.0	35.6
	C.V	127.0	146.1	205.1	172.8	112.0	96.8	45.0	39.0	72.4	148.2	235.1	153.8	24.4	103.9	26.2	137.4	101.7
]	75%	0.6	-1.1	-2.6	-1.1	2.0	27.5	149.5	175.2	69.6	-3.3	-1.3	-0.8	673.0	5.9	590.0	-1.1	8.2
	% Con	1.8	1.8	0.8	0.6	1.6	12.3	27.4	30.2	18.9	3.6	0.3	0.7	100.0	3.1	88.8	3.9	4.3
Chhitra	Mean	12.9	17.2	6.4	4.3	10.7	101.5	247.3	252.5	184.2	36.6	2.6	6.4	882.7	21.4	785.5	39.2	36.6
koot	S.D	16.6	25.6	13.0	7.9	14.5	90.9	89.7	85.2	109.8	46.2	6.5	8.3	189.1	27.7	168.0	45.7	35.6
	C.V	128.3	148.7	203.0	184.4	136.1	89.6	36.3	33.7	59.6	126.2	249.5	129.7	21.4	129.7	21.4	116.4	97.4
	75%	0.6	-1.5	-2.5	-1.0	-0.2	32.1	183.0	190.0	102.7	1.8	-1.7	0.1	784.6	1.6	667.6	4.8	9.5
	% Con	1.5	1.9	0.7	0.5	1.2	11.5	28.0	28.6	20.9	4.1	0.3	0.7	100.0	2.4	89.0	4.4	4.1

Table 1: Statistical parameters of rainfall over Bundelkhand region from 1981 to 2020 for characterization of rainfall.

Statistical and temporal trends analysis of rainfall

			1															
Lalitpur	Mean	10.5	11.9	5.4	2.1	6.0	111.8	278.0	296.5	145.5	25.2	4.2	5.1	902.3	13.6	831.8	29.4	27.5
	S.D	15.2	18.9	10.4	5.1	7.3	124.7	115.7	139.4	143.5	46.6	11.9	12.0	252.6	15.0	236.9	51.0	34.2
	C.V	144.6	159.0	191.7	240.2	121.7	111.5	41.6	47.0	98.6	184.7	282.1	235.8	28.0	110.4	28.5	173.4	124.1
	75%	-0.9	-2.1	-2.0	-1.2	0.5	22.7	192.6	193.1	37.3	-7.7	-3.3	-2.6	714.9	2.3	657.1	-7.4	2.6
	% Con	1.2	1.3	0.6	0.2	0.7	12.4	30.8	32.9	16.1	2.8	0.5	0.6	100.0	1.5	92.2	3.3	3.0
Datia	Mean	9.7	11.6	4.2	4.0	9.6	75.0	209.6	218.3	129.2	27.0	3.3	6.1	707.8	17.9	632.2	30.3	27.4
	S.D	16.1	17.9	8.0	8.0	12.2	59.5	76.6	97.0	111.5	41.8	10.4	16.4	193.8	18.4	172.7	42.2	29.7
]	C.V	165.6	153.7	190.3	197.2	126.8	79.3	36.5	44.4	86.3	154.9	313.7	270.5	27.4	103.0	27.3	139.1	108.3
	75%	-1.8	-1.7	-1.4	-1.2	0.5	30.7	153.5	147.2	45.2	-4.2	-2.9	-3.7	562.0	4.1	505.3	-1.5	4.9
	% Con	1.4	1.6	0.6	0.6	1.4	10.6	29.6	30.8	18.3	3.8	0.5	0.9	100.0	2.5	89.3	4.3	3.9
Tikamga	Mean	11.4	14.1	7.2	4.4	8.8	98.5	261.1	299.4	158.5	29.0	3.5	5.5	901.4	20.4	817.5	32.5	31.0
rh	S.D	16.9	19.9	13.6	6.7	10.4	98.6	92.0	137.6	152.0	55.2	7.7	12.2	259.6	21.4	246.9	56.9	36.4
1	C.V	148.3	141.8	188.8	152.3	118.6	100.2	35.2	46.0	95.9	190.4	222.9	221.5	28.8	104.8	30.2	175.2	117.5
1	75%	-1.2	-0.9	-2.5	-0.6	1.1	25.0	197.7	196.2	45.0	-9.3	-1.9	-2.8	709.6	4.3	639.4	-7.8	3.8
1	% Con	1.3	1.6	0.8	0.5	1.0	10.9	29.0	33.2	17.6	3.2	0.4	0.6	100.0	2.3	90.7	3.6	3.4
Chhatarp	Mean	13.6	15.7	7.0	4.8	9.6	121.3	290.6	334.0	177.4	30.1	4.2	5.4	1013.7	21.3	923.3	34.3	34.8
ur	S.D	17.4	19.7	11.8	7.9	9.9	103.1	106.2	139.2	140.1	45.4	11.9	12.7	256.1	21.9	253.1	49.4	32.3
1	C.V	127.3	125.6	169.5	164.6	103.1	85.0	36.5	41.7	79.0	150.9	280.4	234.4	25.3	102.6	27.4	144.0	92.8
1	75%	0.5	0.8	-1.7	-1.0	2.0	43.0	214.9	228.0	71.7	-3.4	-3.3	-2.8	825.5	4.7	738.9	-2.6	10.2
1	% Con	1.3	1.6	0.7	0.5	0.9	12.0	28.7	32.9	17.5	3.0	0.4	0.5	100.0	2.1	91.1	3.4	3.4
Panna	Mean	15.7	16.6	7.0	2.8	6.6	128.1	307.2	337.6	185.5	27.6	4.2	4.1	1043.0	16.4	958.4	31.8	36.4
1	S.D	22.4	22.0	12.9	4.3	9.0	103.6	139.3	134.1	158.3	37.2	13.1	9.1	278.6	20.5	277.6	44.0	38.3
1	C.V	142.5	132.8	184.1	153.8	137.2	80.9	45.3	39.7	85.3	134.8	312.3	220.3	26.7	125.1	29.0	138.4	105.1
1	75%	-1.2	0.0	-2.2	-0.4	-0.2	49.0	204.0	236.1	66.9	-0.2	-3.6	-2.1	832.6	1.1	749.2	-0.7	7.7
	% Con	1.5	1.6	0.7	0.3	0.6	12.3	29.5	32.4	17.8	2.6	0.4	0.4	100.0	1.6	91.9	3.0	3.5
Damoh	Mean	14.1	16.9	7.4	4.0	8.0	144.3	328.6	350.8	170.1	24.1	5.9	5.1	1079.5	19.4	993.8	30.0	36.2
	S.D	19.9	24.6	12.4	8.3	10.2	125.2	150.6	136.8	134.4	29.4	17.6	11.4	267.5	21.4	268.7	40.5	36.2
1	C.V	140.4	145.5	166.6	209.1	126.8	86.7	45.8	39.0	79.0	121.7	299.6	221.1	24.8	110.2	27.0	134.9	100.1
1	75%	-0.8	-1.6	-1.7	-1.6	0.3	50.3	215.8	250.0	68.2	2.2	-4.7	-2.6	879.0	3.3	793.3	0.0	8.6
	% Con	1.3	1.6	0.7	0.4	0.7	13.4	30.4	32.5	15.8	2.2	0.5	0.5	100.0	1.8	92.1	2.8	3.4
Sagar	Mean	12.3	16.4	8.8	3.3	9.6	153.8	348.2	366.6	189.4	22.7	7.9	7.4	1146.4	21.7	1058	30.6	36.1
_	S.D	22.7	26.1	14.3	5.7	13.2	135.1	143.1	150.3	160.4	31.2	22.6	16.8	298.9	21.7	292.4	47.2	38.6
	C.V	184.5	158.7	163.5	170.0	137.1	87.9	41.1	41.0	84.7	137.7	287.2	226.5	26.1	99.8	27.6	154.5	106.8
1	75%	-3.7	-2.6	-1.8	-0.8	-0.2	53.1	241.1	255.2	68.5	-0.6	-6.2	-3.5	923.1	5.2	839.4	-3.8	7.1
	% Con	1.1	1.4	0.8	0.3	0.8	13.4	30.4	32.0	16.5	2.0	0.7	0.6	100.0	1.9	92.3	2.7	3.2

Sagar district received rainfall depth of 1058 mm during South West Monsoon Period while Jalaun district received only 579.7 mm rainfall depth. The Post Monsoon rainfall varies from 29.4 mm in Lalitpur district to 39.2 mm in Chitrakoot district. A rainfall depth of 27.4 mm to 36.6 mm was received during winter season. Figure 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 represent the seasonal variations of rainfall respectively over the studied period. Jhansi district in the year 1984, Lalitpur district in the year 2003 and 2012, Tikamgarh district in 1984 and Damoh district in 2003 did not received rainfall during Pre

Monsoon season.

Chitrakoot district received the highest Pre Monsoon rainfall of 122.7 mm in 2020. Sagar district in the year 2013 received the highest south west monsoon of 1730 mm while the lowest 186.8 mm was received in 2012 at Jalaun district The Post Monsoon season showed the highest amount of rainfall Tikamgarh district in the year 1985. There was no winter season rainfall received in the year 2006 for all the districts and Lalitpur district have the highest winter season rainfall of 183.6 mm in the year 2014.



Figure 3: Annual variations of rainfall over Bundelkhand from 1981 to 2020



Figure 4: Pre Monsoon (March-May) variations of rainfall of Bundelkhand from 1981 to 2020



.Figure 5: South West monsoon (June-September) variations of rainfall over Bundelkhand from 1981 to 2020



Figure 6: Post Monsoon (Oct- Nov) variations of rainfall over Bundelkhand from 1981 to 2020



Figure 7: Rainfall variations in Winter Season (Dec- Feb) over Bundelkhand from 1981 to 2020

The monthly standard deviations values show that except for Damoh district, all the remaining district of Bundelkhand region, the month of September have the highest standard deviation. The annual standard deviation ranges from 189.1 mm in Chitrakoot district to 298.9 mm in Sagar district. Minimum 15 mm and maximum 27.7 mm value of standard deviation for Pre Monsoon season was observed in the district of Lalitpur and Chitrakoot respectively. The standard deviation of South West Monsoon season varies from 168 mm in Chitrakoot district and 292.4 mm in Sagar district. The standard deviation of Post Monsoon season and Winter Season were found to be in the range of 40.5 mm to 56.9 mm and 29.7 mm to 38.6 mm respectively.

The coefficient of variation value of the monthly rainfall showed that November has the highest value in the entire district ranging from 222.8 % for Hamirpur district to 316.1 % for Jalaun district. The annual coefficient of variation ranges from 24.4 % in Banda district to 28.8 % in Tikamgarh district. From the seasonal coefficient of variation analysis Tikamgarh district have the highest value of 175.2 % during Post Monsoon Season and lowest value of 21.4 % in Chitrakoot district during South West Monsoon Period.

The annual 75 % dependable rainfall varies from 496.6 mm to 923.1 mm in Jalaun and Sagar districts respectively. Jaluan district have the lowest 75 % dependable rainfall of 436.5 mm for South West Monsoon Period while Sagar district have the highest value of 839.4 mm. Except Chhatarpur district during the winter season, the Pre Monsoon, Post Monsoon and Winter season have less than 10 mm 75 % dependable rainfall. 10.2 mm of 75 % dependable rainfall was observed in Chhatarpur district during the winter season.

Seasonal evaluation showed that South-West monsoon contributes about 90% of the total annual rainfall which is also given by Singh *et al.*(2002). The Post Monsoon and Winter Season contribution to annual rainfall is about 4 % each. About 2 % of the annual rainfall comes from Pre Monsoon rainfall in Bundelkhand region.

Rainfall Trend

The Mann-Kendall trend, its statistical significance and Sen's slope magnitude of rainfall for the period of 1981 to 2020 are shown in Table 2.

Monthly Rainfall Trend

A decreasing rainfall trend was observed for the month of January but only Hamirpur district show a significant trend at 0.1 level of significance. 6 districts viz. Jalaun, Jhansi, Chitrakoot, Panna, and Sagar show a non-significant Damoh decreasing trend while the remaining 7 districts show a non-significant increasing trend for the month of Febuary. All 13 districts show a nonsignificant increasing trend for the month of March. Sagar district shows an increasing trend for the month of April significant at 0.01 level of significance. No significant increasing or decreasing trend was observed for the month of May, June and July in all the districts. A decreasing trend was observed for the month of August in all the district. Among them Jalaun and Datia show a decreasing trend at 0.1 level of significance while Jhansi district shows a decreasing trend at 0.05 level of significance. Damoh and Sagar districts show an increasing trend for September. Jalaun and Hamirpur districts show a significant decreasing trend at 0.01 level of significance while Jhansi and Mahoba districts show a decreasing trend at 0.05 level of significance. The month of October, November and December show a non-significant increasing and decreasing trend.

Annual Rainfall Trend

Except Sagar district, the other 12 districts show a decreasing annual rainfall trend for the period of 1981 to 2020. Jalaun and Jhansi districts show an annual rainfall decreasing trend significant at 0.01 level of significance. Hamirpur and Mahoba districts show a decreasing annual rainfall trend at 0.1 level of significance.

Seasonal Rainfall Trend

Jhansi, Chritrakoot, Chhatarpur, Panna and Damoh show a non-significant decreasing Pre Monsoon rainfall trend but the remaining districts show a nonsignificant increasing trend. Banda and Sagar districts show an increasing South West Monsoon rainfall trend but these trends are insignificant. A decreasing South West Monsoon rainfall trend was observed in the remaining 11 districts. Among them two districts i.e. Jalaun and Jhansi show a significant decreasing trend at 0.01 level of significance and 0.05 level of significance respectively. Panna and Chitrakoot districts show a non-significant increasing Post Monsoon trend while the remaining districts show a non-significant decreasing trend.

<table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row><table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row></table-row>																			
111 <td></td> <td></td> <td>Jan</td> <td>Feb</td> <td>Mar</td> <td>Apr</td> <td>May</td> <td>Jun</td> <td>Jul</td> <td>Aug</td> <td>Sep</td> <td>Oct</td> <td>Nov</td> <td>Dec</td> <td>Total</td> <td>Pre</td> <td>Swm</td> <td>Post</td> <td>Win</td>			Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Total	Pre	Swm	Post	Win
1 1		Z	-0.40	-0.64	0.32	0.19	0.03	-0.47	-1.19	-1.89	-3.05	-1.21	0.40	-1.04	-2.84	0.23	-3.03	-1.20	-0.42
1011121314 </td <td>Jalaun</td> <td>α</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>+</td> <td>**</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>**</td> <td></td> <td>**</td> <td></td> <td></td>	Jalaun	α								+	**				**		**		
111		Q	-0.03	-0.02	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.40	-1.48	-2.62	-3.00	-0.02	0.00	0.00	-9.05	0.06	-7.76	-0.13	-0.09
1 1		Z	-0.70	-0.11	0.60	1.43	-0.37	-0.48	-0.34	-1.99	-1.99	-0.79	0.08	-0.53	-2.64	-0.43	-2.48	-0.77	-0.07
101010	Jhansi	α								*	*				**		*		
Description Description <thdescription< th=""> <thdescription< th=""></thdescription<></thdescription<>		0	-0.03	0.00	0.00	0.04	-0.04	-0.41	-0.34	-3.31	-2.02	-0.02	0.00	0.00	-6.62	-0.07	-6.71	-0.05	0.00
Image Image <t< td=""><td></td><td>Z</td><td>-1.75</td><td>0.07</td><td>0.73</td><td>0.49</td><td>-0.08</td><td>0.36</td><td>0.10</td><td>-1.11</td><td>-2.62</td><td>-0.47</td><td>0.68</td><td>-0.69</td><td>-1.71</td><td>0.62</td><td>-1.50</td><td>-0.55</td><td>-0.85</td></t<>		Z	-1.75	0.07	0.73	0.49	-0.08	0.36	0.10	-1.11	-2.62	-0.47	0.68	-0.69	-1.71	0.62	-1.50	-0.55	-0.85
nm	Hamirpur	a	+								**				+				
h h		0	-0.23	0.00	0.01	0.01	-0.01	0.17	0.10	-2.17	-2.45	-0.01	0.00	0.00	-5.81	0.14	-5.12	-0.06	-0.26
hि I		z	-1.45	0.16	0.72	1.23	-0.28	-0.17	-0.29	-1.08	-2.20	-0.44	1.28	0.27	-1.83	0.15	-1.50	-0.64	-0.89
10 10 100	Jalaun	α									*				+				
<table-container>111</table-container>		0	-0.19	0.00	0.00	0.03	-0.03	-0.17	-0.35	-2.12	-2.15	-0.02	0.00	0.00	-6.19	0.02	-5.04	-0.10	-0.24
Image in the interm of the interm o		Z	-1.29	0.61	0.14	-0.29	0.20	-0.71	0.97	-0.22	-1.41	-1.12	0.05	-1.03	-0.24	0.00	0.00	-1.33	-0.45
10 11<	Banda	α																	
1 1		Q	-0.25	0.04	0.00	-0.01	0.02	-0.57	1.10	-0.34	-1.76	-0.10	0.00	0.00	-1.05	0.00	0.00	-0.15	-0.21
Image Image <th< td=""><td></td><td>Z</td><td>-1.49</td><td>-0.06</td><td>0.72</td><td>0.49</td><td>0.30</td><td>-0.80</td><td>0.76</td><td>-0.41</td><td>-0.71</td><td>0.17</td><td>-0.36</td><td>0.12</td><td>-0.01</td><td>-0.57</td><td>-0.08</td><td>0.10</td><td>-0.45</td></th<>		Z	-1.49	-0.06	0.72	0.49	0.30	-0.80	0.76	-0.41	-0.71	0.17	-0.36	0.12	-0.01	-0.57	-0.08	0.10	-0.45
10 11<	Chitrakoot	α																	
Image: here in the system of the sy		0	-0.14	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.01	-0.79	0.77	-0.40	-0.69	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.09	-0.04	0.00	-0.17
Image Image <th< td=""><td></td><td>z</td><td>-0.57</td><td>0.73</td><td>0.72</td><td>1.48</td><td>-0.02</td><td>1.06</td><td>-0.62</td><td>-1.01</td><td>-0.73</td><td>-0.98</td><td>0.03</td><td>0.02</td><td>-0.87</td><td>0.68</td><td>-0.80</td><td>-1.32</td><td>0.28</td></th<>		z	-0.57	0.73	0.72	1.48	-0.02	1.06	-0.62	-1.01	-0.73	-0.98	0.03	0.02	-0.87	0.68	-0.80	-1.32	0.28
100.01 <td>Lalitour</td> <td>α</td> <td></td>	Lalitour	α																	
negative		0	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.80	-0.96	-1.44	-0.87	-0.02	0.00	0.00	-2.59	0.10	-3.46	-0.06	0.07
Image Image <th< td=""><td></td><td>z</td><td>-0.52</td><td>0.26</td><td>0.01</td><td>1.04</td><td>1.12</td><td>0.73</td><td>1.39</td><td>-1.83</td><td>-1.34</td><td>-1.41</td><td>0.71</td><td>-0.21</td><td>-0.66</td><td>0.64</td><td>-0.45</td><td>-0.98</td><td>0.19</td></th<>		z	-0.52	0.26	0.01	1.04	1.12	0.73	1.39	-1.83	-1.34	-1.41	0.71	-0.21	-0.66	0.64	-0.45	-0.98	0.19
Image: birder stateQ0.000.000.000.000.000.100.100.100.000.000.100.100.100.0	Datia	α								+									
Image in the system of the system o		0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.02	0.10	0.43	1.35	-3.41	-1.23	-0.02	0.00	0.00	-1.29	0.10	-1.40	-0.04	0.06
Image		z	-1.01	0.28	0.26	0.78	0.16	0.22	-0.57	-1.13	-1.25	-0.46	0.33	-0.06	-1.62	0.13	-1.57	-0.45	-0.07
110.0 <td>Tikamgarh</td> <td>α</td> <td></td>	Tikamgarh	α																	
X0.990.890.690.900.200.200.200.870.150.920.520.530.930.100.100.400.48ChatterQ0.00	_	Q	-0.05	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.18	-1.18	-2.52	-1.56	0.00	0.00	0.00	-7.00	0.06	-6.36	-0.02	-0.02
α <td></td> <td>Z</td> <td>-0.99</td> <td>0.08</td> <td>0.16</td> <td>0.09</td> <td>0.22</td> <td>-0.24</td> <td>-0.20</td> <td>-0.87</td> <td>-1.15</td> <td>-0.72</td> <td>0.49</td> <td>-0.52</td> <td>-1.53</td> <td>-0.03</td> <td>-1.20</td> <td>-0.80</td> <td>-0.48</td>		Z	-0.99	0.08	0.16	0.09	0.22	-0.24	-0.20	-0.87	-1.15	-0.72	0.49	-0.52	-1.53	-0.03	-1.20	-0.80	-0.48
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Chhatarpur	α																	
Z 0.55 0.99 0.71 0.64 0.17 0.17 0.17 0.94 0.94 0.06 0.26 0.17 0.10 0.10 0.26 0.95 μ 1.7 0.91		Q	-0.09	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	-0.27	-0.16	-1.88	-1.37	-0.05	0.00	0.00	-4.89	-0.02	-4.52	-0.08	-0.18
α <td></td> <td>Z</td> <td>-0.55</td> <td>-0.29</td> <td>0.71</td> <td>0.64</td> <td>-0.16</td> <td>-0.17</td> <td>0.41</td> <td>-1.27</td> <td>-0.94</td> <td>0.44</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>-0.64</td> <td>-1.29</td> <td>-0.17</td> <td>-1.01</td> <td>0.13</td> <td>-0.58</td>		Z	-0.55	-0.29	0.71	0.64	-0.16	-0.17	0.41	-1.27	-0.94	0.44	0.00	-0.64	-1.29	-0.17	-1.01	0.13	-0.58
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Panna	α																	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0	-0.01	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	-0.26	0.78	-2.20	-0.94	0.04	0.00	0.00	-4.62	-0.02	-3.93	0.02	-0.28
a Image: second se		z	-0.52	-0.71	0.13	1.44	-1.15	0.48	0.87	-1.22	0.24	0.00	0.37	-0.93	-0.34	-0.10	-0.20	-0.05	-0.86
Q 0.00 -0.03 0.00 0.02 -0.07 0.42 1.15 -2.48 0.37 0.00 0.00 -1.71 -0.01 -0.60 -0.01 -0.31 Z -1.47 -0.51 0.27 3.17 -1.08 0.76 0.99 -1.13 0.10 0.09 0.37 -0.60 0.00 0.03 -0.20 0.29 -1.12 Sagar 4 - <td>Damoh</td> <td>α</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td>	Damoh	α						-											
X -1.47 -0.51 0.27 3.17 -1.08 0.16 0.11 0.00 0.01 0.00 -0.01 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.01 0.00 0.01 </td <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>-0.03</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>0.02</td> <td>-0.07</td> <td>0.42</td> <td>1.15</td> <td>-2.48</td> <td>0.37</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>-1.71</td> <td>-0.01</td> <td>-0.60</td> <td>-0.01</td> <td>-0.31</td>		0	0.00	-0.03	0.00	0.02	-0.07	0.42	1.15	-2.48	0.37	0.00	0.00	0.00	-1.71	-0.01	-0.60	-0.01	-0.31
Sagar a <td></td> <td>z</td> <td>-1.47</td> <td>-0.51</td> <td>0.27</td> <td>3.17</td> <td>-1.08</td> <td>0.76</td> <td>0.99</td> <td>-1.13</td> <td>0.10</td> <td>0.09</td> <td>0.37</td> <td>-0.60</td> <td>0.00</td> <td>0.50</td> <td>0.03</td> <td>-0.29</td> <td>-1.12</td>		z	-1.47	-0.51	0.27	3.17	-1.08	0.76	0.99	-1.13	0.10	0.09	0.37	-0.60	0.00	0.50	0.03	-0.29	-1.12
	Sagar			0.01	9.21	**	1.00	0.70	5.77		0.10	0.07	5.57	0.00	0.00	0.00	5.05	9.27	**12
	Subu	0	-0.03	-0.01	0.00	0.07	-0.05	0.80	136	-2 62	0.09	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.12	0.37	-0.04	-0.43

Table 2: Mann Kendall (Z) values, Significance (α) and Sen's slope (Q) values over Bundelkhand region from 1981 to 2020

*** if trend at $\alpha = 0.001$ level of significance, ** if trend at $\alpha = 0.01$ level of significance, * if trend at $\alpha = 0.05$ level of significance and + if trend at $\alpha = 0.1$ level of significance.

For winter season rainfall, Lalitpur and Datia districts show a non-significant increasing trend while the remaining 11 districts show a non-significant decreasing trend.

The decreasing trends in rainfall are supported by other researcher. Jana et. al. (2017), reported that rainfall pattern over Bundelkhand region is depicting a declining trends, and that the region is heading in the direction of drier time with more erratic rainfall behaviour. A declining annual rainfall trend was also observed in the studies conducted by Rai et al., (2012), Thomas et al., (2014) Deo et al., (2015), Jain et al., (2017) and Ahmed et al., (2019) which comply with the current findings of the studies. The decreasing trend of rainfall can be due to Chaurasia et al., (2021) reported that the deviation in rainfall correlates with forest cover. Thus increasing forest cover which is far below the average recommended by Nation's Forest Policy can be one of the solution to reduce water woes in the region. Saharwardi et al., (2021), stated that the decrease in rainfall over Bundelkhand region is due warmer sea surface temperature in the eastern Pacific. It was also reported that the increase occurrence of El-Nino events in recent years has led to a drought years in Bundelkhand region.

Gupta *et al.*, (2014) noted that frequency of drought occurrence is increasing in Bundelkhand region and has become a recurring annual phenomenon since 2004.Thomas *et al.*, (2015) detailed an increase severity of meteorological drought in the region. Dubey *et al.*, (2017) has found a growing trend of drought event in Bundelkhand region. Saharwardi *et al.*, (2021) reported an increase in drought frequency in the since the starting of the 21st century.

Bhusan *et al.*, (1997) revealed that occurrence of dry spell during South West Monsoon season leads to crop failure in Bundelkhand region. Chand *et al.*,(2011) stated that rainfall plays a vital role for

References

- Ahmed, A., Deb, D., & Mondal, S. (2019). Assessment of rainfall variability and its impact on groundnut yield in Bundelkhand region of India. *Current Science*, 117 (5), 794-803.
- Alam, N. M., Adhikary, P. P., Jana, C., Kaushal, R., Sharma, N. K., Avasthe, R. K., & Mishra, P. K. (2012).

agriculture production in the region and reported that the crop production which is lower than the national average is mainly due to decrease trend in rainfall which prevails in the region. Dubey et al.,(2011) reported that the declining rainfall have contributed to the yield reduction of pulse crops. Gupta et. al., (2021) reported that cultivated area for Kharif crops like paddy, peas and soybean cultivated areas have been declining Bundelkhand region and that changing rainfall and climate trend corroborated to declining crop production. Ahmed et al., (2019) reported that decreasing South West Monsoon rainfall have negative impact on the production of groundnut. Production of Rabi crops like wheat, berseem etc are likely to be affected in the coming era due to water shortages caused by declining rainfall.

Conclusion

The work presents an analysis of rainfall characteristics and its trend of Bundelkhand region in India. Rainfall was characterized using different statistical parameters. Monthly, annual and seasonal rainfall trend was studied using Man-Kendall Test and change in rainfall magnitude was detected using Sen's slope estimator. From the study it was found that the average yearly rainfall over Bundelkhand ranges from 657.7 mm to 1146.4 mm. The rainfall in the region is mainly concentrated in the four South West Monsoon months which are June, July, August and September. An alarming finding of the study is that the annual and south west monsoon is following a declining trend. From the study we suggested that rainfall received during south west monsoon months should be harnessed and conserved through soil and water conservation practices for year round water availability.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Application of Markov Model and Standardized Precipitation Index for Analysis of Droughts in Bundelkhand Region of India. *Journal of Tree Sciences*, 31(1 & 2), 46-53.

Alam, N. M., Mishra, P. K., Jana, C., & Adhikary, P. P. (2014). Stochastic model for drought forecasting for Bundelkhand region in Central India. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Science*, 84(1), 79–84.

- Alam, N. M., Ranjan, R., Adhikary, P. P., Kumar, A., Mishra, P. K., & Sharma, N. K. (2016). Statistical modeling of weekly rainfall data for crop planning in Bundelkhand region of Central India. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation*, 44(3), 336–342.
- Bayazit, M., & Onoz, B. (2007). To prewhiten or not to prewhiten in trend analysis? *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, 52 (4), 611–624.
- Bhusan, L.S., Sharma, A.K., Tiwari, A.K., Singh, B.L., & Yadav, R.C. (1997). Management of Ravine watershed. Bulletin NoT-37/A1.CSWCRTI, Research Centre, Agra (UP).
- Central Water Commission. (2005). Ministry of Water Resources, Government of India. Hand book of water resources statistics.
- Chand, M., Kumar, D., Singh, D., Roy, N., & Singh, D.K. (2011). Analysis of rainfall for crop planning in Jhansi district of Bundelkhand zone of Uttar Pradesh. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation*, 39(1), 20-26.
- Chaurasia, P. R., & Chandra, S. (2021). Bundelkhand Water Woes: Paradigm Shift is Needed in the Strategy. *Journal of the Institution of Engineers (India): Series A*, 102(1), 335-345.
- Cruz, R.V., Harasawa, H., Lal, M., Wu, S., Anokhin, Y., Punsalmaa, B., Honda, Y., Jafari, M., Li, C., & Huu Ninh, N. (2007) Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Edited by Parry, M.L., et al., Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 469-506.
- Deo, K., Tripathi, P., Kumar, A., Singh, K., Mishra, S., Mishra, A., & Singh, A. (2015). Trend of rainfall in different sectors of Uttar Pradesh under present scenario of climate change. *International Journal of Environmental Sciences*, 6, 303–310.
- Dubey, S. K., Sah, U., & Singh, S. K. (2011). Impact of climate change on pulse productivity and adaptation strategies as practiced by the pulse growers of Bundelkhand region of Uttar Pradesh. *Journal of Food Legumes*, 24(3), 230-234.
- Dubey, R. K., Singh, R. K., & Dubey, S. K. (2017). Long-term rainfall trend and drought analysis for Bundelkhand region of India. *Climate Change and Environmental Sustainability*, 5(1), 42-49.
- F. S. I. (2005). State of Forest Report, Forest Survey of India, Dehradun.
- Gilbert, R.O. (1987). Statistical methods for environmental pollution monitoring, Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.

- Government of India. (2016-17). Annual report, Department of Agriculture, Cooperation & Farmers Welfare Ministry of Agriculture & Farmers Welfare, Government of India.
- Government of India. (2012). Final report of minor irrigation and watershed management for the twelfth five year plan (2012-2017), Planning commission, Government of India, New Delhi.
- Guhathakurta, P., & Rajeevan, M. (2008). Trends in the rainfall pattern over India. *International Journal of Climatology: A Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 28(11), 1453-1469.
- Gupta, A. K., Nair, S. S., Ghosh, O., Singh, A., & Dey, S. (2014). Bundelkhand drought: Retrospective analysis and way ahead. National Institute of Disaster Management, New Delhi, 148.
- Gupta, A., Sawant, C. P., Rao, K. V. R., & Sarangi, A. (2021). Results of century analysis of rainfall and temperature trends and its impact on agriculture production in Bundelkhand region of Central India. *Mausam*, 72(2), 473-488.
- Jain, S. K. (2009). Change in Climate in Bundelkhand and Challenges for Life. Available from:www.indiaenvironmentportal.org.in/content/265039/c hange-in-climate-in-bundelkhand-andchallenges- for-life/ (accessed 29 April 2016).
- Jain, V. K., Pandey, R. P., Jain, M. K., & Byun, H. R. (2017). Spatiotemporal rainfall trends in the twentieth century for Bundelkhand region, India. *Journal of Water and Climate Change*, 8, 441–455.
- Jana, C., Alam, N. M., Mandal, D., Shamim, M., & Kaushal, R. (2017). Spatio-temporal rainfall trends in the twentieth century for Bundelkhand region, India. *Journal of Water* and Climate Change, 8(3), 441-455.
- Kendall, M.G. (1975). Rank correlation Method, Griffin, London.
- Krishnakumar, K. N., Rao, G. P., & Gopakumar, C. S. (2009). Rainfall trends in twentieth century over Kerala, India. *Atmospheric environment*, 43(11), 1940-1944
- Mann, H.B. (1945). Nonparametric tests against trend. *Econometrics*, 13, 245–259.
- Pai, D.S., Sridhar, L., Rajeevan, M., Sreejith, O.P., Satbhai, N.S., & Mukhopadhyay, B. (2014). Development of a new high spatial resolution (0.25° X 0.25°) Long period (1901-2010) daily gridded rainfall data set over India and its comparison with existing data sets over the region. *Mausam*, 65 (1), 1-18.

- Parry, M., Parry, M. L., Canziani, O., Palutikof, J., Van der Linden, P., & Hanson, C. (2007). Climate change 2007impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: Working group II contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC (Vol. 4), Cambridge University Press.
- Rai, S. K., Behari, P., Satyapriya, A., Rai, K., & Agrawal, R. K. (2012). Long term trends in rainfall and its probability for crop planning in two districts of Bundelkhand region. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 14, 74–78.
- Saharwardi, M. S., Mahadeo, A. S., & Kumar, P. (2021). Understanding drought dynamics and variability over Bundelkhand region. *Journal of Earth System Science*, 130(3), 1-16.
- Singh, R., Rizvi, R. H., Kareemulla, K., Dadhwal, K. S., & Solanki, K. R. (2002). Rainfall analysis for investigation of drought at Jhansi in Bundelkhand region. *Indian Journal Soil Conservation*, 30(2), 117-121.
- Thomas, T., Nayak, P. C., & Ghosh, N. C. (2014). Irrigation planning for sustainable rain-fed agriculture in the droughtprone Bundelkhand region of Madhya Pradesh, India. Journal of Water and Climate Change, 5(3), 408-426.

- Thomas, T., Jaiswal, R. K., Nayak, P. C., & Ghosh, N. C. (2015). Comprehensive evaluation of the changing drought characteristics in Bundelkhand region of Central India. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics*, 127(2), 163-182.
- Wani, S.P., Sreedevi, T.K., Rockström, J., & Ramakrishna, Y.S. (2009). Rainfed agriculture–Past trends and future prospects. Rainfed agriculture: unlocking the potential, 1-35.
- Wani, S.P., Garg, K.K., Singh, A.K. & Rockstrom, J. (2012). Sustainable management of scarce water resource in tropical rainfed agriculture. *Soil Water and Agronomic Productivity*, 347–408.
- Weibull, W. (1939). A statistical theory of strength of materials. Ing. Vetensk. Akad. Handl., 151, 1-4.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of scouring and laundering on functional properties of natural colour cotton fabric

Sannapapamma K J 🖂

All India Coordinated Research Project-Home Science (Clothing and Textiles), Main Agricultural Research Station, University of Agricultural Sciences Dharwad.

Sakeena Naikwadi

All India Coordinated Research Project-Home Science (Clothing and Textiles), Main Agricultural Research Station, University of Agricultural Sciences Dharwad.

Deepa Bhairappanavar

All India Coordinated Research Project-Home Science (Clothing and Textiles), Main Agricultural Research Station, University of Agricultural Sciences Dharwad.

Rajesh Patil

Principal Scientist (GPB), ARS Dharwad Farm, Dharwad

Y. R. Aladakatti

Department of Agronomy, University of Agricultural Sciences Dharwad

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Received : 13 July 2021	Natural color cotton is eco-supportive as they possess colour naturally in
Revised : 14 October 2021	varied shades viz., brown, green, cream and other tints and shades of these
Accepted : 08 November 2021	colours. It has unique comfort and handle property which provides soothing
	to the wearer. A medium brown natural colour cotton fibre was spun into 20s
Available online:11 February 2022	count yarn on open end spinning and the pure colour cotton fabric was
2	developed on handloom and subjected to scouring. The scoured natural
Key Words:	colour cotton fabric undergone with multiple wash cycles and assessed for
Colour fastness	mechanical, functional properties, colour fastness to sunlight and washing
Colour strength	properties. Results revealed that, the scoured natural color cotton fabrics at
Laundering	washing and sunlight was found to be increase in color strength and decrease
Natural colour cotton fabric	in reflectance than the pure NCC fabric. After laundering at multiple
Scouring	washes, the scoured natural colour cotton fabric exposed to direct sunlight, it
Sunlight	was found that the colour strength was significantly reduced and fabric
	became lighter, duller and yellower. However, the scoured natural colour
	cotton fabric subjected to washing and shade dried exhibited significantly
	greater K/S, which indicates the sample became darker, brighter and greener
	than the sample expose to direct sunlight. The natural colour cotton fabrics
	has better mechanical, functional and fastness properties can be suitable for
	production of diversified cotton products ranging from children garments to
	trendy outfits. Hence, the promotion of natural colour cotton fabrics is a
	sustainable approach for green environment.

Introduction

Cotton is one of the world's most socially vital and economically important agricultural crop and also the king of textile. Millions of people depend on cotton cultivation which suffices the basic necessity of mankind and is known for its diversity, enormous utility, applicability, economic viability and advantageous properties. Cotton with natural colour lint other than white is commercially referred as colour cotton and is known to mankind ever since the existence of agriculture and even hues in consistency, and non-uniformity of fabric

earlier to vedic period. Generally, due to smaller bolls and low ginning outturn of colour lint varieties are often low yielders with low productivity per unit area. The properties of colour cotton fibre are also poor in fibre length and strength values which is hardly machine spun. Other issues with these cottons include high whiteness percent, higher wax content, isolation distance requirements, the presence of only a few

colour throughout seasons and locales. In spite of reactive species involved in photo fading of dyed these draw backs, the naturally colour cotton is gaining popularity in the world market due to its eco friendliness. Throughout the value chain of white cotton a large amount of chemicals, acid dyes, reactive dyes and basic dyes are required to make the white cotton as coloured. Added to this, to process the white cotton *i.e.*, fibre to fabric high amount of water is required and large quantity of effluents are generated with high level of BOD. COD, TS and TDS which further leads to environment pollution (Ramesh babu et al., 2007). Usage of synthetic for textile colouration leads to many ecological problems and human health hazards which has forced to driven the attention towards eco-friendly textiles. The eco fashion business has provided an opportunity for creativity to revitalize age-old fibres and environmentally sustainable processes. Naturally coloured cottons are gaining importance in the recent years due to the integration of ecology, fashion and public's rising interest in environmental issues and enviornment-friendly production processes. These naturally coloured cottons reduce or eliminate the costly dyeing and bleaching procedures. Due to its eco-friendly aspect, coloured cottons have created a growing niche market in the developed countries (Parmar and Shanna (2002). Certainly, naturally colored cotton is eco-supportive as they can be finished devoid of chemical dyes. Though it possesses many favorable features and also associated with some limitations viz., short staple length and coarser structure eventually producing coarse quality fabric which in turn exhibit poor aesthetic properties. Cotton, being a natural fibre, contains more natural impurities on its primary and secondary walls which in turn hinders the quality of the fabric. Hence, the scouring is an essential pretreatment for cotton which improves the strength, luster and absorbency. The dyed cotton fabrics with varied dye class (direct, reactive, basic, vat etc.) after multiple washing and expose to sunlight leads to colour fading due for photo oxidation. However, reaction to washing of natural colour cotton fabric is quite different from that of synthetic coloured cotton fabrics. On the contrary the natural colour cotton fabrics improve its wash fastness and colour intensify up to 10 washing and thereafter the colour intensity was reduced for sunlight. Many authors studied the chemistry and

cotton fabric. The world is moving toward pollution-free organic textiles and products; the naturally colored cotton is going to be the next buzz word in the market, because of the production process of naturally coloured cotton skips the most polluting activity (dyeing) of the textile product manufacturing (Rathinamoorthy and Parthiban, (2019).

Hence the present study is designed with objectives to study the effect of scouring on mechanical and functional properties of natural colour cotton fabrics and to assess the colour strength of natural colour cotton fabric on washing and light fastness and its durability.

Material and Methods Selection of raw material

Medium brown natural colour cotton fibre was procured from Agricultural Research Station Hebballi UAS Dharwad with following fibre properties (Table 1). The natural colour cotton fibre was spun into 20s count yarn on open end spinning and assessed for yarn evenness properties (Table 2). The varn evenness properties of natural colour cotton yarn were measured interms of thin places (-50 %), thick places (+50 %), neps (+200) and total imperfections. The 20s pure colour cotton yarn was found the thin places (07), thick places (62), neps (27) and total imperfection rate of 96. Hairiness percentage of natural colour cotton yarn was found to be 4.10, unevenness percentage was 11.73 and count strength product of 1540.

Table 1. Fi	bre qualities	of natural	colour	cotton	yarn
(Brown Co	olour Hirsutui	m)			

SN	Fibre Properties	Mean	CV%	Std. Dev.
1.	2.5 % SL (mm)	20.39	2.80	0.57
2.	U.R.%	56.10	4.80	2.70
3.	Mic.10 (g/in)	3.78	0.80	0.03
4.	Tenacity(g/tex)	17.10	7.50	1.30
5.	Elongation %	8.11	9.90	0.80

Development of natural colour cotton fabric

The pure natural colour cotton fabric was developed by interlacing 20s count yarn with plain weave on handloom with reed count of 44 and denting order of 2/dents (Plate 1).

SN	Parameters	NCC pure 20s count
1	Thin Places (-50%)	07
2	Thick Places (+50)	62
3	Neps (+200)	27
4	Total Imperfection	96
5	U %	11.73
6.	Hairiness	4.10
6	CSP (Count Strength Product)	1540

 Table 2. Yarn evenness properties of natural colour cotton pure and blended yarn

Scouring of natural colour cotton fabric

Scouring is the process wherein cotton fabric is essentially undergoing pretreatment operation with required amount of alkali. The primary purpose of scouring for cotton fabrics is to removes water insoluble materials such as oils, fats, and waxes from the material. Following recipe has used for scouring of natural colour cotton fabric (Table. 3 and plate 2 & 3.

 Table 3: Recipe for Scouring of natural colour cotton

 fabric

MLR (Material liquor ratio)	1:20
Tween 80	3 gpl
NaOH (Sodium hydroxide)	3% owf
Sequencing agent (EDTA- Ethylene diamine tetra acetic acid)	1 gpl
Temperature	40° to boiling point
Time	8 folds

Laundering of natural colour cotton fabric

Fabric durability is one of the most important factors that determine the shelf life of the textile substrates for attaining better performance. The scoured natural colour cotton fabric was subjected for multiple washes (20 washes) using liquid detergent (3gpl) at the MLR of 1:30 and assessed for colour fastness properties.

Assessment of mechanical and functional properties

The pure and scoured natural colour cotton fabrics were assessed for mechanical properties *viz.*, cloth count (Ne), cloth weight (GSM), cloth thickness (mm), cloth crease recovery (degree) and cloth stiffness (cm) using standard test procedures. The functional properties *viz.*, cloth tensile strength, elongation, air permeability and wettability were assessed for pure and scoured natural colour cotton fabrics using standard test procedures (Tables 4 & 5).

Table	4:	Standards	for	assessment	of	mechanical
proper	rties	s of Natural	colo	ured cotton f	fabı	rics

Mechanical properties	Standard test procedure
Cloth density	BS 2862:1957
Cloth thickness	ASTM D177-1975
GSM	IS 1964: 2001
Cloth crease recovery	IS 4681:1968
Bending length	BS 3356-1961

Table	5:	Standards	for	assessment	of	functional
prope	rties	of Natural	colou	red cotton fa	abri	cs

Functional properties	Standard test procedure			
Cloth Tensile strength and Elongation	IS 1969-Part1-2009			
Spray test	AATCC 22-2017			
Air permeability test	IS 11056 1984			

Colour strength (K/S)

Colour strength (K/S) values of the natural colour cotton fabrics were measured by using spectrophotometer. Five readings recorded for each and an average value was calculated. Where, K is the absorption coefficient and S is the scattering coefficient.

Assessment of colour fastness properties of natural colour cotton fabric

The scoured colour cotton fabric was subjected to multiple washing and assessed for fastness property by using two methods *viz.*, Colour fastness to sunlight and Colour fastness to washing.

Colour fastness to sunlight

The natural color cotton fabrics of 1×6 cm were wound closely on a black card sheet and was mounted in an exposure rack. The rack was placed at 45° for eight days, and it was exposed from 9 a.m. to 3 p.m. (6 hours every day). The samples were evaluated for colour change after 48 hours of



Plate 1: Natural colour cotton trendy outfits.



Plate 2: Scouring of natural colour cotton fabrics



Plate 3: Scouring of natural colour cotton fabrics

exposure with the help of spectrophotometer (380-780 nm) compared with blue wool standard.

Colour fastness to washing

The natural colour cotton materials were stitched along all four sides between two adjacent pieces of cloth, one side silk and the other cotton. The composite specimen was agitated in the rotary shaker for 30 minutes with a preheated (402 °C) soap solution (5 g/l) of MLR 1:30. (42rpm). After laundering, the colour fastness of samples was determined using a spectrophotometer and compared with gray scale.

Results and Discussion

Effect of scouring on mechanical properties of natural colour cotton fabrics

Cloth count of the woven textile material is the number of ends and picks per unit area which is influenced by the yarn count and compactness of the weave. From the table 6, it is observed that, the warp density of pure and scoured natural colour cotton fabrics was relatively greater than the weft and the cloth density was found to be significantly greater between both the fabrics. Among the fabrics, the cloth count was found to be greater in scoured natural colour cotton fabric in both warp (56) and weft (35) direction compared to control fabric (warp: 54 & weft: 30) respectively. It may be because of removal of impurities during the scouring process and maximum consolidation of threads takes place resulted into formation of compact structure which leads to increased cloth count. The results are on par with the results of Prabaharan (2003) who reported that, after number of wet processing, treatments the cotton fabric was prone to shrink considerably resulting in high thread density. The total cloth weight of scoured natural colour cotton fabric was found to be significantly greater (130) than pure natural colour cotton fabric (126). The cloth thickness was found to be significantly higher in scoured natural colour cotton fabric (0.50) than pure natural colour cotton (0.47) fabrics. It may be due to the consolidation of threads/unit area resulting into greater cloth thickness which yields to higher cloth weight.

Further, the cloth stiffness was found to be significantly greater in pure natural colour cotton fabric both in warp (2.36) and weft direction (2.23) than scoured natural colour cotton fabric (warp:

2.00 & weft: 1.90) respectively. This may be due to the removal of impurities present in the woven fabric structure that makes the fabric softer and more pliable. The results are on par with the results of Shrikant et al. (2005) who revealed that, fabrics become less stiffer after the scouring possibly due to removal of fats and waxes. Moreover, the cloth crease recovery angle was found to be significantly greater in weft of both pure and scoured natural colour cotton fabric than warp direction. Scoured natural colour cotton fabric was found to be greater crease recovery angle (warp: 75 & weft: 81) as compared to pure natural colour cotton fabric (warp: 72 & weft: 77) respectively, which indicates the scoured fabrics become more softer and pliable. Dimensional stability of fabric calculated in terms of percentage, it refers to change of fabric size when they are washed or relaxed. After scouring the natural colour cotton fabric was increased the dimensional stability in both warp (76.16%) and weft (91.00%) direction as compared to pure natural colour cotton fabric (warp: 70.96%, weft: 88.00%) respectively.

Effect of scouring on functional properties of natural colour cotton fabrics

The tensile strength is a stress applied on a fabric which is measured as force per unit area. It is observed from the table 7 that, the scoured natural colour cotton fabrics exhibited greater tensile strength in both warp (135.9) and weft way (45.8)as compared to pure NCC fabric (warp: 123.2, weft:40.3) respectively. Similarly, the elongation percentage of scoured fabric was found to be greater in both warp (2.4) and weft (2.5) direction than pure NCC fabric. In general, fabric strength and elongation properties were significantly increased after scouring this may be due to consolidation of thread density. The strength of fibers is attributed to the rigidity of the cellulosic chains, the highly febrile and crystalline structure, and the extensive intermolecular and intramolecular hydrogen-bonding (Hsieh, 2007). Further, the alkali has improved the molecular arrangement of the fibre resulting in to greater per cent of crystalline regions in the fibre thus enhancing the strength of the yarn and fabric on scouring (Gandhad and Naik, 1999; Magadi, 2002).

Wettability refers to a fabric's ability to absorb liquid and is determined by the balance of surface energy at the interface of air, liquid, and solid components. The wetting of cotton depends upon the properties of the fibre surface and the liquid which is going to wet it. The surface energy of a textile structure in the uppermost layers is important in the wetting and adhesion of liquids. The fabric surface energy is largely dependent upon

the structure of the fibre, as well as on the yarn, fabric, capillary forces, cover factor, area density, level of projected fibres, and surface roughness (Uddin and Lomas (2010). The samples wettability was evaluated using ratings, where the scoured NCC fabrics rated as zero which indicates

completely wetting of whole upper and lower

SN	Mechanical Properties	Pure NCC fabric	Scoured NCC fabric	t value
1.	Cle			
	Warp	54	56	1.22
	Weft	30	35	3.87
2.	Cloth weight (GSM)	126	130	4.89
3.	Cloth thickness (mm)	0.47	0.50	3.67
4.				
	Warp	2.36	2.00	8.52
	Weft	2.23	1.90	6.45
5.		Cloth crease recovery (angle)		
	Warp	75.00	72.00	3.67
	Weft	81.00	77.00	4.89
6.	Dimensional stability (%)			
	Warp	70.96	76.16	3.40
	Weft	88.00	91.00	3.67

Table 6.	Effect of	scouring on	mechanical	nronerties o	f natural	colour cot	ton fabrics
Table 0.	Effect of	scouring on	mechanical	properties o	i naturai	colour cou	ton faulics.

Table 7:	Effect of scouring	g on functional	properties of	f natural colour	cotton fabrics
----------	--------------------	-----------------	---------------	------------------	----------------

SN	Mechanical Properties	Pure NCC	Scoured NCC	t value				
		fabric	fabric					
1.	Cloth Tensile strength (N)							
	Warp	123.4	135.9	5.49				
	Weft	40.3	45.8	5.30				
2.	Cloth elongation (%)							
	Warp	1.7	2.4	2.06				
	Weft	1.8	2.5	3.36				
3.	Wettability (Rating)	70	0	12.24				
	Air permeability (c/sec/cm2)	40.56	38.25	7.15				
Wetta	bility	÷	·	Ratings				
Compl	ete wetting of whole upper and low	er surface		0				
Compl	ete wetting of whole upper surface	50						
Partial	wetting of whole upper surface			70				

surface. However, untreated NCC fabric was rated as 70 which depicts partial wetting of whole upper surface of the fabric. This may be due to scouring process which removes the cuticle or wax present in the outer layer of the cotton fibers, which enables cotton to absorb moisture more quickly as stated by

Gohl and Vilensky (1987). The amount of air that passes through a specific area of a fabric is measured by its air permeability. This characteristic has a significant impact on the thermal comfort attributes of materials. It is generally accepted that the air permeability of a fabric depends on its air porosity, which in turn influences its openness. It was found that, the air permeability was negatively influenced on scouring process of natural colour cotton fabrics which ascribed to increasing the fabric density, weight and thickness after successive wet processes. These results are in line with the Shrikant *et al.* (2005) who stated that, threads/cm were found to be higher in scoured fabric than grey fabric resulted into higher cloth cover-factor of scoured fabric and lesser air permeability. Further, grey fabrics were found to have high air permeability and contrary, lower values of the air permeability were associated with scoured woven fabrics as stated by Najwa (2019).

Effect of laundering on colour strength of natural colour cotton fabrics

It was observed from the table 8 and Fig. 1 that, the

colour strength of natural colour cotton fabric was increased after scouring treatment *i.e.*, 49.770 as compared to control fabric (33.820). These results are on par with the results of Tsaliki et al. (2016) who stated that, the influenced of enzymatic treatment on brown cotton was found to be noticed that, the colour fastness properties were improved. However, the effect of washes on scoured natural colour cotton fabric was showed that there was increased in colour strength after every wash compared to control sample. This may be due to the fact that, the natural colour cotton present in the form of pigment inside the lumen of fibre tends to break the core and comes out on the surface during 2nd and subsequent washes, resulting in the enhancement of colour in terms of K/S value thus causing the shade intensification (Parmar and Sharma, (2002).

Table 8: Effect of laundering on colour strength of natural colour cotton fabrics.

SN	Fabrics		Colour strength (K/S)				
			Washin	g	Sunlight		
1.	Control natural colour cotton	fabric	33.820)	27.190		
2.	Scoured natural colour cotton	fabric	49.770)	48.952		
3.	5th wash natural colour cotton	45.856	5	47.604			
4.	10th wash natural colour cotto	44.768		46.996			
5.	15th wash natural colour cotto	on fabric	43.964	43.964			
6	20th wash natural colour cotto	on fabric	43.832	2	37.420		
Sou	rce of variation	S.Em. ±	CD5%	CD1%	CV		
Factor A		365.497	1.554	2.076			
Fact	or B	84.633	0.897	1.199	4.060		
Trea	tments (AxB)	122.361	2.198	2.936			





Effect of sunlight on colour strength of control and scoured natural colour cotton fabrics describes that, number of washes increases as the and subsequently expose to direct sunlight leads to decrease in colour strength of scoured natural coloured cotton fabric. This may be because of photo oxidation/fading due to oxygen liberation. Among the samples treated with washing and sunlight, the colour strength was found to be greater in washed and shade dried samples than the samples exposed to direct sunlight even after multiple washes. This indicates that, the natural colour cotton fabric were susceptible to photo fading by direct sunlight which may breaks the colour pigment in the fibre structure. Further, after multiple washes, the scoured natural colour cotton fabrics exhibited darker colour shades than the control sample. It indicated that the sample became more darker, greenerand bluer than the control sample. However, after multiple washes with shade dry intensify the colour of the fabrics upto 10 washes, after that the colour intensity was reduced. ANOVA explains that, there was a greater significant difference was found between the colour strength of all the NCC samples for washing as well as sunlight samples.

Effect of laundering on colour reflectance of natural colour cotton fabrics

Colour reflectance is directly associated with colour strength (K/S) of the sample. As the colour strength values increases, there was reduction in reflectance values which indicates samples became more darker and visa versa. Table 9 and figure 2 explains the effect of laundering on colour reflectance of natural colour cotton fabrics. Among the samples, pure natural colour cotton fabric was more lighter than the scoured natural colour cotton fabrics. However effect of laundering on colour reflectance of the samples explains that, as the number of washes increases the samples became slightly lighter and duller as supported by reflectance values of 5th, 10th, 15th and 20th washes (8.248, 8.498, 8.326, 8.672) respectively. Further, the samples subjected to sunlight after multiple washes narrates, there was a slight increase of reflectance value which indicates that the samples became more lighter and results are supported by colour strength values (table.8). Interaction between the factors, the reflectance was significantly increased in all the natural colour cotton fabrics subjected to scouring and washing compared to sunlight samples.

SN	Fabrics			Colour reflectance			
				Washing	S	ınlight	
1	Control natural colou	r cotton fabric		10.270	1	1.972	
2.	Scoured natural colo	ur cotton fabric		7.670		9.510	
3.	5th wash natural colour cotton fabric			8.248		9.396	
4.	10th wash natural co	lour cotton fabric		8.498		7.940	
5.	15th wash natural co	lour cotton fabric		8.326		7.546	
6	20th wash natural co	lour cotton fabric		8.672		7.368	
Source	of variation	SEm ±	CD5	5%	CD1%	CV	
Factor A	A	14.441	0.30	1	0.402		
Factor B		1.748	0.17	4	0.232	3.804	
Treatme	ents (AxB)	4.565	0.42	6	0.569		

Table 9: Effect of laundering on colour reflectance of natural colour cotton fabrics.

Effect of laundering on colour difference of Further in washed samples, increased colour natural colour cotton fabrics

The colour difference of natural colour cotton fabrics subjected to wash and light fastness showed in table 10 and figure 3. The colour difference of natural colour cotton fabrics subjected to wash fastness property exhibited increased colour difference of scoured sample (1.502) compared to control sample (0.880) and washed samples, colour difference was found in 20th wash sample

difference was found in 10th wash sample (1.032) followed by 20th wash (0.336), 5th wash (0.204)and 15th wash samples (0.120) respectively. However, in sunlight samples significantly increased in colour difference was noticed in 20th wash sample (1.476) compared to control sample (1.272). Among the washed samples, the more

followed by 5th wash (0.664), 15th wash (0.586) and 10th wash sample (0.356) respectively. From the ANOVA, observed that the colour difference was increased significantly in sunlight control sample compared to washing natural colour cotton fabric. The sunlight scoured sample has significantly decreased the colour difference compared to wash fastness of scoured sample.

Among the washed sample, the significantly increased colour difference was found in 5th, 15th and 20th wash samples of sunlight compared to wash fastness samples. Moreover, the colour difference was found to be increased in the 10th wash sample compared to sunlight 10th wash sample.



Figure 2: Effect of laundering on Colour reflectance of Natural colour cotton fabrics.

SN	Fabrics			Colour differ	· difference	
			Wa	shing	Sunlight	
1	Control natural colour cott	on fabric	0.	880	1.272	
2.	Scoured natural colour cot	ton fabric	1.	502	0.872	
3.	. 5th wash natural colour cotton fabric			204	0.664	
4.	10th wash natural colour c	1.	032	0.356		
5.	15th wash natural colour c	otton fabric	0.	120	0.586	
6	20th wash natural colour c	otton fabric	0.	336	1.476	
Source	e of variation	SEm±	CD5%	CD1%	CV	
Factor A		1.157	0.235	0.313		
Factor B		0.553	0.135	0.181	33.588	
Treatm	nents (AxB)	1.257	0.332	0.181		

Table 10: Effect of laundering on colour difference (dE) of natural colour cotton fabrics.



Figure 3: Effect of laundering on colour difference of natural colour cotton fabric.

151 Environment Conservation Journal

Effect of laundering on colour fastness to washing and sunlight of natural colour cotton fabric

Table 11 discloses the effect of washing on colour fastness with respect to change in colour and colour on stain material. Scoured natural colour cotton fabric subjected to different washing cycles *i.e.*, 5th, 10th,15th and 20th wash and assessed for colourfastness to washing. It was interesting to observed that all the natural colour cotton fabrics possessed good wash fastness even after 20th wash. There was no much change observed in all the samples subjected to washing cycles *i.e.*, 5 to 15th indicating the samples are good fastness to washing. This may be due to the fact that the natural colour present in the form of pigment inside

the lumen of fibre tends to break the core and comes out on the surface during 2nd wash, resulting in the enhancement of colour in terms of K/S value, thus causing the shade intensification (Parmar and Shanna (2002). Further the effect of colour fastness to sunlight on wash durability of scoured natural colour cotton fabric. Irrespective of multiple washes (0, 5, 10, 15 and 20) the treated samples exhibited moderate to excellent fastness properties (4/5-7). Among the washed samples, upto 10th washed samples showed very good to excellent wash fastness to sunlight property. However, after 15th and 20th washes the fastness ratings was found to be good to moderate which indicates that there was colour fading occurred after multiple washes and subsequent expose to sunlight.

Table 11: Effect of laundering on natural colour cotton fabric on colour fastness to washing and sunlight.

		Colour fastness property			
SN	Fabrics	Washing (gray scale)	Sunlight (blue wool)		
1.	Scoured natural colour cotton fabric (o wash)	5	7		
2.	5th wash fabric	5	7		
3.	10th wash fabric	5	6		
4.	15th wash fabric	4/5	5/6		
5.	20th wash fabric	4	4/5		

Conclusion

The scoured natural colour cotton fabric found to be denser, thicker, heavier, soft and pliable than the control sample. It has good tensile, elongation properties, better wettability and air permeability. The scoured natural colour cotton fabrics exhibited greater colour strength and lesser reflectance values with slight colour difference.Colour fastness properties of natural colour cotton fabric exhibited good to excellent (4/5-5) for sunlight with multiple washes. The natural colour cotton fabrics has better mechanical, functional and fastness properties can be suitable for production of diversified cotton products ranging from children garments to trendy outfits.Hence, the promotion of natural colour cotton fabrics is a sustainable approach for green environment. Similarly eco-consciousness is

increasing world over and green minded consumers are prepared to pay more for textile eco-friendly products and one among them is natural colour cotton. Natural colour cotton fabrics are ecofriendly with unique handle and comfort property.

Acknowledgement

The research was supported and funded by the Director of research, under staff innovative research project, University of Agricultural sciences Dharwad.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Gandhad, R. S., & Naik, S. D., (1999). Naturally Coloured Cotton: scouring effect on yarn. *The Indian Textile Journal*, 109: 44-45.
- Gohl, E. P. G., & Vilensky, L. D., (2005). Textile science-An explanation of fibre properties. CBS publishers and distributors Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, India.
- Hsieh. Y. L., (2007). Chemical structure and properties of cotton. Y. L. H. S. I. E. H., University of California, USA, Pp-1-33.
- Magadi, R. B., (2002). Studies on the effect of scouring, bleaching, mercerization and cleansing agents on physical properties of naturally coloured cotton and white cotton yarn. *MHSc Thesis, University of Agricultural Sciences Dharwad, Karnataka (India).*
- Najwa, A. A. N., (2019). Effect of different wet processing stages on physical properties of cotton woven fabrics. *Fibres and Textiles*, 4:13-18.
- Parmar, M. S., & Sharma, R. P., (2002). Development of various colours and shades in naturally coloured cotton fabrics. *Indian Journal of Fibre & Textile Research*, 27:391-407.

- Prabaharan, M., & Rao, J. V., (2003). Combined desizing, scouring and bleaching of cotton using zone. *Indian Journal of Fibre and Textile Research*, 28: 437-443.
- Ramesh Babu B., Parande A.K., Raghu S., & Prem Kumar., (2007). Textile Processing: Waste Generation and Effluent Treatment. *The Journal of Cotton Science* 11:141–153.
- Rathinamoorthy R., & M. Parthiban., (2019). Colored Cotton: Novel Eco-friendly Textile Material for the Future. *Handbook of Eco-materials*, Pp- 1499-1519.
- Shrikant, V., Pragna, K., Someshwar, B., & Ashutosh, M., (2005). Effect of scouring and dyeing on physical properties of the fabric. *Journal of the Textile Association*, 173-175.
- Tsalikia, E., Kechagiab, U., Eleftheriadisc, I., & Xanthopoulosd, F., (2016). Effect of wet treatments on color fastness of naturally colored cotton. *Journal of Natural Fibers*, 13: 502–505.
- Uddin, F., & Lomas M., (2010). Wettability of Easy-Care Finished Cotton. *Fibres and Textiles in Eastern Europ*, 18 (81): 56-60.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Diversity of Geometrid moths (Geometridae: Lepidoptera) in Kashmir valley, India

Deelak Amin 🖂

Division of Entomology, Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Science and technology-Shalimar, Kashmir. Zakir Husain Khan

Division of Entomology, Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Science and technology-Shalimar, Kashmir.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 27 July 2021	A total of 2378 geometrid moth specimens were collected from four
Revised : 12 October 2021	districts of Kashmir valley during 2018-2019, which comprised of 39
Accepted : 24 October 2021	species belonging to 29 genera, 17 tribes and 4 subfamilies. Five species
Available online: 11 February 2022	(Abraxas cashmiria sp. nov., Antipercnia pseudoalbinigrata sp. nov., Aspitates pseudogilvaria sp. nov., Chorodna Baramulia sp. nov. and Xenoplia kashmirensis sp. nov.) are reported for the first time from this
Key Words:	area. Diversity indices was highest in Baramulla (H' = 1.452760) lowest
Diversity	in Srinagar (H'=1.273559). Alcis repandata (Linnaeus) was found to be
Moth	most dominant species (11.02%), while as Callipia vicinaria (Dognin) was
Geometrid	found least dominant (0.25%).
Lepidoptera	

Introduction

Lepidoptera is the largest insect order with are commonly known as loopers or inchworms approx. 1,57,424 described species worldwide (Van Nieukerken et al., 2011; Sajjad et al., 2019), out of which 100,000 are moths (Khan Geometridae are generally secretive and cryptic and Perveen, 2015) and remaining are butterflies. Family Geometridae (Inchworms or loppers), with approximately 23,002 described species (Nieukerken et al., 2011) is the second most diverse family of Lepidoptera, occurring worldwide except in the Polar Regions. Geometridae is a moth family, its species are nocturnal and tend to be more specific to certain habitats particularly at high altitudes (Axmacher and Fiedler, 2008). Geometrid moths (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) are mostly the forest pests of woody plants, agricultural crops, fruit-berry crops and feed mainly on the leaves of wide range of plants particularly trees and shrubs. Geometrids are abundant and diverse component of most forest ecosystems, this along with their weak flight ability and low propensity to migrate (DeWaard et al., 2011) make them excellent indicators of environmental quality (Kitching et al., 2001). The caterpillars

because of their looping gait resulting from a number of abdominal reduced prolegs. insects, sometimes moths are green as the leaves on which they rest or have brown, grey and other colours forming mottled bark-like patterns of flecks and wavy lines. Their resting postures enhance camouflage, with the moths spreading their wings flat against the underside of leaves and the caterpillars are often twig-like (Pitkin et al., 2007). Many species are bright coloured, but most are drab. Frequently wavy lines transverse the wings but strong and distinct pattern occur often. The geometrids are characterised by the presence of a basal fork between vein A2 and A3 in the forewing and vein A₁ is always absent. Almost 2041 species of geometrid moths are reported from India (Kirti et al., 2019) however, their extensive study has not been carried out from different regions of India as it is diverse country in terms of climate, Topography etc.

Material and Methods Collection of specimens

For the collection of Geometrid moths from different locations of Kashmir vallev various intensive and extensive tours were conducted from April 2018-Nov 2019. Adult geometrid moths were trapped with the help of light traps installed at different places during night time. For collection of specimens portable bucket type light traps fitted with 125 W mercury vapour lamp were used. Moths possess scaly wings which are very delicate and get damaged very easily, so as to avoid the wing damage due to overcrowding in the bucket type light trap, the mercury vapour lamp was hung in front of a white cloth sheet secured to a wall or directly over a plain white wall and moths sitting on the cloth or wall were quickly trapped with the help of wide mouth killing bottle containing benzene for quick killing of (1637 mt) from Budgam (Figure 1).

moths. Places were electricity was not available rechargeable lamps were used as light source for collection.

Selection of site:

The whole area of Kashmir valley is divided three regions North Kashmir, south into Kashmir and Central Kashmir. The collection was done from four districts of Kashmir Anantnag, Baramulla, Budgam and namely Srinagar. where Anantnag is in south, Baramulla in North, Budgam and Srinagar are in central part of kashmir . From each district two locations were selected, one in Forest ecosystem and other in Agri-Horti ecosystem i.e Verinag (1900 mt) and Achabal (1668 mt) from Anantnag; Drangbal (1650 mt) and Wadoora (1588 mt) from Baramulla; Shalimar (1609 mt) and Bemina (1583 mt) from Srinagar; Dodhpathri (2635 mt) and Ompora



Figure 1: Google image of study areas

Processing and preservation

Collected moths after being killed with benzene or ethyl acetate vapours in killing bottles were transferred into butter paper envelops (to avoid laboratory first specimens were placed over

scrapping off of wing scales which is an important morphological character of moths). In

water soaked cotton in airtight petridish for

relaxation of muscles so that they can be Then Specimens were stretched easily. properly stretched on wooden stretching board after pinning through the mid of mesothorax. Stretched specimens were then oven dried for 72 hours at 60°C and preserved in fumigated insect collection boxes. Each specimen was labelled properly with name, locality, date of collection, name of collector etc.

Sorting of collected samples

Collected adult moths were sorted on the basis IV.Relative Abundance (R) of morphological characters like wing pattern, presence of tymphanum on its ist abdominal segment, wing venation, antennae, thoraxic markings, no. of tibial spur etc.

Identification

Sorted specimens were identified by comparing with available relevant literature e.g The Moths of Borneo, Geometrid Moths of the World etc. To confirm the identification of moths, help was also seeked from Dr. Jasbir Singh Kirti, PAU Patiala India who is presently working on family Geometridae in India. For identification moth genetalia were dissected and directly photographed by using stereo zoom microscope attached with digital camera (Olympus SZX16), however Adult moths were photographed with Nikon DSLR camera. Identification was confirmed by sending these photographs to above mentioned expert.

Specimens were later deposited to museum of bio-systematic laboratory, Division of Entomology, SKUAST-K, Shalimar campus, Srinagar.

Statistical analysis

Diversity data of Geometrid moths was analysed for below mentioned indexes:-

I. Index of species diversity (Shannan and Wiener, 1963).

Index of species diversity (H') = Σ pi log₁₀ pi

Where

pi= Important probability of each species (Ni/N) Ni=No. of individuals of one specie. N=Total no. of individuals of all species

II. Evenness index (Pielou, 1966).

Evenness index $(J) = H' / Log_{10} S$

Where

H'=Shannon Wieners index S=Number of species

III.Index of dominance (Southwood, 1978)

Index of dominance (D) = 1 - J

Where J=Evenness index

R = n/N

n = number of individuals in one species N = number of individuals in all the species.

Results and Discussion

Total of 2378 geometrid moth specimens were captured from different selected locations of Kashmir valley. This total collection comprised of 39 species belonging to 29 genera, 17 tribes and 4 subfamilies which differed in both abundance and distribution (Table 1). Present results indicated that tribe Boarmiini was found most diverse at species level with 14 species followed by Ourapterygini with 6 species, Gonodontini with 3 species and Pseudoterpini with 2 species while as most of the tribes i.e Thinopterygini, Abraxini, Epionini, Aspitatini, Gnophini, Cidariini, Chesiadini. Larentiini. Gonodontini, Baptini, Hemitheini, Stamnodini and Scopulini were found to be least diverse with one specie each (Table1).

Present investigation revealed that maximum number of species (35) were recorded from Baramulla followed by Anantnag (33) while as minimum (22) were recorded from Srinagar (Table 2). Further Alcis repandata (Linnaeus) was the most dominant species in terms of abundance (11.02%) followed relative bv Ascotis imparata (Walker) (7.53%), while as Callipia vicinaria (Dognin) was found least dominant (0.25%) (Figure 1).

Diversity indices at various localities is framed in Table 2 which indicated that species diversity was found highest in Baramulla (H' = 1.452760) followed by Anantnag (H'=1.413907) and lowest in Srinagar (H'=1.273559). Results of present study also revealed that evenness

	1						
S.no.	Family	Sub family	Tribe	Genus		Species	
1.						1.	Alcis variegate Moore
2.				T	Alcie Curtis	2.	Alcis repandata Linnaeus
3.				1.	Alcis Curus	3.	Alcis jubata Thunberg
4.						4.	Alcis perspicuata Moore
5.				II.	Hypomecis Hubner	5.	Hypomecis infixaria (Walker)
6.				III.	Arichanna Moore	6.	Arichanna lapsariata (Walker)
7.			Doormiini	TV.	Antingrania Inous	7.	Antipercnia cordiforma (Inoue)
8.			Boarmini	1.	Anuperenta lilotte	8.	Antipercnia pseudoalbinigrata sp. nov.
9.				V	Acceptic Uniberon	9.	Ascotis selenaria (Dennis and Schiffermuller)
10.				v.	Ascons Hubner	10.	Ascotis imparata (Walker)
11.				VI.	Lassaba Moore	11.	Lassaba contaminata Moore
12.				VII		12.	Chorodna baramulia sp. nov.
13.	1			VII.	Chorodna Walker	13.	Medasina albidaria (Walker)
14.				VIII.	Psilalcis Warren	14.	Psilalcis inceptaria (Walker)
15.			Epionini	IX.	Opisthograptis Hubner	15.	Opisthograptis moelleri Warren
16.		Ennominae	Aspitatini	X.	Aspitates Treitschke	16.	Aspitates pseudogilvaria sp. nov.
17.			Abraxini	XI.	Abraxas Leach	17.	Abraxas cashmiria sp. nov.
18.			Gnophini	XII.	Psyra Walker	18.	Psyra bluethgeni (Pungeler)
19.			Ourapterygini			19.	Ourapteryx pluristrigata Warren
20.	Geometridae			apterygini XIII.	Ourapteryx Leach	20.	Ourapteryx multistrigaria Walker
21.						21.	Ourapteryx caschmirensis Bastelberger
22.						22.	Ourapteryx sambucaria Linnaeus
23.				XIV.	Eutrapela Hubner	23.	Eutrapela clemataria (Smith)
24.				XV.	Cepphis Hubner	24.	Cepphis advenaria Hubner
25.			D:	3/1/1		25.	Biston betularia (Linnaeus)
26.			Bistonini	XVI.	Biston Leach	26.	Biston suppressaria Guenee
27.			Thinopterygini	XVII.	Thinopteryx Butler	27.	Thinoptervx crocoptera (Kollar)
28.			Baptini	XVIII.	Lomographa Hubner	28.	Lomographa tributaria (Walker)
29.			İ	XIX.	Odontopera Stephens	29.	Odontopera bidentata Clerck
30.			Gonodontini	XX.	Tanaoctenia Warren	30.	Tanaoctenia haliaria (Walker
31.				XXI.	Xenoplia Warren	31.	Xenoplia kashmirensis sp. nov.
32.			Cidariini	XXII.	Heterothera Inoue	32.	Heterothera quadrifulta (Prout)
33.			Stamnodini	XXIII.	Callipia Guenee	33.	Callipia vicinaria Dognin
34.		Larentiinae	Larentiini	XXIV.	Photoscotosia Warren	34.	Photoscotosia miniosata (Walker)
35.			Chesiadini	XXV.	Aplocera Stephens	35.	Aplocera plagiata (Linnaeus)
36.	t		D 1	XXVI.	Pingasa Moore	36.	Pingasa ruginaria (Guenee)
37.	1	Geometrinae	Pseudoterpini	XXVII.	Pachyodes Guenee	37.	Pachyodes amplificata (Walker)
38.	1		Hemitheini	XVIII.	Chlorissa Stephens	38.	Chlorissa viridata (Linnaeus)
39.	1	Sterrhinae	Scopulini	XXIX.	Problepsis Lederer	39.	Problepsis albidor (Warren)

Table 1: Classification of reported species.

			Indices				
S. No.	District	Total No. of Species	Diversity Index (H)	Evenness Index (J)	Index of Dominance (D)	Species Richness Index (M)	
1	Anantnag	33	1.413907	0.931112	0.068887	11.028936	
2	Srinagar	23	1.273559	0.948702	0.051297	8.424395	
3	Budgam	22	1.284200	0.943066	0.056933	8.660293	
4	Baramulla	35	1.452760	0.940865	0.059134	11.466336	

Table 2: Diversity indices of geometrid moths in Kashmir valley during 2017-18.





index, index of dominance and richness were trees, agricultural crops and fruit plants (Kirti 0.940865, 0.059134 and 11.466336 in Baramulla, 0.931112, 0.068887 and 11.028936 in Anantnag, 0.948702, 0.051297 and 8.424395 in Srinagar and 0.943066, 0.056933 and 8.660293 in Budgam district, respectively (Table 1). Family Geometridae is known for its districts major and minor pest species, caterpillars of Srinagar and Budgam (Central Kashmir) and this group occupy diverse habitats as external

foliage feeders on trees, defoliators on forest et al., 2008). Not only these species act as plant pest but some were found to affect both domestic and wild animals. During the present course of study, extensive collection cum survey tours were conducted in four different viz, Anantnag (South Kashmir),

Figure 2: Photo images of Geometrid moths collected from Kashmir valley

1. Alcis variegate Moore	2. Alcis repandata Linnaeus	3. Alcis jubata Thunberg	4. Alcis perspicuata (Moore)	5. Hypomecis infixaria (Walker)
6. Arichanna Lapsariata (Walker)	7. Antipercnia cordiforma (Inoue)	8. Antipercnia pseudoalbinigrata sp. nov.	9. Ascotis selenaria (Denis & Schiffermuller)	10. Ascotis imparata (Walker)
SP				
11. Lassaba contaminata Moore	12. Chorodna baramulia sp. nov.	13. Medasina albidaria (Walker)	14. <i>Psilalcis inceptaria</i> (Walker)	15. Opisthograptis moelleri Warren

16. Aspitates pseudogilvaria sp. nov.	17. Abraxas cashmiria sp. nov	18. <i>Psyra bluethgeni</i> (Pungeler)	19. Ourapteryx pluristrigata Warren	20. Ourapteryx multistrigaria Walker
V				AR
21. Ourapteryx caschmirensis Bastelberger	22. Ourapteryx sambucaria Linnaeus	23. Eutrapela clemataria (Smith)	24. Cepphis advenaria Hubner	25. Biston betularia (Linnaeus)
		Broo		
26. Biston Suppressaria Guenee	27. Thinopteryx crocoptera (Kollar)	28. Lomographa tributaria (Walker)	29. Odontopera bidentata Clerck	30. Tanaoctenia haliaria (Walker)

31. Xenoplia kashmirensis sp. nov.	32. Heterothera	33. <i>Callipia vicinaria</i>	34. Photoscotosia	35. Aplocera plagiata
	Quadrifulta (Prout)	Dognin	miniosata (Walker)	(Linnaeus)
			State of the second sec	
36. <i>Pingasa ruginaria</i>	37. Pachyodes amplificata	38. Chlorissa viridata	39. <i>Problepsis albidor</i>	
(Guenee)	(Walker)	(Linnaeus)	(Warren)	

Baramulla (North Kashmir) of Kashmir valley most dominant specie in terms of relative and the total no of 39 species of adult moths belonging to 29 genera, 17 tribes and four imparata (Walker) (7.53%) while as Callipia subfamilies i.e. Ennominae. Larentiinae. Geometrinae Sterrhinae of family and Geometridae. All the species were identified with the help of electronic and non-electronic available Literature. Five species (Abraxas cashmiria Antipercnia nov.. sp. pseudoalbinigrata nov.. Aspitates sp. pseudogilvaria sp. nov., Chorodna Baramulia sp. nov. and Xenoplia kashmirensis sp. nov.) have been reported as new species. Present findings agree with those of Kumar et al. (2018) who conducted the study on biodiversity of geometrid moths in Himachal Pradesh, India to find the status of geometrid moths, during the study he concluded that collected geometrid moths belonged to 27 genera and three Ennominae, subfamilies Geometrinae and Sterrhinae, the subfamily Ennominae was represented with maximum species followed by the subfamily Geometrinae and the subfamily Sterrhinae. Also Walia (2005) published a list of 184 species of family Geometridae from Chandigarh and Himachal Pradesh and out of these, 86 species are under subfamily Ennominae, 46 under subfamily species species under subfamily Sterrhinae, 38 Geometrinae, 13 species belonging to 11 genera of subfamily Larentiinae and a single species under subfamily Desmobathrinae. In present study Alcis repandata (Linnaeus) was found

References

- Axmacher, J., & Konrad, F. (2008). Habitat type modifies geometry of elevational diversity gradients in geometrid moths (Lepidoptera; Geometridae) on Mt. Kilimanjaro, Tanzania. Tropical Zoology, 21, 243-251.
- deWaard, J. R., Hebert, P. D., & Humble, L. M. (2011). A comprehensive DNA barcode library for the looper moths (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) of British Columbia, Canada. PloS one, 6(3), e18290.
- Khan, H., & Perveen, F. (2015). Distribution of Butterflies (Family Nymphalidae) in Union Council Koaz Bahram Dheri, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan. Social and basic sciences research review, 3(1), 52-57.
- Kirti, J. S., Chandra, K., Saxena, A., & Singh, N. (2019). Geometrid Moths of India . Nature Books India.

abundance (11.02%)followed by Ascotis vicinaria (Dognin) was found least dominant Present records further indicated (0.25%).highest species diversity in Baramulla (H' = 1.452760) followed by Anantnag (H'=1.413907) and lowest in Srinagar (H'=1.273559).

Conclusion

This highlighted paper the diversity of Geometrid moths from the studied areas of Kashmir valley, total of 39 species are reported which belongs to 4 subfamilies. Alcis repundata (Linnaeus) was found most dominant (11.02%) and Callipia vicinaria (Dognin) was least dominant (0.25%). Diversity indices was highest in Baramulla (H' = 1.452760) and lowest in Srinagar (H' = 1.273559).

Acknowledgement

The present work was supported by the "Regional Training Centre for Pollination, Pollinators and Pollinizers" SKUAST-K Shalimar, India. We are highly thankful to them for providing us access to their wellequipped laboratory and for their moral support during the course of research.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Kirti, J. S., Kaur, M., & Goyal, T. (2008). Studies on genitalic structures of six commonly known Geometrid species (Lepidoptera) from Himachal Pradesh. Journal of Entomological Research, 32(2), 161-169.
- Kitching, R., Orr, A., Thalib, L., Mitchell, H., Hopkins, M. S., & Graham, A. W. (2001). Moth assemblages as indicators of environmental quality of Australian rain forest. Journal of Applied Ecology, 37, 284 - 297.
- Kumar, M., Kumar, P., & Kumar, A. (2018). Taxonomic Study on Geometrid Moths (Lepidoptera: Geometridae) Diversity in Chirpine Forest of Himachal Pradesh. Asian Journal of Advances Basic Science, 6(1), 49-53.
- Pielou, E. S. (1966). The measurement of diversity indifferent of biological collections. Journal of Theoretical Biology, 13, 131-144.
- Pitkin, L. M., Han, H., & James, S. (2007). Moths of the tribe Pseudoterpnini (Geometridae: Geometrinae): a

review of the genera. Zoological Journal of the Linnean Society, 150, 343-412.

- Sajjad, A., Ali, M., Saeed, S., Bashir, M. A., Ali, I., Khan, K.A., Ghramh, H. A., & Ansari, M. J. (2019). Yearlong association of insect pollinator, Pseudapis oxybeloides with flowering plants: Planted forest vs. agricultural landscape. Saudi journal of. Biological sciences, 26(7), 1799–1803.
- Shannon, C. E., & Wiener, W. (1963). The Mathematical theory of communication. University of Illinoise Press, Urbana, pp. 127.

- Southwood, T. R. E. (1978). Ecological methods. 2nd Ed. New York: Chapman and Hall, pp. 524.
- Van Nieukerken, E. J., Kaila, L., Kitching, I. J., Kristensen, N. P., Lees, D. C., Minet. J., & Zwick, A. (2011). Order Lepidoptera Linnaeus, 1758. In: Zhang Z. Q (Eds). Animal biodiversity: An outline of higherlevel classification and survey of taxonomic richness. Zootaxa, 3148, 212–221.
- Walia, V. K. (2005). Insecta: Lepidoptera: Geometridae (Moths). Zoological Survey of India, Fauna West Himaliyas, 2, 181-190.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)

Impact of growth hormones on vegetative propagation of *Elaeocarpus ganitrus* Roxb.

Abigail Rai

Department of Forestry, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India

Amarendra Nath Dey 🖂

Department of Forestry, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India

Nilesh Bhowmick

Department of Pomology and Post-harvest Technology, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India **Mihir Ranjan Panda**

Department of Forestry, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India

Dinesha S.

Department of Forestry, Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari, Cooch Behar, West Bengal, India

Bidyut Sarkar

D.F.O., Silviculture North Division, Forest Department, Government of West Bengal, Siliguri, West Bengal, India

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 19 August 2021	Elaeocarpus ganitrus Roxb. commonly identified as 'rudraksha', belonging to
Revised : 15 November 2021	Elaeocarpaceae possess a great religious, spiritual and materialistic significance
Accepted : 28 November 2021	which is placed under the threatened category in the tropical wet evergreen
	forests of North East India. Because of its over-exploitation, poor germination,
Available online:11 February 2022	low viability rate and hard seed coat, an attempt has been done for mass production of planting materials through cuttings and air layering's. Cuttings
Key Words:	trials were conducted during three different periods, mid - March, mid - July
Air layering	and mid – November by using Indol butyric acid and Napthalene acetic acid of
Callusing	1000, 2000, 4000, 6000 ppm where air layering's were done during mid - May
Indole-3-butyric acid	by treating IBA and NAA solution of 500, 1000 and 2000 ppm in combination
Rudraksha	with para-hydroxybenzoic acid of 2000 ppm as synergist. Application of IBA
Synergist	and NAA of different concentration did not encourage the growth in the
	cuttings in all three periods. Air layering's treated with NAA 1000
	ppm+2000ppm para- hydroxy benzoic acid and IBA 500 ppm +2000ppm para-
	hydroxy benzoic acid resulted the highest and same value of callusing and
	rooting percent (70 and 66.67%), respectively while minimum callusing and
	rooting percentage (50.0/ and 51.0/%) was recorded in control. The present
	study locused on the mass production of planting materials in shorter duration with a reasonable cost for anhancing production as well as socia comparis
	with a reasonable cost for enhancing production as well as socio-economic conditions
	conditions.

Introduction

The genus Elaeocarpus has about 360 species, spread over from the West (Madagascar) to the East (New Zealand); also covering the regions of Southeast Asia, Southern China, Japan, Australia, Malaysia, New Guinea, Fiji and Hawaii (Coode, 2007). Out of the total species, 120 species belonging to this genus recorded in different parts of South and Southeast Asia including foothills of the Himalayas and different parts of India, Nepal,

Bhutan, Tibet, Indonesia, Philippines, Myanmar to Bangladesh at an altitude of 900-1800 mean sea level (Bhuyan *et al.*, 2002), about 25 species are found in India (Khan *et al.*, 2003). *Elaeocarpus ganitrus* Roxb. (Synonym: *E. sphaericus* (Gaertn.) K. Schum) belongs to "*Elaeocarpaceae*", is popularly known as 'Rudraksha' for its hard, ornamental stony endocarp and highly recognized for its medicinal and religious value. It is a medium to large-sized evergreen tree with a large spherical crown attaining a height of 50-200' with a girth of 4'. It is naturally found in evergreen forests of West Bengal, Assam, Bihar, Madhya Pradesh, Arunachal Pradesh excluding Tawang and Upper Subansiri and the Konkana Ghats of Maharastra states in India. It is also grown as ornamental tree in the homestead in many parts of the country. The Rudraksha is characterized by three-tier structure in tropical evergreen forest but it is usually present in the second storey.

Hindu mythology described about the great significance of religious, spiritual and materialistic aspect of Rudraksha beads. The word Rudraksha is coined from two Sanskrit words: 'rudra' denotes Lord Shiva and 'aksha' means eyes (Ramadurai, 2007). People of Hindu religion are considered the Rudraksha as link between earth and heaven or as a symbol of light and purity. Since ancient times, the beads were threaded together as rosaries or necklaces ('malas') and an important part of Eastern religions particularly in Hindus, Sikhs and Tibetan Buddhists, to ward-off evil spirit and omens and also for meditation and prayer (Li et al., 2014). Wearing of Rudraksha beads around the neck produce a positive effect on nerves, blood pressure and heart ailments (Sakat et al., 2009). The seed have reported in Ayurveda for the treatment of hypertension, insomnia, psychoneurosis and mental diseases. Bhojvaid and Negi (2003)and Hardainivan et al. (2015) reported that the pulp of the fruit is sour in taste and edible and used for epilepsy, headache and mental illness. The aqueous extract of fruit is mainly used as cardio-stimulant, sedative, hypotensive, spasmolytic, anticonvulsant, chloretic, bronchodilatory, where the stem bark is hypoglycemic (Khare, 2007). The paste of stone is externally applied against small-pox, measles and on organs having burning sensation (Pandey and Das, 2004). Rudraksha bead shows various health promoting effects such as antioxidant (Kumar et al., 2008), analgesic (Nain et al., 2012), antiinflammatory antifungal (Singh et al., 2010), antimicrobial antidiabetic (Hule et al., 2011). Singh et al. (2000) also cited that the fruit contains a significant amount of phytocomponents such as isoelaeocarpine, elaeocarpine, quercetin, gallic, ellagic acids and rudrakine. The population of this species in natural as well as planted forest stands is

gradually declining at an alarming rate due to various factors like microbiotic seed nature, considerable period of seed dormancy, poor germination rate along with fungal rot, hard endocarp, long flowering or fruiting intervals etc. The unscrupulous collection of seeds has also adversely affected the natural regeneration. Rising market prices of beads due to religious belief and its many fold importance play a key role for limited distribution of this species in natural habitat (Dafni, 2006), which makes the species under the threatened category on the verge of extinction in near future. Because of the problem in propagation ethnic medicinal importance, and its the conservation approaches mainly in-situ and ex-situ are to be recommended to synchronize the gap between the demand and supply. In this aspect, the method of vegetative propagation assumes a great significance over sexual propagation (seed) for mass production of planting stock with quick productive gains. The vegetative propagation has not been popularized particularly in forest trees on a substantial scale which become bottleneck for a tree improvement programme in India. However, recently portentous attention has been focused to propagate trees through vegetative means as a strong alternative over seed propagation. Out of the several vegetative methods, two methods namely cutting and air layering are widely used in forest species because of the simplicity and cheap. These methods will be exceptional to give more advantage if the exogenous plant growth regulators are applied alone or in combination with auxin synergist. Few reports on the propagation through vegetative (Bhojvaid and Negi, method 2003): seed propagation (Khan et al., 2003; Saravanan et al., 2011) and in-vitro propagation (Saklani et al., 2015) has been carried out but the method should be suitable to agro-climatic conditions for raising planting stock. Thus, the present investigation was undertaken to find the appropriate combination of plant growth regulators with auxin synergist on the response of rooting through cuttings and air layering's.

Material and Methods

The present experiment was conducted in the plantation plot of Buxa-Cooch Behar Research Range (Silviculture - North Division) of
Rajabhatkhawa forest of West Bengal during the year 2018 which is 40 km away from the campus of Uttar Banga Krishi Viswavidyalaya, Pundibari at an altitude of 120 m above mean sea level with $26^{\circ} 36^{\circ}$ N and $89^{\circ} 40^{\circ}$ E in the plains of terai zone.

Preparation of cuttings and hormonal treatments:

The semi hard wood cuttings of 15- 20 cm long and uniform thickness of 1.0-1.5 cm having at least 2-3 nodes were collected from the disease free and medium sized trees. Each cutting was given a radial cut at the top of the apical bud and a slanting cut at the base with a sharp razor blade to expose maximum absorbing surface for effective rooting. The base portion of the cuttings were dipped for 30 seconds in the solution of IBA (Indole 3-butyric acid) and NAA (Naphthalene acetic acid) of 1000, 2000, 4000, 6000 ppm to a depth of 1 cm and then allowed to dry for 10-15 minutes. After that the cuttings were planted in polybags containing growing media of soil: sand: Farm Yard Manure: coco-pea in the ratio of 2:1:1:1 in three different periods viz., mid-March, mid-Julv and mid-November and placed in a low cost polyhouse. The upper portion of the cuttings was sealed by either the paste of cow dung or wax to prevent the moisture loss. Irrigation was done twice in a day i.e. in morning and evening. Soil drenching of Bavistin (@2g litre⁻¹) or Captan (@1%) was done in alternate weeks to prevent the disease. The experiment comprised of two growth regulators of four concentrations comprising of nine treatments with a control having three replications. Each replication had twenty numbers of cuttings to the total of sixty cuttings per treatment. The growth attributes like sprouting and rooting percentage, length of the sprout, time taken for sprouting, average length of root and root number per cutting was recorded after 30 days.

Preparation of air-layering and hormonal treatments:

Vigorous and healthy branches of young mature trees of approximately 10 years old were selected for air-layering. Secondary branches of 1.0–1.5 cm diameter was selected randomly from the trees and 2-5 cm length of bark was girdled out cylindrically. Firstly, the girdled portion in the stem were treated with the auxin synergist of p-hydroxybenzoic acid of 2000 ppm by using cotton and allowed to dry for few seconds and then treated with different

concentration of IBA and NAA solution of 500, 1000 and 2000 ppm, respectively. The cut area around the stem was enclosed with a suitable media consisting of soil: cow dung: coco-peat at the rate of 2:1:1 to hold moisture and completely wrapped with polythene sheet (20-25 cm square shaped) and tied at both ends to avoid moisture loss. The experiment had two growth regulators with three concentrations comprising of seven treatments including a control comprising 60 numbers of air layers per treatment (20 numbers in each replication). Each treatment was done separately in separate trees whereas untreated layer served as control. Air layering was done in the month of mid-May with the onset of monsoons. Regular spraying of water once in three days was carried out to keep moisten the rooting media or as and when required and constantly monitored for rooting response. At the end of 45 days, the air layered branches are detached from the parent trees for recording the observation like percentage of callus, percentage of rooting, primary and secondary roots number, root length, weight of fresh and dry root per air-layer. The entire recorded data were subjected to statistical analysis using CRD (Completely Randomized Design) following Gomez and Gomez (1984). The DMRT (Duncan's multiple range test) was also performed to relate the significant difference between the mean values.

Results and Discussion

The response of different treatments on cuttings: Irrespective of different concentration of IBA and NAA, the results revealed that no growth and sprouting were induced in the cuttings in all of the three periods. Even if, either callus or root formation didn't take place, the cuttings were gradually dried up subsequently and finally failed in all aspect. The present study is well supported by Kumar et al. (2014) in Salvadora oleoides and Thakur (2014) in Acacia catechu. On the contrary, Saravanan et al. (2011) reported that 16 % regeneration was achieved in stem cuttings having apical meristem where no regeneration was observed in the stem cuttings devoid of meristems in E. venustus. The rejuvenation power in the cutting generally varies with species, age and environment. Cuttings of some species regenerate very easily, some with difficulty while others do not regenerate at all and are thus obstinate. The tannin and abscisic acid can't be ruled out in the cuttings of this species. The presence of anatomical barriers such as sclerenchymatous tissue may make a barrier for root development. Absence of 'rhizocline' as well as of 'rooting co-factors' may be responsible for the obstinacy of this tree species to root. Nanda and Kochhar (1985) reported the similar findings in Bougainvillea glabra, Echitis caryophyllata and Jasminum pubescence. The capacity of absorption of less or higher concentration of plant growth regulators may have inhibitory effect on sprouting as well as rooting. Non-rooting may be due to sensitivity of plant to auxins or genetic and physiological disruption of auxin transport (Esmon et al., 2006). It can't be ignored that high level of secondary metabolites may prevent root formation in the cuttings (Yadav et al., 2006).

Callusing and rooting in air layerings:

At the end of 45 days of layering, the results exhibited the significant (p = 0.05) difference among the various plant growth regulator treatments with respect to the percentage of callusing and rooting, average number of primary and secondary roots, root length and average fresh and dry weight of root (Table 1). Irrespective of the treatments, the average callusing and rooting percentage was 63.33 and 61.67 percent in NAA and IBA, respectively. Maximum callusing (70.00 %) in T₅ (NAA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) was closely followed by 66.67 percent in T₁ (IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb). Callusing (66.67 %) with T_1 (IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb) was statistically at par with T_2 (IBA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) and T_4 (NAA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb), both recorded same value of 65.00 percent whereas minimum callusing (56.67 %) was recorded in T_7 (Control) which closely preceded by T₃ (IBA 2000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) and T_6 (NAA 2000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) exhibiting 58.33 and 61.67 percent, respectively which showed statistically at par with each other. Similarly, rooting was highest (70.00 %) in T₅ (NAA 1000 ppm+ 2000 ppm phb) statistically at par with T₁ (IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb) having 66.67 % whereas lowest rooting (51.67 %) was exhibited in T₇: Control in air layers (Figure 1). The value of rooting percentage (63.33

%) in T₄ (NAA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb) was not significantly different with 61.67 % in T₂ (IBA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb).

Though, the plant growth regulators exhibited callusing and rooting response but all concentration of NAA slightly showed better results than IBA. Callus and root formation were higher in growth regulator treatment indicating a conduciveness environment in comparison to control and showed the decreasing trend with increase in concentration of IBA while it increased up to certain NAA concentration then declined with further rise in concentration. The present finding is in close agreement with Bhojvaid and Negi (2003) in E. ganitrus and Sanchez et al. (2009) in Psidium guajava where callus formation was reduced with increasing concentration of IBA (2000, 4000 and 6000 ppm) and stopped completely at 6000 ppm. It is proved that IBA and NAA increase elasticity of cell wall and accelerate the cell division but excessive concentrations inhibit the process of formation of callus.

Callus development is common with the totipotency of the meristematic tissue which appears as a thin layer around the wounded end of cuttings of air layers. The newly formed callus consisted of irregular unspecialized parenchymatous cells which further differentiate into root primordial, act as a protective layer for the formation of adventitious root from other tissues of the layered branch (Colodi et al., 2008). Evidently callus formation is an event which generally occurs earlier to the rhizogenesis. Callus and adventitious root formation appear as an independent phenomenon in most tree species but generally occur at the same time and space, resulting competition for same resources. That is the reason why rooting percentage was decreased with increase in hormonal concentration in the present study which contradicts with the results of Tomar and Singh (2011) in Ficus krishnae and F. auriculata and Bhojvaid and Negi (2003) in E. ganitrus. Auxin at lower concentration is found to be more effective for adventitious root formation in Ouercus serrata (Srivastava et al., 2000). Singh and Ansari (2014) reported that rooting response regulated by a balance of internal translocation of hormonal growth regulators, carbohvdrates. nitrogenous substances and co-factors acting

Treatments	Callusing (%)	Rooting (%)	Primary roots	Secondary roots	Root length (cm)	Fresh root weight (g)	Dry root weight (g)
T ₁	66.67 ^{ab} (54.75)	66.67^{ab} (54.75)	19.80 [°]	32.27°	2.52 ^b	4.25 ^ª	1.12 ^a
T ₂	65 ^b (53.73)	61.67 ^{bc} (51.76)	23.13 ^b	45.33ª	3.02 ^a	2.84 ^b	0.74 ^b
T ₃	58.33 ^c (49.80)	58.33° (49.80)	20.33 ^{bc}	40.93 ^b	1.76 ^{cd}	2.00 ^c	0.53 ^c
T ₄	65 ^b (53.73)	63.33 ^{bc} (52.74)	13.07 ^e	22.33°	1.50 ^{de}	0.82°	0.22 ^e
T ₅	70 ^a (56.84)	70 ^a (56.84)	16.73 ^d	27.80 ^d	2.38 ^b	2.11 ^c	0.56 ^c
T ₆	61.67 ^{bc} (51.76)	60° (50.77)	36.33ª	17.87 ^f	1.92°	1.36 ^d	0.36 ^d
T ₇	56.67 ^c (48.84)	51.67 ^d (45.96)	11.73°	11.45 ^g	1.18 ^e	0.87 ^e	0.23 ^e
Mean	63.33 (52.78)	61.67 (51.80)	20.16	29.14	2.04	2.03	0.54
$SE(m)(\pm)$	1.01	1.07	0.95	0.77	0.14	0.14	0.037
CD(p=0.05)	3.07	3.27	2.89	2.33	0.41	0.43	0.11

Table 1: Effect of IBA and NAA on callusing percentage,	, rooting percentage, primary	and secondary root number,	root length, fres	h and dry root
weight in air layered branches of <i>E. ganitrus</i> .				

Values in parentheses are arc-sine value

Mean with same letter is not significantly different among the treatments of the respective parameters

 $T_1 = IBA 500 \text{ ppm} + 2000 \text{ ppm}$ para-hydroxy benzoic acid

 $T_2 = IBA \ 1000 \text{ ppm} + 2000 \text{ ppm}$ para-hydroxy benzoic acid

 $T_2 = IBA 2000 \text{ ppm} + 2000 \text{ ppm} \text{ para-hydroxy benzoic acid}$ $T_3 = IBA 2000 \text{ ppm} + 2000 \text{ ppm para-hydroxy benzoic acid}$ T_4 = NAA 500 ppm + 2000 ppm para-hydroxy benzoic acid T_5 = NAA 1000 ppm + 2000 ppm para-hydroxy benzoic acid

 $T_6 = NAA 2000 \text{ ppm} + 2000 \text{ ppm}$ para-hydroxy benzoic acid

 $T_7 = Control$



*Mean with same letter is not significantly different among the treatments of the respective parameters

Figure 1: Growth and survival of *E. ganitrus* air layered treatments (control, NAA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb and IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb).

differentiation of meristematic tissue and helps for the formation of root primordial/callus above the girdling zone of the branch (Tchoundjeu et al., 2002). Besides that, girdling in air layering block in the acropetal and basipetal flow of photosynthates in the phloem which causes the accumulation of secondary metabolites such as organic compounds, carbohydrates, auxins etc. above this region (Alvesde Oliveira et al., 1999) which favours the of callus and development formation of adventitious root primordial to develop into roots (Singh et al., 2004). This finding shows close conformity with the findings of Eganathan et al. (2000). The different concentration of IBA and NAA had significant variation in average number of primary and secondary roots per air-layering (Table 1). Maximum mean number of primary root (36.33) was exhibited in T_6 (NAA 2000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) in comparison to all the other treatments where as T₇ (Control) was showed minimum mean number roots (11.73). Among the IBA treatments, T₂ (IBA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) showed the highest (23.13) number of primary roots followed by 20.33 number of roots in T₃ (IBA 2000

synergistically with auxins. Auxins prop up the ppm+2000 ppm phb acid). Overall, it was observed that a greater number of primary roots was noticed in higher concentration of NAA whereas it was exhibited increasing trend up to certain concentration of IBA and then declined. Similarly, the mean number of secondary roots increased with increase in IBA and NAA concentration but up to certain level. Maximum mean number of secondary root (45.33) was observed in T₂ (IBA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) which was significantly differed among all treatments whereas minimum (11.45) was recorded with T_7 (Control). Both IBA and NAA enhanced the number of secondary roots only up to certain concentration indicating optimum favorable concentration is while higher concentration may be toxic to root regeneration. It is proved that exogenous application of auxins increased lateral roots initiation on the basis of auxin concentration and geotropic response of roots. The present study is in close agreement with the results of Swamy et al. (2002) in Grewia optiva and Robinia pseudoacacia.

> IBA and NAA significantly affected the average length of the root in air layers. The root length varied from 1.18 cm to 3.02 cm among the

treatment with a mean value of 2.04 cm. Air layering's treated with T₂ (IBA1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) exhibited highest root length (3.02 cm) followed by 2.52 cm in T_1 (IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb) which was statistically at par with T_5 (NAA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) recording 2.38 cm whereas control (T_7) was recorded minimum root length (1.18 cm). The fresh and dry root weight differed significantly among the treatments. Among the treatments, T₂ (IBA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) significantly recorded highest (4.25 g) fresh weight of roots followed by 2.84 g in T_1 (IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb) and lowest (0.87 g) was in T_7 (Control). Among the NAA treatments, T_5 (NAA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) showed the maximum fresh weight of the roots (2.11 g) followed by 1.36 g in T_6 (NAA 2000 ppm+2000 ppm phb). Dry weight of roots was followed the similar pattern like fresh weight in all treatments. T₂ (IBA 1000+2000 ppm phb) and T₅ (NAA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb) recorded the maximum dry weight of the roots (1.12 and 0.56 g) among the IBA and NAA, respectively. The season and effective translocation of the food materials in the form of starch and nitrogen to the girdled zone of the air layers might have encouraged the growth of

References

- Abbas, G., Khattak, J. Z. K., Mir, A., Ishaque, M., Hussain, M., Alves-De Oliveira, A., Carlos-Koller, O., & Villegas-Monter, A. (1999). Vegetative propagation of 153 selection avocado (*Persea sp.*) by layering in container. *Revista Chapingo Serie Horticultura*, 5, 221-225.
- Bhojvaid, P. P., & Negi, S. (2003). Propagation of *Elaeocarpus* ganitrus by air layering. *Indian Forester*, 129(10), 1185-1191.
- Bhuyan, P., Khan, M. L., & Tripathi, R. S. (2002). Regeneration status and population structure of Rudraksha (*Elaeocarpus ganitrus* Roxb.) in relation to cultural disturbances in tropical wet evergreen forest of Arunachal Pradesh. *Current Science*, 83(11), 1391-1394.
- Coode, M. J. E. (2007). Elaeocarpaceae for flora Malesiana: New information on Elaeocarpus from Borneo and Sulawesi. *Kew Bulletin*, 62, 329-332.
- Colodi, F., Ramos, N., Zuffellato-Ribas, K., Ribas, L., & Koehler, H. (2008). Vegetative propagation of guaco with added napthalene acetic acid. *Scientia Agraria*, 9, 95-98.
- Dafni, A. (2006). On the typology and the worship status of sacred trees with special reference to the Middle East. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, 2, 26-29.

the root by means the production of more number and lengthier roots. Subsequently, the root absorbed water and nutrients from the media leading to more growth, subsequently showed increasing trend in the fresh and dry root weight. This finding is well in line with the results of Reddy (2004) in *Ficus carica*.

Conclusion

The study indicated that *E. ganitrus* amenable to vegetative propagation by air layering. Exogenous application of NAA 1000 ppm+2000 ppm phb and IBA 500 ppm+2000 ppm phb induced the root initiation in air layers successfully in comparison to control as difficult-to-root in cuttings. This technique provides an efficient, minimum cost and efforts in natural conditions for producing massive superior planting stocks for clonal seed orchard or direct planting in the field to obtain the products in short duration.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Eganathan, P., Srinivasa, R. C., & Anand, A. (2000). Vegetative propagation of three mangrove tree species by cuttings and air layering. *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, 8, 281-286.
- Esmon, C. A., Tinsley, A. G., Ljung, K., Sandberg, G., Hearne, L. B., & Liscum E. (2006). A gradient of auxin and auxindependent transcription precedes tropic growth responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of United States of America*, 103, 236-241.
- Gomez, K. A., & Gomez, A. A. (1984). Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research, 2nd ed., John Willey and Sons, New York, 680.
- Hardainiyan, S., Nandy, B. C., & Saxena, R. (2015). Phytochemical investigation of fruit extract of *Elaeocarpus* ganitrus. International Journal of Pharmacy Pharmaceutical Science, 7(6), 415-418.
- Hule, A. K. K., Shah, A. S., Gambhire, M. N., & Juvekar, A. R. (2011). An evaluation of the antidiabetic effects of *Elaeocarpus ganitrus* in experimental animals. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology*, 43(1), 56-59.

- Khan, M. L., Bhuyan, P., & Tripathi, R. S. (2003). Regeneration of Rudraksha (*Elaeocarpus ganitrus* Roxb.) a threatened tree species: germination strategies. *International Journal of Ecology and Environment Science*, 29, 255-260.
- Khare, C. P. (2007). Indian Medicinal Plants, an illustrated dictionary. Springer Science, Springer Verlag: Berlin/Heiddelberg, Germany, 232-233.
- Kumar, S., Deswal, M., & Laura, J. (2014). Study on seed germination and vegetative propagation of *Salvadora* oleoides Decne. International Journal of Current Research, 6, 8058-8062.
- Kumar, T. S., Shanmugam, S., Palvannan, T., & Kumar, V. M. B. (2008). Evaluation of antioxidant properties of *Elaeocarpus ganitrus* Roxb. leaves. *Iranian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 73(3), 211-215.
- Li, F., Li, J., Liu, B., Zhuo, J., & Long, C. (2014). Seeds used for Bodhi beads in China. *Journal of Ethnobiology and Ethnomedicine*, 10, 1-8.
- Nain, J., Garg, K., & Dhahiya, S. (2012). Analgesic and antiinflammatory activity of *Elaeocarpus sphaericus* leaf extract. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 4(1), 379-381.
- Nanda, K. K., & Kochar, V. K. (1985). Vegetative Propagation of Plants, Kalyani Publishers. New Delhi, India.
- Pandey, G., & Das, K. (2004). Ayurvedic series 48, Dravyaguna Vijnana (Materia Medica– vegetable drugs) Part – III (P-Y), Chowkhamba Krishanadas Academy, Varanasi, 261-262.
- Ramadurai, L. (2007). The Rudraksha tree, conservation of ecological heritage and sacred sites of India. *ENVIS Newsletter*, 6, 2.
- Reddy, K. V. R. (2004). Studies on the effect of growth regulators on rooting of Fig (*Ficus carica* L.) cuttings. M. Sc thesis, College of Agriculture, Acharya N. G. Ranga Agricultural University, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad.
- Sanchez, A., Suarez, E., Gonzalez, M., Amaya, Y., Colmenares, C., & Ortega, J. (2009). Effect of indole butyric acid on rooting of air layers of guava (*Psidium* guajava L.) in the municipalty Baralt, Venezuela. Evaliacion preliminary, *Revista Cientifica UDO Agricola*, 9, 113-120.
- Sakat, S. S., Wankhede, S. S., Juvekar, A. R., Pandey, V. B., Mali, V. R., & Bodhankar, S. L. (2009). Antihypertensive effects of aquous extract of *Elaeocarpus ganitrus* Roxb. seeds in renal artery occluded hypertensive rats. *International Journal of Pharm Tech Research*, 1(3), 779-782.

- Saklani, K., Singh, S., Purohit, V. K., Prasad, P., & Nautiyal, A. R. (2015). In vitro propagation of Rudraksha (*Elaeocarpus sphaericus* (Gaertn.) K. Schum): a biotechnological approach for conservation. *Physiology* and Molecular Biology of Plants, 21(4), 611-615.
- Saravanan, S., Indra, M., Kamalraj, P., Venkatesh, D. R., & Muthuchelian, K. (2011). In -situ vegetative propagation of *Elaeocarpus venustus* Bedd. a threatened endemic tree of Agasthiamalai Biosphere Reserve, Western Ghats, India. *Journal of Bioscience Research*, 2(2), 46-49.
- Singh, R. K., Acharya S. B., & Bhatttacharya S. K. (2000). Pharmacological activity of *Elaeocarpus sphaericus*. *Phytotherapy Research*, 14, 36-39.
- Singh, S., Kumar, P., Mandal, A. K., & Ansari S. A. (2004). Air-layering of trees with differential adventitious rooting response. *Indian Forester*, 130, 318-322.
- Singh, B., Chopra, A., Ishar, N. P. S., Sharma, A., & Raj, T. (2010). Pharmacognostic and antifungal investigations of *Elaeocarpus ganitrus* (Rudraksha). *Indian Journal of Pharmacy Science*, 72, 261-265.
- Singh, S., & Ansari, S. A. (2014). Callus formation impedes adventitious rhizogenesis in air layers of broadleaved tree species. *Annals of Forest Research*, *57*, 47-54.
- Srivastava, P. K., Singh, T. S., & Singh, N. I. (2000). Clonal propagation of *Quercus serrata* Thunb. Syn. *Q. acutissima* carr.through air layering. *Indian Forester*, 126, 879-884.
- Swamy, S. L., Puri, S., & Singh, A. K. (2002). Effect of auxins (IBA and NAA) and season on rooting of juvenile and mature hardwood cuttings of *Robinia pseudoacacia* and *Grewia optiva*, *New Forests*, 23(2), 143–157.
- Tchoundjeu, Z., Avana, M., Leakey, R., Simons, A., Asaah, E., Duguma, B., & Bell, J. (2002). Vegetative of *Prunus* africana: Effects of rooting medium, auxin concentration and leaf area. Agroforestry Systems, 54, 183-192.
- Thakur, L. (2014). Studies on vegetative propagation of Acacia catechu wild and Toona ciliata M. Roemer. M.Sc. thesis, Dr. Y. S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan, India.
- Tomar, A., & Singh, V. R. R. (2011). Effect of Air layering time (Season) with the aid of Indole butyric acid in *Ficus krishnae* and *Ficus auriculata*. *Indian Forester*, 137, 1363-1365.
- Yadav, J. P., Saini, S., & Kalia, A. N. (2006). Botanical, cytological, phytochemical and pharmacognostical studies on Salvadora species. *Journal of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, 28, 1-6.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal



ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)

Response of irrigation scheduling and nitrogen levels on growth and vield contributing parameters of radish (Raphanus sativus L.) under mid hills of Himachal Pradesh

Archana Sharma

Department of Soil Science and Water Management Dr Yashwant Singh Parmar University of Horticulure and Forestry Nauni Solan (HP) India.

Jagjeet Chand Sharma

Department of Soil Science and Water Management Dr Yashwant Singh Parmar University of Horticulure and Forestry Nauni Solan (HP) India.

Krishan Lal Gautam 🖂

Department of Silviculture and Agroforestry Dr Yashwant Singh Parmar University of Horticulure and Forestry NauniSolan (HP) India.

Jigmet Namgial

Department of Agroforestry Sher-e-kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology Jammu J&K, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 20 June 2021	An on-farm study of irrigation scheduling and nitrogen level on radish was
Revised : 21 November 2021	conducted near Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India. It using a randomized block
Accepted : 23 December 2021	design (factorial) with 4 irrigation schedules i.e. I ₀ , 4 cm irrigation at IW/CPE
	ratio (I ₁ : 0.8), (I ₂ :1.0), (I ₃ :1.2) and three N levels i.e. N ₀ , (N ₁ :75 per cent of RD)
Available online: 11 February 2022	and (N ₂ :100 percent of RD). Results revealed that treatment combination N ₂ I ₃
	was recorded with maximum number of leaves (27.3 and 25.0), leaf length
Key Words:	(32.53 cm and 29.44 cm), root length (22.21 cm and 32.91 cm), root diameter
Irrigation scheduling	(4.58 cm and 5.28 cm), net root weight (156.2 g and 209.1 g), gross root weight
IW/CPE ratio	(204.6 g and 341.3 g) and yield (309.0 quintals/ha and 288.1 quintals/ha during
Mid-hills	2016-17 and 2017-18, respectively over the N ₀ I ₀ . The highest B:C ratio (3.61:1)
Nitrogen levels	was worked out under N_2I_3 which was rated as the most profitable
Radish	combination followed by N_2I_2 (3.39:1). It can be concluded that among
	different irrigation schedules, I ₃ and I ₂ schedules were found to be equally good
	for maintaining optimum soil moisture content as compared to I_1 and I_0 .
	Among different N levels, N ₂ was found to be best which might influence the
	growth and yield of radish (<i>Raphanus sativus</i> L.).

Introduction

Agriculture is the primary source of income for the optimal use for irrigation and other purposes in people of Himachal Pradesh and plays a significant role in the state's economy. Himachal Pradesh is the only state in the country with a rural population of 89.96 percent. Although Himachal Pradesh is blessed with natural beauty, perennial rivers, and snow-capped mountains, it also suffers from water scarcity and deteriorating water quality as a result of human intervention and development activities, which is likely to worsen as the population grows and people's lifestyles change. It is the State's responsibility to put the restricted and scarce water resources to the most cost-effective, efficient, and long-term use possible in order to promote their

accordance with the priorities. The role of irrigation in ensuring food security is vital as about 40 per cent of world food is produced by irrigated agriculture (FAO, 2002). As the world's population grows, so does the demand for food and fibre, resulting in the use of irrigation to keep plants growing (Delfine et al., 2000). Irrigation is used in all places of the world where rainfall does not provide enough ground moisture (Bhuiya et al., 2003). The amount and frequency of irrigation determined by irrigation scheduling is governed by many complex factors, but climate plays a major role. Therefore, it is necessary to develop irrigation

scheduling techniques under prevailing climatic condition and due to lack of proper irrigation scheduling techniques, the average yield of these vegetable crops is low which might be due to excess or deficit soil moisture regimes(Imitiyaz *et al.,,* 2000). Various studies have been carried out earlier on irrigation scheduling techniques under a wide range of irrigation system and management, soil, crop and climatic conditions. Water stress is one of the major limitations to the agricultural productivity worldwide, particularly in warm, arid, and semi-arid parts of the world.

Radish is the root crop belongs to family Brassicaceae. Being a shallow rooted crop, radish needs frequent and light irrigations for better growth, development and higher yield of better quality. However, farmers irrigate radish through flooding observing the dryness of soil. Improper irrigation practices not only cause wastage of expensive and scarce water resource but also decrease crop yield, quality, water use efficiency and economic returns. As water for irrigation is a scare resource, its optimization is fundamental to water resource use. It permits better utilization of all other production factors and thus leads to increased yield per unit area per unit time. Inadequate water supply at improper time results in moisture stress reduced nutrient uptake and lower water use efficiency (Olezyk et al., 2000). One of the most important aspects of agro-techniques for optimising carrot yield is irrigation schedule. Water is the only factor that has a direct impact on vegetable yield (Siddiqui, 1995).Water stress reduces crop canopy and biomass growth, resulting in a drop in production. Water application scheduling is critical to make the most efficient use of drip irrigation system, since excessive irrigation reduces yield and insufficient irrigation causes water stress and lowers production (Kashyap and panda, 2003; Wang et al., 2006).Scarcity of irrigation water is an acute problem for successful anywhere crop production in the world (Chowdhury et al., 1999). As a result, efficient use of scarce irrigation water is critical for high-quality carrot production (Islam et al., 2015). The key component that determines the nitrate concentration in vegetables is nitrogen fertiliser, which has been identified as one of the most important factors impacting yield and chemical composition of

vegetables. Excess nitrogenous fertiliser is commonly applied to crops as a suitable insurance against production losses and their financial effects (Huang, 2002). Nitrogen is very essential for leafy and root vegetable production. Its application upholds the overall growth, yield and quality of radish (Brintha and Seran, 2009).

Material and Methods

Site description

The field experiment was carried out during the Rabi seasons of 2016-2017 and 2017-2018 at Dr Yashwant Singh Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Nauni, Solan, in the experimental farm of Soil Science and Water Management (HP). It is situated at 30° 52'N latitude and 77° 11' E longitude, with an elevation of 1175 m above mean sea level and a 7-8% average slope. The study region is located in Himachal Pradesh's subtemperate, sub-humid agro-climatic zone (zone-2). The area's average annual rainfall is around 1100 mm, with roughly 75% of it falling during the monsoon season (mid June-mid September).During the growing seasons of Radish, the mean minimum and maximum temperatures recorded ranged from 3 to 14°C. Winter rains are scarce, falling primarily in January and February. Rainfall and pan evaporation data for the research region were obtained from the meteorological observatory of the University's Department of Environmental Science for both years of the experiment. According to the USDA's Soil Taxonomy, the soil in the area belongs to the TypicEutrochrept subgroup. The texture of the soil is sandy loam, and its reaction is neutral (Table 1).

Table1: Salient physical properties of experimental soil

Properties	Depth (cm)			
	0-15	15-30		
Sand (%)	58.7	59.5		
Silt (%)	27.2	28.5		
Clay (%)	14.1	12.0		
Textural class	Sandy Loam	Sandy Loam		
Bulk density (g cm ⁻³)	1.29	1.31		
Moisture retention at 0.33 bar (w,%)	23.9	21.0		
Moisture retention at 15 bar (w,%)	7.2	6.8		
Available water (w,%)	16.7	14.2		

Trial establishment and observation

The experiment was laid out in randomized block factorial design consisting of combinations of four irrigation treatments included IoNo irrigation (control), I₁, I₂, I₃ (4 cm irrigation at 0.6, 0.8, 1.2 IW/CPE ratio respectively) as the main factor and three nitrogen rates were applied N_o no nitrogen (control), N₁, N₂ (75, 100 per cent of recommended dose of N respectively), as the sub main factor applied through surface irrigation. Pusa Himani variety of radish was sown at spacing 30 cm \times 10 cm on 3m ×2 m beds. Farm yard manure and recommended levels of P2O5 and K2O nutrient were added in each plot equally as per recommended dose (SSP300 kg/ha and MOP 60 kg/ha respectively) for radish. Nitrogen in the form of urea was applied as per the experiment schedule. After sowing, the light irrigation was given at alternate days till the proper germination of seeds. Thereafter, the crop was irrigated with 4 cm common irrigation. Then as per schedules of irrigation, subsequent irrigations were applied. In schedules I_1 , I_2 , and I_3 4 cm irrigation was applied at irrigation water (IW) and the cumulative pan evaporation (CPE) ratios were 0.8, 1.0 and 1.2 respectively. All the other recommended package of practices of Dr Yashwant Singh Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry was followed for successful raising of Radish.

Analysis of growth and yield parameters

In each treatment, fifteen plants were chosen at random to study the plant parameter. From the base of the petiole to the highest point of the leaves, leaf length was measured in centimetres using a metre scale, while root length was measured from crown to distal end. Root diameter was recorded just below the crown with the help of digital vernier calliper. Gross root weight was recorded by weighing the roots along with leaves while for calculating net root weight; roots were properly cleaned to remove the soil sticking to them and weighed individually.

Dry matter content (%)

The roots harvested in each treatment were thoroughly cleaned and one kilogram of fresh roots was drawn from each treatment. Those roots were washed in running tap water and then oven dried at $65\pm5^{\circ}$ C till a constant weight. The dry matter was expressed in percentage using following formula:

	_	Dry weight (g)		100
Dry matter content (%)	=	Fresh weight (g)	×	100

Statistical analysis

To analyse the influence of treatments on yield and yield attributing features of radish, all data were subjected to analysis of variance (ANOVA) suited to the experimental design. The data recorded was analyzed by using MS EXCEL, SPSS 11.5 Software and the mean values of data were subjected to ANOVA as described by Panse and Sukhatme, 2000) for RBD (factorial). Comparison of treatment means was carried out using the critical difference (CD) at 5 % probability level.

Results and Discussion

Growth parameters

The influence of irrigation schedules and N levels on the number of leaves was significant during both years of the study, according to the data in (Table 2).During both years of study, highest number of leaves (25.2 and 23.4) were recorded with N₂ while minimum (15.5 and 19.8) under control (N_0). Under irrigation levels, significantly higher (21.0 and 23.3) number of leaves were recorded under I_3 schedule and minimum (18.9 and 20.7) under control (I₀) during 2017 and 2018, respectively. Under interaction significantly higher (27.3 and 25.0) numbers of leaves were recorded under N_2I_3 and lower (14.6 and 17.8) under N_0I_0 . Irrigation schedules I_3 , I_2 and I_1 significantly increased the number of leaves by 10.4, 9.0 and 4.5 per cent over I_0 . Among N levels, the increase was 38.1 per cent in N_2 and 21.0 per cent over N_0 . The results were found to be in line with those of Acar et al. (2008) and Amiri et al. (2012) who found that the increasing of irrigation frequency caused an increase in number of leaves in eggplant and lettuce, respectively. The more number of leaves in plant grown under higher N level might have been associated with the application of N in adequate quantity that positively improved the vegetative growth of radish plant. Jilani et al. (2010) in radish and Wahocho et al. (2016) in turnip found the positive and significant effect of N on number of leaves.Irrigation schedules, N levels, and their interaction had a significant effect on leaf length during both years of the study, according to the data in Table 2.

Table 2: Effect	of irrigation	schedules and	N levels on	growth	parameters of radish.

	Irrigation Schedule									
Nitrogen levels	No Irrigation (control)	4 cm Irrigation at 0.6 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 0.8 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 1.2 IW/CPE ratio	Mean	No Irrigation (control)	4 cm Irrigation at 0.6 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 0.8 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 1.2 IW/CPE ratio	Mean
			2016-2017					2017-2018		
				Nu	imber of le	eaves per plant				
No Nitrogen (Control)	14.6	14.9	15.6	16.9	15.5	17.8	19.4	20.4	21.3	19.8
75 % dose of Nitrogen	18.9	20.9	21.3	18.9	20.0	21.8	22.4	22.7	23.4	22.6
100 % RDN	23.3	24.5	25.6	27.3	25.2	22.4	22.3	23.8	25.0	23.4
Mean	18.9	20.1	20.8	21.0		20.7	21.4	22.3	23.3	
CD (P=0.05) of N			1.7					0.9		
CD (P=0.05) of I			1.9					1.0		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			3.3					1.9		
					Leaf Le	ngth (cm)				
No Nitrogen (Control)	21.03	23.31	24.57	27.13	24.01	19.89	21.27	22.11	22.50	21.44
75 % dose of Nitrogen	27.80	28.53	28.77	29.97	28.77	23.08	23.22	24.32	24.72	23.83
100 % RDN	31.00	29.53	31.73	32.53	31.20	25.33	26.33	26.44	29.44	26.89
Mean	26.61	27.12	28.36	28.88		22.77	23.61	24.29	25.55	
CD (P=0.05) of N			1.17					1.20		
CD (P=0.05) of I			1.36					1.38		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			2.33					2.38		
		· · · · · ·			Root le	ngth (cm)				
No Nitrogen (Control)	19.52	19.58	19.86	19.78	19.69	21.68	23.60	22.58	22.47	22.58
75 % dose of Nitrogen	20.03	19.75	19.51	21.03	20.08	21.55	24.57	28.67	28.77	25.89
100 % RDN	21.29	21.43	21.82	22.21	21.69	28.74	27.44	28.47	32.91	29.81
Mean	20.28	20.25	20.40	21.01		23.99	25.20	26.57	28.03	
CD (P=0.05) of N			0.89					4.50		
CD (P=0.05) of I			1.02					5.16		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			1.7					8.94		
		1		1	Root dia	meter (cm)	1			
No Nitrogen (Control)	3.22	3.25	3.55	3.72	3.43	3.48	3.68	3.88	4.05	3.78
75 % dose of Nitrogen	3.88	3.75	3.88	3.92	3.87	4.08	4.25	4.35	4.75	4.36
100 % RDN	4.08	4.22	4.32	4.58	4.30	4.07	4.95	4.95	5.28	5.00
Mean	3.73	3.75	3.92	4.07		4.13	4.29	4.39	4.69	
CD (P=0.05) of N			0.15					0.22		
CD (P=0.05) of I			0.18					0.25		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			0.3					0.44		

Table 3: Effect of irrigation schedules and N levels on yield parameters of radish.

	Irrigation Schedule									
Nitrogen levels	No Irrigation (control)	4 cm Irrigation at 0.6 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 0.8 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 1.2 IW/CPE ratio	Mean	No Irrigation (control)	4 cm Irrigation at 0.6 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 0.8 IW/CPE ratio	4 cm Irrigation at 1.2 IW/CPE ratio	Mean
			2016-2017					2017-2018		
					Net root	weight (g)				
No Nitrogen (Control)	106.5	117.5	125.8	138.8	122.2	114.2	121.6	123.9	125.8	121.4
75 % dose of Nitrogen	134.2	132.5	150.8	139.5	139.3	135.9	140.9	152.6	155.0	146.1
100 % RDN	153.8	149.2	142.5	156.2	150.4	163.1	174.1	180.6	209.1	181.8
Mean	131.5	133.2	139.7	144.8		137.7	145.6	152.4	163.3	
CD (P=0.05) of N			14.5					8.4		
CD (P=0.05) of I			16.6					9.7		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			28.80					16.80		
		· · · · ·		•	Gross roo	t weight (g)				
No Nitrogen (Control)	154.3	157.9	172.6	172.6	164.3	213.3	229.3	249.1	264.3	239.0
75 % dose of Nitrogen	189.3	186.9	174.3	171.9	180.6	269.4	280.0	291.8	311.7	288.2
100 % RDN	163.6	212.3	192.6	204.6	193.3	321.8	327.3	341.3	357.7	337.0
Mean	169.0	185.7	179.8	183.0		268.2	278.9	294.1	311.2	
CD (P=0.05) of N			18.2					4.7		
CD (P=0.05) of I			20.9					5.4		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			36.2					9.3		
		· · · · ·		•	Yield	(q ha ⁻¹)				
No Nitrogen (Control)	174.0	206.7	222.7	226.0	207.4	165.0	180.7	202.7	210.4	189.7
75 % dose of Nitrogen	228.7	236.0	243.0	252.0	239.9	223.2	232.0	247.6	255.4	239.6
100 % RDN	251.0	265.6	288.3	309.0	278.5	259.5	265.0	273.9	288.1	271.6
Mean	217.9	236.1	251.3	262.3		215.9	225.9	241.4	251.3	
CD (P=0.05) of N			9.0					24.7		
CD (P=0.05) of I			10.4					28.6		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			18.0					49.4		
		· · · · ·		ļ	Dry matter	content (%)				
No Nitrogen (Control)	5.60	5.50	5.40	6.10	5.65	7.83	7.43	7.27	6.50	7.26
75 % dose of Nitrogen	6.82	7.53	7.93	8.43	7.68	5.93	7.83	7.80	8.40	7.49
100 % RDN	8.23	8.07	9.47	10.50	9.06	7.80	9.43	9.57	10.80	9.40
Mean	6.88	7.03	7.60	8.34		7.19	8.23	8.21	8.57	
CD (P=0.05) of N			0.72					0.74		
CD (P=0.05) of I			0.83					0.85		
CD (P=0.05) N×I			NS					1.47		

Treatme nts	Fixed cost (Rs)	Variable Cost (Rs)	Total Cost (Rs ha ⁻¹)	Yield (q ha ⁻ ¹)	Gross income (Rs ha ⁻¹)	Net returns (Rs ha ⁻¹)	B:C ratio
N ₀ I ₀	21200	102674	123874	169.5	339000	215126	1.74
N_0I_1	21200	105174	126374	193.7	387400	261026	2.07
N ₀ I ₂	21200	106424	127624	212.7	425400	297776	2.33
N ₀ I ₃	21200	107674	128874	218.2	436400	307526	2.39
N_1I_0	21200	103108	124308	226	452000	327692	2.64
N_1I_1	21200	105608	126808	234	468000	341192	2.69
N_1I_2	21200	106858	128058	245.3	490600	362542	2.83
N_1I_3	21200	108113	129313	253.7	507400	378087	2.92
N_2I_0	21200	103252	124452	255.3	510600	386148	3.10
N_2I_1	21200	105752	126952	265.3	530600	403648	3.18
N_2I_2	21200	107002	128202	281.1	562200	433998	3.39
N_2I_3	21200	108252	129452	298.6	597200	467748	3.61

Table 4: Cost economics of different treatment combination in radish.

Average leaf length increased with increase in irrigation and N levels. During both years of study, among N levels, significantly higher (31.20 and 26.89 cm) and lower (24.01 and 21.44 cm) leaf length was recorded under N_2 and N_0 levels respectively. Under irrigation levels, maximum leaf length (29.88 and 25.55 cm) was recorded under I_3 schedule and minimum (26.61 and 22.77 cm) under control which was statistically at par with I_1 (27.12) and 23.61 cm) during 2017 and 2018, respectively. During both years of research, interaction had a significant impact on leaf length. During 2016-17, maximum leaf length (32.53 cm) was recorded under N_2I_3 which was statistically at par with N_2I_2 (31.73 cm) while during 2017-18, maximum (29.44 cm) leaf length was recorded under N₂I₃. Minimum (21.03 and 19.89 cm) leaf length was recorded under N₀I₀ during both the years, respectively. Leaf length in N_2 and N_1 being 27.8 and 15.7 percent higher over N_0 , it is possible that this is related to beneficial effects of nitrogen on cell division, cell expansion, and protein synthesis. Irrigation schedule I_3 , I_2 and I_1 significantly increased the leaf length by 10.3, 6.7 and 2.8 percent over I_0 . It could be because of optimal soil moisture content throughout the growing season, which is important for transpiration, stomatal opening, and leaf growth and expansion. Jilani et al. (2010) in radish, Wahocho et al. (2016) in turnip, and Bhatti et al. (2019) in onion reported similar results. During both the years of the study, the data in Table-2

revealed a significant effect of irrigation schedules, N levels, and their interaction on radish root length. In 2016-17 and 2017-18, the I_3 irrigation schedule had the maximum root length (21.01 and 28.03 cm), while the lowest (20.28 and 23.99 cm) was under control. Among N levels maximum root length (21.69 and 29.81 cm) was observed under N_2 level and minimum (19.69 and 22.58 cm) under N_0 (control) which was statistically at par with N_1 (20.08 and 25.89 cm) during both the years of research. In case of interactions during2016-17, significantly higher (22.21 cm) root length was observed under N₂I₃ which was statistically at par with N_2I_2 (21.82 cm) and N_2I_1 (21.43 cm) while during 2017-18 maximum root length (32.9 cm) was recorded under N₂I₃.Irrigation schedule I₃, I₂ and I_1 significantly increase root length by 10.0, 6.1 and 2.7 percent over I₀. Among N levels, the increase was 21.8 in N2 and 8.9 percent in N1 over N₀. Environmental and genetic factor strongly effect root length, so plant with more number of leaves have more root length (Tripathi et al. 2017). The findings of Alam et al. (2010) in carrot, Jilani et al. (2010) in radish, and Baloch et al., (2014) in radish support the findings. The observations recorded indicated the significant effect of irrigation schedules, N levels and their interaction on root diameter of radish and trend was almost similar during both the years of study (Table-2). During both the years of study, irrigation schedule I_3 was recorded with highest root diameter (4.07) and 4.69 cm) followed by I_2 (3.92 and 4.39 cm) and minimum (3.73 and 4.13 cm) was under control (I_0) . Under N levels, significantly highest (4.30 and 5.00 cm) and lowest (3.43and 3.78 cm) root diameter was recorded with N2 and N0 level, respectively. In case of interactions, N₂I₃ was recorded with maximum (4.58 and 5.28 cm) root diameter while N_0I_0 was recorded with lowest (3.22) and 3.48 cm) during both the years of study. While among N levels, significantly higher root diameter (4.65 cm) was recorded under N₂ which was 28.8 percent higher than N_0 (3.61 cm) followed by N_1 (4.12 cm) which was 14.1 percent higher over N_0 . In case of interactions, maximum root diameter (4.93 cm) was recorded with N_2I_3 while lowest (3.35 cm) under N₀I₀ which was statistically at par with N_0I_1 (3.47 cm). Maximum root diameter in plot receiving more N had a higher number of leaves. It could be attributed to increased photosynthetic activity, which resulted in increased food production and root storage (Ali et al., 2006). The findings are consistent with those of Sadia et al. (2013) in turnip, Alam et al. (2010) in carrot, and Moniruzzaman et al. (2013) in turnip.

Yield parameters

The influence of irrigation schedules, N levels, and their interaction on net root weight was substantial during both years of study, according to data in (Table-3).Under irrigation schedules, highest (144.8 and 163.3 g) net root weight was recorded under I_4 followed by I₂ (139.7 and 152.4 g) and lowest (131.5 and 137.7 g) under I_0 during both the years of study. Among N levels, significantly higher (150.4 and 181.8 g) net root weight was recorded with N_3 and lower (122.2 and 121.4 g) under N_0 (control). In case of interaction effect during both the years of study, significantly higher (156.2 and 209.1 g) and lower (106.5 and 114.2 g) net root weight was recorded under N₂I₃ and N₀I₀. Irrigation schedules I_3 , I_2 and I_1 recorded significantly higher net root weight and increase was to the tune of 14.5, 8.5 and 3.6 per cent, respectively over the control (I_0). Among N levels, the increase was 36.4 percent in N_2 and 17.2 percent in N_1 over the control (N_0) . The influence of irrigation schedule, N levels, and their interaction on gross 'root weight of radish was significant throughout both years of study (Table-3). Under irrigation schedules, significantly higher (185.7 g) gross root weight was recorded under I_1 followed by I_3 (183.0 g) and lower (169.0 g) under control (I_0). Among N levels,

 N_2 level was recorded with highest (193.3 g) gross root weight which was statistically at par with N_1 (180.6 g) and lowest (164.3 g) under control (N_0) during 2016-17. During 2017-18, highest (311.2 g) gross root weight was recorded with I₃ schedule and lowest (268.2 g) under control (I_0). Under N levels, significantly higher (337.0 g) and lower (239.0 g) gross root weight was recorded under N_2 and N₀ levels, respectively. The significant effect of interaction (N×I) was found throughout both the years of study and significantly higher (204.6 and 357.7 g) gross root weight was recorded under N_2I_3 and lower (154.3 and 213.3 g) under control (N_0I_0) during 2016-17 and 2017-18, respectively. The higher net and gross root weight at irrigation schedule I₃ with 100 percent RDN might be due to the optimum soil moisture content (Table-3), because of the split application; N has perfect solubility, mobilisation, and availability at regular intervals in the required quantity. The reports of Goudra and Rokhade, (2001) on cabbage, Jilani et al., (2010) on radish, Kumari, (2013) on turnip and Sadia et al., (2013) on cauliflower corroborate these results.

During both years of the study, the influence of irrigation schedules, N levels, and their interaction on yield was considerable, according to the results showed in Table-3. Under irrigation schedules, significantly higher (262.3 and 251.3 quintal/ ha) yield was noticed under I₃ schedule which was statistically at par with I₂ (251.3 and 241.4 quintal/ ha) and lower (217.9 and 215.9 quintal/ ha) under (I_0) during 2016-17 and 2017-18, control respectively. Among N levels, significantly higher (278.5 quintal/ ha in 2016-17 and 271.6 quintal/ ha in 2017-18) and lower (207.4 quintal/ ha in 2016-17 and 189.7 quintal/ ha in 2017-18) yield was recorded under N2 and N0 levels respectively. In case of interactions, highest yield (309.0 and 288.1 quintal/ ha) was recorded under N₂I₃ and lowest (174 and 165 quintal/ ha) under N_0I_0 during both the years of study. The enhanced root yield might be related to sufficient application of N that significantly influenced the plant performance. Boroujerdnia and Ansari, (2007) in lettuce, Aliyu et al., (2007) in onion, and Acar et al., (2008) in lettuce have all reported beneficial impacts of N on yield. Higher number of leaves, leaf length, root diameter, net root weight and gross root weight at irrigation level I₃may be attributed to optimal soil



Figure 1: Weekly evaporation and rainfall during the experimentation period 2016-17.



Figure 2: Weekly evaporation and rainfall during the experimentation period 2017-2018.

which may have promoted more nutrient uptake and provided the plant with a better soil physical environment to aid in vegetative development and production.Water is the only factor that has a direct impact on the vegetative yield (Siddiqui, 1995). Similarly, Badr et al., 2012 said that applying N to levels required maximising yield during full irrigation will likely result in poor production when the water deficit is significant enough to suppress yield at the optimum N level. The findings of

moisture regimes throughout the growing season, Goudra and Rokhade, (2001) in cabbage, Imitiyaz et al. (2000) in cabbage, Kumar et al. (2007) in onion, and Kemal, (2013) in shallot are all in agreement. Singh et al. (2010) in potato found that higher irrigation and nitrogen levels resulted in better growth and yield expression. The findings in (Table 3) revealed that irrigation schedules, N levels, and interaction (N×I) had a significant effect on dry matter content during both research years (except in first year for interaction effect).Under irrigation schedules, highest dry matter content

(8.34 and 8.57 %) was recorded under I₃ schedule was statistically at par with I_2 (7.60 and 8.21 %) and lowest (6.88 and 7.19 %) under control (I_0) during 2016-17 and 2017-18, respectively. Among N levels, significantly higher (9.06 and 9.40 %) dry matter content was recorded under N₂ and lower (5.65 and 7.26 %) under control during both the years of study respectively. During 2017-18, in case of interaction effect, highest (10.80 %) dry matter content was recorded with N2I3 which was statistically at par with N_2I_2 (9.57 %). Lowest dry matter contents (5.93 %) were recorded under N_1I_0 which was statistically at par with N_0I_3 (6.50 %) and N_0I_2 (7.27 %). Dry matter content under I_3 , I_2 and I₁ irrigation schedules were significantly higher over I_0 to the tune of 20.2, 12.2 and 8.4 per cent, respectively. Among N levels, the increase was 43.3 percent in N_2 and 17.8 percent in N_1 over N_0 . The dry matter content of radish was found to be positively affected by increased watering frequency and increased N levels. Sujatha and Krishnappa, (1995) also found that increased fertility levels resulted in higher dry matter production, which they attributed to more photosynthate synthesis and translocation.Similar findings in potato were reported by Sharma et al. (2002), Hurska and Riflug, (1975), Sharma et al. (2002) and Lapa et al.,(1990). Greater N levels in radish resulted in increased dry matter accumulation, which could be attributed to better vegetative development (Ndang andSema, 1999).

Benefit-cost ratio

Benefit-cost ratio worked out for different treatment combinations has been presented in Table 4. According to the data, the highest gross income was reported in N_2I_3 (Rs597200) followed by N_2I_2 (Rs 562200), N_2I_1 (Rs 530600) and minimum (Rs 339000) under N_0I_0 . Similarily, net returns was maximum (Rs 467748) N_2I_3 under followed by N_2I_2

References

- Acar, B., Paksoy, M., Türkmen, O., & Seymen, M. (2008). Irrigation and nitrogen level affect lettuce yield in greenhouse condition. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 7(24).
- Alam, M. S., Mallik, S. A., Costa, D. J., & Alam, A. (2010). Effect of irrigation on the growth and yield of (Daucuscarota ssp. sativus) carrot in hill valley. *Bangladesh Journal of Agricultural Research*, 35(2), 323-329.

(Rs 433998) and minimum (Rs 215126) under N₀I₀. The highest B:C ratio (3.61:1) was worked out under N₂I₃ which was rated as the most profitable combination followed by N₂I₂ (3.39:1) whereas lowest (1.74:1) under N₀I₀. Comparatively higher root yield due to better root growth under optimum moisture regimes and nutrient availability under N₂I₃ and N₂I₂ might be the reason for higher B:C ratio. These findings are in agreement with the results reported by Imitiyazet al.,2000 in tomato, Alam et al. (2010) in carrot, Himanshu et al. (2012) and Sumandeep, (2015) in cabbage and Kumari, (2013) in cauliflower who also reported higher gross returns, net return and B:C ratio under higher frequency of irrigation and N level.

Conclusion

The results of study indicated that irrigation scheduling at 1.2 IW/CPE ratio and application of 100 per cent N significantly enhance the growth and yield of radish. It also provides the maximum benefit-cost ratio of radish. Therefore, it may be concluded from the present investigation that deficient irrigation and deficiency of nitrogen may cause reduction in radish yield and lower the soil productivity. This study would help the farmers to increase the productivity of their lands.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Director of research Dr.Yashwant Singh Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry Nauni, Solan HP India for the necessary facilities and financial support to conduct the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Ali, M. K., Barkotulla, M. A. B., Alam, M. N., &Tawab, K. A. (2006). Effect of nitrogen levels on yield and yield contributing characters of three varieties of carrot. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 9(3), 553-557.
- Aliyu U., Magajj, M.D., Singh, A., & Mohammed, S.G. (2007). Growth and yield of onion (*Allium cepa* L.) as influenced by nitrogen and phosphorus levels. *International Journal of Agriculture Research*, 2(1), 937-944.

- Amiri, E., Gohari, A. A., & Esmailian, Y. (2012). Effect of irrigation and nitrogen on yield, yield components and water use efficiency of eggplant. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 11(13), 3070-3079.
- Baloch, P. A., Riaz, U., Nizamani, F. K., Solangi, A. H., & Siddiqui, A. A. (2014). Effect of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium fertilizers on growth and yield characteristics of radish (Raphinussativus L.). *American-Eurasian Journal of Agricultural & Environmental Sciences*, 14(6), 565-569.
- Bhatti, S., 2017.Effect of different irrigation and nitrogen levels on the productivity of onion (*Allium cepaL.*) *International Journal of Current Microbiology and applied sciences*, 8, 409-418.
- Bhuiya, M. A. K., Rahim, M. A., & Chowdhury, M. N. A. (2003). Effect of planting time, mulch and irrigation on the growth and yield of garlic. *Asian Journal of Plant Sciences*. 2,639-643.
- Boroujerdnia, M., & Ansari, N.A.(2007).Effect of different levels of nitrogen fertilizer and cultivar on growth, yield and yield component of Romaine lettuce (*lactucasativa* L.).*Middle Eastern and Russian Journal of Plant Science* and Biotechnology. 1, 47-53.
- Boyer, J. S. (1982). Plant productivity and environment. *Science*, 218(4571), 443-448.
- Brintha, I., & Seran, T. H. (2009). Effect of paired row planting of radish (Raphanussativus L.) intercropped with vegetable amaranthus (Amaranthustricolor L.) on yield components of radish in sandy regosol.4, 19-28.
- Chowdhury, S. A., Quadir, M. A., Karim, A. J. M. S., Molla, M. S., & Shamim, R. U. (1999). Response of carrot to different moisture regimes. *Bangladesh Journal of Agricultural Research*, 24(2), 279-285.
- Delfine, S., Alvino, A., Loreto, F., Centritto, M., &Santarelli, G. (1999, June). Effects of water stress on the yield and photosynthesis of field-grown sweet pepper (*Capsicum* annuum L.). In III International Symposium on Irrigation of Horticultural Crops 537 (pp. 223-229).
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations., 2000.Deficit irrigation practices23 Dec. 2010
- Goudra, K. H. B., & Rokhade, A. K. (2001). Effect of irrigation schedules and methods on growth and yield of cabbage. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 14(3), 721-723.
- Himanshu, S. K., Kumar, S., Kumar, D., & Mokhtar, A. (2012). Effects of lateral spacing and irrigation scheduling on drip irrigated cabbage (Brassica oleracea) in a semi-arid region of India. *Research Journal of Engineering Sciences ISSN*, 2278, 9472.

- Hruskha, L., & Rflug, L.(1975) .Effect of spacing and fertilization on some quality indices of potato tuber.*ActaUniversitalis Brno FacultasAgronomica*,23(3), 15-321.
- Huang, W. Y. (2002). Using insurance to enhance nitrogen fertilizer application timing to reduce nitrogen losses. *Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics*, 34(1), 131-148.
- Imtiyaz, M., Mgadla, N. P., Chepete, B., & Manase, S. K. (2000). Response of six vegetable crops to irrigation schedules. *Agricultural water management*, 45(3), 331-342.
- Islam, M. T., Rahman, M. H., Yeasmin, R., Mamun, M. A. A., & Rahman, M. A. (2015). Effect Of Number Of Plant Per Hill And Irrigation Intervals on. *Journal of Science and Technology*, 112, 117.
- Jilani, M.S., Burki, T., & Waseem, K. (2010). Effect of nitrogen on growth and yield of radish. *Journal of Agricultural Research*, 48, 219-225.
- Kashyap, P. S., & Panda, R. K. (2003). Effect of irrigation scheduling on potato crop parameters under water stressed conditions. *Agricultural water management*, 59(1), 49-66.
- Kemal, Y. O. (2013). Effects of irrigation and nitrogen levels on bulb yield, nitrogen uptake and water use efficiency of shallot (Allium cepa var. ascalonicum Baker). *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8(37), 4637-4643.
- Kumar, S., Imtiyaz, M., Kumar, A., & Singh, R. (2007). Response of onion (Allium cepa L.) to different levels of irrigation water. *Agricultural Water Management*, 89(1-2), 161-166.
- Kumari, M., & Devi, M. (2013). Scheduling of irrigation in cauliflower (Brassica oleracea var. botrytis L.) under mid hill conditions of Himachal Pradesh (Doctoral dissertation, M. Sc. Thesis. Department of Soil Science and Water Management, Dr Yaswant Singh Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan. 81p).
- Lapa, V.V., Limantowa, E.M., Rybik, O.F., Lashukench, O.M., Lukashenek, Z.N., & Kovallenok, M.F., 1990. Effect of increasing doses of N fertilizer on productivity and quality of potatoes in desopodzolic soils of Belariu. *Agrokhimzya*, 63,1-6.
- Moniruzzaman, M., Akand, M. H., Hossain, M. I., Sarkar, M. D., & Ullah, A. (2013). Effect of Nitrogen on the Growth and Yield of Carrot (*Daucus carota L.*). The Agriculturists, 11(1), 76-81.
- Olczyk, T., Regalado, R., Li, Y. C., & Jordan, R. (2000). Usefulness of tensiometers for scheduling irrigation for tomatoes grown on rocky, calcareous soils in Southern Florida. In *Proceedings of the Florida State Horticultural*

Society (Vol. 113, pp. 239-242). Florida State Horticultural Society.

- Panse, V. G., & Sukhatme, P. V. (1954). Statistical methods for agricultural workers. *Statistical methods for agricultural* workers.
- Sadia, A. A., Mahasen, M., Shahrin, S., Roni, M. Z. K., & Uddin, A. F. M. (2013). Physophorus levels on growth and yield of turnip (Brassica campestris var. rapifera). *Bangladesh Research Publications Journal*, 8(1), 29-33.
- Sharma, R. C., & Sood, M. C. (2002). Nitrogen and potassium interaction on the tuber yield, quality and organic carbon status of Shimla soils. In Potato, global research & development. Proceedings of the Global Conference on Potato, New Delhi, India, 6-11 December, 1999: Volume 2 (pp. 843-851). Indian Potato Association
- Siddiqui, A.B.(1995). Local adaptability and suitability of vegetable and spice crop-In: Training manual winter vegetable and spice. Ed. M MofizulHaque.Horticulture research and development project.FAO/UN/AsDB in collaboration with DAE, BADC, Dhaka 62-74p.
- Sood, M. C., & Singh, S. P. (2010). Optimizing irrigation water and nutrient requirement of potato (Solanumtuberosum L.) under drip fertigation. *Progressive Agriculture*, 10(1), 192-195.

- Sujatha, N. T., & Krishnappa, K. S. (1995). Effect of different fertility levels on dry matter production at different stages of growth and nutrient uptake of potato. *Journal of the Indian Potato Association (India)*.
- Sumandeep., (2015). Effect of irrigation schedules and nitrogen levels on growth and yield of cabbage (*Brassica* oleraceavarcapitataL.). M.Sc. Thesis. Department of Soil Science and Water Management, Dr. YS Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan.43p.
- Tripathi, A. K., Ram, R. B., Rout, S., Kumar, A., & Patra, S. S. (2017). Effect of Nitrogen Levels and Spacing on Growth and Yield of Radish (Raphanussativus L.) Cv. Kashi Sweta. *International pure applied bio science*, 5(4), 1951-1960.
- Wahocho, N. A., Wahocho, S. A., Memon, N., Leghari, M. H., & Baloch, Q. B. (2016). Growth and yield response of turnip to various nitrogen application rates. *Pakistan Journal of Agriculture, Agricultural Engineering and Veterinary Sciences*, 32(2), 143-149.
- Wang, F. X., Kang, Y., & Liu, S. P. (2006). Effects of drip irrigation frequency on soil wetting pattern and potato growth in North China Plain. Agricultural water management, 79(3), 248-264.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



The dynamics of the first wave of COVID-19 on environment and wildlife– a boon or a bane?

Yashita Sharma

Department of Life Sciences, Sri Venkateswara College, Dhaula Kuan South campus, University of Delhi, Delhi, India.

Yashika Mago

Department of Life Sciences, Sri Venkateswara College, Dhaula Kuan South campus, University of Delhi, Delhi, India.

Vagisha Rawal 🖂

Department of Zoology, Sri Venkateswara College, Dhaula Kuan South campus, University of Delhi, Delhi, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 29 September 2021	Even though COVID-19 has drastically weighed upon the humankind, still
Revised : 24 December 2021	there is a "silver lining" to see in this dark time. Amidst of this pandemic, most
Accepted : 06 January 2022	of the human activities were restricted to break the chain of infection which resulted the remarkable change in nature. It has been reported that due to halt
Published online: 22 February 2022	in air travel, reduction in the use of fossil fuels, way less functioning of vehicles, shutdown of industries has complied the change in air pollution levels and also
Key Words:	change in river water quality. Reports also showed the reduction in particulate
Air quality index	matter (PM 2.5 and PM 10), greenhouse gases emissions, massive improvement
Biodiversity	in the Air quality index (AQI), reduction in the NO _X and SO _X 's level has clearly
COVID-19	stipulated that nature has got it's time to "revive". Even the global carbon
Man-animal conflict	emission has reported to reduced reluctantly which is expected to be the biggest
Pandemic	such drop since World War II. Despite conducting water-cleansing projects and
Wildlife	spending a lot of money, the situation of the water bodies were far better now
	during first lockdown. Moreover, migration and breeding of the birds and
	animals have been reported to be restored to normal pattern due to depletion in
	man-animal conflict. Apart from the positive, negative impacts on the nature are also being experienced. Our review work is highlighting such impacts witnessed during the first wave of COVID-19, like, the significant improvement in air and water quality reduction in environmental noise, therefore an in turn
	cleaner and quieter habitat for the wildlife to mate and also to quench their curiosities by their surprising excursions; but there are also some negative aspects as well, like reduction in recycling and the increase in waste, increased
	poaching and even lone shuttering of zoo animals.

Introduction

The pandemic induced lockdown, apart from wreaking havoc on human lives, has surely helped us to find a window to a brief time period with clear blue skies and chirping of the birds. The COVID-19 pandemic has brought about a significant upheaval around the world; wrecked economies, human misery, and altered attitudes have caused us to "rethink and re-act." Always in the race of development, there was no time to think what we are doing to our nature and environment but onset of coronavirus had put the world on a pause. There are lot of environmental issues which need to be

addressed today and COVID-19 pandemic has set the stage for resolving these issues and coming out with the solutions for betterment of human beings. It has put a question mark on human activities that provokes environmental damage. In amidst of pandemic, most of the human activities were restricted to break the chain of infection and for this it was necessary to be indoors. Soon we noticed the remarkable change in nature be it the quality of air, water quality or biodiversity. Clear skies, fresh air and reduced pollution have made it clear that it's only human intervention that has created the mess in environment and overburdened our natural resources. Using less fuel, less industrial activities and less consumption had definitely relaxed the burden on our nature and natural resources and raised a quest for their rational use (Zambrano et al., 2020). Lockdown had not only reduced the vulnerability to COVID-19 but also reduced the exposure time to air pollutants thereby preventing the loss of human lives. Reports showed the reduction in particulate matter (PM_{25} and PM_{10}), greenhouse gases emissions, Air quality index (AQI), NO_X and SO_X which has clearly indicated that nature has got it's time to "revive" (Muhammad et al., 2020). Despite conducting water-cleansing projects and spending a lot of money, the situations of the water bodies were far better during the first lockdown. Such an improvement in the environment will surely gifted a breath of fresh air to the wildlife, giving them their long lost freedom to breed and breathe in open and clean spaces, which were free from human interventions. Not only the streets were rendered empty, the national parks, zoos were also free from the human eye, which further helped in breeding at much better and successful rate (Bar, a 2021). Though, apart from such positives, some species also had to bear the wrath of humans in the form of illegal hunting due to the less availability of food resources due to the economic crunch and also the restrictions. Definitely there will be a thrust upon "Environmental and Wildlife" issues before and after this outbreak. Apart from the positive, negative impacts on nature are also being experienced.

Positive impact on environment and wildlifeimpact on air quality

Air quality index (AQI)- A considerable fall of AQI to 30% was witnessed in almost all the parts of India. Following the closure, the air quality index (AQI) in all Indian states was currently in the two figures (indicating relatively acceptable air quality) (Lokhandwala and Gautam, 2020). The highest drop in AQI was seen in Delhi, where it was 49 percent. Across many areas the air quality index was found to be 20 as compared to 200 and even more in previous years. The air quality index (AQI) in India's North, South, East, Central, and Western regions fell by 44%, 33%, 29%, 15% and 32%, respectively. (Sharma *et al.*, 2020). A remarkable change was seen all over the world with respect to

various air pollutants and air quality. Skies were comparatively clear and blue. NASA (National Aeronautics and Space Administration) and ESA (European Space Agency) collected data through Ozone Monitoring Instrument (on AURA satellite) and Tropospheric Monitoring Instrument (on Sentinel-5P satellite) respectively and reported 30% decrease in NO₂ levels showing an improvement in the air quality (ESA, 2020a). Countries such as China, Italy, United Kingdoms, and Germany had experienced about >40% decrease in CO₂ and NO₂ concentration. Particulate matter 2.5 and 10 as well as Nitrogen dioxide and carbon monoxide concentration in India were found to be decreased as 43%, 31%, 18% and 10% respectively during the time of lockdown in comparison to last year's (Kanniah et al., 2020).

Nitrogen dioxide

In urban areas NO_x concentrations are high due to vehicular exhaust, power plants and industries. During the first wave of the pandemic, concentrations of NO2 were decreased due to restricted human activities in densely populated areas. Remarkable drop of NO₂ concentration was observed in many countries of Europe such as Rome, Madrid and Paris when lockdown was imposed. It has been reported that overall air quality was better resulting in positive health benefits as seen in China. In China, NO₂ levels dropped approximately by 12.9 μ g/m³ as people were staying indoors (Chen et al., 2020). Similar trends were noticed all over the globe. A decline of 56.2% in NO₂ levels was reported by NCAP (National Clean Air Program) as compared to previous year in India.

Sulphur dioxide

Sulphur dioxide emissions also declined in the period of lockdown according to CPCB (Central Pollution Control Board) who had done analysis of 115 Indian cities. Only 19 percent reduction in SO_2 levels was recorded in Delhi as 70 percent of SO_2 in Delhi comes from power plants in its vicinity. Also some industries were operating at that time in addition to biomass burning. Due to reduction in human activities, an overall decrement of 40% was recorded by Sentinel-5P satellite (ESA, 2020b).

Particulate matter 2.5 and 10

Reduction in particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10) was also observed worldwide. Particulate matter



Figure 1: Aerosol optical thickness concentration sequence (month—Terra/Modis), India observed from 31st March to 5th April from 2016 to 2020. (NASA 2020)

2.5 dropped by 1.4 μ g/m³ in Wuhan, declined by 18.9 μ g/m³ across three sixty seven cities (Chen *et al.*, 2020). Similar trends were observed in many countries. In India, the maximum reduction was reported for PM2.5 and a decrease of 34% was reported during the lockdown (Sharma *et al.*, 2020). According to the database of NCAP, in comparison to 2019 a decrease of 35.7% for PM10 and 33.55% for PM2.5 was estimated in 10 Indian cities.

Carbon monoxide and aerosol optical depth

Carbon monoxide also reduced during the months of April and May 2020 in India but it was less than 0.03 mol m⁻². Due to vehicular activity restriction, a 30.35% drop was seen in carbon monoxide levels in Delhi (Mahato *et al.*,2020). Aerosol Optical Depth was observed to decrease during the months of March. AOD levels were above 0.75 in many regions of India as the first lockdown preceded it fell down to 0.3 on March 25, 2020 and then 0.2 around April 1st followed by 0.1 on 5th April, 2020. The reduction in AOD concentration was reflected in NASA Earth Observatory imagery of Aerosol optical density observations across India (Gautam, 2020).

Reduced GHG (Green House Gas) emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions reduced during the COVID-19 pandemic as social distancing was promoted and human activities were almost stopped. This was never observed since World War II as suggested by the climate experts (Global Carbon Project, 2020). Countries like the UK, United States of America and China were reported to show a decrease of 30.7%, 31.6% and 23.9% respectively in overall carbon emissions. According to a study, lockdown has resulted in 17% reduction in carbon emissions (Le Quéré *et al.*, 2020). India has also shown a dropdown of carbon emissions by 26%.

Impact on water quality

Due to less human intervention and restricted activities because of the COVID-19 outbreak, a clear effect can be seen on the water bodies. Be it oceans, seas, rivers, lakes, groundwater reservoirs or beaches everything looks cleaner. Due to restriction in lockdown many anthropogenic activities had stopped and therefore the level of water pollution shrank down. Similar patterns were noticed across the World, such as the Grand Canal in Italy, which went clear when the COVID-19 debilitated the entire country, and numerous aquatic species emerged. Ganga and Yamuna, have shown significant decrease in the levels of contamination. As stated by the CPCB's statistics, in Ganga average water quality was recorded to be 27 points during the lockdown period. In Chennai, Perumbakkam lake was seen to be revived. Tourism, fairs, swimming, and textile washing near the ghats were all prohibited. The biochemical oxygen demand (BOD) and coliform levels in the rivers have been reduced. According to reports, the DO levels in the Ganga have risen above 8 ppm, while BOD levels have fallen below 3 ppm in Kanpur and Varanasi (Lokhandwala&Gautam, 2020), which in 2019 were about 6.5 ppm and 4 ppm, respectively. On April 4, 2019, a significant change of 79% in dissolved oxygen was noted in Nagwa Nala of Varanasi. It escalated from 3.8 milligrams/litre to 6.8 milligram/litre (Chakraborty et al., 2021). A notable change can also be observed in the beaches of the world due to the lack of tourists. Beaches in Acapulco, Mexico, Barcelona, Spain, and Salinas, Ecuador, for example, now appear cleaner and have crystal blue water.

Noise pollution reduction

Noise pollution has decreased significantly in most places across the world as the usage of public and private transportation, commercial and industrial activity has plummeted. Delhi's noise pollution was considerably reduced due to empty roads, no honking, closed industries, no commercial events (Times of India, 2020a). Normally the decibel noise level in residential areas is about 55dB in day time and 45 dB at night. During lockdown, these noise levels were expected to reduce to about 30 dB and 40 dB respectively (CPCB).

Impacts on aves

The significant decrease in human activity, implying to decreased air and noise pollution, gave birds the freedom of vocalization, thus helping them out in clearer mating calls and in turn their overall population (Bhat *et al.*,2020). For example, an increase in population of Ruffle feather headed Dalmatian in Divjaka National Park was observed

during the first wave induced lockdown. The huge contributors of such positive gifts were overall less human disturbance and less pollution, under such conditions, the birds preferred to expand their flying ranges or to stay within their historical geographical boundaries. As it is clearly known changing environmental that. conditions synchronise and modify bird circannual cycles in a complicated way (Gwinner, 1996). Therefore, birds were found migrating due to extremely less busy migratory ways in larger numbers, for example, pink flamingos were spotted in Navi Mumbai and in Albania due to such surprising migrations.

Impact on fishes

The emergence of the first COVID-19 lockdown resulted in overall less waterways transportation and a steep decrease in the pollutants dumped into the water bodies. Because of a break in industrial activities, waterways were rendered clearer and quieter, allowing fishes to communicate with ease. Thus, it also helped in the recovery of the food chain. A remarkable reduction in the levels of macro and meso-plastic pollution was also reported. Therefore, all of these factors resulted in an increase in the spike of fish biomass. 16 spiny seahorses, an endangered species of seahorse native to the United Kingdoms, were found because of the possible repair of seagrass, which gave them a place to hide (BBC, 2020a). Bronze featherback, a threatened species of fish, was also found in River Gomti as a result of the reduction in disturbances. Barely one of these is spotted once in six month.

The slowing of the worldwide commercial fishing activity has more likely supported species' recovery in the Mediterranean, breeding between March and May, 2020 and the Atlantic, breeding between April and June, 2020. In the shark market of Indonesia, due to the imposed lockdown, a decrease of demand by 70% also helped the revival of shark population (Forbes, 2020).

Impact on amphibians

The empty driveways, streets, vegetative areas around the springs/lakes etc. helped the amphibians to find counterparts of their species during the early warm, damp evenings of spring. These creatures could sense the correct circumstances. Therefore, were noticed to excurse out. After returning to the pool, the adults participated in a number of mating activities before laying eggs in the water for hatching. The increased mating and eggs were found, for example, of American toads; spotted, four-toed and blue-spotted salamanders; spring peepers, and wood frogs, etc. Usually during pre-Covid times, such activity was at times interrupted by human interventions. Frogs have always coexisted with humans, but due to human idleness they were being noticed more. Like, the Indian bullfrog spotted in Narsighpur in Madhya Pradesh, which changes color drastically during mating season in monsoons.

Impact on reptiles-

Replenishing Gharial population in Yamuna

Gharials, an endangered species of reptiles has suffered a 98 percent decline since the 1940s. Destruction of their riverine habitat caused by dams' construction, sand mining, irrigation canals, pollution, agriculture, excessive hunting had resulted in such an exponential decrease in the past. As stated by TOI, in 2011, the gharials ventured in the Yamuna for breeding for the first time. Due to the limited human activity and improvement in Yamuna River's water quality because of the close to null industry and transport interference during the lockdown, baby gharials of the Chambal River returned to the river body after almost a decade. Their number in June-July 2020 was recorded to be around three thousand (Times of India, 2020c).

Increase in egg laying of Turtles

During the pre-Covid time, it can be clearly noticed that humans have wrecked many turtle spawning grounds. Fishing gear, change in climate, pollution, and extreme weather all pose as hazardous to the turtles. But since due to the restricted activity and restrictions due to COVID-19, many residents, visitors, and even wildlife traffickers were deterred from approaching turtle nests and hatchlings. Bumper hatching of rare Olive Ridley turtles was noticed on the beaches of Odisha, Bay of Bengal, and Goa. Generally, only 1 in these 1,000 eggs hatch due to such interferences, but during the lockdown, nearly 20 million and above Olive Ridley hatchlings hatched in Odisha, with half of the 0.4 million nesting making their way to the water. Leatherback sea turtle hatchlings were faring better than they have in years. For example.-Since November 2020, 11 leatherback sea turtle (Dermochelys coriacea) nestings were discovered on a Thai beach, the most in the past 20 years (The Hindu, 2020). The 76 Leatherback Sea Turtle nests

were found on Juno Beach, Florida, The Guardian (2020). Loggerheads, Greens and Leatherbacks nests were also found in refreshed numbers.

Snakes have always co-existed with humans but due to the induced standstill, they were observed more. Also as snake being alleged as one of the sources of the Coronavirus, it has in some way snake population benefitted the as their consumption, illegal trafficking has stopped in many countries like China etc. There have been few instances of alligators and crocodiles venturing into human settlements or beaches due to less human activity. For example alligators were seen during Spring Break at Barefoot Landing in Myrtle Beach. In India, seven-feet-long crocodile was caught from the Kelanpur village of Vadodara.

Impact on Mammals-

Pangolins Protected

Even after banning hunting and commercial trade of pangolins, their population was seen to be steadily declining as a result of their habitat damage and inadequate penalty for eating them. To correct it, China's top legislature voted to outright prohibit the illicit wildlife hunting trade and to eradicate the harmful practice of consuming wild animals, amid the start of the pandemic in February 2020 (Global times, 2020).

More of Hopping Dolphins

Due to a decrease in waterways activity and less industrial waste dumping, monitored by a system of hydrophones installed on the ocean bed, a freedom to hop around was unlocked by many marine species. Because sound travels significantly longer in the ocean, several dolphin and whale species evolved extremely sophisticated have communication systems, which being free of the industrial noises were noted to be more capable of better communication. The Bosphorus, which runs through Istanbul, Turkey, is one of the busiest international shipping lanes; dolphins were seen swimming and leaping in the seas, now that there was a break in traffic and fishermen were stranded at home due to the lockdown. As stated by the National news of UAE, a pod of 2000 dolphins also surfaced off the shore of Fujairah, UAE, in the Middle East. Ganges Dolphins were back to Ganges shores after a good 30 years. Dolphins were also spotted in the waterways of Mumbai, India. A lot of articles had appeared stating that the water

quality of Kolkata's Hooghly River had improved as a result of the present lockdown scenario opening ways to many home species (Bar, 2021).

Collective freedom

Many mammals around the world got intrigued by the deserted cities therefore were found coming out on roads etc. for example sea cows (Sirenia) were found at The Hat Chao Mai National Park, Thailand; cougars in Santiago; Kashmiri goats in Wales; boars in Catalonia. In India too, many such sightings were observed like Nilgai/antelopes in Noida; elephant in Dehradun; bison in Karnataka; leopard in Patna; small Indian civet in Meppayur; one-horned rhino in Guwahati (BBC, 2020b). It was observed that Malaysia's endangered otter population has been dwindling for many years. During the COVID-19 lockdown, however, otters were seen in the normally busy Putrajaya Lake and many other interior Malaysian lakes.

The greater solitude enjoyed by zoo creatures seemed to have some unanticipated advantages. After 10 years of natural mating efforts, Ying Ying, one of Ocean Park's resident pandas, got pregnant (abc news, 2020). Since, natural mating has a greater likelihood of resulting in pregnancy than artificial insemination; it resulted into a successful impregnation. It occurred when the park had been restricted for tourists since late January, 2020 owing to COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the scare of the virus, tourism in all aspects had stopped, therefore giving a heave of sigh to animals that were physically manipulated and were forced to work despite their injuries, like elephants, etc. in India and Thailand.

Overall positive impact- global wildlife trade being at the centre of the stage

The COVID-19 outbreak was suspected to have started at a Chinese market trading wild creatures, shining a focus on the worldwide wildlife trading. The Wildlife Conservation Society, located in New York, pushed governments to outlaw live animal marketplaces and wildlife trading, as well as to put a halt to illicit wildlife trafficking and poaching. Following the initial breakout in Wuhan, China imposed a ban on the rearing and intake of live animals, which is due to become an official law later. To stop any potential pandemics, nations throughout the world are increasingly calling for the prohibition of "wet markets", which peddle

living and dead animals for human use (Roe et al., 2020).

Negative impact on environment and wildlife An increase in the concentration of ozone at the ground level- a negative impact-

Increase of about 17% ozone (O₃) levels was recorded (Sharma et al., 2020). Ozone was even found in high concentrations in clean areas. When compared to the preceding two years, the influence of COVID-19 on ozone was noticed in European cities such as Nice, Rome, Valencia, and Turin, as well as Wuhan (China). According to the NCAP tracker, an increase of 24.8% in ozone was observed in Mumbai. Other cities like Aurangabad, Nagpur and Pune had high ozone concentration. Reason for the increased ozone concentration as given by the Centre for Science and Environment (CSE) is that high NO_x levels mop the ozone out but the reduced level of nitrogen dioxide was not available to react with ozone and the ozone levels were thus increased. Also high temperatures increased the formation of hydrocarbons from biogenic sources such as trees resulting in high ozone concentration over urban areas. So the improved condition has a disguised effect on air quality and thus human health in the form of increased ozone levels.

Increase in solid waste and reduction in recycling

There is an increase in biodegradable waste, hazardous waste, packaging waste and reduction in other recyclables and inert waste due to the increased use of disinfectants and other sanitary chemicals. To avoid the risk of spreading of the coronavirus, many countries like USA and Italy have even suspended the "recycling" programs and centers that perform such recycling actions. Waste management has also been limited in European countries. Some sectors, on the other hand, have embraced the chance to repeal throwaway bag prohibitions. Single used packaging is widely encouraged due to the risk of Coronavirus. Household organic and inorganic garbage was also found to be expanding as a resultant to the situation created by the virus.

Expansion of biomedical waste

There was a high rise in the "medical waste" due to the outbreak. Hospitals generated tons of medical waste per day which was far more than before. With the discarded Personal protective equipment (PPE) kits, masks, gloves risk for sanitization workers has also increased. During the pandemic, Wuhan (China) produced around 240 metric tonnes of biomedical waste each day, up from 50 tonnes earlier (Sangkham, 2020). There has been an upsurge in trash from personal protection equipment like masks and gloves in other nations such as the United States (Zambrano *et al.*, 2020). The weight of biomedical waste in Delhi has grown in tandem with the growth of COVID-19 infections. Previously in 2020, around 6 tons of medical waste was incinerated but after the outbreak this number has raised up to 13 tons.

Impact of pandemic on single use plastic

Panic buying, online delivery, increase in medical bags including face shield, vinyl gloves had resulted in increment of single use plastic. Based on the spread of the pandemic, it is expected that plastic waste in the form of plastic medical bottles, trays, gloves, syringe, sterile liquid containers all were found to be increasing (Silva *et al.*, 2021).

Detrimental consequences on wildlife

Clearly as a result of the shattering economic impact on the human population and a decrease in food availability, illegal poaching for food or for selling expensive parts like rhino's ivory (as seen in Africa) etc. were seen in practice. Poaching of endangered animals and wild cats, including jaguars, had been documented throughout Africa down to Colombia, reason being the visitors kept away and many park officers being laid off. An example being-six black rhinos were reported to be slain in March, 2020 in Botswana, and were removed by the government personnel from the Okavango Delta. Bushmeat harvest and illegal wildlife trade were also noted to be increasing alarmingly in Africa (Manenti et al., 2020). Such intrusions and infliction of harm on wildlife can be kept in check using drones with thermal-imaging technology, thus providing a practical solution to the problem. At zoos, the animals faced their own challenges while the world stayed shut. The intelligent and social animals like gorillas, chimpanzees, monkeys, otters, meerkats etc. still showed up close to their grills, amidst the shuttered zoos, in expectation of catching a pair of eyes. Also there had been instances where animals in national parks or zoos of third world countries were facing less care and food due to the diversion of

government funds to fight the coronavirus pandemic. The city dwelling animals like monkeys found at temples were found to be starving because of the significantly decreased footfall as their main source of food was that provided by the devotees visiting such sacred places, as seen in Coimbatore, where the residents had to come together to feed them (Times of India, 2020b); but such coming forward of residents or activists cannot be seen in every such instance. Therefore, during the locked up phase, such animals were not able to obtain food and were compelled to change their behaviour (Zellmer et al., 2020). There had been reports of China prescribing use of an injection shot containing bear bile 'Tan Re Quing' to treat COVID-19 (National Geographic, 2020). Such approaches can also harm India's biodiversity of bears in the North-Eastern region.

As a coin has two sides to it, a pause in tourism apart from relieving the giants from the physical manipulations, also led to a massive fall in income for the elephant owners therefore, affecting the animals in terms of food and veterinary care needed (India Today, 2020). Though in India the government through various programs do tend to help elephant caretakers in economic crises to some extent, but that too isn't reported to be going to every single needy caretaker; while many other countries like Thailand don't even have such incentives (Lo *et al.*, 2021).

Conclusion

The noticeable improvements in nature had made us realize and sensitize that our own actions have an impact on the environment. Post pandemic environmental issues are going to come back in a much worse form as everybody will be just focused on building the economy and dealing with Corona virus on the other hand, the glimpse of which we are already seeing now. Thus, COVID-19 pandemic have no effect on the environment permanently. But it made us learn how we can reduce the degradation of the environment by changing social, economic and behavior patterns and help to promote sustainability of environment and wildlife. The huge positives seen during the first wave, in respect to environment and wildlife have got almost obliterated due to the comeback of human interventions, industries, and transports. Overall,

the crisis may have no permanent environmental effects as economic activities has resumed now. What we've learned about the environmental benefits and risks of sharp drops in global economic activity, on the other hand, will help us better understand the mechanics of environmental sustainability, societal consumption patterns, and how we can reduce environmental degradation in a post-crisis world. We as a human race cannot recreate the situation again because of our economy and needs, but also think about the betterment of the environment, for us and especially for the wildlife, as they are the ones facing it head-on

References

- Abc news (2020) Pandas mate for the 1st time in 10 years after zoo closes to public over coronavirus. Retrieved April 7, 2020. <u>https://abcnews.go.com/International/pandas-mate-1st-time-10-years-zoo-closes/story?id=70018865</u>
- Bar, H. (2021). COVID-19 lockdown: animal life, ecosystem and atmospheric environment. Environment, development and sustainability, 23(6), 8161-8178. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10668-020-01002-7</u>
- BBC (2020a) Coronavirus: Seahorses return to Dorset coast amid lockdown. Retrieved June 2, 2020, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-dorset-52889747
- BBC (2020b) Coronavirus: Wild animals enjoy freedom of a quieter world. Retrieved April 29, 2020, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-52459487
- Bhat, B. A., Kumar, P., Riyaz, S., Manzoor, S., Geelani, S. N. Z., Tibetbaqal, A., ...& Sultan, M. M. (2020). Local perception of climate change, COVID-19 and their impact on birds in Jammu and Kashmir. International Journal of Science and Healthcare Research, 5(2), 183-192. <u>https://ijshr.com/IJSHR_Vol.5_Issue.2_April2020/IJSHR0</u> 025.pdf
- Chakraborty, S., Sarkar, K., Chakraborty, S., Ojha, A., Banik, A., Chatterjee, A., ...& Das, M. (2021). Assessment of the surface water quality improvement during pandemic lockdown in ecologically stressed Hooghly River (Ganges) Estuary, West Bengal, India. Marine pollution bulletin, 171, 112711. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2021.112711
- Chen, K., Wang, M., Huang, C., Kinney, P. L., &Anastas, P. T. (2020). Air pollution reduction and mortality benefit during the COVID-19 outbreak in China. The Lancet Planetary Health, 4(6), e210-e212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30148-0</u>

while we have sheltered ourselves to face the indirect effects now and also in the future. To conclude, the sign of recovery should not be ignored; our lifestyles, developments and economic concerns have to reflect our concern for nature and least impact on the environment. So the need of the hour is to make balance between nature and human beings for today and tomorrow.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- ESA (2020a) Coronavirus lockdown leading to drop in pollution across Europe. Retrieved March 27, 2020, <u>https://www.esa.int/Applications/Observing the Earth/Co</u> <u>pernicus/Sentinel5P/Coronavirus_lockdown_leading_to_dr</u> op in pollution across Europe.
- ESA (2020b) Sulphur dioxide concentrations drop over India during COVID-19. Retrieved July 1, 2020, https://www.esa.int/Applications/Observing_the_Earth/Co pernicus/Sentinel-<u>5P/Sulphur_dioxide_concentrations_drop_over_India_duri</u> ng_COVID-19
- Forbes (2020) Six Places Where Oceans, Rivers And Marine Life Have Rebounded During The Coronavirus Pandemic. Retrieved May 16, 2020, https://www.forbes.com/sites/nishandegnarain/2020/05/16/ six-places-where-oceans-rivers-and-marine-life-haverebounded-during-the-coronaviruspandemic/?sh=554cf4ba3fb0
- Gautam, S. (2020). The influence of COVID-19 on air quality in India: a boon or inutile. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology, 104(6), 724-726. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00128-020-02877-y</u>
- Global Times (2020) China upgrades protection of pangolins from second to first class, same as giant panda. Retrieved June 5, <u>https://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1190690.shtml</u>
- Gwinner, E. (1996). Circannual clocks in avian reproduction and migration. Ibis, 138(1), 47-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.1996.tb04312.x</u>
- Hindustan Times (2020) COVID-19 lockdown cuts PM2.5, PM10 levels by half in Delhi: CPCB. Retrieved April 28, 2020, <u>https://www.hindustantimes.com/delhinews/COVID-19-lockdown-cuts-pm2-5-pm10-levels-byhalf-in-delhi-cpcb/story-qSX5Xjrl3bJ1ePbKE1EqPK.html</u>
- India Today (2020) Coronavirus impact: Dip in elephant tourism puts 8,000 families at risk in Jaipur. Retrieved June

15.<u>https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/coronavirus-jaipur-mahout-elephant-tourism-revenue-1689098-2020-06-15</u>

- Kanniah, K. D., Zaman, N. A. F. K., Kaskaoutis, D. G., &Latif, M. T. (2020).COVID-19's impact on the atmospheric environment in the Southeast Asia region. Science of the Total Environment, 736, 139658. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139658
- Le Quéré, C., Jackson, R. B., Jones, M. W., Smith, A. J., Abernethy, S., Andrew, R. M., ... & Peters, G. P. (2020). Temporary reduction in daily global CO 2 emissions during the COVID-19 forced confinement. Nature Climate Change, 10(7), 647-653. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41558-020-0797x?fbclid=IwAR0xRkUKsPWMpJW_3gyHXqJHmj5u6npf EsnVcPfE2GZjDwbFnetFXoEEKDo
- Lokhandwala, S., &Gautam, P. (2020). Indirect impact of COVID-19 on environment: A brief study in Indian context. Environmental research, 188, 109807. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109807</u>
- Lo, Y. C., & Janta, P. (2021). Balancing Commercialization and Sustainability in Community-Based Tourism Practices-A Qualitative Study of Factors Affecting Elephant Habitat Communities in Northern Thailand. Frontiers in Psychology, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.685426
- Mahato, S., Pal, S., &Ghosh, K. G. (2020). Effect of lockdown amid COVID-19 pandemic on air quality of the megacity Delhi, India. Science of the total environment, 730, 139086. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139086</u>
- Manenti, R., Mori, E., Di Canio, V., Mercurio, S., Picone, M., Caffi, M., ...&Rubolini, D. (2020). The good, the bad and the ugly of COVID-19 lockdown effects on wildlife conservation: Insights from the first European locked down country. Biological conservation, 249, 108728. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108728</u>
- Muhammad, S., Long, X., Salman, M., (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and environmental pollution: a blessing in disguise? Sci. Total Environ. 728, 138820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138820
- National Geographic (2020) China promotes bear bile as coronavirus treatment, alarming wildlife advocates. Retrieved March 26, 2020, <u>https://www.nationalgeographic.com/animals/article/chines</u> <u>e-government-promotes-bear-bile-as-coronavirus-covid19-</u> <u>treatment</u>
- Roe, D., Dickman, A., Kock, R., Milner-Gulland, E. J., &Rihoy, E. (2020). Beyond banning wildlife trade: COVID-19, conservation and development. World Development, 136, 105121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2020.105121</u>

- Sangkham, S. (2020). Face mask and medical waste disposal during the novel COVID-19 pandemic in Asia. Case Studies in Chemical and Environmental Engineering, 2, 100052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cscee.2020.100052</u>
- Sharma, S., Zhang, M., Gao, J., Zhang, H., & Kota, S. H. (2020). Effect of restricted emissions during COVID-19 on air quality in India. Science of the Total Environment, 728, 138878. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138878</u>
- Silva, A. L. P., Prata, J. C., Walker, T. R., Duarte, A. C., Ouyang, W., Barcelò, D., & Rocha-Santos, T. (2021). Increased plastic pollution due to COVID-19 pandemic: Challenges and recommendations. Chemical Engineering Journal, 405, 126683. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2020.126683
- The Hindu (2020) Deserted Thai beaches lure rare turtles to build most nests in 20 years. Retrieved April 20, 2020, <u>https://www.thehindubusinessline.com/news/variety/desert</u> <u>ed-thai-beaches-lure-rare-turtles-to-build-most-nests-in-20-</u> years/article31385496.ece
- The Guardian (2020) Florida: endangered sea turtles thriving thanks to COVID-19 restrictions. Retrieved April19, 2020, https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2020/apr/19/florida-leatherback-turtles-coronavirus-beaches
- Times of India (2020a) COVID-19: Noise pollution falls as lockdown rings in sound of silence. Retrieved April 23, 2020, <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/COVID-19-noise-pollution-falls-as-lockdown-rings-in-sound-ofsilence/articleshow/75309318.cms</u>
- Times of India (2020b) For famished monkeys of Poondi temple, there are feeding hands. Retrieved April 8, 2020, <u>https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/coimbatore/for-</u> <u>famished-monkeys-of-poondi-temple-there-are-feeding-</u> hands/articleshow/75037133.cms
- Times of India (2020c) Over 3,000 critically endangered gharials born in Chambal. Retrieved July 2, 2020, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/agra/over-3000critically-endangered-gharials-born-inchambal/articleshow/76756477.cms
- Zambrano-Monserrate, M. A., Ruano, M. A., & Sanchez-Alcalde, L. (2020).Indirect effects of COVID-19 on the environment. Science of the total environment, 728, 138813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138813</u>
- Zellmer, A. J., Wood, E. M., Surasinghe, T., Putman, B. J., Pauly, G. B., Magle, S. B., & Fidino, M. (2020). What can we learn from wildlife sightings during the COVID-19 global shutdown?. Ecosphere, 11(8), e03215. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.3215
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Diagnostic analysis of Baroda branch canal of Som Kamla Amba irrigation project, Rajasthan, India

Kishan Makadiva

Soil and Water Engineering Department of CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

R C Purohit

Soil and Water Engineering Department of CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

Jitendra Rajput

Division of Agricultural Engineering, IARI, New Delhi, India.

Dimple 🖂

Soil and Water Engineering Department of CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

Ashish Rai

SMS, KVK Parsauni, RPCAU, Pusa, Bihar, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 10 May 2021	Irrigation projects are of paramount importance in meeting the water demand
Revised : 22 June 2021	of agriculture sector. Therefore, evaluating the performance of irrigation
Accepted : 20 June 2021	systems makes it possible to improve agricultural water management and
	consequently enhances irrigation efficiency. In this perspective, the present
Published online: 22 February 2022	study focuses on diagnostic analysis of the Baroda branch canal of the Som
2	Kamla Amba irrigation project, Rajasthan, India. This study attempts to
Key Words:	identify constraints attributed to poor irrigation efficiency and remedial
Baroda branch canal	strategies to improve irrigation management. Results revealed that poor
Command area	maintenance and lacking immediate action of damaged water distribution
Diagnostic analysis	network were culprits resulting in silting and vegetation infestation. Poor
Irrigation	structures viz., tempered pipe outlets and gates, blockage of minors,
Irrigation efficiency	unauthorized pumping, and poor operations of water distribution systems
	resulted in poor performance of Baroda branch canal. The performance of
	Baroda branch canal system can be improved by adoption of appropriate
	strategies.

Introduction

limited in most of the countries in world and therefore their efficient utilization ensures the sustainable development of the nations. In many developing countries, on account of the growth of cities and industries, available land for agriculture is shrinking rapidly. As water is a scarce resource worldwide, efforts should be made to improve the effective utilization of this limited resource for irrigating agricultural land. Irrigated area utilizing surface and groundwater sources is about 308 million ha hectares (ha) of the total land is irrigated worldwide (ICID, 2018). Most of these projects have low productivity (30-50%) and cannot meet their design objectives (Arya et al., 2017) In India & South Asia, the number of irrigation schemes has a

The land and water available for agriculture are low overall efficiency of the performance at different levels of complex hydraulic systems (physical/structural and operational/management) (Sakthivadivel et al., 1999). Therefore, the only viable solution is the effective operation and management of the irrigation system to enhance irrigation efficiency and subsequently food production. In India, irrigation infrastructures were created but it has been seen that created irrigation capacity is not entirely exploited, and there is a difference between the created potential and the used potential. This realization has changed the attention of policymakers and researchers to improve the efficiency of canal irrigation by main system management. Rajasthan state has only 1.04 percent of India's water resources (GOI, 2004). The

rainfall behavior generally remains abnormal, scanty, untimely, unevenly distributed with prolonged drought periods and mostly local floods. The available irrigation facilities in the state are distributed neither fairly nor completely dependable. This is due to irregular rain distribution and the efficiency of the irrigation infrastructure. On the right side of the Aravallis, the east and southeastern parts of the state are comparatively better placed and fertile. Chambal, Banas, Mahi, and other rivers and tributaries add prosperity to this region (Bhalla, 2010). To address the issues of low overall project performance and insufficient water supply, irrigation system preparation, service, and management must be improved. Monitoring, and diagnostic status assessment, (physical condition of canal system, check gates, cross drainage works, outlets etc.) of irrigation scheme are crucial to appreciate the increase in productivity in irrigation projects. Irrigation and drainage performance assessment can be characterized as the systematic observation, recording, and analysis of irrigated agriculture activities with a view to quality improvement (Molden et al., 2007).

The overall goal of performance evaluation is to ensure efficient and effective use of resources by providing management at all levels with accurate input. The successful functioning and maintenance of the irrigation system play a significant role in the sustainability of irrigated agriculture(Unal et al., 2004). For this purpose, irrigation project success studies are being used to support this aim with increasing frequency (Bos et al., 2005). Diagnostic evaluations are performed to better understand how irrigation works, diagnose issues, and identify opportunities for improving efficiency so that measures could be taken to enhance irrigation water managementDiagnostic evaluations are to be carried out when complex issues are found by regular testing or when stakeholders are dissatisfied with the current performance levels and want improvements in system activity Mishra (2009) had done the diagnostic analysis of the Rajsam and canal network and in the command room, it was discovered that there is no proper water distribution system. The canal lining exists in the entire canal network. The majority of pipe outlets and gates were found tampered, and numbers of oversized outlets were observed in the canal network.

Siltation and overtopping were the two major problems in command of Dhoinda minor because of improper bed slope. Water use efficiencies in command of the head, mid, and tail end minors for the wheat crop were 44.3, 49.4, and 48.2 kg/ha-cm, respectively, and for barley 60.12,62.6 and 67.94 kg/ha-cm, respectively. Shah and Dalwadi (2012) carried out the diagnostic analysis of Mehasana district command of Sabarmati right bank main canal (North Gujarat, India) by satellite Remote Sensing. To research crop growth stages and determine the time of full canopy, ERDAS imagine software was used to process multi-temporal, multidate remote sensing data (harvest season). Over the study region, vegetation spectral index and crop evapotranspiration were produced for the full canopy stage of the Rabi season (February month). The reference crop evapotranspiration was estimated at 5.65 mm/day. The distributaries within the command called M3LA and M5L were adequate. The land patches growing wheat were classified using supervised classification, dividing them into three parts: head, middle section, and tail end.

Many authors have noted that in the domain of irrigation system management, there is a notable lack of analytical frameworks to assist irrigation managers and auditors in assessing performance achievements and finding feasible ways to improve performance in the future (Burt and Styles, 2004; Luquet et al., 2002; FAO, 2012; Pereira et al., 2012 and Levidow et al., 2014). Optimum irrigation schedule and rotational water allocations aid in improving the irrigation system performance to achieve the desired goal of the project (Rajput et Technical. al.. 2018). maintenance. and comparative performance indicators are essential to assess the performance of canal irrigation schemes globally (Rajput et al., 2017a; 2017b; 2017c). These performance indicators are limited to canal systems and equally applicable in tube well/ community tube well irrigation systems for improving system performance (Rajput et al., 2020). As a result, diagnostic methodologies are required to evaluate system actions, assess current and future results, and identify critical aspects and weaknesses in existing irrigation systems' operation. The current investigation used diagnostic analysis to determine the general health of the water distribution network

irrigation project.

Material and Methods

Description of Baroda Branch Canal

The planning commission approved the Som Kamla Amba irrigation project in the year 1975. The scheme envisaged construction of storage dam of 83.10 M Cum capacity with surplus arrangements for 3.72 lacs cusecs, across river Som and canal

of the Baroda branch canal of the Som Kamla system for providing irrigation facilities to culturable command area of 13878 ha of land in

> Aspur and Salumbar tehsil of district Dungarpur and Udaipur respectively in the state of Rajasthan as shown in Table 1. The scheme was intended to benefit tribal areas, irrigating 5714 ha of land annually with a BC ratio of 1.63:1 and financial return of 0.19 %. The project has seen several changes in its perspective since its inception, as shown in table 1.

Table 1: Changes in the scope of the project at various stages

SN	Particulars	1975	1978	1982	1985	1994
1	C.C.A. (ha)	13870	13940	13989	17724	17724
2	Annual Irrigation (ha)	5714	8364	12975	18788	18788
3	Gross storage (Mcum.)	83.1	83.1	118.65	172.8	172.8
4	Probable Max Flood (PMF) lacs cusec	3.72	4.8	8.0	10.63	7.24
5	F.R.L. (m)	209	209	211	213.5	213.5
6	M.W.L. (m)	209	209	213	215.5	215.5
7	T.B.L. (m)	212	212	215	217.5	217.5
8	Types of canals	Partially	Partially	Fully lined	Fully lined	Fully
		lined	lined			lined
7 8	T.B.L. (m) Types of canals	212 Partially lined	212 Partially lined	215 Fully lined	217.5 Fully lined	217.5 Fully lined

A detailed study of the Baroda Branch Canal (BBC) of the Som Kamla Amba irrigation project has been done in this paper. This canal consists of 15 distributary, minors, and sub minors with the length of canal 23.19 Km. The canal is off taking directly from the dam site with a CCA of 4832 ha. Discharge of canal at head is 2.71 cumec. Maximum bed width and free board is 1.85 m and 0.60 m respectively. Maximum side slope is 1/4:1 and maximum bed slope is 1:2500. Cross regulators are provided across the main canals/branch canals little downstream of each major off taking branch/minor for creation of necessary head to deliver the required discharge. Particulars and Details of structures on Baroda Branch Canal are given in Table 2 and 3, respectively. Figure 1 shows the location map of the Som Kamla Amba irrigation project dam and figure 2 shows the line diagram of Baroda Branch Canal of Som Kamla Amba Irrigation Project. Diagnostic analysis is one of the tools through which scientific management can be accomplished in best manner. Diagnostic analysis is a form of inquiry that tests whether or not an irrigation system is working as it should be. **Existing Physical Status**

The physical state of the water distribution system is also influenced by farmers' awareness of how much water should be applied for proper plant

growth in the command area. The water distribution system in this area was surveyed by walk along the canals /minors to determine the current physical state of the main channel, minors, and outlets i.e., status of lining, gates and outlets, vegetation infestation, blockage, unauthorized pumping and so on. A variety of locations in the canal network had damaged canal lining, gates, and outlets.

Table 2:Particulars	of Baroda	branch c	anal

S.No	.NoParticulars of Baroda Branch Canal				
1.	Length, Km	23.19			
2.	Discharge, Cumec	2.7076			
3.	Bed Width (max.), m	2.20			
4.	Side Slopes (max.)	1/4:1			
5.	Free Board (max.), m	0.60			
6.	Coefficient of Rugosity (N)	0.018			
7.	CCA, ha	4832			
8.	No. of Minors	15			

Silt Deposition in Canals/Minors

Silt deposition was investigated at number of locations in entire canal network before irrigation

Table 5: Basic details of Baroda Dranch canal minors							
SN	Minor	Off take	CCA (ha)	Discharge (cumec)			
1	Tonkwasa minor	ch 137+20 L	61	0.033			
2	Vasunder minor	ch 236 L	135	0.0729			
3	Baroda minor I	ch 318 L	461	0.2475			
4	Baroda minor II	ch 322 L	66	0.0289			
5	Bhatwara minor	ch 370+20 L	145	0.0783			
6	Punjpur minor	ch 416+15 L	521	0.3507			
7	Chundiyawara minor I	ch 432 R	307	0.0693			
8	Chundiyawara minor II	ch 487 R	76	0.0425			
9	Jaspur minor	ch 523 L	103	0.056			
10	Katisor distributory	ch 637 L	1953	1.081			
11	Gada siyalia minor	ch 726 L	75	0.041			
12	Badliya mnor	ch 735 L	170	0.097			
13	Bankora minor II	ch 750 L	44	0.03			
14	Galiyana distributory	ch 769 L	626	0.338			
15	Bankora minor	ch 773	89	0.049			

and after irrigation. The depth of silt deposition expressed in cm unit. Only thickness of silt measured using scale and the silt deposition was deposition was measured. The weed growth / Table 3: Basic details of Baroda branch canal minors



Figure 1: Location map of Som Kamla Amba irrigation dam

vegetative growth were also observed in main canals and minors. Siltation in canals/minors increases the likelihood of overtopping, resulting in



water waste. As a result, farmers must deal with

water logging in low-lying areas, necessitating the investigation of siltation in canals and minors. The height of silt accumulated from the canal's bottom was used to determine siltation.

Results and Discussion

Under diagnostic analysis, physical status of water distribution system and siltation of minors was studied. Physical status in terms of general health of the water distribution network, condition of lining, and outlets, vegetation infestation. gates unauthorized pumping etc., were evaluated. Siltation results in reduction in the carrying capacity of canal/minor, therefore, silt deposit was measured in the water distribution network.

Seepage and overtopping were the two major problems in the command area because of blockage of canal water due to sliding of sides of valley (figure 2) and damaged lining (figure 3) therefore maintenance is requiring, but no action is taken on Irrigation Department behalf of due to unavailability of maintenance funds. The second problem is siltation. The depth of silt is ranging between 35-40 cm. The vegetative growth was found at both bank of canal which is also one major problem which covers the canal at many locations.

The trees like babul, neem, khajur, etc. also grown both the sides, which results in damaged lining and also covers canal at both sides (figure 4 & 5). To maintain and preserve ditch and canal banks, vegetative growth, particularly grasses such as Bermuda, Bahia, or St. Augustinegrass, can be employed. The plant species should have broad root systems capable of retaining soil and be robust enough to supply sufficient hydration to the plants throughout the dry spring season, i.e., vegetation should maintain good cover and growth throughout the year to successfully safeguard the banks from eroding (Diaz et al., 2014). However, mismanagement of vegetation can result in restricted access and inspecting capabilities, root damage, operational disruptions, obstructions, and habitat for burrowing animals, all of which increase the probability of canals deteriorating. Each year, a number of canals collapse, which are frequently due to poor vegetation upkeep. These failures can result in major economic losses, loss of project benefits. personal injury, and even death (Reclamation, 2017). The control gates were found

improperly working or damaged at 6 places, and damaged lining or broken wall was found at 22 places on the Baroda Branch Canal. Based on verbal enquire from the farmers, it is reported that many times, water is not ending at the tail end of BBC at that time, farmers in these areas irrigate their fields from wells or keep their fields uncultivated during rabi season. Rajput et al. (2021) reported that poor up keep of canal water system and lack of appropriate repair and maintenance activities were the main reasons for the poor performance of Bhimsagar irrigation project. They have also reported poor physical condition of the water distribution network and siltation hampering the optimal operation of the irrigation system. The diagnostic analysis of all the minors of Baroda branch canal have been described.



Figure 2: Line diagram of Baroda branch canal of Som kamla amba irrigation project



Figure 3: Blockage of canal water due to sliding of sides of valley in BBC at RD:187 chain



Figure 4: Damaged lining of BBC at RD:223 chain



Figure 5: Damaged lining of BBC due to Babul at RD:310 chain

Tokwasa minor

This minor off takes from head of BBC at RD 137+20 chainage and sluice gate was damaged resulting into uncontrolled flow in the minor. There is excess availability of water in this minor. Seepage and overtopping were the two major problems in the command because of cracks in the lining and improper beds slope. The vegetative growth was also found at both bank of minor which also results in the cracks in the lining. Irrigation is done by this minor in only Tokwasa village. Seepage is undesirable as it leads to ponding of the low lying area. Also, seepage causes a substantial amount of water lost which ultimately leads to unequitable water allocation among head and tail end commands.

Vasundhar minor

This minor off takes from head of BBC at RD 236 chainage. This minor has length of 136 chain. This minor has the culturable command area of 135.0 ha. There was a main problem of seepage in the command of vasundhar minor. Due to the seepage problem, minor had been blocked by villagers of vasundhar.

Baroda minor - I

This minor is situated on head of BBC and off takes at RD 318 chainage. This minor has maximum length 197 chain among all minors in the command with total culturable command area of 461.0 ha. There is a major problem of seepage in this minor. The vegetative growth was found at both banks of minor at many locations. Also, this minor is affected by the problem of siltation. The depth of silt ranges between 20-35 cm. The culturable command area of this minor mainly exists in Vasundhar chhoti and Baroda villages.

Baroda minor - II

This minor is situated on the head of BBC and off takes at RD 322 chainage. This minor has a length of 37 chains with a total culturable command area of 66.0 ha. There is a significant problem of seepage in this minor. Also, this minor is affected by the problem of siltation. The depth of silt ranges between 20-35 cm. Irrigation is done by this minor in only Vasundhar chhoti village.

Bhatwara minor

This minor off takes from the head of BBC at RD 370+20 chainage. The length and culturable command area of this minor is 62 chain and 145.0

ha, respectively. Seepage was the major problem in the command because there was an unlined minor and improper beds slope at many places. The vegetative growth was also found at both banks of minor, resulting in cracks in the lining. Due to improper bed slope and seepage loss due to unlined minors, tail end farmers were not getting enough water. A large area of the command of this minor mainly exists in Bhatwara village and some part in Baroda village.

Punjpur minor

This minor is situated in the middle of BBC and off takes at RD 416+15 chainage. This minor has a length of 131 chains and a maximum culturable command area of 521.0 ha among all minors in the command. The control gate was found damaged at Punjpur minor. The weed growth/vegetative growth are found at both banks of minor at many locations. Also, this minor is affected by the problem of siltation. The depth of silt ranges between 20-30 cm. A large area of the command of this minor mainly exists in Punjpur village and some parts in Nalva (Punjpur) and Talayfala (Punjpur) villages.

Chundiyawara minor - I

This minor is situated on the middle of BBC and off takes at RD 432 chainage. This minor has a length of 81 chains. The culturable command area of this minor is 129.0 ha. The sluice gate was found damaged (figure 6) of Chundiyawara minor-I. The vegetative growth was found at both banks of the minor, which covers the minor at many locations. The problem of seepage was also found, and also this minor is affected by the problem of siltation. The depth of silt ranges between 20-25 cm. The culturable command area of this minor mainly exists in Chundiyawara village.

Jaspur minor

This minor is situated on the middle of BBC and off takes at RD 523 chainage. This minor has a length of 69 chains. The culturable command area of this minor is 103.0 ha. The vegetative growth was found at one bank of the minor, which covers the minor at many locations. There is a significant problem of vegetative growth in the course of the minor. The culturable command area of this minor mainly exists in Jaspur village. The depth of silt ranges between 20-30 cm.

Katisor distributary

This distributary is situated on the middle of BBC and off takes at RD 637 chainage. This distributary

has a length of 312 chains. The culturable command area of this distributary is 1953.0 ha. This distributor has a fixed gate which cannot be opened or closed. Seepage and overtopping were the two major problems in the command because of cracks in the lining and improper beds slope and requiring maintenance. Still, no action was taken by Irrigation Department due to the unavailability of maintenance funds. Approximately 35 percent of the total area of a distributary is unlined, which results in the problem of seepage and siltation. The depth of silt ranges between 30-35 cm. The vegetative growth was found at both banks of the distributary, which covers the distributary at many locations. No control gate is found at off takes of Movai minor and Katisor minor - I, II, and III. Based on verbal enquire from the farmers, it is reported that water is not ending at the tail end of Katisor distributary. Approximately 25 percent of the area in the tail end of the Katisor distributary network is not getting any water for irrigation. Farmers in these areas irrigate their fields from wells or keep their fields uncultivated during the Rabi season. The culturable command area of this distributary mainly exists in Movai, Kabja, Antiya (punjapur), Lapiya, and Katisor villages.

Gada siyaliya minor

This minor is situated on the tail of BBC and off takes at RD 726 chainage. This minor has length of 90 chains. The culturable command area of this minor is 75.0 ha. The vegetative growth was found at both banks of minor, which covers the minor at many locations. This minor is having the problem of siltation. The depth of silt ranges between 10- 20 cm. The culturable command area of this minor mainly exists in Gada siyaliya village.

Badliya minor

This minor is situated on the tail of BBC and off takes at RD 735 chainage. This minor has a culturable command area of 170.0 ha with a minor length of 162 chains. There is a significant problem of vegetative growth in this minor. The vegetative growth was also found at both minor banks, which covers the minor at many locations. The problem of siltation was also one of the significant problems in this minor. The depth of silt ranges between 10-20 cm. Based on verbal enquire from the farmers, it is reported that water is often not ending at the tail end of the minor. Irrigation is done by this minor in only Badliya village.



Figure 6: Damaged lining and trees are grown on sides of BBC at RD:517 chain



Figure 7: Damaged sluice gate at the head of Chudiyawara minor-I in BBC at RD:432 chain

Bankora minor - II

This minor is situated on the tail of BBC and off takes at RD 750 chainage. This minor has a culturable command area of 44.0 ha with a minor length of 160 chains. There is a significant problem of vegetative growth in this minor. The weed growth was also found at both banks of minor, which covers the minor at many locations. Based on interaction with farmers, it is noted that most of the time, water is not ending at the tail end of the minor and sometimes even not ending the minor's head. The problem of siltation was also one of the significant problems in this minor. The depth of silt

ranges between 10-20 cm. Irrigation is done by this minor in only Bankora village.

Galiyana distributary

This distributary is situated on the tail of BBC and off takes at RD 769 chainage. This distrtibutory has a length of 206+15 chain. The culturable command area of this distributary is 626.0 ha. Seepage and siltation were the two major problems in the command because of cracks in the lining. The depth of silt ranges between 10-25 cm. The vegetative growth was found at both banks of the distributary, covering the distributary at many locations. Based on verbal enquire from the farmers, it is reported that water is not ending at the tail end and sometimes even not ending the head of Galiyana distributary. Approximately 30 percent of the area in the tail end of the Galiyana distributary network is not getting any water for irrigation. Farmers in these areas irrigate their fields from wells or keep their fields uncultivated during the Rabi season. The culturable command area of this distributary mainly exists Galiyana, Dhaniverwa, in, Dhanibhevdi, and Dhanikateshvar villages.

Bankora minor - I

This minor is situated on the tail end of BBC and off takes at RD 773 chainage. This minor has the culturable command area of 89.0 ha with the minor length of 75 chains. There is a significant problem of vegetative growth in this minor. The weed growth was also found at both minor banks, which covers the minor at many locations. By the interaction with farmers, it is noted that most of the time, water is not ending the tail end of the minor and sometimes even not ending the minor's head. Most of the area in the tail end of Bankora minor - I network is not getting any water for irrigation. Farmers in these areas irrigate their fields from wells or keep their fields uncultivated during the Rabi season. Irrigation is done by this minor in only Bankora village.

A comparison of maintenance issues of minor/distributary located on Baroda branch canal is given in table 4. It is evident from the table that, the common issue of minor/distributary is seepage and vegetation growth which is due to neglected repair and maintenance of canal network system components. Minor/distributary located in the tail end of Baroda branch canal found were not getting adequate water and thus no assured irrigation water

in the tail end command system. The siltation problem is prominent due to irregular bed slope and poor maintenance of canal sidewalls. Many of the sluice gates were damaged, which resulted in the uncontrolled entry water into of the minor/distributary from the branch canal. It was observed that less attention was given to the mid and tail section of the Baroda branch canal than the head section, resulting in inequitable water distribution. Overtopping of water is due to reduced capacity of minor by silt deposition.

Physical / Structural lining of the canal

The lining of the canal was impaired at a variety of places in the entire network of canals. The farmers of the command area damage the lining of the canals or minors for getting the excess quantity of water and avoid an extra laborer in irrigating fields that have to do due to being outlets at significant distance from their fields. This is causing a large quantity of water loss through seepage from the damaged portion and affecting designed discharge in the canal section. Similar results were observed in the Bhimsagar irrigation system's water distribution network in Rajasthan state (Rajput *et al.,* 2017).

Water courses

Farmers' water courses were not maintained regularly, particularly by head end farmers. As a result, nearly all water courses were damaged and weed-infested in several locations. The water courses off taking even from the head of distributary or minor were not able to supply the sufficient quantity of water to its tail end fields due to improper maintenance and tempering of networks by the farmers.

Gates and pipe outlets

The majority of the gates are tempered or damaged. As a result, there is no flow or control (opening or closing) power available. In the canal network, the pipe outlets were often found tempered or oversized. The results for additional illegal outlets were also made and seen as nine outlets on BBC, several outlets on the minors.

Obstructions in the canals

Farmers block canals and do not allow water to pass down the stream. During the night time, this issue emerges more. In canals, stone barriers were placed to lift the head and increase the discharge at the outlets. At five BBC locations, obstructions to

reduce flow in canals and redirect further water in the water course were found.

Siltation / Weed infection in canals

The silt that is carried by the river is not significant. Nevertheless, canal water is generally silt-free, but silting in the canal takes place in certain areas due to the entry of run-off water into the channel. With the deposition of silt and debris, the canal parts were marked. At different places, it is as high as 40 cm. The growth/vegetative growth of weeds is also observed at a variety of canal network locations. The department did not carry out the maintenance operations due to a shortage of human resources. Siltation also affects river flow and the number of times water flows out of the canal and accumulates in low-lying areas. Similar work had been done by (Mishra 2009). She found that the canal lining exists in the entire Rajsam and Canal Network. The majority of gates were found tempered. The siltation and overtopping were the two significant problems in canal command. In the present study, approximately 35 % of the total area of Katisor distributary was unlined. The major problems were the vegetation growth and seepage in the entire canal network of the Baroda Branch Canal. The results found in the present study are in contrast with past research work because the Som Kamla Amba dam is too old, and the Rajsamand is comparatively new. To improve the overall functioning of the Baroda branch canal, the following measures should be adopted.

Measures to correct system deficiency and to improve the Baroda branch canal irrigation system performance

- 1. Inspection and repair & maintenance of canal water distribution network twice a year during the non-flowing season before Rabi crops are sown.
- 2. Formation of outlet water level monitoring committees comprises of irrigation department personal, water user associations (WUA), and irrigators for the judicious operation of the system.
- 3. Linkages and effective communication network between irrigators, WUA, and irrigation department to address issues related to the operation, monitoring, and maintenance of canal distribution network.
- 4. Development and effective implementation of water rostering system as per the crop water

the requirement in the different segments (head, mid, and tail end) of the canal system.

- 5. Training to irrigators on aspects such as water conservation and agronomical practices should be imparted to develop an understanding of water-saving.
- 6. Adoption of drip irrigation system and sprinkler/micro-sprinkler system to save water, energy and improve crop production.
- 7. Implementation of automatic sensor-based water delivery mechanism/check gates to tackle the tail end farmers problem by decreasing overuse of water in the head and middle sections of the canal network.
- 8. Conjunctive use of surface water and groundwater should be encouraged for sustainable crop production in the canal system.
- 9. Utilization of in-situ moisture for crop production in the tail end section to decrease gross water demand.

Conclusion

The diagnostic research was carried out to investigate the operational issues in the Som Kamla Amba irrigation project's Baroda Branch Canal network. In this command zone, there is no proper water delivery system. By inserting obstructions in canals, farmers at the head use more water than the

References

- Arya, C. K. (2005). Development of Rotational Water Allocation Plan for a Command Area of Left Main Canal of Som-Kagdar Irrigation Project (Doctoral dissertation, MPUAT, Udaipur).
- Bhalla, L.R. (2010). Contemporary Rajasthan, G. K. of Rajasthan, ninth edition, Kuldeep publications, Jaipur. 82.
- Bos, M. G., Burton, M. A., & Molden, D. J. (2005). Irrigation and drainage performance assessment: practical guidelines. CABI publishing.
- Burt, C. M., & Styles, S. W. (2004). Conceptualizing irrigation project modernization through benchmarking and the rapid appraisal process. Irrigation and Drainage: The Journal of Irrigation and Drainage, 53(2), 145-154.
- Diaz, O. A., Lang, T.A., Daroub, S.H., M. Chen. 2005. Best Management Practices in the Everglades Agricultural Area: Controlling Particulate Phosphorus and Canal Sediments. Soil and Water Science Department, Florida Cooperative

actual requirement and restrict water from ending to tail end farmers. Farmers were not getting enough water for irrigation at the tail end of the network. Therefore, they irrigate their fields from wells or keep their fields uncultivated during the Rabi season. The waterlogging problem is examined in low-lying areas during the irrigation season on account of seepage from the canals. The majority of pipe outlets and gates were tempered, and the number of oversized outlets was observed in the canal network. Seepage and overtopping were the two significant problems in command of minors at head end. This means Tokwasa minor, Baroda minor-I, Baroda minor-II, because of cracks in lining and improper beds slope of this minor. Based on verbal inquiry from the farmers, it is reported that approximately 25 % of total command of Katisor distributary is not getting any water for irrigation in the tail end for many years, and the command at tail end of Baroda Branch Canal also not getting the sufficient water. In Bankora minor-I, there is a significant issue of water scarcity because it is located on the tail end and water seeps through cracks formed in the minor.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Extension Service, Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Florida. SL 228.

- Government of India. 2004. Drought-2002. New Delhi: Department of Agriculture and Cooperation, Ministry of Agriculture.
- International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage. 2017-18. Agricultural Water Management for Ssutainable Rural Dvelopment. Annual Report. pp:1-94.
- Luquet, D., Vidal, A., Smith, M., & Dauzat, J. (2005). 'More crop per drop': how to make it acceptable for farmers?. *Agricultural Water Management*, 76(2), 108-119.
- Mishra, G. (2009). Development of rotational water allocation plan for Rajsamand reservoir. M.E. Thesis, submitted to S.W.E. Department, College of Technology And Engineering, Maharana Pratap University of Agriculture and Technology, Udaipur.
- Molden, D., Burton, M., & Bos, M. G. (2007). Performance assessment, irrigation service delivery and poverty
reduction: benefits of improved system management. Irrigation and Drainage: The journal of the International Commission on Irrigation and Drainage, 56(2-3), 307-320.

- Pereira, L. S., Cordery, I., & Iacovides, I. (2012). Improved indicators of water use performance and productivity for sustainable water conservation and saving. *Agricultural water management*, 108, 39-51.
- Rajput, J., & Kothari, M. (2017b). Performance Assessment of Bhimsagar Irrigation Project using Comparative Indicators. *Int.J.Curr.Microbiol.App.Sci.*, 6(10), 3383-3393.
- Rajput, J., Choudhary, R., Kothari, & M., A. Kumari. (2018). Development of Optimum Irrigation Schedule and Rotational Water Allocation Plan for Bhimsagar Canal Command System. *International Journal of Agriculture Sciences, ISSN*, 0975-3710.
- Rajput, J., Choudhary, R., Kothari, M., Al-Ansari, N., Dimple., Makadiya, K., Singh, P. K., Kushwaha, N. L., Paramaguru, P. K., Rai, A., Rana, L. 2021. Diagnostic and Socio-economic Analysis of Bhimsagar Irrigation Scheme. *Ecology Environment & Conservation*, 27 (November Suppl. Issue) : S320-S330.
- Rajput, J., Kothari, M., & Bhakar, S. R. (2017). Performance Evaluation of Water Delivery System for Command Area of Left Main Canal of Bhimsagar Irrigation Project, Rajasthan. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering*, 54(3), 57-66.

- Rajput, J., Kothari, M., Bhakar, S. R., Choudhary, R. (2017c). Performance Assessment of Bhimsagar Irrigation Project using Technical and Maintenance Performance Indicators. *International Journal of Agriculture Innovations and Research*, 6(2), 231-235.
- Reclamation. 2017. Canal Operation and Maintenance. Vegetation: Managing Water in the West. Produced by Reclamation in collaboration with the Office of Policy and Technical Services Center, Denver Colorado.
- Sakthivadivel, R., Thiruvengadachari, S., Amerasinghe, U., Bastiaanssen, W. G. M., Molden, D. (1999). Performance Evaluation of the Bhakra Irrigation System, India, Using Remote Sensing and GIS Techniques. Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute.
- Singh, A. K., Rajput, J., Rai, A., Gangwar, A., Shahi, B., Sharma, R, B., Kumari, N., Singh, S., SriKant, K., Rai, V. K. (2020). Socio-economic upliftment of farmers through model irrigated village approach in East Champaran (Bihar), India: A case study. *Journal of Applied and Natural Science*, 12(4), 556-559.
- Unal, H. B., Asik, S., Avci, Muhammed., Yasar, S., & Akkuzu, Erhan. (2004). Performance of water delivery system at tertiary canal level: a case study of the Menemen Left Bank Irrigation System, Gediz Basin, Turkey. *Agricultural water* management, 65(3), 155-171.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Agroforestry: Viable alternatives for ensuring fodder green production around the year

Sneh Yadav 🖂

Department of Forestry, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India. R. S. Dhillon

Department of Forestry, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India.

K.S. Ahlawat

Department of Forestry, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India. Chhavi Sirohi

Department of Forestry, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India.

Vishal Johar

Department of Forestry, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India.

Ashish Kumar

Department of Forestry, CCS Haryana Agricultural University, Hisar, India.

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Received : 26 September 2021	Agroforestry is an integration of tree species with agricultural crops or
Revised : 21 December 2021	livestock that can be directly used to enhance agro biodiversity, rural livelihood
Accepted : 15 January 2022	and to meet the demand of green fodder throughout the year. Considering this
· ·	fact, a study was done at Chaudhary Charan Singh Haryana Agricultural
Published online: 22 February 2022	University, Hisar, Haryana to assess the productivity of fodder crops under nonlog based equations the system. In February 2016, poplar was planted in sig
	popiar based agroinestry system. In February 2010, popiar was pranted in six
Key Words:	different spacing of 3× 3 m, 4×3 m, 5×3 m, 6×3 m, 7×3 m and 8×3 m. In this
Agroforestry	study, fodder crops (sorghum during Kharif season and oat and berseem
Berseem	during Rabi season) were intercropped in different spacing's of poplar and
Light intensity	compared with control in three replications. The results revealed that the
Oat	maximum DBH (13.92 cm), basal diameter (16.90 cm) and crown spread (6.79
Poplar	m) attained in 8×3 m spacing while maximum height (9.61 m) is attained in 3×3
Sorghum	m spacing. The highest pH (7.94) and EC (0.27 dS/m) were recorded in 8×3 m
Spacing	spacing while highest SOC (0.47 %), N (158.5 kg/ha), P (16.8 kg/ha) and K
	(343.8 kg/ha) were recorded in 3×3 m spacing. Green fodder biomass of
	sorghum (38.45 t/ha), berseem (64.56 t/ha) and oat (52.62 t/ha) was recorded
	higher in wider spacing (8×3 m) as compared to sole crops. The maximum light
	intensity (672.4 Lux) was recorded in 8×3 m at 1.00 pm in the month of July,
	2018. Higher value of BCR was observed for poplar with oat (2.44) followed by
	poplar with sorghum (2.31) and poplar with berseem (2.28) under 3×3 m
	spacing indicating that closer spacing of 3×3 m of poplar is more economic than
	the other spacings due to more number of trees per unit area and more
	production of wood.

Introduction

Animal husbandry is an important sector of India, as it contributes 4.1 per cent to national GDP and 25.6 per cent to agricultural GDP (Gupta et al., 2020). Despite of this, the dairy industry is relatively not so much beneficial and competitive as compared to global productivity and profitability scenario (Patel, 2016). The low productivity of 60-70 per cent of his expenditure in arranging feed

animals is affected by factors such as lesser cultivation of fodder crops, insufficient and unbalanced diet, different kind of diseases and disorders due to the lack of proper feed and traditional way of animal husbandry (Malhi et al., 2020). An animal keeper generally invests around

to animals (Gupta *et al.*, 2020). Hence, in order to make animal husbandry a profitable and productive enterprise, it is important to provide them balanced and sufficient diet. The major components of nutritious diet are dry fodder, green fodder, chunichokar, grains, oilcakes and mineral mixtures. Green fodder is an important component of animal nutrition which is required to be accessible throughout the year. During the year the availability of green fodder can be assured through adaptation of fodder crops production with conservation approach.

Agroforestry has potential for taking a leading and catalytic role in providing green fodder throughout the year. Due to its inherent integrative, multidisciplinary nature and the optimization rather than component-maximization aims, great interest shown in it today (Lundgren, 1987). It is a land use system characterized by the combination of forestry and agriculture and an alternative to foster the much needed balance between food production and biodiversity conservation (Salinas, 2016). It is recognized as an efficient ecological basis for increasing crop productivity, more dependable economic returns, and greater diversity (Amatya et al., 2018). Agroforestry has a long tradition in the Indian subcontinent. The socio-religious fabric of the people of the subcontinent is interwoven to a very great extent with raising, caring and respecting trees. Trees are integrated extensively in the crop and livestock production systems of the region according to the agro climatic and other local conditions. The aim of agroforestry is to optimize the positive interactions between components in order to achieve a more productive, sustainable and diversified (in relation to need of land users). Agroforestry plays a significant role in increasing agricultural productivity by nutrient recycling, reducing soil erosion, and increasing soil fertility and farm income compared with conventional system of crop production (Kang & Akinnifesi, 2000). Furthermore, agroforestry offers a range of ecological, economic, social and religious functions (Idol et al., 2011). The immense potential of agroforestry has helped to improve the livelihoods of the rural farmers.

Material and Methods

The study was conducted at CCSHAU, Hisar, Haryana, situated in the north-western India. Figure 1 presents the monthly mean data of meteorological parameters during the interval of study (July, 2018-April, 2019) at the experimental site. The experiment was carried out on sandy-loam soil and medium in available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium and organic carbon. The poplar plants were planted during February, 2016 at six different spacings $(3 \times 3 \text{ m}, 4 \times 3 \text{ m}, 5 \times 3 \text{ m}, 6 \times 3 \text{ m}, 7 \times 3$ m and 8×3 m). The present study was carried out during *Kharif*, 2018 and Rabi 2018-19. Intercropping of fodder crops, viz. sorghum (Sorghum bicolour), berseem (Trifolium alexandrinum) and oat (Avena sativa) were taken under six geometries of poplar and compared with monocropping (devoid of trees). During kharif season, sorghum var. (HC-171) was sown during first week of July,2018 and oat (var. HJ-8) and berseem (var. HB-1) were sown in all spacing's of poplar under study during first fortnight of November, 2018 and also in control (sole crop) in three replications employing the standard package of practices developed by CCSHAU, Hisar to cultivate fodder crops.

Tree height and diameter at breast height (DBH) were measured randomly using Ravi altimeter (m) and measuring tape (cm) respectively. The crown spread (m) was measured in north-south and eastwest directions with the help of a measuring tape. In case of fodder crops, plant population, plant height and leaf area were measured at different time intervals using quadrant in three replications under different spacing's of poplar as well as in control (sole crop). The leaf area index was calculated using the formula;

Leaf area index
$$\Rightarrow \frac{Leaf area}{Ground area} X 100$$

Quadrate-basis fodder biomass yield (fresh and dry) was taken and converted to tones per hectare, and price of fodder crops was considered on the basis of market rates during the respective years. The soil samples were taken randomly in three replicates from 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm soil depth before sowing and after harvesting of both season crops from all six geometries of poplar and control field (devoid of trees). The soil pH, EC, available nitrogen, available phosphorus, available potassium and organic carbon were analyzed using standard methodologies.

Light intensity: Light intensity was recorded with lux meter in different spacings of poplar and in

control (open area) at two hour interval from 7.00 am to till 5.00 pm.

Economic evaluations: Economic analysis was quantified by comparing poplar based agroforestry system with sole fodder crops including trees by estimating the land rent, cost of cultivation and price of fodder crops and trees (according to girth of trees). The cost-benefit parameters used for comparison of systems were net returns, net present value (NPV) @ 12% discounting rate, internal rate of return (IRR) and benefit/cost ratio (BCR). Cost and income from intercropping as well as trees were calculated. The replicated data of all the characters recorded (yield and biomass of fodder crops, soil parameters and growth traits of the trees) were analyzed statistically using model suggested by Panse and Sukhatme (1989).



Figure 1: The monthly mean meteorological data of the experimental site from July, 2018 to April, 2019.

Results and Discussion Growth of poplar

Tree growth parameters revealed that with the advancement of age, a gradual increase in DBH and height was observed. While with the increasing space in between tree rows, tree height decreases with maximum height (9.61 m) is attained in 3×3 m spacing (Figure 2 a) this may be due to increasing competition in between trees for light, while DBH (Diameter at breast height), basal diameter and crown spread increases with increases in tree spacing, maximum DBH (13.92 cm), basal diameter (16.90 cm) and crown spread (6.79 m) attained in 8×3 m spacing (Figure 2 b, c, d) as they have more space to grow wider. The height and DBH of poplar plantation was affected significantly in different spacing geometries under agroforestry, this may be due to more intra-line competition of poplar plants for different growth resources. Similar findings have been highlighted by (Ajit *et al.*, 2011; Chauhan *et al.*, 2011). The rate of increase in crown spread is more than DBH and basal diameter due to more availability of space in wider spacings for crown spread as compared to narrow spacing of poplar plantation.

Influence of poplar spacing's geometry on soil properties

Table 1 shows data on soil chemical properties (0-15 cm depth) under different spacing's geometries of poplar plantation before sowing of fodder crops (July, 2018) and after harvesting of both season fodder crops (April, 2019). The soil pH and available potassium content were found nonsignificant among different spacing geometries of poplar and control (devoid of trees). Among different spacing geometries, the highest pH (7.94) and EC (0.27 dS/m) were recorded in the 8×3 m spacing after harvesting of fodder crops. The soil organic carbon (SOC) was significantly influenced by tree spacing and increased (0.47%) from its initial status (0.43%) under 3×3 m spacing of poplar based agroforestry system which is higher as compared to sole cropping (0.30%). Available nutrients (nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium) were also significantly influenced by tree spacing and the magnitude of increase in available nutrients was highest under 3×3 m spacing and lowest in control (sole crops). The average available nitrogen content in 3×3 m, 4×3 m, 5×3 m, 6×3 m, 7×3 m and 8×3 m spacing geometries was higher by 22.29%, 19.67%, 17.51%, 13.58%, 11.72% and 9.95% respectively, over sole crop (129.6 kg/ha). The higher build-up of soil organic carbon and nutrients on the surface layer (0-15 cm) of soils may be attributed to the regular accumulation of litter fall of poplar on the soil surface, fine root biomass and availability of sufficient moisture level. Similar trends of improvement in the nutrient status of soil due to intercropping in an agroforestry as reported by Chavan and dhillon (2019), Dhillon et al. (2020) and Kumar et al. (2019).

Yield performance of fodder crops in intercropping with various spacing's of poplar It is evident from Table 2 that green fodder biomass of sorghum, berseem and oat was found to be higher in wider spacing $(8 \times 3 \text{ m})$ followed by $7 \times 3 \text{ m}$, $6 \times 3 \text{ m}$, $5 \times 3 \text{ m}$, $4 \times 3 \text{ m}$ and $3 \times 3 \text{ m}$ spacing,



Figure 2: (a) Plant height (m), (b) diameter at breast height (cm), (c) basal diameter (cm) (d) crown spread (m) of poplar in different planting geometries.

Tre	Tree Available nutrients (Kg/h					ha)	
spacin	g's (m)	pН	EC (dsm-1)	Organic carbon (%)	N	P	K
3×3	BS	7.82	0.22	0.43	151.5	13.6	325.8
	AH	7.75	0.19	0.47	158.5	16.8	343.8
4×3	BS	7.85	0.23	0.40	148.0	13.4	315.8
	AH	7.77	0.20	0.44	155.1	16.5	342.0
5×3	BS	7.87	0.25	0.38	144.0	13.1	332.6
	AH	7.80	0.22	0.42	152.3	16.2	339.3
6×3	BS	7.91	0.26	0.37	141.0	13.0	318.6
	AH	7.85	0.24	0.41	147.2	16.0	338.1
7×3	BS	8.01	0.28	0.34	138.6	12.8	317.9
	AH	7.88	0.26	0.39	144.8	15.9	335.5
8×3	BS	8.18	0.29	0.30	137.2	12.5	316.4
	AH	7.94	0.27	0.33	142.5	15.5	332.9
Control	BS	8.26	0.34	0.28	126.6	11.3	310.8
	AH	8.08	0.33	0.30	129.6	12.3	330.3
CD a	nt 5%	NS	0.017	0.026	6.84	0.75	NS

Table 1: Soil	properties under	different spacin	g's of po	plar-based a	groforestry systems
,					

Tree	Fresh green fodder yield					
spacing's (m)	Sorghum	Berseem	Oat			
3×3	24.27	47.70	40.68			
4×3	27.78	51.30	41.99			
5×3	34.38	54.75	45.32			
6×3	35.85	57.62	47.55			
7×3	37.98	62.68	50.65			
8×3	38.45	64.56	52.62			
Control	43.37	68.52	60.11			
CD at 5%	1.78	3.28	2.28			

Table 2: Green fodder yield of fodder crops under different geometries of poplar-based agroforestry systems.

but lower than sole cropping (devoid of trees). The performance of both Kharif and Rabi season fodder crops was strongly influenced under poplar based agroforestry system with reduction of spacing geometries of the trees because of increased competition for solar radiation, moisture and nutrients between the trees and fodder crops. The overall yield of Rabi season (Berseem and Oat) fodder crops (Table 2) was higher than Kharif season (Sorghum) fodder crop (Table 2) under different spacing geometries of poplar. Dry fodder yield was obtained maximum in sorghum followed by berseem and oat. Under control (sole cropping) maximum dry fodder yield was recorded as compared to different spacing of poplar (Figure 3). Green fodder biomass was reduced from 11.34% to 44.03% in sorghum (Figure 4) under various plant geometries of poplar over control (sole crop). There was significantly more reduction in yield of sorghum under 3×3 m spacing i.e. 44.03% and 35.94 % under 4×3 m spacing as compared to wider spacings of poplar. The production of winter crops (berseem and oat) in the open (devoid of trees) was higher than intercropping under different spacing of poplar plantation. Yield reduction varied from 5.77% to 30.38% in berseem and 12.46% to 32.32% in oat under different spacing's of poplar over control. In poplar based agroforestry system, fodder yield of crops increased with the increased distance between tree rows. In winter season, crop yield started decreasing considerably in narrow spacing; however, reduction in yield was less under wider spacing's (Figure 4).

It is widely acknowledged that the yield of agricultural crops grown in an agroforestry system



Figure 3: Dry fodder yield of fodder crops under different geometries of poplar-based agroforestry systems



Figure 4: Green fodder yield reduction (%) of fodder crops under different spacing of poplar-based agroforestry system



Figure 5: Light intensity (Lux) underneath different spacing's of poplar and control

is lower than that of crops grown in a monoculture system. The fact that the yield of rainy-season crops is significantly lower than that of winter-season crops has been pointed out by numerous researchers (Chauhan *et al.*, 2012; Chaturvedi and Pandey, 2001 and Nandal and Hooda, 2005). This is due to the heavy shade cast by poplar trees during the rainy season, which prevents light from reaching the crop and reduces its yield. In contrast, the

Tree spacing's	Leaf area index (at harvest)				
(m)	Sorghum	Berseem	Oat		
3×3	5.2	3.6	4.2		
4×3	5.3	3.7	4.4		
5×3	5.4	3.9	4.5		
6×3	5.6	4.0	4.7		
7×3	5.9	4.1	4.8		
8×3	6.0	4.2	4.9		
Control	6.4	4.6	5.3		
CD at 5%	0.54	0.38	0.45		

 Table 3: Leaf area indexof fodder crops under different spacing's of poplar

absence of leaves on poplar trees during the winter season allows for ample light to reach the crops, which results in a higher yield as compared to the rainy season. Agroforestry systems also compensate for year-to-year yield reductions of various crops by producing woody biomass, which has been shown to be effective in a number of economic evaluations (Jain and Singh, 2000 and Singh and Mavi, 2016).

Leaf area index

Under poplar based agroforestry system, the higher leaf area index of sorghum (6.00), berseem (4.20)and oat (4.90) was recorded under 8×3 m and minimum under 3×3 m spacing at harvest. However, the highest leaf area index was recorded under control (sole cropping) in all fodder crops (Table 3). The decrease in the leaf area index with the decrease in the spacing may be due to the light, nutrients and moisture between tree and crop components. Thus, competition for utilization of growth resources adversely affected the leaf area index of intercropped fodder crops under different spacing's of poplar. Kumar et al. (2014) revealed the similar results that leaf area index increased significantly with wider spacing and also with stage of growth.

Light intensity on fodder crops under different spacing's of poplar

Trees reduce the amount of sunlight reaching to soil and crops through shading. Light capture is influenced by both environmental and plant factors such as tree leaf area, leafing phenology, crown structure and management. Unless trees are leafless during the cropping season or heavily pruned, competition can be substantial (Luedeling *et al.*, 2016). The light intensity available to fodder crops of both seasons (rainy and winter season) was

noticed on monthly interval at two hours interval of the day (7A.M. to 5 P.M.) under different spacing's as well as in open condition (devoid of trees). Results highlighted that the light intensity to fodder crops is significantly affected by poplar trees at different stages of growth. The highest light intensity (672.4 Lux) was recorded in 8×3 m followed by 7×3 m (604.4 Lux), 6×3 m (550.1 Lux), 5×3 m (469.8 Lux), 4×3 m (365.4 Lux) and minimum under 3×3 m (331.4 Lux) at 1.00 pm in the month of July (2018) as shown in figure 5. The light intensity trends under different spacing's of poplar was observed in decreasing order from July to October, 2018 and then it follows increasing trend from November, 2018 to February, 2019. From the month of March, 2019 it starts to reduced due to the appearance of new foliage in poplar. The light intensity available to the sole crop found greater than various spacing's of poplar tree. From December to February, the difference in the light intercepted by sole crop and poplar-intercropped was less but after mid of March it starts to increase as the dense foliage in the poplar. Among different spacing's of poplar, the maximum light intensity was observed in 8×3 m however, in closer spacing $(3 \times 3 \text{ m})$ it was significantly less. These findings are also supported by the findings of Bhandari et al. (2015).

Economic analysis of poplar-based agroforestry systems

In the present study, detailed observations in terms of accurate record of rental value of land, input costs, expenditure on labour and inter-cultural operations, tree and crop growth and their yield, and market price help portray the economic overview of agroforestry systems. Populus deltoides based silvi-pastoral systems fetched higher net returns as compared to sole fodder crops (Table 4 and 5). It can be clearly observed from the data that the cost of cultivation. gross return and net return increased with the increase in number of trees per hectare in different spacing's of poplar. The figures presented in Table 4 that the maximum gross return was obtained from poplar + sorghum system, i.e. Rs. 241943/ha under 3×3 m spacing due to more number of trees in this spacing. The gross return decreased with the increase in the spacing of poplar, however the minimum gross return was obtained under sole cropping of sorghum *i.e.*, Rs. 61392/ha. The maximum net

Tree spacing (m)	Cost of cultivation (Rs./ha)	Gross return (Rs./ha)	Net return (Rs./ha)	B:C ratio
3×3	104679	241943	137264	2.31
4×3	101409	194781	93373	1.92
5×3	99447	173675	74228	1.75
6×3	98139	154916	56777	1.58
7×3	97827	143244	45417	1.46
8×3	96504	132687	36183	1.37
Control	35892	61392	25500	1.71

 Table 4: Economics of sorghum with poplar and control (sole fodder crops)

Table 5:	Economics of	of berseem	and oat	with n	oplar and	control ((sole fodder	crops)
I abic 5.	Leonomies (JI Del Scem	ana vai	min p	opiai ana	control of	Sole louder	crops,

Tree spaci (m)	ings Cost of cult (Rs./ha)	Cost of cultivation (Rs./ha)		Gross return (Rs./ha)		Net return (Rs./ha)		B:C ratio	
	P + B	P + O	P + B	P + O	P + B	P + O	P + B	P + O	
3×3	111867	105291	255001	257058	143134	151767	2.28	2.44	
4×3	108597	102021	204743	206315	96146	104294	1.89	2.02	
5×3	106635	100059	175492	178405	68857	78346	1.65	1.78	
6×3	105327	98751	157748	158856	52421	60105	1.50	1.61	
7×3	105015	98440	148317	146681	43302	48241	1.41	1.49	
8×3	103692	97116	138044	137500	34352	40383	1.33	1.42	
Control	45081	38505	66164	64499	21083	25994	1.47	1.68	

*P + B, Poplar and Berseem P + O, Poplar and Oat

return (Rs. 137264/ha) was obtained under poplar + sorghum at 3×3 m, while the minimum net return was obtained under sole cropping of sorghum *i.e.*, Rs. 25500/ha. The figures indicate (Table 5) that the cost of cultivation of winter season fodder crops increased with the decrease in poplar spacing's. Poplar + oat cropping system gained maximum gross returns (Rs. 257058/ha) and net return (Rs. 151767/ha) closely followed by poplar + berseem Rs. 255001/ha (gross return) and Rs. system 143134/ha (net return) respectively under 3×3 m spacing of poplar due to more number of trees. On the other hand, the gross and net return decreased with the increase in the spacing of poplar and minimum was obtained under sole cropping of berseem and oat.

Benefit cost ratio

BCR is the most important and accepted parameter in agricultural production systems. Higher value of BCR was observed for poplar with oat (2.44) followed by poplar with sorghum (2.31) and poplar with berseem (2.28) under 3×3 m spacing. It indicates that closer spacing of 3×3 m of poplar is more economic than the other spacing's due to more number of trees per unit area and more production of wood (Table 4 and 5). The lowest value of BCR (1.33) was reported in poplar + berseem followed by poplar + sorghum (1.37) under 8×3 m spacing. Thus poplar + oat is found to be more profitable than other fodder crops in poplar

based silvi-pastoral systems. Some researchers have reported the higher BCR (more than 2.0) for poplar based agroforestry system in the Indo-Gangetic plains. Banerjee *et al.* (2010), Chisanga *et al.* (2013) also reported that benefit cost ratio (BCR) was maximum (6.63) from silvi-pasture and least from sole agriculture (without trees).

Conclusion

Economic evaluation for adoption of various agroforestry systems is essential due to increasing land pressure and diversification of traditional cropping system. Agroforestry based on poplar is more beneficial than the other traditional cropping system. The study pointed out that poplar based agroforestry system at spacing of 8×3 m is superior over other spacing geometries in terms of tree growth and fodder yield. The benefit cost ratio (BCR) of poplar with oat (2.44) was highest followed by poplar with sorghum (2.31) and poplar with berseem (2.28) at 3×3 m spacing due to more number of trees per unit area. Poplar also plays an important role in adaptation and mitigating climate change because it sequesters more atmospheric carbon in plant parts and soil and reduces the concentration of green house gases in environment.

Acknowledgement

We are thankful to CCSHAU, Hisar and the Department of Forestry for providing facilities during this study. The sources of quoted information are also duly acknowledged.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Amatya, S.M., Cedamon, E., & Nuberg, I. (2018). Agroforestry systems and practices in Nepal- Revised Eds. Agriculture and Forestry University, Rampur, Nepal, 108pp + xviii.
- Bhandari, N., Gill, R. I. S., Singh, B., & Dhatt, A. S. (2015). Effect of varieties and sowing time on potato under poplar based agroforestry system. *Indian Journal of* Agroforestry, 17(1), 29-35.
- Chaturvedi, O. P., & Pandey, I. B. (2001). Yield and economics of Populus deltoides G3 Marsh based intercropping system in eastern India. *Forests, Trees and Livelihoods, 11*(3), 207-216.
- Chauhan, S. K., Gupta, N., Walia, R., Yadav, S., Chauhan, R., & Mangat, P. S. (2011). Biomass and carbon sequestration potential of poplar-wheat inter-cropping system in irrigated agro-ecosystem in India. *Journal of Agricultural Science* and Technology A, 1(4), 575-586.
- Chauhan, S. K., Sharma, R., & Dhillon, W. S. (2012). Status of intercropping in poplar based agroforestry in India. *For. Bull*, 12, 49-67.
- Chavan, S. B., & Dhillon, R. S. (2019). Doubling farmers' income through Populus deltoides-based agroforestry systems in northwestern India: an economic analysis. *Current Science*, 117(2), 25.
- Chisanga, K., Bhardwaj, D.R. & Sharma, S. (2013). Bioeconomic appraisal of agroforestry systems in dry temperate western Himalayas. *Journal of Tree Sciences*, 32(1&2): 43-48.
- Das, D. K., Chaturvedi, O. P., Jabeen, N., & Dhyani, S. K. (2011). Predictive models for dry weight estimation of above and below ground biomass components of *Populus deltoides* in India: Development and comparative diagnosis. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 35(3), 1145-1152.
- Dhillon, N. K., Singh, P., & Singh, H. (2020). Soil Organic Carbon, Phosphorus and Potassium in Soils under Poplar Based Agro-Forestry in Punjab. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci, 9(7), 1117-1124.
- Gupta, G., Kantwa, S.R. & Singh, K.K. (2020). Fodder production, conservation and utilization. *Krishak Bharti*, 4: 64.
- Hirak, B., Dhara, P. K., Sunirmal, M., & Sukanta, P. (2009). Growth and productivity of trees and intercrops under agroforestry system in red and lateritic zone of West Bengal. *Indian Journal of Agroforestry*, 11(2), 85-89.

- Idol, T., Haggar, J., & Cox, L. (2011). Ecosystem services from smallholder forestry and agroforestry in the tropics. In *Integrating agriculture, conservation and ecotourism: examples from the field* (pp. 209-270). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Jain, S. K., & Singh, P. (2000). Economic analysis of industrial agroforestry: poplar (*Populus deltoides*) in Uttar Pradesh (India). Agroforestry systems, 49(3), 255-273.
- Kang, B. T., & Akinnifesi, F. K. (2000, May). Agroforestry as alternative land-use production systems for the tropics. In *Natural Resources Forum* (Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 137-151). Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing Ltd.
- Kumar, A., Singh, V., Shabnam, S., Oraon, P. R., & Kumari, S. (2019). Comparative study of wheat varieties under open farming and poplar-based agroforestry system in Uttarakhand, India. *Current Science*, 117(6), 1054.
- Kumar, S., Shakhelaand, R.R. & Desai, N.H. (2014). Simarouba (*Simarouba glauca* DC) (TBO) based silvipasture system in semi arid region of Gujarat. *Journal* of Agroecology and Natural Resource Management, 1(3): 222-223.
- Luedeling, E., Smethurst, P. J., Baudron, F., Bayala, J., Huth, N. I., Van Noordwijk, M., ... & Sinclair, F. L. (2016). Field-scale modeling of tree–crop interactions: Challenges and development needs. *Agricultural Systems*, 142, 51-69.
- Lundgren, B. O. (1987). Institutional aspects of agroforestry research and development. *Agroforestry*, 43.
- Malhi, G. S., Kaur, M., Sharma, K., & Gupta, G. (2020). Hydroponics technology for green fodder production under resource deficit condition. *Vigyan Varta*, 1(5), 65-68.
- Martínez-Salinas, A. (2016). The role of agroforestry in biodiversity conservation and ecosystem service provisioning. *Agriculture for Development*, 28, 15-16.
- Nandal, D. P. S., & Hooda, M. S. (2005). Production potential of some agricultural crops under different spacings of poplar. *Indian Journal of Agroforestry*, 7(1), 16-20.
- Panse, V.G. & Sukhatme, P.V. (1989). Statistical methods for agricultural workers. 4th Edition, ICAR Publication, New Delhi, India.
- Patel, A. (2016). Enhancing milk productivity, output and quality in India. *International Journal of Scientific Research and Technology*, 2(5), 22-30.
- Singh, H., & Mavi, H. K. (2016). Economic analysis of poplar based agroforestry system under riparian wet land conditions of Punjab. *Indian Journal of Economics and Development*, 12(1), 191-196.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Forewarning of insect incidence based on weather variables for management of cropping practices in Sugarcane

Y. A. Garde 🖂

Department of Agricultural Statistics, N.M. College of Agriculture, Navsari Agricultural University, Navsari, Gujarat, India.

H. V. Gundaniva

Department of Agricultural Statistics, B.A. College of Agriculture, Anand Agricultural University, Anand, Gujarat, India.

V. S. Thorat

Department of Agribusiness Economics & Finance, ASPEE Agribusiness Management Institute, Navsari Agricultural University, Navsari, Gujarat, India.

R. R. Pisal

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, Navsari Agricultural University, Waghai, Gujarat, India.

Alok Shrivastava

Department of Agricultural Statistics, N.M. College of Agriculture, Navsari Agricultural University, Navsari, Gujarat, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 04 October 2021	The early shoot borer, top borer, root borer, internode borer are major insect
Revised : 21 December 2021	occurs in most of the sugarcane growing areas of the Gujarat and cause
Accepted : 10 January 2022	extensive damage to the sugarcane crop, which leads to losses in the crop yield.
	The weather discrepancies acting an important role in development of
Published online: 22 February 2022	sugarcane insect and pest. The proper management of cropping practices may
	leads to overcome on it. Therefore it need to develop weather based approaches
Key Words:	for forewarning the insect incidence which helps to farmers takes timely control
Forewarning	measures to reduce the damage and yield losses due to this borer complex.
Insect incidence	Current study, relationship between insects incidence with weekly average
Sugarcane	weather parameters has been workout by using Karl-Pearson's correlation
Weather-insect relationship	approach on the 18 years of the data (2000-01 to 2017-18) in the Navsari
Weather variables	district. The some of the weather variables were found significantly correlated
	with insect incidence. The multiple linear regression (MLR) and discriminant
	function analysis approach were adopted for statistical forewarning of the
	insect incidence. It was observed that MLR technique found better than
	discriminant function analysis for forecasting of insect incidence for
	torewarning of early shoot borer at 90 DAP and top shoot borer incidence at 5"
	month of crop season respectively.

Introduction

Sugarcane is predominantly grown in tropical and subtropical regions. Sugarcane is main source of raw material for the production of white sugar, jaggery and khandsari. Sugar industry is second largest agro based industry in India after textile industry. The Sugarcane cultivation and Sugar industry in India plays a vital role in socioeconomic development of rural areas by mobilizing rural resources and generating higher income and employment opportunities. Gujarat is the sixth largest sugarcane producing state in India with a

Sugarcane is main source of sugar in India. production of 11.61 Million tonnes and account for about 3.21% of total sugarcane production in a country. In Gujarat, area under sugarcane is more than 1.65 lakh hectares of land (Anonymous, 2020). A sugarcane crop is sensitive to the climate, irrigation, fertilizers, soil type, diseases, insectspest, varieties, and the harvesting time. The sugarcane crop is attacked by a varied range of insect pests all through its plant stages (Williams et al., 1969). The early shoot borer, top borer, root borer, internode borer are major insect additively cause considerable damage to the sugarcane crop,

which results in yield losses. The weather based forewarning provides information about the time and severity of outbreak of this borer infestation of sugarcane. Insect-pest monitoring data along with corresponding weather data is crucial to improve insect-pest forewarning models and provide forecasts for operational use. Understanding the nature of this combined interaction needs an interdisciplinary approach to identify critical components needed to develop management tools to address the pest and disease concerns of a Notwithstanding farmer. many years of implementation of pest management strategies, some pests remain difficult to manage and their dynamics are still largely unpredictable, with sometimes dramatic yield reduction (Kiritani, 2006; Gregory *et al.*, 2009).

The several efforts have been attempted to study the relation between insect-pest incidence, weather parameters and yield losses. Srivastava (2002) has also been attempted to forecast the frequency and intensity of occurrence of insect-pests and diseases of various crops like cotton, grain sorghum, wheat, corn, soybean, alfalfa, peanuts, dry beans, potato, millets, tomato, sugarcane etc. Paswan et al. (2017) studied relationship between borer incidence and weather parameters and developed forewarning models for borers of sugarcane under Bihar agro ecosystem. Deb and Bharpoda (2017) studied relationship and found the impact of meteorological factors on population of major insect pests in under middle Gujarat tomato conditions. Chattopadhyay et al. (2019) studied the effect of weather parameters on the population dynamics of Spodoptera litura in soybean and cotton during kharif season using six years pest data. It was shown that incidence of S.litura in soybean and cotton can be predicted well in advance using the observed relationship of the pest with weather parameters as well as weather forecast. Mohankumar et al. (2020) studied the seasonal incidence of phytophagous mite pests on different varieties of sugarcane crop. Laterally with this Priva and Suresh (2009), Kumar et al. (2014), Sattar et al. (2014), Marcari et al. (2015) and Kumar et al. (2015) developed forecast models based on agro-meteorology for forecasting of yield and quality of sugarcane crop. The advanced techniques were adopted by Laxmi and Kumar

(2011), and Hossain and Abdulla (2015) and Dubey *et al.* (2018) for forecasting sugarcane yield.

Looking to the scope and importance of the forewarning of insect incidence in relation to weather variable, the current study was carried out to develop statistical forewarning model for predicting insect incidence well in advanced for effective management cropping practices in sugarcane.

Material and Methods

The study was conducted in Navsari district of south Gujarat. The Navsari is located at 20.95° N 72.93° E. In completion of the objective of the development of forewarning of insect incidence the weather data were collected from the Nodal officer (IMD project), Dept. of Agril. Engineering, NMCA, NAU, Navsari for the year 1991 to 2016. The different weather parameters were considered *viz.* weekly average maximum temperature, weekly average minimum temperature, the total weekly rainfall, weekly average morning relative humidity (RH-I), weekly average evening relative humidity (RH-II). The study utilized the past data (2000-01 to 2017-18) on per cent incidence of early shoot borer (60 and 90 DAP) and top borer (5th month and 7th month of crop season) which were collected from annual reports (Entomology) of Main Sugarcane Research Station, Navsari Agricultural University, Navsari.

Statistical data analysis

In present investigation analysis of data was carried out by using following different kind of statistical tools.

Association of insect-pest incidence with weekly weather parameters

The relationship between incidence of early shoot borer and top shoot borer (Y_i) with weekly average weather parameters (X_i) were studied by using Karl-Pearson's correlation coefficient (r) approach. The significance of correlation coefficient was tested by t-test statistics at 5 or 1 per cent level of the significance.

$$r = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (X_i - \bar{X})(Y_i - \bar{Y})}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (X_i - \bar{X})^2 \sum_{i=1}^{n} (Y_i - \bar{Y})^2}}$$
(1)

Statistical forewarning models

The statistical forewarning models were developed using multiple linear regression (MLR) and

discriminant function analysis approach (Sisodia *et al.*, 2014 and Garde *et al.*, 2020). The weakly weather variables were utilized for development of weather indices (Agrawal *et al.*, 2007; Garde *et al.*, 2015). The forewarning model was developed using observed weekly weather variables as explanatory variable and per cent incidence of insect as response variable. The form of the developed model is as follow:

• Model 1

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_2 X_2 + \dots + \beta_n X_n + e \qquad (2)$$

Where, Y is per cent insect incidence

 $\beta_0, \beta_1, \beta_2, \dots, \beta_n$ are regression coefficients X_i is the average effect of the ith weather variable in each year (i=1, 2,..., n). *e* is the error term

Further MLR model was developed using weather indices as independent variable and per cent incidence as dependent variable through stepwise regression method.

• Model 2 $Y = A_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{p} \sum_{j=0}^{1} a_{ij} Z_{ij} + \sum_{i \neq i'=1}^{p} \sum_{j=0}^{1} a_{ii'j} Z_{ii'j} + cT + e \qquad (3)$

Where,

Y is observed per cent insect incidences A_0 is the intercept

 $Z_{ij} = \sum_{w=1}^{m} r_{ij}^{j} X_{iw} \quad \text{and} \\ Z_{iirj} = \sum_{w=1}^{m} r_{iirj}^{j} X_{iw} X_{iirw} \text{ are the weather}$

indices a_{ij} and $a_{ii'j}$ are the regression coefficients p is the number of weather variables to be used c is the regression coefficients of trend variable T is the trend variable e is the error term

The Discriminant function analysis was attempted to develop forewarning model using weighted weather indices. Total fifteen weighted indices were considered. Two discriminant score have been obtained from these weighted weather indices. Two discriminant score along with trend were used to develop the model through stepwise regression technique (Agrawal *et al.*, 2012, Garde *et al.*, 2015, Kumari *et al.*, 2017). The form of the developed model is as follow:

(4)

• Model 3

$$Y = \beta_0 + \beta_1 ds_1 + \beta_2 ds_2 + \beta_2 T + \varepsilon$$

Where

Y is sugarcane yield (t/ha) β_i are regression coefficient, *i* =0,1,2,3

 ds_1 and ds_2 are discriminant scores,

T is the trend variable

 ϵ is error term assumed to follow $N(0, \sigma^2)$

The comparison of developed forewarning models were done with help of Adj. R^2 , Forecast error %, Mean Absolute Percentage error (MAPE) and Root mean Square error (RMSE).

Results and Discussion

Association of insect incidence with weekly weather parameters

The association between insect incidence and weekly weather parameter were observed. It was observed the significant correlation coefficient between early shoot borer incidence at 60 DAP (Days after transplanting) and weekly average weather parameters viz. morning relative humidity (7th SMW) and evening relative humidity (6th SMW). It was indicated that relative humidity was found to profoundly influence the borer infestation. At 90 DAP, the significance of correlation coefficient were observed between early shoot borer incidence and morning relative humidity (5th SMW) and evening relative humidity (3rd, 12th and 13th SMW). It is also observed rainfall during 60-90 DAP was observed to reduce borer infestation though the association was not significant. The significance of correlation coefficient was observed between top shoot borer incidence at 5th month after transplanting and maximum temperature (2nd and 17th SMW), minimum temperature (19th and 20th SMW). It observed that the association between mean temperature and the pest seems to be dominated by minimum temperature. At 7th month, the significant correlation coefficient were observed between top shoot borer incidence and weekly average maximum temperature (11th SMW), minimum temperature (11th, 19th and 27th SMW), and morning relative humidity (29th and 30th SMW).

Forewarning model: MLR using weekly weather variables

The forewarning models were developed using MLR techniques with weekly weather variables for per cent incidence of early shoot borer (ESB) at 60 and 90 days after transplanting (DAP) and top shoot borer (TSB) at 5th month & 7th month. The observed resulted were presented in Table 1 along with adj. R^2 . No variable were found significant in forewarning model for top shoot borer at 7th month. It was observed from the Table 1 that Model-1.1 have high value of adjusted R^2 (32.2) and low RMSE (0.45). The value of MSE, RMSE and MAPE ranges from 0.11 to 0.80, 0.33 to 0.90 and 17.75 to 22.25, respectively. It indicated that none of the models were found suitable for Forewarning insect incidence, therefore study utilized modified approach for forewarning insect incidence.

Forewarning model: MLR using weekly weather indices

Further model was developed by taking weather indices as independent variable for per cent incidence of early shoot borer (ESB) at 60 and 90 DAP and top shoot borer (TSB) at 5th month & 7th month. Stepwise multiple regression technique was used to obtain significant weather variables. The obtained forewarning model equations are presented in Table 2. It was observed from the Table 2 that Model-2.2 show high value of adjusted R^2 (74.7 %) and acceptable RMSE (0.69) than Model-2.1. Thus Model-2.2 found suitable for forewarning early shoot borer incidence at 90 DAP $(Y = 1.237 + 0.001 Z_{251})$. The interaction between minimum temperature and morning relative

humidity showed impact on incidence of ESB at 90 DAP. It was also found from Table 2 that Model-2.3 found suitable for forecasting of top shoot borer at 5th month with respect to high value of adjusted R² (88.9) and RMSE (0.72) ($Y = 9.583 + 0.026Z_{41} - 0.046T$). The weighted morning relative humidity (Z_{41}) and weighted average interaction between maximum temperature and morning relative humidity (Z_{141}) along with trend T have significant effect on top shoot borer incidence. Similar results for morning relative humidity were observed by Paswan *et al.* (2017) for top shoot borer of sugarcane in Bihar.

Forewarning model: using discriminant function analysis

The discriminant function analysis techniques was adopted for development of models for forewarning the incidence of early shoot borer at 60 and 90 DAP, top shoot borer at 5th and 7th month. The obtained forewarning model equations are given in Table 3. The Table 3 revealed that Model-3.1 indicated that 79.1 per cent variation in early shoot borer incidence at 60 DAP was accounted by ds_2 and $T (Y = 1.504 + 0.158 ds_2 + 0.094T)$ and found low RMSE (0.75) which indicated appropriate forewarning model for early shoot borer. Similarly, the Model-3.3 indicated 54.1 per cent variation in top shoot borer incidence at 5 month was accounted by ds_1 . $(Y = 1.545 + 0.111 ds_1)$ and lower RMSE (0.73) which showed suitable forewarning model for top shoot borer. The similar statistical approach was carried out by Agrawal et al. (2012) in Kanpur and similar result were observed for wheat yield.

Table 1: Forewarning model equations for insect incidence using weekly weather variables

Models	Model 1	Model equation	Adj.R ²
ESB (60DAP)	Model-1.1	$Y = 4.859 - 0.095 X_5$	32.2
ESB_(90DAP)	Model-1.2	$Y = 1.662 + 0.055 X_3$	26.1
TSB_(5 Month)	Model-1.3	$Y = 12.009 - 0.131 X_4$	25.9

Table 2.	Foroworning	model eque	tions for	incost insidens	o neina m	aathan indiaac
Table 2:	rorewarning	mouel equa	uons ior	msect meruence	e using wo	eather mulces
	8	1				

Model	Model 2	Model equation	Adj.R ²
ESB(60DAP)	Model-2.1	$Y = 4.872 + 0.038 Z_{51}$	53.9
ESB(90DAP)	Model-2.2	$Y = 1.237 + 0.001 \ Z_{251}$	74.7
TSB(5Month)	Model-2.3	$Y = 9.583 + 0.026Z_{41} - 0.046T$	88.9
TSB(7Month)	Model-2.4	$Y = 11.315 + 0.001 Z_{141} - 0.088T$	79.6

Model	Model 3	Model equation	Adj. R ²
ESB(60DAP)	Model-3.1	$Y = 1.504 + 0.158 ds_2 + 0.094T$	79.1
ESB(90DAP)	Model-3.2	$Y = 1.753 - 0.032 ds_1$	75.7
TSB(5Month)	Model-3.3	$Y = 1.545 + 0.111 ds_1$	54.1
TSB(7Month)	Model-3.4	Y = 2.778 - 0.122T	43.4

Table 3: Forewarning model equations for insect incidence using Discriminant Function

There are several studies on forewarning of insect and pest using weather variables by adopting different statistical methods for different crops has been discussed by Agrawal and Mehta (2007). But limited work has been carried out on the forewarning of insect incidence particularly in sugarcane crop based on weather variables using similar statistical approaches. The overall comparison of the all above developed models it was observed that multiple linear regression approach found better than discriminant function analysis for forewarning of insect incidence. The Model-2.2 found suitable for forewarning of early shoot borer at 90 DAP with $R^2 = 74.7\%$ and *RMSE*=0.69. Similarly, Model-2.3 found appropriate for forewarning top shoot borer incidence at 5th month of crop season with R^2 =88.9% and *RMSE*=0.52.

Conclusion

Farmers are mainly worried about the current disease and insect-pest severity data, preferably for their localities to support their decision making in crop protection. The current study suggested there is a scope for using other methods to develop predictors that could be used in forecasting models for reliable and dependable forecast. The

References

- Agarwal, R.C., & Aditya, K. (2012). Use of discriminant function analysis for forecasting crop yield. *Mausam*, 63(3), 455-458.
- Agrawal, R.C. & Mehta, S.C., (2007). Weather based forecasting of crop yield, pest and diseases- IASRI models. *Journal of the Indian Society of Agricultural Statistics*, 61(2), 255-263.
- Anonymous (2020). E&S, DAC, New Delhi, Government of India, Report. Retrieved from https://www.sugarcane.dac.gov.in/pdf/StatisticsAPY.pdf

forewarning models can be helpful in inspiring the farmer to organize and use their own resources in order to gather the benefits. The study showed multiple linear regression approach found better than discriminant function analysis for Forewarning of insect incidence. The study revealed that some of the weather variables were significantly correlated with insect incidence. It is required further studies pertaining to climate change driven changes in serious insect-pests of crops and planning and development of adaptive strategies needs to be undertaken to lessen the yield losses and safeguard the food security of nation.

Acknowledgement

The author gratefully acknowledge the Nodal officer (IMD-FASAL project), Dept. of Agril. Engineering, NMCA, NAU, Navsari for providing weather data and advisory for present research work. The author also acknowledge Unit head, Main Sugarcane Research Station, NAU, Navsari for giving Annual reports and guidance in the study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Chattopadhyay N., Balasubramaniam, R., Attri S. D., Kamaljeet Ray, Gracy John, Khedikar, S., & Karmakar, C. (2019). Forewarning of incidence of *Spodoptera litura* (Tobacco caterpillar) in soybean and cotton using statistical and synoptic approach. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 21(1), 68-75.
- Deb, S. & Bharpoda, T.M. (2017). Impact of meteorological factors on population of major insect pests in tomato, *Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill. Under middle Gujarat condition. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 19(3), 251-254.
- Dubey S. K., Gavli A. S., Yadav S. K. Sehgal Seema & Ray S. S. (2018). Remote sensing-based yield forecasting for sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum L.) crop in India.

Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 46, 1823–833.

- Garde Y. A., Thorat V. S., Pisal R. R. & Shinde V. T. (2020), Pre Harvest Forecasting of Kharif Rice Yield Using Weather Parameters for Strategic Decision Making in Agriculture. *International Journal of Environment and Climate Change*, 10(12), 162-170.
- Garde, Y.A., Dhekale, B.S. & Singh, S. (2015). Different approaches on pre harvest forecasting of wheat yield. *Journal of Applied and Natural Science*, 7(2), 839-843. https://doi.org/10.31018/jans.v7i2.693
- Gregory, P.J., Johnson, S.N., Newton, A.C., & Ingram, J.S.I. (2009) Integrating pests and pathogens into climate change/food security debate. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 60, 2827-2838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erp080</u>
- Hossain, M.M., & Abdulla, F. (2015). Forecasting the sugarcane production in Bangladesh by ARIMA Model. *Journal of Statistics Applications & Probability*, 4(2), 297-303.
- Kiritani, K. (2006) Predicting impacts of global warming on population dynamics and distribution of arthropods in Japan. *Population Ecology*, 48, 5-12. DOI: 10.1007/S10144-005-0225-0
- Kumar, N., Pisal, R.R., Shukla, S.P., & Pandey, S.P. (2014). Crop yield forecasting of paddy, sugarcane and wheat through linear regression technique for south Gujarat. *Mausam*, 65(3), 361-364.
- Kumar, S., Kumar V. & Sharma, R.K. (2015). Sugarcane yield forecasting using artificial neural network models. *International Journal of Artificial Intelligence and Applications*, 6(5), 51-68. DOI: 10.5121/ijaia.2015.6504
- Kumari Prity, Mishra G. C., & Srivastava C. P. (2017). Forecasting models for predicting pod damage of pigeonpea in Varanasi region. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 19(3), 265-269.

- Laxmi, R.R., & Kumar, A. (2011). Weather based forecasting for crops yield using neural network approach. *Statistics and Applications*, 9(1&2), 55-69.
- Marcari, M.A., Rolim, G.S., & Aparecido, L.E.O. (2015). Agrometeorological models for forecasting yield and quality of sugarcane. *Australian Journal of Crop Science*, 9(11), 1049-56.
- Mohankumar KS, Sugeetha G, Pankaja NS, Mahadev J., & Vijayalaxmi (2020). Seasonal incidence of phytophagous mites infesting different varieties of sugarcane crop (Saccharum officinarum: Poaceae). Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies, 8(4), 2100-2104.
- Paswan, S., Chand, H. & Kumar, M. (2017). Forewarning model for borers of sugarcane under Bihar agro ecosystem. *Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology and Life Sciences*, 7(1), 66-68.
- Priya, K.S.R. & Suresh, K.K. (2009). A study on pre-harvest forecast of sugarcane yield using climatic variables. *Statistics and Applications*, 7&8 (1&2), 1-8.
- Sattar, A., Khan, S. & Kumar, M. (2014). Crop Weather Relationship and Cane Yield Prediction of Sugarcane in Bihar. *Journal of Agricultural Physics*, 14(2), 150-155.
- Sisodia, B.V.S., Yadav, R.R., Kumar, S., & Mehta, M.K., (2014). Forecasting of pre-harvest crop yield using discriminant function analysis of meteorological parameters. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 16(1), 121-125.
- Srivastava, A.K (2002). Prediction models for sugarcane production system, *Indian Farming*, 61(11), 61-64.
- Williams, J.R., Metcalfe, J.R., Mungomery, R.W., & Mathes, R. (Eds), (1969): Pests of Sugar Cane. Elsevier Publishing Company, Amsterdam, Amsterdam: Elsevier. pp 393.
- Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal





Evaluation of $F_{2:3}$ rice population resistant to *Rhizoctonia solani* Kuhn inciting sheath blight disease

Uday Kumar Thera 🖂

Department of Mycology and Plant Pathology, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India.

Ashmita Timsina

Department of Mycology and Plant Pathology, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India.

Naveen Kumar Ramasamy

Department of Agriculture, School of Agriculture and Biosciences, Karunya Institute of Technology and Sciences, Karunya Nagar, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India.

Mounika Aadika

Department of Plant Pathology, Indira Gandhi Agricultural University, Krishak Nagar, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 04 October 2021	Rice sheath blight caused by the soil-borne fungal pathogen Rhizoctonia solani
Revised : 08 January 2022	Kuhn is an economically important disease in rice resulting in enormous yield
Accepted : 20 January 2022	losses worldwide. In the present investigation, a population constituting F ₃
	lines resulted from the cross made between IC277332 (susceptible parent) and
Published online: 22 February 2022	Tetep (resistant parent) were evaluated for sheath blight resistance and other
	agronomic traits over a season. The rice population lines were categorized into
Key Words:	four groups viz., moderately resistant (11), moderately susceptible (63),
IC277332	susceptible (24), and highly susceptible (8), based on area under disease
Moderately resistant	progress curve (AUDPC) values. During the study, nine moderate resistant
Rice	lines showed, less AUDPC values in comparison to Tetep. Furthermore, 63
Susceptible	individuals (60%) exhibited moderate susceptibility with AUDPC values (677-
Tetep	987 per day). The principal component biplot analysis PC1 and PC2 showed
	47.08% and 13.19% variation, respectively. The employment of Unweighted
	Pair Group Method of Arithmetic Means (UPGMA) cluster analysis led to the grouping of the 106 individuals into 2 major clusters A and B. The results suggested that none of the rise lines was resistant to shooth blight disease
	However few lines showed moderate resistance to the disease which can be
	exploited for the development of sheath blight-resistant cultivars.

Introduction

Rice production and productivity are affected by certain abiotic and biotic factors which causes yield losses of up to 45% (Margani and widadi, 2018). Among all the biotic stresses, the fungal diseases in rice are most predominant throughout the world. The productivity of rice is affected by several pathogens (Margani and widadi, 2018), of which sheath blight (ShB) disease caused by *Rhizoctonia solani* Kuhn is one of the destructive pathogens of economic significance, second most prevalent to the blast disease (Zheng *et al.*, 2013; Molla *et al.*, 2020). Rice sheath blight pathogen, *Rhizoctonia solani* [Teleomorph: *Thanatephorus cucumeris* (A.B. Frank) Donk] is a globally ubiquitous and

ecologically diverse soil-borne pathogen with a broad host range infecting many important crops worldwide. The pathogen causes severe yield losses to the extent of 5.9 to 69 per cent to rice crops in advanced crop stages (Richa *et al.*, 2016; Neha *et al.*, 2016). The typical symptoms include oval or ellipsoidal greenish-grey irregular lesions on leaf sheath initially just above the water level later spreading across other plant parts often with greywhite centres surrounded by brown margins which appear maximum at tillering stage (Uppala and Zhou, 2018). As the lesion progress, the centre of the lesion gets bleached with an irregular purplebrown margin and develops new infection structures throughout the entire plant, causing significant necrotic damage (Yellareddygari et al., 2014; Singh et al., 2016). The sclerotia are produced by the pathogen on basal leaf sheaths serves as a primary source of inoculum which appears white when young, later turns brown to dark brown (Uppala and Zhou, 2018), and can remain viable up to 3 years in soil or water (Kumar et al., 2009). The wide host range of the pathotypes and fluctuations in the pathogen within the local population are the crucial factors influencing the management strategies (Mew et al., 2004). The control of ShB in the field so far has mainly relied upon the application of chemical fungicides, but their utility is delimited, primarily due to complications related to timing and application cost, weather dependencies, and a potentially damaging environmental impact by increasing pesticide residues (Mew et al., 2004). Due to these situations, the advance and use of resistant genotypes may be a highly effective way to manage the disease.

Several studies suggested the extensive efforts of workers in rice breeding for sheath blight resistance and large-scale germplasm screening of wild species for resistance genes (Turaidar et al., 2017; Praveen et al., 2019; Goswami et al., 2019; Pavani et al., 2020). Moreover, assessing the resistance to sheath blight in paddy fields is a very challenging task as the resistance is greatly influenced by agronomic traits such as plant height, the density of plants (Pinson et al., 2005), tillering and heading date (Pan et al., 1999). Studies suggested that resistance to R. solani in rice is a complex, quantitative trait that is generally controlled by polygenes (Sha and Zhu, 1989; Pinson et al., 2005; Koshariya et al., 2018). As a result, to date there is no single report of the sheath bight resistant rice germplasm across the world (Zeng et al., 2011; Shi et al., 2020; Bhunkal et al., 2015). However, a few major resistance genes have been identified from either cultivated rice or wild relatives (Molla et al., 2020) and only a few varieties such as Tetep, ARC 10531, Teging, Jasmine 85, Tadukan (Yadav et al., 2015; Zarbafi and Ham, 2019) and some of the landraces such as Jarjan, Nepal 555, Nepal 8 (Shiobara et al., 2013), BPL7-12, BML27-1, BML 21-1 and Kajarahwa (Dubey et al., 2014) were reported to be moderately resistant. Lemont, IR 50, Pusa Basmati-1, BPT-5204 (Yadav et al., 2015) are

highly susceptible to the sheath blight disease under field conditions. Therefore, keeping in mind the aforesaid facts, the current research program was planned and designed to discover ShB resistance in the rice population. The present study was undertaken to develop and screen the F_3 population of rice for reaction to sheath blight resistance.

Material and Methods

Plant materials and experimental design

The seeds of 106 rice population lines of F_3 generation resulted from the cross between IC277332 (susceptible parent) and Tetep (resistant parent) were collected from Prof. Vineeta Singh, Department of Mycology and Plant Pathology, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, UP, India. All the experiments were conducted during the cropping season 2019-2020 in the Agricultural Research Farm (North Eastern Plain zone, India, 25°18'N, 83°03'E, 75.7 MSL), Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi. The nursery beds were prepared by mixing soil, sand, and FYM (3:1:1, w/w), healthy seeds were sown along with the susceptible (Pusa Basmati-1) (Adhipathi et al., 2013) and resistant (Tetep) (Sha and Zhu, 1990) check varieties. Under adequate light and moisture conditions were maintained for the good growth of the seedlings. Alpha lattice design with the plot size of 3×4 m² was used to conduct the field experiment. There were three replications for each treatment. Each population line was grown in a 1 m long row with inter and intra row spacing of 30 and 10 cm, respectively. To ensure a good crop, the necessary agronomic measures were followed.

Source of the pathogen culture

The highly virulent isolate of *Rhizoctonia solani*, AG-1 IA (MTCC-12227) procured from the Department of Mycology and Plant Pathology, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi was used in this study.

Pathogen inoculation

Single sclerotia based inoculum of a virulent strain of *R. solani* (MTCC-12227) (anastomosis group AG1-1A), was maintained on PDA medium at $28 \pm$ 2° C. This isolate produces typical ShB symptoms on sheath and leaves and typical mycelial growth and sclerotia production. MTCC-12227 has been used in previous studies (Goswami *et al.*, 2018, Goswami *et al.*, 2019). Plants at the booting stage were inoculated with the pathogen by placing immature sclerotia or mycelial bits (approx. 0.25 mg) in leaf sheath (Singh *et al.*, 2002a, b). After inoculation, the spots were covered with wet absorbent cotton pre-soaked in sterile water to maintain moist conditions that facilitate the development of infection. Inoculation was carried out in the evening hours so that the inoculated site remains moist for a longer duration.

Scoring of disease severity

The disease scoring was done using a 0-9 scale (SES) (IRRI, 2014). The disease severity was calculated at weekly intervals up to the 28^{th} day after inoculation (DAI) (Goswami *et al.*, 2019; Pavani *et al.*, 2020) by measuring the relative lesion height (RLH) in each tiller was calculated as described by Sharma *et al.*, (1990)

$$RLH = \frac{maximum \ heigh \ at \ which \ lesion \ appear}{plant \ heigh} \times 100$$

The area under disease progress curve (AUDPC) (Shaner and Finney, 1997) and per cent disease index (PDI) (Wheeler, 1969) were calculated as per the formula

$$AUDPC = \sum_{i=1}^{n=1} \{ [(X_{i+1} + X_i)/2] \times (t_i + 1 - t_i) \}$$

Where, n = the total number of observations,

Xi = disease index expressed as a proportion at the ith observation,

 $t_i = time at the ith observations.$

$$PDI = \frac{Sum of all ratings \times 100}{Total no.of observations \times maximum rating scale}$$

Data recording on agronomic traits

Data from the following parameters were collected according to the guidelines described in standard evaluation systems for rice (IRRI, 2014).

Plant height (*PHT***):** The average height of 5 plants from the ground level to the tip of the tallest panicle was measured in centimetres (cm) at maturity.

Panicle length (*PNL***):** The Length of the panicle was measured by a centimetre scale starting from the tip of the neck to the tallest spikelet.

Tiller number per hill (TNH): The number of tillers was counted from the primary and secondary culms of a hill.

Grain yield (*YLD*): The Weight of the grains per plant was measured by grams (g).

Test weight (*TW*): 100 seed weight per plant was measured by grams (g).

Statistical analysis

The analysis of the obtained data was carried out following the alpha lattice design using Microsoft Office Excel 2019, 32 bit. The values of data were subjected to population distribution, analysis of variance (ANOVA) for sheath-blight related parameters, and morphological traits. Pearson's correlations analysis was performed by Window stat 7.5 version. Euclidean cluster analysis based on UPGMA was performed in the PAST computer software 4.0 version. Multivariate principal component analysis was executed by XLSTAT 2018 software.

Results and Discussion

Distribution and grouping of population

The frequency distribution of the studied population suggested the presence of wide variation Table 1. The mean, median and mode values were found to be different, which indicated the asymmetric distribution of data. Among the parameters studied, PHT, PNL, and TNH were negatively skewed, whereas the remaining parameters were positively skewed. Kurtosis values ranged between -1 to +1 for all the traits other than PDI on the 7th day (2.89) and 14th day (2.23), kurtosis values were <3, which showed a frequency of the studied population was platykurtic. The coefficient of variation was found to be reasonable and varied from 7.2 (plant height) to 42.1 (PDI of 7th day), which showed the population had higher variability. The analysis of variance (mean sum of squares) for 9 agronomic traits of 106 population lines is presented in Table 2. Among the treatments, all the traits were found to be significantly different other than PNL and TNH, whereas, in replication, YLD, TW, and PDI of the 28th day showed non-significant results. The results of our study indicate that an appreciable level of variability is present among the population concerning sheath blight resistance and agronomic traits recorded. The estimates of Pearson's correlation coefficients (Table 3) among agronomic traits resulted in a highly significant correlation of mean PDI with AUDPC (0.765). Plant height was negatively associated with PDI of the 28th day (-0.630), the mean PDI (-0.571), and the AUDPC (-0.524). TNH and TW have indicated negligible correlation with all other parameters.

Trait	Mean	Median	Mode	Kurtosis	Skewness	Range	Min	Max	Sum	C.V(%)
РНТ	123.12	124.1	128.8	0.72	-0.67	48.4	92.9	141.3	13049.84	7.2
PNL	19.18	19.105	18.6	-0.27	-0.03	6.82	15.2	22.02	2033.51	7.5
TNH	5.35	5.4	6	-0.57	-0.11	4.8	3.1	7.9	567.75	19.4
YLD	11.04	10.93	#N/A	0.22	0.18	15.17	4.503	19.679	1170.67	25
TW	2.39	2.38	2.1	-0.21	0.27	1.18	1.87	3.055	254.03	10.4
PDI of 7th day	18.65	15.55	15.55	2.89	1.71	36.67	10	46.67	1974.72	42.1
PDI of 14th day	20.05	17.77	17.77	2.23	1.48	36.11	11.11	47.22	2125.83	38.8
PDI of 21st day	37.01	35.56	33.33	0.34	0.56	48.89	13.33	62.22	3923	26.6
PDI of 28th day	58.94	57.78	64.44	0.02	0.21	57.78	31.11	88.89	6248.22	18.6
Mean PDI	33.65	31.67	29.44	1.15	1.07	40.56	18.89	59.44	3567.94	23.9
AUDPC	935.89	863.33	770	1.31	1.17	1191.94	521.11	1713.05	99204.58	26.8

Table 1: Descriptive statistics of different traits of rice population lines during wet season 2019-2020

C.V- coefficient of variance; min- minimum value; max- maximum value; sum- total summation; PHT-plant height; PNLpanicle length; TNH-tiller number per hill; YLD- yield of plant; TW- test weight (100 grains); PDI- Percent Disease Index; AUDPC- Area Under Disease Progress Curve; N/A- not available

Table 2: Analysis of variance for various traits of rice during wet season 2019-2020.

Sauraa	Dogro						Mean sq	uares				
of Variatio n	es of freed om	РНТ	PNL	TN H	YLD	TW	PDI of 7th day	PDI of 14th day	PDI of 21st day	PDI of 28th day	Mean PDI	AUDPC
Treatm	105	161.43	A 15ng	2.18	15.18	0.13*	124.08	121.53	194.34	240.80	130.30	126443.7
ent	105	**	T.15115	ns	**	*	**	**	**	**	**	4**
Replicat	1	405.83	534.80	2.63	7.26n	0.001	407.41	525.86	1817.1	422.02	706.05	812814.4
ion	1	*	**	ns	s	5ns	*	*	1**	ns	**	8**
Error	105	58.81	6.25	1.47	6.68	0.05	49.78	54.87	101.28	106.36	51.51	51508.09

**significance value at 0.01%, * significance value at 0.001%, ns-non significance; PHT-plant height; PNL- panicle length; TNH-tiller number per hill; YLD- yield of plant; TW-test weight (100 grains); PDI- Percent Disease Index; AUDPC- Area Under Disease Progress Curve

Table 3: Pearson's correlation analysis for various traits of rice during wet season 2019-2020

Variables	РНТ	PNL	TNH	YLD	TW	PDI of 7th DAY	PDI of 14th DAY	PDI of 21st DAY	PDI of 28th DAY	Mean PDI	AUDPC
РНТ	1	0.287	0.001	0.166	0.185	-0.482	-0.487	-0.398	-0.630	-0.571	-0.524
PNL	0.287	1	-0.265	-0.066	0.016	-0.201	-0.157	-0.102	-0.185	-0.181	-0.165
TNH	0.001	-0.265	1	0.249	-0.130	0.129	0.106	0.195	0.147	0.167	0.166
YLD	0.166	-0.066	0.249	1	0.112	0.099	0.037	0.070	-0.018	0.048	0.060
TW	0.185	0.016	-0.130	0.112	1	0.006	-0.041	-0.095	-0.204	-0.107	-0.082
PDI of 7th DAY	-0.482	-0.201	0.129	0.099	0.006	1	0.966	0.718	0.630	0.911	0.926
PDI of 14th DAY	-0.487	-0.157	0.106	0.037	-0.041	0.966	1	0.741	0.637	0.920	0.940
PDI of 21st DAY	-0.398	-0.102	0.195	0.070	-0.095	0.718	0.741	1	0.648	0.880	0.909
PDI of 28th DAY	-0.630	-0.185	0.147	-0.018	-0.204	0.630	0.637	0.648	1	0.845	0.765
Mean PDI	-0.571	-0.181	0.167	0.048	-0.107	0.911	0.920	0.880	0.845	1	0.990
AUDPC	-0.524	-0.165	0.166	0.060	-0.082	0.926	0.940	0.909	0.765	0.990	1

PHT-plant height; PNL- panicle length; TNH-tiller number per hill; YLD- yield of the plant; TW- test weight (100 grains); PDI- Percent Disease Index; AUDPC- Area under disease progress curve, curve and *PDI* per cent disease index; the range is based on the minimum value of the group plus CD value.



Figure 1: Biplot graph for various traits in the F_3 rice population. PCA biplot graph conceded connection between variables by vector angle. The analysis indicated that the traits *viz.*, mean PDI strong positively correlated with PDI at 7th, 14th, 21st, 28th day, and AUDPC. While plant height has a less strong correlation to tiller number per plant and panicle length. Similarly, yield data is strongly correlated with tiller number per plant.

The PCA biplot analysis for the F₃ population was carried out to find the grouping pattern of various agronomic traits under field conditions. The population by trait biplot analysis accounted for 60.24% of the variation among the F₃ population by the first two components. The PC1 captured 47.08% of variation and PC2 explained 13.19% variation of the total variability (Figure 1). The longest vector load such as mean PDI and AUDPC were observed to be the main distinguishing factors for grouping the population. PCA biplot figure conceded connection between variables by vector angle. The analysis indicated that the traits viz., mean PDI, and AUDPC depicted a negative correlation with PHT and TW but they had no correlation with YLD and TNH. PCA biplot

diagram displayed a good separation of the population lines which was high in agreement with the UPGMA clustering. The biplot diagram (Figure 1) indicated significant discrimination of the population lines into quadrangles. The Unweighted Pair Group Method of Arithmetic Means (UPGMA) cluster analysis led to the grouping of the 106 individuals into 2 major clusters, A and B. The dendrogram of the 106 individuals was constructed using correlation coefficient (CP) = 0.62. The largest cluster, A constituted 85 F₃ population lines which were further subdivided into 2 sub-clusters namely, A1 and A2. The sub-group A1 had a total of 11 individuals which were moderately resistant, including Tetep. Subcluster

dendrogram designated that the sub-group A2-1 contained 20 individuals with varying degrees of SB resistance including 8 susceptible and 12 moderately susceptible individuals. The largest subgroup, A2-2 consisted of 54 moderately susceptible individuals which represent 50% of the total population.

A2 was further subdivided into A2-1 and A2-2. The Cluster B, consisting of 21 individuals, was further sub-divided into two groups B1 and B2 with a similarity coefficient of 0.59. Out of these, 14 individuals which were found susceptible were assigned into sub-group B1 and the remaining 7 individuals along with PB-1 were reassigned into sub-group B2 which are highly susceptible (Figure. 2).



Figure 2: Dendrogram based on UPGMA clustering of rice population based on various traits during the wet season of 2019.

Screening of F_3 population of rice for sheath disease index (PDI) between 12.22 to 23.33. blight (*Rhizoctonia solani* AG-1 IA) resistance under field condition Furthermore, our present experiment, revealed that a relatively higher set of 63 individuals (60%) (SB-

Assessment of crop varieties/cultivars against diverse crop diseases is essential (Mew et al., 2004), and a continual process required not only for finding the source of resistance genes or QTLs but also for recognizing the incidence of virulence pathotypes in contrast to specific crop diseases (Singh et al., 2016). However, various researchers have attempted to screen thousands of rice germplasms including improved accessions, wild types, landraces, and mapping populations but they couldn't come up with any source of resistance to ShB (Zuo et al., 2009; Williocquet et al., 2012; Dubey et al., 2014). In present study, a total of 106 F₃ individuals of rice were screened for sheath blight resistance using highly virulent strain of Rhizoctonia solani AG-1 IA (MTCC-12227) under field conditions. Depending on the area under disease progress curve (AUDPC) values, the rice population was classified into four categories viz.,

(I) moderately resistant (MR: AUDPC = 521-676), (II) moderately susceptible (MS: AUDPC = 677-987), (III) susceptible (S: AUDPC = 988-1314), and (IV) highly susceptible (HS: AUDPC = 1315-1713) (**Table 4**). Eleven lines (9.8%) (SB-T-3, SB-T-13, SB-T-14, SB-T-15, SB-T-21, SB-T-26, SB-T-32, SB-T-53, SB-T-55, SB-T-62, and TETEP) were found moderately resistant with mean percent

Furthermore, our present experiment, revealed that a relatively higher set of 63 individuals (60%) (SB-T-1, SB-T-2, SB-T-4, SB-T-5, SB-T-7, SB-T-8, SB-T-10,SB-T-11, SB-T-12, SB-T-16, SB-T-17, SB-T-19, SB-T-22, SB-T-24, SB-T-27, SB-T-28, SB-T-30, SB-T-31, SB-T-33, SB-T-34, SB-T-35, SB-T-36, SB-T-37, SB-T-39, SB-T-40, SB-T-41, SB-T-42, SB-T-44, SB-T-45, SB-T-46, SB-T-47, SB-T-48, SB-T-50, SB-T-51, SB-T-52, SB-T-54, SB-T-56, SB-T-57, SB-T-58, SB-T-59, SB-T-60, SB-T-61, SB-T-63, SB-T-64, SB-T-65, SB-T-66, SB-T-67, SB-T-68, SB-T-69, SB-T-72, SB-T-79, SB-T-80, SB-T-81, SB-T-82, SB-T-84, SB-T-85, SB-T-91, SB-T-93, SB-T-94, SB-T-97, SB-T-98, SB-T-99, SB-T-101) exhibited moderately susceptible reaction with mean percent disease index (PDI) between 24.44 to 35.55 when compared to the susceptible control check (Pusa Basmati-1).

Of the remaining population, twenty-four isolates (22.6%) (SB-T-6, SB-T-9, SB-T-18, SB-T-20, SB-T-29, SB-T-38, SB-T-43, SB-T-49, SB-T-70, SB-T-71, SB-T-74, SB-T-75, SB-T-76, SB-T-77, SB-T-78, SB-T-83, SB-T-88, SB-T-92, SB-T-95, SB-T-96, SB-T-100, SB-T-102, SB-T-103, SB-T-104) exhibited susceptible reaction with mean percent disease index 36 to 46.9. Eight (7.5%) population lines (SB-T-23, SB-T-25, SB-T-73, SB-T-86, SB-T-87, SB-T-89, SB-T-90, PB-1) were found to be

Ī	Heat		AUDDC		Diss Demulation
1 40	ne 4. Grouph	ng the rice r ₃ p	opulation inc	s against sheath	ongint pathogen

Table 4. Crouning the rise F nonulation lines against sheath blight nothegon

Host	PDI %	AUDPC	Rice Population
response			
MR (11)	<u><</u> 23.3	521-676	SB-T-3, SB-T-13, SB-T-14, SB-T-15, SB-T-21, SB-T-26, SB-T-32, SB-T-53,
			SB-T-55, SB-T-62, Tetep
MS (63)	24.4 - 35.5	677-987	SB-T-1, SB-T-2, SB-T-4, SB-T-5, SB-T-7, SB-T-8, SB-T-10, SB-T-11, SB-T-
			12, SB-T-16, SB-T-17, SB-T-19, SB-T-22, SB-T-24, SB-T-27, SB-T-28, SB-
			T-30, SB-T-31, SB-T-33, SB-T-34, SB-T-35, SB-T-36, SB-T-37, SB-T-39,
			SB-T-40, SB-T-41, SB-T-42, SB-T-44, SB-T-45, SB-T-46, SB-T-47, SB-T-
			48, SB-T-50, SB-T-51, SB-T-52, SB-T-54, SB-T-56, SB-T-57, SB-T-58, SB-
			T-59, SB-T-60, SB-T-61, SB-T-63, SB-T-64, SB-T-65, SB-T-66, SB-T-67,
			SB-T-68, SB-T-69, SB-T-72, SB-T-79, SB-T-80, SB-T-81, SB-T-82, SB-T-
			84, SB-T-85, SB-T-91, SB-T-93, SB-T-94, SB-T-97, SB-T-98, SB-T-99, SB-
			T-101
S (24)	36 - 45.9	988-1314	SB-T-6, SB-T-9, SB-T-18, SB-T-20, SB-T-29, SB-T-38, SB-T-43, SB-T-49,
			SB-T-70, SB-T-71, SB-T-74, SB-T-75, SB-T-76, SB-T-77, SB-T-78, SB-T-
			83, SB-T-88, SB-T-92, SB-T-95, SB-T-96, SB-T-100, SB-T-102, SB-T-103,
			SB-T-104
HS (8)	> 46.0	1315-1713	SB-T-23, SB-T-25, SB-T-73, SB-T-86, SB-T-87, SB-T-89, SB-T-90, PB-1

MR moderately resistant, *MS* moderately susceptible, *S* susceptible, *HS* highly susceptible, *AUDPC* area under disease progressive curve and *PDI* percent disease index; range is based on minimum value of the group plus CD value

223 Environment Conservation Journal highly susceptible when compared to resistant were in turn recorded with certain agronomic traits control (Tetep). According to Chaudhary (2016), disease severity was found to be one of the significant variables for assessing ShB resistance in rice and he evaluated twelve rice genotypes and determined three resistant genotypes of rice viz., Sabitri, Jasmine-85, and Betichikon was affected by low disease severity. Similarly, Yadav et al., (2014) also found a landrace, ARC 10351, and a variety Tetep that depicted moderate resistant reaction against sheath blight. Moreover, Shiobara et al., (2013) reported three landraces *i.e.*, Nepal 555, Jarjan, and Nepal 8 as resistant against ShB after screening for three years continuously under field conditions. Despite screening thousands of rice germplasms, only a few rice cultivars and lines offer resistance to ShB that have been reported, viz., Teqing (Pinson et al., 2005), Jasmine 85 (Liu et al., 2009), Tetep (Channamallikarjuna et al., 2010), Pecos (Sharma et al., 2009). Moreover, our results are in agreement with the previous reports of several studies (Dey et al., 2016; Tejaswini et al., 2017; Goswami et al., 2019; Pavani et al., 2020 and Bal et al., 2020). However, few lines showed moderate resistance to the disease which can be exploited for the development of sheath blightresistant cultivars.

Conclusion

The complete resistance against sheath blight is lacking in rice germplasm. Our study was an effort to screen for resistance in an F₃ population resulted from a cross between IC277332 (susceptible parent) and Tetep (resistant parent). The plants

References

- Adhipathi, P., Singh, V., & Meena, S. C. (2013). Virulence diversity of Rhizoctonia solani causing sheath blight disease rice and its host pathogen in interaction. Bioscan, 8(3), 949-952.
- Bal, A., Samal, P., Chakraborti, M., Mukherjee, A. K., Ray, S., Molla, K. A., & Kar, M. K. (2020). Stable quantitative trait locus (QTL) for sheath blight resistance from rice cultivar CR 1014. Euphytica, 216(11), 1-19.
- Bhunkal, N., Singh, R., & Mehta, N. (2015). Assessment of losses and identification of slow blighting genotypes against sheath blight of rice. Journal of Mycology and Plant Pathology, 45(3), 285-291.

to study their correlation with PDI. Out of 106 rice population lines, 9.8% of lines depicted moderate resistance (MR), 60% lines were moderately susceptible (MS), 22.5% lines were susceptible (S), and 7.5% lines were highly susceptible (HS). We found nine moderate resistant lines (SB-T-3, SB-T-13, SB-T-14, SB-T-15, SB-T-21, SB-T-26, SB-T-32, SB-T-53, SB-T-55) which showed less AUDPC values than Tetep (R - check). None of the rice lines was resistant to sheath blight disease. The majority of the F₃ population were moderately susceptible (63) in comparison to Pusa Basmati-1 (S-check). Identified resistant lines can be used as donors/pre-breeding lines for the development of sheath blight-resistant rice cultivars. The data gathered in this study will be valuable in developing a breeding program and managing the sheath blight disease in rice. Furthermore, in the coming future, it is necessary to perform breeding experiments and evaluation of a large number of rice population against R. solani to determine resistance lines.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Director, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India for providing facilities to carry out the experiment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Channamallikarjuna, V., Sonah, H., Prasad, M., Rao, G. J. N., Chand, S., Upreti, H. C., & Sharma, T. R. (2010). Identification of major quantitative trait loci qSBR11-1 for sheath blight resistance in rice. *Molecular Breeding*, 25(1), 155-166.
- Chaudhary, B. (2015). Evaluating Sheath Blight Resistance in Rice Using Detached Tiller and Field Screening Method. Journal of Nepal Agricultural Research Council, 1, 1-8.
- Dev, S., Badri, J., Prakasam, V., Bhadana, V. P., Eswari, K. B., Laha, G. S., ... & Ram, T. (2016). Identification and agromorphological characterization of rice genotypes resistant to sheath blight. Australasian Plant Pathology, 45(2), 145-153.

- Dubey, A. K., Pandian, R. T. P., Rajashekara, H., Khanna, A., Ellur, R. K., Sharma, P., ... & Singh, U. D. (2014). Molecular validation for blast and sheath blight resistance in improved rice genotypes and landraces. *Indian Phytopath*, 67(3), 216-221.
- Goswami, S. K., Singh, V., & Kashyap, P. L. (2017). Population genetic structure of Rhizoctonia solani AG1IA from rice field in North India. *Phytoparasitica*, 45(3), 299-316.
- Goswami, S. K., Singh, V., Kashyap, P. L., & Singh, P. K. (2019). Morphological characterization and screening for sheath blight resistance using Indian isolates of Rhizoctonia solani AG1IA. *Indian Phytopathology*, 72(1), 107-124.
- IRRI, (2014). Standard evaluation system for rice: Reference guide. International Rice Research Institute, Los Banos.
- Koshariya, A., Kumar, I., Pradhan, A., Shinde, U., Verulkar, S. B., Agrawal, T., & Kotasthane, A. (2018). Identification of quantitative trait loci (QTL) associated with sheath blight tolerance in rice. *Indian J. Genet*, 78(2), 196-201.
- Kumar, K. V. K., Reddy, M. S., Kloepper, J. W., Lawrence, K. S., Groth, D. E., & Miller, M. E. (2016). Sheath blight disease of rice (Oryza sativa L.)–an overview. *Biosciences Biotechnology Research Asia*, 6(2), 465-480.
- Liu, G. U. A. N. G. J. I. E., Jia, Y., Correa-Victoria, F. J., Prado, G. A., Yeater, K. M., McClung, A., & Correll, J. C. (2009). Mapping quantitative trait loci responsible for resistance to sheath blight in rice. *Phytopathology*, 99(9), 1078-1084.
- Margani, R., Hadiwiyono, H., & Widadi, S. (2018). Utilizing Bacillus to inhibit the growth and infection by sheath blight pathogen, *Rhizoctonia solani* in rice. *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*. 142. 012070. 10.1088/1755-1315/142/1/012070.
- Mew, T.W., Leung, H., Savary, S., Vera Cruz, C.M., &Leach, J.E. (2004). Looking Ahead in Rice Disease Research and Management, *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 23(2), 103-127.
- Molla, K.A., Karmakar, S., Molla, J., Bajaj, P., Varshney, R.K., Datta, S. K., & Datta, K. (2020). Understanding sheath blight resistance in rice: the road behind and the road ahead. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 18(4), 895–915.
- Neha, K.V., Naveenkumar, R., Balabaskar, P., & Pakkirisamy, M. (2017). Evaluation of fungicides against sheath blight of rice caused by *Rhizoctonia solani* (Kuhn.). ORYZA- An International Journal on Rice. 54, 470.
- Pan, X.B., Zou, J.H., Chen, Z.X., Lu, J.F., Yu, H.X., Li, H.T., Wang, Z.B., Pan, X.Y., Rush, M.C., & Zhu, L.H. (1999). Tagging major quantitative trait loci for sheath blight

resistance in a rice variety, Jasmine 85. *China Science* Bull. 44: 1783–1789.

- Pavani, S. L., Singh, V., Goswami, S. K., & Singh, P. K. (2020). Screening for novel rice sheath blight resistant germplasm and their biochemical characterization. *Indian Phytopathology*, 73(4), 689-694.
- Pinson, S. R., Capdevielle, F. M., & Oard, J. H. (2005). Confirming QTLs and finding additional loci conditioning sheath blight resistance in rice using recombinant inbred lines. *Crop Science*, 45, 503–510.
- Parveen, S., & Ali, M. A. (2018). Screening rice germplasm against sheath blight disease of rice and its integrated management in Bangladesh. *Bangladesh Rice Journal*, 22(2), 1-12.
- Richa, K., Tiwari, I. M., Kumari, M., Devanna, B. N., Sonah, H., Kumari, A., ... & Sharma, T. R. (2016). Functional characterization of novel chitinase genes present in the sheath blight resistance QTL: qSBR11-1 in rice line tetep. *Frontiers in plant science*, 7, 244.
- Sha, X. Y., & Zhu, L. H. (1989). Resistance of some rice varieties to sheath blight (ShB). *International Rice Research Newsletter*, 15, 7-8.
- Shaner, G., & Finney, R. E. (1977). The effect of nitrogen fertilization on the expression of slow-mildewing resistance in Knox wheat. *Phytopathology*, 67(8), 1051-1056.
- Sharma, A., McClung, A. M., Pinson, S. R., Kepiro, J. L., Shank, A. R., Tabien, R. E., & Fjellstrom, R. (2009). Genetic mapping of sheath blight resistance QTLs within tropical japonica rice cultivars. *Crop science*, 49(1), 256-264.
- Sharma, N. R., Teng, P. S., & Olivarce, F. M. (1990). Comparison of assessment methods for rice sheath blight disease. *Philippine Phytopathology (Philippines)*, 26, 20-24.
- Shi, W., Zhao, S.L., Liu, K., Sun, Y.B., Ni, Z.B., Zhang, G.Y., Tang, H.S., Zhu, J.W., Wan, B.J., Sun, H.Q., & Dai, J.Y. (2020). Comparison of leaf transcriptome in response to Rhizoctonia solani infection between resistant and susceptible rice cultivars. *BMC Genomics*, 21(1), 1–6.
- Shiobara, F. T., Ozaki, H., Sato, H., Maeda, H., Kojima, Y., & Masahiro, Y. (2013). Mapping and validation of QTLs for rice sheath blight resistance. *Breeding Science*, 63, 301– 308.
- Singh, R., Sunder, S., & Kumar, P. (2016). Sheath blight of rice: current status and perspectives. *Indian Phytopathology*, 69(4), 340-351.
- Singh, V., Singh, U. S., Singh, K. P., Singh, M., & Kumar, A. (2002). Genetic diversity of *Rhizoctonia solani* by

morphological characteristics, pathogenicity, anastomosis behaviour and RAPD fingerprinting. *Journal of Mycology and Plant Pathology*, 32(3), 332-344.

- sheath blight and bacterial leaf bligh. Journal of Rice Research, 9(1), 4-10.
- Turaidar, V., Reddy, M., Anantapur, R., Krupa, K., Dalawai, N., Deepak, C.A., & Kumar, K.H. (2018). Rice Sheath Blight: Major Disease in Rice. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 7, 976-988.
- Shi-Min, Z. U. O., Zi-Bin, W. A. N. G., Xi-Jun, C. H. E. N., Fang, G. U., Zhang, Y. F., Zong-Xiang, C. H. E. N., ... & Cun-Hong, P. A. N. (2009). Evaluation of Resistance of a Novel Rice Line YSBR1 to Sheath Blight. Acta Agronomica Sinica, 35(4), 608-614.
- Uppala, L., & Zhou, X. (2018). Rice Sheath Blight. *Plant Health Instructor*. 10.1094/PHI-I-2018-0403-01.
- Wheeler, B.E.J., (1969). An Introduction to Plant Diseases. John Wiley and Sons Limited, London, p 301
- Willocquet, L., Noel, M., Sackville Hamilton, R., & Savary, S. (2012). Susceptibility of rice to sheath blight: an assessment of the diversity of rice germplasm according to genetic groups and morphological traits. *Euphytica*, 183(2), 227-241.

- Tejaswini, K. L. Y., Raju, S. K., Kumar, B. V. N. S. R. R., Mohammad, A. L., Ramkumar, P. V., Satyanarayana, P. V., & Srinivas, M. (2016). Screening of rice F5 families for
- Yadav, S., Ranjan, R.K., Anuradha, G., Reddy, V.L.N., & Sudhakar, R. (2015). Screening of rice germplasms for sheath blight resistance and assessment of parental polymorphism using SSR markers. *Ecology, Environment* & Conservation, 21(3), 295-301.
- Yellareddygari, S. K. R., Reddy, M. S., Kloepper, J. W., Lawrence, K. S., & Fadamiro, H. (2014). Rice sheath blight: a review of disease and pathogen management approaches. *Journal of Plant Pathology & Microbiology*, 5(4), 1.
- Zarbafi, S. S., & Ham, J. H. (2019). An Overview of Rice QTLs Associated with Disease Resistance to Three Major Rice Diseases: Blast, Sheath Blight, and Bacterial Panicle Blight. Agronomy, 9(4), 177.
- Zheng, A., Lin, R., Zhang, D., Qin, P., Xu, L., Ai, P., & Li, P. (2013). The evolution and pathogenic mechanisms of the rice sheath blight pathogen. *Nature communications*, 4(1), 1-10.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Spatial variability map of micronutrients in vegetable growing area of Varanasi

Kshirod Chandra Sahoo 🖂

Department of Soil Science & Agricultural Chemistry, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India.

Rajeswari Das

Department of Soil Science & Agricultural Chemistry, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Bihar, India.

Pramod Kumar Sharma

Department of Soil Science & Agricultural Chemistry, Banaras Hindu University, Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 13 October 2021	Soil pH and the availability of essential micronutrients is a deciding factor for
Revised : 08 January 2022	vegetable production. Major nutrients i.e. nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium,
Accepted : 20 January 2022	micronutrients are critical elements in enhancing vegetable growth and
	productivity. The present study focused on the micronutrient status of a
Published online: 22 February 2022	vegetable growing area i.e. Shanshahpur village of Varanasi, Uttar Pradesh,
	India. Spatial variability maps were prepared from 50 samples collected from
Key Words:	individual vegetable intercropping system from farmer's field for all the
Anthropogenic factors	micronutrient element i.e. Fe, Mn, Zn & Cu respectively. Most of the soils of the
Geostatistics	vegetable growing area of Shanshahpur were alkaline (7.99-8.72) in nature and
Intervropping	lies within a safe range of electrical conductivity (<0.20 dSm ⁻¹). However, a
Micronutrients	medium range of soil organic carbon (0.50-0.75%) status was observed
Spatial variability	throughout the area. According to the variability map for micronutrient status
	there was a medium to high status for available Cu (0.81 mgkg ⁻¹) but in contrast
	available Fe and Zn content of the vegetable growing lies in low status
	category(2.00-13.15mgkg ⁻¹ and 0.02-2.26 mgkg ⁻¹ respectively). Available Mn
	status was seen reduced with increased alkalinity (9.08-0.74 mgkg ⁻¹). But most
	of the micronutrients were deficient for vegetable production because
	maximum number of soil samples lies in alkaline category which throws a scope
	towards amelioration of the vegetable growing soils for reducing its pH.

Introduction

The micronutrients play important role in Indian agriculture towards sustainable crop production. Thus, the importance of micronutrients need to be viewed in food systems context, as their inclusion in balanced fertilization schedule would optimize micronutrient supply and availability in the entire food consumption cycle (James and Henry, 2020). Indian soils are generally poor in fertility especially in micronutrients as these have consistently been mined away from their finite soil source due to continuous cultivation for a very long time without addition of micronutrient fertilizer resulting in emerging micronutrient deficiency (Hotz and Gibson, 2007). In addition, green revolution ledincreased demand of micronutrients by the high

yielding crop cultivars (especially rice and wheat) as well as adoption of intensive cropping practices, use of high-analysis fertilizers with low micronutrient content, decreased use of organic manures and crop residues, growing of crops in soils with low micronutrient reserves. Besides, other natural and anthropogenic factors are affecting phyto-availability adverselv of aggravated micronutrients the situation. Geostatistics and geographic information system (GIS) provide powerful tools for analysing spatial variability and visualizing spatial classification, as well as other spatial algebraic functions (Hedge et al., 2019). In the last two decades, these techniques have been applied widely in soil science to explore spatial variability of physical and chemical properties of soils under grain crops and pasture in developed countries (Blackmore *et al.*, 1998). Site specific nutrient management (SSNM) was developed for large-scale agriculture with high levels of mechanization. The objective of this study is to investigate spatial variability of micronutrients in vegetable growing areas of Varanasi.

Material and Methods

Experimental Site details

Fifty soil samples are collected from vegetable growing fields using hand held GPS 1:50000 scale. Soils are collected from 25.08° to 25.23° N latitude and 82.50° to 83.03° E longitude having altitude of 80.71 meters above mean sea level (MSL).

Evaluation of Soil fertility status

The soil samples are analyzed for pH by pH meter (Jacksons 1978), EC content by EC meter (Jacksons 1978), and organic carbon by Wet oxidation method using Walkley and Black (1934),

Estimation of Micronutrients of the sampled soils

The available Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn of the soil sample were determined with 0.005M DTPA (Diethylene Triamine Penta Acetic Acid) using Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer using (Lindsay and Norvell, 1978).

Generation of Spatial Variability Map

The spatial variability map of micronutrients was created by descriptive statistics &geostatistical methods as proposed by (Li *et al.*, 2021).

Results and Discussion Soil fertility status

The pH in soils of Shanshahpur village generally ranged from slightly acidic to alkaline (6.03-8.72). The lowest pH (6.03) value was obtained in S₁₉. The maximum pH (8.72) value was observed inS₁₃ i.e. pumpkin field (Table 1). The mean value of pH was 7.99. Most of the samples were slightly alkaline in pH (90%), few were acidic to neutral i.e. 8% and 2 % respectively. Similar result was observed by Singh *et al.*(2016) in the soil of Sevapuri block of Varanasi of Uttar Pradesh. The map indicates that most of the vegetable growing areas were in neutral to alkaline pH. The electrical conductivity in soil of Shanshahpur village were in normal range, with a mean of 0.20 dSm⁻¹, the lowest value being 0.11 dSm⁻¹in S₅, S₉ & S₅₀ and

highest EC value being 0.52 dSm^{-1} in S₂ (Table 1).Similar results were observed by Chaurasia *et al.* (2013) in the district of Varanasi of Uttar Pradesh. Their above map shows that most of the areas were in low to medium category of EC & ranged from 0.11-0.52 dSm⁻¹ and a small portion were in high category.

The maximum and minimum percent of organic carbon content in soils of Shanshahpur village of Varanasi were 0.49% and 0.92% respectively (Table 1). However, the minimum percent of organic carbon were found from pointed gourd field. Most of the samples (86%) were in medium range in terms of organic carbon status followed by high status (10%) and low status (4%). Similar result was observed by Singh *et al.* (2016) in Shikhar block of Mirzapur district of Uttar Pradesh.

Micronutrients status of the sampled soils according to the Variability maps

The available Cu content ranges from 0.22 to 2.46 mgkg⁻¹of soil (Table 2). Maximum soil samples were in high category (92%) with mean value 0.81 mgkg⁻¹. The similar content of available Cu was also reported by Sahoo et al. (1989). However, Panwar and Totawat (2004) reported the range of Cu from 0.27 to 1.04 mgkg⁻¹ of soil. The variability map shows (Figure 1) that the available Cu were in medium to high category and a small portion were in low category. The available Mn content in soil ranges from 0.74 to 9.08 mgkg⁻¹. (Table 2).However, maximum soil samples were in low category (66%). The similar findings were reported by Panwar and Totawat (2004). The variability map shows (Figure 2) that the soil Mn content in low category. Further, the availability of manganese decreased in alkaline soil.

The available Fe content ranges from 2.00 to 13.15 mgkg⁻¹ of soil (Table 2). Maximum soil samples were in low category (92%).Patel *et al.* (1995) also reported the same results in command areas of Gujarat. The available iron content in the vegetable growing areas were in low category as shown by the variability map (Figure 3). Further, the available Zn in soil content in soil ranged from 0.02 to 2.26 mgkg⁻¹. (Table 2). Maximum soil samples were in low category (88%). Singh *et al.* (1989) was also reported similar result in plain areas of Haryana. The low content of available Zn in surface horizon was also reported by Singh and Tripathi (1983), Vijay Kumar *et al.* (1996), Sen *et al.* (1997) and

SN	pH	EC (dSm ⁻¹)	OC (%)
S_1	6.10	0.34	0.53
S ₂	7.43	0.52	0.49
S2 S2	7.45	0.15	0.57
S ₄	7.95	0.13	0.57
S ₄	8.40	0.11	0.05
S,	8.40	0.16	0.49
S ₇	8.45	0.10	0.09
S ₀	8.40	0.17	0.01
<u>S₈</u>	8.07	0.10	0.09
S9	8.23	0.17	0.67
S ₁₀	8.00	0.17	0.01
S11	8.08	0.17	0.71
S12	8.20	0.16	0.74
S ₁₃	8.72	0.15	0.73
S ₁₄	7.98	0.14	0.60
S ₁₅	8.11	0.15	0.64
S ₁₆	7.31	0.15	0.63
S ₁₇	7.81	0.21	0.70
S ₁₈	6.31	0.26	0.63
S19	6.03	0.39	0.55
S ₂₀	7.88	0.19	0.68
S ₂₁	7.48	0.17	0.61
S ₂₂	8.23	0.16	0.54
S ₂₃	8.12	0.27	0.68
S ₂₄	8.20	0.20	0.76
S ₂₅	8.15	0.20	0.73
S ₂₆	8.10	0.23	0.56
S ₂₇	7.95	0.22	0.75
S ₂₈	8.03	0.20	0.67
S ₂₉	7.95	0.22	0.78
S ₃₀	8.25	0.22	0.68
S ₃₁	8.32	0.19	0.67
S ₃₂	8.63	0.20	0.64
S ₃₃	8.70	0.24	0.68
S ₃₄	7.98	0.17	0.65
S ₃₅	8.47	0.26	0.75
S ₃₆	8.52	0.23	0.79
S ₃₇	8.20	0.23	0.56
S ₃₈	8.14	0.19	0.69
S ₃₉	8.30	0.18	0.61
S ₄₀	8.35	0.21	0.64
S ₄₁	8.37	0.18	0.57
S ₄₂	8.25	0.17	0.73
S ₄₃	8.26	0.19	0.60
S ₄₄	7.55	0.15	0.70
S ₄₅	8.18	0.16	0.67
S ₄₆	8.33	0.23	0.92
S ₄₇	7.95	0.19	0.64
S ₄₈	7.62	0.19	0.68
S49	7.98	0.21	0.86
S ₅₀	6.41	0.11	0.87
Range	6.03-8.72	0.11-0.52	0.49-0.92
Mean	7.99	0.20	0.67
S.D.	0.62	0.07	0.09
C.V. (%)	7.75	35.05	13.43
· /			

 Table 1: pH, EC(dSm⁻¹) and organic carbon(%)
 Table 2: Available DTPA extractable micronutrients

 content in soils of Shanshahpur village.
 (mgKg⁻¹) in soils of Shanshahpur village.

mgkg)i	n sons of a	snansnanp	ur vinage.	1
Sample	Available	Available	Available	Available
no.	Cu	Mn	Fe	Zn
	(mgKg ⁻¹)	(mgKg ⁻¹)	(mgKg ⁻¹)	(mgKg ⁻¹)
S_1	1.14	2.24	3.05	0.25
S_2	1.17	2.28	2.93	0.34
S_3	2.46	3.76	2.66	0.30
S_4	1.79	9.08	2.54	0.60
S ₅	0.67	0.88	3.56	0.15
S ₆	1.28	1.24	2.41	0.16
S ₇	0.82	0.83	3.77	0.15
S ₈	1.02	2.90	2.06	0.20
S ₉	0.79	1.15	2.00	0.68
S ₁₀	0.94	0.78	2.69	0.16
S ₁₁	0.67	0.74	2.39	0.23
S ₁₂	0.80	1.61	2.28	0.43
S ₁₃	0.51	0.80	3.83	0.18
S ₁₄	1.03	1.39	2.14	0.13
S ₁₅	0.48	0.74	2.96	0.12
S ₁₆	0.85	1.99	3.46	1.41
S ₁₇	0.92	1.77	2.57	0.32
S ₁₈	0.34	1.79	12.25	0.40
S ₁₉	0.24	2.67	3.75	0.21
S ₂₀	0.66	1.60	2.87	0.14
S ₂₁	0.22	2.20	3.58	0.10
S ₂₂	0.02	0.90	3.73	0.12
S ₂₃	0.46	2.06	2.25	0.25
S ₂₄	0.68	1.45	2.13	0.47
S ₂₅	0.56	1.52	2.84	0.46
S ₂₆	0.69	1.29	7.26	0.60
S ₂₇	0.58	3.33	3.35	0.67
S ₂₈	0.75	1.38	2.67	0.33
S29	0.68	1.98	2.20	0.56
S30	0.74	1.53	3.33	0.26
S ₃₁	0.73	1.07	2.94	0.14
S32	0.77	1.15	2.52	0.17
S22	0.90	1.24	3.76	0.17
-35 S24	0.70	2.26	4.24	0.14
S25	1.94	1.09	3.49	2.26
S26	1.11	0.75	3.51	0.12
S27	0.42	1.01	2.66	0.11
S20	0.84	0.94	2.34	0.14
- 38 S20	0.67	2.38	3.22	0.30
S40	0.69	1.79	2.48	0.27
S40	0.78	2.97	2.28	0.09
S41	0.81	3 39	3.86	0.18
S42	0.52	2.69	2 40	0.03
S43	0.75	2.03	2.10	0.02
S44	0.75	1.07	2.93	0.02
S45	1 14	0.78	2.55	0.05
S40	0.90	1.10	13.15	0.08
S48	0.77	2.56	2.86	0.06
S40	0.8	1.84	2.68	0.22
S50	0.65	3.8	4.84	0.09
Range	0.22-2.46	0.74-9.08	2.00-13.15	0.02-2.26
Mean	0.81	1.91	3.39	0.31
S.D.	0.41	1.32	2.10	0.37
C.V. (%)	50.61	69.10	61.94	119.35



Figure 1: Spatial variability map for available Figure 3: Spatial variability map for available Iron Copper (Cu).





(Fe).



Figure 2:Spatial variability map for available Figure 4: Spatial variability map for available Zinc Manganese (Mn). (Zn).



Sharma *et al.* (2000). According to the variability map (Figure 4) most of the soil samples were Zn deficient. But the low available Zn in surface layer was due to complexing with organic matter.

Conclusion

It is observed that most of the soils of the vegetable growing area of Shanshahpur were alkaline in nature and lied within a safe range of electrical conductivity. However, a medium range of soil organic carbon status was observed throughout the area. According to the variability map for micronutrient status there was a medium to high

References

- Arnesen, A. K. M.& Singh, B. R. (1998). Plant uptake and DTPA-extractability of Cd, Cu, Ni and Zn in a Norwegian alum shale soil as affected by previous addition of dairy and pig manures and peat. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 78(3), 531-539.
- Benbi, D. K. & Brar, S. P. S. (1992). Dependence of DTPAextractable Zn, Fe, Mn, and Cu availability on organic carbon presence in arid and semiarid soils of Punjab. *Arid Land Research and Management*, 6(3), 207-216.
- Bhogal, N. S., Sakal, R., Singh, A. P. & Sinha, R. B. (1993). Micronutrient status in Aquic Ustifluvents and Udifluvents as related to certain soil properties. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 41(1), 75-78.
- Bhupender, S., (2014). Appraisal of fertility indices of the soils of Degana tehsil, Nagaur district (Rajasthan). Asian Journal of Soil Science, 9(1), 100-102.
- Blackmore S., Godwin R.J., Taylor J.C., Cosser, N.D., Wood, G.A., Earl, R.&Knight, S. (1998). Understanding variability in four fields in the United Kingdom. In: Robert PC, Rust RH, Larson W (eds) Proceedings of the 4th international conference on precision agriculture. ASA, CSSA, SSSA, Madison, WI, pp 3 – 18.
- Chattopadhyay, T., Sahoo, A. K., Singh, R. S. & Shyampura, R. L. (1996). Available micronutrient status in the soils of Vindhyanscarplands of Rajasthan in relation to soil characteristics. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 44(4), 678-681.
- Chaudhary, M. & Narwal, R. P. (2005). Effect of long-term application of farmyard manure on soil micronutrient status. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, 51(3), 351-359.
- Chhabra, G., Srivastava, P. C., Ghosh, D. & Agnihotri, A. K. (1996). Distribution of available micronutrient cations as

status for available Cu but in contrast available Fe and Zn content of the vegetable growing lies in low status category. Further, the available Mn status was seen to be reduced with increased the alkalinity.However, most of the micronutrients were deficient for vegetable production as most of the soil samples lies in alkaline category which throws a scope towards amelioration of the vegetable growing soils for reducing its pH.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

related to soil properties in different soil zones of Gola-Kosiinterbasin. Crop research-hisar, 11, 296-303.

- Dhane, S. S., & Shukla, L. M. (1995). Distribution of DTPAextractable Zn, Cu, Mn and Fe in some soil series of Maharashtra and their relationship with some soil properties. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 43(4), 597-600.
- Dias, A. C. B., Pavan, M. A., Miyazawa, M. & Zocoler, D. C. (2003). Plant residues: short term effect on sulphate, borate, zinc and copper adsorption by an acid oxisol. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 46(2), 199-202.
- Doneriya, B. S., Meena, R., Meena, V. S., Meena, R. S. & Dadhich, R. (2013). Soil fertility status of vegetable and pulses growing area under Marihan block in Vindhyan region of Mirzapur district. *An Asian Journal of Soil Science*, 8(2), 286-289.
- Dubey, D. S., (2011). DTPA extractable micronutrients (Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn) in soils of Morena district of Madhya Pradesh(Doctoral Dissertation). RVSKVV, Gwalior (MP).
- Gupta, S. & Handore, K. (2009). Direct and residual effect of zinc and zinc amended organic manures on the zinc nutrition of field crop. *International Journal of Agriculture Sciences*, 1(2), 26.
- Hegde, R., Bardhan, G., Niranjana, K.V. *et a.l*(2019). Spatial variability and mapping of selected soil properties in KaligaudanahalliMicrowatershed, GundlupetTaluk, Chamarajanagar District, under hot semiaridagrosubregion of Central Karnataka Plateau, India. *SN Appl. Sci.* 1, 518 https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-019-0486-4
- Herencia, J. F., Ruiz, J. C., Morillo, E., Melero, S., Villaverde, J. & Maqueda, C. (2008). The effect of organic and mineral fertilization on micronutrient availability in soil. *Soil Science*, 173(1), 69-80.

- Hotz, C. & Gibson, R. S. (2007). Traditional food-processing and preparation practices to enhance the bioavailability of micronutrients in plant-based diets. Journal of Nutrition, vol. 137, no. 4, pp. 1097–1100.
- Ibrahim, M. S., El-galil, A. A. & Kotb, M. M. (2001). Total and available Fe, Mn, Zn and Cu in some soils of Sohag Governorate and their association with some soil properties. *Assiut journal of agricultural sciences*, *32*(5), 71-86.
- Jalali, V. K. & Sharma, M. P. (2002). Status of available micronutrient cations in soils of mid-hill intermediate zone of Jammu region. *Indian journal of agricultural science*, 72(10), 616-618.
- James S.C.&Henry,L.S. (2020). Micronutrients Potential of Underutilized Vegetables and Their Role in Fighting Hidden Hunger. International Journal of Food Science, 1– 5. doi:10.1155/2020/9408315
- Jatav, M. K., Dua, V. K., Manoj, K., Trehan, S. P. & Sushil, K. (2013). Spatial distribution of soil available Nutrients in the potato growing pockets of Hoshiarpur district of Punjab.
- Jackson, M. L. (1978) Soil Chemical Analysis. Prentice Hall of India, Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi.
- Kumar, A., Mishra, V. N., Srivastava, L. K. & Banwasi, R. (2014). Evaluations of soil fertility status of available major nutrients (N, P & K) and micro nutrients (Fe, Mn, Cu and Zn) in Vertisol of Kabeerdham District of Chhattisgarh, India. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary and Multidisciplinary Studies*, 1(10), 72-79.
- Kumar, M., Panwar, N. R., Pandey, C. B., & Jatav, M. K. (2015). Spatial distribution of available nutrients in the potato growing areas of Banaskantha district of Gujarat. *Potato Journal*, 42(2).
- Kumar, P., Kumar, A., Dhyani, B. P., Kumar, P., Shahi, U. P., Singh, S. P. & Raizada, S. (2013). Soil fertility status in some soils of Muzaffarnagar District of Uttar Pradesh, India, along with Ganga canal command area. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 8(14), 1209-1217.
- Li C, Wang X. &Qin, M. (2021) Spatial variability of soil nutrients in seasonal rivers: A case study from the *Guo River Basin, China. PLoS ONE 16(3):* e0248655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248655</u>.
- Lindsay, W. L. & Norvell, W. A. (1978). Development of a DTPA Soil Test for Zinc, Iron, Manganese, and Copper 1. Soil science society of America journal, 42(3), 421-428
- Maji, B., Chatterji, S. & Bandyopadhyay, B. K. (1993). Available iron, manganese, zinc and copper in coastal soils of Sundarbans, West Bengal in relation to soil characteristics. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 41(3), 468-471.

- Nazif, W., Perveen, S. & Saleem, I. (2006). Status of micronutrients in soils of district Bhimber (Azad Jammu and Kashmir). *Journal of Agricultural and Biological Science*, 1(2), 35-40.
- Pannu, B. S., Saogwan, B. S. & Singh, E. (1998). Vertical distribution of micronutrients in some rice growing soils of Haryana and their relationship with soil properties. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 32(2), 116-120.
- Panwar, N. R., & Totawat, K. L. (2004). Distribution of micronutrient cation in relation to soil properties of salt affected soils of sub humid plain of Rajasthan. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 52(4), 290-294.
- Parmar, D. K., Sharma, V., Sharma, K. D. & Sharma, T. R. (1999). Micronutrient status of vegetable growing pockets in cold desert area of Himachal Pradesh. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 47(2), 280-283.
- Patel, K. P., & Singh, M. V. (1995). Copper research and agricultural production. *Micronutrient research & agricultural production.*, 33-56.
- Patil, K. D., Meisheri, M. B., Dabke, D. J. & Bagade, D. S. (2003). Distribution of DTPA-extractable zinc, copper, iron and manganese content in rice soils of Konkan region. *Journal of Soils and Crops*, 13, 85-90.
- Rajput, B. (2011). Status of DTPA-extractable micronutrient cations in major mustard growing area of Madhya Pradesh (Doctoral dissertation, RVSKVV, Gwalior (MP).
- Saha, M. N., Mandal, A. K. & Mandal, L. N. (1982). Distribution of iron, manganese, copper and zinc in soils of jute growing areas of Assam and West Bengal. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*.
- Saha, P. K., Adhikari, S. & Chatterjee, D. K. (1996). Available iron, copper, zinc and manganese in some freshwater pond soils of Orissa in relation to soil characteristics. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 44(4), 681-684.
- Sahoo, A. K., Sah, K. D.,& Gupta, S. K. (1989). Available Micro-Nutrient Status of Some Mangrove Soils of the Sunderbans. *Indians Agriculturist*, 33(3), 141-146.
- Sakal, R., Singh, A. P. & Singh, S. P. (1988). Distribution of available zinc, copper, iron and manganese in old alluvial soils as related to certain soil characteristics. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 36(1), 59-63.
- Sen, T. K., Dubey, P. N., Maji, A. K., & Chamuah, G. S. (1997). Status of micronutrient in some dominant soils of Manipur. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 45(2), 388–390.
- Sharma, B. D., Arora, H., Kumar, R. & Nayyar, V. K. (2004). Relationships between soil characteristics and total and DTPA-extractable micronutrients in Inceptisols of

Punjab. Communications in soil science and plant analysis, 35(5-6), 799-818.

- Sharma, B. D., Mukhopadhyay, S. S., Sidhu, P. S. & Katyal, J. C. (2000). Pedospheric attributes in distribution of total and DTPA-extractable Zn, Cu, Mn and Fe in Indo-Gangetic plains. *Geoderma*, 96(1-2), 131-151.
- Sharma, B. D., Sidhu, P. S. & Nayyar, V. K. (1992). Distribution of micronutrients in arid zone soils of Punjab and their relation with soil properties. *Arid Land Research* and Management, 6(3), 233-242.
- Singh, Chandra Mohan &Singh, A.P. (2015). Appraisal nutrient status of the cultivated lands of indo-gangetic plain in Mirzapur district of Uttar Pradesh, *new agriculturist*, 26(1): 69-77.
- Singh, S. B. & Rao, C. S. (2001). Availability of micronutrients in some alluvial soils of Kanpur region. *Indian journal of pulses research*, 14(1), 65-66.
- Singh, S. K., Dey, P., Sharma, P. K., Singh, Y. V., Latare, A. M., Singh, C. M. & Varma, S. S. (2016). Primary and cationic micronutrient status of soils in few districts of

eastern Uttar Pradesh. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, 64(4), 319-332.

- Singh, V., & Tripathi, B. R. (1983). Available micronutrient status of citrus growing soils of Agra region [India]. Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science.
- Trivedi, S. K. (2006). DTPA extractable micronutrients status in soil of shivpuri district of Madhya Pradesh. (Doctoral dissertation, JNKVV, Jabalpur).
- Vijay Kumar, K., Suryanarayan Reddy, M., & Gopala Krishna, V. (1996). Vertical distribution of micronutrient cations in some soil profiles of Northern Telangana of Andhra Pradesh. Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science, 44(2), 328–330.
- Walkley, A. & Black, I. A. (1934). An examination of the Degtjareff method for determining soil organic matter, and a proposed modification of the chromic acid titration method. *Soil science*, 37(1), 29-38.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Spatial mapping of groundwater quality using GIS for Jakham **River basin of Southern Rajasthan**

Vinay Kumar Gautam 🖂

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India. Mahesh Kothari Department of Soil and Water Engineering, CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India. **Pradeep Kumar Singh**

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

Sita Ram Bhakar

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, CTAE, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

Kamal Kishor Yadav

Department of Agricultural Chemistry and Soil Science, RCA, MPUAT, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 15 October 2021	The physico-chemical analysis of groundwater quality plays a significant role to
Revised : 24 December 2021	manage the water resources for drinking as well as irrigation in the sub-humid
Accepted : 06 January 2022	and semi-arid agro-climatic areas. In this study, the hydrogeochemical analyses
	and spatial mapping of groundwater quality in the Jakham River Basin located
Published online: 22 Febraury 2022	in the southern part of Rajasthan were investigated. The groundwater quality
	samples were collected from 76 wells marked on the grid map of 5×5 km ²
Key Words:	area.A spatial distribution in sampling location in the basin was prepared using
Geogenic	GIS (Geographical information system) tool based on 6 physico-chemical
GIS	parameters i.e., pH, EC, TDS, Cl, NO ₃ and F.The groundwater quality data
Groundwater	from the pre and post-monsoon seasons of 2019-20 were used to carry out a
Interpolation	detailed analysis of water quality parameters. The water quality maps for the
Physico-chemical	entire basin have been generated using anIDW interpolation technique for these
Spatial distribution	parameters as per the identified location. The higher value of TDS and EC were
	found in the south-eastern part and along the roadside of study area, which
	were dominated by agriculture activities and industrial influence. The
	concentration was observed higher in the post-monsoon period. For EC and
	TDS, major part of the (>50%) of the study area comes under the safe limit of
	potable water. Major part of the basin witnessed fluoride concentration (0.40-80
	mg/l) for both the season, which is lower than the permissible limit. Higher NO_3
	concentration was observed after the rainy season. The influence of geogenic
	activities could be clearly seen in the groundwater quality of the basin.
	Theresultant map shows that the entire basin has optimally goodgroundwater
	quality for human consumption. Hence, this study provides suggestion to
	prepare strategies for the proper management and augmentation of the
	groundwater condition in the Jakham River Basin.

Introduction

Groundwater is a very important component of the human life support system and it is required for drinking, household, industrial and agricultural uses (Bhutiani et al., 2021a; Bhutiani et al., 2021b; Ruhela et al., 2021). The groundwater quality is serious matter in arid and semi-arid areas, which is dominated by irrigation practices. Quality of a need to develop models for efficient prediction of

ground water is adversely affected by the diffuse contamination devising from intensive agricultural practices (Bhutiani et al., 2019; Ruhela et al., 2022; Saidi et al., 2009).Groundwater has been a major and consistent source of drinking and irrigation for a wide range of users (Afzali et al., 2014). There is pollutants in these soils and water (Sener and Devraz, 2013). The groundwater quality can be analysed by physicochemical parameters compared to permissible limits pre-scribed at Indian water quality standards (BIS) and WHO.Groundwater quality depletion caused by various geogenic and human activities is a serious problem for human being (Buchanan and Triantafilis 2009; CGWB 2010). The demographic changes, also a concerning factor for groundwater quality deterioration. Furthermore, many studies have found untreated sewage to be the most critical issue with respect to water contamination, because 40% of the global population do not have adequate sanitary facilities, changes to land use, land cover or river basins in watershed areas (Shi et. al, 2010; Liyanage et al., 2017), such as high scale agricultural activities, unplanned infrastructure developments, and sand mining, change the water quality and water balance due to human activities (Groppo et al., 2008; Qin et al., 2014). This may be caused by improperly planned urbanization or uncontrolled development (Liu and Chen, 2006). The groundwater quality is generally influenced by the parameters viz., pH, electrical conductivity (EC), total dissolved solids (TDS), Ca, Mg, and NO₃(Gong et al., 2014; Khadri et al., 2013). The physico-chemical analysis is necessary to examine the groundwater quality in the location, where groundwater is used for both agriculture and drinking (Srinivas et al. 2013). The Geographical Information System (GIS) was observed as useful tool for mapping, monitoring and detecting the environmental variations. As such, the purpose of this research is to investigate the hydro-geochemistry of groundwater in various locations in the basaltic hard rock region (El-Hames et al., 2011; Chen and Feng, 2013). Hence, the spatial mapping for selected water quality parameters were used to analyse the groundwater in the Jakham River Basin quality for drinkingpurpose. The different water quality maps were developed using IDW interpolation techniques by identifying the suitable wells based on groundwater quality standards as suggested by the BIS. Dahiphale et al. (2019) evaluated the ground water (GW) quality in Jaisamand Lake catchment area for checking its suitability for irrigation and drinking purpose. The spatio-temporal variations of WQ parameters were analysed for 109 wells of

study area, by using GIS technique. As clearly explained in the introduction, the objective of this study is (1) To have an overview of status of groundwater quality (2) To explore the hydrogeochemistry of the groundwater in different well locations/villages in the basaltic hard rock areas. (3) To generate spatial distribution of drinking groundwater quality parameters i.e. pH, EC, TDS, Cl, SO₄, F and NO₃ concentrations in the Jakham basin area by using geospatial techniques. Also this study is intended to evaluate and spatially analyze the water quality parameters and accordingly assist to take fruitful decisions to make safeguard quality of the open well waters in Jakham River Basin.

Material and Methods

Study area

The River Jakham originates in the hills south-west of Chotti Sadari of Pratapgarh District, Rajasthan. The basin area lies between the latitudes of 24° 27' 19.81" and 23° 58' 57.81"N, and the longitudes of 74° 30'22.63" and 74° 48' 24.12". The Jakham river basin has a catchment area of 953 km² (Figure 1). The study area has high geographical and physical diversity varies from mostly dense forest to hilly terrain. The geological set-up of the basin is characterized by different igneous and metasedimentary rocks (Gautam et al., 2022). The Pratapgarh districtis located on meta-sedimentary rocks of 'Aravalli' 'Bhilwara'and'Vindhayan' Supergroup. Aravalli and Bhilwara super group represented by phyllite, greywacke, quartzite, dolomite and Shale, Slates, Phyllites, Meta-grey wackes, Limestone, Dolomitic marble respectively. Vindhayan super group divided in Khorip, Lasrawan, Sand and Satola Groups with Shale, Conglomerate, Limestone formations. This Super Group is exposed mainly in northern part of the district and some exposure in southeastern parts in Chhotisadri block and also partly in Dhariawad, Pratapgarh and Arnod blocks.Southern part of study area has majority of basalt rock formations. Basalts as aquifer occur in southern part of the district. However, these type of rock formations are not good aquifer. considered as а Moderate groundwater potentiality occurs within contact zone of basalt and other lithological units. Exploratory drilling in the district reveals that basalt, granite/gneiss, phyllite etc. form the hard rock



Figure1: Location map of study area

aquifer (CGWB, 2013). The groundwater is very dynamic in nature; owing to recharge by rains and in some areas the flow of Jakham River water has its influence (Gautam et al., 2021). There was fluctuation observed in the depth of water in the open wells due to these factors. Therefore, this study area was selected to provide an overview of groundwater quality condition of the Jakham River Basin. Hence, spatial distribution maps for some selected water quality parameters were generated to detect the quality of ground water in the Jakham River Basin for potable and industry utilization purposes. The maps were digitized using toposheet for identifying the well in the study area. The primary tool used to generate the maps that facilitated analysis was spatial analyst tools in the ArcGIS software. It was observed in the area that, open wells and water bodies influencing the for groundwater quality via recharge in the basaltic hard rock region in lower part of the basin (Gautam et al., 2022).

Analysis of groundwater quality

Total seventy six (76) groundwater samples were collected in sterilized plastic bottles from 39 square grids to analyse the physico-chemical properties of the groundwater samples for pre and post-monsoon season,2019-20. The collected groundwater samples were put in an ice box at 4°C from until they arrived at the laboratory. The physico-chemical analysis of the collected samples were done for the parameters *viz*. pH, total dissolved solids (TDS), Electrical conductivity (EC), nitrate (NO₃), chloride

(Cl) and fluoride (F). Water quality parameters were analysed in the laboratory as per the Standard methods suggested by the BIS (2000& 2012) (Manjeet *et al.*, 2021).The drinking water quality norms suggested by the Indian agencies are listed in the Table 1.

SN	Water Quality	Prescribed limit				
	Parameter	Desirable	Permissible			
1	pН	6.5	8.5			
2	EC	<1500 – Sensitive				
3	TDS	500	2000			
4	Cl	250	1000			
5	Fluoride	1	1.50			
6	Nitrate	45	No relaxation			

Table 1: Drinking and Irrigation Water Quality(BIS) Standards.

Spatial mapping of groundwater quality parameters

The inverse distance weighted (IDW) interpolation method of ARC GIS 10.1 software was used to generate spatial distribution maps of groundwater quality parameters i.e. pH, EC, TDS, SO₄, F, and Cl.The inverse distance technique is a spatial interpolation algorithm that estimates values between observations. The IDW estimates the weighted mean values of adjacent sampling locations. The weights are determined by taking the inverse of the distance between an observations and estimated value. The interpolation approachprovides the accurate results, when the samplinglocations are close enough to detect the spatial variation. Selvam et al. 2014 found that, if the sampling locations are unequally distributed in the area, the estimates may not accurately depict the anticipated changes. The Figure 2 represents the sampling location of the well in the study area.

Results and Discussion

Physico-chemical parameters of groundwater

The spatial distribution maps of groundwater quality parameters i.e. pH, EC, TDS, NO₃, F and Cl were generated using IDW technique using ArcGIS 10.4 software. These GW quality maps have been shown in the Figure 3-8, highlighting which wells are good for use as drinking purpose in the hard rock region. These spatial maps may help to identify the current status of water quality for drinking as well as irrigation purpose.



Figure 2: Grid map of groundwater sampling wells

The groundwater quality monitoring for drinking purpose (pre and post monsoon season) was analyzed in terms of physico-chemical parameters based on Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS, 2000, 2012) (Table 2).

pН

pH measures the hydrogen concentration in water, which decides the alkalinity and acidic nature of water sample. The pH ranges from 7.00 to 8.90 in the study area during pre- monsoon, which shows the slightly alkalinity of groundwater. Major part of the study area has pH ranges from 7.80 to 8.20. The highest pH value (8.20- 8.90) was observed in lower-middle part of the basin. The Spatial map of pH value is presented in the Figure 3.

In post-monsoon, pH value ranges from 6.50 to 8.00, which is under safe limit. Most of the samples was found alkaline in nature, in post monsoon. The low value (6.5-7.00) of pH indicates the influence ammonium sulphate and phosphate fertilizer in agriculture (Appelo and Postma, 2005). The highest pH value (7.50-8.00) was observed in middle part of the basin.

Electrical Conductivity (EC)

The EC value varies from < 650 to $>1550 \ \mu$ S/cm in the study area, in pre- monsoon. Major parts of the basin has lower EC value (<650), which is suitable for drinking. Spatial distribution map of EC value is presented in the Figure 4. The higher value (950-1550 \muS/cm) of EC was found in Top and bottom of the study area. Increase in the EC value decides

the groundwater flow path, due to topographic circumstances and ion exchange capacity (Prashanth *et al.*, 2012).Higher value of EC was observed in the location, which is situated along the roadside. During post-monsoon, EC ranges from <650 to >1550 μ S/cm. Major parts of the basin has EC value (650-950 μ S/cm).Generally, variation in EC was observed due geochemical process in the study area.

Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)

TDS indicates the availability of different minerals $(CO_3, SO_4, Si, Ca and Mg)$ dissolved in the groundwater. The TDS ranges from <300 to >1200 mg/l during pre and post monsoon in the study area. This range comes under highly desirable category (BIS, 2012). The concentration of TDS depends on the characteristics and types of ion. It is also affected by the landfills and animal wastage (Kumar *et al.*, 2018). The variation of TDS during pre and post-monsoon seasons are presented in the Figure 5. Major part of the (>50%) of the area comes under the safe limit of drinking water.

Chloride (Cl)

The concentration of Chloride (Cl) in water samples varies from 0.60 to 9.20 meq/l for premonsoon and 2.40 to 12.20 meq/l for postmonsoon season. The higher concentration of Chloride (Cl) seems like to be anthropogenic local contamination associated with sulphate and nitrate concentration. Sedimentary rock leaching, weathering and excess fertilizer application in paddy cultivation also influences the chloride concentration in the groundwater. The utmost area indicates the Cl concentration less than the permissible limit in pre monsoon, 0.60-3.20 meg/l and 3.20-6.20 meq/l in post-monsoon. About 2.50 % of area was observed, higher than the desirable limit for pre-monsoon and 13.74 % for postmonsoon season. Spatial distribution maps of chloride (Cl) concentration for pre and post monsoon seasons are presented in the Figure 6.

Nitrate (NO₃)

The concentration of Nitrates ranges from 0.05 to 1.90 meq/l in pre-monsoon while, 0.20 to 3.00 meq/l in post-monsoon season. The nitrates in groundwater was probably derived by application of nitrogen fertilizer in the agriculture practices. The Nitrate (NO₃) shows comparatively high concentration, during post-monsoon season.
	Pre monsoon					Post monsoon						
Well No.	pН	EC	TDS	Cl	NO ₃	F	pН	EC	TDS	Cl	NO ₃	F
W1	8.06	835.00	529.17	5.84	0.75	0.52	7.08	755.00	440.00	5.60	0.19	0.39
W2	8.02	1420.00	843.50	9.33	1.74	0.41	7.66	1008.50	575.00	7.36	0.57	0.55
W3	8.05	672.50	384.54	3.24	0.53	0.45	7.46	1115.00	720.00	4.00	0.62	0.57
W4	7.93	1128.00	676.07	2.00	0.73	0.45	7.81	1120.00	737.50	3.70	0.66	0.43
W5	8.42	610.00	361.13	3.02	0.39	0.31	7.62	825.00	530.00	4.60	1.87	0.91
W6	8.15	530.00	326.78	4.96	0.44	0.25	7.39	1215.00	895.00	6.10	1.89	0.61
W7	8.30	960.00	499.71	2.13	0.04	0.39	7.57	1795.00	1167.50	5.60	1.83	0.69
W8	7.98	697.50	404.37	3.67	0.69	0.39	7.77	1355.00	905.00	7.80	1.87	0.61
W9	8.35	970.00	567.88	8.83	0.56	0.40	7.19	970.00	585.00	11.00	1.90	0.82
W10	8.03	727.50	394.97	4.08	0.40	0.24	7.22	1095.00	720.00	4.40	1.69	0.23
W11	8.23	860.00	525.17	4.50	1.64	0.38	7.39	730.00	425.00	7.10	1.70	0.22
W12	8.40	1052.50	627.05	9.26	1.26	0.40	7.65	1825.00	1280.00	7.15	1.60	1.18
W13	8.40	545.00	328.25	2.61	0.12	0.24	8.01	1207.50	890.00	7.50	1.43	0.62
W14	8.35	530.00	302.90	6.91	0.04	0.27	7.66	840.00	505.00	6.05	1.26	0.64
W15	8.19	682.50	413.00	5.66	1.23	0.34	7.92	1320.00	917.50	4.15	2.14	0.52
W16	8.25	495.00	290.99	2.52	0.44	0.70	7.41	1140.00	725.00	5.30	2.49	0.51
W17	8.40	507.50	306.41	1.56	0.27	0.44	7.14	522.50	322.50	5.60	1.77	0.44
W18	8.42	562.50	346.42	2.34	0.68	0.38	7.41	815.00	490.00	3.00	0.94	0.60
W19	8.22	553.00	329.63	3.50	0.81	0.63	7.62	1140.00	730.00	4.10	1.21	0.45
W20	8.23	637.50	367.50	2.62	0.73	0.38	7.11	675.00	415.00	6.70	0.89	0.48
W21	8.45	515.00	296.12	1.92	0.20	0.29	7.39	909.50	520.00	3.60	1.19	0.52
W22	8.37	461.00	276.97	1.92	0.85	0.63	7.06	910.00	550.00	4.30	0.83	0.54
W23	8.30	500.00	282.61	1.10	0.44	1.10	7.07	940.00	550.00	3.60	0.65	0.72
W24	8.40	431.00	275.61	2.18	0.70	0.81	7.29	875.00	515.00	5.10	0.60	0.69
W25	8.39	392.50	236.28	1.47	0.46	0.54	7.21	795.00	465.00	6.85	1.05	0.60
W26	8.40	440.00	255.62	1.60	0.49	0.46	7.19	905.00	540.00	5.40	1.18	0.79
W27	8.18	470.00	328.81	2.71	0.54	0.33	7.59	985.00	567.50	6.10	1.83	0.53
W28	8.33	460.00	2/8.71	1.40	0.56	0.29	7.32	802.50	487.50	7.40	1.75	0.53
W29	8.00	490.00	265.42	2.01	1.10	0.20	7.53	705.00	425.00	8.00	1.76	0.48
W30	8.25	635.00	350.15	1.68	0.12	0.21	7.42	900.00	550.00	6.10	1.65	0.71
W31	8.40	445.00	283.79	2.22	0.83	0.44	7.38	8/5.00	500.00	5.60	2.03	0.57
W32	8.44	340.00	200.00	1.32	0.42	0.42	7.74	/80.00	4/0.00	4.70	1.78	0.51
W33	0.45	565.00	234.72	1.55	0.00	0.42	7.30	760.00	455.00	0.00 8 10	1.95	0.74
W34 W35	8.50	305.00	208.02	2.28	1.06	0.29	7.50	550.00	315.00	3.00	1.47	0.88
W35	8.30	485.00	298.02	1.25	0.40	0.55	7.30	785.00	465.00	5.50	1.47	0.30
W30	8 35	390.00	206.52	2 30	0.53	0.77	7.21	810.00	515.00	2.40	1.30	0.35
W38	8 30	530.00	323.55	1.89	0.33	0.58	7.75	585.00	335.00	3 30	1.50	0.41
W39	8 20	440.00	271 11	3.01	0.55	0.34	7.43	690.00	415.00	3.10	0.64	0.30
W40	8.08	530.00	311 72	2.00	0.95	0.28	7.93	605.00	355.00	4 60	1 12	0.42
W41	8 58	320.00	178 41	1 16	0.17	0.30	6.95	750.00	460.00	3.70	1.12	0.47
W42	8.15	1610.00	1658.26	6.05	0.12	1.23	7.24	890.00	567.50	3.20	1.82	0.39
W43	8.20	350.00	206.78	1.14	0.50	0.23	7.49	450.00	285.00	8.20	0.65	0.56
W44	7.73	390.00	223.48	1.50	0.88	0.84	7.58	655.00	395.00	8.70	0.59	0.38
W45	8.13	370.00	217.53	1.04	0.48	0.27	7.68	785.00	485.00	4.20	1.24	0.41

Table 2: Physico-chemical parameters data of pre and post-monsoon

238 Environment Conservation Journal

W46	8.33	360.00	211.89	1.84	0.19	1.22	7.92	740.00	435.00	4.75	0.95	0.73
W47	8.50	295.00	170.17	1.87	0.44	0.30	7.88	655.00	400.00	7.05	0.65	0.62
W48	8.35	370.00	216.13	1.95	0.48	0.31	7.21	685.00	420.00	4.00	0.67	0.45
W49	8.45	410.00	239.21	1.18	0.56	0.51	7.17	825.00	485.00	4.80	0.20	0.35
W50	8.75	425.00	259.18	2.52	0.45	0.69	7.79	740.00	415.00	4.10	0.69	0.37
W51	8.48	657.50	388.09	1.17	0.67	0.32	7.97	675.00	435.00	3.45	0.82	0.48
W52	8.30	1620.00	646.11	8.62	1.20	0.16	8.00	820.00	557.50	4.70	0.92	0.42
W53	8.70	505.00	349.51	0.86	0.43	0.37	7.38	735.00	485.00	6.10	1.27	0.35
W54	8.88	370.00	218.27	1.11	0.30	0.66	7.16	760.00	465.00	5.45	1.90	0.52
W55	8.03	395.00	234.16	0.60	0.58	0.38	6.76	490.00	290.00	6.45	0.70	0.51
W56	8.45	470.00	263.26	1.60	0.53	0.51	6.94	370.00	215.00	12.20	0.73	0.36
W57	8.40	360.00	235.10	0.80	1.05	0.34	7.37	1045.00	635.00	12.00	0.63	0.48
W58	8.43	435.00	261.74	1.20	0.64	0.33	7.80	1020.00	645.00	10.38	0.82	0.44
W59	8.28	400.00	240.10	1.40	0.70	0.43	8.00	527.50	292.50	7.50	0.61	0.48
W60	8.25	355.00	213.28	1.65	0.66	0.46	7.27	790.00	465.00	6.50	0.48	0.52
W61	7.91	430.00	266.30	2.16	0.57	0.32	7.37	715.00	420.00	7.20	0.77	0.56
W62	8.11	510.00	293.74	3.46	0.72	0.42	7.31	540.00	325.00	4.05	0.95	0.40
W63	8.65	655.00	400.76	2.60	1.04	0.37	7.37	900.00	632.50	4.75	0.96	0.50
W64	8.40	1050.00	565.22	2.40	0.68	0.46	7.78	790.00	480.00	3.70	1.23	0.55
W65	8.65	1290.00	762.25	5.91	0.49	0.96	7.72	735.00	435.00	3.90	1.29	0.47
W66	7.75	519.00	1257.53	4.14	0.56	0.42	7.58	815.00	495.00	6.50	1.39	0.49
W67	8.23	680.00	391.48	2.17	0.27	0.58	7.21	300.00	165.00	8.40	1.27	0.26
W68	7.61	1370.00	776.03	7.86	0.77	0.26	7.21	602.50	310.00	8.60	1.16	0.30
W69	8.43	310.00	840.69	1.87	0.73	0.32	7.69	825.00	505.00	7.10	1.25	0.56
W70	7.83	730.00	432.34	3.12	1.89	0.31	7.86	675.00	390.00	4.80	0.99	1.06
W71	7.98	740.00	435.09	6.57	0.89	0.35	7.59	695.00	395.00	4.20	1.29	1.00
W72	7.87	825.00	488.92	1.40	0.90	0.29	7.10	595.00	335.00	6.30	1.63	0.69
W73	8.20	510.00	301.25	1.42	1.04	0.27	7.08	1270.00	790.00	4.10	2.17	1.03
W74	8.18	715.00	432.43	4.72	0.55	0.36	7.06	745.00	435.00	2.70	2.34	0.57
W75	7.75	1325.00	540.72	6.15	0.82	0.33	7.13	830.00	490.00	4.40	2.95	1.04
W76	8.10	575.00	344.07	2.11	0.95	0.40	7.23	927.00	514.00	4.50	2.20	0.83



Figure 3: Spatial Distribution Map pH for (a) Pre-monsoon (b) Post-monsoon



Figure 4: Spatial Distribution Map EC for (a) Pre-monsoon (b) Post-monsoon



Figure 5: Spatial Distribution Map TDS for (a) Pre-monsoon (b) Post-monsoon



(a) (b) Figure 6: Spatial Distribution Map Cl for (a) Pre-monsoon (b) Post-monsoon

240 Environment Conservation Journal



(a) (b) Figure 7: Spatial Distribution Map NO₃ for (a) Pre-monsoon (b) Post-monsoon



Figure 8: Spatial Distribution Map F for (a) Pre-monsoon (b) Post-monsoon

The high concentrations were observed during pre and post-monsoon were 1.90 meq/l and 3.00 meq/l, respectively.Major part of the basin witnessed nitrate concentration (0.05-1.60 meq/l) in pre monsoon and (0.20-2.20 meq/l) in post monsoon, which is slightly higher than the standards suggested by BIS (2012). More NO₃ concentration was observed after the rainy season, due to its loose bounding characteristics to the soil.Spatial distribution maps of Nitrate (NO₃) concentration for pre and post monsoon seasons are presented in the Figure 7.

Fluoride (F)

The concentration of fluoride (F) ranges from 0.20 to 1.20 mg/l for both the seasons. Utmost area was observed with fairly good and safe for the drinking purpose (up to 1 mg/l). Higher value of F content attributed in the study area, due to presence of flour apatite and leaching of phosphate fertilizers in the saturated zone, after irrigation (Handa, 1975). In the upper region, low level of fluoride content indicates, the absence of fluoride bearing minerals in the rock strata, by which groundwater is flowing. Major part of the basin witnessed fluoride concentration (0.40-80 mg/l) for both the season,

which is lower than the permissible limit suggested by BIS (2012). Spatial distribution maps of F concentration are presented in the Figure 8.

Conclusion

This study demonstrates the analysis and mapping of the water quality of collected groundwater samples for the Jakham River Basin of southern Rajasthan. The groundwater samples were collected from the different locations i.e. basaltic hard rock region were chemically analysed and database were prepared for detecting the spatial changes within the study area. At different locations, samples were observed fulfilling the standards for drinking purpose, but some were found not good for consumption. The higher value of TDS and EC were found in the south-eastern part and along the roadside of study area, which were dominated by agriculture activities and industrial influence. The concentration was observed higher in the postmonsoon period. For EC and TDS, major part of the (>50%) of the study area comes under the safe limit of potable water. Major part of the basin witnessed fluoride concentration (0.40-80 mg/l) for

References

- Afzali, A., Shahedi, K., Nezhad Roshan, M. H., Solaimani, K.,& Vahabzadeh, G. (2014). Groundwater quality assessment in Haraz Alluvial Fan, Iran. *International Scientific Research in Environmental Sciences*, 2, 346–360.
- Appelo, C.,& Postma, D. (2005). Geochemistry, Groundwater and Pollution. 2nd Edition, Balkema, Rotterdam.
- Bhutiani, R., Ahamad, F., & Ram, K. (2021a). Quality assessment of groundwater at laksar block, haridwar in uttarakhand, India using water quality index: a case study. *Journal of Applied and Natural Science*, 13(1), 197-203.
- Bhutiani, R., Ahamad, F., & Ruhela, M. (2021b). Effect of composition and depth of filter-bed on the efficiency of Sand-intermittent-filter treating the Industrial wastewater at Haridwar, India. *Journal of Applied and Natural Science*, 13(1), 88-94.
- Bhutiani, R., Ram, K., & Ahamad, F. (2019). Assessment of suitability of ground water quality in and around Laksar, Haridwar, Uttarakhand on the basis Water Quality Index (WQI). Environment Conservation Journal, 20(1&2), 41-46.
- BIS. (2000). Indian standard drinking water specification. Bureau of Indian Standard, New Delhi

both the season, which is lower than the permissible limit. Higher NO₃ concentration was observed after the rainy season, due to its loose bounding characteristics to the soil. In the study area, groundwater quality is mainly influenced by the underground rock weathering, geogenic activities and evaporation, which affects the concentration of different parameters i.e. EC, TDS, Ca, Mg, Na, and Cl etc. Therefore, the results quietly indicate the moderate to good potable water quality for Jakham River Basin. This study highlights the significance of GIS (spatial interpolation) application with the integration of physico-chemical analysis of groundwater quality. In this basin, basaltic rock and geochemical weathering process plays key role in hydro-geochemical analysis, which impact the concentration of main ions in groundwater quality. Definitely, this study benefits us to understand the quality of the groundwater resources to improve proper management in the basin.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

BIS. (2012). Indian Standard Drinking Water Specification.

- Buchanan, S., & Triantafilis, J. (2009). Mapping water table depth using geophysical and environmental variables. *Ground Water*, 47,80–96.
- CGWB. (2010). Groundwater quality in shallow aquifers of India. Central Ground Water Board, Ministry of Water Resources, Government of India, Faridabad.
- CGWB. (2013). Groundwater resource estimation methodology. Report of the Ground Water Resource Estimation Committee, Central Ground Water Board (CGWB), Ministry of Water Resources, Government of India, New Delhi, India.
- Chen, L. & Feng, Q. (2013). Geostatistical analysis of temporal and spatial variations in groundwater levels and quality in the Minqinoasis, Northwest China. *Environ Earth Science*, 70, 1367–1378.
- Dahiphale, P., Singh, P.K. & Yadav, K.K. (2019). Assessment of groundwater quality for irrigation and drinking purpose in Jaisamand catchment using geographical information system. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation*, 47(3), 213-221.
- El-Hems, A.S., Al-Ahmadi M.& Al-Amri N.(2011).A GIS approach for the assessment of groundwater quality in

Wadi Rabigh aquifer, Saudi Arabia". *Environ Earth* Science 63(6), 1319–1331.

- Gautam, V.K., Kothari, M., Singh, P.K. & Yadav, K.K. (2021). Determination of Geomorphological Characteristics of Jakham River Basin using GIS Technique. *Indian Journal* of Ecology, 48(6): 1627-1634.
- Gautam, V.K., Kothari, M., Singh, P.K., Bhakar, S.R. & Yadav, K.K. (2022). Decadal Groundwater Level Changes in Pratapgarh District of Southern Rajasthan, India, *Ecology Environment & Conservation*. 28 (1): 283-289
- Gautam, V.K., Kothari, M., Singh, P.K., Bhakar, S.R. & Yadav, K.K. (2022). Analysis of groundwater level trend in Jakham River Basin of Southern Rajasthan. *Journal of Groundwater Science and Engineering*, 10(1): 1-9.
- Gong, G., Mattevada, S.,& O'Bryant, S. E. (2014). Comparison of the accuracy of kriging and IDW interpolations in estimating groundwater arsenic concentrations in Texas. *Environ Research*, 130, 59–69.
- Groppo, J.D., de Moraes, J.M., Beduschi, C.E., Genovez, A.M. and Martinelli, L.A. (2008). Trend analysis of water quality in some rivers with different degrees of development within the São Paulo State, Brazil. *River Research*, 24, 1056–1067.
- Handa, B. K. (1975). Geochemistry and genesis of fluoride containing ground waters in India. *Groundwater*,13(3), 275–281.
- Khadri, S.F.R., Pande, C., & Moharir, K. (2013). Groundwater quality mapping of PTU-1 Watershed in Akola district of Maharashtra India using geographic information system techniques. *International Journal of Science and Engineering Research*. 4(9). ISSN 2229-5518. Impact Factor: 1.4.
- Kumar, Dheeraj, Singh, & P. K. (2018). Sustainable ground water management of Upper Berach River Basin using RS & GIS. Ph.D. thesis submitted to Maharan aPratap University of Agriculture and Technology, Udaipur (Rajasthan), India.
- Liu, Yongbo, Chen, Yaning (2006). Impact of population growth and land-use change on water resources and ecosystems of the arid Tarim River Basin in Western China. International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, 13(4), 295–305.
- Liyanage, Chamara, P. & Yamada, Koichi (2017). Impact of Population Growth on the Water Quality of Natural Water Bodies. *Sustainability*, 9(8), 1405–. doi:10.3390/su9081405
- Prasanth, S. S., Magesh, N., Jitheshlal, K., Chandrasekhar, N.,& Gangadhar, K. (2012). Evaluation of groundwater quality and its suitability for drinking and agricultural use

in the coastal stretch of Alappuzha District, Kerala, India. *Applied Water Science*, *2*, 165–175.

- Qin, H., Su, Q., Khu, S.T. & Tang, N. (2014). Water quality changes during rapid urbanization in the Shenzhen River Catchment: An integrated view of socio-economic and infrastructure development. *Sustainability*, 6, 7433–7451.
- Ruhela, M., Sharma, K., Bhutiani, R., Chandniha, S. K., Kumar, V., Tyagi, K., & Tyagi, I. (2022). GIS-based impact assessment and spatial distribution of air and water pollutants in mining area. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-15.
- Ruhela, M., Singh, V. K., & Ahamad, F. (2021). Assessment of groundwater quality of two selected villages of Nawada district of Bihar using water quality index. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 22(3), 387-394.
- Saidi, S., Bouri, S., Dhia, H. B., & Anselme, B. (2009). A GISbased susceptibility indexing method for irrigation and drinking water management planning: Application to Chebba-Mellouleche aquifer, Tunisia". Agriculture Water Management, 96, 1683–1690.
- Selvam, S., Manimaran, G., Sivasubramanaian, P., Balasubramanaian, N.,& Seshunarayana, T. (2014).GISbased evaluation of water quality index of groundwater resources around Tuticor in coastal city, South India". *Environ Earth Science*. 71, 2847–2867.
- Sener, E.,& Devraz, A. (2013).Assessment of groundwater vulnerability based on a modified DRASTIC model, GIS andanalytic hierarchy process (AHP): the case of Egirdir Lake Basin (Isparta, Turkey). *Hydrogeology Journal*,21 (3), 701–714.
- Shi, Yongliang, Wang, Ruson, Fan, Lingyun, Li, Jingsheng, Yang, Dongfeng. (2010). Analysis on Land-use Change and Its Demographic Factors in the Original-stream Watershed of Tarim River Based on GIS and Statistic. Energy Policy - ENERG POLICY. 2. 175-184. 10.1016/j.proenv.2010.10.021.
- Singh, M., Singh, P.K., Yadav, K.K., Kothari, M., & Bhakar, S.R. (2021). Fluoride Distribution in the Groundwater of Upper Banas River Basin, Rajasthan, India". *International Research Journal of Humanities and Interdisciplinary Studies*, 2(6), 74-85.
- Subramani, T., Elango, L.,& Damodarasamy, S.R. (2005).Groundwater quality and its suitability for drinking and agricultural use in Chithar River basin, Tamil Nadu, India". *Environ Geology*, 47(8),1099–1110.
- WHO. (2004). Guidelines for drinking water quality, vol 1. Recommendations, 3rd edn. WHO, Geneva, p 515.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of tillage and cultivars on growth and growth indices of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.)

Ankit 🖂

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur (HP), India.

Sandeep Manuja

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur (HP), India.

Suresh Kumar

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur (HP), India. Shilpa

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur (HP), India.

Shabnam Kumari

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur (HP), India.

Nikhil Dogra

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur (HP), India.

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Received : 26 October 2021	A field experiment was undertaken at the Experimental Farm of Department of
Revised : 08 January 2022	Agronomy of CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.)
Accepted : 15 January 2022	during kharif 2019 to study the effect of different tillage system and varieties on
	yield of rice. The treatments consisted of three rice varieties (viz., HPR 1156,
Published online: 22 February 2022	HPR 2656 and HPR 2795) which were tested under three tillage systems viz.,
	conventional tillage, and minimum tillage without residue and minimum tillage
Key Words:	with residue treatment. The trial was laid out in split plot design with tillage
Conventional	system in main plot and rice varieties in sub plot and was replicated thrice.
Minimum tillage	Conventional tillage recorded taller plants (124.50 cm) and higher dry matter
Residue	accumulation (858.49 g/m ⁻²) which was followed by minimum tillage without
Rice	residue. Among the varieties tested HPR 2795 recorded taller plants (128.31
Varieties	cm) and higher dry matter accumulation (891.33 g/m ⁻²) which was followed by
	HPR 2656. Higher value of AGR, CGR and RGR was recorded in conventional
	tillage and among the varieties; HPR 2795 resulted in higher growth indices.

Introduction

Rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) is the most widely consumed cereal for a large portion of the world's population. Approximately 90% of the world's rice is cultivated and consumed in Asia (Rana, 2018). Rice farming is well-suited to nations and locations with cheap labour costs and abundant rainfall, as it is labor-intensive and water-intensive. Rice, on the other hand, can be grown almost anywhere, including on a steep hill or mountain with the use of water-controlling terrace systems. As a rainfed crop, it also find place in the slopy lands of hills (Angiras *et al.*, 2009). Rice is a photo periodically short-day plant that thrives in a hot, humid environment. It is best suited to areas with high humidity and a

reliable water supply. It will be adequate for a profitable rice harvest if an area receives roughly 1500-1800 mm of well-distributed rainfall each year throughout the crop growing season. In India, this crop ranks first in area and production (Rana, 2018). In India rice is cultivated on an area of 43.78 million hectare with the total production of 118.43 million tonnes with the average productivity of 27.05 q/ha (Anonymous, 2020). Even in the state of Himachal Pradesh rice is the most important Kharif crop (second only to maize) which was cultivated on an area about 71 thousand hectare with the production of 114.8 thousand tonnes and productivity of about 16 q/ha (Anonymous,

2018). Traditional tillage methods are simple to plots by using random number table and replicated implement and create a clean cultivating environment. . However, because it totally inverts the soil and buries rice crop residue / waste, exposing the land to the erosive forces of nature like wind and water. Erosion affects land productivity in the long run. Conservation tillage offers an alternative to all of these issues (Mathew et al., 2012). Conservation agriculture approaches have gained popularity in recent years as farmers have sought to decrease variable cultivation costs, as a large part of energy (25-30%) is used for field preparation and crop establishment.

The intensity of tillage operations can be reduced to reduce this. When compared to traditional sowing procedures, the zero tillage method is more cost effective, energy efficient, and environmentally friendly (Filipovic et al., 2006). Minimum and zero tillage systems can help with timely planting and healthy germination by using leftover moisture in the soil. It can also lower the cost of production. However the performance of rice genotypes can vary depending on a variety of factors including tillage patterns used and the effect of changes in microclimate owing to the adoption of conservation agriculture technologies. Specific genotypes like HD 2967 is recommended in wheat and lalat in rice that are also recommended for no till farming around the world. . Thus it is important to test this new concept in one of the most important cereal crop besides wheat, soyabean, mustard etc. grown in the state. Keeping the above facts in view, the present study is being proposed.

Material and Methods

The present investigation was carried out during 2019 at the Experimental Farm of kharif Department of Agronomy, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishwavidyalaya, Palampur (32°09' N latitude, 76°54 E longitude and at an altitude of 1290 m above mean sea level).

The area represents the mid hills sub humid zone of Himachal Pradesh and is characterized by mild summers and cool winters (Figure 1). The area receives a high rainfall that ranges between 2000-2500 mm per annum, of which 80 per cent is received during monsoon months from June to September. Each treatment was located randomly in

thrice. The soil of the experimental site was silty



Figure 1: Sampling locations (32°09' N, 76°54' E).

clay loam in texture, acidic in reaction. The soil was medium in available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium. The meteorological data during the crop season revealed that the weekly maximum and minimum temperature ranged from 23.57 to 31.64 °C and 10.14 to 20.39 °C respectively. The mean relative humidity ranged from 51.79 to 91.57 % and total rainfall was 197.80 mm. The total sunshine at experimental location was found to be 94.16 hours (Anonymous 2021, Crop weather outlook).

The experiment consisted of nine treatment combinations which included three tillage practices viz conventional tillage, minimum tillage without residue and minimum tillage with residue and three varieties which included HPR 1156, HPR 2656 and HPR 2795. The experiment was laid out in split plot design, replicated thrice, with tillage practices in main plot and varieties in sub plot. The crop was sown on 13^{th} June 2019. Urea (46 % N), single super phosphate (16% P₂O₅) and muriate of potash (60% K₂O) were used to supply the desired quantities of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium, respectively in relevant treatment. Recommended dose of fertilizers (60:30:30) (Package of practices, kharif, 2019 HP) in the state was applied .The entire dose of phosphorus and potassium was applied at the time of sowing while basal dose of nitrogen was added at the time of sowing and split doses after three week intervals.Mustard straw @ 3t/ha was used as mulch material and applied as per treatment.

For measuring the plant height, ten plants were selected at random from each net plot and tagged. The height was measured at 30 days interval (30, 60, 90 DAS and at harvest) and at harvest from the ground level up to top most leaf tip before the panicle emergence and up to top of the panicle thereafter. The average of these ten plants was taken as mean plant height in centimeter. The progressive tiller count was recorded at 30 days interval and at harvest from two observational units of one m⁻², earmarked randomly in each net plot of experiment. The data so recorded were averaged and multiplied by factor 5 to get number of tillers m^{-2} . The second row from both sides of each plot was demarcated as sampling row. The plant samples were harvested from ground surface by using sickle at monthly interval. These samples were dried in an oven at 70°C till the constant weight was achieved. The dry weight was expressed as gram per square meter (g m⁻²) The data on plant height and dry matter accumulation was recorded at periodic interval (30, 60 and 90 days after sowing, DAS) and at harvest.

The following formulae were used to determine various growth indices:

Absolute growth rate was determined by using the formula given by (Radford, 1967).

$$AGR (cm/day) = \frac{h2 - h1}{t2 - t1}$$

Crop growth rate was determined by using the formula given by (Watson, 1956).

$$GR (g/m2/day) = \frac{w2 - w1}{P x (t2 - t1)}$$

Relative growth rate was determined by using the formula given by (Blackman, 1919).

$$RGR (mg/g/day) = \frac{(\log w^2 - \log w^1)}{t^2 - t^1} x \ 1000$$

Where

 $H_1\&\ H_2:$ Plant height (cm) of plant at time t_1 and $t_{2,}$ respectively

 W_1 & W_2 : Whole plant dry weight at time t_1 and t_2 , respectively

P is the ground area on which W_1 & W_2 are recorded The data obtained was statistically analysed using (plant height, dry matter accumulation, number of tillers, AGR, CGR and RGR) the Gomez and Gomez technique (1984). The critical difference (CD) was estimated for parameters with significant impacts at the 5% probability level.

Results and Discussion

Data pertaining to growth and growth indices has been presented in table 1 and table 2. A perusal of data revealed that tillage practices had no significant effect on plant height at all stages of observation. The tallest plant at 30 DAS (Days after sowing) were observed in conventional tillage and smallest plant at 30 DAS is observed in minimum tillage with residue. Similar results were observed at 60 DAS. At 90 DAS as well as at harvest conventional tillage produced taller plants as compared to minimum tillage without residue. Minimum tillage with residue produced shorter plants even at these stages also. Higher plant height in case of conventional tillage might be due to more vigorous and healthy seedling at initial growth period of crop. Hazarika and Sarmah (2017) reported that conventional tillage enhance the physical state of the soil by manipulating and pulverising it, which not only offers a good environment for germinating seeds and emerging seedlings, but also delivers free oxygen, increased soil moisture, and critical nutrients to the plants and ultimately improve the growth of plant. Similar results are reported by (Seth, 2019 and Pandey and Tanka, 2020). Among the varieties tested, varieties showed significantly differences in plant height at all the stages of observation. At 30 DAS HPR 2795 recorded significantly higher plant height, which was fb (followed by) by HPR 2656 and in turn was

Effect of tillage and cultivars on growth and growth indices of rice

		Plant Height (cm)			Dry matter accumulation (g/m ⁻²)				Tillers (No./m ⁻²)			
Treatment	30 DAS	60 DAS	90 DAS	Harvest	30 DAS	60 DAS	90 DAS	Harvest	30 DAS	60 DAS	90 DAS	Harvest
Tillage Practices												
Conventional tillage	40.88	103.68	124.03	124.50	84.54	524.06	738.41	858.49	174.8	260.2	250.3	238.1
Minimum tillage without residue	39.16	100.14	120.36	120.78	83.42	515.16	718.24	835.61	179.2	265.1	254.1	242.7
Minimum tillage with residue	38.72	98.74	118.12	118.99	81.31	506.32	692.62	796.44	168.1	248.3	240.9	230.6
SEM ±	2.31	3.37	5.56	5.91	0.61	4.16	5.71	8.38	2.4	3.1	2.7	2.5
CD (P = 0.05)	NS	NS	NS	NS	2.39	16.32	22.40	32.90	9.4	12.2	10.6	9.8
Varieties												
HPR 1156	36.38	95.40	116.83	117.17	81.88	490.87	660.32	750.41	176.0	264.6	253.8	246.5
HPR 2656	38.72	99.69	117.82	118.79	83.08	519.83	726.31	848.33	178.1	268.3	258.8	248.7
HPR 2795	43.66	107.48	127.86	128.31	84.32	534.84	762.64	891.33	167.5	240.7	232.7	216.2
SEM±	1.21	2.20	2.46	2.42	0.86	6.06	13.08	17.03	3.2	5.8	5.7	5.6
CD(P = 0.05)	3.76	6.78	7.61	7.45	NS	18.67	40.32	52.48	NS	17.9	17.6	17.3

Table 1: Effect of tillage practices and varieties on plant height, dry matter accumulation and number of tillers of rice

*SEM ± - Standard error mean *CD – Critical difference *NS- Non significant

Table 2: Effect of tillage pr	ractices and varieties on abso	olute growth rate, crop g	rowth rate and relative a	prowth rate of rice.

	Absolute growth rate (cm/day)			Crop growth rate (g/m ² /day)			Relative growth rate (mg/g ¹ /day)		
Treatment	0-30 DAS	30-60 DAS	60-90 DAS	0-30 DAS	30-60 DAS	60-90 DAS	0-30 DAS	30-60 DAS	60-90 DAS
Tillage Practices									
Conventional tillage	1.36	2.09	0.68	2.82	14.65	7.15	147.91	60.81	11.43
Minimum tillage without residue	1.31	2.03	0.67	2.78	14.39	6.77	147.46	60.69	11.08
Minimum tillage with residue	1.29	2.00	0.65	2.71	14.17	6.21	146.61	60.96	10.44
SEM ±	0.04	0.05	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.05	0.42	0.34	0.22
CD (P = 0.05)	NS	NS	NS	0.08	0.04	0.19	NS	NS	0.86
Varieties									
HPR 1156	1.21	1.97	0.71	2.73	13.63	5.65	146.84	59.70	9.88
HPR 2656	1.29	2.03	0.60	2.77	14.56	6.88	147.33	61.12	11.15
HPR 2795	1.46	2.13	0.68	2.81	15.02	7.59	147.82	61.58	11.83
SEM±	0.03	0.03	0.02	0.04	0.18	0.25	0.68	0.50	0.28
CD (P = 0.05)	0.10	0.08	0.05	NS	0.54	0.76	NS	1.54	0.86

*SEM ± - Standard error mean *CD – Critical difference *NS- Non significant

at par with HPR 1156. HPR 1156 recorded significantly lowest height due to genetic makeup of plant Similar trend was followed at all the stages of observation. HPR 2795 produced significantly taller plant which was fb HPR 2656 and in turn was at par with HPR 1156. HPR 1156 produced significantly shorter plants.

The data pertaining to the effects of tillage practices and varieties on dry matter accumulation by rice recorded at different stages. A perusal of data revealed significant effect of tillage practices and varieties on dry matter accumulation by the rice crop at all stages of observation except at 30 DAS in case of varieties. Among the tillage practices significantly higher dry matter accumulation at 30 DAS was recorded in conventional tillage, though this treatment was at par with minimum tillage with residue which was in turn at par with minimum tillage with residue. The dry matter accumulation at 60 DAS also followed similar trend. At 90 DAS and harvest, conventional tillage reported the maximum dry matter accumulation, which is comparable to minimum tillage without residue. Significantly lowest dry matter accumulation was recorded in minimum tillage with residue. Higher dry matter under conventional tillage may be due to more plant population. Similar results are reported by Seth (2019). According to seth et al., 2019 data revealed that tillage practices have significant effect at all the stages of observation in rice crop. Varieties also behaved differently with respect to dry matter accumulation at different stages of observation. At 30 DAS dry matter accumulation was not significantly influenced by varieties. Higher dry matter accumulation at 30 Das was recorded in HPR 2795 and lowest was recorded in case of HPR 1156. At 60 DAS significantly highest dry matter accumulation was in HPR 2656. While significantly lowest value was recorded in HPR 1156. Similar trend was followed at 90 DAS and at harvest. HPR 2795 produced higher dry matter which was at par with HPR 2656 and lowest dry matter accumulation was recorded in HPR 1156.

Tillage techniques, as well as rice types, had a substantial impact on the number of tillers per square metre reported at monthly intervals and at harvest. A perusal of data revealed that significantly higher number of tillers per square meter at 30 DAS was recorded in minimum tillage without residue, which was at par with

conventional tillage and in turn at par with minimum tillage with residue. Minimum tillage with residue produced significantly lowest number of tillers per meter square. Similar results were recorded at all stages of observation (60, 90 DAS and at harvest). The results so obtained can be explained by the fact that the tillers buds are formed at each node of the rice stem irrespective of varieties (Kakizaki, 1987). Similar results are reported by (Pandev and Kandel, 2020). According to Pandey and Kandel 2020 conventional tillage resulted in higher grain yield, plant height and effective tillers per meter square as compared to zero tillage. Varieties had a substantial impact on the quantity of tillers per square metre except at 30 DAS. At 30 DAS, HPR 2656 produced the most tillers per square metre, while HPR 2795 produced the least. HPR 2656 produces a much larger number of tillers per square metre than HPR 1156 at 60 DAS. HPR 2795 has the lowest number of tillers per square metre at 60 DAS. At 90 DAS and at harvest, a similar trend was seen.

Absolute growth rate (AGR): A perusal of data revealed that the trend of absolute growth rate could not reach level of significance at all stages of observation in case of tillage practices. At 0-30 DAS higher value of AGR was observed in conventional tillage and lowest was in case of minimum tillage with residue. In general higher value of AGR was recorded between 30-60 DAS as compared to 60-90 DAS as the height of rice usually increases till the initiation of flowering after which there is a slight increase in height. The highest AGR value was found in conventional tillage at 30-60 DAS, which might be due to better crop growth under improved soil physical and chemical properties like lower bulk density, higher macro and micro nutrient availability easily due to faster decomposition of crop residue throughout the crop growth stages. According to Karunakaran and Behera (2015) agricultural residues which are retained on or near the soil surface reduce soil erosion, runoff of surface water, summer time soil temperatures and enhance water retention. All these factors help to increase plant height of plant which in turns enhances the absolute growth rate. Similar trend was followed at 60-90 DAS. Amongst the Varieties, they have significant effect on AGR. HPR 2795 recorded significantly higher value of AGR between 0-30 DAS which was fb HPR 2656

much higher AGR value between 60 and 90 DAS, which was comparable to HPR 2795. Lowest value of AGR was recorded in case of HPR 2656.

Crop growth rate (CGR): CGR is the rate of daily increment in accumulation of dry matter by the crop of a particular area. The perusal of data reveals that CGR was significantly influenced by tillage practices as well as rice varieties. At 0-30 DAS significantly higher value was recorded in conventional tillage which was at par with minimum tillage without residue and in turn at par with minimum tillage with residue. At 30-60 DAS, conventional tillage, which was followed by minimum tillage without residue. had а considerably higher CGR value. Higher CGR may be due to higher production of dry matter owing to greater LAI and higher light interception. At 30-60 DAS lower value of CGR was in minimum tillage with residue. Similar results were observed at 60-90 DAS. Among the varieties tested, at 0-30 DAS higher value of CGR was recorded in HPR 2795 and lowest was in case of HPR 1156. At 30-60 DAS, the highest CGR value was found in HPR 2795, which was near HPR 2656, while the lowest CGR value was found in HPR 1156. At 60-90 DAS, HPR 2795 had a much higher CGR value than HPR 2656, which was in turn comparable to HPR 1156.

Relative growth rate (RGR): Different tillage

practices did not effect RGR at 0-30 DAS and 30-60 DAS, according to a detailed examination of the

References

- Angiras, N. N., & Kumar, S. (2005). Efficacy of pyrazosulfuron-ethyl against weeds in rice nursery under mid hill conditions of Himachal Pradesh. Indian Journal of Weed Science, 37(3and4), 202-204.
- Anonymous. (2018). Statistical Abstract of Himachal Pradesh 2017 - 18. Department of Economics and Statistics, Government of Himachal Pradesh, Shimla. pp 31 – 32.
- Anonymous. (2020). Pocket Book of Agricultural Statistics 2018. Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Ministry of Agriculture and Family Welfare, Government of India pp 22-24
- Anonymous.2021.http://www.cropweatheroutlook.in/crida/ami s/bramis.jsp

and in turn at par with HPR 1156. HPR 1156 had a data. At 60-90 DAS higher RGR value was recorded in case of conventional tillage which was comparable to minimum tillage without residue and in turn at par with minimum tillage with residue. Among different varieties tested HPR 2795 recorded higher RGR value which was fb HPR 2656 at 30 DAS. At 30-60 DAS, HPR 2795 recorded higher value of RGR which was at par with HPR 2656 and in turn at par with HPR 1156. At 60-90 DAS, HPR 2795 recorded higher RGR value which was at par with HPR 2656. At 60-90 DAS lower RGR value was recorded in HPR 1156.

Conclusion

From the present study it can be concluded the research on conservation agriculture is the need of hour. Farmers generally prefer clean cultivation and thus go for traditional agricultural practices. Conservation agriculture is a sustainable way alternative for maintaining soil resource base. From the present study it may be concluded that conventional tillage resulted in higher growth and growth indices as compared to minimum tillage with residue. Also amongst different varieties HPR 2795, a new red rice variety, gave better results under direct seeding.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Blackman, V.H., 1919. The compound interest law and plant growth. Annals of Botany 33: 353-360
- Filipović, D., Košutić, S., & Gospodarić, Z. (2004). Influence of different soil tillage systems on fuel consumption, labour requirement and yield in maize and winter wheat production. Poljoprivreda, 10(2), 17-23.
- Gomez, K. A., & Gomez. A. A., (1984). Statistical Procedure for Agricultural Research, edn 2, pp. 680. Wiley Inter Science, New York, USA.
- Hazarika, N., & Sarmah, M. K., (2017). Effect of tillage and sources of nutrient on direct seeded sali rice. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 6(11), 1876–1880.
- Kakizaki, Y., (1987). Effect of light and temperature on tillering of rice plant. Agriculture and Horticulture, 62, 1323-1330.

249 Environment Conservation Journal

- Karunakaran, V., & Behera, U.K. 2015. Conservation agriculture in soyabean (Glycine max)-wheat (*Triticum* aestivum) cropping system- A review. Agricultural Reviews, 36(3), 169-183.
- Mathew, R.P. Feng, Y. Githinji, L. Ankumah, R., & Balcom, K.S., (2012). Impact of No-Tillage and Conventional Tillage Systems on Soil Microbial Communities. *Applied* and Environmental Soil Science, 1-10.
- Package of practices, kharif. (2019). Choudhary Sarwan Kumar Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishvavidyalya, Palampur, Himachal Pradesh- 176062. pp. 5.
- Pandey, B.D., & Kandel, T.P., (2020). Response of rice to tillage, wheat residue and wheat management in a ricewheat cropping system. *Agronomy journal*, 10, 1-10.

- Rana, A., (2018). Efficacy of pyrazosulfuron ethyl in controlling weeds in transplanted rice. M.Sc. thesis submitted to CSK HPKV, Palampur.
- Seth, M. Thakur, D.R. Manuja, S. Singh, S., & Sharma, A., (2019). Effect of site specific nutrient management on growth indices in wheat in rice-wheat cropping system. Sp 1:162-165.
- Watson, D. J., (1956). Leaf growth in relation to crop yield Ed. F. L. Milthrope, Butterworths Scientific publications London, pp 178-191.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of pre-treatments on nutritional quality of dehydrated spine gourd (*Momordica dioica* Roxb.) powder

Hamsa, R. ⋈
College of Horticulture, UHS Bagalkot, India.
Bhuvaneshwari, G.
Department of Post Harvest Technology, College of Horticulture, UHS Bagalkot, India.
Jagadeesh, S. L.
Department of Post Harvest Technology, College of Horticulture, UHS Bagalkot, India.
Jameel, J. M. D.
Department of Post Harvest Technology, College of Horticulture, UHS Bagalkot, India.
Rudresh, D. L.

Department of Microbiology, College of Horticulture, UHS Bagalkot, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 20 October 2021	An exploration was conducted in the year 2017-2018 at College of Horticulture,
Revised : 16 January 2022	Bagalkot, Karnataka, India to evaluate nutritional quality of dehydrated spine
Accepted : 20 January 2022	gourd (<i>Momordica dioica</i> Roxb.) slices as influenced by different pre- treatments. Spine gourd is a high value underexploited vegetable which is rich
Published online: 22 February 2022	in nutrition, medicinal value and also having potential to cure many diseases and disorders with good cultivation potential. In order to enhance its
Key Words:	availability in the offseason along with proper retention of nutritional property
Dehydration	dehydration was carried out with different pretreatments as a preservative
Momordica dioica Roxb.	method. The effect of pretreatments on nutritional attributes was observed in
Nutritional quality	the present study. The treatment T ₂ which include blanching of spine gourd
Pre-treatments	slices for 3 min. and steeping in 0.2 per cent KMS and 2 per cent salt solution
	for 10 min. showed significantly best results with respect to protein (1.93%),
	ash (8.11%), total phenols (831.20 mg GAE/100g) and $L^{*}(78.32)$, $a^{*}(0.68)$,
	except b^* (32.28) values and carbohydrate per cent (p>0.01). The effect of pre-
	treatments showed non-significant results for moisture, water activity, fat,
	crude fibre and calorific value (kcal/100g). It was concluded form the study
	that the pretreatment with KMS (0.2 %) and salt (2%) solution along with
	blanching for 3 min. was considered best with respect to nutritional quality retention.

Introduction

Underutilized crops species are ancient crop species which are used at small scale usually not cultivated commercially but used by the traditional people of the respective location, also they can contribute with higher percentage towards nutritional security. The genus *Momordica* contains nearly about 60 species which belongs to cucurbitaceous family. Spine gourd is a native of tropical and subtropical Africa, Asia and Australia. Karnataka (kodagu and malnad region) and Maharashtra are the main states in India cultivating spine gourd. Since it is an underutilized crop, grown by few farmers for their own consumption in homesteads or those which

collected wildly are sold in the market. Although demand and price are high, nobody thought of cultivating it commercially. Momordica is an underutilized and wild-gathered vegetable which as both food and medicine value (Sakshi et al., 2020) Indira Kakonda by Indira Gandhi Krishi Viswa Vidyalava (Raipur) and Arka Neelachal Shree by Central Horticultural Research Station (Bhubaneswar, IIHR) are the two varieties released in India and also few farmers in Dakshina Kannada district have cultivated the Assamese teasel gourd for domestic consumption (Motapalukula et al., 2020). Spine gourd is perennial in nature, with the chromosome number of 2n = 28. It is cultivated up to an altitude of 4,921.26 ft, and is mainly grown in Orissa, Maharashtra, Bihar and West Bengal. In the western ghats of south India it is called by popular names like Malanada Honnu, Mada Hagala (Golden Vegetable of the Western Ghats) (Basavaraj et al., 2014). It comes to the market in the Mansoon season (May - August). Indira Kakonda by Indira Gandhi Krishi Viswa Vidyalaya (Raipur), Arka Neelachal Shanti and Arka Neelachal Shree by Central Horticultural Research Station (Bhubaneswar, IIHR) are the two varieties released in India. Fruits weigh around 18-25 g and yield 1.5-2 kg fruits per plant (Motapalukula et al., 2020). Since spine gourd is seasonal and perishable in nature processing techniques are essential to make it available throughout the year and also it reduces postharvest losses. Drying is one of the traditional and commonly used techniques to increase the post-harvest life of the produce. Before drying blanching with hot water or (KMS) helps in retention of colour and texture of the produce by inhibiting enzymatic activity (Prajapati et al., 2009). Blanching was recommended as an effective method for reducing antinutritional compounds (Mosha et al., 1995). The information available on the nutritive value of underexploited crops is less, which may help in combating nutritional insecurity of rural. There are many vegetables available in this part of the country, whose nutritional profile is yet to be documented. More systematic study on these vegetables is required in order to fully utilize them. The nutritional insecurity in many countries, with many children and particularly women suffering from nutritional deficiencies, is a backbone for determining the nutritional composition of traditional crops. In this background, the present study was planned to systematically analyse and document the nutrient content of spine gourd (Momordica dioca Roxb.) This exploration can help to address malnourishment from eating a diet in which one or more nutrients are either not enough. It may involve calories. protein. carbohydrates, vitamins or minerals. Standard protocols for biochemical analysis are employed for nutrient analyses.

Material and Methods

Location of the experimental site and climate: Bagalkot is a city in the state of Karnataka, India, which is also the headquarters of Bagalkot district. UHS, Bagalkot established by the Government of Karnataka at Bagalkot district. Bagalkot is located at 16.18°North 75.7°East. It has an average elevation of 1,748.69 feet. Bagalkot was chosen as headquarters of UHS, as the district is known for its rich horticultural production base of grapes, pomegranate, sapota. The area has a suitable climate for different crops making it an suitable place for establishment of the university.

Procurement and sample preparation: The horticulture matured spine gourd fruits were collected from local market (Sirsi, Karnataka, India) in replicates to avoid qualitative and quantitative losses. The fruits were sorted, cleaned and graded in order to remove defect or damaged and to maintain uniform maturity, then fruits were thoroughly washed under tap water, dried under fan to remove surface moisture. Fruits of 500g weighed for each replication (each treatment replicated for five times) and cut into 0.20 inches slice with a sharp knife. Slices were succeeded for further processing methods to know nutritional quality parameters of spine gourd slices.

Pre-treatments and Dehydration

T₁: Spine gourd slices without pre-treatment (Control)

T₂: Spine gourd slices + Blanching (3 min) + Steeping in 0.2 % KMS and 2 % Salt (10 min)

T₃: Spine gourd slices + Roasting (Temp 120 0 C for 5 min.)

T₄: Spine gourd slices + Steeping in vinegar (24 hr.)

The slices of 0.20 inches thickness were subjected to pre-treatments as listed above and drying process was carried out using easy tray drier which is positioned at Department of Postharvest Technology, UHS Bagalkot, Karnataka, India. The slices along with seed were dried at temperature of 60° C until crack sound when break. The dried spine gourd slices along with seeds were weighed in electronic balance and crushed by food grinder into powder. The powder was packed in high density polyethylene bags, sealed and used for further studies.

Analysis of nutritional quality of spine gourd powder: Spine gourd powder colour was measured with a ColorFlex (Model CFEZ 1919, Hunter Associates Laboratory, Inc., Reston) with a 1.7717 inches (diameter) measuring tube using a white tile background. L* a* and b^* values indicates lightness, red-green and vellow-blue scales. Moisture content of spine gourd powder was measured by moisture meter. Weighed spine gourd powder (2 g) was placed on plate and then it was inserted inside the instrument. The end point was indicated by three beep sound and the instrument gives constant value for moisture and recorded as per cent moisture content. Water activity of dried spine gourd powder was determined by water activity meter (Labswift-a_w, Novasina). Determination of protein content was carried out by micro Kjeldhal method which consists of wet digestion, distillation and titration AOAC (1980). Fat content was determined by using the Socs plus-SCS-6 AS instrument as described by Ojure and Quadri (2012). Total ash content was determined by burning the spinegourd powder in pre-weighed crucible in a muffle furnace at 500° C for 6 hours (Rao and Bingren, 2009). Crude fibre estimation was done by using Fibra plus-FES-6 instrument. Carbohydrate % and calorific value were calculated as per AOAC (1980). Total phenol content of spine gourd powder was estimated by using Folin Ciocalteu reagent (FCR) method and expressed as mg Gallic acid equivalent (GAE) per 100 ml. (Sadasivam and Manickam, 2005).

The data analysis done by Completely randomized design method of analysis. The data was interpreted in accordance with Pause and Sukhatme (1985). The level of significance used in 'F' and 'T' test was p = 0.01. Critical difference values were calculated whenever F test found significant (test was p = 0.01).

Results and Discussion

Colour (*L**, *a**, *b**) *values*:

Colour is key quality attribute. Because at the time of marketing it play a major role with respect to the appearance which is the prime thing in sales with respect to quality. The L^* value was significantly influenced by the pre-treatments on spine gourd powder and it was ranged from 75.49 to 78.32 (Table 1 and Figure 1). Among the different pretreatments, the highest value was recorded in T₂ (78.32) and it was statistically significant from other treatments. The minimum L^* value was recorded in T₄ (75.52). The present finding is concordant with the results of Muley *et al.* (1994)

who observed that the enzymatic browning in KMS pre-treated samples was lowest in cabbage which confirmed the inhibitory effect of SO₂. The a^* value of pre-treated spine gourd powder ranged from 0.68 to 2.88 (Table 1). The lowest a^* value was recorded in T_2 (0.68) and it was statistically different from all other treatments. This is because blanching retains colour by destruction or inactivation of enzymes. KMS (SO₂) reduces colour deterioration by preventing oxygen solubility. Sodium Chloride (NaCl) reduces oxidative browning due to its osmotic property and also NaCl prevents bleaching by using it with other mixtures Jackson and Mohamed (1971). Hence T₂ showed less colour degradation compared to other treatments. The b^* value of pre-treated spine gourd powder ranged from 30.73 to 33.13 (Table 1). No significant difference was found in-between the treatments.

Water activity (a_w):

Higher concentration of a_w reduces the safety of the food. Statistically no significant difference was found in pre-treated samples. Higher water activity was found in the treatment T_1 (0.42 a_w) (Table 1) and the lower water activity was found in the treatment T_4 (0.34 a_w). The pre-treated samples showed more water removal when compared with the control samples due to the acidic pH activates wall loosening proteins (EXPANSINs, cell EXTENSINS ARABINOGALACTAN), enzymes and breakdown of polysaccharides which helps in maintaining structure of cell wall which in turn leads to loosening of cell wall structure by acetic acid in the vinegar treated samples (Micheli, 2001) and also Lerici *et al.* (1983) observed minimum a_w in the osmotic agent treated samples.

Moisture (%):

Moisture per cent in food influences on weight, taste, texture, appearance and shelf life. Increase in moisture per-cent increases the microbial growth resulting in spoilage. The mean moisture content of spine gourd powder subjected to pre-treatment ranged from 9.78 to 11.10 per cent (Table 1). No significant difference observed in the moisture content in-between the pre-treated samples. The lowest moisture per cent was recorded in T_4 (9.78%) and highest moisture per cent was observed in untreated sample that is T_1 (11.10%). In treatment T_2 sodium chloride (NaCl) helps in

Treatments		Colour values		Maisture (9/)	Water	Drotoin (9/)
	L^*	a*	<i>b*</i>	Woisture (76)	activity	r rotem (70)
T ₁	76.53	0.76	33.13	11.10	0.42	1.66
T ₂	78.32	0.68	32.28	10.18	0.36	1.93
T ₃	75.49	0.87	32.98	10.72	0.38	1.56
T ₄	75.52	2.88	30.73	9.78	0.34	1.36
Mean	76.46	1.28	32.28	10.45	0.37	1.63
SEm <u>+</u>	0.44	0.23	0.84	0.48	0.02	0.08
CD at 1%	1.83	0.97	NS	NS	NS	0.33
C.V.	1.29	40.79	5.81	10.36	13.17	10.92

Table 1: Effect of pre-treatments on colour values, moisture, water activity and protein content of spine gourd powder.

T1: Spine gourd slices without pre-treatment (Control)

T2: SGS + Blanching (3 min) + Steeping in 0.2% KMS + 2 % Salt (10 min)

T3: SGS + Roasting at 120 oC (5 min)

T4: SGS + Steeping in vinegar (24 hrs.)

SGS: Spine gourd powder

L* Lightness, a* (+) redness/(-) greenness, b* (+) yellowness/ (-) blueness



Figure 1: Spine gourd powder of different pre-treatments.

moisture removal by acting as a osmotic agent (Jackson and Mohamed, 1971). Mohseni and Ghavidel (2011) reported that sodium chloride treated tomato slices showed increase in moisture removal. Sample pretreated with brine solution took higher drying time to achieve the final moisture content. The KMS treated slices were achieved higher value of drying rate and brine treated slices were achieved lowest drying rate (Vaishali *et al.*, 2020).

Protein (%):

Significantly highest protein content was observed in T_2 (1.93%) (Table1). The highest protein content in T_2 could be due to prevention of enzymatic browning through blanching and pre-treatment with KMS + citric acid (Take *et al.*, 2012) where non enzymatic browning causes condensation of reducing sugars with amino groups (Utomo *et al.*, 2008) which leads to loss of protein. The results found are in agreement with Mozumder *et al.*

(2012) where the protein content of the KMS + $CaCl_2$ pre-treated tomato samples showed higher protein content than untreated samples. The lower protein content in T₄ could be due to leaching of amino acids in the vinegar medium and also thermal degradation reduces the protein content. Fat (%):

The highest fat content recorded in T_2 (3.12%) and there was no statistical difference among the treatments (Table 2). The lowest fat content was recorded in T_4 (2.64%). This may be due to solubility of fat content with acetic acid which leads to decrease in fat content. The higher fat content in T_2 could be due to decrease in dry matter content by leaching of soluble compounds like minerals, sugar and vitamins into water by blanching (Chapagain *et al.*, 2018), as the fat is insoluble in water the percentage of fat will increase in the remaining dry matter (Nilnakara *et al.*, 2009). The findings of present study are

Treatments	Fat (%)	Ash (%)	Crude fibre (%)	Carbohydrate (%)	Calorific value (Kcal/100g)	Total phenols (mg GAE/100g)
T ₁	2.68	5.23	12.29	67.14	298.93	698.00
T ₂	3.12	8.11	14.78	61.91	283.34	831.20
T ₃	2.89	5.17	12.91	66.59	299.05	620.00
T ₄	2.64	3.53	14.24	68.45	302.99	758.00
Mean	2.83	5.51	13.55	66.02	296.08	726.50
S Em <u>+</u>	0.41	0.54	0.68	1.22	5.22	25.93
CD at 1%	NS	2.23	NS	5.06	NS	107.10
C.V.	32.05	21.88	11.16	3.17	3.66	-

Table 2: Effect of pre-treatments on fat, ash, crude fibre, carbohydrate, calorific value and total phenol content of spine gourd powder

supported by Mozumder et al. (2012) where fat content of CaCl₂ + KMS pre-treated tomato powder showed higher because of lower moisture content.

Ash (%):

The ash content gives presence of mineral composition present in the food. Significantly higher ash content was recorded in T_2 (8.11%) (Table 2) while the lowest ash content was associated with T_4 (3.53%). The higher ash content in T₂ could be due to addition of some sulphites and sodium ions into the vegetables. The similar results were observed by Oboh, (2005) where the ash content of Cnidoscolus acontifolus subjected to abration of salt showed higher salt content by abrasion of sodium ions into the vegetable. The lower ash content in T₄ might be due to leaching out of some inorganic salt during pre-treatment (Chapagain et al., 2018). Pre-treatments influence the ash contents of sweet potato flour by leaching of minerals in the citric acid solution during soaking (Vanhal, 2000).

Crude fibre (%):

Crude fibre helps in roughage improvement and bulk, also helps in maintaining intestinal issues (Potter and Hotchkiss, 2004). The maximum mean crude fibre content was recorded in T_2 (14.78%) might be due to the leaching of soluble solids during blanching which in turn result in decrease of total dry matter. Therefore, an increase in proportion of the crude fibre per unit dry matter has been observed in blanched samples (Nilnakara et al., 2009).

Carbohvdrate (%):

Carbohydrates provide heat and energy for all forms of body activity. They are a major food source and a key form of energy for most

Significantly higher carbohydrate organisms. content was obtained in T_4 (68.45%) (Table 2) and minimum carbohydrate content was obtained in (61.91%) might be due to leaching of soluble components like minerals, sugar and vitamins in water during blanching resulting in decrease in total solids. The energy accumulated in food as protein, fat and carbohydrates.

Calorific value (Kcal/100g):

The highest calorific value in T₄ (302.99 Kcal 100 g^{-1}) and lowest calorific value in T₂ (283.34 Kcal 100 g^{-1}) (Table 2). was due to decrease in carbohydrate content and higher amount ash and crude fibre as per the present study which does not add any calories. Aberoumand (2010) studied on nutritional aspects of spine gourd fruits where he stated that spine gourd powder provides energy of 288.25 Kcal 100 g^{-1} on dry weight basis.

Total phenols (mg GAE/100g):

Total phenol content of spine gourd Khakra varied significantly. The maximum phenol content of $(831.20 \text{ mg GAE } 100 \text{ g}^{-1})$ was recorded in T₂ (Table 2) and minimum total phenol content was recorded in T3 (620 mg GAE 100 g⁻¹). The results are supported by Shrinivas et al. (2009) where Momordica dioica Roxb. contains total phenolic content of about 9.25 mg GAE per gram of dry sample. Maximum phenol content in T₂ might be due to activity of potassium metabisulfate and sodium chloride which causes irreversible changes in the quality of dried produce there by it reduces tissues damages by oxidative reactions (Mwende et al. 2017). Bamidele et al. (2017) reported that increase in total phenol content of selected green leafy vegetables after blanching for 5 minutes with reduction of enzyme mediated polyphenol polyphenol oxidase) and also increase in total phenolic content could also be due to the release of bound phenolic acids from the breakdown of cellular constituents of the plant cell walls in the leafy vegetable while blanching. Also supported by the study conducted by Chapagain et al., 2018, chemical pre-treatment done before drying showed significant effect on physiochemical properties of solar dried tomato slices. Solar and sun-dried tomato pre-treated with potassium metabisulfite had significantly high carotenoids, lycopene and beta carotene compared with the other pre-treated samples and controls (Owureku-Asare *et al.*, 2018)

Conclusion

Spine gourd powder prepared by employing pretreatments was evaluated for the nutritional parameters and L^* , a^* and b^* colour values. Results indicated significant differences among the

References

- Aberoumand, A. (2010). Comparison of proximate and mineral composition between Asparagus oficinalis and Momordica dioica: Iranian and Indian vegetables. Iranica J. Energy and Environ, 1(3), 196-199.
- Anonymous. (1980). Official Methods of Analysis, 13th edition, Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Washington DC.
- Bamidele, O. P., M. B. Fasogbon., O. J. Adebowale, & Adeyanju, A.A. (2017). Effect of blanching time on total phenolic, antioxidant activities and mineral content of selected green leafy vegetables. Current J. App. Sci. Technol, 24(4), 1-8.
- Basavaraj, N., Patil, S. V., Chandan, K., & Hongal, S., (2014). Spine gourd: The golden vegetable of the Western Ghats. Proceedings of the Regional Symposium on Sustaining Small-Scale Vegetable Production and Marketing Systems for Food and Nutrition Security (SEAVEG2014), 25-27 February 2014, Bangkok, Thailand.
- Chapagain, M., Ojha, P., Karki, R., Subedi, U., & Shrestha, M. B. (2018). Effects of Chemical Pretreatments on Physiochemical and Drying Characteristics of Solar-Dried Tomatoe (Lycopersicon esculantum) Slices. Nepalese Horticulture, 13(1), 1-9.
- Jackson, T. H., & Mohamed, B. B. (1971). The shambat process: new development arising from the osmotic dehydration of fruits and vegetables. Sudan Journal of Food Science and Technology, 3, 18-22.

degradation (complete inactivation of native treatments. The appearance of the spine gourd powder was retained in T₂ which is foremost for consumer acceptance and also it retained higher per cent of protein, fat, ash, crude fiber and total phenol content. Therefore results of this study indicated that treatment T_2 [Spine gourd slices + Blanching (3 min) + Steeping in 0.2% KMS and 2% Salt (10 min)] was found to best for the production of spine gourd powder in terms of nutritional and colour values which can be incorporated to many products for value addition and to enhance therapeutic value.

Acknowledgement

Authors are thankful to University of Horticultural Sciences, Bagalkot for providing the necessary facilities to carry out this work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- John, J. K., & Bharathi, L. K. (2013). Bitterlessgourds for widening Kerala's vegetable basket. Kerala Karshakan E-Journal, 38.
- Lerici, C. R., Piva, M., & ROSA, M. D. (1983). Water activity and freezing point depression of aqueous solutions and liquid foods. Journal of food science, 48(6), 1667-1669.
- Micheli, F. (2001). Pectin methylesterases: cell wall enzymes with important roles in plant physiology. Trends in plant science, 6(9), 414-419.
- Mohseni, S., & Ghavidel, R. A. (2011). Effect of pre-drying treatments on quality characteristics of dehydrated tomato slices. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, 59(1), 2205-2215.
- Mosha, T. C., Gaga, H. E., Pace, R. D., Laswai, H. S., & Mtebe, K. (1995). Effect of blanching on the content of antinutritional factors in selected vegetables. Plant Foods for Human Nutrition, 47(4), 361-367.
- Motapalukula, J., Sanganamoni, M., & Panchbhaiya, A. (2020). Spine Gourd (Momordica Dioica Roxb. Ex Willd.): A Potential Crop By Value But Not Commercial in Production. Agri Mirror: Future India ISSN: 2582-6980, 1(5), 59.
- Mozumder, N. H. M. R., Rahman, M. A., Kamal, M. S., Mustafa, A. K. M., & Rahman, M. S. (2012). Effects of pre-drying chemical treatments on quality of cabinet dried tomato powder. Journal of Environmental Science and Natural Resources, 5(1), 253-265.

- Mulay, S. V., Pawar, V. N., Thorat, S. S., & Ghatge, U. M. (1994). Effect of pretreatments on quality of dehydrated cabbage. *Indian Food Packer*, 48, 11-11.
- Mwende, R., Imathiu, S., & Owino, W., (2017). Effects of pretreatment during drying on the antioxidant properties of tomato. In The 1st All Africa Post Harvest Congress and Exhibition, Reducing food losses and waste: sustainable solutions for Africa, 28th-31st March 2017, Nairobi, Kenya. Conference Proceedings (pp. 65-67). University of Nairobi.
- Nilnakara, S., Chiewchan, N., & Devahastin, S. (2009). Production of antioxidant dietary fibre powder from cabbage outer leaves. *Food and Bioproducts* processing, 87(4), 301-307.
- Oboh, G. (2005). Effect of blanching on the antioxidant properties of some tropical green leafy vegetables. *LWT-Food Science and Technology*, *38*(5), 513-517.
- Ojure, M. A., & Quadri, J. A. (2012). Quality evaluation of noodles produced from unripe plantain flour using xanthan gum. *IJRRAS*, 13(3), 740-752.
- Owureku-Asare, M., Oduro, I., Saalia, F. K., Tortoe, C., & Ambrose, R. K. (2018). Physicochemical and nutritional characteristics of solar and sun-dried tomato powder. *Journal of Food Research*, 7(6), 1-15.
- Pause, V. G., & Sukathme, P. V., (1985). Statistical Methods for Agriculture Workers, Indian Council of Agriculture Research, New Delhi.
- Potter, N. N., & Hotchkiss, J. T., (2004). "Food Sciences" 5th Edition, CBS Publishers and Distributors, New Delhi, Pp 55-56. 63, 347, 583.
- Prajapati, V. K., Nema, P. K., & Rathore, S. S. (2011). Effect of pretreatment and drying methods on quality of valueadded dried aonla (*Emblica officinalis* Gaertn) shreds. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 48(1), 45-52.

- Rao, Y., & Bingren, X., (2009). Determination of total ash and acid insoluble ash by NIS. *The Pharm. Soc. Japan*, 129: 881-886.
- Sadasivam, S., & Manickam, A., (2005). Biochemical Methods. New Age International (P) Publishers, Second edition. Pp. 193-194.
- Sakshi, C., Harikrishnan, A., Jayaraman, S., Choudhury, A. R., & Veena, V. (2020). Predictive medicinal metabolites from Momordica dioica against comorbidity related proteins of SARS-CoV-2 infections. *Journal of Biomolecular Structure and Dynamics*, 1-14.
- Shrinivas, B., Samleti, A., Melisa, P., & Manisha, S. (2009). Evaluation of antimicrobial and antioxidant properties of *Momordica dioica* Roxb. (Ex Wild). J. Pharmacy Research, 2(6), 1075-1078.
- Take-Ajaykumar, M., Jadhav, S. L., & Bhotmange, M. G. (2012). Effect of pretreatments on quality attributes of dried green chilli powder. *ISCA J Eng Sci*, 1, 71-74.
- Utomo, J. S., Che Man, Y. B., Rahman, R. A., & Said Saad, M. (2008). The effect of shape, blanching methods and flour on characteristics of restructured sweetpotato stick. *International journal of food science & technology*, *43*(10), 1896-1900.
- Vaishali, S., Singh, B. R., Chandra, S., & Chauhan, N. (2020). Effect of pre-treatments on drying characteristics of Potato (Solanum tuberosum) Slices. *The Pharma Innovation Journal*, 9(9): 291-296.
- Van Hal, M. (2000). Quality of sweetpotato flour during processing and storage. *Food Reviews International*, 16(1), 1-37.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Water usage pattern in the aftermath of COVID-19

Venu Prasad H D 🖂

Training and outreach research group, Centre for water resources development and management, Kozhikode, India. Naveena K

Land and water management research group, Centre for water resources development and management, Kozhikode, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 01 December 2021	Maintenance of good health and avoiding a viral infection is the prime focus for
Revised : 15 January 2022	an individual during COVID-19 pandemic. Water being a universal solvent is
Accepted : 20 January 2022	used widely to clean the disinfectants in public places and individual household
	level. This study was designed to find any change in the water consumption
Published online:22 February 2022	pattern among the households after the emergence of COVID-19. To study this,
	a questionnaire was prepared and sent to the respondents through Google
Key Words:	Forms. Collected data was analysed using suitable statistical methods and the
Consumption pattern	results indicate that there was a significant change in the consumption pattern
COVID-19	of drinking water from cold to hot (37.98%) among the respondents and also
Drinking more water	with respect to the total water usage. As the disease is communicable in nature,
Hydro-thermal therapy	more water is needed to clean and disinfect the surface areas, washing hands
Water usage	etc. This eventually has a significant burden on the water resources in countries
	where water is already deficient, like India. It is recommended to adopt water
	conservation practices/technologies at the individual level by means of rain
	water harvesting techniques or use of efficient water aerator taps etc. to reduce
	water consumption.

Introduction

Water, an elixir of life (Mythrey et al., 2012; influence domestic consumption of water like Bhutiani et al., 2021) without which life on this planet is impossible. It is an essential element for survival (Popkin and Rosenberg, 2011; Wolf et al., 2010; Bhutiani and Ahamad, 2018; Tyagi et al., 2020) of any living being on this planet. People can stay for couple of days without having food (Krecar et al., 2014) but not without sipping water. From the available freshwater, about 70 % of the water is used for agriculture, 23 % for industry and the remaining for domestic usage (de Sherbinin et al., 2007). Domestic consumption of water includes mostly drinking, cooking, washing clothes, surface cleaning and sanitisation etc. Domestic consumption pattern of water varies from country to country. The total fresh surface water withdrawals are more in countries like China followed by India and USA (FAO, 2021). Similarly, within the Nation, the consumption of water varies depending on the availability of water, settlements like Urban or Rural etc. Several factors

climate, family size, gender, age, education, culture, food habits, urbanization etc. (March et al., 2015; Shaban and Sharma, 2007). As per the Ministry of Housing and Urban Affairs, 135 litres per capita per day (lpcd) is the benchmark for urban and 55 lpcd for rural water supply for domestic usage in India (PIB Delhi. 02 MAR 2020). The use of water appropriately will fetch considerable benefits viz., drinking hot water has more benefits than drinking cold water (Zawn Villines, October 12, 2017; Patel et al., 2015). Hot water consumption helps in reduction in infection level among the general public (Patel et al., 2015). Hydrothermal therapy or Hydrotherapy or hot-cold therapy, wherein water in different forms can be used for the treatment of various diseases. For instance, steam water inhalation provides enormous health benefits in curing different diseases (Galvez et al., 2018; Mooventhan and Nivethitha, 2014). The use of heat in the form of steam inhalations,

hot springs, saunas, steam rooms etc. helps in enhancing the overall health and wellbeing of an individual (Cohen, 2020). It was rumoured that the Chinese used steam water inhalation technique to get rid of COVID-19. As this information spreads through social media, many Indians started practicing it.

"Drinking clean water, maintaining hygienic conditions, proper sanitation and disinfection are essential to prevent most of the transferable including COVID-19. Government diseases recommended several guidelines about safe water consumption and multi modal strategies for avoiding contact with COVID-19 virus like washing hands frequently, cleaning the surface areas and maintaining proper sanitation measures" (WHO, 29 July 2020). Till now, the consumption of water is increasing due to increase in population but now there is one more reason to use more water i.e., preventing the spread of the Novel Coronavirus through cleaning the surface areas, washing hands etc. Keeping these in mind, the study designed to examine the change in consumption pattern of

water among the individuals after COVID-19.

Material and Methods

This study aims to investigate the water consumption pattern among Indian households after COVID-19 using a cross-sectional survey. A questionnaire was framed in English and sent to social media platforms through a link generated using 'Google Forms'. The link was first sent to the close-knit groups and asked them to forward in their friends' group or WhatsApp circle. The Google Forms consist of an inventory of questions related to demographic and water utilisation pattern about the households. The queries related to the water utilisation pattern of the respondents was designed using dichotomous answers like yes or no (Table1; Except Query 1). The study employed a snowball sampling method to collect information from the respondents. The survey started on 4th June 2020 and ends on 7th July 2020. After removing the incomplete and random responses, a total of 848 valid responses were selected for analysis.

 Table 1: Water related questions included in the questionnaire (After COVID-19 indicates emergence of COVID-19 in India)

Query 1	What is the source of your drinking water?
Query 2	Do you have access to clean drinking water?
Query 3	Are you drinking hot water or cold water?
Query 4	If you started drinking hot water, is this change due to COVID-19?
Query 5	Do you have the habit of drinking more water after COVID-19?
Query 6	Are you washing your hands more frequently after COVID-19?
Query 7	Do you clean products bought from outside (Milk packets etc.,) with water after COVID-19?
Query 8	Do you take a bath as soon as you come to the house from outside (after COVID-19)?
Query 9	Are you practicing hydro-thermal therapy (hot water steam) after COVID-19?
Query 10	Are you consuming more water to clean your hands/disinfect your house/washing clothes/bathing after COVID-19?

The Hypothesis of the study

Hypothesis 1 (H1a): Water drinking habits (More water drinking/ Hot water drinking/Access to clean water) positively improved after wake of COVID-19.

Hypothesis 2 (H2a)

External consumption of water (Clean There is no change in proportionate response hands/Disinfect your house/Washing ($\hat{p} = 0.5$) of individuals towards water clothes/Hydrothermal therapy) increased after wake of COVID-19. ($\hat{p} = 0.5$) of individuals towards water consumption. Non parametric Wilcoxon signed-rank test is used to compare the changes in drinking

Analytical methods

Statistical techniques like descriptive statistics, Ztest, Wilcoxon signed rank test and Random Forest, were used to analyse the data. Z- test is used to test improvement in the proportionate response of individuals about water issues by considering H0: There is no change in proportionate response $(\hat{p} = 0.5)$ of individuals towards water consumption. Non parametric Wilcoxon signedrank test is used to compare the changes in drinking habit after Covid-19 from cold to hot water. H0: No change in median difference between before to after response vs. Ha: the median difference between before response to after response is positive. Random forest is one of the machine learning techniques to choose the variables based on explanatory variables contribution to an outcome (Best et al., 2020; Janitza et al., 2018). Node purity is one of the measures of importance to select variables and is calculated based on the reduction in the sum of squared errors whenever a variable is considered to divide the tree. In this study, the random forest technique was used to identify the contribution of demographic variables and water queries to change in awareness among the respondents about water usage.

Results and Discussion

Demographic profile of the respondents

The analysis of the demographic information revealed that out of total 848 respondents, 36.91 % of the respondents constitute females and the remaining were males (62.97%). The majority of the respondents belong to the age group of up to 45 years (88.68%). In terms of education, as much as 98.23 % had a minimum graduation level of education. More than half of the respondents in the sample constitute bachelors (54.36%), more than half of the respondents (69.2%) had a monthly average income of Rupees less than 50 thousand.

Water usage pattern

The source of drinking water varies among the households, 38 % of the respondents depend on municipal water supply, 29.6% on borewell, 17.70% on open well and remaining on other sources of water (Figure 1). With respect to water consumption pattern among the respondents, it was found that 37.98 % of the respondents started drinking hot water after COVID-19 despite of access to fresh available drinking water (93.27%). It was further found that there was a significant difference in the drinking habit of the respondents from cold to hot water as per the Wilcoxon signedrank test (p-value <0.01) (Fig 1B). Drinking hot water here refers to normal consumption of drinking and not pertain to drinking tea or boiling the water to kill the pathogens. More than 50 % of the respondents started drinking more water after spread of COVID-19 and about 99 % of the respondents were using more water for their daily needs viz., washing milk packets, washing hands more frequently, etc. (Figure 1). Similarly, Zproportionate test (Table 2) also indicates significant changes in internal and external usage of water at 5 % level of significance. Whereas, the habit of drinking more water (-13.29**) and Hydrothermal therapy after COVID-19 (-28.02**) were showing negative significance due to less positive responses.



200 Environment Conservation Journal

Water usage	Items	Positive responses	Z score
	a. Access to clean drinking water	791	50.33**
Internal	b. Drinking hot water	525	7.14**
	c. Habit of drinking more water	248	-13.29**
	a. Washing hands more frequently	788	48.75**
External	b. Cleaning food products bought from outside (Milk Packets, etc.)	507	5.81**
	c. Bathing	606	13.84**
d. Hydro-thermal therapy		130	-28.02**
	e. Consuming more water (overall)	709	26.44**

Table 2: Changes in water usage pattern after COVID-19.

households, total water usage level was found out using the total score. Total score is obtained by adding the total score of each attribute measured in the table 2. Thus, the total score indicates the awareness level among the respondents towards the benefits of using water. In the present study, quartile method was used to divide the total score into three parts viz., low (<4), medium (4-6) and high (>6). It was found that 73.94 % of the respondents had moderate level of water usage followed by low (15.10 %) and high (10.96%) (Table 3).

Table 3: Level of water usage by the respondents.

Level of water usage	Score	Frequency	Percentage
Low (<1 st quartile)	<4	128	15.10
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	4-6	627	73.94
High (3 rd quartile)	>6	93	10.96

Personal and social factors will influence the individual awareness level of water consumption and to identify the most influencing factors, we used a Random Forest technique. The relative importance of each factor on water score using IncNode purity values obtained from random forest technique was given in Figure 2A. Respondents monthly income of the family (84.61), age (75.40), child in family (67.50), and education (61.50) were the most influencing factors contributing to the total score. Out of nine queries selected for total score, Figure 2B explains variation of each query with respect to total score. In the present study, consuming more water (overall) (403.44), washing hands more frequently (385.62), taking bath as soon

Based on the water consumption pattern of the as an individual comes to the house from outside (281.30) and cleaning food products bought from outside (246.86) were shown more weightage to the total score. This indicates that the respondent was given more importance to practicing external consumption of water compared to internal consumption like drinking hot water and consuming more water.

> The study also looks into the total water usage of the household and the data collected indicates 83 % of the respondents were using more water after COVID-19 for their daily needs. This includes repeated hand washing, bathing, washing products etc. The average domestic consumption of water was increased more than 210 litres per capita per day (lpcd) in this study as compared to the standard norms of 135 lpcd prescribed by the Central Public Health and Environmental Engineering Organisation of India. This clearly indicates that the households are consuming more water than the normal after COVID-19 due to increased usage. If the people consume water at this rate, there will be an increase in demand for water in the near future. In reality, the availability of water is taking a decreasing trend in India as shown in Figure 3B.

> The present study examined the water consumption pattern among the households after COVID-19. The study found that there was a significant difference in the drinking habit from cold to hot water among the respondents. This may be due to the fact that drinking hot water may reduce the symptoms of sore throat that is experienced after COVID-19 infection. Compared to internal consumption of water, like drinking hot water or drinking more water, the respondents gave more importance to external consumption like washing milk packets, taking bath etc. Even the respondents practicing drinking more water and hydro-thermal therapy



Figure 2: Importance of personal information and queries to total score using Random Forest.



Figure 3: Present availability and domestic Source usage pattern of water in India. *(B)*: http://www.Indiastat.com.

were very few despite the fact that the consumption treatment were few and conducted on a limited of more water will remove most of the toxins from the body (Patel et al., 2015) and hydro-thermal therapy may increase the chances of survival (Cohen, 2020; Evans et al., 2016; Pilch et al., 2013; Brenner et al., 1999; Ernst et al., 1990) once the

sample size, the studies of this nature need to be conducted to fill the research gaps that exist with respect to the benefits of water by looking at both micro and macro level scenarios. It is of utmost important to create awareness among the general individual gets infected with the virus. Though the public to drink hot water and practice hydrostudies on hydro-thermal or hot-cold water thermal therapy in order to overcome the effects of viral infection. Age, education and increase in chances of severe infestation of COVID-19. But monthly income of the family were the most influencing factors in consuming more water. The findings of this study were associated with the earlier studies of Rathnayaka et al. (2017) and Yang et al. (2016). As the virus is transmittable in nature, in order to overcome the viral infection, one needs to use more water for washing, drinking, cleaning etc. The International Organisations like United Nations and WHO also recommends washing hands as one of the preventive measures to control COVID-19 pandemic.

Conclusion

This study delves into the domestic usage pattern of water among the households in India through a questionnaire survey and the results revealed that there is a significant change in the consumption pattern of water at the household level and the total consumption of water also increased after the emergence of COVID-19. Practice of drinking hot water and hydro-thermal therapy might reduce the

References

- Best, K. B., Gilligan, J. M., Baroud, H., Carrico, A. R., Donato, K. M., Ackerly, B. A., & Mallick, B. (2020). Random forest analysis of two household surveys can identify important predictors of migration in Bangladesh. Journal Computational Social Science, 0123456789. of https://doi.org/10.1007/s42001-020-00066-9
- Bhutiani, R., Ahamad, F., & Ruhela, M. (2021). Effect of composition and depth of filter-bed on the efficiency of Sand-intermittent-filter treating the Industrial wastewater at Haridwar, India. Journal of Applied and Natural Science, 13(1), 88-94.
- Bhutiani, R., & Ahamad, F. (2018). Efficiency assessment of Sand Intermittent Filtration Technology for waste water Treatment. International Journal of advance research in science and engineering (IJARSE), 7(03), 503-512.
- Brenner, I. K. M., Castellani, J. W., Gabaree, C., Young, A. J., Zamecnik, J., Shephard, R. J., & Shek, P. N. (1999). Immune changes in humans during cold exposure: Effects of prior heating and exercise. Journal of Applied 699-710. Physiology, 87(2), https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1999.87.2.699
- Cohen, M. (2020). Turning up the heat on COVID-19: heat as a therapeutic intervention. F1000Research, 9, 292. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.23299.1

the awareness about these practices among the households is limited. Hence, Government must ensure to create awareness in these aspects in order to reduce the infection. The study found that the external water usage was increased mainly for surface areas cleaning the and washing hands/sanitisation during COVID-19 pandemic. It is advised to practice water conservation techniques among the households like use of recycled water, practice of rain water harvesting, use of water aerated taps etc. Moreover, Government needs to plan about water demand and supply, as there is already a water deficit in most of the cities in India and ensure quality supply of water to the households, as the consumption of water is increased after the emergence of COVID-19.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- de Sherbinin, A., Carr, D., Cassels, S., & Jiang, L. (2007). Review of Population and environment. Annual 345-373. Environment and Resources, 32, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.32.041306.100243
- Ernst, E., Pecho, E., Wirz, P., & Saradeth, T. (1990). Regular Sauna Bathing and the Incidence of Common Colds. Annals of Medicine, 22(4), 225-227. https://doi.org/10.3109/07853899009148930
- Evans, S. S., Repasky, E. A., & Fisher, D. T. (2016). System Feels the Heat. Nature Reviews Immunology, 15(6), 335-349. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3843.Fever
- FAO (2021). Global fresh surface water withdrawals 2017, by select country. Retrieved from https://www.statista.com/statistics/1257879/total-freshsurface-water-withdrawals/
- Galvez, I., Torres-Piles, S., & Ortega-Rincon, E. (2018). Balneotherapy, immune system, and stress response: a hormetic strategy?. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 19(6), 1687.
- Janitza, S., Celik, E., & Boulesteix, A. L. (2018). A computationally fast variable importance test for random forests for high-dimensional data. Advances in Data Analysis and Classification, 12(4), 885–915. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11634-016-0276-4

- Krecar, I. M., Kolega, M., & Kunac, S. F. (2014). The Effects of Drinking Water on Attention. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 159, 577–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.12.428</u>
- March, H., Hernández, M., & Saurí, D. (2015). Assessing domestic water use habits for more effective water awareness campaigns during drought periods: A case study in Alicante, eastern Spain. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 15(5), 963–972. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-15-963-2015
- Mooventhan, A., & Nivethitha, L. (2014). Scientific evidencebased effects of hydrotherapy on various systems of the body. North American Journal of Medical Sciences, 6(5), 199.
- Mythrey, R. C., Ramachandra, N., & Shreevathsa. (2012). Water: The elixir of life. *International Journal of Research in Ayurveda and Pharmacy*, 3(6), 769–771. <u>https://doi.org/10.7897/2277-4343.03613</u>
- Patel, S., Patel, J., Patel, M., Jyoti Sen, D., & Dhrubo Jyoti Sen, A. (2015). Say Yes To Warm For Remove Harm: Amazing Wonders Of Two Stages Of Water. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical and Medical Research*, 2(4), 444–460. www.ejpmr.com444
- PIB Delhi (02 MAR 2020). Per Capita Availability of Water. Ministry of Jal Shakti. https://pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1604871
- Pilch, W., Pokora, I., Szyguła, Z., Pałka, T., Pilch, P., Cisoń, T., Malik, L., & Wiecha, S. (2013). Effect of a Single Finnish Sauna Session on White Blood Cell Profile and Cortisol Levels in Athletes and Non-Athletes. *Journal of Human Kinetics*, 39, 127-135. DOI: 10.2478/hukin-2013-0075
- Popkin, B. M., & Rosenberg, I. H. (2011). Water, Hyrdation and Health. NIH Public Access, 68(8), 439–458. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2010.00304.x.Water

- Rathnayaka, K., Malano, H., Arora, M., George, B., Maheepala, S., & Nawarathna, B. (2017). Prediction of urban residential end-use water demands by integrating known and unknown water demand drivers at multiple scales II: Model application and validation. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling, 118,* 1-12.
- Shaban, A., & Sharma, R. N. (2007). Water consumption patterns in domestic households in major cities. *Economic* and Political Weekly, 2190-2197.
- Tyagi, S., Dubey, R. C., Bhutiani, R., & Ahamad, F. (2020). Multivariate Statistical analysis of river ganga water at Rishikesh and Haridwar, India. *Analytical Chemistry Letters*, 10(2), 195-213.
- WHO (29 July 2020). Water, sanitation, hygiene, and waste management for SARS-CoV-2, the virus that causes COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/water-sanitation-hygiene-and-waste-management-for-covid-19
- Wolf, R., Wolf, D., Rudikoff, D., & Parish, L. C. (2010). Nutrition and water: Drinking eight glasses of water a day ensures proper skin hydration-myth or reality? *Clinics in Dermatology*, 28(4), 380–383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clindermatol.2010.03.022
- Yang, C. S., & Kim, D. (2016). Unusual intestinal obstruction due to idiopathic sclerosing encapsulating peritonitis: a report of two cases and a review. *Annals of Surgical Treatment and Research*, 90(4), 231-234.
- Zawn Villines (October 12, 2017). What are the benefits of drinking hot water?. Retrieved from https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/319673
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal





Evaluation of antibacterial activity and phytochemical investigation of Azadirachta indica L. against certain bacterial species

Aparaiita Gupta 🖂

Department of Microbiology, Dolphin PG College of Science and Agriculture, Chunni kalan, district Fatehgarh Sahib, Punjab, India. Shiwani Thakur

Department of Microbiology, Dolphin PG College of Science and Agriculture, Chunni kalan, district Fatehgarh Sahib, Punjab, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 11 December 2021	Historically, plants have been a source of herbal medicines and are used for
Revised : 16 February 2022	treating various human ailments. Azadirachta indica, commonly known as
Accepted : 21 February 2022	neem, is a multipurpose tree with a wide range of health benefits. Various parts
	of neem tree have been shown to exhibit antimicrobial effects against a wide
Available online: 17 April 2022	variety of microorganisms. The present study was carried out for screening of
	active components and antibacterial activity of leaves and bark extracts of A.
Key Words:	indica. Ethanol and methanol extracts of leaves and bark of A. indica were
Active components	tested against Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria viz. Escherichia coli,
Agar well diffusion	Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus, and
Antibacterial activity	Bacillus cereus. The agar well diffusion method was used for testing the
Azadirachta indica	antibacterial activity. Results revealed that methanol extract of bark and
Phytochemical screening	ethanolic extract of leaves exhibited significant antibacterial activity.
	Methanolic extract of bark of A. indica showed maximum antibacterial activity
	against B. cereus and K. pneumoniae (16 mm) followed by p. aeruginosa (15.6
	mm), E. coli (15.3 mm) and least was found against S. aureus (15 mm).
	Whereas ethanolic extract of leaves exhibited maximum activity against P.
	aeruginosa (11.3 mm), followed by K. pneumoniae (11 mm), S. aureus (10.3
	mm), E.coli (7 mm) and no activity was observed against B. cereus.
	Phytochemical screening of plant extracts gave positive results for alkaloids,
	flavonoids, saponins and tannins.

Introduction

Since time immemorial medicinal plants, have of Ayurveda, a traditional healthcare system of always been used for treatment of human ailments. Plants possess therapeutic properties and therefore play an essential role in maintaining human health free from disease as well as in healthy state. Ancient, scared holy book such as Rigveda and various Samhitas written by ancient rishis had made significant contribution to the Indian medicine system. Both these ancient literatures provide information regarding the therapeutic properties of medicinal plants and their uses. Rigveda seems to be oldest compilation written between 3500 B.C. to 1600 B.C. Atharveda was written around 1200B.C. Further works of Charka and Sushruta namely Charaka Samhita and Sushruta Samhita respectively were written about 1000B.C. and contain a realistic and clear account of therapeutics

Indian medicine. The discovery of antibiotics in 20^{th} century have completely transformed humanity's approach to infectious diseases and substantially reduced the threat passed by infectious disease. However, the emergence of drugs resistant microorganisms reversed the advances of the previous 50 years of research. The drug resistant microorganisms have complicated the treatment of infectious diseases in immune compromised AIDS and cancer patients (Davies, 1994). Under such circumstances, it becomes necessary to find out some suitable substitute of modern medicines from drug plants. Various plant has been discovered which have medical significance like antimicrobial, antibacterial, antioxidant, anti-helminthic, anticancerous, ant-inflammatory, anti-fungal activity

etc. These plant medicine not only cure diseases but also enhance our immunity. Medicinal plant contains a wide variety of secondary metabolites such as tannins, alkaloids, flavonoids etc. Phytochemicals that occur naturally in plants are referred to as secondary metabolites. phytocompounds possess antimicrobial These properties and therefore serve as an effective, cheap, and safe antimicrobial in treatment of infection.

Voluminous information on plants as antimicrobial agents against human pathogens are available. Large no. of workers reported antimicrocrobial activity of drug plants (Mahida and Mohan, 2006; Rajasekaran et al., 2008; Alipour and Khan Mohammadi, 2011; Sudhir et al., 2012; Buzayan and El-Garbulli, 2012; Ibrahim and Abu salem, 2014; Al- Mariri and Safi, 2014; Francine et al., 2015) Azadirachta indica, commonly called as neem (margosa) belongs to family Meliaceae. Neem is the traditional medicinal plant of India. It is an evergreen tree, commonly grown in various parts of the Indian subcontinent. The plant is regarded as "village dispensary" in India because of the use of all its parts for various ailments in the indigenous system of medicine. Every part of the tree has been used as household remedy for treatment of various human ailments since ancient times (Rajasekaran et al, 2008). Neem is also called as "Arista" in Sanskrit, a word that means Imperishable, Perfect & Complete (Girish and Shankara, 2008). A large number of biologically active compounds have been isolated from A. such as Flavonoids, flavonoglycoside, indica dihydrochalcones, tannins etc. Twigs of neem are widely used as toothbrush for its anti pyorrheal property. Neem oil possesses antifungal. antimicrobial and antiseptic properties and are used for treatment of chronic skin diseases, leprosy and ulcers. The objective of the study is to investigate the antibacterial potential of leaves and bark extracts of A. indica and to determine the phytochemical constituents present in the A. indica bark and leaves extract.

Material and Methods

Collection of Plant material and preparation of Plant extracts: The Leaves and bark of *Azadirachta indica* were collected from from the Greenland Nursery in chunni kalan, Distt.

Fatehgharh Sahib.. The plant materials (leaves and bark) were thoroughly washed and dried in shade. After proper drying, the leaves and bark of A. indica were grinded to form coarse powder. Extraction of test drug plant material i.e leaves and bark were done in different extractants (methanol and ethanol). 40 gram of grinded plant material was extracted using 300ml of extraction solvent for 24-48 hrs in Soxhlet extractor. Finally the extract obtained after extraction was subjected to filteration through sterile filter paper whatman no.1. Solution was evaporated to dryness to get final volume of 40 ml under controlled temperature conditions. The final concentration of the extract was made at level in which 1 ml of extract solution represented 1 gm of powdered plant material (Barreto et al., 2012). Extract solution thus obtained was designated as 100% concentrated drug solution. This 100% extract solution was further diluted with distilled water to obtain 75%, 50% and 25% concentrations.

Collection of Test organisms: The bacterial test organisms used in the present investigation are *Staphylococcus aureus* (MTCC code 3160), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (MTCC code 3542), *Escherichia coli* (MTCC code 443), *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (MTCC code 9544) and *Bacillus cereus* (MTCC code 430). All the culture were collected from Microbial Type Culture collection (MTCC) of IMTECH Chandigarh, India.

Testing for antibacterial activity: The agar well diffusion method was used for evaluation of antibacterial activity of plant extracts (Bell and Grudy, 1968).

Addition of inoculums to culture medium

Nutrient agar medium was seeded with inoculums i.e (Nutrient broth culture of test organisms) 2ml of bacterial suspension was added into 100 ml of molten and cooled Nutrient agar medium. The flask was rotated gently for uniform distribution of test organisms.

Preparation of agar plates:

The inoculated culture medium was then poured into sterile petri plates in Laminar Air Flow and allowed to solidify completely.

Pouring of extract:

Sterile cork borer of 8mm in diameter was used to make 5 wells in the set of each petriplates, with 4 well in the periphery and one well in the center. 0.1ml (100 μ m) solution from each differ concentration i.e (100%, 75%, 50% and 25%) of

plant extract was added to four peripheral wells. Central wells were filled with 0.1ml solution of control.

Methanol, Ethanol and Sterilized water were used as control for methanolic, ethanolic and aqueous extract. These petriplates were then incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. After incubation the diameter of zones of inhibition were measured and tabulated for each test bacterial strain. Each sample was assayed in triplicate and value was measured and recorded. Inhibition zone was measured in millimetres with the ruler. It was measured from center of the well to the edge of the area with no growth (zero growth) and was multiplied by two. Further average value of inhibition zones was calculated. Effective inhibition zone was calculated by deducting the well size(cork borer size) from average value of inhibition zone.

Phytochemical analysis: The qualitative phytochemical screening of plant extracts was carried out for alkaloids, flavonoids, saponins, tanins and glycosides.

Test for alkaloids by Mayer's reagent: 1 ml of extract was treated with few drops of mayers reagent. Formation of white precipitates indicates the presence of alkaloids (Sheel *et al.*, 2014).

Test for Saponins: About 1ml of extract was diluted separately with distilled water to 20ml and shaken in graduated cylinder for 15 minutes. 1cm layer of foam indicate the presence of saponins (Sheel *et al.*, 2014).

Test for flavonoids: Take sample extract in a test tube and add few drops of conc. H_2SO_4 . If flavonoids present in sample, yellow colour appears in solution.

Test for tannins:

To 1ml of the extract, few drop of 1% (w/v) Ferric chloride FeCl₃ solution were added. A green or brown color indicated the presence of tannins (Joshi *et al.*, 2013).

Test for glycosides by Keller- killiani test:

To the test tubes containing 2ml of extract and 1ml of glacial acetic acid, 3 drops of 5%(w/v) ferric chloride and concentrated sulphuric acid were added and observed, appearance of reddish brown color at the junction of 2 layers and bluish green in upper layer indicates the presence of glycosides (Shukla *et al.*, 2013).

Results and Discussion

The antibacterial activity of *A. indica* leaves and bark (methanol and ethanol) extracts was evaluated against both Gram positive and Gram negative bacterial strains. The qualitative phytochemical analysis was carried out for detection of alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides, tannins and saponins in plant extracts.

Antibacterial activity: Antibacterial activity of methanol and ethanol extracts of *A. indica* was studied against *Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Bacillus cereus*.

Antibacterial activity of Methanolic extract of leaves of *Azadirachata indica* (Table-1)

The maximum antibacterial activity at 100% concentration was recorded against E.coli (9mm), Bacillus cereus (7.6mm), Pseudomonas aeruginosa (6.3mm), Klebsiella pneumoniae (6mm) followed by Staphylococcus aureus (5.6mm).At 75% maximum inhibitory effect was found against E. coli (7.6 mm)and minimum against P. whereas aeruginosa (3.6 mm)at 50% concentration maximum inhibition was found against E.coli (6mm), S. aureus (2.3mm), followed by K. pneumoniae (2.6mm). No activity was found against B.cereus and P. aeruginosa at 50% concentration. No activity was observed in 25% concentration.

Antibacterial activity of ethanol extract of leaves of *Azadirachata indica* (Table-1;Photoplate-2)

The maximum antibacterial activity at 100% concentration was recorded against P. aeruginosa (11.3mm) followed by K. pneumoniae (11mm) (10.3 mm)and E.coli S.aureus (7mm). 75% concentration showed maximum inhibition against P. aeruginosa (9.6mm) and minimum against E. coli (6mm). while at 50% concentration maximum activity was found against P. aeruginosa(7.6mm) and minimum activity was observed against K. penumoniae (3mm).At 25% Concentration maximum antibacterial activity was found against S.aureus (5mm) and minimum against E.coli (4mm). K pneumoniae exhibited no activity at 25 %











Photoplate 1: Antibacterial activity of methanolic extract of bark of *Azadirachta indica* against: (A) *P.aeruginosa* (B) *B.cereus* (C) *S.aureus* (D) *K.pneumonia* (E) *E.coli* concentration. All extract concentration did not exhibited any inhibitory activity against *B. cereus*.

Antibacterial activity of methanolic extract of bark of Azadirachata indica (Table-2;Photoplate-1): The maximum antibacterial activity at 100% concentration was recorded against Bacillus cereus and Klebsiella pneumoniae (16mm) followed by Pseudomonas aeruginosa (15.6mm), E.coli (15.3mm) and Staphylococcus aureus (15mm).At 75% maximum inhibitory effect was found against B. cereus (14.6mm) and minimum against P. aeruginosa and E. coli (13.6mm)

Maximum inhibition at 50% concentration was found against *S.aureus* (12mm), and minimum against *P. aeruginosa* (10.6mm) and Bacillus cereus(11.3mm). While at 25% concentrations maximum activity was revealed against *Bacillus cereus*, *S.aureus*, *P.aeruginosa*, *K. pneumoniae* (8.6mm) and minimum against *E.coli* (6.6m)

Antibacterial activity of ethanolic extract of bark of *Azadirachata indica* (Table-2)

The maximum antibacterial activity at 100% concentration was recorded against *S.aureus* (8mm) followed by *P. aeruginosa* (7mm), *E. coli* (6mm), *B. cereus* and *K. pneumoniae* (5mm). Maximum inhibition at 75% was observed against *S.aureus* (6.6mm) and minimum inhibition was found against *K. pneumoniae* (3.6mm). 50% concentration exhibited maximum antibacterial activity against *S.aureus* (5mm) and minimum activity against *K. pneumoniae* (2mm). No activity was observed at 25% concentration.

Results of Phytochemical analysis: The preliminary phytochemical analysis of leaves extract revealed that methanolic and ethanolic extract were found rich in tannins, flavonoids and saponins. Alkaloids were only detected in ethanolic extract of leaves. Glycosides were found absent (Table-3). Similarly tannins, flavonoids and saponins were found in bark extracts (methanol and ethanol) of *A. indica*. Alkaloids and glycosides were found absent (Table-4). The phytoconstituents alkaloids, glycosides, flavonoids , saponins and tannins forms the defensive mechanism of the plants against pathogens.

The present findings revealed that methanolic bark extract of *A. indica* was superior and effective against all test bacterial strains. Whereas moderate activity was observed in ethanolic and methanolic extract of leaves. Ethanolic bark extract of *A. indica*

EXTRACT	TEST	EFFE	CTIVE ZONE O	F INHIBITION	(mm)
ТҮРЕ	ORGANISMS	Extract Conc. 100%	Extract Conc. 75%	Extract Conc. 50%	Extract Conc. 25%
METHANOL	E. coli	9 mm	7.6 mm	6 mm	
	P. aeruginosa	6.3 mm	3.6 mm		
	K. pneumoniae	6 mm	5 mm	2.6 mm	
	S. aureus	5.6 mm	4 mm	2.3 mm	
	B. cereus	7.6 mm	4.3 mm		
ETHANOL	E. coli	7 mm	6mm	5.3 mm	4 mm
	P. aeruginosa	11.3 mm	9.6 mm	7.6 mm	4.6 mm
	K. pneumoniae	11 mm	7.6 mm	3 mm	
	S. aureus	10.3 mm	8 mm	6.3 mm	5 mm
	B. cereus				
CONTROL					

Table 1: A	ntibacterial	activity of	f different	extracts of	of Azad	dirachta	indica	leaves
------------	--------------	-------------	-------------	-------------	---------	----------	--------	--------

Effective inhibition zone (mm)*= Average value of inhibition zones of three replicates -Well size (-)= No activity *Effective inhibition zone is zone which is measured after deducting the cork borer size from from total inhibition zone.

EXTRACT	TEST	EFFE	EFFECTIVE ZONE OF INHIBITION (mm)		
ТҮРЕ	ORGANISMS	Extract Conc	Extract	Extract	Extract
		100%	75%	50%	25%
METHANOL	E. coli	15.3 mm	13.6 mm	11.3 mm	6.6 mm
	P. aeruginosa	15.6 mm	13.6 mm	10.6 mm	8.6 mm
	K. pneumoniae	16 mm	14.3 mm	11.6 mm	8.6 mm
	S. aureus	15 mm	14 mm	12 mm	8.6mm
	B. cereus	16 mm	14.6 mm	11.3 mm	8.6 mm
ETHANOL	E. coli	6 mm	4.3 mm	2.3 mm	
	P.aeruginosa	7 mm	6 mm	3 mm	
	K. pneumoniae	5 mm	3.6 mm	2 mm	
	S. aureus	8 mm	6.6 mm	5 mm	
	B. cereus	5 mm	4 mm	2.3 mm	
CONTROL					

Table 2. Anti	bacterial activity	of different	extracts of	Azadirachta	<i>indica</i> b	ark
---------------	--------------------	--------------	-------------	-------------	-----------------	-----

Effective inhibition zone (mm)*= Average value of inhibition zones of three replicates -Well size (-)= No activity *Effective inhibition zone is zone which is measured after deducting the cork borer size from from total inhibition zone.

Table 3: Phytochemical screening of leaves extract of Azadirachta indica

Chemical Constituents	Test performed	Methanol extract	Ethanol extract
Alkaloids	Mayer's test	-	+
Tannins	Ferric chloride test	+	+
Flavonoids	Sulphuric acid test	+	+
Saponins	Foam test	+	+
Glycosides	Keller's Killiani test	-	-

• '+' indicates the presence of plant constituents.

-' indicates the absence of plant constituents.

Chemical Constituent s	Test performed	Methanol extract	Ethanol extract
Alkaloids	Mayer's test	-	-
Tannins	Ferric chloride test	+	+
Flavonoids	Sulphuric acid test	+	+
Saponins	Foam test	+	+
Glycosides	Keller's Killiani test	-	-

 Table 4. Phytochemical screening of bark extract of

 Azadirachta indica

• • + ' indicates the presence of plant constituents.

'-' indicates the absence of plant constituents.

failed to exhibit inhibitory activity at 25% concentration. The zone of growth inhibition of bacteria corresponded to the drug concentration of plant material. A declined trend of inhibition zone was found with the dilution of extract.

The phytochemical analysis of plant extract was done in order to detect the phytoconstituents. Methanolic and ethanolic extracts of *A. indica* bark as well as methanolic extract of A. indica leaves showed the presence of tannins, flavonoids and saponins. Whereas alkaloids and glycosides were found absent in all three extracts. On the other hand, ethanolic extract of leaves were found rich in alkaloids, tannins, saponins, flavonoids and glycosides showed absence. More inhibitory activity in methanolic bark extract may be due to higher solubity of tannins, flavonoids and saponins in methanol extract. Moreover the amount of dissolved phytoconstituents may be higher in methanolic bark extracts as compard to other Previous studies have showed that extracts. Azadirachta indica extracts were found effective against a wide variety of microorganisms. Our results coincides with findings of previous researchers. Chaturvedi et al., (2011) studied antibacterial activity of methanolic extract of Neem bark against S. aureus. Klebsiella and Pseudomonas species. The extracts were found inhibitory to S. aureus, Klebsiella and Pseudomonas species. Maragathavali et al., (2012) reported that methanolic extract of leaf had inhibitory effect on the test organisms i.e. E. coli, P. aeruginosa and S. aureus. Singh et al. (2015) reported the antibacterial efficacy of methanolic extract of A. indica leaves against S. aureus Nigussie et al. (2021) evaluated the antibacterial



(A)



(B)





Photoplate 2: Antibacterial activity of ethanol extract of leaves of Azadirachta indica against: (A) P.aeruginosa (B) B.cereus (C) S.aureus (D) K.pneumoniae (E) E.coli activity of methanolic extract of leaves of *A. indica* against bacterial strains isolated from the wounds of lymphoedema patients i.e. *Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus pyogenes, Escherichia coli, Klebsiella pneumoniae, Pseudomonas aeruginosa,* and *Shewanella alage.* They found that methanolic extracts of *A. indica* leaves exhibited antimicrobial activity against selected bacterial isolates involved in wound infections.

Conclusion

Azadirachta indica (neem) is the most versatile medicinal plant with therapeutic properties. It is rich in large number of bioactive compounds having antimicrobial, antioxidant, antiviral, antifungal and anti-inflammatory activities. From this study, it can be concluded that crude extracts of

References

- Alipour, M., & Khanmohammadi, O. (2011). Antimicrobial activity of plant extracts against oral and skin pathogens. *African journal of microbiology*, 5(19), 2909-29011.
- Al-mariri, A., & Safi, M. (2014). In vitro antimicrobial activity of several plant extract and oils against some Gram -negative bacteria. *Iranian Journal of Medical Science*, 39(1), 36-43.
- Barreto, M., Critchley, A.T., & Straker, C.J. (2002). Extracts from seaweeds can promote fungal growth. *Journal of Basic Microbiology*, 42(5),302-310.
- Buzayan, M. M., & E1-Garbulli, F.R. (2012). Antimicrobial activity of medicinal aqueous plant extract against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Malaysian journal of microbiology, 8(3), 03-206.
- Chaturvedi, M.P., Bag, A., Rawat, V., Jyala, N.S., Satyavali, V., & Jha, P.K.(2011). Antibacterial Effects of *Azadirachta indica* Leaf and Bark Extracts in Clinical Isolates of Diabetic Patients. *Nat J Integ Res Med*, 2, 5-9.
- Davies, J. (1994). Inactivation of antibiotics and the dissemination of resistant genes. *Science*. 264, 375-382.
- Francine, U., Jeanette, U., & Pierre, R.J. (2015). Assessment of antibacterial activity of Neem plant (*Azadirachta indica*) on *Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli. JMPS*, 3(4), 85-91.
- Girish, K., & Shankar ,B.S. (2008). Neem- A Green Treasure. *Electronic Journal of biology*, 4(3), 102-111.
- Ibrahim, H. M., & Abu Salem, F. M. (2014). Antimicrobial activity of some medicinal plant extract. *International Scholarly and Scientist Research &Innovation*, 8(10), 1168-1173.
- Joshi, A., Bhobe, M., & sattarkar, A. (2013). Phytochemical investigation of the roots of *Grewia microcos* Linn.. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research, 5(7),80-87.

A. indica (leaf and bark) have antibacterial activity against bacterial test strains. Our findings support the traditional medicinal usage of plant. Neem plant contain a number of active phytoconstituents having beneficial effects in control of pathogenic microbes and therefore can be used in preparation of herbal formulations in future.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the principal and managing commmitte of Dolphin PG College of Science and Agriculture for providing the facilities for experimentation.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Mahida, Y., & Mohan, J.S.S. (2006). Screening of Indian Plant extract of antimicrobial activity. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 44(8), 627-631.
- Maragathavalli, S., Brindha, S., Kaviyarsai., N. S., Annadurai, B., & Gargwar, S. K. (2012). Antimicrobial avtivity of leaf extract of neem (*Azadirachta indica*). *International Journal of Science and Nature*, 3(1), 110-113.
- Nigussie, D., Davie, G., Legesse, B.A., Fekadu, A., & Makonnen, E. (2021). Antibacterial activity of methanol extracts of the leaves of three medicinal plants against selected bacteria isolated from wounds of lymphoedema patients. *BMC Complementary medicine and therapies* m2, 1-10.
- Rajasekaran, C., Meignamam, E., Vijaykumar, V., kalaivani, T., Ramya, S., Premkumar, N., Siva, R., & Jayakumaraj, R (2008). Investigation on antibacterial activity of leaf extract of *Azdirachata indica* A. Juss (Mediaceae); A Traditional medicinal plant of India. *Ethnobotanical leaflets*, 12, 1213-1217.
- Singh, B., Ahamad, A., & Pal, V. (2015). Evaluation of Antibacterial Activity and Phytochemical Screening of Azadirachta indica Leaves Extracts Against Staphylococcus aureus. UK journal of pharmaceutical and biosciences, 3(4), 43-47.
- Shukla, S., Mehta, A., & Bajpai, V.K. (2013). Phytochemical Screening and Anthelmintic and Antifungal Activities of Leaf Extracts of Stevia rebaudiana. Journal of biological active products from nature, 1(3), 56-63.
- Sheel,R., Nisha, K., & Kumar, J (2014). Preliminary Phytochemical Screening of Methanolic Extract Of *Clerodendron infortunatum. IOSR Journal of Applied Chemistry*, 7(1), 10-13.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Evaluation and validation of disease management module for Alternaria Blight in Mustard

Jai Singh 🖂

Jawaharlal Nehru Krishi Vishwa Vidyalaya, Krishi Vigyan Kendra, Singrauli, M.P., India.

Ashish Kumar

Jawaharlal Nehru Krishi Vishwa Vidyalaya, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P, India.

A.K. Chaubey

Jawaharlal Nehru Krishi Vishwa Vidyalaya, Krishi Vigyan Kendra, Singrauli, M.P., India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 02 December 2021	Leaf blight of mustard is one of the major constraints for its successful
Revised : 22 February 2022	cultivation and may be attributed to cause substantially high yield losses.
Accepted : 01 March 2022	Integrated Disease Management (IDM) practices, found suitable against
	Alternaria blight, developed and evaluated elsewhere, are here by tested and
Available online: 17 April 2022	validated as IDM module with slight modifications as per local requirements.
	This is basically to demonstrate the benefit of good available technology to
Key Words:	farmers as on farm trials (OFT). The comparative efficacy of four different
IDM	treatments were incredibly convincing for the farmers. It was realized that all
Mustard	three modules were significantly superior over prevailing farmers' practice.
Alternaria blight	Overall, seed treatment with aqueous garlic bulb extract @ 5% (w/v) along
Garlic extract	with one spray of aqueous garlic bulb extract $(a)5\%$ (w/v) at 45 DAS followed
	by one foliar spray of Mancozeb-75% WP (a) 2.5g/l at 75 DAS (T_4) found most
	effective in reducing disease incidence consecutively for three years and
	average reduction in disease severity of /1.90%. Besides, reduction in disease
	severity significant increase in yield and yield attributing characters could be absorwed using this treatment. The evenage yield increases of 37,30% could be
	recorded with maximum B:C of 2.56 In this way treatment improved
	nroduction and other yield parameters without imposing any drastic input
	burden to farmers, as evidenced by cost and benefit estimates. Therefore, it
	can be concluded that T_4 can be considered for improved sustainable nackage
	of practice for Alternaria blight management of Mustard.
	F

Introduction

Oilseed constitutes the second largest agricultural commodity in India after cereals accounting for nearly 4 per cent of gross national product and 14 per cent of the gross cropped area (Rathur *et al.*, 2021). Despite the fact that India is one of the leading oilseeds producing countries in the world, we are unable to fulfill the edible oil requirements for our own country. Among the oilseeds, mustard is an important oilseed crop of India next to ground nut in terms of both area and production. India is one of the largest producers of rapeseed – mustard in the world and comprised of 17.3 per cent and 10.3 percent of total area and production,

respectively during 2017-18 (FAOSTAT, 2018). However, the average productivity remained 1511 kg/ha during 2018-19 which is far below the world average productivity of 1979 kg/ha. The total area of mustard cultivation in the country is 6.12 million hectares with production of around 9.26 million tonnes (Chauhan *et al.*, 2020). Madhya Pradesh, being a leading state of mustard production in India after Rajasthan, Gujarat and West Bengal, encompasses nearly 11.76% to the total mustard production in the country (Sharma *et al.*, 2019). In Madhya Pradesh, rape seed and mustard are grown in an area of 0.78 million hectare, with total production of 0.75 million tonnes and the average productivity of 1305 kg/ ha (Directorate of Economics and Statistics, 2019). The actual yield potential of mustard is still not achieved by the farmers because of incidence of different diseases and pest. Among the different diseases, Alternaria blight of Mustard caused by caused by *Alternaria brassicae* (Berk) Sacc. and *A. brassicicola* (Schw.) have been accounted from all the continents of the world (Meena *et al.*, 2010). It is one of the chief diseases of Brassica and causes 10-70 yield losses depending upon the severity of disease in different parts of northern India (Kumar and Kolte, 2001).

To combat the losses due to Alternaria blight in standing crop, use of chemical fungicides is the only option among the growers. However, chemicals fail to control the disease at several occasions because of prevailing of several environmental factors like rain fall, temperature coinciding with stage of crop and amount of inoculum. Further, unscrupulous use of pesticides is imposing serious health risks and environmental hazards. In this way, the need of the hour is to envisage alternatives of chemical fungicides for eco-friendly management of Alternaria blight. In the recent era, biological control has provided prolific achievements in plant disease management in modern agriculture leading to low level of environmental vulnerability. Besides phytoextracts, different biocontrol agents have also been used to manage different plant diseases (Srivastava et al., 2009; Kumar et al., 2009). However, there is still inconsistency in their performance because of their living nature and exposure to different biotic and abiotic factors in soil and/or environment. Therefore, use of phytoextracts could be a better choice in integration of need based chemical use for plant disease management. Owing to high economic value of Mustard and extensive damage caused by Alternaria blight in Madhya Pradesh, the present study, was conducted to find out the suitable Integrated Disease Management (IDM) module comprising of botanicals in integration of judicious use of chemicals and other means mitigate the disease incidence in an economically viable and sustainable manner which would also reduce the quantum of toxicants used per season in addition to disease management.

Material and Methods Field Experiment

A field experiment was conducted during Rabi season for three consecutive years 2016-17, 2017-18 and 2018-19 at 15 farmers' fields of Gopalpur, and Chorgahi villages of Sidhi District by Krishi Vigyan Kendra (KVK), Sidhi (MP) with an aim to find out the effective IDM treatments for the management of Alternaria blight of mustard under the On Farm Trial (OFT) programme of KVK. The trials were laid out in randomized block design having four treatments (Table 1) including control (farmers practice) maintaining five replications. The experimental field was laid down by applying recommended standard agronomical practices for mustard crop (Singh et al., 2019). To exclude the effect of cultivar variability, highly susceptible mustard variety Varuna was chosen for all locations. A 25 m² plot was prepared with planting of mustard at 45 x 15 cm during last week of October every year. 100 g fresh bulbs of garlic were crushed in 100 ml of sterilized distilled water to prepare 1 per cent w/v aqueous extract. Prepared extract was then filtered through double layer muslin cloth. The filtrate, thus obtained was considered as 100% plant extract. The observations of Alternaria blight severity on leaves were recorded 40 days after sowing (DAS) and up to one week before harvesting at an interval of 15 days.

The percent infection was measured on the basis of number of leaves infected per ten plants and disease severity was recorded on leaves and siliqua at each 15 days interval following 0-5 scale (Sharma and Kolte, 1994).

Where,

- 0 = No visible symptoms of Alternaria blight;
- 1 = 1-10% leaf area blighted;
- 2 = 10-25% leaf area blighted;
- 3 = 26-50% leaf area blighted;
- 4 = 51-75% leaf area blighted and

5 = 76-100% leaf area blighted.

The disease severity was recorded on randomly selected plants in each treatment and replications and per cent disease index was calculated. Further, reduction in disease severity was also calculated over control plants according to following formula given by Nene, 1972.

Percent Disease Index = (Sum of all numerical ratings / Total no. of leaves observed x maximum rating) x100
Reduction in disease incidence (%) = {(Disease severity in untreated plots- Disease severity in treated plot) / Disease severity in untreated plots} x 100

Economics of Integrated Alternaria Blight Management

Further, grain yield of each treatment was recorded from whole population separately in all the five replications. The yield was calculated by cumulating the successive plucking from respective field and computing to kilogram per hectare. The number of siliquae per plant, number of seeds per siliqua and weight of 1000 grains (test weight) were also recorded in all the treatments. The data were tabulated, pooled and ranked on the basis of their yield and yield component performance. The benefit cost ratio (B:C) of different modules was calculated by estimating different costs of cultivation and return from yield after converting them to one hectare land. The gross income from mustard of all treatments was calculated on the basis of minimum support price (MSP) of crop of respective year.

 Table 1: Details of treatments for management of

 Alternaria blight in Mustard.

Treatment no.	Treatment details
T ₁	Control (Water spray)
T ₂	Seed treatment with aqueous garlic bulb extract $(@ 5\% (w/v))$
T ₃	T_2 + Two foliar sprays of aqueous garlic bulb extract @5% (w/v) at 45 and 75 DAS
T ₄	Seed treatment with aqueous garlic bulb extract @ 5% (w/v) + One spray of aqueous garlic bulb extract @5% (w/v) at 45 DAS + One foliar spray of Mancozeb-75% WP @ 2.5g/l at 75 DAS

Results and Discussion

The impact of four different integrated disease management treatments on severity of Alternaria blight in mustard was recorded. Results presented in Table 2 clearly indicated that the Alternaria blight incidence was significantly reduced in all the treatments. The minimum disease severity of Alternaria blight was recorded in treatment T₄ consistently in during all the years and the minimum mean disease severity of 10.40% was recorded in T₄. In control, maximum mean disease severity of 36.60% was recorded and in this way seed treatment with aqueous garlic bulb extract (a) 1% (w/v) along with its one spray at 45 DAS and one foliar spray of mancozeb-75% WP @ 2.5g/l at 75 DAS maximum reduced the Alternaria blight and maximum mean reduction in disease severity of 71.90% was recorded.

This was followed by treatment T_3 , where seed treatment and two foliar sprays (45 and 75 DAS) of aqueous garlic bulb extract @ 1% (w/v) were imposed, mean disease severity and its reduction of 15.30% and 48.56 % respectively were recorded. However, seed treatment of aqueous garlic bulb extract @ 1% (w/v) resulted in minimum reduction in mean disease severity of 43.50%. The results, so obtained indicated that although individual treatments showed significant effect in disease management, but when integrated together in a suitable manner along with practicing spray schedule at an early stage of disease occurrence, provided augmented results in disease management. The performance of Garlic aqueous extract had been studied by earlier workers viz. Singh et al., (2016), Mahapatra and Das (2013), Meena et al., 2008 and Rajendra & Lalu, 2006 who also observed

Table 2: Effect of integrated management practices on Alternaria blight severity

Treatments		Disease sev	erity (%)		Reduction in Disease severity (%)				
	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19	Mean	2016-17	2017-18	2018-19	Mean	
T ₁	37.00	37.08	35.83	36.60	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
T ₂	18.50	19.66	23.83	20.70	50.00	46.97	33.49	43.50	
T ₃	14.00	13.41	18.43	15.30	62.16	63.83	48.56	58.20	
T ₄	9.25	10.16	11.47	10.40	75.00	72.59	67.98	71.90	
CD at 5%	2.56	2.14	2.46	2.39	-	-	-	-	
CV	10.48	8.61	8.85	9.31	-	-	-	-	

Evaluation and validation of disease management module

Treatment	No. of siliquae/ plant				Increase in no. of siliquae / plant			No. of seed / siliqua			Increase in no. of seed/ siliqua (%)					
S	2016	2017	2019	Moon	(%)	2017	2018	Moon	2016	2017	2019	Moon	2016	2017	2019	Maan
	17	18	19	Mean	17	18	19	Mean	17	18	19	Mean	2010- 17	18	19	Wiean
T ₁	74.16	73.66	74.66	74.16	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	13.75	13.10	13.25	13.37	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
T ₂	82.66	82.00	82.33	82.33	11.46	11.32	10.27s	11.02	14.8	14.00	14.0	14.27	07.63	06.87	07.63	7.38
							SS									
T ₃	90.33	88.66	89.33	89.44	21.80	20.36	19.64	20.6	14.85	14.10	14.20	14.38	08.00	07.63	08.00	7.88
T_4	96.33	93.16	95.33	94.94	29.89	26.47	27.69	28.02	15.0	14.30	14.50	14.60	09.09	09.16	09.43	9.23
CD at 5%	7.30	8.94	6.65	7.63	-	-	-	-	1.68	1.59	1.58	1.62	-	-	-	-
CV	6.82	8.38	6.20	7.13	-	-	-	-	9.57	8.89	8.73	9.06	-	-	-	-

 Table 3: Effect of integrated management practices on yield attributing characters in mustard

Table 4: Effect of integrated management practices on test weight and yield of mustard

Treatment	Test we	Test weight (g.)			Increase in Test weight (%)			Yield (qt./ ha)			Increase in Yield (%)					
S	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mea	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mea	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mean	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mea
	17	18	19	n	17	18	19	n	17	18	19		17	18	19	n
T ₁	3.76	3.78	3.79	3.78	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	10.16	10.76	10.38	10.43	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
T ₂	3.85	3.88	3.90	3.88	02.66	2.64	02.90	2.73	12.50	12.81	12.58	12.63	23.08	19.05	21.19	21.10
T ₃	4.01	4.02	4.05	4.03	06.93	06.34	06.06	6.44	13.66	13.63	13.59	13.63	34.43	26.67	30.92	30.70
T ₄	4.05	4.11	4.10	4.09	07.71	08.73	8.17	8.20	14.51	14.16	14.26	14.31	42.81	31.59	37.37	37.30
CD at 5%	0.3	0.35	0.32	0.32	-	-	-	-	1.41	1.14	1.04	1.20	-	-	-	-
CV	6.19	7.08	6.49	6.59	-	-	-	-	8.98	7.14	6.26	7.46	-	-	-	-

Table 5: Economic of different IDM modules for management of Alternaria blight in Mustard

	Cost of c	ultivation	(Rs./ha)		Grass 1	eturn (R	ks./ ha)		Net retur	rn (Rs./ ha)		B:C Ra	ntio		
Treatments	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mean	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mean	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mean	2016-	2017-	2018-	Mean
	17	18	19		17	18	19		17	18	19		17	18	19	
T ₁	19452.5	20105	20226	19927.83	37592	43040	43596	41409.33	18139.5	22935	23370	21481.5	1.93	2.14	2.15	2.07
T ₂	20594	21219.5	21329	21047.5	46250	51240	52836	50108.67	25656	30020.5	31507	29061.17	2.24	2.41	2.47	2.37
T ₃	21008	21633.5	21740	21460.5	50542	54440	56952	53978	29534	32806.5	35212	32517.5	2.4	2.51	2.61	2.51
T ₄	21984.5	22001.5	2298.5	22061.5	53687	56640	59892	56739.67	31702.5	34638.5	37693.5	34678.17	2.44	2.57	2.69	2.56

disease management effects of Garlic bulb extract in mustard crop for Alterneria blight. The findings of present investigations are in tune to their results. Latif *et al.*, 2006 also reported the efficacy of garlic extract in controlling the seed-borne fungi from mustard. In an another study by Meena *et al.*, 2011, the results pertaining to use of garlic extract along with mancozeb/ cow urine revealed the lowest leaf blight severity on leaf (33.1%) and pod (26.3%) of mustard when garlic extract was used along with mancozeb. However, when garlic extract was used along with cow urine respectively 34.4% and 27.3% disease severity was recorded on leaves and pods by Meena *et al.*, 2011.

Yield attributing factors like number of siliquae/plants, numbers of seeds/ siliqua were also recorded highest in treatment T4 in all the three years and mean number of siliquae/plants of 94.94 could be recorded with an increase of 28.02% over control. The maximum average no. of seed/siliqua of 14.60 with an increase of 9.23% were recorded in treatment T_4 . This was followed by treatment T_3 where increase in mean number of siliquae/plants and no. of seed/siliqua of respectively 20.6% and 7.88% could be recorded over control (table 3). Another observations regarding, test weight (weight of 1000 grains) also recorded maximum in treatment T₄ followed by treatment T₃ in all the three years. Overall, 8.20% and 6.44% increase in test weight could be recorded in treatment T_4 and T_3 respectively over control. With respect to yield enhancement, the maximum mean yield increase of 37.37% was recorded in T₄ over control. However, in T_2 and T_3 mean yield increase of respectively 21.19% and 30.92% was recorded (table 4). The similar findings have been reported by Meena et al., (2011) who reported maximum grain yield (2052 kg/ha) of Mustard using two foliar sprays of mancozeb @ 0.25% at 45 and 75 days after sowing which was significantly at par with two spray of garlic bulb extract (2006 kg/ha). The findings of Mahapatra and Das (2016) are also in accordance with our recent observations where they stated that the treatment having seed soaking with salicyclic acid (10-3 M) along with one spraying of Mancozeb (0.3%) at 45 days after sowing and spraying of garlic bulb extract (5%) at 75 DAS

gave maximum yield as well as maximum profit with minimum disease severity under gangetic alluvial zones of West Bengal. In a similar study by Kumar *et al.*, 2019 using garlic extract in combination with bio-control agent *Trichoderma*, effective management of Alternaria blight of mustard has been reported. They not only identified the disease management activity by garlic extract but also reported significant yield enhancement (more than 40%) over control. The results of present study are in agreement to their findings.

The economics was also calculated after the experimentation based on the expenditure incurred for different treatments under trial. The income data from the yield of mustard are presented in table 5. While comparing the economics of all the treatments, maximum net returns was obtained from treatment T_4 in all the three years with an average net return of Rs. 34678.17 per hectare which is significantly higher than the usual practice done by the farmers of the area (Rs. 21481.50 per hectare). This led to highest B:C ratio of 2.56 in treatment T₄ compared to 2.07 in control. Similar trends of cost benefit ratio in Alternaria blight management in mustard using garlic extract were found by Kumar et al., 2019 who recorded it as 1:4.003 while using 1% w/v garlic bulb extract.

Conclusion

Therefore, looking to the disease control potential, grain yield gain, and maximum protection due to disease losses, net return and favorable benefit cost ratio as well as sustainability, the seed treatment with aqueous garlic bulb extract @ 5% (w/v) along with its one spray 45 DAS followed by one foliar spray of mancozeb-75% WP @ 2.5g/l at 75 DAS can be used and recommended for the management of Alternaria blight of mustard.

Acknowledgement

The author duly acknowledges the sincere efforts of Dr. Ashish Kumar in analysis and preparation of this manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Chauhan, J. S., Choudhury, S. P., Pal, S. & Singh, K. H. (2020). Analysis of seed chain and its implication in rapeseed-mustard (*Brassica* spp.) production in India. *Journal of oilseeds Research*, 37(2), 71-84.
- FAOSTAT 2018. Statistics Division, Food and Agricultural Organization of United nations. www.faostat.fao.org. 15 June, 2020.
- Kumar, A., Kumar, S., Srivastava, R. & Sharma, A. K. (2009). Fungal biocontrol agents (BCAS) and their metabolites. In. Agricultural Diversification: Problems and Prospects (Eds. by A.K. Sharma, S. Wahab and R. Srivastava). I. K. International, New Delhi, pp.44-56.
- Kumar, B. & Kolte, S. J. (2001). Progression of Alternaria blight of mustard in relation to components of resistance. *Indian Phytopathology*, 54, 329-331.
- Kumar, M., Zacharia, S. & Lal, A. A. (2019). Management of Alternaria blight of mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.) by botanicals, *Trichoderma harzianum* and fungicides. *Plant Archives*, 19(1), 1108-1113.
- Latif, M. A., Saleh, A. K. M., Khan, M. A. I., Rahman, H. & Hossain, M. A. (2006). Efficacy of Some Plant Extracts in Controlling Seed-Borne Fungal Infections of Mustard. *Bangladesh Journal of Microbiology*, 23(2), 168-170.
- Mahapatra, S. & Das, S. (2013). Bio efficacy of Botanicals against Alternaria blight of Mustard under field condition. *The Bioscan*, 8(2), 675-679.
- Mahapatra, S. & Das, S. (2016). Spraying schedule of garlic bulb extract, mancozeb and salicyclic acid against Alternaria blight of mustard. *Indian Phytopathology*, 69(4), 419-421.
- Meena, P. D., Chattopadhyay, C. & Meena, R. L. (2008). Ecofriendly management of Alternaria blight in Brassica unncea. *Indian Phytopathology*, 61, 65-69.
- Meena, P. D., Awasthi, R. P., Chattopadhyay, C, Kolte, S. J. & Kumar, A. (2010). Alternaria blight: a chronic disease in rapeseed-mustard. *Journal of Oilseed Brassica*, 1(1), 1-11.
- Meena, P. D., Chattopadhyay C., Kumar, A., Awasthi, R. P., Singh, R., Kaur, S., Thomas, L., Goyal, P. & Chand, P.

(2011). Comparative study on the effect of chemicals on Alternaria blight in Indian mustard – A multi-location study in India. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, *32*, 375-379.

- Nene, Y. L. (1972). A survey of viral diseases of pulse crops in Uttar Pradesh. *GBPUAT Research Bulletin*, *4*, 911.
- Rajendra, P. & Lalu. (2006). Management of Alternaria blight of mustard with combination of chemicals and botanicals. *Annals of Plant Protection Sciences*, *14*(2), 400-403.
- Rathour, S., Kumari, M. & Swami, S. (2021). Constraints analysis of rapeseed and mustard cultivation in Begusarai district of Bihar. *The Pharma Innovation Journal*, 10(11), 3006-3008.
- Sharma, S. R. & Kolte, S. J. (1994). Effect of soil applied NPK fertilizers on severity of black spot diseases (*Alternaria brassicae*) and yield of oilseed rape. *Plant soil*, 167, 313-320.
- Sharma, S., Raghuwanshi, J. S., Jaulkar, A. M. & Srivastava, S. C. (2019). Constraints in Production, Marketing and Processing in Rapeseed-Mustard Cultivation and Suitable Measures to Overcome these Constraints. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 8(01), 2319-7706.
- Singh, H. K., Singh, R. B. & Maurya, K. N. (2016). Management of major fungal foliar diseases of rapeseed mustard. *Research on crops*, 16(1), 182-188.
- Singh, J., Singh, A. K., Chaubey, A. K. & Baghel, M. S. (2019). Impact of Technological Interventions on Productivity of Mustard in Kymore Plateau and Satpura Hills Zone of Madhya Pradesh. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 8(02), 2848-2855.
- Srivastava, R., Joshi, M., Kumar, A., Pachauri, S. & Sharma, A. K. (2009). Biofertilizers for sustainable agriculture. In. Agricultural Diversification: Problems and Prospects (Eds. By A.K. Sharma, S. Wahab and R. Srivastava). I.K. International, New Delhi, pp. 57-71.
- Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of plant size on growth and flower production of *Phaius* tankervilleae (Banks ex L'Hérit.) Blume - an endangered orchid of North-Eastern India

Preeti Hatibarua 🖂

Department of Horticulture, Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat, (Assam), India.

Ningombam Sushma Devi

Department of Horticulture, Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat, (Assam), India.

Sunil Kumar Borah

Horticultural Research Station, Assam Agricultural University, Kahikuchi, Guwahati, (Assam), India.

Nirmal Mazumdar

Horticultural Research Station, Assam Agricultural University, Kahikuchi, Guwahati, (Assam), India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 02 December 2021	A pot experiment was conducted at Horticultural Research Station, Kahikuchi,
Revised : 03 February 2022	Guwahati, to study the effect of different sizes of plants on vegetative growth
Accepted : 16 February 2022	and flower production of Phaius tankervilleae. Five different plants with
	varying sizes and numbers of pseudo bulb were adopted as treatments which
Available online: 17 April 2022	were replicated 4 times. The flowers bloom from April and the experiment
	shows T3 produces the maximum number of spikes (2.38) per plant and earliest
Key Words:	spike initiation (250.77) days while T5 produces the least number of spikes (0.5)
Endangered	plants and took longest days for spike initiation with (255.13) days. Meanwhile,
Orchid	T1 produce more new pseudo bulbs (4.0) and the least number was seen in T5
Ornamental plant	with (2.14). But T5 plants produced the biggest new pseudo bulbs (2.85cm
Propagation	diameter). Irrespective of the numbers of the pseudo bulb, plants with bigger
Pseudo bulb	pseudo bulb produced a bigger plant, long spike, more spike, bigger and more
	number of flowers which are a superior trait for a good quality cut flower.
	Beyond the production of flowers, this experiment further promotes the
	multiplication of pseudo bulbs, which are necessary for increasing the
	population of the plants for restoring and conserving the plant population
	without further exploitation.

Introduction

Phaius tankervilleae commonly known as nun'shood orchid, Swamp Lily, Greater Swamp-orchid or veiled orchid is a critically endangered terrestrial orchid known to have large, spectacularly, beautiful, and fragrant spikes. It is native to Northeastern states of India and found growing wild in shady, cool, and moist forested areas of Arunachal Pradesh, Manipur (Hengbung, Ukhrul district), Nagaland (Kiphire, Tuensang, and Zunhebeto district) and Assam (Bongaigaon, Darrang, Dhemaji, Golaghat, MNP, Sanitpur) (Deb and Jakha, 2019; Dey *et al.*, 2007; Sadananda *et al.*, 2019). It has been categorized as endangered species, under the Environmental Protection and

Biodiversity Conservation Act. It is also found in Taiwan, the Eastern seaboard of Australia, Indonesia, Malaysia, Sri Lanka, Thailand, Southern China, and India (Shu *et al.*, 2012). The Orchid is a large one, having firm fleshy pseudo bulbs, with several large pleated leaves that favor high temperatures and wet environments (Tsai and Chang, 2009). The inflorescence is a simple raceme that can attain up to 100cm in height, and bear up to 30 large flowers that bloom from April to July. The flower of P. tankervilleae is of great ornamental and economic value and is grown as a potted plant, a garden plant, or as cut flowers (Chang and Jian, 2010). In Northeast India, the pseudo bulb of

Phaius tankervilleae has various medicinal uses viz: healing of edema, used as a pain killer, and for treating boils and bone fracture (Medhi, and Chakrabarti, 2009; Kanwal, 2014). However, as a result of unscrupulous harvesting from the wild by plant collectors to be grown as potted plants, deforestation to make way for agriculture, and disturbance of habitat, the population of P. tankervilleae has been drastically reduced and is on the verge of extinction. At present, it in small numbers are present only in governmental and university botanical gardens. Phaius tankervilleae can be asexually propagated through pseudo bulbs, swollen parts of stems at the base of orchid plants that support leaf growth and a pseudo bulb produces two to three daughter pseudo bulbs every season. A pot experiment was conducted at Horticultural Research Station. Kahikuchi. Guwahati to study the effect of different plants size on vegetative growth and flower production of Phaius tankervilleae. This horticultural research can be useful for the production of Pseudo bulbs for propagation, improving the yield and quality of P. tankervilleae flowers. This experiment demonstrates the ornamental value and economic potential of this endangered orchid. Besides, it help

promote its conservation, restoration, and expansion as an ornamental plant.

Material and Methods

Planting materials

A population of *Phaius tankervillae* plants was collected and grown in 25cm diameter earthen pot in growing media containing Soil: Sand: FYM @ 1:1:1 and NPK (19:19:19) @ 10gm/m² were applied. The experiment consists of 5 different plant types/treatments of Phaius tankervillae which were replicated 4 times. T1 consists of plant having 4 pseudo bulbs (2 old and 2 new), T2 consists of plant having 3 pseudo bulbs (2 old and 1 new), T3 consists of plant having 3 pseudo bulbs (1 old and 2 new), T4 consists of plant having 2 pseudo bulbs (1 old and 1 new) and T5 consist of plant having only 1 new pseudo bulb. All the plants were 2-3 years old when taken and have not been repotted before while the plant with only 1 pseudo bulb was 1 year old freshly harvested plant.

Plant growth and development

The vegetative and flowering parameters of each plant were studied and recorded, including the growth and development of the new plant (3 months after flowering). Complete Randomized Design was adopted to compare the effects of treatments.

Treatment		Specification					
	No. of Pseudo bulb	Mean diameter (old pseudo bulb) (cm)	Mean diameter (new pseudo bulb) (cm)				
T1	2 old and 2 new	5.38	6.33				
T2	2 old and 1 new	5.53	6.45				
T3	1 old and 2 new	5.44	6.49				
T4	1 old and 1 new	5.45	6.50				
T5	1 new pseudo bulb	-	6.08				

Table 1: Treatment specification

Results and Discussion

The different sizes of plants significantly influenced the vegetative and flowering characters of *Phaius tankervilliae*. The results obtained from the experiment are discussed below.

Effect on Vegetative characters of *Phaius* tankervilliae

It can be seen from the data presented in Table 2 that the maximum plant height was observed in plants from T2 (86.31 cm) while the least was observed in T5 (80.29 cm) which was only one 1

year old at the time of the experiment. Plants from T3 (1 old and 2 new pseudo bulbs) recorded significantly greater plant width (92.04 cm), leaf production (14.37 leaves/ clump), and leaf length (73.13 cm). On the other hand, minimum plant width (72.08 cm), leaf production (5.21 leaves/ clump), and leaf length (60.85cm) were all recorded in T5 (1 new pseudobulb) plants. Lastly, maximum leaf width (13.48 cm) was recorded in the T4 (1 old and 1 new pseudobulbs) plants while the minimum leaf width (11.4 cm) was recorded in T5 (1 new pseudobulb).

Treatment	Plant height	Plant width	No. of leaves per	Leaf length	Leaf width
	(cm)	(cm)	clump	(cm)	(cm)
T1	85.57	98.46	12.45	68.44	11.45
T2	86.31	89.50	13.89	66.83	11.7
T3	84.80	92.04	14.37	73.13	12.5
T4	82.22	87.17	10.32	67.4	13.48
T5	80.29	72.08	5.21	60.85	11.4
S. Ed. (±)	0.02	0.01	0.20	0.02	0.11
C.D.	0.05	0.03	0.45	0.04	0.25

 Table 2: Effect of plant size on vegetative characters of Phaius tankervilliae

Table 3: Effect of plant size on flower characters of *Phaius tankervilliae*

Treatment	No. of Spikes/ plant	Floret per spike	Spike length (old pseudo bulb) (cm)	Rachis length (cm)	Diameter of fully opened flower (cm)
T1	2.1	11.14	56.75	16.17	8.93
T2	2.0	11.69	54.57	15.86	9.10
T3	2.38	12.14	54.33	14.57	9.30
T4	1.06	11.80	52.25	14.45	9.28
T5	0.5	11.50	45.80	12.00	8.97
S. Ed. (±)	0.21	0.05	0.64	0.08	0.08
C.D	0.47	0.12	1.45	0.17	0.19

 Table 4: Effect of plant size on flower characters of Phaius tankervilliae

Treatment	Spike length from new Pseudo bulb	Days took for the initiation	First color showing Days after spike	Days to the opening of the	Days took for the last
	(cm)	of the spike.	emergence	first florets	flower to fade
T1	46.13	255.10	25	18.5	36
T2	48.24	254.54	26	18.8	38
Т3	53.77	250.77	23	19.3	41
T4	52.36	252.40	24	19.1	40
T5	52.54	255.13	21	19.25	39
S. Ed. (±)	0.03	0.16	1.03	0.10	0.84
C.D	0.06	0.35	2.33	0.22	1.84

Table 5: Effect of plant size on characters of the newly developed plant after flowering at Kahikuchi

Treatment	New plant	Leaves/ Pseudo	New pseudo bulbs	Diameter of new
	height (cm)	bulb	/Plant	pseudo bulb (cm)
T1	32.75	5.53	4.00	2.55
T2	45.88	5.57	2.00	2.58
T3	48.52	5.64	2.42	2.63
T4	55.43	5.62	2.33	2.75
T5	60.31	5.50	2.14	2.85
S. Ed. (±)	0.03	0.02	0.37	0.02
C.D	0.07	0.04	0.83	0.05

plants. The inferior performance of T5 plants may *tankervilliae* be because they are the youngest plants. However, The yield a the harvest of pseudo bulbs of an orchid diminishes its nutrient and water capital thus lowering the size of the p

growth and reproduction of the orchids (Zimmerman, 1990).

Effect on flowering characters of *Phaius* tankervilliae

The yield and quality of flowers produced in *Phaius tankervilliae* are greatly influenced by the size of the planting materials, as is evident from Table 3 and Table 4. T3 produces the maximum number of spikes (2.38) per plant and it was at par with T2 and T1 (2 and 2.1 spikes/plant)

respectively. However, the least number of spikes (0.5) was recorded in T5. Longest Spike and Rachis lengths (from old pseudo bulb) were found from the T1 plants, with the length of 56.75 cm and 16.17 cm respectively while the shortest were from T5 plants, where the spike length is 45.8 cm and Rachis length is 12. However, from the new pseudo bulb, the longest spike was recorded from T3 (53.77 cm) and the shortest from T1 (46.31). The maximum number of florets/ spike (12.14) and biggest flower diameter (9.30 cm) were recorded from T3 plants and the minimum from T5 plants with a record of (11.14) floret per spike and (8.93 cm) flower diameter. Earliest spike initiation (250.77 days from planting) was recorded from T3 plants while T5 plants took maximum duration (255.13 days from planting) for spike initiation. Among the treatments, flower bud color was first observed in T5 (within 21 days after spike initiation) followed by T3 and T4, taking 23 and 24 days, respectively. On the other hand, T2 took the longest duration (26 days) for flower bud color initiation. The first floret to open and the first plant to fade all floret were all recorded from T1 with 18.5 days and 36 days respectively. While the last floret to open and the Last plant to fade all floret were from T3 with 19.3 days and 41 days respectively.

Effect on newly developed plants

The morphological characteristics of the newly developed plants were studied 3 months after flowering. The height of newly developed plants was significantly influenced by the size of the pseudo bulb. T5 produced significantly taller plants (60.31 cm), followed by T4 (55.43 cm). The smallest plants with 32.75 cm plants height were observed in T1 which had the maximum number of pseudo bulbs. However, the maximum number of newly developed leaves (5.64) and (5.62) emerged from treatments T3 (1 old and 2 new pseudo bulbs) and T4 (1 old and 1 new pseudo bulbs) respectively meanwhile the minimum number of leaves (5.50)was from T5. It was observed that new pseudo bulbs had started to grow from the mother plants. A significantly higher number (4.0) of new pseudo bulbs were found in T1 (mother plant with 2 old and 2 new pseudo bulbs). Meanwhile, the least number (2.14) could be seen in T5 (mother plant with 1 new pseudo bulb) which was at par with T2,

T3, and T4 producing 2.0, 2.42, and 2.33 numbers of new pseudo bulbs respectively. The smallest mother plant T5 (1 new pseudo bulb) produced the biggest new pseudo bulbs (2.85cm diameter) and it was followed by T4 and T3, recording 2.75 cm and 2.63 cm diameter respectively.

Conclusion

Pseudo bulbs are involved in innumerable physiological processes that are important for the growth and survival of Phaius tankervilliae. Plants from T3 recorded significantly greater plant width (92.04 cm), leaf production (14.37 leaves/ clump), leaf length (73.13 cm), maximum number of spikes (2.38) per plant, longest spike (53.77 cm), maximum number of floret/spike (12.12) and biggest flower diameter (9.30 cm) while the plants from T5 recorded the least. Where Odontioda Orchids, with a greater pseudo bulb diameter produces better plants and the occurrence of floret/spike was positively correlated (P \leq 0.01) to pseudo bulb diameter. Similarly in the newly developed plant after flowering T5 with biggest size pseudo bulbs (2.85) produces the tallest plant (60.31) meanwhile T1 plants with smallest pseudo bulbs (2.55) produces the smallest plant (32.75) although it produces maximum number of new pseudo bulbs. From this experiment, it can be concluded that the presence of more number pseudo bulbs did not improve vegetative growth and flower production. The bigger size of new pseudo bulbs resulted in bigger plants, earlier spike emergence, bigger size of spikes, more florets per spike compared to smaller bulbs. This is because pseudo bulb can store water, mineral, and carbohydrates and mineral allocation to pseudo bulbs constitutes an important source of reserve for the subsequent development of the inflorescence and new shoots. So, the larger the pseudo- bulb betters the performance of the plant. Meanwhile, diseases like black spots with watersoaked patches were observed on the leaves of the old pseudo bulb plants while the newly emerged leaves and leaves from the new pseudo bulb were devoid of diseases. Apart from being plants which has economical and medicinal importance, the leaves and flowers and flower of Phaius tankervilleae are also used to yield natural dyes and produce indigo colour.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Phaius tankervilleae cultivation in botanical garden. Seed Nursery, 12, 13-22.
- Deb, C. R., & Jakha, H. Y. (2019). Orchid diversity in three districts [Kiphire, Tuensang and Zunheboto] of Nagaland, India. Pleione 13(2), 203 - 215.
- Dey, S., Lahkar, B. P., Das, J. P., Nath, N. K., & Brahma, N. (2007). Orchid diversity in Manas National Park, Assam. Journal of the Orchid Society of India, 21(1-2), 65-68.
- Kanwal, K. S. (2014). Conservation of Phaius tankervilleae a valuable orchid of Arunachal Pradesh, India. Indian Forester, 140(12), 1263-1264.
- Lopez, R. G., & Runkle, E. S. (2006). Temperature and photoperiod regulate flowering of potted Miltoniopsis orchids. Horticulture Science, 41, 593-597.

- Chang, C., & Jian, W. T. (2010). The growth evaluation of Medhi, R. P., & Chakrabarti, S. (2009). Traditional Knowledge of NE People on conservation of wild orchids. Indian journal of Traditional Knowledge, 8(1), 11-16.
 - Sadananda, K., Thongam, B., & Konsam, B. (2019). Orchid species of Manipur and its commercial aspect. International Journal of Pharmacy & Life Sciences, 10(7), 6302-6314.
 - Tsai, Y. C., & Chang, C. (2009). The breeding history and parents analysis of Phaius tankervilleae. Seed Nursery (Taiwan), 11, 37-50.
 - Zimmerman, J. K. (1990). Role of pseudo bulbs in growth and flowering of Catasetum viridiflavum (Orchidaceae). American Journal of Botany, 77(4), 533-542.
 - Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Fluctuations in soil nutrients and physico-chemical properties following controlled fire in North-Western Himalayas

Sakshi Vishvamitera 🖂

Department of Soil Science, Dr. YS Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan, India.

Udav Sharma

Department of Soil Science, Dr. YS Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan, India.

Abhinav Guleria

Department of Soil Science, Dr. YS Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 25 November 2021	Controlled fire effect on nutrients and physico-chemical properties of soil was
Revised : 15 February 2022	investigated after a span of one year of controlled fire under four land uses viz.
Accepted : 21 February 2022	chir pine forest (Pinus roxburghii), grassland, scrubland and non-fire site in
	chir pine (control). In March 2018, a controlled fire was caused, and soil
Available online: 17April 2022	samples were taken after one year of burning at different soil depths (viz. 0-5
*	cm, 5-10 cm and 10-15 cm). The experiment consisted of five replications in
Key Words:	factorial randomized block design. The results revealed that in comparison to
Chir pine forest	pre-fire assessment, available nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium slightly
Controlled fire	increased, whereas, soil organic carbon decreased slightly in post-fire
Grassland	assessment. The soil pH, electrical conductivity, bulk density and soil texture
Nitrogen	did not show any significant change after one year of burning. The study
Phosphorus	concludes that controlled fire did not cause any drastic fluctuations in
Scrubland	nutrients and physico-chemical properties of soil and can be used as an
	effective management practice for combating the negative effects of wildfire on
	soil.

Introduction

Fires in forests are a very prevalent hazard. During (2003) describes fire as an active agent capable of the summer, the woods are strewn with dry, senescent leaves and twigs that can catch fire and be ignited by the smallest spark. Due to the widespread expansion of chir forests in many parts of the Himalayas, the frequency and intensity of forest fires has also increased. They devastate not only the forest, but also the entire fauna and flora regime by drastically disrupting a region's biodiversity and ecosystem. Natural wildfires are uncommon in grasslands and scrublands, however, fires are intentionally induced in these landuses for habitat management of various species of grasses and shrubs (Hore and Uniyal, 2008). Over the past 15 years, the global annual area burnt has averaged 348×10^6 ha i.e. 2% of global land area (Giglio et al., 2013). By causing volatilization and ash transfer, fire removes organic debris and nutrients from a location (Raison et al., 1986). Snyman

mobilizing soil nutrients and restoring fertility. However, especially in severe wildfires, nutrient loss by volatilization, leaching and erosion is a major source of soil degradation. In fact, it is regarded as a substantial disturbance in many ecosystems resulting in significant changes in characteristics of soil (Certini, 2005) and plant community (Granged et al., 2011a). The alteration in the nature (Knicker, 2007) and amount of soil organic matter is one of the most typical impacts of fire (Terefe et al., 2008). Many studies found a decline in soil organic carbon (C) following fire (Fernández et al., 1997; Novara et al., 2011), while others (Kavdir et al., 2005) found no significant alteration in soil organic C compared to pre-fire level. Dooley and Treseder (2012) observed decline in microbial biomass by an average of 33.2% following wildfires in several field

studies.Viswanathan et al. (2006) reported an increase in CO and NO₂ concentration by an average of 250% and 100% respectively, following wildfire resulted in environment pollution. Highly intense fires resulted in increase in sand and silt percentage and bulk density, however, soil nutrients, C stocks, N stocks, soil microbial biomass were observed to decrease by Jhariya and Singh (2021) in Bhoramdeo wildlife sanctuary, Chhattisgarh, Kumar et al. (2013) in Garhwal Himalayas, India and Chandra and Bhardwaj (2015). The impact of fire is very variable in time and place owing to the large number of regulating factors. Intensity, severity and regimen of fire, type of plant community, distribution of fuel on the soil, type of ash produced di, topography and aspect, soil properties, region's climate and meteorological conditions in the immediate period following fire are among these factors. According to Fernandes et al. (2013) controlled fire or prescribed burning is the deliberate use of fire having low intensity to accomplish a variety of objectives such as habitat management of various plant species, to reduce fuel load to prevent destructive wildfires, insect populations and invasive plants etc. under specific meteorological, fuel, and terrain circumstances. It is recognised as a management tool for minimising carbon emissions (Bennet et al., 2014) and mitigating other harmful activities due to occurrence of wildfires. Major goal of controlled fires is to eliminate the fuel load which otherwise can cause a severe wildfires as well as preserving ecological processes and biodiversity (Santin and Doerr, 2016; Valkó et al., 2016). We hypothesized that there would be short-term infinitesimal alteration in nutrients and physicochemical properties of soil following controlled fire and can be used as an effective management tool to put out wildfires.

Material and Methods

The study was conducted at Solan district of Himachal Pradesh, India. The research sites consists of chir pine forest, grassland, scrubland and unburnt chir pine area in same burnt chir pine plantations (control) under the Department of Silviculture and Agroforestry, Dr. Y.S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry. The region lies at 30°52' North latitude and 77°11' East longitude (1260 m above mean sea level). The

research site lies under the sub-temperate, subhumid agro-climatic zone-II of Himachal Pradesh, with an annual precipitation of nearly 1115mm (approximately three-fourth of it is received during June to September. Winter rains are few and far between, falling mostly in January and February. May&June are the hottest and December&January are the coldest months. Soil texture of experimental site was worked out to be gravelly silty clay loam. Rao (1998) reported that the soil of study site is derived from inferakasol which consists of calcareous shales, carbonaceous shales and dolomitic limestone with bands of intermittent shales. The soils of the experimental sites lies in the order Inceptisol and sub group Eutrochrept according to Soil Taxonomy of USDA.

Experimental Design

Four experimental sites representing three different ecosystems and a control of unburnt chir pine site were selected. Initial soil samples were taken in the month of March, 2018 at three soil depths (0-5 cm, 5-10 cm and 10-15 cm) from a square having plot size of $50m \times 50m$ for each land use. There were five replications in factorial randomized block design and each sampling square was nearly 5m apart from neighbouring square. A controlled fire was caused using stacks of vegetation which are ignited across a tract on the top of slope and then, burnt downslope at low-intensity under the supervision of officials and fire-fighters of Himachal Pradesh Forest Department in all selected land uses in order to simulate natural wildfire.

Sampling and Analysis

After one year of controlled fire, soil samples were collected in March, 2019 from the same place from where pre-fire samples were collected in order to avoid sampling error at sites. Soil samples were collected using 50 mm \times 54 mm cylindrical steel cores from five different locations from each treatment plot (chir pine forest, grassland, scrubland and unburnt chir pine) at three different depths (0-5 cm, 5-10 cm and 10-15 cm soil depth). A total of 60 soil samples were collected for assessment of post-fire conditions of soil. The samples were then air-dried, crushed in a wooden pestle mortar and passed through 2-mm sieve and then used. For determination of organic C in soil, soil samples were passed through 0.5 mm sieve and then used. The soil samples were analysed for available nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), potassium (K), organic carbon (C), soil pH, electrical conductivity (EC), bulk density and soil texture. Available N was estimated with the help of method given by Subbiah and Asija (1956). Available P was extracted by sodium bicarbonate having pH 8.5 and further determined by method given by Olsen et al. (1954). Available K was extracted with the help of procedure given by Mervin and Peech (1951) and K content in the filtrate was determined on the flame photometer. Rapid titration method was used for the determination of soil organic C (Walkley and Black, 1934). The soil pH and EC were estimated as described by Jackson (1973). Core sampler method given by Black (1965) was used for the estimation of bulk density of the unprocessed soil samples.

Statistical Analysis

Data on soil nutrients and physicochemical properties post-fire were analysed by two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) as per the model suggested by Panse and Sukhatme (2000). The data recorded was analysed using MS-Excel, OPSTAT and SPSS 16.0 package software as per design of the experiment.

Results and Discussion

Fire effects on available N, P and K

After twelve months of controlled fire, a slight increase in available nitrogen was observed under all the landuses compared to pre-fire level. At 0-5 cm depth, the highest % increase in available N was observed under burnt chir pine forest reaching upto 2.84 % (Figure 1) whereas, lowest was found under grassland soil (0.73 %) (Figure 2). At 5-10 cm and 10-15 cm soil depth, % increase in available N was found highest under scrubland (1.39 % and 3.17 %, respectively). On comparison of different depths, available N was found maximum at 10-15 cm depth in all the land uses except for burnt chir pine forest. The nitrogen content increased by 0.70 to 3.17 % in burnt sites, and 0.47 to 1.17 % in unburnt chir pine. Available P and K were observed to increase infinitesimally after one year of controlled fire in all the land uses in all three depths. Highest increase of 5.76 % in available P was found under burnt chir pine forest and grassland soil at 10-15 cm depth and 5-10 cm soil depth, respectively, whereas lowest increase was found under control one (0.84 %) (Figure 4).

In burnt chir pine forest, grassland and scrubland soil (Figure 1, 2, 3), % increase in available potassium was found highest at 5-10 cm soil depth viz.1.27 %, 1.84 % and 1.06%, respectively. In unburnt chir pine, highest % increase (0.77 %) was observed at 10-15 cm soil depth (Figure 4). The data on soil nutrient content post-fire revealed that controlled fire had positive impact on available N, P and K. Weston and Attiwill (1990) reported similar results who observed increase in N after 200 days of controlled fire. However, Fisher and Binkley (2000) reported decrement in available N following fire because of some loss through volatilization. Serrasolsas and Khanna (1995), Romanya et al. (1994) and Macadam (1987) reported that fires resulted in an enrichment of available P. Similarly, Lavoie et al. (2010) and Shakesby et al. (2015) found that prescribed fire resulted in an increase in available K. After prescribed fire, an increase in nutrients in the mineral soil was found (Kennard and Gholz, 2001; Übeda et al., 2005; Shakesby et al., 2015; Alcañiz et al., 2016) due to two reasons: 1. Formation of and its further incorporation into the soil and 2. Release of basic cations from the soil organic matter. Inorganic N content was found higher in burnt sites over unburnt sites (Singh and Singh, 2014). Increase in available potassium post-fire in upper layers of soil was reported by Kumar et al. (2013).

Fire effects on soil physico-chemical properties Organic C

After one year of experimental fire, there was a slight decrease in soil organic C in comparison to initial levels. At 0-5 cm depth, highest % decrease in organic C was found under burnt chir pine forest (1.63%) (Figure 5), whereas lowest decrease of 0.76 % was found under scrubland soil (Figure7).

At 5-10 cm depth, % decrease in organic C was found highest under scrubland (3.28%) which differs slightly from grassland (2.46%) after one year of controlled fire. Lowest decrease of 0.86 % was found under burnt chir pine forest. At 10-15 cm soil depth, grassland soil (1.68%) was found to have highest decrease in organic C (Figure 6), whereas lowest decrease was found under scrubland (0.85%) (Figure7). In unburnt chir pine forest (control), organic C was found to increase in all three depths at the end of experiment (9.76% in



Figure 1: Available nutrient content in chir pine forest before and after fire



Figure 2: Available nutrient content in grassland before and after fire



Figure 3: Available nutrient content in scrubland before and after fire



Figure 4: Available nutrient content in unburnt chir pine forest before and after fire

0-5 cm, 7.76% in 5-10 cm and 11.4% in 10-15 cm soil depth). The data on organic C inferred that controlled fire did not alter organic C content drastically, however, it was slightly lower than pre-

fire level. Decrement in soil organic C content was ephemeral. This corroborates the findings of Andreu *et al.* (1996) and Johnson and Curtis (2001) who found that less intense prescribed fire may cause little loss in soil C initially as compared to unburnt site, but may result in later gains due to the addition of unburned residues with time (including charcoal). Chandra and Bhardwaj (2015), Verma *et al.* (2019) and Jhariya and Singh (2021) also reported lower levels of soil organic C in burnt sites over unburnt sites. However, Úbeda *et al.* (2005) and Granged *et al.* (2011b) reported no significant alteration in soil organic C content after controlled fire.

Bulk density

After controlled burning, bulk density in all the land uses was found to increases extremely small i.e. less than 1 %, except for grassland (1.74%). Highest % increase in bulk density was found in grassland at 5-10 cm soil depth. Overall, change in bulk density was found non-significant under all land uses (Figure 5, 6, 7). Similar result were reported by some other scientists (Phillips *et al.*, 2000; Grady and Hart (2006); Pierson *et al.* (2008); Meira-Castro *et al.*, 2014) who reported that bulk density did not differ significantly after prescribed fires.

Electrical conductivity and Soil pH

After one year of controlled fire, an infinitesimal increase in electrical conductivity of soil was observed in all the land uses (Figure 5, 6, 7) i.e. 2.14% in burnt chir pine forest, 1.92% in grassland and 1.84% in scrubland, except for unburnt chir pine forest. At 10-15 cm depth, in scrubland and unburnt chir pine forest, EC was found to decrease by -1.85% and -2.12%, respectively. This corroborates the findings of other scientist who reported that electrical conductivity was slightly increased after fire in burnt plots than in unburnt plot due to the release of inorganic ions from the combusted soil organic matter (Naidu and Srivasuki, 1994; Hernandez et al., 1997 and Verma et al., 2019). Soil pH was found to increase in all land uses post-fire. When different land uses were compared for 0-5 cm depth (Figure 5,6,7), highest increase was observed under burnt chir pine forest and lowest was observed under scrubland, whereas, no change was observed under control one. Our results were supported by the findings of Arocena and Opio (2003), Scharenbroch et al. (2012);



Figure 5: Soil physico-chemical properties in chir pine forest before and after fire



Figure 6: Soil physico-chemical properties in grassland before and after fire

Switzer *et al.* (2012) and Verma *et al.* (2019) who observed post-fire increase in soil pH due to burning of fuel and the consequent release of bases. On the contrary, Meira-Castro *et al.* (2014) and Alcaniz *et al.* (2016) reported that pH values remain unaltered post-fire.

References

- Alcañiz, M., Outeiro, L., Francos, M., Farguell, J., & Úbeda, X. (2016). Long-term dynamics of soil chemical properties after a prescribed fire in a Mediterranean forest (Montgrí Massif, Catalonia, Spain). Science of the Total Environment, 572, 1329–1335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.01.115
- Andreu, V., Rubio, J.L., Forteza, J., & Cerni, R. (1996). Postfire effects on soil properties and nutrient losses. *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 6(2), 53-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF9960053</u>
- Arocena, J.M., & Opio, C. (2003). Prescribed fire-induced changes in properties of sub-boreal forest soils. *Geoderma*, *113*(1-2), 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7061(02)00312-9</u>

Soil texture

The texture of soil after the fire season (12 months) remained the same and was worked out to be gravely silty clay loam. The research findings of Pierson *et al.* (2008) also supported our results.



Figure 7: Soil physico-chemical properties in scrubland before and after fire.

Conclusion

We concluded that controlled fire causes slight alterations in nutrient content and organic C of soil and that too for a shorter period of time in comparison to wildfires. Therefore, controlled fire can be used as a management tool for controlling wildfires which otherwise can cause a huge damage to fauna, flora and also results in environment pollution.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Black, C.A. (1965). *Methods of Soil Analysis*. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, USA.
- Bennet, L., Aponte, C., Baker, T., & Tolhurst, K. (2014). Evaluating long-term effects of prescribed fire regimes on carbon stocks in a temperate eucalypt forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 328, 219–228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.05.028</u>
- Certini, G. (2005). Effects of fire on properties of forest soils: A review. *Oecologia*, 143, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1788-8
- Chandra, K.K., & Bhardwaj, A.K. (2015). Incidence of forest fire in India and its effect on terrestrial ecosystem dynamics, nutrient and microbial status of soil. *International Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 5(2), 69-78. <u>https://doi.org/10.5923/j.ijaf.20150502.01</u>

- Dooley, S.R., & Treseder, K.K. (2012). The effect of fire on microbial biomass: a meta- <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-</u>011-9633-8
- Ferna'ndez, I., Cabaneiro, A., & Carballas, T. (1997). Organic matter changes immediately after a wildfire in an Atlantic forest soil and comparison with laboratory soil heating. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1788-8
- Fernandes, P., Matt Davies, G., Fernández, C., Moreira, F., Rigolot, E., Stoof, C., Vega, J.A., & Molina, D. (2013). Prescribed burning in southern Europe: developing fire management in a dynamic landscape. *Frontiers in Ecology* and the Environment, 11(1), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.1890/120298
- Fisher, R.F., & Binkley, D. (2000). Ecology and management of forest soils. 3rd ed. Wiley, New York.
- Giglio, L., Randerson, J.T., & Van der Werf, G.R. (2013).
 Analysis of daily, monthly, and annual burned area using the fourth-generation global fire emissions database (GFED4). Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences, 118 (1), 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrg.20042
- Grady, K.C., & Hart, S.C. (2006). Influences of thinning, prescribed burning, and wildfire on soil processes and properties in southwestern ponderosa pine forests: a retrospective study. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 234, 123–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.06.031
- Granged, A.J.P., Jordán, A., Zavala, L.M., Muñoz-Rojas, M., & Mataix-Solera, J. (2011a). Short-term effects of experimental fire for a soil under eucalyptus forest (SE Australia). Geoderma, 167–168, 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.09.011
- Granged, A.J.P., Zavala, L.M., Jordán, A., & Bárcenas-Moreno, G. (2011b). Post-fire evolution of soil properties and vegetation cover in a Mediterranean heathland after experimental burning: A 3-year study. Geoderma, *164* (1-2), 85–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2011.05.017</u>
- Hernandez, T., Garcia, C., & Reinhardt, I. (1997). Short-term effect of wildfire on the chemical, biochemical and microbiological properties of Mediterranean pine forest soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 25, 109–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050289</u>
- Hore, U., & Uniyal, V.P. (2008). Effect of prescribed fire on spider assemblage in Terai grasslands, India. *Turkish Journal of Arachnology*, 1(1): 15-36.
- Jackson, M.L. (1973). Soil chemical analysis. Prentice Hall, New Delhi.
- Jhariya, M.K., & Singh, L. (2021). Effect of fire severity on soil properties in a seasonally dry forest ecosystem of Central India. *International Journal of Environmental*

Science and Technology, *18*: 3967-3978. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-020-03062-8

- Johnson, D.W., & Curtis, P.S. (2001). Effects of forest management on soil C and N storage: meta analysis. Forest Ecology and Management, 140, 227–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(00)00282-6
- Kavdir, Y., Ekinci, H., Yüksel, O., & Mermut, A.R. (2005). Soil aggregate stability and assessment of organic matter in soils influenced by forest wildfires in Canakkale, Turkey. *Geoderma*, 129, 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2005.01.013
- Kennard, D.K., & Gholz, H.L. (2001). Effects of high-intensity fires on soil properties and plant growth in a Bolivian dry forest. *Plant and Soil*, 234, 119–129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1010507414994</u>
- Knicker, H. (2007). How does fire affect the nature and stability of soil organic nitrogen and carbon? A review. *Biogeochemistry*, 85, 91–118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-007-9104-4
- Kumar, M., Sheikh, M.A., Bhat, J.A., & Bussmann, R.W. (2013). Effect of fire on soil nutrients and under storey vegetation in Chir pine forest in Garhwal Himalaya, India. *Acta Ecologica Sinica*, 33: 59-63. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chnaes.2012.11.001
- Lavoie, M., Starr, G., Mack, M.C., Martin, T.A. & Gholz, H.L. (2010). Effects of a prescribed fire on understory vegetation, carbon pools, and soil nutrients in a longleaf pine-slash pine forest in Florida. *Natural Areas Journal*, 30 (1), 82–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.3375/043.030.0109</u>
- Macadam, A.M. (1987). Effects of broadcast slash burning on fuels and soil chemical properties in the sub-boreal spruce zone of central British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 17(12), 1577–1584. https://doi.org/10.1139/x87-242
- Meira-Castro, A., Shakesby, R.A., Espinha Marques, J., Doerr, S., Meixedo, J.P., Teixeira, J., & Chaminé, H.I. (2014). Effects of prescribed fire on surface soil in a Pinus pinaster plantation, northern Portugal. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 73(6), 3011–3018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-014-3516-y
- Mervin, H.D., & Peech, M. (1951). Exchangeability of soil potassium in sand, silt and clay fraction as influenced by the nature of complementary exchangeable cations. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 15 (C), 125-128.
- Naidu, C.V., & Srivasuki, K.P. (1994). Effect of forest fire on soil characteristics in different areas of Seshachalam hills. *Annals of Forestry*, 2, 166–173.
- Novara, A., Gristina, L., Bodi, M.B., & Cerda, A. (2011). The impact of fire on redistribution of soil organic matter on a

Mediterranean hillslope under maquia vegetation type. *Land Degradation and Development*, 22 (6), 530–536.

- Olsen, S.R., Cole, C.V., Wantanable, F.S., & Dean, L.A. (1954). Estimation of available P in soil by extraction with sodium bicarbonate. *USDA Circular*, 939, 1-9.
- Panse, V.G., & Sukhatme, P.V. (2000). *Statistical methods for agricultural workers*. Indian Council of Agricultural Research, New Delhi.
- Phillips, D.H., Foss, J.E., Buckner, E.R., Evans, R.M., & FitzPatrick, E.A. (2000). Response of surface horizons in an oak forest to prescribed burning. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 64(2), 754–760.
- Pierson, F.B., Robichaud, P.R., Moffet, C.A., Spaeth, K.E., Williams, C.J., Hardegree, S.P., & Clark, P.E. (2008). Soil water repellency and infiltration in coarse-textured soils of burned and unburned sagebrush ecosystems. *Catena*, 74(2), 98–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2008.03.011
- Raison, R.J., Woods, P.V., & Khanna, P.K. (1986). Decomposition and accumulation of litter after fire in subalpine eucalypt forests. *Australian Journal of Ecology*, *11*(1), 9-19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.1986.tb00913.x</u>
- Rao, G.R., (1998). Studies on dynamics of herbage layer in pine and khair based natural silvipastoral system in northwest Himalaya, Ph.D. Thesis submitted to Dr. YSP University of Horticulture and Forestry, Solan, India.
- Romanya, J., Khanna, P.K., & Raison, R.J. (1994). Effects of slash burning on soil phosphorus fractions and sorption and desorption of phosphorus. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 65 (2-3), 89–103.
- Santín, C., & Doerr, S.H. (2016). Fire effects on soils: the human dimension. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B*, 371(1696), 20150171.
- Scharenbroch, B.C., Nix, B., Jacobs, K.A., & Bowles, M.L. (2012). Two decades of low-severity prescribed fire increases soil nutrient availability in Midwestern, USA oak (*Quercus*) forest. *Geoderma*, 183-184, 89–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.03.010
- Serrasolsas, I., & Khanna, P.K. (1995). Changes in heated and autoclaved forest soils of S.E. Australia. II. Phosphorus and phosphatase activity. *Biogeochemistry*, 29, 25–41.
- Shakesby, R.A., Bento, C.P.M., Ferreira, C.S.S., Ferreira, A.J.D., Stoof, C.R., Urbanek, E., & Walsh, R.P.D. (2015). Impacts of prescribed fire on soil loss and soil quality: an assessment based on an experimentally-burned catchment in central Portugal. *Catena*, 128, 278–293.
- Singh, T.C., & Singh E.J. (2014). Effect of traditional fire on N-mineralization in the Oak forest Stand of Manipur, North

East India. International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications, 4(11): 1-11.

- Snyman, H.A. (2003). Short-term response of rangeland following an unplanned fire in terms of soil characteristics in a semiarid climate of South Africa. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 55(1), 160–180.
- Subbiah, B.V., & Asija, G.L. (1956). A rapid procedure for the estimation of available nitrogen in soils. *Current Science* 25, 259-260.
- Switzer, J.M., Hope, G.D., Grayston, S.J., & Prescott, C.E. (2012). Changes in soil chemical and biological properties after thinning and prescribed fire for ecosystem restoration in a Rocky Mountain Douglas-fir forest. *Forest Ecology* and Management, 275, 1–13.
- Terefe, T., Mariscal-Sancho, I., Peregrina, F., & Espejo, R. (2008). Influence of heating on various properties of six Mediterranean soils: A laboratory study. *Geoderma*, 143 (3-4), 273–280.
- Úbeda, X., Lorca, M., Outeiro, L., Bernia, S., & Castellnou, M. (2005). Effects of prescribed fire on soil quality in Mediterranean grassland (Prades Mountains, north-east Spain). *International Journal of Wildland Fire*, 14(4), 379– 384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WF05040</u>
- Valkó, O., Deák, B., Magura, T., Török, P., Kelemen, A., Tóth, K., Horváth, R., Nagy, D.D., Debnár, Z., Zsigrai, G., Kapocsi, I., & Tóthmérész, B. (2016). Supporting biodiversity by prescribed burning in grasslands-a multitaxa approach. *Science of the Total Environment*, 572, 1377–1384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.01.184
- Verma, S., Singh, D., Singh, A.K., & Jayakumar, S. (2019). Post-fire soil nutrient dynamics in a tropical dry deciduous forest of Western Ghats, India. *Forest Ecosystems*. 6(1): 6 <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40663-019-0168-0</u>
- Viswanathan, S., Eria, L., Diunugala, N., Johnson, J., & McClean, C. (2006) An Analysis of effects of San Diego wildfire on ambient air quality. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, 56(1): 56-67.
- Walkley, A.J., & Black, L.A. (1934). An estimation of soil organic matter and proposed modifications of the chromic acid titration method. *Soil Science*, 37(1), 29-38.
- Weston, C.J., & Attiwill, P.M. (1990). Effects of fire and harvesting on nitrogen transformations and ionic mobility in soils of Eucalyptus regnans forests of south-eastern Australia. *Oecologia*, 83, 20–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00324628
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal





Drought in Indian perspective, its impact on major crops and livestock and remedial measures

Alok Singh Jayara 🖂

Department of Agronomy, Govind Ballabh Pant University of Agriculture & Technology, Pantnagar, US Nagar, Uttarakhand, India.

K. Indudhar Reddy

Agroclimatic Research Centre, ARI, Professor JayashankarTelangana State Agricultural University, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, Telangana, India.

Roshan Lal Meena

ICAR-NBSS&LUP, Regional Centre, Udaipur, Rajasthan, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 23 September 2021	Drought is one of the important natural disasters which lead to maximum
Revised : 11 February 2022	severity to human among all others. The vulnerability increases with the
Accepted : 21 February 2022	resource poor nature of developing and under developing nations. Considering
	the extent of rainfed area in India, the vulnerability to drought is higher
Available online: 17 April 2022	compared to other peer nations. It has implications on agriculture, livestock,
	fisheries, rural employment, human nutrition and health. However, the impact
Key Words:	initiates with crop production and encompasses livestock in medium term
Crop production	which has severe economic implications for farmer. Therefore, it is desirable to
Drought	present an extensive study on the impact of drought on major crops and
Economic implication	livestock in India. Further, we have also emphasized on the remedial measures
Remedial measures	to be followed for crop production and livestock.

Introduction

Drought is one of the several atmospheric phenomena which has catastrophic implication for life and livelihoods of the particular country. It is defined in various contexts from shortage of rainfall compared to the long period average, reduction in soil moisture and levels of water resources to the shortfall in ET demands of the crops. Increased incidence of disasters is the new normal, and drought incidence (along with other weather and climate related disasters) frequency has quadrupled from average 40 per decade in 1970s to 150 in 2010s (FAO, 2021). Drought is among the other extreme meteorological events such as heat waves. storms etc which can worsen other high impact events such as flooding, landslides, wildfires and avalanches (WMO, 2020). Drought causes short and medium term water shortage and reduces yield of crop and livestock under extreme heat stress (FAO, 2021). Drought is an extreme climatic event whose intensity and duration increases slowly and can have hydrological and socio-economic impacts including wild-fires, loss of crops and livestock,

water scarcity, migration, increase in food prices and health effects (Mukherjee et al., 2018). The severity of drought can be gauged from the fact that it is dependent on twin atmospheric conditions *i.e.* prevailing precipitation and the temperature. While the former supplements the water, later put a demand on it and thus balance of two determine the drought conditions. Historically, precipitation is considered as the major cause of drought, however, with global warming scenario, rising evaporative demand is considered as major cause of drought events (Zhao and Dai, 2015). Drought is classified as meteorological, hydrological, agricultural and socio-economic, depending on the extent and severity of its impact. At individual plant level, it can bring physiological and biochemical stress which is manifested in the form of reduced growth and yield and at crop level, it impacts the gross harvesting of solar radiation and consequent yields which ultimately disrupts the food security and economy of the nation(s). Drought has impacted parts of interior South America in 2020 with an

estimation of loss of \$ 3 billion in agriculture in Brazil alone whereas in parts of South Africa, it is continued to persist (WMO, 2020); however, prolonged drought along with conflict has resulted in the famine in Somalia between October, 2010 to April, 2012 (FAO, 2017) .Globally agriculture supports livelihood of 2.5 million peoples and on account of its direct interaction with the environment, reliance on natural resources for production and importance in socio-economic development of nation, urgent actions are needed to build resilient agricultural systems (FAO, 2021).If only impact of drought is considered agriculture share rose to 84% whereas it is upto 25% with climate related disasters (FAO, 2017). There are evidences of the shift in climatic regimes which has increased the vulnerability towards the drought. It is evident from the recent impact of climatic extremes that ecosystems and human lives are vulnerable to heat waves, drought, floods, cyclones and wildfires (IPCC, 2014). It is important to have a strategy comprehensive for the drought management as it starts as small event of precipitation deficit and affects the soil moisture, hydrology and agriculture of the particular place (Rajasivaranjan, 2015). To mitigate impacts of drought along with other extreme events, it is suggested to integrate crop production with livestock, horticulture, apiculture, fisheries and agro-forestry (MoEFCC, 2021).

Drought in Indian perspective

The importance of drought situation to the country as whole can be gauged from the trailing facts. Agriculture contributes around 16 % of gross value addition and supports 48 % of the employment. 68 % of the total agriculture is rainfed. Around 74 % of the total rainfall is obtained during the south west monsoon. Overall drought risk to agriculture is higher in India due to the deviated monsoon, depleted ground water and food demand of population of 1.252 billion (Zhang et al., 2017). The monsoon in India is characterized by its erratic behavior in terms of its spatial and temporal distribution.. The monsoon has the impact of various atmospheric phenomena such as Rossby waves/ jet streams and El-Nino which are strong in reducing rainfall over Indian sub-continent. Most of the drought conditions of the Indian summer monsoon rainfall are associated with El Niño (13 of

the 18 years) indicating that about 72% of the drought years are associated with the influence of Pacific Ocean (Varikoden et al., 2015). Though every El Nino year is not associated with drought, however, there is strong inverse relationship between strength of El Nino and monsoon occurrence which negatively impacts the Indian agriculture (Pandey et al., 2019). Dry areas constitute 94 mha where one-third of Indian population resides and 50 % of the region is hit by drought once in four years (Sonawane et al.,2016). Around 28 % of total agriculture area in India is susceptible to critical water shortage (Gautam and Bana, 2014). Rainfed area in India extends over more than 100 mha (Kumar et al., 2014) and according to Badatya, (2005) out of total rainfed area of 104 mha, 32 % fall under the high rainfall (>1125 mm) and rest 68 % under the low and medium rainfall with states of Punjab, Haryana, Rajasthan, Gujarat, Maharashtra and Karnataka having most of the low rainfall regions. There are several criteria for assessing the severity of drought. In India, the meteorological rainfall variability of ± 19 % is considered to be the normal, and deficit between 20 to 59 % is moderate drought and more than 60 % is categorized as severe drought (Samra, 2004; Badatya, 2005). In recent past, India has experienced 22 droughts, of which 5 were severe(Samra, 2004; Gautam and Bana, 2014) and there had been 12 major droughts in past five decades with successive droughts in 1965-66 and 1966-67 and the recent one in 2002-03 (Badatya, 2005). Drought is characterized by non-uniformity of its occurrence and impact. Drought has hardest impact on the Southern and Western regions, however, these states have better adaptations whereas it has significant impact on North and Central regions, but the adaptation level is lower (Amarsinghe et al., 2020). It is considered that frequency of drought is once in 15 years in North Eastern India, however, it has been reported by Parida and Oinam (2015) that in the period 2000-15, eight years has experienced meteorological drought in this region. In a prediction study of 48 vears (2050-2099). Ojha et al. (2013) predicted increase in drought incidence in west central, peninsular, and central northeast regions of India. In a study on drought characterization in India over projected climatic scenario in different time frames

i.e. near-future (2010–2039), mid-future (2040–2069), and far-future (2070–2099) in comparison with reference period (1976–2005), increasing trend in drought severity, duration, occurrences, and the average length of drought under warming climate scenarios was concluded (Bisht *et al.*, 2018). Drought studies in India are important not only in context of her own food security but also for nations which are dependent on imports of food grain from India (Udmale *et al.*, 2020).

Impact on crop production

Agriculture is mainstay of Indian economy and any prolonged drought condition can jeopardize food security and bring the famine conditions. Understanding the impact of drought on crop production is itself challenging as it is complex interaction of temperature, precipitation, vapour pressure and solar radiation (Leng and Hall, 2019).In the crop production, drought can have impact from preparation of field, sowing operations, weakening of standing crops, increased vulnerability to the pest incidence and final impact on the quantity and quality of yield obtained (Gautam and Bana, 2014). The reproductive stages of the crops are more sensitive to the drought stress than vegetative stages leading to reduced flowers, pods, fruit set and number of seeds and is more severe when accompanied with heat stress and these two will be more common in current and future climate change scenario (Sehgal et al., 2018). The impact of drought on the crop production shows fluctuations. In the twelve drought years, the loss in crop production when compared to previous years varied from 2.8 % in the year 1982-83 to 19 % in 1965-66 and 13.2 % in 2002-03 (Badatya, 2005). Average crop loss of 86.1 % (for both Kharif and Rabi) was reported in 2012 in Southern Maharashtra, which varied from 67.8 % in maize to 98.2 % in cotton (Udmale et al., 2015).

The impact of drought among major crops of India is presented below

Rice

In India around 42 percent of the total 44 mha area under rice cultivation is rainfed (Mention the area of which country or region) (Birthal *et al.*, 2015) and drought is major constraint of rainfed rice production (Kumar *et al.*, 2014; Sharma *et al.*, 2016). Drought has been reported to reduce relative leaf water content, inhibition of cell enlargement leading to reduced leaf size, reduced tillering and

plant height and increase in the mean root length (Sharma et al., 2016). Multi stage drought led to the 86% reduction in vield in rice along with reduction vield attributes; and deterioration in of physiological parameters including decrease in chlorophyll content, relative water content, photosynthesis, transpiration rate, starch content and increase in proline content and lipid peroxidation when compared to non-stress, however, differences exist among growth stages and genotypes (Kumar et al., 2020). Similar findings were reported by Nahar et al. (2018) in rice.

Wheat

Out of 29 mha under wheat cultivation in India, 3-5 mha is susceptible to drought (Sheoran et al., 2015). The vegetative stage of wheat is more sensitive to drought as the root growth is reduced consequently reducing the leaf area, leaf number per plant, leaf size and leaf longevity (Zhang et al., 2018). Drought reduces chlorophyll content, membrane stability, relative water content, reduction in chlorophyll fluorescence and the yield and yield components, reduction in NPK uptake and increased the catalase, peroxidase and superoxide dismutase content (Abdullah et al., 2011; Nawaz et al., 2012; Sheoran et al., 2015), however the effect was pronounced with late stage drought stress than early season (Nawaz et al., 2012). 57-59 per cent reduction occurs in iron and zinc content per hectare with drought stress in wheat (Velu et al., 2016).

Sugarcane

Drought stress significantly reduces the juice quality including decrease in sucrose percentage, purity coefficient, (=Sucrose%/ Brix), commercial cane sugar %{ = $(1.022 \times \text{Sucrose }\%) - (0.292 \times$ ⁰Brix)}, total soluble solids or brix, marginal decrease in pH, increase in reducing sugar content (Hemprabha *et al.*, 2004; Mishra *et al.*, 2016). Increase in proline content, SOD and peroxidase enzyme activity and decrease in plant height, single cane weight, number of millable canes, cane yield, relative water content, chlorophyll and cartenoids content was recorded with drought stress (Pawar and Bhutkar, 2011; Jain *et al.*, 2015; Santeshwari, 2021).

Oil seeds

The morphological and physiological impacts of drought on oilseeds will be similar as described

under rice and wheat. In oilseeds, drought can impact the fatty acid synthesis and can lead to increase in saturated fatty acid (palmitic and stearic acid) content and decrease in unsaturated fatty acids (linoleic and linolenic acid) (El Sabagh et al., 2019). Drought stress reduces rate of flower production, peg elongation rate, seed growth rate and its weight; number of mature pods; pod yield; shelling percentage; harvest index and adequate pod zone soil moisture is important for development of pegs into pods; also leads to reduction in oleic: linoleic acid ratio which reduces the keeping quality and increases aflatoxin content which was independent of the drought tolerance of genotypes (Kenchanagoudar et al., 2002; Reddy et al., 2003; Hamidou et al., 2014), however, Dwivedi et al.(1996) reported increase in oleic acid content with end season drought in groundnut. Oil content reduces under the end season drought, however, it was not affected by mid-season drought (Dwivedi et al., 1996; Kenchanagoudar et al., 2002). Drought stress reduces the growth parameters and isoflavone content in soybean (Akhita Devi and Giridhar, 2013). There had been varying impact of drought stress on the growth and physiological parameters, yield attributing characteristics and yield of mustard depending on the genotypes (Chauhan et al., 2007; Singh et al., 2009). Though sunflower is considered moderately drought tolerant, any incidence of drought at critical stages can reduced photosynthesis, water potential, xylem and phloem transport, nutrient uptake, reduced capitulum diameter, number of achene per capitulum, achene weight per capitulum and ultimately achene yield, reduced oil content depending on the intensity of drought and its fatty acid composition (Nezami et al., 2008; Jaleel et al., 2009; Hussain et al., 2018). The bud initiation stage is more critical for drought stress than seed filling in sunflower (Jaleel et al., 2009).

Pulses

Pulses are generally grown under the rainfed conditions in India, therefore, more susceptible to the drought conditions. Chickpea being grown under residual moisture conditions, therefore, susceptible to terminal drought or moisture stress situations causing 40-50% global yield losses (Basu *et al.*, 2004; Jha *et al.*, 2014; Devasirvatham and Tan, 2018; Muruiki *et al.*, 2018; Sinha *et al.*, 2019).

Drought stress leads to stunted growth, nonuniform plant stand, pale colored lower leaves, early senescence, reduction in days to maturity, chlorophyll content, Rubisco activity, sucrose synthesis, average reduction of 23% in number of seeds per pod, upto 54% reduction in seed size and increased incidence of dry root rot and black root rot (Kumar, 1997; Awasthi et al., 2014; Sinha et al., 2019). Though there had been reduction in the relative water content, photosynthetic apparatus was not impacted showing ability of chickpea to maintain turgor even under water stress conditions (Basu et al., 2004). Drought stress in pigeonpea led to reduction in relative water content, stomatal conductance, transpiration rate, total chlorophyll enhancement proline content, in content, superoxide dismutase, malondialdehyde and peroxidase activity, reduction in specific nitrogenase activity and leghaemoglobin content (Nandwal et al., 1991; Kumar et al., 2011; Vanaja et al., 2015). Flowering stage is most sensitive stage for drought stress in pigeonpea leading to 48% reduction of yield and upto 62% when combined with drought at pre-flowering (Lopez et al., 1996; Nam et al., 2001). Pigeonpea owing to its long duration nature will see least reduction in area under drought incidence as its sowing can be adjusted according to receipt of rainfall (Kumar et al., 2014). Moisture stress at seed filling in lentil significantly reduced above ground biomass, pod number, pod weight, seed number by 41%,71%,71%,77%, respectively (Sehgal et al., 2017). In greengram and blackgram, drought stress leads to reduced leaf number, plant height, shoot and root biomass, leaf area index, leaf water potential, protein content, yield and increased proline, anthocyanin, flavnoids (Baroowa and Gogoi, 2015; Baroowa and Gogoi, 2016).

Impact on livestock

Livestock has an important role in the Indian agriculture. This is more important in dryland areas where the crop yields are unpredictable and these serve as a income assurance during stress period. Drought incidence reduces the availability of the green forage as well as the dry reservoirs makes a scarcity of water for the livestock. Around 113.5 million bovines were affected in nine states of India, with seven states facing fodder shortage (except Odisha and Tamil nadu) in drought year of 2002 (Patil, 2012). Purchase of fodder and crop residues like legume hays, rice straw and sorghum stover increases with simultaneous increase in fodder cost and there is reduction in purchase of concentrate feed and rice bran (Biradar and Sridhar, 2009; Chand and Biradar, 2017). During drought years there is decrease in feed intake, loss of body weight, decline in fertility, disturbance in reproductive performances, average lactation length and vields, worsening of milk to adult female cattle ratio, increase in dry and unproductive cattle, decrease in livestock population probably due to animal death due to lack of quality fodder, distress sale of cattle and unbearable cost of livestock; it also leads to migration of livestock especially cattle and sheep (Patil, 2012; Maurya and Tripathi, 2013; Mishra, 2017; Kanwal et al., 2020). To lessen the drought impact, farmers practice distress sale of cattle fetching lower prices than normal (Toulmin, 1986; Biradar and Sridhar, 2009; Udmale et al., 2014; Chand and Biradar, 2017).

Mitigation measures

Agriculture is the foremost sector where mitigation should receive the priority. Singh et al. (2011) concluded that Indian food grain production is more vulnerable to drought than floods and among the two major seasons, kharif food grain production is more vulnerable than rabi season. Various agronomic measures for drought proofing includes availability of quality seeds, optimizing plant population, spray of anti-transpirants, application of polymers e.g. Pusa hydrogel, practicing life saving irrigation, nutrient management, practicing conservation tillage, intercropping to reduce runoff losses, selection of efficient varieties, shifting sowing according to expected rainfall pattern, mulching and *in-situ* moisture conservation, use of zero till seed drill to accomplish late sowing of wheat (Gautam and Bana, 2014; Tyagi et al., 2020). Application of pusa hydrogel had improved growth and physiological parameters in rice; significantly higher yields in cotton; pusa hydrogel @ 2.5 kg/ha + organic mulch @ 5tonnes/ha in pigeonpea recorded highest yields and net return (Sen et al., 2019; Ashraf et al., 2020; Jadhav et al., 2020).

Krishna and Ramanjaneyulu (2012) reported effectiveness of life saving irrigation through sprinkler, ridge and furrow method over flatbed method and intercropping of Castor+redgram (1:1) in terms of yield and net returns. Some of the

critical stages for irrigation in pulses are given table 1. However, the drought areas should have supplementary irrigation scheduled on the basis of incidence of dry spell rather than critical stage concept, generally 10-15 days depending on the soil texture (Reddy and Reddy, 2016). Water harvesting for this supplemental irrigation can be done by construction of some feasible system like earthern dam on gully head, community tanks, small tanks for individual farmers preferably located at the lowest point of the catchment, with capacity to completely full at the end of monsoon, maximum volume with minimum exposed surface so as to reduce evaporation losses and lining for reducing the seepage losses (Verma, 1981).Mulching is effective under drought stress. Yield levels were significantly higher with plastic mulch under 75% moisture stress in capsicum; with double mulching with organic material for crops in rotation with maize; fruit yield in ber with black polythene or date palm leaves mulch along with supplementary irrigation; 24-28% higher okra yields with organic mulches compared to no mulch under moisture stress; mulching with crop residues along with compartmental bunding reported highest groundnut vield and water use efficiency (Thakur et al., 2000; Bahadur et al., 2013; Meghwal and Kumar, 2014; Ngangom et al., 2020; Pandian et al., 2020). Insituwater conservation measures involving alteration in land configuration also proved successful in enhancing yield in drought prone rainfed areas (Table 2).

Mineral nutrition has an important role in inducing drought tolerance in plants. The metabolic role of nutrients is presented in table 3. Moderate nitrogen supply in maize enhanced drought tolerance through enhanced nitrate concentration, nitrate reductase activity, abscisic acid content; higher N supply increased cell membrane stability in soybean; foliar application of N at flowering enhanced seed yield and protein content under terminal drought stress in chickpea; moderate dose of nitrogen recorded highest wheat yield under drought stress (Palta et al., 2005; Premachandra et al., 2009; Song et al., 2019; Sedri et al., 2019). Phosphorus application enhanced relative water content, photosynthetic rate and yield of mothbean under drought stress; grain yield was compensate by application of P, Fe and Si under moisture stress with that of irrigated rice crop; number of tubers

Pulse crop	Critical stage
Chickpea	1 irrigation at 50% flowering/ pod development stage; 2 irrigations at branching and pod
	formation.
Pigeonpea	2 irrigations at branching and pod formation.
Fieldpea	50% flowering.
Lentil	Early pod filling stage.
Rabi pigeonpea	25 days crop stage.

 Table 1: Critial stages for various pulses for yield maximization under limited irrigation water availability (Praharajet al., 2016)

Table 2: Yield gain by practicing various in-situ moisture conservation practices under drought conditions

Conservation measures	State and crop	Yield gain over	Reference
		control (%)	
Trenching	Uttarakhand; Rice	32.9- 58.4	Kumar <i>et al.</i> , 2014
Continous Trenching	Maharashtra; Mandarin	29.2	Panigrahiet al., 2009
Modified Crecsent bund	Karnataka; Cashew	32.2	Rejani and Yadukumar,
			2010
Scooping	Karnataka; Sorghum	11-12	Mishra and Patil, 2008
Field Bunding	Rajasthan; Chickpea	18	Regar <i>et al.</i> , 2010
Field Bunding	Rajasthan; Sorghum	10.5	Rao et al., 2010
Paired row planting with	Telangana; Pigeonpea	34.25	Rao et al., 2018
conservation furrow between			
two rows			

Table 3: Specific metabolic functions of various mineral nutrients under drought stress in plants (Hawkesford *et al.*, 2012; Broadley *et al.*, 2012)

Nutrient	Specific metabolic functions under drought conditions.
Nitrogen	Synthesis of betaine which act as compatible solute and counteracts high vacuolar
	concentration of inorganic ions like Na ⁺ and Cl ⁻ which inhibits Cytoplasmic metabolism.
Potassium	Regulates the stomatal movement by changing turgor of guard cells; maintaining osmotic
	pressure in vacuole; avoidance of oxidative stress; pH stabilization of chloroplast stroma.
Sulphur	Strong disulphide bridge (-SH group) in proteins which provides cellular resistance to
	dehydration caused by drought.
Magnesium	Deficiency leads to impairment of root growth and thus impacting drought resistance.
Calcium	Increase in cytosolic Ca concentration act as signal under drought stress.
Manganese	Mn SOD induces enhanced drought tolerance.
Molybdenum	Component of aldehyde oxidase enzyme which causes coversion of abscisic aldehyde to
	abscisic acid (ABA) which is important for inducing drought tolerance in plants.

and yield was increased with P application under moisture stress (Garg *et al.*, 2004; Motalebifard *et al.*, 2013; Kumar *et al.*, 2019). Spray of 2 % KCl at flowering and siliqua formation stage in toria recorded significantly higher yields and yield attributes under rainfed conditions (Sarma *et al.*, 2015); ameliorating effect of K application on relative water content and chlorophyll in sugarbeet (Aksu and Altay, 2020); K application at pre-

flowering and pod development stage improved mungbean performance under drought (Umar *et al.*,

2019); split K application improved yield parameters in groundnut under drought stress (Patro *et al.*, 2018); enhanced seed yield of mustard and sorghum under drought stress with higher K dose and of groundnut under moderate K dose (Umar, 2006). Crop diversification can be practiced in form of crop rotation and intercropping/ mixed cropping. Mixed/ intercropping have variable adaptations to climate threats and can enhance the productivity in extreme weather and low input farms whereas crop rotation can reduce soil degradation, can improve water use efficiency and can enhance productivity (Patel et al., 2020). Substituting maize with sorghum, sesame, blackgram, groundnut, greengram, clusterbean under low and erratic rainfall pattern proved efficient increasing maize equivalent yields, rain water use efficiency and B:C ratio (Jat et al., 2011). Strip cropping was most suited for pearlmillet+ legumes compared to their mixed and intercropping under severe moisture stress giving yields greater or at par to the sole pearlmillet and LER value> 1 (Singh and Joshi, 1994).Selection of genotypes has a larger role in mitigation. A drought tolerant variety developed by IRRI, released as Sahbhagidhan in India, is short duration variety, have genetic drought tolerance and more efficient in extracting moisture (Dar et al., 2020) and its short duration nature escapes high temperature and allow farmer to grow another crop after harvest (Yamano et al., 2018). Some other drought tolerant varieties developed are CR Dhan-201, CR Dhan 801 an CR Dhan, 802 for rice (MoEFCC, 2021). Birthal et al. (2012) reported 23 per cent yield advantage with ICGV91114 compared to dominant groundnut variety TMV-2 in Ananthpur district. Among eight varieites, SPV-1591 and among six hybrids, CSH 15R had significantly higher yields under rainfedrabi season at Bellary (Patil, 2007). Among the fifteen wheat varieties, NI-5439, WH-1021, HD-2733 found to be best suited for moisture stress conditions (Meena et al., 2015). Livestock has important role to play in drought prone regions, some of the important breeds of dry areas are Tharparkar, Rathi, Kankrej(Cattle);Marwari, Jaisalmeri, Patanwadi, nail (sheep);Marwari, kutchi(goats) and Bikaneri, Jaisalmeri(camel) (Patil et al., 2006). The various measures suggested for feed maintenance are thinning of the crop to increase their vegetative growth, increasing grass production in fallow and community areas, maximum utilization of the green herbage and agro-industrial waste, chaffing of forage, feeding of chopped forage for better

References

Abdullah, F., Hareri, F., Naaesan, M., Ammar, M.A., & Zuher Kanbar, O. (2011). Effect of drought on different physiological characters and yield component in different

digestion, hay making, enriching forage with urea treatment (Mishra, 2017). Some other important measures for livestock management includes controlled grazing, introduction of high yielding perennial grasses, silvipastoral system for areas having rainfall< 200mm,strategic feeding of cattle includes preferential feeding to productive stock such as pregnant and lactating cattle, feed supply for maintenance of minimum body weight, urea/ ammonia treated straw saves the cost of concentrate feed; multinutrient bricks/ blocks of molasses, urea, mineral and vitamins as lick for large animals and feed for small ruminants (Patil *et al.*, 2006).

Conclusion

Drought has serious implications for the agriculture and livestock sector and thus, can disrupt the life in vulnerable areas. It is possible to avert the dark consequences of spontaneous drought through the preparedness in form of early warning and drought proofing. Drought has varying impact on production of crops depending on the adaptation of the particular state. In the drought year of 2009, there was rainfall deficit of 23, 34 and 35 % for the Jharkhand, Punjab and Haryana respectively, however, Punjab and Haryana has shown a net increase of paddy production (6.6 and 5.8 respectively) from triennium (2006-08) average and Jharkhand had witnessed reduction of 52.6 % owing to only 8 % of net sown area under irrigation compared to 86 and 98 % in Harvana and Punjab, respectively. Though we have discussed the specific impacts of drought on agriculture and livestock, it is needed to have holistic approach in its management considering availability of timely credit, other non farm employment, food grain supply. Long term area wide planning in form of water shed, water harvesting structures etc are necessary, however, short term mitigation measures such as availability of drinking water, fodder and concentrates, seed and technical inputs, government intervention are equally desirable.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

varieties of syrian durum wheat. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, 3(3), 127-130.

- Akitha Devi, M.K., & Giridhar, P. (2013). Variations in physiological response, lipid peroxidation, antioxidant enzyme activities, proline and isoflavones content in soybean varieties subjected to drought stress. *Proceedings* of National Academy of Sciences, India, Section B-Biological Sciences, 85(1), 35-44.
- Aksu, G., & Altay, H.(2020). The effects of potassium applications on drought stress in sugar beet. *Sugar Tech*.
- Amarsinghe, U., Amarnath, G., Alahacoon, N., & Ghosh, S.(2020). How do floods and drought impact economic growth and human development at the sub-national level in India? *Climate*,8(11), 123.
- Ashraf, A.M., Raghvan, T., &Begum, S. N.(2020). Influence of in-situ soil moisture conservation practices with pusa hydrogel on physiological parameters of rainfed cotton. *International Journal of Bio-resource and Stress Management*, 11(6), 548-557.
- Awasthi, R., Kaushal, N., Vadez, V., Turner, N.C., Berger, J., Siddique, K.H.M., &Nayyar, H. (2014). Individual and combined effects of transient drought and heat stress on carbon assimilation and seed filling in chickpea. *Functional Plant Biology*, 41(11), 1148-1167.
- Badatya, K. C.(2005). Managing risks of drought in Indian agriculture: role of credit institutions. Agricultural Economics Research Review, Agricultural Economics Research Association (India) Conference, 18.
- Bahadur, A., Singh A.K., &Chaaurasia, S.N. S.(2013). Physiological and yield response of okra (*Abelmoschus esculentusMoench.*) to drought stress and organic mulching. *Journal of Applied Horticulture*, 15(3), 187-190.
- Baroowa, B., & Gogoi, N. (2015). Changes in plant water status, biochemical attributes and seed quality of blackgram and greengram genotypes under drought. *International Letters of Natural Science*, 42, 1-12.
- Barroowa, B., & Gogoi, N. (2016). Morpho-physiological and yield responses of black gram (*Vignamungo L.*) and green gram (*Vigna radiata L.*) genotypes under drought at different frowth stage. *Research Journal of Recent Sciences*, 5(2), 43-50.
- Basu, P. S., Ali, M., & Chaturvedi, S. K.(2004). Adaptation of photosynthetic components of chickpea to water stress. In 4th international crop science congress, September.
- Biradar, N., & Sridhar, K.(2009). Consequences of 2003 drought in Karnataka with particular reference to livestock and fodder. *Journal of Human Ecology*, 26(2), 123-130.
- Birthal, P.S., Negi, D.S., Khan, M.T., & Agarwal, S.(2015). Is Indian agriculture becoming resilient to drought? Evidence from rice production systems. *Food Policy*, 56, 1-12.

- Birthal, P.S., Nigam, S.N., Narayanan, A.V., & Kareem, K. A.(2012). Potential economic benefits from adoption of improved drought-tolerant groundnut in India. *Agriculture Economic Research Review*, 25(1), 1-14.
- Bisht, D.S., Sreedhar, V., Mishra, A., Chatterjee, C., & Raghuwanshi, N. S. (2018).Drought characterization over India under projected climate scenario. *International Journal of Climatology*, 39(4), 1889-1911.
- Broadley, M., Brown, P., Cakmak, I., Rengel, Z., & Zhao, F. (2012). Function of nutrients: micronutrients. In *Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants* (pp. 191-248). Academic Press.
- Chand, K.,&Biradar, N.(2017). Socio-economic impacts of drought in India. In: Kumar, S., Tanwar, S. P. S. Singh, A. (Eds.), Drought mitigation and management. *Scientific Publishers, New Delhi*,245-263.
- Chauhan, J.S., Tyagi, M.K., Kumar, A., Nashaat, N.I., Singh, M., Singh, N.B., Jakhar, M.L.,&Welham, S. J.(2007). Drought effects on yield and its components in Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.). *Plant Breeding*, 126, 399-402.
- Dar, M.H., Waza, S.A., Shukla, S., Zaidi, N.W., Nayak, S., Hossain, M., Kumar, A., Ismail, A.M., &Singh, U. S.(2020). Drought tolerant rice for ensuring food security in eastern India. *Sustainability*, 12, 2214.
- Devasirvatham, V. & Tan, D.K. Y.(2018). Impact of high temperature and drought stress on chickpea production. *Agronomy*, 8, 145.
- Dwivedi, S.L., Nigam, S.N., Rao, R.C.N., Singh, U., & Rao, K.V. S.(1996). Effect of drought on oil, fatty acids and protein contents of groundnut (*Arachis hypogaea* L.) seeds. *Field Crops Research*, 48, 125-133.
- EL Sabagh, A., Hossain, A., Barutçular, C., Gormus, O., Ahmad, Z., Hussain, S., Islam, M.S., Alharby, H., Bamagoos, A., Kumar, N., Akdeniz, A., Fahad, S., Meena, R.S., Abdelhamid, M., Wasaya, A., Hasanuzzaman, M., Sorour, S.,&Saneoka, H.(2019). Effects of drought stress on the quality of major oilseed crops: implications and possible mitigation strategies–a review. *Applied Ecology* and Environmental Research, 17, 4019-4043.
- FAO. (2017). The future of food and agriculture Trends and challenges. Rome.
- FAO. (2021). The impact of disasters and crises on agriculture and food security. *Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome.*
- Garg, B.K., Burman, U., &Kathju, S.(2004). The influence of phosphorus nutrition on the physiological response of mothbean genotypes to drought. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* and Soil Science, 167, 503-508.

- Gautam,R.C.,&Bana, R. S.(2014). Drought in India: Its impact and mitigation strategies – A review. *Indian Journal of* Agronomy, 59 (2), 179-190.
- Hamidou, F., Rathore, A., Waliyar, F., & Vadez, V. (2014). Although drought intensity increases aflatoxin contamination, drought tolerance does not lead to less aflatoxin contamination. *Field Crops Research*, 156(1), 103-110.
- Hawkesford, M., Horst W., Kichey T., Lambers H., Schjoerring J., Skrumsager, M., & White, P.(2012). Functions of macronutrient. In: Marschner H (Ed) Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants 3rd ed Academic Press London, UK, 135–189.
- Hemprabha, G., Nagarajan, R., &Alarmelu, S.(2004). Response of sugarcane genotypes to water deficit stress. Sugar Tech, 6(3), 165-168.
- Hussain, M., Farooq, S., Hasan, W., Ul-Allah, S., Tanveer, M., Farooq, M., & Nawaz, A.(2018). Drought stress in sunflower: Physiological effects and its management through breeding and agronomic alternatives. *Agricultural Water Management*, 201, 152-166.
- India-Water Resources Information System (2021).Department of Water Resources, River Development and GangaRejuvenation, Ministry of Jal Shakti, Government of India.
- Jadhav, V.T., Kute, N.S., Chavan, V.A., &Bhalerao, S.N. (2020). Effect of drought mitigation strategies on growth, yield and economics of pigeonpea (*Cajanuscajan L. Millsp*). Journal of food legumes, 33(1), 58-60.
- Jain, R., Chandra, A., Venugopalan, V.K.,& Solomon, S.(2015). Physiological changes and expression of SOD and P5C5 gene in response to water deficit in sugarcane. *Sugar Tech*, 17, 276-282.
- Jat, M. L., Sodani, S. N., Sammauria, R., & Sharma, S. K. (2011). Management of drought through crops and varietal diversification under dryland areas of western India. *Indian Journal of Dryland Agriculture Research and Development*, 26(1), 32-40.
- Jaleel, C.A., Manivannan, P., Wahid, A., Farooq, M., Somasundaram, R.,&Panneerselvam, R.(2009). Drought stress in plants: a review on morphological characteristics and pigments composition. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 11, 100–105.
- Jha, U.C., Chaturvedi, S.K., Bohra, A., Basu, P.S., Khan, M.S., & Barh, D. (2014). Abiotic stress, constraints, and improvement strategies in chickpea. *Plant Breeding*, 133(2), 163-178.
- Kanwal. V., Sirohi, S.,& Chand, P.(2020). Effect of drought on livestock enterprise: Evidence from Rajasthan. *Indian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 90 (1), 94–98.

- Kenchanagoudar, G., Nigam, S.N., & Chennabyregowda, M. V. (2002). Effect of drought on yield and yield attributes of groundnut. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 15(2), 364-366.
- Kishore, A., Joshi, P. K., & Pandey, D.(2014). Droughts, distress, and policies for drought proofing agriculture in Bihar, India. *IFPRI Discussion Paper*, 01398.
- Krishna, A., &Ramanjaneyulu, A.V. (2012). Impact of land configuration, life saving irrigation and intercropping on yield and economics of major rainfed crops in southern Telangana zone of Andhra Pradesh, India. International journal of Bio-resource and Stress Management, 3(3), 317-323.
- Kumar, A., Nayak, A.K., Pani, D.R., & Das, B. S.(2019). Application of phosphorus, iron, and silicon reduces yield loss in rice exposed to water deficit stress. *Soil Fertility* and Crop Nutrition, 111, 1-10.
- Kumar, M., Singh, K.P., Srinivas, K., & Reddy, K. S.(2014). In-situ water conservation in upland paddy field to improve productivity in north-west Himalayan region of India. *Paddy Water Environment*, 12, 181-191.
- Kumar, P., Joshi, P. K., & Agarwal, P.(2014). Projected effect of droughts on supply, demand, and prices of crops in India. *Economic and Political Weekly XLIX*, (52), 54-63.
- Kumar, R.R., Karajol, K., & Naik, G. R. (2011). Effect of polyethylene glycol induced water stress on physiological and biochemical responses in pigeonpea (*Cajanuscajan* L.*Millsp.*).*Recent Research in Science and Technology*, 3(1), 148-152.
- Kumar, S., Mishra, A. K., Pramanik, S., Mamidanna, S., & Whitbread, A.(2020). Climate risk, vulnerability and resilience: Supporting livelihood of smallholders in semiarid India. *Land Use Policy*, 97, 104729.
- Leng, G., & Hall, J. (2019). Crop yield sensitivity of global major agricultural countries to droughts and the projected changes in the future. *The Science of the total environment*, 654, 811–821.
- Lopez, F.B., Johansen, C., & Chauhan, Y. S.(1996). Effects of timing of drought stress on phenology, yield and yield components of short-duration pigeonpea. *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science*, 177, 311-320.
- Maurya, R.K., &Tripathi, H.(2013). Impact of drought on productive and reproductive performance of goats in Bundelkhand region of Uttar Pradesh. *The Indian Journal* of Small Ruminants, 19(1), 92-94.
- Meena, R., Tripathi, S., Chander, S., Chookar, R., Verma, M., & Sharma, R. (2015). Identifying drought tolerant wheat varieties using different indices. *SAARC Journal of Agriculture*, 13(1), 148-161.

- Meghwal, P.R., & Kumar, P.(2014). Effect of supplementary irrigation and mulching on vegetative growth, yield and quality of ber. *Indian Journal of Horticulture*, 71(4), 571-573.
- Misra, A. K.(2017). Livestock Management in drought. Drought Mitigation and Management (Eds. S Kumar, SPS Tanwar and A Singh). *Scientific Publishers*, *Jodhpur*, 209-217.
- Mishra, P. K., & Patil, S. L.(2008). In situ rainwater harvesting and related soil & water conservation technologies at the farm level. *Water Harvesting*, 12.
- Mishra, V., Solomon, S., & Ansari, M. I. (2016). Impact of drought on post-harvest quality of sugarcane crop. *Advances in life science*, 5(20), 9496-9505.
- MoEFCC, India.(2021). Third biennial update report to the United Nations framework convention on climate change. *Ministry of Environment, Forest and Climate Change, Government of India.*
- Motalebifard, R., Najafi, N., Oustan, S., Nyshabouri, M.R., &Valizadeh, M.(2013). The combined effect of phosphorus and zinc on evapotranspiration, leaf water potential, water use efficiency and tuber attributes of potato under water deficit conditions. *ScientiaHorticulturae*, 162, 31-38.
- Mukherjee, S., Mishra, A., & Trenberth, K. E. (2018). Climate change and drought: a perspective on drought indices. *Current Climate Change Reports*, 4(2), 145-163.
- Muruiki, R., Kimurto, P., Vandez, V., Gangarao, N.V.P.R., Silim, S., &Siambi, M.(2018). Effect of drought stress on yield performance of parental chickpea genotypes in semi-arid tropics. *Journal of Life Sciences*, 12(3), 159-168.
- Nahar, S., Sahoo, L., & Tanti, B.(2018). Screening of drought tolerant rice through morpho-physiological and biochemical approaches. *Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology*, 15(1), 150-159.
- Nam, N.H., Chauhan, Y.S., & Johansen, C.(2001). Effect of timing of drought stress on growth and grain yield of extra short duration pigeonpea lines. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, Cambridge 136, 179-189.
- Nandwal, A.S., Bharti, S., Sheoran, I.S., &Kuhad, H.S.(1991). Drought effects on carbon exchange and nitrogen fixation in pigeonpea(*CajanuscajanL.*).*Journal of Plant Physiology*, 138, 125-127.
- Nawaz, F., Ahmad, R., Waraich, E.A., Naseem, M.S.,&Shabbir, R. N.(2012). Nutrient uptake, physiological responses, and yield attributes of wheat (*Triticumaestivum* L.) exposed to early and late drought stress. Journal of Plant Nutrition, 35(6), 961-974.

- Nezami, A., Khazaei, A.R., Rezazadeh, B.,&Hosseini, A.(2008). Effects of drought stress and defoliation on sunflower (*Helianthus annus*) in controlled conditions. *Desert*, 12, 99-104.
- Ngangom, B., Das, A., Lal, R., &Idapuganti, R.G. (2020). Double mulching improves soil properties and productivity of maize- based cropping system in eastern Indian Himalayas. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 8(3), 308-320.
- Ojha, R., Kumar, D.N., Sharma, A., & Mehrotra, R. (2013). Assessing severe drought and wet events over india in a future climate using a nested bias-correction approach. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, 18, 760-772.
- Palta, J.A., Nandwal, A.S., Kumari, S., & Turner, N. C.(2005). Foliar nitrogen applications increase the seed yield and protein content in chickpea (*CicerarietinumL.*) subject to terminal drought. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 56(2), 105-112.
- Pandey, V., Misra, A. K., & Yadav, S. B. (2019). Impact of El-Nino and La-Nina on indianclimate and crop production. In *Climate Change and Agriculture in India: Impact and Adaptation* (pp. 11-20). Springer, Cham.
- Pandian, K., Subramaniayan, P., Gnasekaran, P., &Chitraputhirapillai, S.(2020). Effect of crop residue mulch and seed bed preparation methods on soil properties and rainfed groundnut production in Alfisols of semi-arid India. Soil Use and Management, 1-15.
- Panigrahi, P., Srivastava, A.K., &Huchche, A.D.(2009). Influence of in-situ soil and water conservation measures on performance of Nagpur mandarin. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering*, 46(3), 37-40.
- Parida, B.R., &Oinam, B.(2015). Geospatial perspective of drought in India and agriculture. 16thEsri India User Conference.
- Patel, S.K., Sharma, A., & Singh, G. S.(2020). Traditional agricultural practices in India: an approach for environmental sustainability and food security. *Energy, Ecology and Environment*.
- Patil, N. V.(2012). Drought: Impact on agriculture and livestock, major nutritional strategies to overcome ill effects in livestock. In Patil, N.V., Mathur, N.K., Patel, A.K., Patidar, M., Mathur, A.C. (Ed) Feeding and Management of Livestock during Drought and Scarcity, 59.
- Patil, N.V., Mathur, B.K., Patel, A.K., Patidar, M., &Mathur, A.C. (2006). Feeding of livestock during drought and scarcity (A short course from 01st to 10th Nov., 2006). Division of Animal Sciences, CAZRI, Jodhpur.
- Patil, S. L. (2007). Performance of sorghum varieties and hybrids during postrainy season under drought situations in

vertisols in Bellary, India. *Journal of SAT Agricultural Research*, 5(1).

- Patro, H.K., Sahoo, G., & Behera, B. (2018). Effect of potassium application regime on productivity and drought tolerance parameters of groundnut (*Arachis hypogeal* L.) in Odisha, India. *Electronic International Fertilizer Correspondent*, 53, 25-35.
- Pawar, M.W., & Bhutkar, A. S. (2011). Yield and yield attributes of sugarcane genotypes under moisture stress. *Bioinfolet*,8(3), 262-265.
- Praharaj, C.S., Singh, U., Singh, S.S., Singh, N.P., & Shivay, Y. S.(2016). Supplementary and life-saving irrigation for enhancing pulse production, productivity and water use efficiency in India. *Indian Journal of Agronomy* 61 (4th IAC Special issue) S249-S261.
- Premachandra, G.S., Saneoka, H., & Ogata, S.(2009). Cell membrane stability as indicator of drought tolerance, as affected by applied nitrogen in soybean. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 115(1), 63-66.
- Rajasivaranjan, T.(2015). Crop specific drought monitoring and yield loss assessment by integrating geospatial, climatic and crop modeling'.*M. Tech. Thesis. Andhra University, Vishakhapatnam.*
- Rao, K.V., Vijayakumar, S., & Srinivas, I. (2018). On farm study of in-situ soil water conservation practices for enhancing productivity of pigeonpea. *Indian Journal of Dryland Agriculture Research and Development*,33(2), 10-13.
- Rao, S.S., Regar, P.L., Singh, Y. V.(2010). *Insitu* rainwater conservation practices in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) under rainfed conditions in arid region. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation*, 38(2), 105-110.
- Reddy, T. Y. & Reddy, G.H. S.(2016). Principles of Agronomy, 4th Ed, Kalyani Publishers, New Delhi-110002, 372.
- Reddy, T.Y., Reddy, V.R., & Anbumozhi, V. (2003). Physiological responses of groundnut (*Arachis hypogea* L.) to drought stress and its amelioration: a critical review. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 41, 75-88.
- Regar, P.L., Rao, S.S., Joshi, N. L.(2010). In-situ rainwater conservation practices on productivity of Chickpea (*Cicerarietinum*) in the rainfed conditions of arid Rajasthan, India. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation*, 38(2), 111-115.
- Rejani, R., &Yadukumar, N.(2010). Soil and water conservation techniques in cashew grown along steep hill slopes. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 126, 371-378.
- Samra, J. S.(2004). Review and analysis of drought monitoring, declaration and management in India. Working

Paper 84. Colombo, Sri Lanka: International Water Management Institute.

- Sarma, P.K., Hazarika, M. Sarma, D., &Saikia, P. (2015). Effect of foliar application of potassium on yield, drought tolerance and rain water use efficiency of toria under rainfed upland situation of Assam. *Indian Journal of Dryland Agriculture Research and Development*, 30(1), 55-59.
- Santeshwari, Mishra, V.,& Mall, A. K.(2021). Sucrose and commercial cane sugar attributes of sugarcane genotypes under drought conditions. *Virtual National Conference on* "Strategic Reorientation for Climate Smart Agriculture" (V-AGMET 2021), March 17-19th, 2021, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, 94-98.
- Sedri, M.H., Amini, A., &Golchin, A.(2019). Evaluation of nitrogen effects on yield and drought tolerance of rainfed wheat using drought stress indices. *Journal of Crop Science and Biotechnology*,22, 235-242.
- Sehgal, A., Sita, K., Kumar, J., Kumar, S., Singh, S., Siddique, K.H.M., &Nayyar, H.(2017). Effect of drought, heat and their interaction on the growth, yield and photosynthetic function of lentil (*Lens culinaris Medikus*) genotypes varying in heat and drought sensitivity. *Frontiers in plant science*, 8, 1776.
- Sehgal, A., Site, K., Siddique, K.H.M., Kumar, R., Bhogireddy, S., Varshney, R.K., HanumanthaRao, B., Nair, R. M., Prasad, P.V.V.,&Nayyar, H.(2018). Drought or/and heat-stress effects on seed filling in food crops: impacts on functional biochemistry, seed yields, and nutritional quality. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 9, 1705.
- Sen, A., Singh, R. K., Yadav, D., &Kumari, P. (2019). Effect of Trichoderma and hydrogel on growth, yield and yield attributes of direct seeded rice (*Oryza sativa*) under rainfed conditions. *Indian Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 89(2).
- Sharma, B., Basumatary, N. R., Nahar, S.,& Tanti, B.(2016). Effect of drought stress on morpho-physiological traits of in some traditional rice cultivars of Kokrajhar district, Assam, India. *Annals of plant sciences*, 5(8), 1402-1408.
- Sheoran, S., Thakur, V., Narwal, S., Turan, R., Mamrutha, H.M., Singh V., Tiwari, V., & Sharma, I. (2015). Differential activity and expression profile of anti-oxidant enzymes and physiological changes in wheat (Triticumaestivum L.) under drought. *Applied Biochemistry* and Biotechology, 177(6), 1282-1298.
- Singh, A., Phadke, V. S., &Patwardhan, A. (2011). Impact of drought and flood on Indian food grain production, in challenges and opportunities in agrometeorology, *Springer Berlin Heidelberg*, 421–433.
- Singh, M., Chauhan, J.S., & Meena, S. S.(2009). Drought induced changes in water use efficiency and other morphophysiological characters in Indian mustard (*Brassica*)

juncea L.). 16thAustralian Research Assembly on Brassicas, Ballarat Victoria.

- Singh, M., & Joshi, N. L.(1994). Performance of pearl milletbased intercropping systems under drought conditions. *Arid Soil Research and Rehabilitation*, 8(3), 277-283.
- Sinha, R., Irulappan, V., Mohan-Raju, V., Suganthi, A., &Senthil-Kumar, M.(2019). Impact of drought stress on simultaneously occurring pathogen infection in field grown chickpea. *Scientific Reports*, 9, 5577.
- Sonawane, S. T., Patil, A.M., & Patil, N. K.(2016). Impact of drought on Indian agriculture and economy.*International Journal of Innovative Research in Science, Engineering* and Technology, 5(12), 21210-21213.
- Song, Y., Li, J., Liu, M., Meng, Z., Liu, K., & Sui, N.(2019). Nitrogen increases drought tolerance in maize seedling. *Functional Plant Biology*, 46(4), 350-359.
- Thakur, P.S., Thakur, A., & Kanaujia, S. P. (2000). Reversal of water stress effects. I. mulching impact on the performance of *Capsicum annum* under water deficit. *Indian Journal of Horticulture*, 57(3), 250-254.
- Toulmin, C. (1986). Drought and the farming sector: Loss of farm animals and post-drought rehabilitation. ALPAN *African Livestock Policy Analysis Network.Network Paper* No. 10.
- Tyagi, V., Nagargade, M., & Singh, R. K.(2020). Agronomic interventions for grought management in crops. In Rakshit, A., Singh, H.B., Singh, A.K., Singh, U.S., Fraceto, L. (Eds) New frontiers in stress management for durable agriculture. *Springer, Singapore*, 461-476.
- Udmale, P., Ichikawa, Y., Manandhar, S., Ishidaira, H., &Kiem, A.S. (2014). Farmers' perception of drought impacts, local adaptation and administrative mitigation measures in Maharashtra state, India.*International Journal* of Disaster Risk Reduction, 10 (A), 250-269.
- Udmale, P., Ichikawa, Y., Ning, S., Shrestha, S. & Pal, I.(2020). A statistical approach towards defining nationalscale meteorological droughts in India using crop data. *Environmental Research Letters*, 15, 094090.
- Umar, S. (2006). Alleviating adverse effects of water stress on yield of sorghum, mustard and groundnut by potassium application. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 38(5), 1373-1380.

- Umar, S., Anjum, N.A., Ahmad, P., & Iqbal, M. (2019). Drought-induced changes in growth, photosynthesis, and yield traits in mungbean: Role of potassium and sulfur nutrition. In Crop Production Technologies for Sustainable Use and Conservation, Apple Academic Press, 75-86.
- Vanaja, N., Maheshwari, M., & Sathish, P. (2015). Genotypic variability in physiological, biomass and yield response to drought stress in pigeonpea. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants*, 21(4), 541-549.
- Varikoden, H., Revadekar, J.V., Choudhary, Y., & Preethi, B. (2015). Droughts of Indian summer monsoon associated with El Niño and Non-El Niño years. *International Journal* of Climatology, 35, 1916–1925.
- Velu, G., Guzman, C., Mondal, S., Autrique, E., Huerta, G., & Singh, R.(2016). Effect of drought and elevated temperature on grain zinc and iron concentrations in CIMMYT spring wheat. *Journal of Cereal Science*, 69.
- Verma, H. N. (1981). Water harvesting for life saving irrigation of rainfed crops in the sub-mountain region of Punjab. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research*, 18, 64-72.
- WMO. (2020). Provisional report on state of global climate. *World Meteorological Organization*.
- Yamano, T., Dar, M.H., Panda, A., Gupta, I., Malabayabas, M.L., & Kelly, E.(2018). Impact and adoption of risk reducing drought tolerant rice in India. *3ie Impact Evaluation Report* 72. New Delhi, *International Initiative* for Impact Evaluation (3ie).
- Zhang, J., Zhang, S., Cheng, M., Jiang, H., Zhang, X., Peng, C., Lu, X., Zhang, M., & Jin, J.(2018). Effect of drought on agronomic traits of rice and wheat: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15, 839.
- Zhao, T., & Dai, A.(2015). The magnitude and causes of global drought changes in the twenty first century under a lowmoderate emission scenario. *Journal of Climate*, 28(11), 4490-4512
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



of water footprint based on estimated Assessment crop evapotranspiration for paddy, sugarcane and banana under semiarid climate

J. Ramachandran 🖂

Department of Agricultural Engineering, Agricultural College and Research Institute, TNAU, Madurai-, Tamil Nadu, India.

R. Lalitha

Department of Soil and Water Conservation Engineering, Agricultural Engineering College and Research Institute, TNAU, Kumulur, Trichy, Tamil Nadu, India.

S. Vallal Kannan

Department of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering, Agricultural Engineering College and Research Institute, TNAU, Kumulur, Trichy, Tamil Nadu, India.

K. Sivasubramanian

Office of Controller of Examination, TNAU, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 02 August 2021	Climate change impact has adverse effects on water use in crop production. A
Revised : 12 October 2021	better crop water use indicators to decide upon the water use policies of that
Accepted : 20 January 2022	region or country is necessary. Water footprint indicates relationship between
	water use and crop yield. Rice, sugarcane and banana are the major crops
Available online: 17 April 2022	which require a significant amount of water in Lalgudi block of Trichy district
	in Tamil Nadu. This study analyzed the total water requirement, blue and
Key Words:	green crop evapotranspiration, blue and green crop water use and blue, green
Banana	and total water footprint for paddy, sugarcane and banana in Lalgudi block.
Paddy	The crop water footprint estimated by using FAO56-K _c for paddy, sugarcane
Sugarcane	and banana was 2173 m ³ ton ⁻¹ , 304 m ³ /ton and 501 m ³ /ton respectively. And by
Water Footprint	using ClimAdj-Kc, the crop water footprint for paddy, sugarcane and banana
	was 2228 m ³ ton ⁻¹ , 307 m ³ /tonand 503 m ³ /tonrespectively. It was found that
	quantity of water used for producing per ton of yield was higher in paddy in
	comparison to banana and sugarcane.

Introduction

A great stress occurs on water resources because of goods and services consumed by the individual or increasing consumptive use and non-consumptive use of water and changing climatic conditions (Jose et al., 2010). The outcome in agricultural production is greatly affected by reduced supply of freshwater for irrigation in many river basins located in the semi-arid and arid regions. Burning problem of water scarcity is forcing the water managers to evolve a better crop water use indicators to decide upon the water use policies of that region or country. Water Footprint is a relatively new indicator that look in to the water use from production and consumption perspectives (Hoekstra and Hung, 2002). It is defined as the "total volume of freshwater used to produce the to the total rainwater evapotranspiration (from

community or produced by the business". Crop water footprint is used for quantifying the crop water requirement based on the source of water and also addresses the amount of water used for producing a unit quantity of crop yield. For agricultural products, the water footprint is commonly expressed in terms of volume of water used per quantity of crop produced (m³ ton⁻¹ or litres kg⁻¹). Hoekstra et al. (2011) defined green water footprint as "volume of rainwater consumed during the production process and is particularly relevant for agricultural and forestry products (products based on crops or wood), where it refers

fields and plantations) plus the water incorporated into the harvested crop or wood". Blue water footprint is defined as "volume of surface and groundwater consumed as a result of the production of a good or service. Consumption refers to the volume of freshwater used and then evaporated or incorporated into a product".

Maximizing the land productivity (ton ha⁻¹) is the primary objective in agriculture when land is scarce and freshwater is abundant. Maximizing water productivity is more important when water is scarcer than land. Hence, less irrigation water (blue water) is applied in a smarter way and higher yield per cubic meter of water evaporated is obtained (Hoekstra et al., 2011). Prasad et al. (2013) quantified the blue and green proportions of crop evapotranspiration of six important crops of Kothakunda sub watershed in Andra Pradesh. Kar et al. (2014) quantified field level water footprint of rice production in eastern India based on measured ETc. The measured values were compared with other three methods like Pan Evaporimeter, Bowen ratio and Penman Monteith methods. Mali et al. (2015) assessed blue and green components of evapotranspiration of 15 major crops grown in agricultural production units of Gomati basin. CROPWAT model was used for estimation of green and blue components of evapotranspiration. Veettil and Mishra (2016) indicated that due to changing pattern in climate variable and sectorial water demands, studies related to spatio-temporal variability of water footprints indicators is desirable for formulating water management practices. Zhao et al. (2016) investigated the scenario of blue and green water resources under various land use, irrigation and climate variability in spatial and temporal aspects.

In this paper, the total water requirement, blue and green crop evapotranspiration, blue and green crop water use and blue, green and total water footprint for paddy, sugarcane and banana was estimated in Lalgudi block Lalgudi block of Trichy district in Tamil Nadu.

Material and Methods Study Area

Lalgudi block, located at Tiruchirapalli District, Tamil Nadu, India was selected for this study (Figure 1). Lalgudi block is situated at 10°52'27" N and 78°48'57" E geo-coordinate and located 70 m above mean sea level. The total geographical area of the block is 20558 hectares. Lalgudi block has semi-arid climate with an average rainfall of 877 mm. Agriculture is the main occupation of Lalgudi block. Around 45 percent of area in Lalgudi block is used for agriculture. In Lalgudi block, 90 percent of the crop production is done by irrigation and the remaining 10 percent is under rainfed cropping. The major sources of irrigation are canals, bore wells, tanks and ponds. Paddy, sugarcane, banana and other vegetables are grown in the study area. In recent decades, water demand always exceeds rainfall and at the same time, exploitation of groundwater has increased greatly particularly for agriculture.



Figure 1: Location of study area – Lalgudi block (Trichy district)

Meteorological Data

The daily maximum and minimum air temperature and relative humidity for the period 1995-2017 was collected from the meteorological observatory located at Agricultural Engineering College and Research Institute, Kumulur, Lalgudi Block of Trichy district.

Estimation of Crop Water Requirement Using Cropwat

CROPWAT 8.0 was used to estimate the crop water requirement. Firstly, monthly reference evapotranspiration was estimated by FAO56 – Penman Monteith equation in CROPWAT from the meteorological data collected from the observatory.

The equation for estimating the daily grassreference evapotranspiration is given by

$$ET_{0} = \frac{0.408 * \Delta (R_{n} - G) + \gamma \frac{900}{[T + 273]} * u * (e_{a} - e_{d})}{\Delta + \gamma (1 + 0.34 * u)}$$
(1)

Where ET_0 reference evapotranspiration [mm day⁻¹], Δ is slope of vapour pressure curve [kPa °C⁻¹], γ is psychrometric constant [kPa °C⁻¹], R_n is net radiation at the crop surface [MJ m⁻² day⁻¹], T is mean daily air temperature [°C], G is soil heat flux density [MJ m⁻² day⁻¹], u is wind speed at 2 m height [m s⁻¹], e_s is saturation vapour pressure [kPa], e_a is actual vapour pressure [kPa], and e_s - e_a is saturation vapour pressure deficit [kPa].

The full dataset used in estimating reference evapotranspiration was collected from the meteorological observatory located at Agricultural Engineering College and Research Institute, Kumulur, Lalgudi Taluk, Trichy. The effective rainfall (P_{eff}) was calculated by using Soil Conservation Service method. The rainfall data was also collected from the meteorological observatory located at Agricultural Engineering College and Research Institute, Kumulur, Lalgudi Taluk, Trichy. The crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) under optimal conditions was estimated which is equal to crop water requirement (CWR). ET_c was estimated at a ten day time step throughout the total growing season.

The model calculates ET_c as follow as:

$$ET_c = ET_o * K_c \tag{2}$$

Here, ET_o represents the reference evapotranspiration and K_c refers to the crop coefficient. The crop coefficient is calculated by two methods as explained below.

Estimation of crop coefficients

Crop coefficients are used to estimate the crop water requirement. Generally, the value of crop coefficient is taken from the FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen *et al.*, 1998) for different crops at different stages and the crop water requirement is calculated. There are numerous other methods to estimate the site-

specific crop coefficients. The following two methods were used in determination of K_c for paddy, sugarcane and banana.

FAO56 Tabulated K_c

In this method, the value of Kc was taken from the tabulated Kc values (hereafter referred as FAO56-Kc) given in the FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen *et al.*, 1998) for different crops at different stages, mean maximum plant height, non-stressed, well-managed crops in sub-humid climates.

Adjusted Kc for Local Climatic Conditions

The adjusted Kc values with respect to the local climatic effect (hereafter referred as ClimAdj-Kc) were estimated for mid and end stage for paddy, sugarcane and banana by using the following equations as given in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen *et al.*, 1998). For mid-season growth stage, Kc is given by:

$$K_{c_{nid}} = K_{c_{nid}(Tdb)} + \left[0.04(u-2) - 0.004(RH_{nin}-45)\right] \left(\frac{h}{3}\right)^{0.3}$$
(3)

Where Kc_mid(Tab) is crop coefficient value tabulated in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen *et al.*, 1998) for midseason growth stage; u is as indicated in equation 1, RHmin is average daily minimum relative humidity and h is the mean plant height during the midseason stage. Similarly, for end-season growth stage, the adjusted Kc value is obtained by using the following equation:

$$K_{c_{out}} = K_{c_{out}(Tab)} + \left[0.04(u-2) - 0.004(RH_{min} - 45)\right] \left(\frac{h}{3}\right)^{0.3}$$
(4)

Where Kc_end(Tab) is crop coefficient value tabulated in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen *et al.*, 1998) for end season growth stage and u, RHmin and h are as indicated in equation 3. Allen et al. (1998) suggested that in planning studies, the typical value for initial crop coefficient (Kc_ini) given in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines can be used in estimation of crop evapotranspiration. Hence for initial stage alone the crop coefficients given in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines was used. Estimation of blue and green water evapotranspiration

Green water evapotranspiration (ET_{green}) was calculated as the minimum of total crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) and effective rainfall (P_{eff}) at ten day time step.

$$ET_{green} = \min\left(ET_c, P_{eff}\right)$$
⁽⁵⁾

The blue water evapotranspiration (ET_{blue}) was calculated as the difference between the total crop evapotranspiration (ET_c) and the total effective rainfall (P_{eff}) and if the effective rainfall is greater than total crop evapotranspiration ET_{blue} is equal to zero..

$$ET_{blue} = \max\left(0, ET_c - P_{eff}\right) \tag{6}$$

Adding ET_{blue} over the whole growing period, total ET_{blue} is obtained. Also, percolation loss of 5 mm day⁻¹ was included with total crop evapotranspiration for paddy (except during the end stage). For banana and sugarcane, other water losses of 1 mm day⁻¹ was included with total crop evapotranspiration.

Estimation of crop water footprint

First, the estimated crop evapotranspiration in mm is converted to $m^3 ha^{-1}$ by applying a factor 10 which is called as crop water use.

$$CWU_{green} = 10 * ET_{green} \tag{7}$$

$$CWU_{blue} = 10 * ET_{blue} \tag{8}$$

The green component of water footprint $(WF_{proc,green}, m^3 ton^{-1})$ was calculated as the green component in crop water use $(CWU_{green}, m^3 ha^{-1})$ divided by the crop yield Y (ton ha⁻¹). The blue component of water footprint $(WF_{proc,blue}, m^3 ton^{-1})$ was calculated from blue component in crop water use $(CWU_{green}, m^3 ha^{-1})$ in the similar way. The equations used are listed below:

$$WF_{proc,green} = \frac{CWU_{green}}{Y}$$
 (9)

$$WF_{proc,blue} = \frac{CWU_{blue}}{Y}$$
(10)

Thus the methodology adopted to achieve the framed objectives is clearly presented in the above section.

Results and Discussion FAO56 tabulated Kc

The FAO56-Kc for paddy, sugarcane and banana at different stages are presented in Table 2. The number of days in Initial (Ini), Development (Dev), Middle (Mid) and End stages during the crop period was taken from FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen *et al.*, 1998) and shown in Table 1. The K_c coefficient incorporates crop characteristics and averaged effects of evaporation from the soil.

Adjusted K_c for local climatic conditions

The ClimAdj-K_c values with respect to the local climatic effect estimated for mid and end stage for paddy, sugarcane and banana by using the FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines is presented in the following table 2. (Allen et al., (1998)) suggested that in planning studies, the typical value for initial crop coefficient (Kc ini) given in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines can be used in estimation of crop evapotranspiration. Hence, for initial stage alone the crop coefficients given in given in FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines was used and presented in table 2. The ClimAdj-K_c values of sugarcane obtained in this study is comparable to the values determined by Dingre and Gorantiwar (2020) during grand growth and maturity stages of sugarcane (1.20 and 0.78, respectively). Dingre and Gorantiwar (2020) also determined the K_c value for sugarcane in a semiarid region of India.

Crop water footprint

The crop water requirement was estimated in CROPWAT 8.0, by using the K_c values obtained by the two methods as discussed in the previous section. The total water requirement, blue and green

crop evapotranspiration, blue and green crop water compared to banana and sugarcane, the total water use and blue, green and total water footprint for paddy, sugarcane and banana is presented in Table 3-5 respectively. The total water requirement estimated by ClimAdj-Kc was higher for paddy, sugarcane and banana compared to FAO56-Kc. Since ClimAdj-Kc considers the local climatic and agronomic conditions of crops, the total water requirement estimated with ClimAdj-Kc values is high.

Water footprint for paddy

The water footprint in paddy by using FAO56-Kc and ClimAdj-Kc was 2173 and 2228 m³ ton⁻¹ respectively. The water footprint for paddy is high compared to banana and sugarcane. But when

requirement for paddy is low. Kar et al. (2014) also reported that the water footprint for two varieties of paddy (varieties: 'Lalat' and 'Gayatri') was 2470 and 2704 m³ ton⁻¹ respectively in Puri, Odisha. In paddy only 12 % of total water requirement is satisfied by green water (effective rainfall) whereas remaining amount of water in satisfied by blue water resources like groundwater, canals, wells and lake. The following strategies may be adopted to reduce the water footprint without affecting the yield and income of the farmers. The practice of deficit irrigation strategy instead of full irrigation helps in reducing water consumption while having

Table 1:	: Tabulated	Kc values a	and crop	parameters
----------	-------------	-------------	----------	------------

Cuan	Stages (Days)				K _c		
Сгор	Ini	Dev	Mid	End	Ini	Mid	End
Paddy	30	30	60	30	1.05	1.2	0.85
Sugarcane	40	70	170	30	0.45	1.25	0.75
Banana	120	90	120	60	0.50	1.10	1.00
Source: FAO56 Crop Evapotranspiration guidelines (Allen et al., 1998)							

Table 2: ClimAdj-Kc value for different crops in Lalgudi Block

SN	Сгор	Ini	Mid	End
1	Paddy	1.15	1.23	0.90
2	Banana	0.50	1.11	1.00
3	Sugarcane	0.45	1.26	0.80

Table 3: Crop water footprint for paddy crop

Approach	Total Water Requirement (mm)	ET _{Green} (mm)	ET _{Blue} (mm)	CWU _{Green} (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	CWU _{Blue} (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	WF _{Green} (m ³ ton ⁻¹)	WF _{Blue} (m ³ ton ⁻	Total Water Footprint (m ³ ton ⁻¹)
FAO56 Kc	1304	165	1139	1651	11389	275	1898	2173
Adjusted Kc	1337	165	1172	1651	11718	275	1953	2228

Table 4: Crop water footprint for sugarcane crop

Approach	Total Water Requirement	ET _{Green} (mm)	ET _{Blue} (mm)	CWU _{Green} (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	$\begin{array}{c} CWU_{Blue} \\ (m^3 ha^{-1}) \end{array}$	WF _{Green} (m ³ ton ⁻¹)	$ \begin{array}{c} WF_{Blue} \\ (m^3 \text{ ton}^{-1}) \end{array} $	Total Water
	(mm)							Footprint (m ³ ton ⁻¹)
FAO56 Kc	1825	605	1220	6050	12199	101	203	304
Adjusted Kc	1839	605	1234	6050	12337	101	206	307

Table 5: Crop water footprint for banana crop

Approach	Total Water Requirement	ET _{Green} (mm)	ET _{Blue} (mm)	CWU _{Green} (m ³ ha ⁻¹)	$\begin{array}{c} CWU_{Blue} \\ (m^3 ha^{-1}) \end{array}$	WF _{Green} (m ³ ton ⁻¹)	WF _{Blue} (m ³ ton ⁻¹)	Total Water
	(mm)							Footprint (m ³ ton ⁻¹)
FAO56 Kc	2105	698	1408	6977	14077	166	335	501
Adjusted Kc	2116	698	1417	6977	14175	166	337	503

negligible effects on yield. The irrigation interval recommended in this study may be prolonged one day so that total water footprint of crops will be reduced. Alternate wetting and drying in paddy cultivation may be practiced to save water which additionally reduces greenhouse gas emissions by maintaining yields. Kar et al. (2014) suggested that management and better rainwater efficient application methods will reduce the blue water foot print. Higher percolation need in the first phase of the land preparation can be reduced by water saving seeding/planting methods of rice like direct dry seeding, System of Rice Intensification (SRI).

Water footprint for sugarcane

The water footprint in sugarcane by using FAO56-Kc and ClimAdj-Kc was 304 and 307 m³ ton⁻¹ respectively. In sugarcane, around 33% of total water requirement was satisfied by green component and the remaining was given through irrigation in Lalgudi block. The results are on par with that of total water requirement of sugarcane obtained by Dingre and Gorantiwar (2020). Dingre and Gorantiwar (2020) reported that, for sugarcane irrigation water requirement and effective rainfall was 991 mm year⁻¹ and 424 mm year⁻¹ respectively in semiarid India. When drip or subsurface drip irrigation for sugarcane is recommended, it will reduce the water footprint, but at a significant cost.

Water footprint for banana

The estimated total water requirement for banana by using FAO56-K_c and ClimAdj-K_c was 2105 and 2116 mm respectively. While compared to paddy and sugarcane, the total water requirement for banana is high. The water footprint in banana by using FAO56-K_c and ClimAdj-K_c was 501 and 503 m³ ton⁻¹ respectively. While comparing banana and sugarcane, the water footprint of banana was higher. Around 33% of total water requirement was satisfied by green component and the remaining was given through irrigation in Lalgudi block. For

References

Allen, R. G., Pereira, L. S., Raes, D., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapo-transpiration: Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. Rome: Food and Agricultrual Organization. banana crop, the use of organic mulching can significantly reduce the water footprint at a

relatively low cost. Paul *et al.* (2008) also reported that use of drip, either alone or in combination with mulching, can increase the banana yield up to 33% over basin irrigation along with a saving of 20% of irrigation water. Besides high yielding banana varieties like Poovan, Rasthali and Elarasi which starts yielding at seven months may be cultivated.

Conclusion

The total, water requirement, blue and green crop evapotranspiration, blue and green crop water use and blue, green and total water footprint for paddy, sugarcane and banana were estimated. The crop water requirement was estimated using CROPWAT 8.0. The crop water footprint of paddy was higher compared to sugarcane and banana. It means that quantity of water used of producing per ton of yield was higher in paddy compared to banana and sugarcane since paddy is water loving crop. In paddy, only 12 % of total water requirement is satisfied by green water (effective rainfall) whereas remaining amount of water in satisfied by blue water resources like groundwater, canals, wells and lake. Similarly for sugarcane and banana, around 33% of total water requirement was satisfied by green component and the remaining was given through irrigation. The water footprint of paddy was 86 percent higher than sugarcane and 76 percent higher than banana water footprint. Hence water footprint is necessarily to be reduced to alleviate overexploitation of groundwater and increase national food security. The results will be useful for water management and effective operation of water supply system. It can be applied in establishing long-term policies for agricultural water resources.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Dingre, S. K., & Gorantiwar, S. D. (2020). Determination of the water requirement and crop coefficient values of sugarcane by field water balance method in semiarid region. *Agricultural Water Management*. 232(C).

- Hoekstra, A. Y., Chapagain, A. K., Mekonnen, M. M., & Aldaya, M. M. (2011). *The water footprint assessment manual: Setting the global standard*. Routledge.
- Hung, A. H. P. (2002). Virtual water trade a quantification of virtual water flows between nations in relation to international crop trade.
- Jose, A., Elena, C., & Javier, T. (2010). Water Quality and non-point pollution *Re-thinking Water and Food Security*: CRC Press. 251-256.
- Kar, G., Kumar, A., Sahoo, N., & Singh, R. (2014). Farm level water footprints of rice production based on measured and estimated crop evapo-transpiration. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 16(2): 157-163.
- Mali, S. S., Singh, D. K., Sarangi, A., Khanna, M., Parihar, S. S., & Das, D. K. (2015). Variability mapping of crop evapotranspiration for water footprint assessment at basin level.

- Paul, J. C., Mishra, J. N., & Pradhan, P. L. (2008). Response of banana to drip irrigation and mulching in coastal Orissa. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering*, 45(4), 44-49.
- Prasad, A.B.K.V., Mani, A., Devi, M.U., & Reddy, M.D. (2013). Blue and Green Water Quantification for sustainable water resources management in Kothakunta Sub-watershed, Andra Pradesh. *Indian Journal of Soil Conservation*, 41(3): 241-247.
- Veettil, A. V., & Mishra, A. K. (2016). Water security assessment using blue and green water footprint concepts. *Journal of Hydrology*, 542, 589-602.
- Zhao, A., Zhu, X., Liu, X., Pan, Y., & Zuo, D. (2016). Impacts of land use change and climate variability on green and blue water resources in the Weihe River Basin of northwest China. *Catena*, 137, 318-327.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Regulation of soil organic carbon stock with physical properties in alluvial soils of Bihar

Vandana Kumari

Department of Soil Science, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

Ranian Laik

Department of Soil Science, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

Shishpal Poonia

CIMMYT-India, Sabajpura, Khagaul, Patna-801105, Bihar, India.

Debabrata Nath 🖂

Department of Soil Science, Dr. Rajendra Prasad Central Agricultural University, Pusa, Samastipur, Bihar, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 16 July 2021	Soil temperature and water content govern the breakdown of soil organic
Revised : 24 October 2021	matter (SOM), which has a large impact on SOC storage. Apparently soil
Accepted : 27 January 2022	organic carbon is an excellent indicator of soil health. In this experiment, the
	association between several soil health indices such as soil organic carbon
Available online: 17 April 2022	(SOC), soil texture, and wet aggregate stability was investigated (WAS). It was
	discovered that there is a substantial positive relationship between wet
Key Words:	aggregate stability and soil organic carbon storage. Soil carbon store in East
Correlation	Champaran soils ranged from 5.27 to 19.60 mg/ha, with an average of 12.98
Soil organic matter (SOM)	mg/ha. The wet aggregate stability ranged from 3.82 to 36.43 %, with a mean of
Soil organic carbon (SOC)	16.11 %. Wet aggregate stability was shown to increase as the organic carbon
Wet aggregate stability (WAS)	storage in the soil increased. This experiment also indicated that clay (%) and
Clay	silt (%) had a direct impact on wet aggregate stability and, as a result, soil
Sand	organic carbon storage. As a result, wet aggregate stability and soil texture have
Silt	a direct and favourable influence on soil organic carbon storage in East
	Champaran, Bihar soils.

Introduction

In the worldwide terrestrial carbon cycle, soil and variability of SOC mineralization processes is organic carbon (SOC) is the single greatest carbon store (Abdalla et al., 2018). It has a carbon content of around 1500 Pg, which is higher than the carbon content of plants and atmospheric reservoirs on average (Zhang et al., 2018). Due to its high percentage. even modest changes in its concentration can result in significant increases in CO2 emissions, resulting in global warming (Zhao et al., 2006, 2018). Mineralization of SOC is a critical phase in the release of fertiliser, soil nutrients, quality improvement, greenhouse gas emissions, and, ultimately, food production (Cai et al., 2016; Mustafa et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2008; Soderstrom et al., 2014). To better soil fertility management, climate change mitigation, and food safety, a complete examination of all the features

necessary (Mustafa et al., 2020). Aggregate stability is a soil quality indicator that is linked to the quantity of organic matter in the soil. Soil organic matter makes soil surface aggregates more stable, allowing them to withstand moisture and mechanical forces from tillage equipment and vehicle activity (Hernanz et al., 2002, Tisdall and Oades, 1982; Oades, 1984). A substantial link between SOC and macro and micro aggregate structural stability (250 mm) has been discovered in several research on diverse soils and climatic situations (Hernanz et al., 2002; Cannell and Hawes, 1994). Complete SOC is widely recognised as a dynamic process with several components, and increasing the amount of carbon sequestered in these components is critical for reducing carbon
conversion to greenhouse gases and avoiding climate change. (Mustafa et al., 2020; Mikha & Rice, 2004) The breakdown of organic matter in soil is one of the most significant processes that contribute to the long-term sustainability of SOC and carbon sequestration in soil aggregation (Mustafa et al., 2020, Lal, 2004; Six et al., 2004; Abrar et al., 2020). By physically protecting SOC from mineralization, soil aggregates serve a crucial role in soil fertility maintenance and structure. It is also recognised as a crucial indicator of the formation, deterioration, and stability of soil structures (Mustafa et al., 2020, Six et al., 2004; Abiven et al., 2009). In recent decades, the amount of inorganic and organic fertilisers used in agricultural operations has increased, raising the danger of soil depletion, which is connected to unsustainable resource use practises (Mustafa et al., 2020, Bronick and Lal, 2005; Guo et al., 2019). As a result, it is strongly advised to adopt optimal fertilisation strategies to improve soil quality, soil C sequestration, and agronomic efficiency (Mustafa et al., 2020, Guo et al., 2018; Tanveer et al., 2019). The primary goal of this study was to determine if aggregate stabilisation, in association with soil texture, plays a major influence in SOC storage management.

Material and Methods

Description of the site, the experimental setup, and soil sampling:

Muzaffarpur is geographically located in Bihar between $26^{\circ}07'N$ and $85^{\circ}24'E$ with sub-tropical climate. East Champaran is geographically located in Bihar between $26^{\circ}38'N$ and $84^{\circ}54'E$ at an elevation of 62 m above sea level (a.s.l.). The area is characterized by a Hot Subhumid (moist) climate, with hot, humid summers and mild winters. The yearly average rainfall is 1202 mm. The major soil types are Udifluvents, Haplaquents, Paleustalfs alluvial with silty to sandy loam texture, and calcareous nodules (kankar).

Soil samples were collected at 0-15 cm soil depth, air-dried for 6 days, passed through a 2 mm sieve and kept for analysis of wet aggregate stability (WAS), soil texture, and SOC.

Assessment of soil texture:

14g (+/- 0.1g) of sieved soil was added to a 50 ml centrifuge tube holding 42 ml of a dispersant 3%

sodium hexametaphosphate solution. To completely disperse soil into suspension, it was continuously agitated for 2 hours on a shaker. The whole contents were sieved onto a 0.053 mm sieve assembly over a plastic funnel above a 1L beaker. The sand that has accumulated on top of the sieve is collected in a metal container and put aside.

Silt and clay particles were collected in a 1L beaker and stirred to re-suspension before being allowed to settle for 2 hours. Before measuring dry weight, both the sand and silt fraction cans were dried at 105°C to a consistent weight. Percent sand, silt,and clay were then calculated as follows:

Sand % = (mass of oven dry sand/ mass of original sample) x 100%

Silt % = (mass of oven dry silt / mass of original sample) x 100%

Clay % = 100 - (Sand % + Silt %)

Assessment of wet stable aggregate:

4g of air-dried, 2-mm aggregate soil sample was included in each 0.25-mm sieve. Initially, the precise weight of each sample was recorded. Each soil sample was reproduced in replication, resulting in a total of four samples per eight-sieve batch. In an Eijkelkamp machine, soil samples were dispersed for 3 minutes with 100mL distilled water and then for 10 minutes with a 2g/L sodium hexametaphosphate solution. Both solutions were filtered using pre-weighed filter sheets. After being oven-dried at 105°C, each filter paper was weighed. % stable aggregate was calculated using the following equation:

% stable aggregates= Weight of soil in dispersing solution + weight of soil in water

Assessment of soil organic carbon, soil organic matter, and soil organic carbon stock:

The amount of soil organic carbon (SOC) was calculated using the Walkley and Black technique (1934). The calculated SOC was then multiplied with Von Bemlen factor (1.724) to determine soil organic matter (SOM). SOC stock was calculated by multiplying area (m^2), bulk density (Mg m⁻³), soil depth (m), and SOC (percent).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was done using SPSS software version 16.0.

Results and Discussion

Variation of soil organic carbon (SOC) and soil organic matter (SOM) in Alluvial soils of Bihar

The soil system regulates plant growth in the terrestrial ecosystem (Nath *et al.*, 2021). SOM and SOC play a vital role in good plant growth and soil health. SOM is one of the sources and sink of SOC. SOC in these studied soil samples of Muzaffarpur varied between 0.32 - 0.73 % and in case of East Champaran varied between 0.24-0.99 % with a mean of 0.66 %. SOM ranged from 0.46 to 1.71 % with a mean of 1.13 % (Figure 1).The data of SOC and SOM revealed that increase in SOC improves SOM content. Both SOM and SOC were positively correlated. One of the most important elements affecting soil stability is organic matter (Hernanz *et al.*, 2002; Follett and Peterson, 1988; Ekwue, 1990).The surface layer of soil was found to be

stable with greater SOC content (Hernanz *et al.,* 2002, Kay *et al.,* 1994).

Wet aggregate stability and soil organic carbon stock

Soil carbon stock in soils of Muzaffarpur varied between 6.43 to 14.63 Mg ha⁻¹ and East Champaran varied between 5.27-19.60 Mg ha⁻¹ with an average of 12.98 Mg ha⁻¹ respectively. Wet aggregate stability of Muzaffarpur varied between 5.17 to 40.17 % and in case of East Champaran varied between 3.82-36.43 % with a mean of 16.11 % (Figure 2). WAS increase with increase in SOC store. Aggregate protects SOM by physical disconnection (Chaplot *et al.*, 2015; Schmidt *et al.*, 2011). This experiment revealed that soils with the highest aggregate stability are characterzied by more SOC stock.



Figure 1: Level of soil organic matter (SOM) and soil organic carbon (SOC) in Alluvial soils of Bihar.



Figure 2: Relationship between wet aggregate stability (%) and SOC stock in alluvial soils of Bihar.

A possible explanation of this result could be attributed to soil organic matter content and quality.Binding agents, which are typically polysaccharides derived from exocellular mucilages and root exudates, situated between aggregates may create an active pool (Chaplot et al., 2015;Von Lützow et al., 2008), resulting in significant SOC storage.In high aggregate stability soils, fresh plant residues, as well as various faunal and microbial residues, which constitute alternate pools of easily accessible SOM to decomposers (Chaplot et al., 2015; Von Lützow et al., 2008), are more likely to be found than in low aggregate stability soils.Plant organic residue, as well as microbial and microfaunal waste, including fungal hyphae in various stages of decomposition, make up the light fractions (Chan and Heenan, 1999; Jansen et al., 1992). According to the soil aggregation hierarchal model, there are efficient stabilizing agents for soil macroaggregates (Tisdall and Oades, 1982).The increased microbial activity led these light fraction materials to disintegrate preferentially and they are primarily associated with macro-aggregates which

played a major role in aggregate stability (Chan and Heenan, 1999).

Descriptive statistics of sand, silt, and clay content in Alluvial soils of Bihar

The textural class of studied soil samples was silt loam. The sand % varied between 6.16-41.58 % with a mean of 19.60 and while the clay % ranged from 52.46 to 83.11% with a mean of 71.49 (Table 1). The maximum and minimum data of clav were 3.22 and 17.94 respectively with a mean of 8.95. The positive skewness data of sand (0.67) and clay (0.48) revealed that the right side of the distribution has a longer or flatter tail, and also data are fairly symmetrical. The negative skewness data of silt (-0.60) suggests that the left side distribution is longer or flatter than the tail on the right side. Besides the negative skewness (-0.60) revealed that the data are highly skewed (Table 1). The negative kurtosis of sand (-0.82), silt (-0.91), and clay (-0.60) revealed that the distribution curve had flattened top than the normal curve and platykurtic distribution is found.

Descriptive parameters	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
Mean	19.60 (+2.04)	70.69 (+1.81)	9.71 (+0.91)
Median	16.60	74.59	9.11
Std. Deviation	11.89	10.11	4.28
Variance	141.29	102.13	18.34
Skewness	0.67 (+0.41)	-0.60 (+0.41)	0.48 (+0.41)
Kurtosis	-0.82 (+0.85)	-0.91 (+0.85)	-0.60 (+0.81)
Range	35.46	30.65	14.72
Minimum	6.14	52.46	3.22
Maximum	41.60	83.11	17.94

Table 1: Descriptive statistics of sand, silt and clay content in soil samples of alluvial soils of Bihar.

Correlation among SOC (%), SOM (%), SOC stock, WAS, Sand (%), Silt (%), and Clay (%) in in Alluvial soils of Bihar

The correlation coefficient among SOC (%), SOM (%), SOC Stock, WAS, Sand (%), Silt (%), and Clay (%) was highly significant (Table 2). It was also observed that soil organic carbon (SOC) was positively significant correlated (0.696**) with wet aggregate stability (WAS) and negatively significant correlated (-0.682**) with sand percentage at 0.01 level of significance. Similarly, SOCstock was

significantly correlated with water aggregate stability (WAS), silt and clay percent. However, negative correlation observed between SOC and sand (%). Sand has a negligible contribution towards the SOCstock build-up in the soil. Table 2 displays that water aggregate stability (WAS) has a negative correlation with sand (%) and a positive correlation with both silt (%) and clay (%). Silt (Thomasson, 1978), sand (Williams, 1970), and clay fractions (Kemper & Koch, 1966) have been identified ashaving a significant impact on the stability of soil aggregates.

	SOM (%)	SOC (%)	SOCstock (Mg/ha)	WAS (%)	Sand (%)	Silt (%)	Clay (%)
SOM (%)	1						
SOC (%)	0.806**	1					
SOCstock	0.806**	1.000**	1				
(Mg/ha)							
WAS (%)	0.397**	0.696**	0.695**	1			
Sand (%)	-0.493**	-0.682**	-0.683**	-0.480**	1		
Silt (%)	0.438**	0.655**	0.658**	0.462**	-0.937**	1	
Clay (%)	0.336**	0.348**	0.343**	0.243**	-0.565**	0.241	1

Table 2: Correlation between SOM (%), SOC (%), Soil Organic Carbon stock, WAS, Sand (%), Silt (%) and Clay (%) of alluvial soils of Bihar

******Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level.

Conclusion

The link between wet aggregate stability, soil texture, and soil organic carbon was studied in this study (SOC). The preceding experiment indicated a considerable positive association between soil aggregate stability (WAS) and SOCstock. Clay (%), silt (%), and soil organic matter (SOCstock) properly proxied wet aggregate stability (WAS) and SOCstock (SOM). SOCstock was much higher in soils with the highest stable aggregate stability than in soils with the lowest stable aggregate stability. The main influential factors on clay (%), silt (%), soil organic matter (SOM), and mineralization of organic carbon (aggregate associated) in the soil studied were SOC stocks and aggregate stability, according to correlation analysis. Future study should focus on the primary

References

- Abdalla, M., Hastings, A., Chadwick, D. R., Jones, D. L., Evans, C. D., Jones, M. B., & Smith, P. (2018). Critical review of the impacts of grazing intensity on soil organic carbon storage and other soil quality indicators in extensively managed grasslands. *Agriculture, Ecosystems* & Environment, 253, 62-81.
- Abiven, S., Menasseri, S., & Chenu, C. (2009). The effects of organic inputs over time on soil aggregate stability–A literature analysis. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 41(1), 1-12.
- Abrar, M. M., Xu, M., Shah, S. A. A., Aslam, M. W., Aziz, T., Mustafa, A., ... & Ma, X. (2020). Variations in the profile distribution and protection mechanisms of organic carbon under long-term fertilization in a Chinese Mollisol. *Science* of the Total Environment, 723, 138181.
- Bronick, C.J., & Lal, R. (2005). Soil structure and management: a review. *Geoderma*. 124, 3–22.
- Cai, A., Xu, H., Shao, X., Zhu, P., Zhang, W., Xu, M., & Murphy, D. V. (2016). Carbon and nitrogen mineralization

reasons of SOC sequestration in component C fractions, as well as potential protective factors.

Acknowledgement

The authors are highly thankful to Cornell University, CIMMYT, and EDF collaboration with DRPCAU, Pusa, Samastipur for providing funds for the research. Also, thanks to all the reviewers for their valuable feedbacks.The corresponding author would like to thank all those who directly or indirectly influence to work in the field of soil science.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

in relation to soil particle-size fractions after 32 years of chemical and manure application in a continuous maize cropping system. *PloS one*, *11*(3), e0152521.

- Cannell, R. Q., & Hawes, J. D. (1994). Trends in tillage practices in relation to sustainable crop production with special reference to temperate climates. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 30(2-4), 245-282.
- Chan, K. Y., & Heenan, D. P. (1999). Lime-induced loss of soil organic carbon and effect on aggregate stability. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 63(6), 1841-1844.
- Chaplot, V., & Cooper, M. (2015). Soil aggregate stability to predict organic carbon outputs from soils. *Geoderma*, 243, 205-213.
- Ekwue, E. I. (1990). Organic-matter effects on soil strength properties. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *16*(3), 289-297.
- Follett, R. F., & Peterson, G. A. (1988). Surface soil nutrient distribution as affected by wheat-fallow tillagesystems. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 52(1), 141-147.

- Guo, Z., Wang, X., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., & Li, Y. (2019). Effects of Long-Term Fertilization on Organic Carbon Mineralization of Different Grain Size Components in Paddy Soils from Yellow Earth. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 22(3), 537-544.
- Guo, Z. C., Zhang, Z. B., Zhou, H., Rahman, M. T., Wang, D. Z., Guo, X. S., ... & Peng, X. H. (2018). Long-term animal manure application promoted biological binding agents but not soil aggregation in a Vertisol. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 180, 232-237.
- Hernanz, J. L., López, R., Navarrete, L., & Sanchez-Giron, V. (2002). Long-term effects of tillage systems and rotations on soil structural stability and organic carbon stratification in semiarid central Spain. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 66(2), 129-141.
- Janzen, H. H., Campbell, C. A., Brandt, S. A., Lafond, G. P., & Townley-Smith, L. (1992). Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 56(6), 1799-1806.
- Kay, B. D., Dexter, A. R., Rasiah, V., & Grant, C. D. (1994). Weather, cropping practices and sampling depth effects on tensile strength and aggregate stability. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 32(2-3), 135-148.
- Kemperw, D. & Koch, E.J. (1966). Aggregate stability of soilsfrom Western United States Canada. U.S.D.A. Technical Bulletin. No. 1355
- Lal, R. (2004). Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security. *science*, 304(5677), 1623-1627.
- Mikha, M.M., & Rice, C.W. (2004). Tillage and manure effects on soil and aggregate- associated carbon and nitrogen. *Soil Science Societyof America Journal.* 68, 809– 816.
- Mustafa, A., Minggang, X., Shah, S. A. A., Abrar, M. M., Nan, S., Baoren, W., & Núñez-Delgado, A. (2020). Soil aggregation and soil aggregate stability regulate organic carbon and nitrogen storage in a red soil of southern China. Journal of Environmental Management, 270, 110894.
- Nath, D., Laik, R., Meena, V. S., Pramanick, B., & Singh, S. K. (2021). Can mid-infrared (mid-IR) spectroscopy evaluate soil conditions by predicting soil biological properties?. *Soil security*, *4*, 100008.
- Oades, J. M. (1984). Soil organic matter and structural stability: mechanisms and implications for management. *Plant and soil*, 76(1), 319-337.
- Schmidt, M. W., Torn, M. S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I. A., ... & Trumbore, S. E. (2011). Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. *Nature*, 478(7367), 49-56.

- Six, J., Callewaert, P., Lenders, S., De Gryze, S., Morris, S. J., Gregorich, E. G., & Paustian, K. (2002). Measuring and understanding carbon storage in afforested soils by physical fractionation. *Soil science society of America journal*, 66(6), 1981-1987.
- Söderström, B., Hedlund, K., Jackson, L. E., Kätterer, T., Lugato, E., Thomsen, I. K., & Bracht Jørgensen, H. (2014).
 What are the effects of agricultural management on soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks?. *Environmental Evidence*, 3(1), 1-8.
- Tanveer, S. K., Lu, X., Hussain, I., & Sohail, M. (2019). Soil carbon sequestration through agronomic management practices. In CO2 Sequestration. IntechOpen.
- Thomasson, A. J. (1978). Towards an objective classification of soil structure. *Journal of Soil Science*, 29(1), 38-46.
- Tisdall, J.M., & Oades, J.M. (1982). Organic matter and waterstableaggregates in soil. *Journal of SoilScience*. 33, 141– 164.
- Von Lützow, M., Kögel-Knabner, I., Ludwig, B., Matzner, E., Flessa, H., Ekschmitt, K., ... & Kalbitz, K. (2008). Stabilization mechanisms of organic matter in four temperate soils: Development and application of a conceptual model. *Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science*, 171(1), 111-124.
- Wang, H., Fan, Z., Deng, D., Chen, D.I., Sun, X.K., Gao, J.G., & Zeng, D.H. (2008). Effects of environmental factors on soil organic carbon mineralization in a pinus sylvestrisvarmongolica plantation. *Chinese Journal of Ecology*. 27, 1469–1475.
- Williamrs., J. B. (1970). Relationships between the composition of soils and physical measurementsSoil aggregation as influenced by microbial made on them. *Rothamsted Experimenral Soil Station Report*. Part 2, pp. 5-35.
- Zhang, Z., Zhou, Y., Wang, S., & Huang, X. (2018). Estimation of soil organic carbon storage and its fractions in a small karst watershed. *Acta Geochimica*, 37(1), 113-124.
- Zhao, J., Nie, Y., Qiao, Z., Ren, Y., Liang, H., Huang, J., Chen, Z., Dong, Y., Qin, L., & Xiao, R. (2018). Preliminary investigation of the relationship between vegetation types and soil microbial flora and biomass in northern shanxi province. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*. 20, 1695–1700.
- Zhao, X., Yu, W., Li, J., & Jiang, Z. (2006). Research advances in soil organic carbon and its fractions under different management patterns. *Ying yong sheng tai xue bao= The journal of applied ecology*, 17(11), 2203-2209.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Development of interspecific hybrids between urdbean & mungbean

Shailja Sharma 🖂

Department of Genetics & Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture. CSK HP Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur, India **RK Mittal**

Department of Genetics & Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture. CSK HP Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur, India

VK Sood

Department of Genetics & Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture. CSK HP Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur, India

HK Chaudharv

Department of Genetics & Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture. CSK HP Krishi Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur, India

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 25 September 2021	Interspecific hybridization was performed between five genotypes of urdbean &
Revised : 16 February 2022	three genotypes of mungbean to check the crossability relationship. Thirteen
Accepted : 21 February 2022	cross combinations of urdbean x mungbean were successfully developed.
Available online: 17 April 2022	Interspecific seeds showed no germination under soil conditions so various growth media were used for germination. Interspecific seeds germinated only on the salt solution. F ₁ seeds of cross UG-218 x Suketi exhibited highest crossability
Key Words:	and showed maximum response on salt solution. The study put emphasis on the
Crossability	different kinds of fertilization barriers. In future genetic improvement studies
Fertilization	can be carried out with the genotypes showing substantially high percent of
Interspecific hybridization	crossability.
V. mungo	
V.radiata	

Introduction

which is mostly taken form milk, eggs and pulses. The fourth most important food legume in India is Urdbean [Vigna mungo (L.) Hepper] also known as blackgram, black lentil, mash, mungo bean belongs family Leguminoseae and subfamily to Papilionaceae, domesticated from V. mungo var. silverstris (Bhareti et al., 2011). Urdbean is short duration, self-pollinated crop and found in most of parts of India. India is center of genetic diversity for urdbean with its secondary center of origin in Central Asia (Singh et al., 2016).

Urdbean is valuable source of protein, minerals and amino acids like lysine and methionine, as well as vitamins like niacin, riboflavin and thiamine, as well as phosphorus and iron (Gill et al., 2017). Plant parts are used as fodder for animals and green manuring. India is the world's greatest producer and consumer of urdbean, producing 2.93 million tonnes per year from 4.49 million hectares of land, with an average productivity of 500 kg per hectare (Anonymous, 2019). In Himachal Pradesh, it is

Protein is an important source of individual diet mainly cultivated on low and mid hills & grown as intercrop with maize as well as a monocrop. However, yield potential of urdbean is low as compared to other grain legumes. Narrow genetic base of urdbean often results in low yield and productivity due to poor plant type, cultivation in marginal and harsh environment, common ancestry of various superior genotypes and its vulnerability to abiotic and biotic stresses viz., Cercospora leaf spots (Cercospora canescens, C. cruenta). anthracnose (Colletotrichum truncatum), powdery mildew (Ervsiphe polygoni), and Mung Bean Mosaic Viruses (Ali et al., 2006). The related species V. radiata (mungbean) has been found to be nutritive, easily digestible & early maturity as compared to urdbean. As urdbean is self-pollinated crop to get its better understanding of crossability relationship among the species is helpful in chosing methods for making successful crosses. Interspecific seeds developed shows no germination under normal soil condition due to which different media composition were attempted in the present investigation to check the efficacy of growth 24 hours. Fifteen interspecific crosses of urdbean x media's on germination of interspecific seeds and mungbean were attempted. Observations on number of buds pollinated and number of pods harvested were recorded to calculate the

Material and Methods

For the study, a total eight different genotypes i.e. five of blackgram (HPBU-111, Him Mash-1, Palampur-93, UG-218 & PDU-1) taken as female and three of mungbean (Suketi, SML-668 & ML-818) taken as male were used to study the crossability relationship & germinability of their hybrids (Table 1).

Table 1: List of genotypes along with their sourcesused in the study.

Species	Genotype	Source			
Urdbean	Palampur-	CSK HPKV, Palampur			
	93				
	Him Mash-1	DPU 91-5 x Mash 338			
	HPBU-111	CSK HPKV, Palampur			
	UG-218	IIPR Kanpur			
	PDU-I	Selection from IC-8219			
Mungbean	Suketi	CSKHPKV Palampur			
	SML-668	Selection from			
		AVRDC material			
	ML-818	5145/87 x ML 267			

During summer & Kharif 2017 & summer 2018, staggered sowings were done at interval of 10 days starting from 15th March to 31st July to have synchronized flowering in the glasshouse of Department of Genetics & Plant Breeding, COA, CSKHPKV Palampur located at an elevation of 1,290 m above mean sea level with geographical co-ordinates of 36°6'N latitude and 76°3'E longitude representing the mid-hill zone of Himachal Pradesh and is characterized by humid sub-temperate climate with high rainfall (2,500 mm per annum). Crossing was performed from 15th April to 15th October of 2017 & 15th April to 30th June of 2018. In evening, the emasculation of female parent(s) at plump bud stage was done (3:00 - 5:30 P.M.) followed by pollination in morning (6:00 to 8:00 A.M.). Three immuno- suppressants i.e. giberellic acid (GA_3) , indole acetic acid (IAA)and Σ - amino caproic acid were used at two concentrations (500 ppm & 1000 ppm) about half an hour after pollination to prevent premature flower abscission. This was repeated for three consecutive days after pollination at an interval of

mungbean were attempted. Observations on number of buds pollinated and number of pods harvested were recorded to calculate the crossability percentage. The seeds obtained from the interspecific crosses were grown on various media i.e. Salt solution (Sander et al., 1959), Gamborg B5 and Half & full strength MS medium to study the response of different growth media on germinability of F₁ seeds. Under aseptic conditions, F_1 seeds were surface sterilized with 0.02 % mercuric chloride for two minutes, washed three to four times in sterilized distilled water and placed in petri-plates with sterilized salt solution, MS medium (Half & Full Strength) & Gamborg B5 media. Petri plates with sterile F₁ seeds were placed in incubator at 25±1°C for four to five days and salt solution was changed every day under sterile conditions. On second transfer on fresh salt solution seed coat of imbibed F_1 seeds were removed and allowed to develop on salt solution for one or two days. Four to five days old seeds showing radicle formation/seedling were transferred to paper cups having mixture of sand + cocopeat + vermicompost which were then transferred to field and glasshouse after the development of cotyledonary leaves (Figure 1). Data were recorded with respect to:

- Number of buds pollinated
- Number of pods harvested
- Total seeds harvested of each cross
- Total seeds cultured
- Number of seeds showing radicle formation
- Number of interspecific plantlets obtained

Crossability percentage was calculated as follows:

Crossability percentage (%) = <u>Number of crossed pods set</u> Total number of urdbean buds pollinated x 100

% radicle formation (Germination Percentage) & % hybrid plants obtained was calculated as follows:

% hybrid plants obtained =

Environment Conservation Journal

Simple t-test

Simple t-test was performed to test the mean difference of radicle and hybrid plant production in the study.



Salt solution media



Appearance of radicle in salt solution





Initial stage of growth in pot Appearance of cotyledonary leaves

Figure 1: Germination of F₁ seeds

Results and Discussion

Interspecific hybridization is a promising tool to transfer the desirable traits and to widen the gene pool of any crop. However, wide crosses are not always successful because of the existence of pre and post fertilization barriers that are operative at various stages of development and also various incompatibility barriers limit the potential for recombining the important characters for improving production and adaptation. The present study was taken with the objective to study the crossability relationship between urdbean & mungbean and to study the efficacy of different growth media on germination of interspecific seeds. There is high incidence of abscission of crossed flowers within 72 hours from pollination & young fruits dropping between 3 to 30 days after pollination implying the presence of fertilization barriers. Some of pods harvested had no seed or had very minute seeds.

The range of crossability percentage was observed to be 0-19.64 % in case of urdbean x mungbean hybridization. The analysis of results revealed that cross combinations UG-218 x Suketi, Palampur-93 x Suketi, Him Mash-1 x ML-818, HPBU-111 x Suketi & PDU-1 x SML-668 were found to be significantly superior over other crosses. Interspecific cross combination UG-218 x Suketi exhibited highest crossability (19.64 %) followed by Palampur-93 x Suketi (19.25 %) and Him Mash-1 x ML-818 (18.54 % in case of V.mungo x V. radiata hybridization (Table 2). Crosses having high crossability percentage were considered as successful crosses suggesting the parents of these cross combinations are ideal for transfer of useful genes from one species to another species. Similar results in relation to crossability were also reported by various research workers viz; Bhanu et al., (2018) in V. mungo x V. umbellata with 16.27 % & in V. mungo x V. radiata with 37.50 % and Lekhi et al., (2017) in V. mungo x V. radiata with 5.50 to 24.10 %. The percent crossability among different sets of crosses varies from species to species due to substantial heterogeneity in the genetic architecture of species involved in interspecific hybridization, resulting in differences in cross compatibility. Some of the pods which were formed were without seed or had shriveled seeds with ruptured seed coat. In the crosses which had HPBU-111 as one of the parent had large number of empty pods. F1 seeds developed were of two types, viz. highly shriveled, minute, brown coloured and the second was bold and comparatively brown coloured but very weak as compared to self-ones. The number of seeds per pod in the interspecific hybrids varied from 1-4. The results are in agreement with the earlier studies of Sehrawat et al. (2016a) for number of F1 seeds per pod in interspecific crosses of urdbean and ricebean. The F₁ seeds obtained from all cross combinations were small, wrinkled and shrunken (Figure 2). The F_1 seeds were small in size and shriveled because of the poor development of the endosperm and embryo which is due to incompatibility between the two parental genomes or due to the failure of embryo to reach maturity (Rashid et al., 1987). Even though crossability barriers were present, few interspecific hybrids were produced. The seeds obtained from the interspecific crosses under study shows no

germination under normal soil conditions so seeds comprising of all the cross combinations of attempts were made to grow them on various media. To study the response of different growth media on germination of interspecific seeds, 30

urdbean & mungbean were put on different growth media i.e. Salt solution, Gamborg B5 media and

Table 2: Pod	l set & Crossa	bility percentage	in V. mungo and	V. radiata crosses

SN	Cross Combination	Number of buds	Number of pods	Total Seeds	Crossability
		pollinated	narvesteu	Conecteu	percentage
1.	UG-218 x Suketi	331	65	235	19.64**
2.	Palampur-93 x Suketi	322	62	226	19.25**
3.	Him Mash-1 x ML-818	302	56	205	18.54**
4.	Him Mash-1 x Suketi	314	39	166	12.42
5.	Him Mash-1 x SML-668	307	22	128	7.17
6.	HPBU-111 x Suketi	309	41	149	13.27*
7.	HPBU-111 x SML-668	313	17	99	5.43
8.	HPBU-111 x ML-818	310	29	136	9.35
9.	Palampur-93 x ML-818	304	0	0	0.00
10.	Palampur-93 x SML-668	319	16	98	5.02
11.	UG-218 x SML-668	312	20	117	6.41
12.	UG-218 x ML-818	315	15	91	4.76
13.	PDU-1 x Suketi	318	26	125	8.18
14.	PDU-1 x SML-668	316	50	210	15.82**
15.	PDU-1 x ML-818	306	0	0	0.00

**, * = significantly positive at 1 & 5 % level of significance; Mean=16.46, SE± =2.12



Figure 2: Interspecific F₁ pods & seeds



Figure 3: Germination of interspecific F₁ seeds in different media.

Half & full strength MS medium (Figure 3). Successful results were only obtained on the salt solution, in rest of media's seeds of interspecific crosses of urdbean and mungbean showed no germination (Table 3). Mittal et al. during 2005 and 2008 obtained similar results in interspecific crosses between urdbean and ricebean. The range of % radicle & hybrid plant production were found to be 0-25.56 % & 0-17.49 % respectively. The analysis of results revealed that cross combinations UG-218 x Suketi, Palampur-93 x Suketi, Him Mash-1 x ML-818 & PDU-1 x SML-668 were found to be significantly superior for % radicle formation. As per the present results, the response of cross combination UG-218 x Suketi (25.56 %) was maximum with respect to radicle formation followed by cross Palampur-93 x Suketi (19.63 %) & PDU-1 x SML-668 (19.20 %) respectively. Cross combinations UG-218 x Suketi, Palampur-93 x Suketi, Him Mash-1 x ML-818, Him Mash-1 x Suketi, HPBU-111 x Suketi & PDU-1 x SML-668m were significantly superior for % hybrid plants obtained. Radical formation & hybrid plantlet formation in F₁ seeds obtained highest in

cross formed between UG-218 x Suketi (17.49 %) followed by Palampur- 93 x Suketi (14.02 %) (Table 4). The results are in agreement with the findings of Bindra et al., (2020), they reported germination percentage upto 59.34 % in V. mungo x V. umbellata hybridization whereas, Basavaraja et al., (2018) found germination percentage of 36.84 % in interspecific crosses between V. radiata & V. umbellata, Lekhi et al., (2017) noted germination percentage upto 30.56 % in interspecific crosses of urdbean and mungbean. Some of the F1 seeds did not imbibe, some showed distorted cotyledons, poor root development whereas in some cases roots developed but died before shoot formation so success rate in germination was low. Mittal et al., (2005) reported similar results in interspecific crosses of urdbean & ricebean. The parents involved in interspecific hybridization showed differential genotypic response which indicates the use of more number of genotypes and large number of crosses should be attempted to get more F₁ plants. Differential genotypic response of parents involved in interspecific hybridization also reported by Mittal et al. (2005).

SN	Media used	Seeds cultured	Seeds germinated
1.	Autoclaved soil	30	0
2.	Salt solution (Sanders et al. 1959)	30	11
3.	MS-Full strength	30	0
4.	MS- Half strength	30	0
5.	Gamborg's B5 Media	30	0

Table 3: Response of different	growth	media +	Autoclaved	Soil on	germination	of interspecific	\mathbf{F}_1	seeds	of
urdbean and mungbean									

Table 4: % radicle formation and hybrid plants production in interspecific crosses of urdbean & mungbean

SN	Name of Cross	Seeds	Seeds showing	Radicle	Interspecific	Hybrid plants
		Cultured	radicle formation	formation	plantlets	obtained (%)
		(No.)	(No.)	(%)	obtained (No.)	
1.	UG-218 x Suketi	223	57	25.56**	39	17.49**
2.	Palampur-93 x Suketi	214	42	19.63**	30	14.02**
3.	Him Mash-1 x ML-818	193	30	15.54*	18	9.33**
4.	Him Mash-1 x Suketi	154	18	11.69	10	6.49*
5.	Him Mash-1 x SML-668	116	10	8.62	0	0.00
6.	HPBU-111 x Suketi	137	18	13.14	9	6.60*
7.	HPBU-111 x SML-668	87	5	5.75	0	0.00
8.	HPBU-111 x ML-818	124	11	8.87	0	0.00
9.	Palampur-93 x ML-818	0	0	0.00	0	0.00
10.	Palampur-93x SML-668	86	5	5.81	0	0.00
11.	UG-218 x SML-668	105	7	6.67	0	0.00
12.	UG-218 x ML-818	79	3	3.80	0	0.00
13.	PDU-1 x Suketi	113	11	9.82	0	0.00
14.	PDU-1 x SML-668	198	38	19.20**	27	13.64**
15.	PDU-1 x ML-818	0	0	0	0	0.00

**, * = significantly positive at 1 & 5 % level of significance; Mean=16.92, SE± =2.23 for % radicle formation

**, * = significantly positive at 1 & 5 % level of significance; Mean=7.72, SE± =2.61 for % hybrid plants obtained

Conclusion

The study put emphasis on the different kinds of fertilization barriers that are responsible for complete sterility to low fertility. Even though the fertilization barriers were predominant, some interspecific hybrids were produced. Salt solution was most efficient growth media for germinability. The parents involved in interspecific hybridization showed differential genotypic response which

References

Ali, M., Gupta, S., Singh, B. B., & Kumar, S. (2006). Role of plant introductions in varietal development of pulses in India. *Indian Journal of Plant Genetic Resources*, 19(3), 346-352.

Anonymous. 2019. Data on pulses IIPR Kanpur. http://iipr.res.in/e-pulse-data-book.html.

Basavaraja, T., Murthy, N., Kumar, V.L. and Mallikarjun, K. (2018). Studies on cross compatibility in interspecific crosses of *Vigna radiata* x *Vigna umbellata* species. *Legume Research*, 37(5): 473-478.

indicates the use of more number of genotypes and large number of crosses should be attempted to get more F_1 plants. In future genetic improvement studies can be carried out with the genotypes showing substantially high percent of crossability.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Bhareti, Priyanka, Singh, D. P., & Khulbe, R. K. (2011). Genetic variability and association analysis of advanced lines and cultivars following intervarietal and interspecific crosses in blackgram. *Crop Improvement*, 38(1), 67-70.
- Bindra, S., Mittal, R. K., Sood, V. K., & Chaudhary, H. K. (2020). Alien Introgression studies involving Vigna mungo x Vigna umbellata hybridization. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 9(02), 268-276.

Gill, R. K., Kumar, A., Singh, I., & Tyagi, V. (2017). Assessment of induced genetic variability in black gram (Vigna mungo (L.) Hepper). *Food Legumes*, 30(2), 31-34.

- Lekhi, P., Gill, R. K., Kaur, S., & Bains, T. S. (2018). Generation of interspecific hybrids for introgression of mungbean yellow mosaic virus resistance in [*Vigna radiata* (L.) Wilczek]. *Legume Research-An International Journal*, 41(4), 526-531.
- Mittal, R.K., Katna, G. and Sood, B.C. (2005). Interspecific hybridization in the genus Vigna. In Proceedings of Fourth International Food Legumes Research, Oct.2005, New Delhi.
- Mittal, R. K., Sood, B. C., Sharma, R., & Katna, G. (2008). Interspecific hybridization and DNA based polymorphism in urdbean (V. mungo), ricbean (V. umbellata) and adzukibean (V. angularis). Abst. In *The Third Asian Chromosome Colloquium, Chromosome Science* (Vol. 11, p. 48).
- Rashid, K. A., Smartt, J., & Haq, N. (1987). Hybridization in the genus Vigna. In *Mungbean, Proceeding of the Second International Symposium, AVRDC, Shanhua, Taiwan p* (pp. 205-214).

- Sanders, M. E., Franzke, C. J., & Ross, J. G. (1959). Influence of environmental factors on origin of colchicine-induced true-breeding diploid mutants in sorghum. *American Journal of Botany*, 46(2), 119-125.
- Sehrawat, N., Yadav, M., Bhat, K. V., Sairam, R. K., & Jaiwal, P. K. (2016). Introgression of mungbean yellow mosaic virus resistance in Vigna mungo (L.) Hepper and purity testing of F1 hybrids using SSRs. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 40(1), 95-100.
- Singh, D.P., Singh, B.B. and Pratap, A. (2016). Genetic improvement of mungbean and urdbean and their role in enhancing pulse production in India. *Indian Journal of Genetics*, 76(04): 550-567.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Performance of timely sown wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) genotypes under irrigated condition

Sriperambuduru Vikas 🖂

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, 211007, India.

Umesha C.

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, 211007, India.

Mavurkumar R Meshram

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, 211007, India.

Lalith Kumar Sanodiya

Department of Agronomy, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, 211007, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 18 November 2021	A field experiment was carried out during Rabi season, 2020 at Wheat
Revised : 15 January 2022	Breeding Experimental Field, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam Higginbottom
Accepted : 27 January 2022	University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences (SHUATS), Prayagraj
Available online: 17 April 2022	(U.P). The soil of experimental site was sandy loam in texture and nearly neutral in soil reaction with (pH 6.7). The experiment was laid out in
	Randomized Block Design and fourteen wheat genotypes were replicated
Key Words:	fourfold. Study revealed that the genotype G ₁₂ , i.e., NERI-312 recorded
Genotype	significantly higher plant height (100.50 cm), number of tillers/hill (10/hill),
Irrigated condition	plant dry weight (26.14 g), length of the spike (13.5 cm), number of grains per
Productive	spike (42.95), test weight (40.05 g), grain yield (4.18 t/ha) and straw yield (6.04
Wheat	t/ha). It was evident that the genotype NERI-312 was found to be productive.
Yield	

Introduction

Wheat belongs to family poaceae and is very phase, followed by dry warm weather for the grain important crop as it contribute major portion of staple food for world's population. It provides more calories and protein within the world's diet than any other cereal (CIMMYT, 2002). Wheat acts as the staple food in more than 40 countries of the world (Sharma et al., 2019). It is the world's most generally cultivated cereal crop. It has been described as the "King of cereals" due to the acreage it occupies, high productivity and prominent position it holds within the international food grain trade (Coasta et al., 2013). Wheat is principally grown during Rabi season with wider adaptability and requires relatively low temperatures for their growth. The foremost favourable climatic condition for wheat cultivation is cool and moist weather during the vegetative

to mature and ripening. In India, growing season for wheat is restricted by high temperature at maturation and moreover there is also concern for changing climate scenario. Time of sowing in wheat is the most significant factor that governs the crop development phenologically. It also plays a prominent role in conversion of biomass in to economic yield. Proper irrigation at the critical growth stages aids the wheat crop for withstanding unfavourable conditions. Providing irrigation at critical growth stage affects the yield in a positive way. Irrigation is such a vital and costly factor which influences the growth and yield of the wheat. So, the development of high yielding genotypes limited water resources and limited under environmental conditions are necessary in the current scenario. Improved varieties must be productive with higher yield and should be economical to the farmers. Therefore, with above facts to seek out the promising genotypes under prayagraj condition this present investigation was carried out.

Material and Methods

The experiment entitled "Performance of Timely Sown Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) Genotypes under Irrigated Condition" was carried out during Rabi season of 2020, at the Wheat Breeding Experimental Field, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam Higginbottom University of Agriculture, Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh. The Wheat Breeding Experimental Field is situated at 25°24'33" N latitude, 81°51'12" E longitude (Google, 2021) and 98 m altitude above the mean sea level. The experimental field soil texture was sandy loam. The experiment was laid out in a randomized block design and fourteen genotypes were replicated four times each. The wheat was sown on 25th November 2020 with plant geometry of 20 x 10 cm. The genotypes were G₁ - NERI-301, G₂ - NERI-302, G₃ - NERI-303, G₄ - NERI-304, G₅ - NERI-305, G₆ - NERI-306, G₇ - NERI-307, G₈ -NERI-308, G₉ - NERI-309, G₁₀ - NERI-310, G₁₁ -NERI-311, G₁₂ - NERI-312, G₁₃ - NERI-313, G₁₄ -NERI-314 respectively. The experimental data recorded was subjected to statistical analysis by adopting the Fishers method of analysis of variance (ANOVA) as described by Gomez and Gomez (1984). The data collected from the experiment was subjected to statistical analysis using ICAR WASP software. Critical difference (CD) values were calculated by the 'F' test was found significantly at 5% level.

Results and Discussion A. Growth parameters Plant height (cm)

Data regarding the plant height (cm) of wheat is given in Table 1. The plant height increased significantly, at each crop stage up to crop harvest. Data pertaining the plant height of the wheat genotypes was recorded at 60, 90 DAS and at harvest shown significantly higher plant height (67.59 cm, 99.46 cm 100.50 cm) in the genotype G_{12} . The Genotypes G_{11} , G_8 and G_{13} were

statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} at 60 DAS. The genotypes G_{11} , G_8 , G_{13} , G_{10} , G_3 and G_1 were statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} at 90 DAS and at harvest. Each genotype has its own feature from the growth viewpoint. The variation in the plant height was recorded based on their genetic character. Larger leaf area, amount of chlorophyll pigments and other traits play an important role in the crop growth. These results were found close conformity with the results of Poudel *et al.* (2020) in wheat.

Number of Tillers per hill

Data pertaining to number of tillers per hill at 60, 90 DAS and at harvest was presented in Table 1. Number of tillers per hill was increased with the advancement of the crop growth up to 90 DAS and later on it was declined at harvest stage. The number of tillers per hill of wheat at 60, 90 DAS and at the time of harvest differed significantly in different genotypes. There was a significant increase in the number of tillers per hill (11.65/hill and 12.92/hill) and found maximum at 60 and 90 DAS in the genotype G_{12} . At harvest there was a slight decline in number of tillers per hill (10/hill) in the same genotype G_{12} , but found to be significant. However the genotypes G_{11} , G_8 and G_{13} were statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} at 60 DAS and at the harvest stage. At 90 DAS G₁₁ and G_8 were found on par with the genotype G_{12} . Most of the economic yield of the grain crops is determined by number of tillers, number of tillers per hill affect the productive tillers respectively. This is in agreement with the findings of Shuaib *et* al. (2019) and Chopde et al. (2015).

Plant dry weight (g/hill)

Data on plant dry weight (g/hill) was given in Table 2. At 60, 90 DAS and at harvest showed that the maximum plant dry weight (8.5 g/hill, 20.86 g/hill and 26.14 g/hill) was recorded in the genotype G_{12} and was significantly superior over all the genotypes. The genotypes G_{11} and G_8 were statistically on par with the genotype G_{12} at both 60 DAS and at harvest. At 90 DAS only genotype G_{11} was at par to the genotype G_{12} . From 60 DAS the dry weight has shown significant increase. This is due to the formation of tillers and the occurrence of jointing which leads to dry matter accumulation in

the genotypes. These results were in close onformity with Alam *et al.* (2013) and Shahzad *et al.* (2002).

Crop growth rate (g/m²/day)

Data pertaining to crop growth rate is presented in the Table 2. Maximum crop growth rate (13.528 g/m2/day and 20.603 g/m2/day) was recorded significantly higher in the genotype G_{12} during 30 -60 DAS and 60 - 90 DAS intervals. The genotypes G_{11} and G_8 were at par with the genotype G_{12} during 30 - 60 DAS interval. But during the interval of 60 - 90 DAS, the genotypes G_{10} , G_{13} , G_8 , G_{11} , G_3 , G₁ and G₄ maintained the crop growth rate at par with the G_{12} genotype. The crop growth rate trend is depicted in the Figure 1. There was a significant increase in the crop growth rate of the wheat from 30, 60 and up to 90 DAS. Later on, there was a sudden decline in the crop growth rate after 90 DAS. This is due to the completion of the vegetative phase and maximum production of dry matter in the early growth stages of the plant. These results are similar to Alam (2013).

Relative growth rate (g/g/day)

Higher relative growth rate was recorded in initial growth stages during 30 - 60 DAS, in all the genotypes and is presented in Table 2. Relative growth rate curve is depicted in Figure 2. The genotype G_{11} recorded maximum relative growth rate (0.109 g/g/day) during 30 - 60 DAS. Later on,

in the further intervals during 60 - 90 DAS, genotypes G_{10} and G_4 with relative growth rate (0.036) and during 90 - 120 DAS, genotypes G_7 , G_6 , G_9 and G_2 with relative growth rate (0.010) were found to be higher. There was a declining trend recorded in all the genotypes. Relative growth rate decreased steadily due to lower dry matter accumulation with the advancement of the crop growth stages. These results are in match up with those reported by Akhtar *et al.* (2018).

Yield and yield attributes

Observations regarding the yield and yield attributes viz., Length of the spike (cm), Number of grains per spike, Test weight (g), Grain yield (kg/ha) and Straw yield (kg/ha) of Wheat were depicted in Table 3.

Length of the spike (cm)

On perusal of data it is apparent that length of spike varied significantly due to different genotypes. The maximum spike length (13.5 cm) was recorded significantly higher in genotype G_{12} . However, the genotypes G_{11} and G_8 were statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} . Maximum spike length is a genetic trait and the variation in different spike lengths are due to the genetic variability among the genotypes which is in close conformity with results of Mushtaq *et al.* (2011).

 Table 1: Evaluation of wheat genotypes on plant height and number of tillers per hill

Genotypes		Plant height (cr	n)	Nun	ber of tillers pe	r hill
	60 DAS	90 DAS	At harvest	60 DAS	90 DAS	At harvest
NERI-301	60.36 ^{bcd}	95.46 ^{abcd}	96.30 ^{abcd}	8.05 ^c	9.05 ^{de}	7.65 ^{cde}
NERI-302	54.59 ^e	87.13 ^f	89.10 ^f	7.45°	8.20 ^e	6.70 ^e
NERI-303	60.76 ^{bcd}	95.49 ^{abcd}	96.44 ^{abcd}	8.25°	9.80 ^{cde}	7.85 ^{bcde}
NERI-304	59.81 ^{cd}	94.52 ^{bcd}	95.38 ^{bcd}	8.05 ^c	8.90 ^{de}	7.15 ^{de}
NERI-305	59.05 ^{cde}	91.74 ^{def}	92.98 ^{def}	7.45°	8.50 ^e	6.80 ^e
NERI-306	59.64 ^{cde}	92.58 ^{cde}	94.38 ^{cde}	7.50 ^c	8.55 ^e	6.85 ^e
NERI-307	59.72 ^{cd}	94.18 ^{bcde}	94.85 ^{cde}	8.25 ^c	8.80 ^{de}	6.85 ^e
NERI-308	63.70 ^{abc}	98.48^{ab}	99.65 ^{ab}	9.65 ^{abc}	11.45 ^{abc}	8.80 ^{abc}
NERI-309	56.70 ^{de}	89.51 ^{ef}	90.49 ^{ef}	7.45°	8.35 ^e	6.70 ^e
NERI-310	62.43 ^{bc}	96.01 ^{abcd}	97.09 ^{abcd}	9.10b ^c	10.65 ^{bcd}	8.50 ^{bcd}
NERI-311	65.45 ^{ab}	98.84^{ab}	100.18 ^a	10.88 ^{ab}	12.00 ^{ab}	9.25 ^{ab}
NERI-312	67.59 ^a	99.46 ^a	100.50 ^a	11.65 ^a	12.92 ^a	10.00 ^a
NERI-313	63.26 ^{abc}	97.17 ^{abc}	98.48 ^{abc}	9.50 ^{abc}	10.85 ^{bcd}	8.70 ^{abc}
NERI-314	48.95 ^f	81.25 ^g	82.95 ^g	7.35°	8.20 ^e	6.60 ^e
SEm (±)	1.79	1.68	1.67	0.84	0.72	0.50
CD (P = 0.05)	5.11	4.80	4.76	2.40	2.07	1.44

Genotypes	Dry weight (g/hill)			Crop growth rate (g/m2/day)			Relative growth rate (g/g/day)		
	60	90	At	30 - 60	60 - 90	90 - At	30 - 60	60 - 90	90 - At
	DAS	DAS	harvest	DAS	DAS	harvest	DAS	DAS	harvest
NERI-301	5.68 ^{cd}	16.14 ^{de}	20.44 ^{de}	8.76 ^{cd}	17.43 ^{abc}	7.16	0.088	0.035	0.008
NERI-302	5.06 ^d	13.02 ^{gh}	17.25 ^h	7.91 ^d	13.27 ^d	7.04	0.093	0.033	0.010
NERI-303	5.88 ^{cd}	16.96 ^{cd}	21.5 ^{cd}	9.43 ^{cd}	18.49 ^{ab}	7.55	0.110	0.035	0.008
NERI-304	5.42 ^d	15.78 ^{def}	19.84 ^{ef}	8.29 ^d	17.27 ^{abc}	6.78	0.083	0.036	0.008
NERI-305	5.17 ^d	13.86 ^{gh}	18.27 ^{gh}	8.07 ^d	14.49 ^{cd}	7.37	0.093	0.034	0.009
NERI-306	5.22 ^d	14.09 ^{fg}	18.78 ^{fgh}	8.17 ^d	14.78 ^{cd}	7.83	0.093	0.033	0.010
NERI-307	5.24 ^d	14.49 ^{efg}	19.5 ^{efg}	8.20 ^d	15.42 ^{bcd}	8.35	0.093	0.034	0.010
NERI-308	7.50 ^{ab}	19.02 ^b	24.73 ^{ab}	11.81 ^{ab}	19.20 ^a	9.52	0.097	0.031	0.009
NERI-309	5.09 ^d	13.44 ^{gh}	17.95 ^{gh}	7.94 ^d	13.92 ^{cd}	7.52	0.092	0.033	0.010
NERI-310	6.03 ^{cd}	17.96 ^{bc}	22.16 ^c	9.48 ^{cd}	19.86 ^a	7.02	0.095	0.036	0.007
NERI-311	8.05 ^{ab}	19.29 ^{ab}	25.18 ^{ab}	12.88 ^{ab}	18.73a ^b	10.05	0.109	0.029	0.009
NERI-312	8.50 ^a	20.87 ^a	26.14 ^a	13.53 ^a	$20.60^{\rm a}$	8.80	0.104	0.030	0.008
NERI-313	6.90 ^{bc}	18.69 ^{bc}	23.88 ^b	10.87 ^{bc}	19.64 ^a	8.67	0.098	0.033	0.008
NERI-314	4.98 ^d	12.07 ^h	15.62 ⁱ	7.86 ^d	11.82 ^d	5.92	0.100	0.030	0.009
SEm (±)	0.47	0.62	0.54	0.76	1.28	0.78	0.01	0.00	0.00
CD $(P = 0.05)$	1.33	1.79	1.55	2.17	3.66	NS	NS	NS	NS

Table 2: Evaluation of wheat genotypes on dry weight, crop growth rate and relative growth rate

Table 3: Evaluation of wheat genotypes on yield and yield attributes

Genotypes	Length of the	Number of	Test weight (g)	Grain yield	Straw yield
	spike (cm)	grains per spike		(t/ha)	(t/ha)
NERI-301	12.20 ^{bcd}	40.75 ^{de}	37.65 ^{cd}	3.73 ^{abc}	5.70 ^{abcd}
NERI-302	11.89 ^{cd}	37.97 ^{hi}	34.95 ^{gh}	2.97 ^{ef}	4.94 ^{fg}
NERI-303	12.25 ^{bcd}	40.85 ^{de}	38.35 ^{bc}	3.79 ^{abc}	5.79 ^{abc}
NERI-304	12.17 ^{cd}	40.65 ^{de}	37.30 ^{cde}	3.51 ^{bcd}	5.59 ^{abcde}
NERI-305	12.03 ^{cd}	38.95 ^{fg}	35.82^{fg}	3.24 ^{de}	5.33 ^{def}
NERI-306	12.10^{cd}	39.5 ^f	36.22 ^{ef}	3.26 ^{de}	5.34cdef
NERI-307	12.12 ^{cd}	40.40 ^e	36.52 ^{def}	3.37^{cde}	5.44 ^{bcde}
NERI-308	12.70^{abc}	41.70 ^{bc}	39.37 ^{ab}	3.92 ^{ab}	5.94 ^a
NERI-309	11.98 ^{cd}	38.70 ^{gh}	35.77^{fg}	3.16 ^{de}	5.24 ^{efg}
NERI-310	12.36 ^{bcd}	41.25 ^{cde}	38.90^{ab}	3.83 ^{ab}	5.82 ^{ab}
NERI-311	13.00 ^{ab}	42.35 ^{ab}	39.55 ^{ab}	3.94 ^{ab}	5.96 ^a
NERI-312	13.50 ^a	42.95 ^a	40.05 ^a	4.18 ^a	6.04 ^a
NERI-313	12.55 ^{bc}	41.40 ^{cd}	39.15 ^{ab}	3.86 ^{ab}	5.87 ^{ab}
NERI-314	11.72 ^d	37.80 ⁱ	34.15 ^h	2.71 ^f	4.85 ^g
SEm (±)	0.29	0.25	0.42	0.16	0.16
CD (P = 0.05)	0.83	0.71	1.21	0.45	0.46

Number of grains per spike

Maximum number of grains per spike (42.95) was recorded significantly higher in the genotype G_{12} and the genotype G_{11} was statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} . Number of grains per spike mainly depends on the genetic variability. Each genotype exhibits its own hereditary characters and genetic traits. These results were found similar with the results of Kilic and Gursoy (2010).

Test weight (1000 seed weight in g)

Genotype G_{12} recorded significantly higher 1000 seed weight of (40.05 g). The genotypes G_{11} , G_8 , G_{13} and G_{10} were statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} . Test weight is influenced by both environmental and genetic factors. Genetic characters include both the hereditary and variability traits that are directly responsible for the



Figure 1: Crop growth rate (g/m2/day) of wheat in different genotypes



Figure 2: Relative growth rate (g/g/day) of wheat in different genotypes

1000 seed weight. Environmental factors like nutrient uptake, irrigation and etc., influence the test weight of the genotypes. Grain filling pattern and the other factors also influence the test weight of seeds in wheat crop (Banker *et al.*, 2018).

Yield

Grain yield (t/ha)

Data pertaining to grain yield of wheat depicted in Table 3. It was specified that significant differences were due to variability in the genotypes. The maximum grain yield (4.18 t/ha) in the genotype G_{12} was found to be significantly superior over all the other genotypes. Genotypes G_{11} , G_8 , G_{13} and G_{10} were at par with the genotype G_{12} . The maximum yield in genotype G_{12} is due to the yield attributes like higher number of grains per spike, maximum spike length and maximum thousand grain weight of the seeds which were significantly higher. These findings are similar with Sar *et al.* (2020). The higher grain yield was correlated with longer spike, growth duration and grain spike weight ratio at anthesis phase Gill (2009).

Straw yield (t/ha)

Data related to straw yield was recorded after harvesting of crop and tabulated in Table 3. It G₁₂ recorded revealed that the genotype significantly higher straw yield (6.04 t/ha). However, the genotypes G_{11} , G_8 , G_{13} , G_{10} and G_3 were statistically at par with the genotype G_{12} . Higher straw yield in G₁₂ genotype is due to the achievement of the significantly higher growth attributes like plant height, dry weight and number of tillers. Nutrient uptake, irrigation at the critical growth stages and some environmental factors affect the straw yield of the wheat. These findings were in close conformity with Donaldson et al. (2001).

Conclusion

This study concluded that the wheat genotype NERI-312 was found more productive with maximum plant height, maximum number of tillers per hill, higher plant dry weight, higher number of grains per spike, maximum Test weight, higher grain yield and biological yield.

As the cost of cultivation is same for all the wheat Higginbottom genotypes, among them NERI-312 genotype will be Technology and Sciences, Prayagraj, Uttar Pradesh, economically viable due to the achievement of India for providing us necessary facilities to higher yield by that genotype.

Acknowledgement

Agronomy, Naini Agricultural Institute, Sam

References

- Akhtar, M., Mosleh, U., & Hossain, I. (2018). Study on the Growth and Yield Potential of Promising Wheat Genotypes under Modified Agronomical Practices. World Journal of Research and Review, 6(1), 41-49.
- Alam, M.S. (2013). Growth and yield potentials of wheat as affected by management practices. African Journal of Agricultural Research, 8(47), 6068-6072.
- Alam, P., Kumar, S., Ali, N., Manjhi, R.P., Kumari, N., Rajini, K., & Izhar, T. (2013). Performance of wheat varieties under different sowing dates in Jharkand. Journal of Wheat Research, 5(2), 61-64.
- Bankar, D.N., Baviskar, V.S., Yashvantha, K.J., Raskar, S.S., Khairnar, S.S, Gite, V.D., Surve, V.D., Bagwan, J.H, & Honaro, B.K. (2018). Evaluation of Wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) genotypes for changing climatic condition under different sowing windows in semi-arid tropics of western Maharashtra, India. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 7(4), 761-770.
- Chopde, M.B., Raundal, P.U., & Bhonvade, T.S. (2015). Performance of different wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) varieties under extended sowing dates. Journal of Agriculture Research Techonology, 40(1), 152-155.
- CIMMYT. (2002). Wheat the vital grain of civilization and food security: Wheat annual report. Mexico, DF.
- Coasta, R., Pinheiro, N., Amedia, A.S., Gomes, C., Coutinho, J., Coco, J., Costa, A., & Nacas, B. (2013). Effect of sowing date and seeding ratio on bread wheat yield and test weight under Mediterranean condition. Emirates Journal of Food and Ariculture, 25, 951-61.
- Donalson, E., Schillinger, W.F., & Dofing, S.M. (2001). Straaw production and grain yield relationship in winter wheat. Crop Science, 41, 100-106.
- Gill, D.S. (2009). Agro-physiological traits for screening heat tolerant lines of wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) under late sown conditions. Indian Journal of Agricultural Research, 43(3), 211-214.

University Agriculture, of undertake the studies.

Conflict of interest

The authors are thankful to department of The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Gomez, K.A., & Gomea, A.A., (1984). Statistical procedure for Agriculture Reserch 2nd edition, New York, 680p.
- Hazari, S., Mondal, R., & Das, S. (2019). Performance of Wheat genotypes under different irrigational approaches in the Terai agro ecological condition. The Pharma Innovation Journal, 8(7), 01-04.
- Kilic, H., & Gursoy, S. (2010). Effect of seeding rate on yield and yield components of durum wheat cultivars in cottonwheat cropping system. Scientific Research and Essays, 5, 2078-84.
- Mushtaq, T., Hussain, S., Bukhsh, M., Iqbal, J., & Khaliq, T. (2011). Evaluation of two wheat genotypes, performance under drought conditions at different growth stages. Crop and Environment, 2, 20-27.
- Sar, K., Chowdhury, M.R., & Das, S. (2020). Performance of Wheat varieties under different date of sowing in southern Bihar. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 9(5), 1701-1710.
- Poudel, P.B., Kumar, U.J., Poudel, L., & Poudel, M.R. (2020). Evaluation of Wheat genotypes under timely and late sowing conditions. International Journal of Applied Science and Biotechnology, 8(2), 161-169.
- Shahzad, K., Bakht, J., Shah, W.A., Shafi, M., & Jabeen, N. (2002). Yield and yield components of various wheat cultivars as affected by different sowing dates. Asian Journal of Plant Sciences, 1(5), 522.
- Sharma, D., Singh, R., Tiwari, R., Kumar, R., & Gupta, V. (2019). Wheat Responses and Tolerance to Terminal Heat Stress: A Review. In Hasanuzzaman, M., Nahar, K. and Hossain, M.A. (Eds.), Wheat Production in Changing Environments: Responses, Adaptation and Tolerance (pp. 149-173).
- Shuaib, .B., Kashif, N.B., Aslam, M.N., Nasir, I.R., & Ali, M.A. (2019). Evaluation of growth and yield attributes of some Wheat varieties under local conditions of southern Punjab, Pakistan. Journal of Plant Breeding and Genetics, 7(1), 19-25.

Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal





Evaluation of production and environmental aspects of different pig production systems in the Northern State of India, Punjab

Navjot Kaur 🖂

Department of Economics and Business Management, College of Dairy Science and Technology, Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India.

Inderpreet Kaur

Department of Economics and Business Management, College of Dairy Science and Technology, Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India.

Varinderpal Singh

Department of Economics and Business Management, College of Dairy Science and Technology, Guru Angad Dev Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 15 November 2021	Pig farming is stepping out from subsistence farming to commercial farming.
Revised : 16 January 2022	In order to enhance the commercialized pork production for gaining self-
Accepted : 07 February 2022	sufficiency, it is necessary to study the production and related parameters of
	pig at farm level. This study aims to investigate the production parameters and
Available online: 17 April 2022	disposal pattern of farm waste adopted by pig farmers in the Punjab. 90
	piggery units were surveyed out of which sample size of total of 82 breeding-
Key Words:	cum-finisher units of pig were categorized into small farms (< 10 sows),
Farrowing interval	medium farms (10-25 sows) and large farms (> 25 sows). The study reveals
Finisher pigs	that large size category favoured the ideal pig production parameters. It was
Large White Yorkshire	observed that the 5.17 % of breedable sows were kept on an average for
Mortality	producing finisher pigs for sale (44.60 %). Large category was found having
Pig Farming	largest average litter size at birth (10.2). Similarly, average weight at saleable
Production traits	age of finisher pig is found to be highest in large size category (102.86 kg).
	Majority (59.07 %) of the small pig farmers dump the manure at waste heap
	or dispose it in the sewage posing environmental problems.

Introduction

Livestock sector contributes about 25.80 % and 38.77 % of agricultural gross domestic product (GDP) in India and Punjab respectively and is continuously improving over time. India has the world's largest livestock population, accounting for over 37.28 % of cattle, 21.23 % of buffalo, 26.40 % of goats, 12.17 % of sheep and 1.7 % of pigs. Punjab, located in the north-western part of India, is a predominantly agricultural state having 83 % of its area under cultivation with an average cropping intensity of 180 %. Northern state of Punjab is epicenter of green revolution and is regarded as "food bowl" of the country for sustaining food security. In last 20 years, farm environmental crises of air and water have increased and allied enterprises are being promoted by government for diversification. Livestock sector is an integral part

of rural economy which contributes about 25.80 % and 38.77 % of agricultural gross domestic product in India and Punjab respectively (Statistical Abstract of Punjab, 2019). Due to decreasing input over output agricultural returns, there is a need of adapting allied occupations. As compared to other livestock species, Pig is one of the most productive and fast growing livestock species that can convert food waste to significant products (Rodriguez-Estevez et al., 2010). Pigs have higher turnover rate due to large litter sizes i.e., higher fecundity rate (average 6-12 piglets in each farrowing), and can farrow twice in a year with shorter gestation period (average 115 days), and dressing %age ranges from 70 - 80 in comparison to other livestock species whose dressing yields in the range of 50-60 % (Tewe and Adesehinwa, 1995). Pig farming

provides quick returns to the small and marginal farmers since the marketable weight of fatteners can be achieved with in a period of 6-8 months. Pigs require minimal input in terms of family labour and feeding (Mutua *et al.*, 2010) and it is the best option due to cost factor (Sahu *et al.*, 2018).

Punjab accounts for only 0.57 % of total pig population of the country (Basic Animal Husbandry Statistics, 2019). The indigenous pig population of Punjab is 0.09 lakhs and the exotic/crossbred pig population is 0.44 lakhs (20th Livestock Census, 2019). As the growth rate of pig population in Punjab has been increasing over the time i.e. 7.18 % in the period of 2012-19, there is opportunity for farmers to adopt pig farming for consumption within the state and export across the country. Punjab ranks 7th with respect to pork production with the growth rate of 11.2 % in the country. Pig meat production in Punjab accounts for 0.47 % of the total meat production of the state and 0.27 % share of total pork produced in the country in 2018-19 (Statistical Abstract of Punjab, 2019).

Despite the fact that pigs are largely nondescript animals, the state and central low-quality government has made efforts to improve their poor production capacity by cross-breeding local pigs with well-known exotic breeds such as Large White Yorkshire, Middle White Yorkshire, Land Race, New Hampshire, and others. In reality, most state governments maintain breeding farms with exotic pigs from which pig farmers may obtain male breeding animals for cross-breeding their female breeding stock. Pig productivity is determined by mortality and growth rate, both of which are linked to feed conversion efficiency. In pig farming, the management system is critical because it creates the environment that allows the animals to perform to their full potential. In fact, the traditional system of rearing local breeds, as well as production patterns used on most piggery farms, such as poor feeding, housing of animals in filthy sheds, improper housing (either overcrowded or over spacious), and improper orientation, pose a serious threat to the pig industry. Furthermore, we must succeed in improving the body weight and carcass quality of the pigs by employing cost-effective feed made mostly from agricultural waste and unusual byproducts.

farming for better farm management and to

Material and Methods

generate handsome returns.

From the Punjab state, three districts with highest concentration of pig population in the year 2018-19 (Ludhiana, Mohali and Sangrur) were selected (Statistical Abstract of Punjab, 2019). From each district, based on the number of adult sows kept, 30 pig farmers were selected for the present study and that make total sample size of 90 pig farmers. From the survey of 90 pig farmers, 82 breeding-cumfinisher units were taken for the analysis purpose as only number of pig breeding or only finisher units were very few in number. For the selection of piggery units, a complete list of all pig farmers who had breeding-cum-finisher units was prepared. This compiled list was arranged in ascending order of number of adult sows kept by the farmer at the time of the study. By using cumulative cube root frequency method of stratification (Jain, 1998), piggery units were divided among the small, medium and large farmers and the final list of farmers for the study was obtained and presented in Table 1.

Primary data pertaining to following parameters were collected using a specially designed schedule, containing the relevant questions to be answered by the respondents, by personal interview method for the agricultural year 2018-19. Before starting the actual data collection work, pre-testing of the questionnaire schedule was done among randomly selected ten pig farmers in the state. Certain questions which emerge during the course of pretesting and considered important will be included in the final schedule.

I. Production Parameters of pigs at sampled pig farms such as average litter size at birth, mortality %age, average birth weight of piglet, weaning age, average maturity age, average weight at breeding/maturity, male and female ratio of piglets, number of average productive life of sow etc.

- II. Punjab.
- III. Breeding boar kept at different sized pig farms.
- IV. Farm waste management e.g. total manure produced, amount utilized and disposed, etc.

Statistical tools and techniques like averages, %ages and other descriptive statistics were used and relevant inferences were drawn.

Table 1: Categorization of farms in selected districts on the basis of number of Sows.

Category	Number of sows	Average size of the farm	Number of pig farms
Small	0 - 10	6+1	44
Medium	10-25	16+2	24
Large	25 & above	44+2	14
Total		66+5	82

Results and Discussion

The composition of number of sows, boar and piglets and their physiological status such pregnant sow, dry sow, weaner, grower, finisher at different size of farm is described as below.

Structure components of pig farms in Punjab:

The breeding-cum-finisher unit categorizes the herd size into breeding and finisher pigs. The existing herd strength includes piglets and growing pigs for disposing purpose while breedable sows and boars are maintained for further breeding purposes. The distribution of herd size from small, medium and large pig farms has been presented in Table 2.

A perusal of Table 2 revealed that sows were categorized under two types i.e. pregnant and dry sows. The overall average number of breedable sows was found to be 66, from which 40 (60.61 %) were found to be pregnant and 26 (39.39 %) was found to be non- pregnant/ dry sows.

The piglets on the farm were categorized into three categories depending on the age and weight of piglets as weaner (0-1 month, 1-7 kg), grower (2-6 month, 7-75 kg) and finisher (6-12 month, 75-135 kg). In study, an average of 1204 piglets were found in total out of which 194 (16.11 %), 473 (39.28 %) and 537 (44.60 %) were found to be weaner, grower and finisher respectively. The results of the study are in line with Jain, (1998) who revealed that the total herd strength was more or

farrowing per year, farrowing interval, less same, amongst these three feeding patterns while the pig rearer of medium size category had Breeds reared at different sized pig farms in herd strength between 33 and 57 and the piggery herd strength amongst large farmer category ranged between 68 and 95. Mahto, (2006) also reported that majority of the respondents (92.00%) of organized pig farms were keeping large size of stock (>15 pigs), 8.00 % respondents had medium size of stock (11-15 pigs) and no one respondents had small size of stock (< 10 pigs). Whereas, majority of the respondents (44.00%) of unorganized pig farms were keeping large size of stock, 32.00 % respondents had small size of stock and 24.00 % had medium size of stock.

Production traits of pig farming in Punjab state The various parameters regarding category wise production traits of pig farm have been presented in Table 3. Data presented in the table compares the category wise production parameters at pig farms. A scrutiny of the table reveals that the various production traits viz., average litter size at birth, average birth weight of piglet, average litter weight at pre-weaning and post- weaning, average maturity age, average productive life of adult sow, etc. were found to be effectively highest in the large category due to better management, housing and feeding conditions. Thus, Large farmers were found to sale finisher pigs at an average age of 9.93 months and average weight of 102.86 kg followed by medium and small farmers at an average age of 9.23 and 8.77 months and average salable weight of 99.58 kg and 93.41 kg respectively resulting in remunerative returns.

Mortality of piglets at birth was found to be highest in small size category i.e. 13.93 % due to early maturity age of sow (7.01 month), feeding constraints, lack of proper housing facilities, etc. Piglets were found to be weaned early in large farms i.e. 34.42 days because of higher average birth weight of piglet as compared to other categories where the piglets were found to be weaned at average 35.23 days and 37.01 days in medium and small size category respectively.

Mahto, (2006) also reported that the average litter size (number) was found to be 11.72±1.57 in the organized pig farms and 6.48±1.23 in the unorganized pig farms. Average weight of male piglet at birth(kg)was found to be 1.17±0.21 in the organized pig farms and 0.76±0.16 in the unorganized pig farms. Average weight of female

piget at birth (kg) was found to be 1.06 ± 0.14 in the organized pig farms	s and 0.74 ± 0.15 in the un-
Table 2: Composition of pig at different size of farms in Punjab state (in nur	nbers).

Particulars	Small	Medium	Large	Punjab
	(6+1)	(16+2)	(44+2)	(66+5)
	Sov	V		
Pregnant sows	4 (66.67)	10 (62.5)	26 (59.09)	40 (60.61)
Non-pregnant sows	2	6	18	26
	(33.33)	(37.5)	(40.90)	(39.39)
Total breedable sows	6 (100.00)	16 (100.00)	44 (100.00)	66 (100.00)
	Boa	ır		
Boars (for breeding)	1 (100.00)	2 (100.00)	2 (100.00)	5 (100.00)
	Pigle	ets		
0-1 m (weaner)	17	57	120	194
	(19.32)	(20.07)	(14.42)	(16.11)
2-6 m (grower)	30	108	335	473
	(34.09)	(38.03)	(40.26)	(39.28)
6-12 m (finisher)	41	119	377	537
	(15.91)	(41.90)	(45.31)	(44.60)
Total piglets	88	284	832	1204
	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)

Table 3: Production traits of pig farms in Punjab state

SN	Production parameters	Small	Medium	Large	Punjab	
		(6+1)	(16+2)	(44+2)	(66+5)	
1	Average litter size at birth (No.)	8.51	9.61	10.02	10-12	
2	Mortality at birth (%)	13.93	7.69	7.31	10-12	
3	Average birth weight of piglet (gm)	1055.21	1100.30	1200.21	1000-1400	
4	Weaning age (days)	37.01	35.23	34.42	21-35	
5	Average litter weight at pre weaning (kg)	4	4.5	5	5	
6	Average litter weight at post weaning (kg)	17.45	18.55	20.04	20-22	
7	Average maturity age (n	nonth)				
(a)	Boar	7.25	7.95	8.01	8	
(b)	b) Sow 7.01 7.06 7.11					
8	Average weight at breeding/m	aturity (kg)				
(a)	Boar	85.86	87.87	90.09	85-90	
(b)	Sow	83.64	88.57	90.61	85-90	
9	Ratio in kids					
(a)	Male piglet	49.66	51.25	48.57	51	
(b)	Female piglet	50.34	48.75	51.42	49	
10	Number of farrowing per year	2.01	2.01	2.04	2	
11	Farrowing interval (days)	142	143	145	145-147	
12	Average productive life of adult sow (yr.)	3.58	3.87	3.98	3.6-3.8	
13	Average saleable age of finisher (month)	8.77	9.23	9.93	9-10	
14	Weight at saleable age of finisher (kg)	93.41	99.58	102.86	100-120	

organized pig farms. Average age for maturity of male was found to be 7.40 ± 0.50 in the organized pig farms and 11.32 ± 1.14 in the un-organized pig farms. The average age of maturity of female, was

found to be 7.20 ± 0.64 in the organized pig farms and 11.04 ± 1.06 in the un-organized pig farms.

Similar results were observed by Jain, (1998) who reported that most of the sows maintained by the

small farmers farrrowed twice and average litter size ranged between 6.5 and 7. Piglets below 2 months of age had higher mortality (ranged between 8.3 to 14.2%), as compare to piglets above 2 months. Sows maintained by medium farmers farrowed twice and their average litter size ranged between 6.6 and 8.5. Piglets below 2 month had higher mortality ranging between 13.1 and 17.2% whereas sows maintained by large farmers farrowed twice and average litter size ranged between 6.8and8.5. The age at first service varied across farm size categories mostly between 9 and 10 months. Gestation period ranged in most of the cases between 117 and 120 days. The mortality rate of piglets was high before weaning ranged between 11 and 16%. The marketing age of pigs across farm category was mostly either 2-3 months or above 9 months.

Breeds of Pigs in Punjab, 2018-19:

A perusal of the table 4 revealed that highest proportion (54.88 %) of breeds kept by the pig farmers was found to be crossbred of LWY* Landrace in Punjab followed by the crossbred of LWY* Duroc accounting to be 42.68 %. Apart from indigenous breeds, only Ghungroo was found be reared only by 4.54 % of small farmers in Punjab. Thus, small farmers need better breeding facilities for improving production traits.

Category wise analysis reveals that 64.28 % of large farmers rear crossbred of LWY* Landrace followed by small (56.82 %) and medium (45.83 %) pig farmers whereas majority of medium farmers (54.17 %) rear crossbred of LWY* Duroc followed by small (38.64 %) and large (35.71 %) farm size category. Najuki *et al.*, (2010) also observed that 54 % of the households kept large black pig breed, 21% the indigenous/local breeds and 13% the cross breeds. The exotic breeds were preferred because of their rapid growth rate (32%), easy feeding (24%), and high littering ability (15%). Thirty seven % of the entire sample practiced controlled mating.

Breeding Boar of pig farmers in Punjab, 2018-19 A perusal of the table 5 reveals that amongst the breeding boar, the proportion of owned boar was highest in pig farming in all the categories in Punjab i.e. 89.02 % farmers were having their own boar whereas the proportion of farmers who used other farmers' boar was found to be 10.97 %. All the farmers of medium and large farm size category

were found to have their own breeding boar at the farm whereas 20.45 % of only small farmers were found using boars of other farmer's for breeding purposes due to small farm size and less initial capital investment on animals as compared to medium and large farm size category.

Economic Assessment: Management of farm waste under different production systems in Punjab, 2018-19

The production and disposal of farm waste is crucial to know the importance of pig manure in other integrated farming systems e.g. in fish farming, crop farming, etc. Moreover, the disposal pattern of farmers can be known that do not use it in the field rather dispose it in the sewage which might pose environment problems. The various parameters regarding the management of farm waste by pig farmers of Punjab has been presented in the Table 6. The study indicates that the majority of the large and medium farms were organized while small farms were unorganized. The waste management of the pig production systems in all the categories was unorganized. Total manure produced at large farm was found to be 4697.55 gtls/ farm/year followed by medium (2660.85 gtls/ farm/year) and small farms (1182.60 gtls/ farm/year). Majority (59.07 %) of the small pig farmers dump the manure at waste heap or dispose it in the sewage whereas 40.91 % used it in their own farm out of which major proportion (34.08 %) is used at the agricultural field and 6.82 % is used at the fish farm. Medium farmers were found to use 91.67 % of farm waste at their own farm out of which 69.67 % was used at agricultural field and 25.00 % was used at the fish farm whereas only 8.33 % of total farm waste was disposed off. In large farm size category, 92.86 % of the farmers were found to use farm waste at their own farm i.e. 69.23 % at the agricultural field and 30.77 % at the fish farm. The disposal pattern of pig farmers in the sewage poses environment problems. As preventing measures government should restrict the dumping of pig farm waste into the sewage as it ultimately leads to the environmental degradation especially of the urban section of the society. Thus, policies are required for waste management produced at pig farms especially for landless farmers who ultimately have to dump the waste into sewage.

Similar findings were made by Najuki *et al.* (2010) who reported that 58% of the households had a

Breeds	Small	Medium	Large	Punjab					
	(6+1)	(16+2)	(44+2)	(66+5)					
	Crossbred								
LWY* Landrace	25	11	9	45					
	(56.82)	(45.83)	(64.28)	(54.88)					
LWY* Duroc	17	13	5	35					
	(38.64)	(54.17)	(35.71)	(42.68)					
		Indigenous							
Ghungroo	2	0	0	2					
	(4.54)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(2.44)					
Total	44	24	14	82					
	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)					

compost pit to which the waste from the sty was collected. The main use of the waste was manure **Table 4: Breeds of Pigs in Punjab, 2018-19**

*LWY= Large white Yorkshire

Table 5: Breeding Boar of pig farmers in Punjab, 2018-19

Particulars	Small	Medium	Large	Punjab
	(6+1)	(16+2)	(44+2)	(66+5)
Own boar	35	24	14	73
	(79.54)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(89.02)
Other farmer's boar	9	0	0	9
	(20.45)	(0.00)	(0.00)	(10.97)
Total	44	24	14	82
	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)

Table 6: Management of farm waste by pig farmers in Punjab, 2018-19

Particulars	Sr	nall	Medium		La	irge	Punjab	
	(6	+1)	(10	5+2)	(44+2)		(66+5)	
	Average	Frequency	Average	Frequency	Average	Frequency	Average	Frequency
	pdtn/		pdtn/		pdtn/		pdtn/	
	farm/		farm/ year		farm/		farm/ year	
	year (qtl)		(qtl)		year (qtl)		(qtl)	
Total	1182.6	44	2660.85	24	4697.55	14	8541	82
manure	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00)	(100.00) (100.00)		(100.00)	(100.00)
production								
Own farm	483.79	18	2439.14	22	4362.01	13	5520.48	53
	(40.91)	(40.91)	(91.67)	(91.67)	(92.86)	(92.86)	(64.63)	(64.63)
Agricultural	403.05	15	1773.92	16	3019.86	9	4166.4	40
field	(34.08)	(83.33)	(66.67)	(72.73)	(64.28)	(69.23)	(48.78)	(75.47)
Fish farm	80.61	3	665.22	6	1342.16 4		1354.08	13
	(6.82)	(16.67)	(25.00)	(26.09)	(28.57) (30.77)		(15.85)	(24.53)
Dispose	698.62	26	221.74	2	335.54	335.54 1		29
(sewage,	(59.07)	(31.71)	(8.33)	(8.33)	(7.14)	(7.14)	(35.37)	(35.36)
waste heap)								

for crops (94%), while 3% reported that the waste was given out to friends and neighbours. Eleven % of the households in Wokha district sold manure at the farm gate to other farmers. Eleven % of the households reported that family members complained that the environment around the homesteads was smelly. 39% of all sampled households, 60% in Phek, 50% in Kohima, 30% in

Wokha and 10% in Mokokchung reported that these problems posed a health risk to their families.

Conclusion

Pig production systems of Punjab provide wide opportunity to further enhance the commercialised pork production for gaining self sufficiency in pork production. Value addition adds to the additional income at the large pig farms besides the availability of better feeding, management and waste management. Majority of the landless small farmers were lacking ideal productions and waste management at the farm. Indigenous breeds hinder the production system at commercial scale. The proliferation of indigenous breeds like ghungroo is not much appreciated as that of crossbreds and exotic breeds. So, farmers should be encouraged to use exotic or crossbred breeds of pigs so as to get the maximum returns possible and to minimize some of the production constraints. In addition to poor veterinary, transportation of pigs to hospitals is difficult as it requires extra labour and transportation costs. The regular check up of the animals with timely vaccination (for FMD and swine fever) and deworming is necessary which needs to be easily available locally. Small farmers which do not have their own boar, hire the services from unorganised sector, which increase the risk of disease and other issues. Farmers should be made

References

- 20th Livestock Census (2019), Department of Animal Husbandry, Dairying and Fisheries, Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India, New Delhi.
- Birthal, P. S., & Jabir, A. (2005). Potential of livestock sector in rural transformation. *Rural transformation in India: The role of non-farm sector*, 377-392.
- Birthal, P. S., Joshi, P. K., & Kumar, A. (2002). Assessment of research priorities for livestock sector in India. Policy Paper 15, National Centre for Agricultural Economics and Policy Research, New Delhi.
- Husbandry, B. A., & Statistics, F. (2019). Government of india. Ministry of Agriculture, Department of Animal Husbandry, dairying & Fisheries, Krishi Bhavan, New Delhi, 1-132.
- Jain, R. K. (1998). Economic Analysis of Pig Farming in Haryana (Doctoral dissertation, Agricultural Economics, CCSHAU, Hisar).
- Mahto V.K. (2006). Economic evaluation of pig farming in organized and unorganized farms in Ranchi district of Jharkhand, M.V.Sc. Thesis submitted to Birsa Agricultural University, Ranchi, Jharkhand, India.
- Mutua, F., Arimi, S., Ogara, W., Dewey, C., & Schelling, E. (2010). Farmer perceptions on indigenous pig farming in Kakamega district, Western Kenya. Nordic Journal of African Studies, 19(1), 15-15.
- Njuki, J., Pali, P. N., Mburu, S., & Poole, E. J. (2010). Pig production, management and marketing in the North East

aware of using good quality semen by consulting government piggery units and veterinary doctors so that production constraints like high mortality, diseases, lower litter size, etc. can be combated. Boar of good germ plasm and of pure exotic breed should be encouraged by the local veterinary hospitals. Mechanism for piggery waste disposal in the state is required so that it can be utilized properly. In addition, it can be used in the fish farm to support the integrated model of pig-cum-fish farming. Management awareness through training and extension education is required in the state of Punjab to up-lift the entrepreneur behavior of pig farmers for better returns. Policy implications at farm level by the state governments for the development of piggery sector are required.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Indian State of Nagaland.International Livestock Research Institute Nairobi.

- Panday, U. K., Singh, M. P., & RAM, M. (1997). Pig farming in Haryana: Prospects and retrospects. *The Indian Journal* of Animal Sciences, 67(1).57-62
- Rodríguez-Estévez, V., Sánchez-Rodríguez, M., García, A., & Gómez-Castro, A. G. (2010). Feed conversion rate and estimated energy balance of free grazing Iberian pigs. *Livestock Science*, 132(1-3), 152-156.
- Sahu, S., Sarangi, A., Gulati, H. K., & Verma, A. (2018). Pig farming in Haryana: A review. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol, 7, 624-632.
- Sharma P. (2016). Organic livestock farming vis-a-vis swine husbandry, M.V.Sc. Thesis submitted to West Bengal University of Animal & Fisheries Science, Kolkata, West Bengal, India.
- Statistical Abstract of Punjab (2019), Economic Advisor to Government, Economic and Statistical Organization, Chandigarh
- Tewe, O., & Adesehinwa, A. O. K. (1995, April). Resource requirement for profitable pig farming. In *Pig Production Workshop Training Manual* (pp. 16-26).
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Garrett scoring technique for assessing the constraints faced by dairy farmers of Madhepura district, Bihar

Kishan Raj 🖂

Department of Agricultural Economics, NAI, SHUATS, Prayagraj, India.

Ramachandra

Department of Agricultural Economics, NAI, SHUATS, Prayagraj, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 08 November 2021	The present investigation is entitled as Garrett scoring technique for assessing
Revised : 23 January 2022	the constraints faced by dairy farmers of Madhepura district, Bihar. The
Accepted : 07 February 2022	primary data were collected from 120 cooperative farmers through the random
	sampling method. During the study, various constraints under economics and
Available online: 17April 2022	marketing of milk were evaluated as per the response of sample dairy farmers
*	of the study area. Major economic constraints recognised among the group of
Key Words:	sample farmers were higher cost of cattle feed, easy availability of veterinary
Dairy farmers	facilities, high cost of the improved animal, while major marketing constraints
Economic constraints	were low price of milk, lack of suitable transportation, delay in getting milk
Garrett scoring technique	price. It was also found that the number of dairy farmers decreased in the
Marketing constraints	cooperative milk collection centre with the increase of distance. There was also
-	scope for reduction in the cost of milk production by using modern methods
	and technologies of dairy farming that was completely absent in the study area.

Introduction

Dairy farming is the major component of livestock farming. It has a long tradition in our country. Cow, buffalo and goat are the main domesticated dairy animals. In many nations, agriculturists regard the promotion of the milk production system as one of the most widely favoured paths to rural and overall economic development. It provides dairy farmers with a consistent source of revenue at a low-risk level (FAO, 2017). The care and management of milking animals provide socially desirable work opportunities. Nowadays people sell milk where the market is available. Many small dairy plants also have been established in rural areas. Dairy farming is developing as a dairy enterprise in many parts of our country. In the state of Bihar, milk production is a significant source of income among small and marginal farmers. Small dairy farmers produce around 80% of the total milk. Bihar's share of the total milk in India rose from 3.2% in 2001-02 to 5.2% in 2018-19 (Department of Animal Husbandry, Dairying and Fisheries, 2020). Most of the dairy farmers sell their milk in milk collection

centres for earning a good income. The Bihar State Milk Co-Operative Federation Ltd. (COMFED) is supporting dairy farmers in various ways for decades. This research has been done to throw some light on the constraints faced by the dairy farmers while selling milk to the milk cooperatives and some suggestions will be given to cope with problems and enhance income in the dairy sectors.

Material and Methods

The present study involves the detailed sampling design nature and mode of collection of data and analytical tools employed in achieving the objective of the study. The present research was taken up in the Madhepura district of Bihar. The study area and the cooperative milk collection centre was purposively selected as the milk cooperative centre as it is newly started in the study area. The study was predominantly based on primary data that were collected by using a pretested questionnaire. 120 cooperative dairy farmers were randomly selected for getting primary data and some secondary information were also collected from the Secretary of the Cooperative Society. Dairy farmers were being further categorized under three heads small dairy farmers (less than 5 milking animals), medium dairy farmers (5-10 milking animals) and large dairy farmers (more than 10 milking animals). The collected data were coded, classified so that the findings become meaningful. Garratt ranking tool is applied for analysis of constraints faced by respondents.

Research objective

This study was for potential beneficiaries from those villages which had not much awareness about cooperative milk-collection centres. It will also be helpful to small and medium farmers to provide interest in dairy farming as a security against any failure of agriculture crops and it can help farmers to get additional income through milk production. Dairy cooperatives replace all the action of middlemen which helps the farmers to get the proper value of their produce. Dairy plays a very vital role in increasing farmers' income (Gadad et al., 2020). The demand for milk and milk products is increasing day by day due to rapid population growth and urbanization. But, because of inadequate milk supply and ill management of its marketing system, still, dairy farmers are suffering from "Milk Holiday". Milk holidays become more severe, farmers of this study area are facing this problem due to various reasons: Banda, Strike and other technical problems of the adequate alternative milk market. There is a lack of reasonable prices of milk products in the local market. So, the farmers increase their consumption (Shuya et al., 2014).

Keeping view of the above points, data through questionnaire investigations were conducted in with following objectives:

- 1. To study the demographic conditions of dairy farmers in the study area.
- 2. To identify constraints and suggestions of the respondent in the study area.

Tools of analysis

The total number of respondents was fixed as 120. The samples were randomly collected from the farmers from every one of these communes, which were dispensed a few of the four villages *viz.*, Mirganj, Dighi, Rahta and Belari in probability proportion. The respondents have been decided on at random in every village. The sample farmers under each category were decided on in proportion

to their respective total population, the chosen villages with the pattern respondents in every of the selected villages are furnished in the following Table 1.

Scoring technique

To study the constraints faced by the dairy farmers in running dairy farm and marketing of milk, the scoring technique was adopted, as suggested by Garrett for converting the ranks into scores, when the preference of a particular constraint differ from respondent to respondent. The conversion method was as follows:

As a first step the per cent position of each rank was found out by the given formula:

Percent position =
$$\frac{100 (Rij - 0.5)}{Nj}$$

Where,

Rij = Rank given for ith item by the jth individual Nj= Numbers of items ranked by jth individual

The percent position was then converted into scores by referring to the table given by Garrett. Following this procedure, the order of merit given by each of the respondents as the problems in the financial management of dairy farms and marketing of milk was converted into scores. Then for each reason, the scores of individual respondents were added together and divided by the total number of respondents were added. These mean scores for all reasons were arranged in descending order and ranks were given. By this method, the accuracy in determining the preference was obtained.

 Table 1: Details of number of villages and dairy farmers under cooperative milk collection centre.

SN	Village Number of dairy farmers							
514	Name	Small	Medium	Large				
1.	Mirganj	10	10	10				
2.	Dighi	10	10	10				
3.	Rahta	10	10	10				
4.	Belari	10	10	10				
	Total	40	40	40				

Results and Discussion

Economic constraints faced by Dairy farmers

The study has shown the various economic problems faced by dairy farmers. From Table 3, it could be seen that six problems were identified by the respondents. It could be observed that the higher cost of cattle feed was ranked as the foremost reason which caused difficulties in obtaining better income for dairy farmers. Poor health services and no easy availability of veterinary facilities were ranked second. Farmers also stated that they were facing problems due to the high cost of improved animals and ranked this third. Lack of loan facilities, lack of nutritional fodder and lack of technical facility were ranked 4^{th} , 5^{th} and 6^{th} respectively.

Rank estimation

The samples were collected randomly from small, medium and large dairy farmers of the Madhepura district. The sample size is fixed to 120. Where, the number of small, medium and large farmers were 40 in each category. It can be simply understood by considering the following Table 1.

Table 2 describes the total rank given by each respondent on different factors which causes problems in the management of the dairy farm. From Table 2, it is observed that maximum respondents *i.e.*, 34 respondents were given 1st rank to one problem that is the high cost of the improved animal. On the other hand, the 2nd highest rank given to another problem that is the higher cost of cattle feed, and so on which briefly explains the rank given by the total dairy farmers on different factors which causes problems on maintaining the dairy farm.

Percent Position Value Estimation

Percent position values were calculated by considering the formula *i.e.*, 100(Rij-0.5)/Nj; to evaluate the Garrett value, the percent position value was essential to rank the exact causes for a particular phenomenon or problem.

Estimation of the total score given by sample dairy farmers

The total score of each factor rank will be estimated by multiplying the Garrett value with the respect given value. Hence, the total score is essential to calculate the average score given by the total respondents under different factors of a particular phenomenon. Table 4 describes the calculation procedures of the Total Score of the sample respondents. The total score was calculated by multiplying Garrett Value with the respective rank given by the respondents on each factor of the sample. Hence, on the first rank, the Garrett value

is 77 and the number of respondents given Rank 1 is 34. So, by multiplying this two, we were getting the total score *i.e.*, 2618. Hence, all the estimation processes go in the same direction on every factor with their respective rank given by the number of respondents.

Estimation of Average Score

Under Garrett value ranking techniques, the average score will be calculated by dividing the total score by the total respondents of the selected sample. The highest percentage average score indicates the 1st rank whereas the lowest percentage average score indicates the last rank of the total estimated factors rank. The study has shown the various problems in obtaining institutional credit, which is presented in Table 5. From this table, it could be seen that six problems were identified by the respondents. Out of those six, the higher cost of cattle feed was ranked as the foremost one which caused inconvenience to the dairy farmers in maintaining the cattle. This might be due to the lesser availability of grazing lands because the majority of the farmers in the research region were landless and marginal. In recent years, population growth, industrialization, and urbanization have all contributed to a scarcity of grazing land. These results are in line with Singh et al. (2000), Gopi et al. (2020). The lack of veterinary facilities was the next most significant restriction. Manivannan (2008) also mentioned a lack of effective field-level extension support for livestock-related operations. Policymakers and administrators can take the required steps to replace vacant Veterinary Assistant Surgeons posts at the block or village level, and the Veterinary University and Animal Husbandry Department can execute appropriate awareness initiatives about the latest dairy technologies. The problem of the high cost of improved breed of animal was ranked third. Because improved breeds are harder to get by in the study area, farmers are forced to buy them from other states, raising the animal's cost. The sample farmers also faced problems in lending loans for their dairy business, which ranked fourth. Because the majority of farmers in the research area are marginal and small, a problem with loan lending could be attributed to a lack of documentation and items for a mortgage by the farmers. Lack of nutritional fodder and technical facility was at rank fifth and sixth, respectively. These results are in conformation with Paudel (2014).

Table 2: Rank estimation of total sample dairy farmers

SN	Problems	R1	R2	R3	R4	R5	R6	TOTAL
1	High cost of improved animal	34	11	15	20	14	26	120
2	Higher cost of cattle feed	27	34	17	11	20	11	120
3	Easy availability of veterinary facilities	15	24	25	25	21	10	120
4	Lack of loan facility	13	19	29	22	21	16	120
5	Lack of technical facility	11	14	14	22	27	32	120
6	Lack of nutritional fodder	24	17	16	15	16	32	120

Source: Primary source, *Note: R1- Rank 1, R2- Rank 2 and so on.

Table 3: Estimation of Garrett value for each percent position value

Rank	100(Rij-0.5)/Nj	Percent Position Value	Garrett Value
R1	100(1-0.5)/6	8.33	77
R2	100(2-0.5)/6	25.00	63
R3	100(3-0.5)/6	41.67	54
R4	100(4-0.5)/6	58.33	46
R5	100(5-0.5)/6	75.00	37
R6	100(6-0.5)/6	91.7	23

Table 4: Estimation of total score by multiplying Garrett value with the respective rank Garrett value

SN	Problems	R1*77	R2*63	R3*54	R4*46	R5*37	R6*23	TOTAL
1	High cost of improved animal	2618	693	810	920	518	598	6157
2	Higher cost of cattle feed	2079	2142	918	506	740	253	6638
	Easy availability of veterinary							
3	facilities	1155	1512	1350	1150	777	230	6174
4	Lack of loan facility	1001	1197	1566	1012	777	368	5921
5	Lack of technical facility	847	882	756	1012	999	736	5232
6	Lack of nutritional fodder	1848	1071	864	690	592	736	5801

Source: Primary survey *Note: R1*77 means Total number of respondents given first factor as Rank 1 multiply with respective Garrett value i.e.,77 and others are estimated like that.

Table 5: Estimation of average score of the total s	ample dairy farmers
---	---------------------

SN	Problems	Total	Average score	Rank
1	High cost of improved animal	6157	51.31	3 rd
2	Higher cost of cattle feed	6638	55.32	1 st
3	Easy availability of veterinary facilities	6174	51.45	2 nd
4	Lack of loan facility	5921	49.34	4 th
5	Lack of technical facility	5232	43.60	6 th
6	Lack of nutritional fodder	5801	48.34	5 th

Source: Primary Survey

*Note: Average Score = Total score/ Total Respondents

Marketing constraints faced by dairy farmers

The study has shown the various marketing problems faced by dairy farmers. From Table 6 it could be seen that five marketing problems were identified by the respondents. It could be observed that the low price of milk was ranked as the foremost reason which affect the prices received by dairy farmers in milk marketing. Lack of suitable

transportation facility was ranked second as some of them live far away from the collection centre. Farmers also stated that they are facing problems due to delays in getting the price of milk and ranked this third. Milk holiday and timing of milk collection and measurement of milk at collection centre were ranked 4th and 5th, respectively in milk marketing.

Rank estimation

The samples were collected randomly from small, medium and large dairy farmers of the Madhepura district. The sample size is fixed to 120. Where, the number of small, medium and large farmers were 40 in each category. It can be simply understood by considering the following Table 6. Table 6 describes the total rank given by each respondent on different factors which caused the problem in marketing and sales of milk to the milk cooperative

centre. It was observed that maximum respondents i.e., 39 dairy farmers were given 1st rank to the lesser prices paid by milk cooperative. On the other hand, the 2nd highest rank was given to lack of suitable vehicle for carrying milk to cooperative centre and so on which briefly explain the rank given by the total sample dairy farmers on different factors which causes problems in selling milk to cooperative centre.

SN	Constraints	R1	R2	R3	R4	R5	TOTAL
1	Lack of suitable transport	29	37	26	19	11	120
2	Low price of milk	39	35	18	13	13	120
3	Delay in getting price of milk	24	22	44	13	17	120
4	Milk holiday	14	13	15	35	43	120
5	Timing of milk collection	10	13	15	40	42	120

Table 0. Rank estimation of total sample dan y farmers	Table 6: Ra	nk estimation	of total	sample	dairy	farmers.
--	-------------	---------------	----------	--------	-------	----------

Source: Primary source *Note: R1- Rank 1, R2- Rank 2 and so on.

Table 7: Esti	mation of Garrett value for	each percent position value	1e.
Donk	100/D;; 0.5)/N;	Doroont Desition	Value

Rank	100(Rij-0.5)/Nj	Percent Position Value	Garrett Value
R1	100(1-0.5)/5	10.00	75
R2	100(2-0.5)/5	30.00	60
R3	100(3-0.5)/5	50.00	50
R4	100(4-0.5)/5	70.00	40
R5	100(5-0.5)/5	90.00	24

Table 8: Estimation of total score by multiplying Garrett value with the respective rank Garrett value.

SN	Problems	R1*75	R2*60	R3*50	R4*40	R5*24	TOTAL
1	Lack of suitable transport	2175	2220	1300	760	264	6719
2	Low price of milk	2925	2100	900	520	312	6777
3	Delay in getting price of milk	1800	1320	2200	520	408	6248
4	Milk holiday	1050	780	750	1400	1032	5012
5	Timing of milk collection	750	780	750	1600	1008	4888

Source: Primary survey

*Note: R1*77 means Total number of respondents given first factor as Rank 1 multiply with respective Garrett value i.e.,77 and others are estimated like that.

Table 9: Estimation of average score of the total respondents.

SN	Problems	Total	Average score	Rank
1	Lack of suitable transport	6719	55.99	2 nd
2	Low price of milk	6777	56.47	1 st
3	Delay in getting price of milk	6248	52.07	3 rd
4	Milk holiday	5012	41.77	4^{th}
5	Timing of milk collection	4888	40.73	5 th

Source: Primary Survey

*Note: Average Score = Total score/ Total Respondents

Percent position value estimation

Percent position values were calculated by considering the formula i.e., 100(Rij-0.5)/Nj; to evaluate the Garrett value, the percent position value is essential to rank the exact causes for a particular phenomenon or problem.

Estimation of Total Score given by Sample respondents

The total score of each factor rank will be estimated by multiplying the Garrett value with the respect given value. Hence, the total score is essential to calculate the average score given by the total respondents under different factors of a particular phenomenon. Table 8 describes the calculation procedures of the Total Score of the sample respondents. The total score is calculated by multiplying Garret Value with the respective rank given by the respondents on each factor of the sample. Hence, on the first rank, the Garrett value is 75 and the number of respondents given Rank 1 is 39. So, by multiplying this two, we are getting the total score i.e., 2925. Hence, all the estimation processes go in the same direction on every factor with their respective rank given by the number of dairy farmers.

Estimation of Average Score

Under Garrett value ranking techniques, the average score will be calculated by dividing the total score by the total sample of dairy farmers. The highest percentage average score indicates the 1st rank whereas the lowest percentage average score indicates the last rank of the total estimated factors rank. The study had shown the various problems in marketing and sales of milk to the cooperative centre, which is presented in Table 9. From this table, it could be seen that five marketing problems were identified by the dairy farmers. Out of those, lower prices of milk paid by cooperative was ranked as the foremost one. These results might be due to the huge difference between buying and

References

- Department of Animal husbandry and dairying. (2020). Annual report. Retrieved from https://dahd.nic.in/sites/default/filess/Annual.
- FAO. (2017). The future of food and agriculture- trends and challenges. Rome.
- Gadad, P. C., & Kunnal, L. B. (2018). Socio-Economic Profile and Constraints Faced by the Members of Milk Producers

selling prices of milk by the milk cooperative. Similar results were also validated by Paudel (2014). The non-availability of automated milk transporting vehicles ranked second. Lack of knowledge and non-availability of advanced mechanized vehicles among dairy farmers for milk transportation in the study region lead to acidification of milk due to higher temperature exposure (Paudel, 2014). The third most challenging problem faced by dairy farmers was a delay in credit of milk price by the cooperative. Some other factors responsible for causing problems in the marketing of milk were milk holidays due to strike or banda, improper timings of milk collection by the cooperative as identified by the sample dairy farmers. Farmers suffer a significant loss in this case since there is no other milk market. Despite their desire to sell their extra milk output, farmers are obligated to consume it.

Conclusion

The present investigation was focused on identifying the various constraints faced by the sample dairy farmers in the study area. Therefore, based on the survey, interview and secondary data it can be concluded that dairy farmers of Madhepura district were facing both economic and marketing constraints in selling milk to milk cooperative recentres and running the dairy business. In economic constraints, high cost of improved animals, cattle feed, lack of veterinary facilities were found commonly in the study area. Dairy farmers are getting lower prices for the milk, lack of transporting vehicles, delay in credit of money were the major marketing constraints.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Co-Operative Societies in Production and Marketing of Milk in Dharwad District of Karnataka-An Analysis. *Agriculture Update*, *13*(2), 123-127.

Gopi, R. A., Manivannan, M. G., Sindhu & Soundararajan, C. (2020). Socio-Economic Profile and Constraints of Dairy Farmers in Cuddalore District of Tamil Nadu, India. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Science*, 9(04): 1320-1326.

- Kumar, A. (2010). Milk marketing chains in Bihar: Implications for dairy farmers and traders. Agricultural Economics research review, 23(347-2016-16945), 469-478.
- Manivannan, A. (2008). Livestock farming systems in Tamil Nadu. Unpublished Ph. D. thesis, Tamil Nadu Veterinary and Animal Sciences University, Chennai.
- Paudel, K. S. (2014). The socio-economic condition of dairy farmers: A case study of Lamahi chilling center, Dang district. M.A., Thesis, Central Department of Rural Development, Tribhuvan University, Kathmandu.
- Shuya, K., & Sharma, A. (2014). Impact and constraints faced by the borrowers of cooperative bank finance in Nagaland. *Economic Affairs*, *59*(4), 561-567.
- Singh, K., & Pundir, R. S. (2000). Co-operatives and rural development in India. Anand: Institute of Rural Management. Anand, India.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal





Soil biological properties as affected by the conjunction of chemical fertilizers, bacterial consortia and bio-enhancers in foxtail millet cultivation

M. Veerendra 🖂

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, Professor Jayashankar Telangana state Agricultural University, Hyderabad, India. **B. Padmaja**

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, Professor Jayashankar Telangana state Agricultural University, Hyderabad, India.

M. Malla Reddy

Department of Agronomy, College of Agriculture, Professor Jayashankar Telangana state Agricultural University, Hyderabad, India.

S. Triveni

Department of Microbiology & Bioenergy, College of Agriculture, Professor Jayashankar Telangana state Agricultural University, Hyderabad, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 01 November 2021	During Kharif 2019, a field experiment was conducted with eight treatments
Revised : 16 January 2022	replicated three times in Randomized Block Design at College farm, PJTSAU,
Accepted : 27 January 2022	Rajendranagar, Hyderabad. The aim of the study is to investigate the combined
Available online: 17 April 2022	effect of chemical fertilizers and bio-agents (bacterial consortia and bio- enhancers) on soil biological parameters (bacterial population, urease, dehydrogenase, acid phosphatase and alkaline phosphatase) under foxtail millet
Key Words:	cultivation in semi-arid region where soil and climatic constraints prevail in
Bacterial consortia	general. The bacterial population in the rhizosphere soil was found to be
Beejamrutha	greater in all the treatments that received bacterial consortia appended with
Bio-enhancers	bio-enhancers compared to the remaining treatments as they are rich in
Foxtail millet	microbial population. The soil enzyme activity was found to be higher when
Jeevamrutha	bioagents were used in conjunction with fertilizers, similar to bacterial
	population. The use of bacterial consortia or bio-enhancers alone also improved
	enzyme activity when compared to the control, while fertilizers alone, were poor in the activity of above enzymes. The percentage increase in the overall
	biological activity over the initial value was found to be highest when bioagents were used along with the chemical fertilizers at 50% flowering and harvest
	stages whereas it was found least in the control and lower in the treatments applied with chemical fertilizers alone.

Introduction

Soil should not be regarded as a simple medium for crop growth; rather, it should be considered as a complex biological ecosystem. This was understood by Indian farmers and they used to follow natural laws, which aided in the preservation of soil health over a substantial period of time. But, with green revolution, the use of fertiliser responsive varieties and agrochemicals has resulted in a huge increase in yield which enabled India to become self-sufficient in food grain production but caused serious damage to the soil health due to dumping of huge chemicals into the agricultural

soils. Eco-friendly technologies must be developed and made available to farmers in order to restore the soil health. As a result, scientists and policymakers are rethinking agricultural systems that rely heavily on bio- inputs rather than synthetic/chemical fertilizers alone. Preserving long-term soil fertility by protecting organic content and supporting biological nature of the soil are important measures. Using biofertilizers, bacterial consortia (combination of biofertilizers), bio-enhancers (*beejamrutha & jeevamrutha*), green manures, farm yard manures, composts etc. are the options found to enhance the biological activity of extracellular enzyme that affects the availability of the soil (Ananda et al., 2017; Boraiah et al., 2017; Hameedi et al., 2018; Krishnaprabhu (2018); Vinay et al., 2020). Use of such organic manures was found to be more feasible and beneficial in low fertilizer requiring crops like millets (Maitra et al., 2020) compared to other crops which are mostly fertilizer responsive type (cereals) and need voluminous amounts of manures (cash crops). Infact, millets grown in some areas are by default organic in nature. This might be a reason for poor millet production levels leading to a large gap between demand and supply leading to escalating price of millets. Proper combination of chemical fertilizers and bioagents can enhance the productivity of the crop as well as the quality (Basha, 2015; Ravi et al., 2012). Since the efficiency of organic manures in meeting crop nutrient requirements is not as certain as it is with mineral fertilizers, the combined use of chemical fertilizers and organics is capable of improving soil quality as well as productivity over a period of time. Organic and mineral fertilizers used together have been proven to be more successful in sustaining higher productivity and soil fertility on the one hand, and favourable soil ecological conditions on the other (Chhonkar, 2002).

Soil fertility is also influenced by the biochemical activities of microflora, particularly in the rhizosphere, which, when influenced by roots, can change the degree of nutrient availability to higher plants (Mallikarjun and Maity, 2017). These microbes also play a major role in the organic matter decomposition, as well as the degradation of toxic materials and other contaminants. Several other soil parameters, such as soil reaction, moisture, temperature, and so on, influence the type and amount of these microorganisms. Soil biological research sheds light on this lively nature of the soil. Further, soil enzyme measurements can be used to determine the biological activity in the rhizosphere soil. These are important in agriculture because they play a crucial part in the biochemical process of organic matter decomposition in the soil, as well as catalysing several vital reactions required for the life processes of microorganisms in the soil. These enzyme activities commonly correlate with microbial population (Kandeler and Murer, 1993; Vinay et al., 2020). Urease is an essential

plant utilizable nitrogen forms in soils. It's one-ofa-kind enzyme that catalyses the conversion of urea to ammonia (NH₄), which is then converted to ammonium (NH_4^+) and nitrate (NO_3^-) ions. Whereas, dehydrogenase is involved in the biological oxidation of soil organic matter, which releases nutrients into the accessible pool. It calculates overall microbial activity in the soil (Taylor et al., 2002). The phosphorus cycle in soil is linked to phosphatase activity (Aon and Colaneri, 2001). The phosphate molecule is removed from organic substances such as phospholipids and nucleic acids by this enzyme in the soil. When phosphate is split, it becomes soluble and can be absorbed by microbes or plants. Thus enzyme assay can predict the biological activity of the soil which is an important soil health indicator.

With these facts in view, a unique effort was made to study the biological parameters under the influence of combined application of recommended dose of chemical fertilizers and bioagents with bacterial consortia and bio-enhancers (beejamrutha and *jeevamrutha*) as organic sources which are gaining importance among farming community these days.

Material and Methods

A field study was performed during kharif, 2019 at College of Agriculture, Rajendranagar, PJTSAU, Hyderabad. The experimental site is located at an altitude of 534 m above mean sea level on 17°32'22"N latitude and 78°41'11"E longitude. It is in the Southern Zone of Telangana State. The site consists of sandy loam soil with 6.42 pH, 0.08 ds/m EC, 0.45% OC, low available Nitrogen (172 kg/ha), medium in Phosphorus (22 kg/ha), high in Potassium (398 kg/ha) and sufficient in Zinc status (0.65 ppm). The initial values of biological properties of soil are furnished in Table 1. The size of gross and net plots was 4.8 m x 3.9 m and 4.2 m x 3.3 m respectively. The experiment was laid out in Randomized Block Design with 3 replications and 8 treatments. The treatment details are mentioned in the Table 2.

Preparation of beejamrutha

Cow dung was collected, tied in a cloth and dipped in a container with 50 litres of water for overnight. Next day, the dung was squeezed into the water.

- ····································							
Biological properties	Initial value	Method adopted					
Bacteria (X 10 ⁵ CFU/g soil)	18	Vlassak et al. (1992)					
Urease ($\mu g NH_4^+/g/2h$)	17.5	Tabatabai and Bremner (1972)					
Dehydrogenase (µg TPF/ g/day)	8.56	Casida <i>et al.</i> (1964)					
Alkaline phosphatse (µg pNP/ g/soil h)	17.08	Tabatabai and Bremner (1969)					
Acid phosphatase (µg pNP/ g/soil h)	18.50	Tabatabai and Bremner (1969)					

Table 1: Initial values of biological properties of soil

Table 2: Treatment details imposed in the experiment

Treatment no.	Treatment	Dose and method of application		
T ₁	Control	No chemical fertilizers/ bacterial consortia/ beejamrutha and		
		jeevamrutha		
T ₂		Full recommended dose		
	Chemical Fertilizers	$(40:20:0 \text{ kg } \text{N}:P_2\text{O}_5: \text{K}_2\text{O}/\text{ha})$		
		Entire p (SSP) as basal, N (Urea) in two splits, one as basal and		
		other as top dressing at 30 DAS		
T ₃	Chemical Fertilizers	Half of recommended dose		
	Chemical Tertilizers	$(20: 10:0 \text{ kg N}:P_2O_5: K_2O/ha)$		
T ₄	Bacterial consortia	2.5 kg / 250 kg FYM/ha through soil application before sowing		
T ₅		Beejamrutha @ 50 L/ha through seed treatment		
	Bio-enhancers	and Jeevamrutha @ 500 L/ha through soil application at		
		fortnightly interval		
T ₆	Bacterial consortia	2.5 kg / 250 kg FYM/ha		
	+ Bio-enhancers	50 L/ha and 500 L/ha		
T ₇	Bacterial consortia	2.5 kg / 250 kg FYM/ha		
	+Bio-enhancers	50 L ha ⁻¹ and 500 L/ha		
	+Chemical fertilizers	Full recommended dose		
T ₈	Bacterial consortia	2.5 kg / 250 kg FYM/ha		
	+ Bio-enhancers	50 L/ha and 500 L/ha		
	+Chemical fertilizers	Half of recommended dose		

Table 3: Ingredients required for preparation of *beejamrutha* hectare⁻¹

a)	Water	50 lit
b)	Desi cow dung*	12.5 kg
c)	Desi cow urine*	12.5 lit
d)	Ant hill soil	250 g
e)	Lime	125 g

Later cow urine and lime were added to this extract. The above solution was stirred well before application (Table 3).

*Dung and urine were collected from the same desi cow (Gir) during the entire cropping period.

Preparation of *jeevamrutha*

All the ingredients (Table 4) were mixed in 500 litres water in a drum and kept for 72 hrs under shade. The above solution was stirred twice a day with a stick. *Jeevamrutha* was prepared for each application three days ahead of application date.

The preparation of beejamrutha and jeevamrutha is

in accordance with Vinay *et al.* (2020). Microbial population found in *beejamrutha* and *jeevamrutha* are 20 x 10^6 CFU/ml and 13 x 10^6 CFU/ml respectively.

Bacterial Consortia

Bacterial consortia, a combination of biofertilizers such as *Azotobacter*, Phosphorus Solubilizing Bacteria (PSB), Potassium Releasing Bacteria (KRB) and Zinc Solubilizing Bacteria (ZnSB) obtained from the Department of Microbiology and Bioenergy, Rajendranagar, PJTSAU. 2.5kg/ha of this consortia is mixed @ 250 kg of FYM/ha.

jee vami aina neetare				
a)	Water	500 lit		
b)	Desi cow dung*	25 kg		
c)	Desi cow urine *	25 lit		
d)	Jaggery	5 kg		
e)	Flour of any pulse	5 kg		
f)	Ant hill soil	250 g		

 Table 4: Ingredients required for preparation of jeevamrutha hectare⁻¹

Bacterial population

Soil bacterial population was enumerated from soil samples of rhizosphere zone collected from 0-15 cm depth at 50% flowering and harvest stage of crop in each treatment plot randomly using serial dilution- agar plating method (Vlassak et al., 1992). A gram of soil sample was placed into 10 ml of distilled water, mixed thoroughly and diluted tenfold. 1 ml of soil suspension was transferred to another 9 ml water blank with a sterile pipette and vigorously mixed, resulting in a sample diluted to 10^{-2} . In a similar way, dilutions were made up to 10^{-2} ⁶. These 1 ml of diluted samples were transferred into sterile petri-plates in a laminar airflow chamber. Then 15 ml of Nutrient agar media $(45^{\circ}C)$ was poured into each plate and mixed the contents by gentle rotation and allowed to solidify. The plates are then, incubated for about 2-3 days at 37°C temperature in BOD incubator. Colonies found on plates were recorded and population per gram of soil was enumerated by using digital colony counter. The number of colonies were multiplied by the dilution factor and expressed as colony forming units (CFU).

Urease activity

Urease activity was analysed by the release of NH_4^+ from the hydrolysis of urea (Tatabai and Bremner, 1972). 5 grams of soil sample was taken into a 50 ml volumetric flask, after adding 0.2 ml of toluene and 9 ml THAM buffer, the flask was shaked to mix the contents thoroughly and 1ml of 0.2M urea solution was added and swirled once again. The flask was stoppered and placed in an incubator at a temperature of 37^{0} C. After 2 hours, 35 mL of KCL-Ag₂SO₄ solution was added and the flask was left to stand until the contents had cooled to room temperature. By adding KCL-Ag₂SO₄ solution, the contents were increased to 50 mL, and the flask was sealed and inverted several times to mix the contents. By pipetting out a 20 ml aliquot of the soil

solution and distilling it with 0.2 g of MgO for 4 minutes, NH4⁺-N was measured in the resultant soil suspension. Controls were made by using the same protocol as the urease activity assay, but adding 1ml of 0.2 M urea solution after the KCL-Ag₂SO₄ solution was added.

Dehydrogenase Activity

In a 50 ml glass tube, 1 g of soil was added, followed by 50 mg of CaCO₃, 2.5 ml of distilled water, and 1 ml of 3 percent 2,3,5-triphenyl tetrazolium chloride. Swirled for a few minutes before incubating for 24 hours at 37°C. The TPF red precipitate was dissolved in 10 ml methanol, agitated for 30 minutes, filtered, and the volume was increased to 25 ml by adding methanol. At 485 nm, the intensity of the red colour was measured using a twin beam UV-Visible spectrophotometer (Casida *et al.*, 1964).

Acid and Alkaline Phosphatase Activity

The activity of phosphophatase was determined using a conventional technique (Tatabai and Bremner, 1972). Enzyme activity was determined by mixing 1 g of soil with 0.2 ml toluene, 4 ml modified universal buffer (MUB) (pH 6.5 and 11 for acid and alkaline phosphatase respectively) and 1 ml p-nitrophenyl phosphate solution in a 50 ml flask. 1 ml of 0.5 M CaCl₂ and 4 ml of 0.5 M NaOH were added after an hour of incubation. The suspension was filtered and the absorbance of the filtrate was measured at 420 nm using UV-Visible spectrophotometer. Controls were prepared by repeating the phosphatase activity assay technique but adding 1ml of p-nitrophenol solution after the additions of 0.5 M CaCl₂ and 4 ml of 0.5 M NaOH.

Results and Discussion

The bacterial population count in the form of colony forming units (CFU) was taken in the rhizosphere soil at 50% flowering and harvest stage apart from the initial status (Table 5). Before sowing of the crop, the count was 18×10^5 CFU/g soil. The perusal of the data at 50% flowering stage reveals highest bacterial population in T₇ in which the conjunctive application of 100% RDF + bacterial consortia + *beejamrutha* and *jeevamrutha* was imposed. It was superior to all the other treatments except T₆ (bacterial consortia + *beejamrutha* alone) and their combination at 50% RDF (T₈). However, compared
to control plot, the population was significantly superior with their individual application $(T_3 \text{ or } T_4)$ and combination (T_6) but not with 50% RDF (T_3) . At harvest, the population was reduced and in control it reached to the initial level. The treatments which received the conjunctive application of bacterial consortia + beejamrutha and jeevamrutha $(T_6, T_7 \text{ and } T_8)$ were at par but superior to control. At harvest also, the bacterial population with 50 % RDF (T_3) was found to be similar with control plot (T_1) . The percentage increase in the bacterial population in treatment T₇ (combined application of 100% RDF, bacterial consortia and bio-enhancers) is 124.06 and 114.78% over the initial status at 50% flowering and harvest stage of the crop respectively. Whereas application of bioagents (bacterial consortia and bio-enhancers) i.e., in T_6 the percentage increase is about 107.39 and 91.67% at 50% flowering and harvest stage of the crop respectively. This indicates a complementary effect between the chemical fertilizers and bioagents in improving the microbial status of the soil. But application of chemical fertilizers alone at 50% and 100% level showed 50, 37.22% at 50% flowering and 30.56, 12.94% increase only at harvest stage over initial value (Figure 1&2). The enhanced growth of bacteria with the combined application of bacterial consortia + beejamrutha and jeevamrutha alone (T_6) or with inorganic fertilizers $(T_7 \text{ or } T_8)$ might be due to increased colonization of the bacteria owing to the increased root growth and their exudates which might have supported the growth of bacteria. As the micro-organisms are well activated in soil following the *jeevamrutha* application (Manjunatha et al., 2009; Kiran et al., 2015; Kumar et al., 2016) increase in the total soil bacterial population was attributed to the addition of bacterial consortia as well as repeated application of *jeevamrutha* which further improved the conditions congenial for the microbial growth. The activity of the urease enzyme was assessed at 50% flowering and harvest stage and compared to

50% flowering and harvest stage and compared to the activity before sowing (17.5 μ g NH₄⁺ g/2h). It was improved in all the treatments including control at both the observations. Higher activity of the enzyme was observed at 50% flowering and declined at harvest (Table 5). Corresponding to the bacterial population, peak activity of the enzyme was observed with the combination of 100% RDF + bacterial consortia + *beejamrutha* and *jeevamrutha*

applied at fortnightly interval (T_7) followed by 50% RDF and bioagents (T_8) and combination of the bioagents alone (T_6) which were at par at both the observations. The next best treatment was *beejamrutha* and *jeevamrutha* alone (T_5) and bacterial consortia alone (T_4), both of which were superior to 100% RDF (T_2), 50% RDF (T_3) and control (T_1). It is evident that urease activity was higher in the biological treatments compared to application of inorganic fertilizers alone.

This might be ascribed to the fact that fortnightly application of *jeevamrutha* might have served as source of carbon, energy and other nutrients essential for the ureolytic micro-organisms (Reddy, 2002). The lower urease activity in inorganic treatments (T_2 and T_3) might be due to lack of sufficient number of colony forming microbes as well as substrate *i.e.*, organic matter which is the energy source for multiplying the microbe number (Nagendra, 2015). The activity of dehydrogenase is high even before sowing, which might be due to the fact that the soil was kept fallow continuously for 5-6 years before the experiment. It was further enhanced in all the treatments including control at 50% flowering and harvest stage (Table 5). The activity of the dehydrogenase had the similar trend to that of the urease activity among the treatments, except that the inorganic treatments alone $(T_2 \text{ or } T_3)$ were comparable to control (T_1) at both the observations. Higher dehydrogenase in the biological treatments might be due to the improved microbial activity (Mallikarjun and Maity, 2018). Addition of manures or carbon and energy sources enhances the population of heterotrophs and enzymatic activities. Dehydrogenase activity increases with increasing active viable cells as it occurs intracellular in all living microbial cells.

Alkaline and acid phosphatase enzyme activities were analysed at 50% flowering and harvest stage and the data is furnished in Table 5. Compared to the initial activity, it was increased at 50% flowering and reduced at harvest, irrespective of treatments. Both the enzymes followed the similar trend. Highest activity was recorded with 100% RDF + combination of bioagents (T₇) which was at par with 50% RDF + combination of bioagents (T₈) and bioagents alone (T₆). Similarly, (T₆) was also at par with the individual application of bioagents (T₄ or T₅). But the activity of the enzymes was lower with chemical fertilizers alone (T₂ and T₃)

Table 5: Bacterial population and soil enzym	ie activity in the rhizosphere of foxta	il millet @ 50% flowering and ha	rvest stage as influenced by combined
application of chemical fertilizers and bio-ag	gents		

Treatment	ment Bacterial population		Ure	Urease		Dehydrogenase		Alkaline phosphatase		Acid phosphatase	
	50%	harvest	50%	Harvest	50%	harvest	50%	harvest	50%	harvest	
	flowering		flowering		flowering		flowering		flowering		
T ₁	20.00	18.66	20.00	18.50	8.98	8.61	18.73	17.38	20.87	19.10	
T ₂	27.00	23.50	23.75	22.50	9.18	8.93	20.27	18.30	22.17	20.17	
T ₃	24.70	20.33	22.50	21.00	9.12	8.82	19.94	17.98	21.47	19.82	
T ₄	33.17	28.67	26.00	24.75	11.00	10.46	23.02	21.80	25.07	22.93	
T ₅	34.33	32.00	27.50	25.50	11.11	10.63	22.37	20.83	24.99	22.80	
T ₆	37.33	34.50	31.25	30.00	12.43	11.57	24.06	22.60	27.78	24.73	
T ₇	40.33	38.66	32.00	31.00	12.67	12.08	25.97	24.37	28.47	25.83	
T ₈	38.00	35.50	31.75	30.75	12.5	11.98	24.72	23.87	27.67	25.03	
SEm±	1.66	1.58	1.01	0.85	0.44	0.44	0.86	0.75	0.89	0.86	
CD (P=0.05)	5.02	4.78	3.07	2.58	1.33	1.35	2.62	2.27	2.70	2.59	

compared to T_7 and T_8 , respectively. Among all, lowest phosphatase activity was recorded with control. The enhanced activity of phosphatase is attributed to the application of PSB through bacterial consortia. Among the macronutrients, P is the less mobile in the soil and gets adsorbed by 'Fe'

and 'Al' oxides. PSB plays a major role in phosphorus nutrition by increasing its availability through release soil P pools by solubilization (Khan et al., 2007). The percentage increase in enzyme activity over the control was depicted clearly in figure 1& 2 at flowering and harvest stages.



Figure 1. Percentage increase in the biological parameters at 50% flowering stage over initial value as influenced by the treatments



Figure 2. Percentage increase in the biological parameters at harvest stage over initial value as influenced by the treatments

attributed to the key role played by the microbial population due to the addition of bacterial consortia resulted in enhanced enzymatic activity in the soil. and application of bio-enhancers which acted as a

Increased enzymatic activity in the soil can be tonic for better bacterial growth. Thus, overall congenial conditions for microbes might have

Conclusion

Bacterial population was significantly more in all the treatments which received bioagents compared to others at both the observations. Similar to bacterial population, the rhizosphere soil enzyme activity was found to be the highest with conjunctive use of bioagents either alone or with chemical fertilizers. Thus, with the application of bioagents like consortia of biofertilizers and bioenhancers like *beejamrutha* and *jeevamrutha* along with recommended dose of fertilizers, the biological activity of the soil under millet cultivation in semi-arid regions can be boosted

References

- Ananda, M.R., Sharanappa., & Murthy, K.N.K. (2017). Response of finger millet under organic nutrient management in groundnut-finger millet cropping system. *International Journal of Pure and Applied Bioscience*, 5(5), 200-206.
- Aon, M.A., & Colaneri, A.C. (2001). Temporal and spatial evolution of enzymatic activities and physico-chemical properties in an agricultural soil. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 18, 255-270.
- Basha, J.S. 2015. Plants geometry, irrigation and organic nutrient management practices for aerobic rice in northern transitional Zone of Karnataka. *Ph.D Thesis* submitted to University of Agricultural Sciences, Dharwad, Karnataka, India.
- Boraiah, B., Devakumar, N., Shubha, S., & Palanna, K.B. (2017). Effect of panchagvya, jeevamrutha and cow urine on beneficial micro-organisms and yield of capsicum. *International Journal of Microbiology and Applied Sciences*, 6(9), 3226-3234.
- Casida, L.E., Klein, D.A., & Santoro, T. (1964). Soil dehydrogenase activity. *Soil Science*, 98, 371–376.
- Chhonkar, P.K. Organic farming myth and reality, in Proceedings of the FAI Seminar on Fertilizer and Agriculture Meeting the Challenges, New Delhi, India, December 2002.
- Hameedi, A., Thakur, K.S., Kansal, S., Mehta, D.K., Yousafzai, A., & Mohammadi, M.H. 2018. Effect of organic nutrient sources on growth, yield and quality of bell pepper (*Capsicum annuum L.*) under mid hill condition of Himachal Pradesh. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development*, 5(1), 135-138.

without any negative effects on the soil health and productivity by maintaining natural cycling of nutrients.

Acknowledgement

We thank professor Jayashankar Telangana State Agricultural University for laboratory support through Central Instrumentation Cell for conducting microbial analysis and enzyme assay.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Kandeler, E., & Murer, E. (1993). Aggregate stability and soil microbial processes in a soil under different cultivations.

In: Brussard L. and M.I. Koistra (eds.): International workshop on methods of research on soil strucuture/soil biota interrelationships. *Geoderma*, *56*, 503-513.

- Khan, M. S., Zaidi, A., & Wani, P.A. (2007). Role of phosphate-solubilizing microorganisms in sustainable agriculture - A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 27, 29-43.
- Kiran, Rao, S., Reddy, V., & Shubha, S. (2015). Effect of Nutrient management practices through organics on soil biological properties in organic chickpea cultivation under rainfed condition. *The Ecoscan*, 7, 183-187.
- Krishnaprabhu, S. (2018). Influence of integrated nutrient management in pearl millet. *International Journal of Pure and Applied Bioscience*, 6(6), 508-510.
- Kumar, B., Nagarjuna, D., Kalpana, A., & Mukhopadhyay, S.K. (2016). Effect of integrated nutrient management on soil microbial population and yield of wheat-rice cropping system in new alluvial zone of west Bengal. *Journal of Innovative Research and Solutions*, 2(2), 85-95.
- Maitra, S., Pine, S., Shankar, T., & Pramanick, B. (2020). Nutrient Management in Foxtail millet: A Review. *Indian Journal of Natural Sciences*, 10, 60: 23156-23160.
- Mallikarjun, M., & Maity, S.K. (2017). Energetic Evaluation of Integrated Nutrient Management for Nitrogen in *Kharif* Rice and its Residual Effect on Yellow Sarson. *Research Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 8(6), 1362-1365.
- Manjunatha, G.S., Upperi, S.N., Pujari, B.T., Yeledahalli, N.A., & Kuligod, V.B. (2009). Effect of Farm yard manure treated with *Jeevamrutha* on yield attributes, yield and economics of sunflower. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 22(1), 198-199.

- Nagendra, V., (2015). Influence of Rice Production Systems and Nutrient Management Practices on Rice Yield and Soil Properties, *Ph. D Thesis* submitted to Professor Jayashankar Telangana State Agricultural University, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, India.
- Ravi, N., Basavarajappa, R., Chandhrasekhar, C.P., Harlapur, S.I., Hosamani, M.H., & Manjunatha, M.V. (2012). Effect of integrated nutrient management on growth and yield of quality protein maize. *Karnataka Journal of Agricultural Sciences*, 25(3), 395-396.
- Reddy, M.S. 2002. Relationship between organic carbon and soil enzymes. *Journal Research ANGRAU*, 30(2), 143-146.
- Tabatabai, M. A., & Bremner, J. M. (1972). Assay of urease activity in soils. Soil biology and Biochemistry, 4, 479-487.

- Taylor, J.P., Wilson, B., Mills, M.S., & Burns, R.G. (2002). Comparison of microbial number and enzymatic activities in surface soils and subsoil using various techniques. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 34, 387401.
- Vinay, G., Padmaja, B., Reddy, M.M., Jayasree, G., & Triveni, S. (2020). Effect of Natural, Organic and Inorganic Farming Methods on Microorganisms and Enzymes Activity of Maize Rhizosphere. *International Research Journal of Pure & Applied Chemistry*, 21(6), 11-16.
- Vlassak, K.L., Holm, L.V., & Duchateau, L. (1992). Isolation and characterization of fluorescent Pseudomonas associated with roots of rice and banana grown in Srilanka. *Plant and Soil*, 145, 51-63.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Analysis of climate variability and influence of climate variables on major crop yields in Nalgonda District of Telangana State, India

Akshith Sai Pabba 🖂 Division of Dairy Extension, ICAR- National Dairy Research Institute, Karnal, Haryana, India **Balaji Naik Banoth** Agronomy, Agro Climate Research Centre, A.R.I., Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, India **Ravinder Naik Vankudothu** Department of Agricultural Extension, College of Agriculture, Rajendranagar, PJTSAU, India Sudha Rani Voliveru Jayashankar Telangana State Agricultural University, Hyderabad, India

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Received : 14 October 2021 Climate change has become a major concern globally, demanding immediate Revised : 19 January 2022 attention and action. In view of the extreme climatic uncertainties, it is obvious Accepted : 16 February 2022 that Indian agriculture is highly vulnerable to climate change as climate is the direct input for production. This scenario emphasizes the dire need to Available online: 17 April 2022 understand the patterns of climate change and thus prepare agricultural systems for future climatic uncertainties. Therefore, the present study was conferred to analyse the climatic variability of Nalgonda district in Telangana **Key Words:** State, considering 30 years (1988 to 2017) of historical weather data pertaining Box-whisker-plot to rainfall and temperature (maximum and minimum). Climatic variability of Climate change the district was systematically analysed using box-and-whisker plot, Coefficient Nalgonda of Variation (CV), and trend analysis. The association between climatic Rainfall variables (rainfall, maximum and minimum temperatures) and the major Temperature Kharif crop yields was calculated using Pearson's correlation coefficient. The Trend analysis results revealed that the recent decade (2008-2017) had a stable increase in seasonal rainfall in almost all the months compared to the earlier two decades but with the least consistency in rainfall (CV 29.03 %) and higher fluctuations in the maximum temperature (CV 2.38%). September month had shown the higher risk of recording low rainfall conditions compared to July and August months in the district. The rice crop yields during the recent decade (2008-2017) were found to have significant positive and negative associations with the rainfall in September and October months, respectively. Similarly, the lint yields of cotton crops were found to have a significant negative association with the maximum temperatures of the October and November months of the district. The major finding of the study realized was that climate variability and change exist in Nalgonda district, and the climate variables had significant effects on the crop yields of the district.

Introduction

only known planet suitable for the sustenance of living organisms due to the favorable climatic conditions that prevail on this blue planet. The atmosphere on earth protects the life forms from lethal ultraviolet radiations, maintains moderate temperatures, transports water vapour, and provides all kinds of useful gases. The climate and weather

The importance of earth is apodictic, as it is the on earth are dependent on the atmosphere. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) defined climate in simple terms as the average weather, or more rigorously, as the statistical description in terms of the mean and variability of relevant quantities over a period ranging from months to many years.

Climate change has become a major concern globally, necessitating immediate attention and action due to the rise in global temperatures, extensive melting of ice, changes in precipitation patterns as well as intensity and frequency of occurrence of uncertain events. The effects of climate change are more detrimental in a densely populated country like India, considering its highly vulnerable nature. The IPCC projections for the Indian region (South Asia) have revealed that the temperature rise would be 0.88-3.16°C by 2050 and 1.56-5.44°C by 2080, subject to the scenario of future development (IPCC, 2007a). The projected change in climate for 2100 indicated an increase in the temperature and rainfall between 2.5- 4.4°C and 15 and 24%, respectively (Bal et al., 2016). The erratic and extreme rainfall events could result in drought and floods. These evidences are escalating to suggest the importance of building resilience into the system in order to sustain the vital ecosystem.

In the present context, the Government of India has conferred high priority for research and development to cope up with climate change in the agriculture sector. Accordingly, the Indian Council of Agricultural Research (ICAR) initiated a major network project, i.e., National Innovations in Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA) in February 2011 to address the development needs of extremely vulnerable populations of the country. Nalgonda district of Telangana State was one among the 100 vulnerable districts which were selected for the Climate Resilient Agricultural (CRA) technology demonstration and dissemination to the farmers. Hence, the present study was undertaken with an objective to analyse the climate variability of the Nalgonda district, which may aid in providing advisory services to the farmers towards improving their preparedness for climatic aberrations.

Material and Methods

Climate variability is a regular phenomenon that occurs within a shorter time span, such as a month, season, or a year whereas climate change considers changes that occur over a longer period of time, typically over decades or even longer. For the present study, erstwhile Nalgonda district of Telangana state was purposively selected as it was one among the 100 vulnerable districts selected for

the National Innovations in Climate Resilient Agriculture (NICRA) project implementation across India. The important climatic vulnerabilities of the district are higher drought proneness, mid and terminal dry spells, extreme heat stress, *etc*.

The 'in season' climate variability and change, which occurred at the decadal scale was analysed by considering 30 years (1988 to 2017) historical weather data of Nalgonda District. The secondary data of climate variables *viz.*, rainfall and temperature (maximum and minimum), and yields of major crops (rice and cotton) were acquired from the Directorate of Economics and Statistics (DES) of Telangana State for analysis.

Climatic variability of the Nalgonda district was analysed by calculating the coefficient of variations (CV) and Box-and-whisker plot. Trend analysis of the climatic variables was done, and the association between climatic variables and the *Kharif* crop yields was calculated using Pearson's correlation coefficient.

Results and Discussion Rainfall

Annual Rainfall trend

The annual rainfall data were summed for each year from 1988 to 2017 and plotted as a line graph (Figure 1). The trend line shows that there was a slight increase in annual rainfall over 30 years. However, the year-to-year variability was more in the recent decade (2008 to 2017). The annual rainfall deviation from normal was plotted in figure 2 conformed that the year to year deviations in annual rainfall was very high during the recent decade.

Decadal rainfall trend

To get more detailed information on rainfall trend, the historical rainfall (30 years) data was divided into three decades, and the mean was computed for each decade separately and presented in table 1. The obtained results indicated that the annual rainfall of the third decade (788.7 mm) was higher than the first (707 mm) and second (688.3 mm) decades, as well as 30 years' annual mean rainfall (717.1 mm). However, the rainfall variability of the third decade was very high (29.03%) as compared to the first (19.7%), second (13.1%) decade, and 30 years' variability (21.9%). Among the three

Analysis of climate variability and influence of climate variables

Annual/Dacada		Average rainfall	Ra	$CV(\theta)$	
Annual/Decade		(mm)	Min (mm)	Max (mm)	
Annual rainfall		717.10	505.30	1267.40	21.86
First decade	1988-1997	707.20	523.00	945.40	19.72
Second decade	1998-2007	688.27	559.90	870.90	13.10
Third decade	2008-2017	788.71	505.30	1267.40	29.03

 Table 1: Annual and decadal rainfall (mm) trends of Nalgonda district during 1988-2017



Figure 1: Annual rainfall (mm) trend of Nalgonda district from 1988 to 2017



Figure 2: Mean annual rainfall deviation of Nalgonda district during 1988-2017

decades, the second decade had low rainfall. However, there was more consistency in receiving rainfall with the lowest coefficient of variation (CV 13.10%) as compared to its preceding (19.72%) and succeeding (29.03%) decade as well as the historical 30 years (21.86%) data. The present investigation clearly designated that there was an apparent decadal change in the trend of rainfall. In the recent (third) decade, though the annual rainfall increased, this beneficial effect is being nullified due to increased variability in annual rainfall. The results are similar to the findings of Chanapathi *et al.* (2020), wherein they reported an increase in

fluctuations in the annual rainfall.

Decadal change in monthly rainfall pattern

Drawing a conclusion on the impact of rainfall on crop growth and yield based on annual rainfall doesn't make more sense as the crops selected (rice & lint cotton) for the study were season bound. Therefore, an attempt was made to understand the shift in rainfall pattern on a monthly scale from June to November among three decades, as shown in figure 3. On perusal of data, it was noticed that there was a clear and consistent increase in rainfall of August month from the first to the third decade. This trend was also reflected in June and September

Manth	Average rainfall	Range	CV(0/)	
Month	(mm)	Min (mm)	Max (mm)	
June	85.40	30.05	204.14	54.50
July	119.07	47.58	314.70	47.03
August	143.88	76.99	247.45	31.86
September	163.45	43.57	357.76	44.03
October	101.04	15.00	456.15	84.48
November	20.59	0.00	64.44	100.82
Season (June-November)	630.14	408.89	1546.50	22.18

 Table 2: Monthly rainfall (mm) distribution of Nalgonda district during 1988-2017



Figure 3: Monthly decennial seasonal rainfall (mm) variability in Nalgonda district

rainfall. However, the decadal change was meagre. In contrast to this, there was a decrease in rainfall of July month during the third decade as compared to the first decade. The decrease in July month rainfall may hamper the establishment and growth at an early stage of the rainfed cotton crop and delay the rice nursery in Nalgonda district. Hence, farmers may be advised not to go for early sowing or prepare a contingency plan in order to face the risk of aberrant rainfall during July month. The increase in rainfall during the October months in the recent decade may be beneficial for rainfed cotton as it coincides with the boll development stage. But, it is inevitable for rice crops as it coincides with the flowering stage during October month, and the rains may result in the aborted ovary and chaffy grains.

Monthly rainfall variability

On perusal of 30 years (1988 to 2017) historical monthly rainfall data from June to November, it was noticed that the rainfall ranged from 409 mm to 1547 mm with a mean of 630 mm (Table 2.). The highest average monthly rainfall was observed during the month of September (163.45 mm), followed by August (143.88 mm) and the least in the month of November (20.6 mm). Based on the

coefficient of variation in monthly rainfall, it was observed that August month was more consistent in receiving rainfall with the lowest CV of 31.90% followed by September with CV of 44.00% whereas November and October months were found to be highly variable in rainfall with CV 100 % and 84.50%, respectively. The highest variability during these two months could be due to low influence of the North-East monsoon on the Nalgonda District. Therefore, the probability of occurrence of rainfall events during the October and November months was very low.

Monthly rainfall distribution

The detailed analysis on the deviation of rainfall was further deepened in every month under investigation and summarised in a box plot which was depicted in figure 4. The results revealed that September month had received the highest rainfall with reference to its median value. However, the lengthier lower side whisker indicates a higher risk of recording lower rainfall compared to the July and August months. As rainfall in September month is crucial for crop growth and development, farmers may be advised to prepare with supplemental irrigation to face the events of low rainfall during September month. In the case of August month, though the median rainfall value is slightly lower than September month, the lengthier upper side whisker shows that the chance of receiving high rainfall is more in comparison to all the other months under investigation. Similarly, the lengthier upper side-whiskers in June, July, October, and November months indicated that the chance of receiving higher side rainfall events with respect to their corresponding median values was more.

Maximum Temperature

Annual maximum temperature trend

The annual mean maximum temperature data were averaged for each year from 1988 to 2017 and plotted as a line graph as depicted in figure 5. The trend line shows a conspicuous increase in the annual mean maximum temperatures over the years. It can be observed that the year-to-year variability was more during the first decade (1988-1997) and the recent third decade (2008-2017).

Decadal maximum temperature pattern

In order to obtain further information on the maximum temperature trend, the historical maximum temperature (30 years) data was divided into three decades, and the mean was computed for each decade separately and presented in table 3. The results showed that the third and second decades had the mean maximum temperature of 33.9°C, which was 0.3°C higher than the first (33.6°C) decade and 0.1°C more than the 30 years' annual mean maximum temperature (33.8°C). The results are in concordance with the findings of Chettri et al. (2020), where they reported an increased rate of maximum temperature. The mean maximum temperature of the third decade (2008-2017) had the higher coefficient of variation (2.38%) as compared to the first (2.24%), second (0.99%) decades, and 30 years mean maximum temperature (1.96%) which indicates that the recent decade (2008-2017) had higher fluctuations in maximum temperatures compared to the earlier two decades. The second decade was found to have the least fluctuations in maximum temperature with the lowest coefficient of variation (0.99%) as compared to its preceding (2.24%) and succeeding (2.38%)decade as well as the historical 30 years (1.96%) data. This detailed investigation clearly showed that there was a change in the decadal maximum temperature pattern. The results are in line with the

report of IPCC (2007b), wherein it was mentioned that there would be constant warming of 0.2°C per decade during the future decades.

Further, Sreenivas and Raji Reddy (2010) also revealed that, in Andhra Pradesh, the temperatures are projected to increase by at least 3°C throughout the state due to climate change from 2041 to 2060. In the context of climate change, temperature is one of the major environmental factors which influence the growth, development, and yields of rice crops. Vaghefi *et al.* (2011) projected a decline of 0.36 t/ha in rice crop yields when there is an increase in temperature of 2°C at a CO₂ concentration of 383 ppm.

Decadal change in the monthly maximum temperature pattern

A shift in maximum temperature pattern on a monthly scale from June to November between the three decades was depicted in figure 6. On perusal of data, it was observed that there was a slight increase in the maximum temperature in June, July, and August months from the first to the third decade, while the September month had shown consistent maximum temperatures during the three decades. Further, in October, there was an increase in the maximum temperature of 0.6°C and 0.3°C during the second and third decades, respectively, compared to the first decade. A Similar trend was also observed in November month.

Monthly maximum temperature variability

On perusal of 30 years (1988 to 2017) historical monthly maximum temperature data from June to November, it was noticed that the maximum temperatures ranged from 31.5° C to 34.6° C with a mean of 32.9° C (Table 4). The highest average monthly maximum temperature was observed during the month of June (36.6° C), followed by July (33.1° C) and the least in the month of November (30.8° C). It can be inferred that July month has highly variable maximum temperatures (CV 5.59%) followed by June month (4.97%), which may increase the risk of germination during the early stages of crop growth.

Monthly maximum temperature pattern

The detailed analysis on the deviation of maximum temperature was further expanded every month under investigation and summarised in a box plot which was depicted in figure 7. The results indicated that June month had the highest

Annual/Decade		Mean MaxT	Ra	nge	$CV(\theta)$
		(°C)	Min (°C)	Max (°C)	CV (70)
Annual mean maximum temperature		33.8	32.6	35.4	1.96
First decade	1988-1997	33.6	32.6	34.8	2.24
Second decade	1998-2007	33.9	33.4	34.4	0.99
Third decade	2008-2017	33.9	33.0	35.4	2.38

Table	3. Annual	and	decadal	maximum	temnerature	in l	Valgonda	district	during	1988_2017
I able	5 : Annual	anu	uecauai	maximum	temperature	III 1	valgonua	uistrict	uurmg	1900-2017

Table 4: Monthl	y and seasonal mean	n maximum tem	perature in Nal	gonda district du	ring 1988-2017
				8	

Month	Moon MoyT (°C)	I	CV (%)	
Wonth	Mean Maxi (C)	Min (°C)	Max (°C)	C V (70)
June	36.6	32.2	40.0	4.97
July	33.1	29.8	37.0	5.59
August	32.3	29.6	35.2	4.96
September	32.3	30.6	34.7	3.41
October	32.4	29.7	35.7	3.90
November	30.8	28.8	32.6	3.11



Figure 4: Box whisker plot of rainfall (mm) grouped by months



356 Environment Conservation Journal





Figure 6: Monthly decennial seasonal maximum temperature variability in Nalgonda district



Figure 7: Box whisker plot of maximum temperature (°C) grouped by months

maximum temperatures with reference to its median value, followed by July month. However, the lengthier upper side whisker of July and September months shows that the events of recording higher maximum temperatures over its median value were more frequent as compared to June month. Whereas, in the case of October month, the lengthier lower side whisker shows that the chance of recording maximum temperatures below its median value is more. Similarly, it can be inferred that the November and August months have equal chances of recording high or low maximum temperatures with respect to their corresponding median values.

Minimum temperature

Annual minimum temperature trend

The annual mean minimum temperature data from 1988 to 2017 was plotted as a line graph as depicted in figure 8. The trend line shows a slight increase in the annual mean minimum temperature over the years. It can be observed that the year-to-year variability was very high during the first decade (1988-1997) compared to the second (1998-2007) and third decade (2008-2017).

Decadal minimum temperature pattern

For further investigation on the minimum temperature trend, the historical minimum temperature (30 years) data was divided into 3 decades, for which the mean was computed separately for each decade and presented in table 5. The results indicated that there was a 0.5°C fall in mean minimum temperature during the second decade as compared to its preceding as well as succeeding decades. The results are similar to the findings of Chettri et al. (2020). The coefficient of variation of the first decade (3.41%) was very higher than the second (1.68%) and third (1.69%)decades, as well as 30 years, mean minimum temperature (2.54%) specifying the higher degree of instabilities in the minimum temperatures during the first decade. The second decade was found to have the least fluctuations in minimum temperature with the lowest coefficient of variation (1.68%). This detailed investigation clearly showed that there was a change in the decadal minimum temperature pattern.

Decadal change in monthly minimum temperature pattern

A shift in minimum temperature pattern on a monthly scale from June to November between the three decades was depicted in figure 9. On perusal of data, it was noticed that there was an increase in mean monthly minimum temperature in the third decade (2008 - 2017) when compared to a second decade (1998 - 2007) in all the months under investigation. This analysis is clear evidence of a change in mean minimum temperature. These results are in line with the prediction of IPCC (2007b) wherein, it was mentioned that there would be constant warming of $0.2^{\circ}C$ per decade in the next few decades.

Monthly minimum temperature variability

On perusal of 30 years (1988 to 2017) historical monthly minimum temperature data from June to November, it was noticed that the minimum temperatures ranged from 21.8°C to 25.6°C with a mean of 23.8°C (Table 6.). The highest average monthly minimum temperature was observed during the month of June (26.5°C), followed by July (24.8°C) and the least in the month of November (20.3°C). It can be inferred that November month has shown high variability in minimum temperatures (CV 7.5%) followed by October month (5.69%). The September month has shown more consistency in the minimum temperatures followed by August month with the coefficient of variation values 3.52 % and 3.98 %, respectively.

Monthly minimum temperature pattern

The detailed analysis on the deviation of minimum temperature was further extended in every month under investigation and summarised in a box plot, which was depicted in figure 10. The results indicated that June month was found to have the highest minimum temperatures with respect to its median value, followed by July month. However, the lengthier lower side whisker of July, August, and October months shows that the events of recording lower minimum temperatures were more frequent when compared to their corresponding medians. Whereas the months of June, September and November have equal chances of recording high or low minimum temperatures with respect to their corresponding median values.

Historical yields of rice and cotton (kg/ha) during *Kharif* season

The district-level yield data of rice and cotton pertinent to *the Kharif* season was collected from DES, Govt. of Telangana to analyse the yield trend and correlate with climate data. The yield data were grouped into decadal yields and presented in figure 11 and figure 12 of rice and cotton, respectively. The mean grain yield of rice during the first, second and third decades were found to be 2870, 2800, 3120 kg, ha⁻¹ respectively (Figure 11). Similarly, the historical yields (kg/ha) of lint cotton (kg/ha) were presented in figure 12. The mean yields of lint cotton during the first, second and third decades were found to be 1130, 1430, 1820 kg/ha, respectively.

Effect of climate variability on rice and cotton yields during *Kharif* season

Rice and lint cotton crops are the major crops grown in terms of their area in the Nalgonda district. The relationship between the climate variables during the crop period (June to November) and yields of rice and lint cotton were studied by considering 30 years (1988-2017) rainfall and temperature data of the Nalgonda district. The data sets were divided into three decades, and Pearson's correlation analysis was performed separately for each decade, keeping in view of decadal variability in climatic variables and technological advancement in crop management. The correlations between weather parameters and yields of rice and lint cotton crop yields were presented in table 7 and table 8, respectively.

Annual/Decade		Moon MinT (°C)	Ra	CV(9/)	
		Wiean Wini (C)	Min (°C)	Max (°C)	C V (70)
Annual mean minimum temperature		22.6	21.4	23.9	2.54
First decade	1988-1997	22.8	21.4	23.9	3.41
Second decade	1998-2007	22.3	21.6	22.9	1.68
Third decade	2008-2017	22.8	22.2	23.4	1.69

Table 5: Annual	and decadal mini	imum temperatur	e in Nalgonda	district during 1988-2017
I wore of I innual	and accuaal min	mam comportavar	e mi i ungonau	

Table 6: Monthly and seasonal mean minimum temperature in Nalgonda district during 1988-2017

Month	Moon MinT (⁰ C)	Ra	CV (%)		
WORTH	Wiean Wini I (C)	Min (°C)	Max (°C)		
June	26.5	23.0	29.1	5.13	
July	24.8	22.0	26.8	4.53	
August	24.4	22.5	25.9	3.98	
September	24.1	22.4	25.6	3.52	
October	22.8	21.0	27.7	5.69	
November	20.3	18.2	25.3	7.50	
Season (June-November)	23.8	21.8	25.6	3.72	

 Table 7: Association of climatic variables and kharif rice crop yields (kg/ha) of Nalgonda district (1988-2017)

Davida	Kharif crop Season months							
Decade	June	July	August	September	October	November		
Rainfall (mm)								
1988-1997	-0.34	0.15	0.51	-0.42	0.02	0.04		
1998-2007	0.36	0.25	0.43	0.12	-0.01	-0.11		
2008-2017	0.23	0.00	-0.41	0.76***	-0.53**	0.09		
Minimum tempera	ature (⁰C)							
1988-1997	0.03	-0.32	-0.55	-0.77	-0.32	-0.63		
1998-2007	0.25	-0.31	0.29	0	-0.32	0		
2008-2017	0.29	0.33	0.54	0.08	-0.55*	0		
Maximum tempera	ature (⁰C)							
1988-1997	0.03	-0.08	-0.53	-0.1	0.02	0.06		
1998-2007	0.08	-0.64**	-0.16	-0.43	-0.12	0.1		
2008-2017	0.09	0.24	0.52	-0.52	0.15	0.24		

***- 1 % level of significance **- 5% level of significance *- 10 % level of significance

Correlational analysis of Rice crop yields with
rainfallstage. Some studies (Alam et al., 2013., Alam et al.,
2012) showed that a 1 % increase in rainfall causes a

The correlation between rainfall and rice crop yield was found to be positive and highly significant in September month and negatively correlated in October month during the third decade (2008-2017). The negative effect of rainfall on crop yield during October month may be due to increased rainfall (Table 1) that might have coincided with the flowering stage leading to aborted ovaries and a higher percentage of chaffy grains. Rice crop needs a clear sky and bright sunshine during the flowering

stage. Some studies (Alam *et al.*, 2013., Alam *et al.*, 2012) showed that a 1 % increase in rainfall causes a 0.12 % decline in current paddy yield and 0.21 % decline in the subsequent season. Low light and cloudy weather during the heading stage evidently resulted in sterile panicles in rice crops, while shading after the heading stage leads to loss of photosynthesis. Consequently, relocation of photosynthates, sink capacity, and dry matter accumulation are reduced, which further leads to a significant reduction in the yield contributing characters, *viz.*, spikelet fertility which leads to poorer grain yields (Liu *et al.*, 2013).

Decede	Crop Season months										
Decade	June July August September				October	November					
	Rainfall (mm)										
1988-1997	0.03	-0.59*	-0.48	-0.32	0.57	0.24					
1998-2007	-0.43	0.13	0.13 -0.49 0.74***		0.19	0.64**					
2008-2017	0.39	0.39 0.02 0.28 0.11 0.54									
		Minii	num temperatı	ıre (°C)							
1988-1997	0.25	0.46	0.22	0.02	0.92***	0.39					
1998-2007	0.29	0.38	0.43	0.43	0.25	-0.04					
2008-2017	0.2	0.03	-0.13	-0.18	-0.07	0.06					
	Maximum temperature (°C)										
1988-1997	1988-1997 0.11 0.47 0.36 0.64** -0.49 -0.3										
1998-2007	0.29	0.14	0.46	0.46 -0.21 -0.26		-0.25					
2008-2017	-0.26	-0.29	-0.29 -0.36 -0.19 -0.		-0.64**	-0.72**					

Table 8: Association of climatic	variables and <i>kharif</i> lin	t cotton crop yields	(kg/ha) of Nalgonda	district (1988-
2017)	_			

***- 1 % level of significance **- 5% level of significance *- 10 % level of significance



Figure 8: Annual minimum temperature trend in Nalgonda district during 1988-2017



Figure 9: Monthly decennial seasonal minimum temperature variability in Nalgonda district

360 Environment Conservation Journal



Figure 10: Box whisker plot of minimum temperature (°C) grouped by months







Environment Conservation Journal

Correlational analysis of Rice crop yields with temperature (maximum and minimum)

The grain yield of rice was negatively correlated with a minimum temperature of October month at a 10 % level of significance during the third decade (2008-2017). The rise in mean minimum temperature by about 0.2 °C and 1.1 °C in the third decade as compared to the first and second decades, respectively (Figure 9), might have coincided with the flowering stage of the rice crop, causing increased spikelet sterility and thus reduction in yield. Further, the elevated temperature at the reproductive stage reduces the grain filling period in rice crops (Palanisami et al., 2019). The current climate change scenario indicated that a rise in temperature above 25 °C might lead to the loss of grain mass up to 4.4 % per 1°C rise in temperature and decline in yield as much as 9.6-10.0 % for each 2. 1°C increase in temperature, respectively (Alam, et al., 2012., Baker and Allen, 1993). Further, Saxena and Kumar (2014) and Padakandla (2016) reported that rice yield is negatively affected by maximum temperatures, which causes a decrease in the yields. Correlational analysis of Cotton crop yields with rainfall

Table 8 reveals that the rainfall (mm) during September month in the second decade and October month during the third decade was positively correlated with the lint yield of cotton. The positive association with lint yield of the cotton crop (kg/ha) might be due to the favourable conditions for boll formation and increase in boll weight. Cotton is mainly a rainfed crop that is dependent on rainfall in all stages, *viz.*, vegetative stage, reproductive stage, boll formation *etc.* (Guntukula, 2020., Padakandla, 2016).

Correlational analysis of Cotton crop yields with temperature (maximum and minimum)

The minimum temperatures have shown a significant positive association with the cotton crop yields during the October month in the first decade, which might have triggered the seed set, increased size of bolls, number of seeds per boll, and the number of fibres per seed (Soliz *et al.*, 2008). During the third decade, the association of maximum temperatures of October and November months with the lint yields of cotton was significantly negative. The rise in maximum temperature by about 0.3° C over the first decade in the months of October and November (Figure 6)

might have affected the retention of bolls due to increased abortion of squares and young bolls. These results are in compliance with the findings of Reddy *et al.* (1991). Oosterhuis (1999) also reported that despite the cotton crop's origin from hotter climates, it does not essentially produce better yields at high temperatures. Besides that, a negative correlation was reported between the cotton lint yield and high temperature during flowering and early stages of boll development.

A brief summary of the key findings from the analysis are,

- 1. The rainfall variability of the recent decade was very high (29.03%) as compared to the first (19.7%), second (13.1%) decades, and 30 years' mean annual rainfall (21.9%), indicating the least consistency in rainfall received.
- 2. A decrease in the average rainfall of July month was observed in the third decade as compared to the first decade.
- 3. The lengthier lower side whisker of September month indicated the higher risk of recording low rainfall conditions as compared to the July and August months.
- 4. The mean maximum temperature of the third decade (2008-2017) had the higher coefficient of variation (2.38%) as compared to the first (2.24%), second (0.99%) decades, and 30 years mean maximum temperature (1.96%) which indicates that the recent decade (2008-2017) had higher fluctuations in maximum temperatures than the earlier two decades.
- 5. The mean minimum temperature of the first decade had the highest coefficient of variation (3.41%) than the second (1.68%), third decades (1.69%), and 30 years mean minimum temperature (2.54%), which indicates that the first decade had the higher fluctuations in the minimum temperatures as compared to the latter two decades.
- 6. The rice crop yields during the recent decade (2008-2017) were found to have a significant positive association with the rainfall in September month and a significant negative association with October month.
- 7. A significant negative association was observed between the maximum temperatures of October and November months and lint yields of cotton, probably due to the affected boll retention and greater abortion of squares and young bolls.

All the above results have clearly indicated that farming community towards enhancing their climatic variability exists in the Nalgonda district, which was a major concern to farmers and the major crops grown in the district. In order to minimize the adverse effects of climate change and variability on agricultural production, farmers tend to use Indigenous Technical Knowledge (ITK) and innovative practices as climate-resilient initiatives. Further, these climatic variability concerns necessitate the administrators, policymakers, and researchers to come out with suitable interventions to combat the detrimental effects of climate change.

Conclusion

The obtained results clearly pointed out that there is an apparent decadal change in the trends of rainfall minimum and maximum temperatures in the district. The key finding realised was that there exists climate variability and change in the Nalgonda district, and the climate variables had significant effects on the major crop yields of the district. Therefore, it is important in the present scenario to provide necessary assistance to the

References

- Alam, M. M., Siwar, C., bin Toriman, M. E., Molla, R. I., & Talib, B. (2012). Climate change induced adaptation by paddy farmers in Malaysia. Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change, 17(2), 173-186.
- Alam, M., Siwar, C., Jaafar, A. H., Talib, B., & Salleh, K. (2013). Climate change adaptability of farmers: Malaysian case study. Alam, MM, Siwar, C., Jaafar, AH, Talib, B., and Salleh, KO, 130-135.
- Baker, J. T., & Allen, L. H. (1993). Contrasting crop species responses to CO2 and temperature: rice, soybean and citrus. Vegetatio, 104(1), 239-260.
- Bal, P. K., Ramachandran, A., Palanivelu, K., Thirumurugan, P., Geetha, R., & Bhaskaran, B. (2016). Climate change projections over India by a downscaling approach using PRECIS. Asia-Pacific journal of atmospheric sciences, 52(4), 353-369.
- Chanapathi, T., Thatikonda, S., Keesara, V. R., & Ponguru, N. S. (2020). Assessment of water resources and crop yield under future climate scenarios: A case study in a Warangal district of Telangana, India. Journal of Earth System Science, 129(1), 1-17.
- Chettri, N., Shrestha, A. B., & Sharma, E. (2020). Climate change trends and ecosystem resilience in the Hindu Kush

preparedness for climatic aberrations. This could be possible by upscaling CRA technologies on a large scale in the social system. The in-depth climate variability analysis of the district could assist the institutions promoting CRA technologies in preparing contingency plans precisely for each month and several crops grown in the district, thus providing advisory support to the farmers accordingly. The findings of the study may have large implications in designing climate change adaptation programmes keeping in view the existing climatic variability pattern of the district.

Acknowledgement

The authors are thankful to the Directorate of Economics and Statistics (DES) of Telangana State for their valuable cooperation in conducting the present research.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Himalayas. In Himalayan Weather and Climate and their Impact on the Environment (pp. 525-552). Springer, Cham.

- Guntukula, R. (2020). Assessing the impact of climate change on Indian agriculture: evidence from major crop yields. Journal of Public Affairs, 20(1), e2040.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2007a). Climate change impacts, adaptation and vulnerabilitysummary for policymakers. Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom. 7-22.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2007b). Climate change 2007: The physical science basis summary for policy makers' contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom. 174-182.
- Li, L. I. U., Li, W. A. N. G., Fei, D. E. N. G., Huang, Y., LIU, D. Y., REN, W. J., & YANG, W. Y. (2013). Response of osmotic regulation substance content and protective enzyme activities to shading in leaves of different rice genotypes. Rice Science, 20(4), 276-283.
- Oosterhuis, D. M. (1999). Yield response to environmental extremes in cotton. Special Reports-University of Arkansas Agricultural Experiment Station, 193, 30-38.

- Padakandla, S. R. (2016). Climate sensitivity of crop yields in the former state of Andhra Pradesh, India. *Ecological indicators*, 70, 431-438.
- Palanisami, K., Kakumanu, K. R., Nagothu, U. S., & Ranganathan, C. R. (2019). Climate Change Impacts on Rice Yield in Southern Region of India. In *Climate Change* and *Future Rice Production in India* (pp. 185-208). Springer, Singapore.
- Reddy, V. R., Baker, D. N., & Hodges, H. F. (1991). Temperature effects on cotton canopy growth, photosynthesis, and respiration. *Agronomy Journal*, 83(4), 699-704.
- Saxena, R., & Kumar, S. N. (2014). Simulating the impact of projected climate change on rice (Oryza sativa L.) yield and adaptation strategies in major rice growing regions of India. *Journal of Agrometeorology*, 16(1), 18.

- Soliz, L. M. A., Oosterhuis, D. M., Coker, D. L., & Brown, R. S. (2008). Physiological response of cotton to high night temperature. *Am. J. Plant Sci. Biotechnol*, 2, 63-68.
- Sreenivas, G., & Raji Reddy, D. (2010). Assessment of modified weather on rice yields using CERES-rice model in Andhra Pradesh. In *ISPRS archives xxxviii-8/w3* workshop proceeding: Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture (pp. 55-57).
- Vaghefi, N., Shamsudin, M. N., Makmom, A., & Bagheri, M. (2011). The economic impacts of climate change on the rice production in Malaysia. *International Journal of Agricultural Research*, 6(1), 67-74.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of different tillage systems and cultivars on yield and yield attributes of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.)

Ankit 🖂

Department of Agronomy, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India **Sandeep Manuja**

Department of Agronomy, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India **Suresh Kumar**

Department of Agronomy, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India **Shilpa**

Department of Agronomy, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India Shabnam Kumari

Department of Agronomy, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India Anil Kumar

Department of Soil Science, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India

Deepika Suri

Department of Soil Science, CSK, Himachal Pradesh Agriculture University, Palampur (HP), India

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Received : 13 October 2021	A field experiment was conducted during <i>Kharif</i> 2019 at the Experimental Farm
Revised : 23 January 2022	of the Department of Agronomy of CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi
Accepted : 27 January 2022	Vishvavidyalaya, Palampur (H.P.) to investigate the effect of different tillage
	systems and varieties on yield of rice. The treatments consist of three rice
Available online: 17April 2022	varieties (HPR 1156, HPR 2656 and HPR 2795) which were tested under three
	tillage systems viz., conventional tillage, and minimum tillage without residue
Key Words:	and minimum tillage with residue retention. The experiment was set up in a
Biological yield	split plot design, with the tillage system in the main plot and rice cultivars in the
Conventional tillage	sub plots, and it was triple replicated. The texture of the soil at the test site was
Minimum tillage	silty clay loam in texture, acidic in reaction and in terms of nitrogen,
Residue	phosphorus, and potassium, it was evaluated as medium. Significantly higher
Rice	no. of panicles per meter square were observed in minimum tillage without
Varieties	residue though this treatment was at par with conventional tillage while
	significantly lower number of panicles m ⁻² were recorded with minimum tillage
	with residue retention. Significantly greater number of grains per panicle and
	panicle length were recorded in conventional tillage while minimum tillage with
	residue retention recorded lower values of number of grains per panicle and
	panicle length. Different tillage practices had no effect on the test weight of rice.
	Among different varieties tested, HPR 2656 recorded greater number of
	panicles per square meter which was at par with variety HPR 1156.
	Significantly higher number of grains per panicle and panicle length were
	recorded with HPR 2795 while the other two varieties were at par with each
	other. Rice variety HPR 1156 produced grains that had significantly greater test
	weight while the other two varieties (HPR 2795 and HPR 2656) were at par with
	each other with respect to this parameter. In terms of yield, conventional tillage
	produced much larger grain yield, straw yield, and biological yield and was at
	par with minimum tillage without residue. Among different varieties tested,
	HPR 2795 recorded much greater grain, straw and biological yields.

Introduction

Rice (Oryza sativa L.) is a staple meal for half of Adoption of conservation agriculture practices the earth population, and it plays a critical role in the food and nutritional security of the world's poorest and malnourished people. The importance of this crop in the global food security scenario can be judged from the fact that this grain supplies more than 50% of the world's staple food while also making up for 20 % of the world's dietary energy supply, which is more than 19 % and 5 % that is contributed by wheat and maize, respectively (Schatz et al., 2014). In India rice is cultivated on an area of 43.78 million hectare with the total production of 118.43 million tonnes with the average productivity of 27.05 g/ha (Anonymous, 2020) Even in the state of Himachal Pradesh rice is one of the most important kharif crop (second only to maize) which was cultivated on an area about 71 thousand hectare with the production of 114.8 thousand tonnes and productivity of about 16 g/ha (Anonymous, 2018).

The conventional tillage methods are easy to adopt and provide clean cultivation. However it leads to high erosion hazard as it completely inverts the soil and buries crop residues, making the land much more exposed to erosive forces of wind and water. Erosion eventually reduces the productivity of land (Mathew et al., 2012). The alternate for all these problems is conservation tillage. Tillage systems such as ridge-till, minimum tillage and no-till leave more crop residues and offer greater erosion control. Conservation agriculture aims to increase agricultural yields and also provide economic and environmental advantages. It is referred as "future agriculture" (Pretty et al., 2011). Minimum soil disturbance, rational organic soil cover utilising crop residues or cover crops, and the adoption of innovative and economically feasible farming methods, as well as steps taken to decrease soil compaction through regulated traffic, are all components. important Fuel and labour requirements are also reduced with conservation tillage. Further plant residues used as mulch not only cover the soil surface but help to supply plant nutrients on decomposition by micro-organisms. As a result it's critical to discover technologies that may generate larger yields with less resource, lowering cultivation costs and increase farmers profit margins (Singh et al., 2006).

atters the microclimate of soil leading to better crop growth. However the varieties may differ in their suitability for cultivation under conservation agriculture system. Also specific genotypes have been recommended for no-till cultivation all over the world. However, very little work has been done in Himachal Pradesh for the identification of rice genotypes for conservation agriculture. Thus it is important to test this new concept in one of the most important cereal crop grown in the state. Keeping the above facts in view, the present study was conducted to identify varieties suitable for conservation agriculture.

Material and Methods

The current study took place in the Experimental Farm of the Department of Agronomy, CSK Himachal Pradesh Krishi Vishwavidyalaya, Palampur (32°09' N latitude, 76°54' E longitude, at an altitude of 1290 m above mean sea level) during the kharif of 2019. The region reflects Himachal Pradesh's mid-hills sub-humid zone, which has moderate summers and chilly winters. The soil at the test location had a silty clay loam texture, was acidic in response, and had a medium amount of accessible nitrogen, phosphate, and potassium.



Figure 1: Sampling locations (32°09' N, 76°54' E)

There were nine treatment combinations in the trial, including three tillage techniques (conventional tillage, minimum tillage without residue, and minimum tillage with residue retention) and three cultivars (HPR 1156, HPR 2656, and HPR 2795). The experiment was conducted out in a split plot design, with tillage techniques in the main plot and varieties in the sub plot, and was repeated three times. The crop was planted on June 13th, 2019. The crop was grown with recommended package of practices and was supplied with 60:30:30 kg NPK. The complete amount of phosphorus and potassium, as well as half of the prescribed nitrogen, was administered at the time of sowing, with the remaining nitrogen applied in two equal splits during the tillering and panicle initiation stages. Mustard straw @ 3t/ha was used as mulch material and applied as per treatment.

The data on different yield attributes (number of panicles per meter square, number of grains per panicle, panicle length and test weight) as well as on grain and straw yield and harvest index was recorded. The data obtained was statistically analysed using the method educated by Gomez and Gomez (1984). The critical difference (CD) was estimated for parameters with significant impacts at the 5% probability level.

Results and Discussion

The data on different treatments effect on yield attributes of different rice varieties has been given in Table 1 while that on yield has been given in Table 2. A perusal of data (Table 1) reveal that significantly higher number of panicles per square meter were recorded in the minimum tillage without residue treatment which was at par with conventional tillage while significantly lower number of panicles per square meter was recorded in minimum tillage with residue. However in case of number of grains per panicle and panicle length significantly higher values for both these parameters were recorded in conventional tillage which was comparable to minimum tillage without residue. Significantly lower number of grains per panicle and panicle length were recorded in minimum tillage with residue retention. Tillage practices had no effect on the weight of 1000 grains. The higher values of yield attributes (number of panicles m⁻², number of grains panicle⁻¹

and panicle length) observed in conventional tillage can be attributed to the effect of tillage in loosening the soil, increasing porosity thereby allowing good air exchange and root growth. This better root growth allows the plant to absorb nutrients and water from a wider soil profile resulting in better crop establishment and early growth which results in higher values of yield and its attributes (Gupta and Seth, 2007; Seth 2019). The treatment in which residue was retained on the soil led to the immobilization of nitrogen particularly during the initial stages of crop growth resulting in poor growth and yield attributes. The 1000 grain weight is more of a genetic character and hence was not influenced by different tillage practices.

Among rice varieties significantly higher number of panicles per square meter was observed in the variety HPR 2656 which was at par with HPR 1156 and lowest count was recorded in HPR 2795. In case of grains per panicle significantly higher value was recorded in HPR 2795 which was followed by HPR 2656 and HPR 1156 in that order, the latter two varieties being at par with each other. The data on panicle length revealed that significant longer panicle was observed in variety HPR 2795, while the lowest panicle length was recorded in variety HPR 2656 though it was at par with HPR 1156. 1000-grain weight is an important yield attribute which affect yield of any crop. The data on 1000grain weight reveals that variety HPR 1156 produced grains having significantly higher 1000grain weight while the other two varieties were at par with each other.

The data on yields and harvest index of rice has been presented in Table 2. Results revealed the significant influence of both tillage practices and varieties on grain yield, straw yield and biological yield. Significantly higher grain yield was recorded in conventional tillage which was at par with minimum tillage without residue while lowest yield was recorded in treatment in which the minimum tillage was practiced alone with residue retention. As discussed earlier the conventional tillage improved porosity as well as air circulation in the soil enabling better root and shoot growth and better nutrient availability and uptake resulting in better yield. In minimum tillage with residue higher immobilization of nitrogen could be the cause of the reduced yield. Similar results have also been

Table 1: Effect of tillage practices and varieties on yield attributes of rice

Treatments	No. of panicles	No. of grains panicle ⁻¹	Panicle length	1000 grain weight						
	m ⁻²		(cm)	(g)						
Tillage practices										
Conventional tillage	219.4	91.0	22.74	26.31						
Minimum tillage without residue	222.2	87.3	22.41	25.91						
Minimum tillage with residue	211.7	83.8	22.06	25.56						
SEM ±	2.4	1.1	0.08	0.16						
LSD ($P = 0.05$)	9.4	4.2	0.33	NS						
	V	arieties								
HPR 1156	226.6	76.1	22.04	26.41						
HPR 2656	230.9	82.7	21.43	25.58						
HPR 2795	195.8	103.3	23.73	25.79						
SEM ±	5.1	2.8	0.25	0.13						
LSD ($P = 0.05$)	15.6	8.5	0.78	0.41						

Table 2: Effect of tillage practices and varieties on yield of rice

Treatments	Grain yield	Straw yield	Biological yield	Harvest Index							
	(q/ha)	(q/ha)	(q/ha)	(%)							
	Tillage practices										
Conventional tillage	28.53	54.96	83.49	34.17							
Minimum tillage without residue	28.05	52.48	80.53	34.83							
Minimum tillage with residue	26.28	49.68	75.96	34.59							
SEM ±	0.40	0.88	1.10	0.14							
LSD ($P = 0.05$)	1.52	3.28	4.32	NS							
	V	arieties									
HPR 1156	24.04	47.83	71.87	33.43							
HPR 2656	28.53	53.44	81.97	34.79							
HPR 2795	30.29	55.85	86.13	35.15							
SEM ±	0.64	1.04	1.82	0.18							
LSD (P= 0.05)	2.08	3.20	5.60	0.60							

reported by (Singh et al., 2006; Seth, 2019; Seth 2020; Mitra and Patra, 2019 and Pandey and Kandel, 2020). Among the varieties tested significantly higher grain yield was recorded in variety HPR 2795 which was comparable to HPR 2656 and lowest grain yield was recorded in HPR 1156. The higher yield in HPR 2795 was due to significantly longer panicle and due to higher number of grains panicle per square meter. The data on straw yield and biological yield revealed that significantly higher values of both parameters were recorded in conventional tillage which was 9.6 and 9.0 % higher over minimum tillage without residue, respectively. The higher straw yield obtained in conventional tillage was due to better root growth and enhanced nutrient availability and uptake which resulted in better initial growth and higher photosynthetic activity. Among the varieties tested significantly higher straw yield and biological yield was recorded in variety HPR 2795 which was at par with HPR 2656 while lowest straw yield and biological yield was recorded in variety HPR 1156.

References

- Anonymous. (2018). Statistical Abstract of Himachal Pradesh 2017 – 18. Department of Economics and Statistics, Government of Himachal Pradesh, Shimla. pp 31 – 32.
- Anonymous. (2020). Pocket Book of Agricultural Statistics 2018. Directorate of Economics and Statistics, Ministry of Agriculture and Family Welfare, Government of India pp 22-24
- Anonymous.(2021).http://www.cropweatheroutlook.in/crida/a mis/bramis.jsp
- Gomez, K. A., & Gomez, A. A., (1984). Statistical Procedure for Agricultural Research, edn 2, pp. 680. Wiley Inter Science, New York, USA.
- Gupta, R., & Seth, A. (2007). A review of resource conserving technologies for sustainable management of the rice-wheat cropping systems of the Indo-Gangetic plains (IGP). *Crop* protection, 26(3), 436-447.
- Mathew, R. P., Feng, Y., Githinji, L., Ankumah, R., & Balkcom, K. S. (2012). Impact of no-tillage and conventional tillage systems on soil microbial communities. *Applied and Environmental Soil Science*, 2012.
- Mitra, B., & Patra, K. (2019). Performance of rice-wheat cropping system under conservation agriculture based establishment techniques in eastern Indian plains. *Journal* of Cereal Research, 11(3).268-274.
- Pandey, B. P., & Kandel, T. P. (2020). Response of Rice to Tillage, Wheat Residue and Weed Management in a Rice-Wheat Cropping System. Agronomy, 10(11), 1734.

The harvest index of rice was not significantly influenced by tillage practices with all the treatments exhibiting almost similar harvest index. Contrary to this harvest index of different rice varieties varied significantly with HPR 2795 showing significantly higher harvest index while HPR 1156 showed significantly lower harvest index.

Conclusion

It is possible to draw a conclusion from the current research that conventional tillage gives better productivity of rice as compared to minimum tillage with residue on short term basis. Also amongst different varieties HPR 2795, a new red rice variety, gave better results under direct seeding.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Pretty, J., Toulmin, C., & Williams, S. (2011). Sustainable intensification in African agriculture. *International journal* of agricultural sustainability, 9(1), 5-24.
- Schatz, M. C., Maron, L. G., Stein, J. C., Wences, A. H., Gurtowski, J., Biggers, E., ... & McCombie, W. R. (2014). Whole genome de novo assemblies of three divergent strains of rice, Oryza sativa, document novel gene space of aus and indica. *Genome biology*, 15(11), 1-16.
- Seth, M., Thakurand, D. R., & Manuja, S. (2019). Effect of tillage and site-specific nutrient management on productivity of rice-wheat cropping system. J. Crop Weed, 15, 115-119.
- Singh, R. D., Bhattacharyya, R., Chandra, S., & Kundu, S. (2006). Tillage and Irrigation Effects on Soil Infiltration, Water Expense and Crop Yield under Rice-Wheat System in a Medium Textured Soil of North-West Himalayas. Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science, 54(2), 151-157.
- Seth, M., & Singh, S. M. S. (2020). Effect of tillage and site specific nutrient management on yield, nutrient uptake and status of soil in wheat in rice-wheat cropping system. *Journal of Crop and Weed*, 16(3), 32-37.
- Singh, S., Bhushan, L., Ladha, J. K., Gupta, R. K., Rao, A. N., & Sivaprasad, B. (2006). Weed management in dry-seeded rice (Oryza sativa) cultivated in the furrow-irrigated raisedbed planting system. *Crop Protection*, 25(5), 487-495.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Evaluation of spring water quality using water quality index method for Bageshwar District, Uttarakhand, India

Mohd Azam 🖂

Department of Civil Engineering, Govind Ballabh Pant University of Agriculture & Technology, Pantnagar (Uttarakhand) India

Jyothi Prasad

Department of Civil Engineering, Govind Ballabh Pant University of Agriculture & Technology, Pantnagar (Uttarakhand) India Halkurike Jayadevaiah Shiva Prasad

Department of Civil Engineering, Govind Ballabh Pant University of Agriculture & Technology, Pantnagar (Uttarakhand) India

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 29 November 2021	The quality of spring water is highly important to the people of hills for their
Revised : 19 January 2022	everyday lives in Bageshwar district, which is located in Uttarakhand's Eastern
Accepted : 07 February 2022	Kumaon area between latitudes 29.49° N and 79.45° E, at an elevation of 1,004
	meters above mean sea level. The study area map was created using the open-
Available online:	source freeware software QGIS, and the geocoding of the selected area was
	performed by entering Latitude and Longitude coordinates. Spring water were
Key Words:	collected and analysed based on the standard methods for the eleven springs of
Perennial Springs	Bageshwar city and its nearby villages for two seasons during the winter
Physico chemical Parameters	(December 2019) and in summer (March 2020). The present study assessed the
QGIS	drinking water quality of perennial spring in and around Bageshwar using the
Water Quality Index (WQI)	WQI by Weighted Arithmetic Water Quality Index Method. For calculating
	the WQI, 15 physicochemical parameters, namely, pH, alkalinity, Chloride,
	Electrical Conductivity, Total Dissolved Solid, Turbidity, Total Hardness,
	Potassium, Sodium, Fluoride, Iron, Nitrate, Calcium, Magnesium and Total
	Hardness were taken. The WQI values show that spring water with WQI
	values ranging from 4.57 to 17.83 in winter season 6.72 to 27.72 in summer
	season falls under excellent category, except for Bhaniya Dhaar-1 (BS ₈) village
	spring, which were classified to good water category. A paired t-test was
	applied to compare significant variations in water quality between two seasons,
	revealing a significant difference (p value<0.05) in water quality between
	seasons. Water from all of the evaluated spring sources is safe to drink, despite
	the fact that some parameters exceed permitted limits. To ensure the quality
	and security of the water supply to the people of these regions, it is preferable
	to conduct a simple filtration process before drinking the water sampled from
	the springs.

Introduction

Sustainable utilization of natural resources (water sources, biomass and other renewable materials) is one of the prime concerns pertinent to mankind, and as such serious efforts are being put to prevent direct and indirect routes (Pasqual and Souto, 2003). The entire ecosystem, its preservation and the upliftment mankind depend on these resources, especially primarily on water resources (Baunthiyal *et al.*, 2015; Tiwari, 2015). Due to increasing anthropogenic activity, spring ecosystems are under great threat, which needs urgent attention and

management plans (Krishnan *et al.*, 2005; Daghara *et al.*, 2019). The increasing human population has led to urbanization and other development activity resulting in the degradation of groundwater (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). Spring water is inexpensive and high-quality which flows out to the surface due to natural gravity and hydrostatic pressure. When the spring waters interact with the surface, it undergoes rapid contamination (Vilane *et al.*, 2016). The springs are a vital source of water in the entire Himalayan region, particularly for isolated villages at higher altitudes. The village population of the Indian Himalayan region especially Uttarakhand has largely depended on spring water since time immemorial and as a result a numerous studies evaluating the quality of spring water and other water bodies have been conducted (Baunthiyal et al., 2015; Bhutiani et al., 2019; Ruhela et al., 2018). Very few water quality assessments have been done in high-altitude regions like Bageshwar, Uttarakhand. The springs found in the study area are primarily of depression, gravitational and contact category and belong to the sedimentary rocks (limestone, shale and sandstone), metasedimentary and low-grade metamorphic rocks like dolomite, phyllite, quartzite and slate. The occurrence and movement of groundwater are influenced by the type of the litho units and the interspaces/interstices, as well as the degree of interconnection between them, the vertical and aerial extension of faults, joints, and/or shear zones, and the local and regional geomorphology. Groundwater arises as springs and seepage in ideal physiographic conditions, such as smooth sloping slopes, vast river valleys, and lithological connections. Based on the lithology of the area, there are three types of spring prominent and these categorized under are depression spring, gravitational spring and contact spring. Most of the spring water consumed by the local community is of open-source type. Therefore, regular testing and proper treatment of water are recommended for human consumption. Thus, in the present study, physicochemical analysis for spring water was conducted adopting standard methodologies to perceive the degree of contamination/pollution. As per the analysis of the obtained results, the parameters of water samples collected from all eleven perennial springs are of excellent quality with a significant difference in Water Quality Index during two seasons for both years. The paper presents a detailed analysis of the chemistry of spring water quality regarding the drinking water standards. Both the quantity and quality of spring water are depleting at an alarming rate due to various factors. Awareness programmes on the importance of springs, conservation and rejuvenation of the spring among the local communities can help protect the springs in Himalayas.

Material and Methods Study Area

Uttarakhand, formerly known as Uttaranchal, located in northern India with 13 districts with coordinates between latitude 28°45'N and 31°30'N and longitude 77°30'E to 81°05'E, with an altitude of 200 to 7,800 m above mean sea level. Bageshwar district is located in the hilly region of Uttarakhand. Bageshwar district has a moderate to subhumid climate. While the centre and southern parts of the region are relatively warm and humid, the northern part is entirely sub-zero throughout the year. The primary climatic characteristic of Bageshwar district is a harsh winter. The total annual rainfall at Bageshwar is 1360 mm and the total number of rainy days is 119 days. Major physiographic units of the district are Central and Lesser Himalayan Zone and its main drainage rivers are Bhadrapati. Gomti, Pindar, Pungar and Saryu. The soils of the Bageshwar district are categorised into lesser and greater or central Himalaya soils. The first type covers the majority of the area. The geological framework of Bageshwar region is so vast that the region is divided into different litho-tectonic units. The geology of the area consists of three Stratigraphic and tectonic units, namely (a) The Central Crystalline, (b) The Baijnath Crystalline and (c) The Garhwal Group.

Sampling Site and Water Quality Parameter Analysis

Spring water samples were obtained from eleven sampling locations of Bageshwar district, namely Banri (BS_1) , Manikhet (BS_2) , Darsu Aare (BS_3) , Kukudagaad (BS₄), Kamedi (BS₅), Bilauna (BS₆), Bhaniya Dhaar-1 (BS₇), Bhaniya Dhaar-2 (BS₈), Bhitaal Gaon (BS₉), Nye Basti Chaurasi (BS₁₀) and Shri Naula Dhaara (BS_{11}) . The spring water samples were collected in two seasons (one during the winter season (December 2019) and another in the summer season (March 2020)) in narrow necked polyethylene plastic bottles of one litre volume. Before sampling these bottles were washed and triple-rinsed with distilled water followed by rinsing with collected sampled water of spring. pH, total dissolved solids (TDS) and electrical conductivity were measured at the sampling site using Hand-handle pH-meter and TDS meter (TDS-3, HM digital)) then remaining parameters tested in the laboratory using the

methods of APHA (2012) and (Tripathi and Govil, 2001).

Preparation of Study Area Maps and Springs Location Points

The elevation, latitude and longitude of each of the locations sampled was measured (Table 1) using an app Kobo Collect working on Global Position System (GPS). The X (Latitude) and Y (Longitude) axis findings were expressed in Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) system units, which are employed in a software application (QGIS) to construct the location map of the examined area displayed in Figure 1. Study area map was created using the open-source freeware software QGIS, and the geocoding of the selected area was performed by entering latitude and longitude coordinates. The GPS maps marks the study area's chosen spring

water sources on the Google Earth map. The chosen analysis area and its borderlines are mapped and saved as a QGIS file on the QGIS application. The research area was digitised using QGIS tools. The chosen springs' latitude, longitude, and location were obtained using the app Kobo Collect. The spring positions were marked on the QGIS map using a point attribute. The water quality data derived from the non-spatial database were saved in excel format and combined with the spatial data. The spatial and non-spatial databases produced are combined to delineate the spatial distribution of groundwater pollutants to create Spatio-temporal distribution maps of water quality parameters. All the selected eleven springs were given spring id from BS_1 to BS_{11} (Table 1).

Fable 1: The location and altitu	de of the springs	sampling sites with	nin the Bageshwar district

Name of the Site/Village	Spring ID	X (Latitude)	Y (Longitude)	Z (Altitude)
Banri	BS_1	29° 50′ 49"	79° 47′ 9"	899.09 m
Manikhet	BS_2	29° 52′ 52"	79° 47′ 23"	780.23 m
Darsu Aare	BS_3	29° 52′ 24"	79° 46′ 47"	878.92 m
Kukudagaad (Bahuli)	BS_4	29° 51′ 30"	79° 44′ 38"	888.87 m
Kamedi	BS ₅	29° 52′ 9"	79° 43′ 12"	956.1 m
Shri Naula Dhaara	BS ₆	29° 52′ 22"	79° 46′ 27"	830.8 m
Biluana	BS_7	29° 49′ 41"	79° 46′ 15"	789.28 m
Bhaniya Dhaar-1	BS_8	29° 50′ 26"	79° 46′ 48"	935.3 m
Bhaniya Dhaar-2	BS ₉	29° 50′ 5"	79° 47′ 18"	975.93 m
Bhitaal Gaon	BS ₁₀	29° 50′ 7"	79° 46′ 23"	876.26 m
Nye Basti Chaurasi	BS ₁₁	29° 50′ 7"	79° 46′ 23"	894.57 m





372 Environment Conservation Journal

The Water Quality Index (WQI) was developed by (Horton, 1965). Later, a new modified WQI similar to Horton's index was introduced by Brown (1970). To determine the suitability of spring water for human consumption, we have used WQI by Weighted Arithmetic Water Quality Index Method. Various scientists widely used this method to assess water quality (Adimalla and Venkatayogi, 2018; Aly et al., 2015; Bhutiani et al., 2018; Balan et al., 2012; Brown et al., 1972; Chowdhury et al., 2012; Rao et al., 2010; Ramakrishnalah et al., 2009; Ruhela et al., 2022). The WQI was calculated using the following formula: Following three steps are followed for computing WQI:

Each parameter's unit weight is inversely proportionate to its standard permissible value.

1. Each parameter's unit weight is inversely proportional to its

standard permissible value. Unit weight of ith water quality parameter,

$$W_i = \frac{K}{S_i}$$
, where

K= constant of proportionality, given as

$$K = 1 / \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\frac{1}{s_i})$$

n= number of parameters,

 S_i = standard permissible value of the ith parameter.

2. Development of quality rating scale

$$Q_i = \frac{V_i - V_o}{S_i - V_o} \times 100$$

where

 Q_i = quality rating of ith water quality parameter,

 V_i = measured concentration of i^{th} water quality parameter,

 $V_o =$ ideal value of ith water quality parameter

Generally, the value of V_o is zero for all water quality parameters except for pH and dissolved oxygen (DO); for pH, $V_o= 7$; For DO, $V_o=14.6$ mg/l.

3. Calculating WQI

$$WQI = \frac{\sum Q_i W_i}{\sum W_i}$$

The Weighted Arithmetic Water Quality Index (WAWQI) method converts several water quality criteria into a mathematical equation that assigns a numerical value to the health of the water body.

The obtained value of WQI of all parameters were then classified according to range Value into five categories in order to determine degree of purity of

first spring water and its suitability for human new consumption (Table 2).

Table 2: WQI classification range.

Range	Type of Water
0-25	Excellent water
26-50	Good Water
51-75	Poor water
76-100	Very Poor water
>100	water unsuitable for drinking purpose

Statistical Analysis

To determine any significant differences in WQI for two selected seasons (Winter and summer), a paired *t-test* at 0.5 significant level (at 95% confidence level) was performed using R-studio software.

Results and Discussion

The results of studied physicochemical parameters are given in Table 4 and Table 5 shows that the average values of all 15 physicochemical parameters are below the maximum allowable limits of the Bureau of Indian Standard 10500: 2012 given in Table 3 for drinking water.

pH: The pH value indicates a change in the source's quality. Water that is extremely acidic or alkaline has a sour or alkaline flavour. Furthermore, higher pH values limit chlorine's germicidal potential. The pH values from all the spring sites were within the desirable limits except from the spring- BS₁, BS₄ and BS_7 (6.93, 6.93 and 6.71, respectively), which were recorded slightly acidic during winter. Bhat et al. (2010), Chauhan et al. (2020) and Kumar et al. (1997) discovered the acidic composition of water samples while researching natural springs in Kashmir, Pauri (Uttarakhand) and Almora (Uttarakhand), respectively. The highest value of pH was measured in summer at the spring-BS₇ 8.38 (Table 5). The rise in pH in some springs could be due to bicarbonate and carbonate of calcium and magnesium in water which may be due to the geology of the region in which limestone is the most common (Zeb et al., 2011). The pH values of all the spring water were within the permissible limits of BIS (2012) and WHO (2011).

EC: To measure the concentration of soluble salts in water, the electrical conductivity (EC) is used. Drinking water with a high concentration of dissolved solids has an unpleasant flavour. The

SN	physicochemical Parameters	BIS 10500: (20)12)	WHO (2011)		
		Acceptable	Permissible	Acceptable	Permissible	
		Limit	Limit	Limit	Limit	
1.	pH	6.5-8.5	No relaxation	6.5-8.5	No relaxation	
2.	EC (µS/cm)	770	1500	770	1500	
3.	TDS (ppm)	500	2000	500	No relaxation	
4.	Alkalinity as CaCO ₃ (mg/L)	200	600	200	No relaxation	
5.	Chloride (mg/L)	250	1000	250	No relaxation	
6.	Hardness as CaCO ₃ (mg/L)	200	600	100	300	
7.	Potassium (mg/L)	12	No relaxation	12	No relaxation	
8.	Sodium (mg/L)	200	No relaxation	200	No relaxation	
9.	RFC (mg/L)	0.2	1	5	No relaxation	
10.	Turbidity (NTU)	1	5	1	4	
11.	Fluoride (mg/L)	1	1.5	0.5	1	
12.	Iron(mg/L)	0.3	No relaxation	0.5	No relaxation	
13.	Nitrate(mg/L)	45	No relaxation	50	No relaxation	
14.	Calcium (mg/L)	75	200	75	No relaxation	
15.	Magnesium(mg/L)	30	100	30	No relaxation	

 Table 3: Standards values of physicochemical parameters given by BIS and WHO

maximum amount of EC was measured from Manikhet spring-BS2 (552.03 μ S/cm and 553.29 μ S/cm for winter and summer, respectively), while minimum amount of EC was measured from Bahuli spring-BS₄ (37.21 μ S/cm and 38.92 μ S/cm for winter and summer, respectively). The electrical conductivity values of all the spring water were within the permissible limits of BIS (2012) and WHO (2011).

TDS: Total Dissolved Solid (TDS) is a term that refers to dissolved solids and colloids in the form of chemical compounds and other substances. The maximum amount of TDS was measured from the spring-BS₂ (356.69 ppm and 287.19 ppm for winter and summer, respectively). In comparison, the minimum amount of TDS was measured from the Bahuli spring-BS₄ (24.35 ppm and 18.55 ppm for winter and summer, respectively). All of the TDS values were within the BIS (2012) and WHO (2011) permissible limits.

Alkalinity: The presence of dissolved minerals such as carbonate, bicarbonate, and hydroxide results in the alkalinity of water. The total alkalinity value of all the spring water was lower than the permissible limits (BIS, 2012) in the winter season. However, it exceeded the acceptable limit at two springs sites in the summer season, i.e., Manikhet-BS₂ and Darsu Aare-BS₃ (225.31 mg/L and 215.28 mg/L), respectively given in Table 5. This may be

due to higher carbonate, bicarbonate compounds in the soil or bedrock around these two spring water sources which gets dissolved and travel with the water in summer. This difference in summer in two in springs might be associated with the human activities during the summer season (Barakat *et al.*, 2018).

Potassium: Based on the prescribed limit of (WHO,2011) and (BIS,2012) difference in potassium concentration has been recorded during two seasons. Winter month recorded the highest value of potassium at spring site BS_5 (5 mg/L) are within the permissible limit, but at three spring sites, BS_4 , BS_7 and BS_{10} are zero in both seasons. The potassium content of all of the spring water samples is within the permissible range in both seasons.

Sodium: Sodium is a vital component required by the human body for a variety of tasks such as muscle and nerve function. Blood pressure and kidney failure are both linked to an increased concentration of Na⁺ in the blood. The presence of sodium in low concentration was also detected in all spring water samples (lower than the permissible range of 200 mg/L); during both seasons (winter and summer), the maximum value of sodium was recorded from a spring and BS₆ (15 mg/l and 12 mg/L) and minimum value of sodium, i.e., 1 mg/L reported from the springs BS₂, BS₄, BS₇ and BS₉ in

SN	Physicochemical Parameters	BS ₁	BS ₂	BS ₃	BS ₄	BS ₅	BS ₆	BS ₇	BS ₈	BS ₉	BS ₁₀	BS ₁₁
1.	pH	6.93	7.89	8.07	6.93	6.71	7.3	8.28	7.11	7.46	7.92	7.82
2.	EC (µS/cm)	438.13	552.03	316.8	38.92	136.13	399.57	344.05	116.5	80.46	95.76	287.37
3.	TDS (ppm)	285.15	356.69	200.2	24.35	89.93	248.55	215.15	71.85	49.88	96.56	179.05
4.	Alkalinity as CaCO ₃ (mg/L)	103.09	185.56	144.33	51.55	41.24	113.4	123.71	82.47	30.93	61.85	92.78
5.	Chloride (mg/L)	47.45	12.35	8.79	5.27	14.06	24.66	7.03	7.03	10.54	8.79	26.36
6.	Hardness as CaCO ₃ (mg/L)	377.19	438.6	333.33	192.98	219.3	350.88	342.11	210.53	201.75	228.07	324.56
7.	Potassium (mg/L)	3	1	3	0	5	4	0	2	1	0	4
8.	Sodium (mg/L)	15	1	4	1	5	15	1	2	1	5	11
9.	RFC (mg/L)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10.	Turbidity (NTU)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
11.	Fluoride (mg/L)	0.35	0.45	0.35	0.45	0.55	0.6	0.25	1.5	0.2	0.55	0.4
12.	Iron(mg/L)	0.04	0.03	0.05	0.02	0.03	0.04	0.08	0.03	0.02	0	0.03
13.	Nitrate(mg/L)	6	4	3	2	3	5	4	2	3	4.5	1.5
14.	Calcium (mg/L)	38	46	40	14	28	38	44	20	16	18	37.2
15.	Magnesium(mg/L)	39.54	58.26	28.49	5.24	12.16	48.29	38.29	22.39	8.19	11.78	20.69

Table 4: Physicochemical properties of springs during Winter (2019).

Table 5: Physico-chemical properties of springs during summer (March, 2020).

SN	Physicochemical Parameters	BS ₁	BS ₂	BS ₃	BS ₄	BS ₅	BS ₆	BS ₇	BS ₈	BS ₉	BS ₁₀	BS ₁₁
1.	pH	7.48	8.01	7.51	7.3	7.44	7.88	8.38	7.81	7.76	7.35	8.03
2.	EC (μ S/cm)	434.35	553.29	267.28	37.21	141.98	404.86	348.14	114.78	78.25	120.69	352.18
3.	TDS (ppm)	232.16	287.19	140.59	18.55	72.87	212.09	184.49	59.38	38.46	61.13	183.78
4.	Alkalinity as CaCO ₃ (mg/L)	129.38	225.31	215.28	88.48	81.73	159.64	189.47	118.58	68.35	89.49	157.29
5.	Chloride (mg/L)	64.19	35.46	20.26	49.59	52.28	88.65	53.19	29.14	26.32	53.19	54.16
6.	Hardness as CaCO ₃ (mg/L)	358.19	381.49	309.36	76.67	189.43	328.34	389.82	173.38	155.69	143.63	334.18
7.	Potassium (mg/L)	2	1	3	0	4	4	0	2	1	0	3
8.	Sodium (mg/L)	13	2	3	1	4	12	2	3	4	6	12
9.	RFC (mg/L)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10.	Turbidity (NTU)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
11.	Fluoride (mg/L)	0.25	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.65	0.5	0.5	2.5	0.4	0.45	0.6
12.	Iron(mg/L)	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.05	0.06	0.05	0.1	0.03	0.02	0.02	0.04
13.	Nitrate(mg/L)	7	5	4	3	3	10	5	2	4	5	2
14.	Calcium (mg/L)	32	30	44	12	26	40	50	18	14	20	38
15.	Magnesium(mg/L)	37.66	54.67	12.15	6.07	10.94	42.53	30.37	19.44	12.15	14.15	14.58

the summer season. The salinity of the water is mainly due to the presence of sodium chloride (NaCl) in water. The sodium content of all of the spring water samples is within the permissible range.

Chloride: Chloride is a significant indication of water quality and is abundant in nature in the form of sodium chloride (NaCl), potassium chloride (KCl), and calcium chloride (CaCl₂). During the summer season, higher and lower values of chloride were detected at spring-BS₆ (88.65 mg/L) and BS₃ (20.26 mg/L), respectively given in Table 5, and in the winter season, higher and lower values of chloride were detected at spring-BS₁ (47.45 mg/L) and BS_4 (5.27 mg/L) respectively given in Table 5. Comparatively, chloride concentration in spring-BS₆ was higher during summer which may be attributed to anthropogenic factors that contribute to chloride levels in spring water, including geological weathering, leaching from rocks, domestic effluent, irrigation discharge, agricultural use, etc. (Barakat et al. 2018), although it remained below the permitted level prescribed by (WHO, 2011) and (BIS, 2012).

Calcium: Magnesium and Calcium are also significant indicators for evaluating water quality since they have a direct relationship with the development of water hardness of water. Natural water contains different concentrations of these two elements depending on the type of rocks in the area. The maximum calcium concentration in both winter and summer seasons was found at spring-BS₇ and BS₂ (50 mg/L and 46 mg/L), respectively. The minimum calcium concentration in both seasons was recorded at the same spring-BS₄ (12 mg/L and 14 mg/L), respectively. The calcium content in all the spring water samples were within the permissible limit.

Magnesium: During the winter season, the highest concentration of magnesium recorded was 39.54 mg/l, 58.26 mg/l, 48.29 mg/l and 38.28 mg/L at the spring sites of BS₁, BS₂, BS₆ and BS₇, respectively and also in the summer season highest concentration of magnesium recorded were 37.66 mg/L, 54.67 mg/L, 42.53 mg/L and 30.37 mg/ L at the same springs as in winter season, which is beyond the acceptable limit prescribed by (BIS, 2012) (Table 3). This variation in Mg level might be related to the weathering of rocks and mineral

content of each ion, such as sedimentary rocks, limestone, dolomite, gypsum, aragonite, the mineral of igneous rock, feldspars amphibole and pyroxene, and the pH value of each source (Hem, 1985). As a result, a basic physical treatment of the spring water is desirable in order to limit nutrient loading. However, magnesium values in all other spring water samples are within the permissible limit during two seasons.

Total Hardness: Spring water is considered hard due to the presence of a high concentration of calcium ions and magnesium ions. The higher value of total hardness was recorded for both seasons. During winter the season, the hardness values of all the spring sites were found to be above (BIS, 2012) the acceptable limits, except at spring- S_4 (192.98) mg/L) and maximum value of hardness found at the spring of BS₂ (438.6 mg/L) given in (Table 5). Similarly, total hardness was also found to be exceeding the acceptable limits in the spring-BS₁, BS₂, BS₃, BS₆, BS₇ and BS₁₁ (358.19 mg/L, 381.49 mg/L, 309.36 mg/L, 328.34 mg/L, 389.82 mg/L and 334.18 mg/L) respectively, and the lowest value recorded at the spring-BS₄ (76.67 mg/L) given in (Table 4) during the summer season. The reason for higher value of total hardness could be attributed to anthropogenic activity and weathering action of host carbonate rock (Bui & Lodhi, 2020). To reduce the hardness of spring water of study area, a simple filtration treatment is preferable.

Fluoride: Traces of fluorides are present in many water samples, with higher concentrations often associated with groundwaters. During both seasons (Winter and Summer), the maximum amount of Fluoride was recorded from a spring-BS₈ (1.5 mg/L and 2.5 mg/l), which exceeded the permissible limit of BIS (2012) and in winter minimum amount found at spring-BS₁₀ (0.20 mg/L) and in summer at the spring-BS₁ (0.25 mg/L). The probable reason of elevated fluoride may be the abundance of fluorspar, cryolite, fluorapatite and hydroxyapatite around the spring-BS₈ (Agarwal *et al.*, 1997). Fluoride can cause dental fluorosis and skeletal fluorosis if the concentration is too high. Filtration through a membrane Fluoride may be removed from water using reverse osmosis and electrodialysis membrane filtration methods.

Iron: Iron encourages the formation of "iron bacteria," which obtain their energy from the

Spring Code	WQI (Winter	WQI (Summer
	2019)	2020)
BS_1	8.309	8.727
BS_2	9.018	10.868
BS ₃	10.042	9.840
BS_4	6.427	9.361
BS ₅	8.697	13.239
BS ₆	11.072	11.586
BS ₇	12.308	16.052
BS ₈	17.826	27.721
BS ₉	4.571	6.718
BS ₁₀	6.113	6.867
BS ₁₁	8.196	10.443
t Stat	-3.081	
P value one-tail	0.012	
t Critical one-tail	-4.518	
t Critical one-left	-0.726	
tail		

Table 6: WQI and Paired t -test analysis (at 0.05Significance level).

oxidising of ferrous iron to ferric iron, depositing a slimy layer on the piping in the process. During both seasons (Winter and Summer), the maximum and minimum amount of Iron was reported from a spring-BS₇ (0.08 mg/l and 0.1 mg/L) and at spring-BS₁₀ (0 mg/l and 0.02 mg/L). The iron content of all of the spring water samples was observed within the permissible range.

Nitrate: Nitrate (NO_3) is a plant nutrient that can be found naturally in the environment. Excessive nitrate and nitrite levels in drinking water can result in significant ailments such as "blue baby syndrome," increased cancer risk, starchy deposits, and spleen haemorrhage. During the winter season, the maximum amount of Nitrate was reported from a spring-BS1 (6 mg/l), and the minimum amount of Nitrate was rerecorded from a spring- BS_1 (1.5) mg/L). In the summer season, the maximum amount of Nitrate was reported from a spring-BS₆ (10 mg/l) and the minimum amount of Nitrate was rerecorded from a spring-BS₈ and BS₂ (2 mg/L). The nitrate concentration of all of the spring water samples was found to be within the permissible range.

WQI: The WQI is the highly effective way to communicate water quality because it presents the overall water quality results, rather than the results for each separate parameter (Toma *et al.* 2013). In order to know the degree of purity of spring water

and its suitability for human consumption, a weighted arithmetic WOI method was applied. WQI values for all the water samples of springs for two seasons are shown in the (Table 6). All springs' water quality index value falls below 25 in winter season, indicating an "excellent" class for drinking purposes, except BS₈ spring which lies in a good class for drinking purposes with water quality values between 25 and 50 in summer season. The variation in water quality during different seasons may be due to the contact of rainwater with the sedimentary rock in the region leading to dissolution of ions into the aquifer or could be due to various anthropogenic activities, such as agricultural activities and anthropogenic pollution from the nearby area.

In general, the parameters of all the spring water samples were recorded to be in potable and excellent water category (Table 6), except the water sample of Bhaniya Dhaar-1 spring (BS₈) lies in the good quality category in the summer season. The paired *t-test* analysis was conducted at significance level of 0.05 and 95% confidence level. These were calculated to compare the variation change in WQI during two seasons. Computation of paired *t*-test results shows that pvalue (p = 0.012) is less than significant value 0.05, which revealed that the difference in WQI of the winter and summer seasons is significant. The results revealed that most of the springs' water quality is potable and excellent, with a significant variation in water quality during the two seasons.

Conclusion

Based on the results, individual parameters indicated that the majority of water samples were suitable for drinking and within permissible range according to the (BIS, 2012) standard, with the exception of a few samples where Total Hardness, Fluoride and Magnesium were found to be near or above the acceptable range of (BIS, 2012), which indicates that the water is safe to drink without any further treatment after a simple physical treatment of the spring water is preferable to minimise the risk of contamination. For Fluoride, Membrane filtration process reverse osmosis and electrodialysis are two membrane filtration processes which can be used for removal of fluoride. The overall WQI found that, when all

physicochemical criteria were considered, all spring water samples were categorised as "excellent" quality during the winter season, with the exception of one site, Bhaniya Dhaar-1 spring (BS₈), which was categorised as "good" quality during the summer season. Additionally, there is a significant difference in WQI for all spring water during the two seasons. In the present scenario, Himalayan springs are gradually turning non-perennial. The anthropogenic activities within the catchment of springs are also significantly affecting the water quality. Water quality and discharge of the springs need to be checked at regular intervals, particularly

References

- Adimalla, N., & Venkatayogi, S. (2018). Geochemical characterization and evaluation of groundwater suitability for domestic and agricultural utility in semi-arid region of Basara, Telangana state, South India. *Applied Water Science*, 8(44).
- Agarwal, V., Vaish, A.K., & Vaish, P. (1997). Groundwater quality: focus on fluoride and fluorosis in Rajasthan, *Current Science*, 73 (9), 743–746.
- Aly, A. A., Al-Omran, A. M., & Alharby M. M. (2015). The water quality index and hydrochemical characterization of groundwater resources in HafarAlbatin, Saudi Arabia. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 8(6), 4177–4190.
- APHA, (2012). "Standard Methods for the examination of Water and Wastewater", Lenore S C, Greenberg A E, Eaton A D, (Eds.), 20th Edition, American Public Health Association, NW, Washington, DC.
- Balan, I. N., Shivakumar, M., & Kumar, P. D. M. (2012). An assessment of ground water quality using water quality index in Chennai, Tamil Nadu, India. *Chronicles of Young Scientists*, 3(2), 146-150.
- Barakat, A., Meddah, R., Afdali, M., & Touhami, F. (2018). Physicochemical and microbial assessment of spring water quality for drinking supply in Piedmont of Béni-Mellal Atlas (Morocco). *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 104, 39-46.
- Baunthiyal, M., Rai, D., & Ranghar, S. (2015). Water quality assessment and mapping of natural and ground water resources in Pauri region of Uttarakhand. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 16(1&2), 51-56.
- Bhat, S. U., Pandit, A. K., & Mudathir, R. (2010). Limnological investigation of three freshwater springs of Pulwama district—Kashmir valley. *Recent Research in Science and Technology*, 2(2), 88–94.

during the rainy season, as many water-borne diseases are prevalent during this season. In the future, more studies should be conducted on the monitoring of discharge and water quality of springs in the Himalayan region. Awareness and capacity building of local community members is also needed to rejuvenate the Himalayan springs.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Bhutiani, R., Ram, K., & Ahamad, F. (2019). Assessment of suitability of ground water quality in and around Laksar, Haridwar, Uttarakhand on the basis Water Quality Index (WQI). Environment Conservation Journal, 20(1&2), 41-46.
- Bhutiani, R., Ahamad, F., Tyagi, V., & Ram, K. (2018). Evaluation of water quality of River Malin using water quality index (WQI) at Najibabad, Bijnor (UP) India. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 19(1&2), 191-201.
- BIS. (2012). Indian standard specification for drinking water (IS 10500: 2012). *Bureau of Indian Standards*, New Delhi.
- Brown, R. M., McCleiland, N. J., Deiniger, R. A., & O'Connor, M. F. A. (1972). Water quality index—Crossing the physical barrier. *Proceedings of the International Conference on Water Pollution Research Jerusalem*, (Jenkis, S. H. ed.), 6, 787-797.
- Bui, Y., & Lodhi, M. S. (2020). Assessment of spring water quality using water quality index method-study from upper subansiri district, Arunachal Pradesh, India. *International Journal of Science, Environment and Technology*, 9 (6), 898 – 908.
- Chauhan, J. S., Badwal, T., & Badola, N. (2020). Assessment of potability of spring water and its health implication in a hilly village of Uttarakhand, India. *Applied Water Science*, 10(2), 73.
- Chowdhury, R. M., Muntasir, S. Y., & Hossain, M. M. (2012). Water quality index of water bodies along Faridpur-Barisal Road in Bangladesh. *Global Engineers and Technology Review*, 2(3), 1–8.
- Daghara, A., Al-Khatib, I. A., & Al-Jabari, M. (2019). Quality of drinking water from springs in Palestine: West Bank as a case study. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2019, article ID 8631732, 7 pages.

- Gupta, D., Singh, G., Patel, A. K., Shukla, R., Mishra, U., & Mishra, V. K. (2019). An assessment of groundwater quality of Varanasi District using water quality index and multivariate statistical techniques. *Environment and we— An international journal of science and technology*, 14, 143–157.
- Hem, J. D. (1985). Study and interpretation of the chemical characteristics of natural water (Vol. 2254). Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey.
- Horton, R. K. (1965). An index number system for rating water quality. *Journal of the Water Pollution Control Federation*, 37(3), 300–305.
- Krishnan, R. R., Dharmaraj, K., & Kumari, B. D. (2005). A comparative study on the physicochemical and bacterial analysis of drinking, bore well and sewage water in the three different places of Sivakasi. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 28(1), 105–108.
- Kumar, K., Rawat, D. S., & Joshi, R. (1997). Chemistry of spring water in Almora, Central Himalaya, India. *Environmental Geology*, 31(3–4), 150–156.
- Pasqual, J., & Souto, G. (2003). Sustainability in natural resource management. *Ecological Economics*, 46(1), 47– 59.
- Ramakrishnaiah, C. R., Sadashivaiah, C., & Ranganna, G. (2009). Assessment of water quality index for the groundwater in Tumkur Taluk, Karnataka state, India. *E-Journal of Chemistry*, 6(2), 523–530.
- Rao, C. S., Rao, B. S., Hariharan, A. V. L. N. S. H., & Bharathi, N. M. (2010). Determination of water quality index of some areas in Guntur district Andhra Pradesh. *International Journal of Applied Biology and Pharmaceutical Technology*, 1(1), 79–86.
- Ruhela, M., Kumar, P., Tyagi, V., Ahamad, F., & Ram, K. (2018). Assessment of water quality of River Ganga at Haridwar with reference to water Quality Index. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 19(3), 47–58.

- Ruhela, M., Sharma, K., Bhutiani, R., Chandniha, S. K., Kumar, V., Tyagi, K., & Tyagi, I. (2022). GIS-based impact assessment and spatial distribution of air and water pollutants in mining area. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 1-15.
- Tiwari, S. (2015). Water quality parameters –A review. International Journal of Engineering Science Invention Research & Development, 1(9), 6185-2349.
- Toma, J. J., Ahmed, R. S., & Abdulla, Z. K. (2013). Application of water quality index for assessment water quality in some bottled water Erbil City, Kurdistan Region, Iraq. *Journal of Advanced Laboratory Research in Biology*, 4(4), 128-134.
- Tripathi, B. D., & Govil, S. R. (2001). Water pollution (An experimental approach). *CBS publisher and Distributors*, New Delhi.
- Vilane, B. R. (2016). An Assessment of the Mhlambanyoni Spring Water Quality at Sigombeni, Swaziland. *African Journal of Agricultural Science and Engineering*. Thulane and Dalmini, J, 2(5), 40–45.
- World Health Organization (2011). Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality, *WHO Press, Geneva, Switzerland*, 4, 518.
- Zeb, B. S., Malik, A. H., Waseem, A., & Mahmood, Q. (2011). Water quality assessment of Siran river, Pakistan. *International Journal of Physical Sciences*, 6(34), 7789-7798.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Effect of varying altitudes on energy consumption and wheat production in Himachal Pradesh

Sarwan Kumar Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur HP

Rajendra Prasad

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur HP.

Gurpreet Singh

Department of Agricultural Engineering, CSK HPKV, Palampur HP.

Navjot Rana

Department of Agronomy, Lovely Professional University, Jalandhar, Punjab.

S. S. Rana

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur HP.

R. G.Upadhayay

Department of Biology and Environmental Sciences, CSK HPKV, Palampur HP.

Ishavjot Singh Mandian

Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur HP.

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Received : 18 December 2021	A field trial was conducted for the wheat crop at four different altitudes in
Revised : 11 February 2022	Himachal Pradesh namely Palampur, Malan, Dhaulakuan and Bajaura. Energy
Accepted : 05 March 2022	is one of the most important inputs in agricultural production. It is used for
	farm operations, chemical fertilizers, insecticides, herbicides and is obtained
Available online: 22 May 2022	from different renewable and non-renewable sources like diesel/petrol, human
2	labour, animal draught, and electricity. The variation in crop production and
Key Words:	energy consumption was determined at various altitudes. The most important
Wheat	set of features responsible for increased wheat yield, technology, input energy,
Altitude	and agro-climatic zone. At location, Bajaura produced the highest output
Energy input/output	energy (171081.7 MJ/ha) which means maximum grain and straw yield. The
Direct and indirect energy	maximum energy consumption at Bajaura because of the long spell and good
Energy consumption	crop health to provide more irrigations required more labour for harvesting
	and threshing. The Increase in energy inputs enhances the output such as yield,
	biomass and productivity in different ecosystems. This involves making the
	most use of available energy inputs to boost output even higher in the key wheat
	growing regions.

Introduction

Wheat is the world's second-most important cereal crop, after corn and the second most important cereal in India, after rice. Wheat is a key contributor to the food security mosaic. Worldwide, wheat is regarded as the king of grains since it feeds 36 % of the world's population and accounts for 20% of the food calories (Kumar *et al.*, 2013). In India, wheat occupies an area of 31.2 million hectares with a total yield of 96.0 million tonnes and an average production of 31.40 q/ha. Being staple food, in Himachal Pradesh wheat occupied

the largest area during 2016-17 when it was grown over an area of 338 thousand hectares with a total production of 650 thousand tonnes with average productivity of 19.21 q/ha (Anonymous 2017). During the production of the crop, energy is one of the most important inputs. Energy is used for a variety of purposes like farm operations, application of chemical fertilizers, insecticides, herbicides and is obtained from different sources like diesel/petrol, human labor, animal draught, and electricity. Due to the population explosion, the amount of energy consumption in agriculture has also increased for the production of sufficient food. A developing country like India has a large population of which the majority reside in rural areas and are involved in the agriculture sector. The information of agriculture energy resources and their consumption patterns becomes critical for creating effective food production systems. Increasing the energy inputs enhances yield, crop biomass output and productivity in different ecosystems.

The selection of the source of energy is also very important in sustaining agriculture and reducing the negative impact on the environment. Depletion of non-renewable sources due to the insatiable hunger of humans has led to the energy crisis. Renewable energy can play a critical part in addressing global energy needs or crises. A review of renewable energy technology reveals that enhanced approaches have the potential to cover around half of the US's future energy needs. Another key factor inefficient energy management in crop is production, which can be enhanced by collecting data from field energy consumption and its resources. This will not only aid in the formulation of different policies for enhancement of the crop production but also help in the protection of the environment from the negative effects of excessive and inefficient energy consumption. India has diversified topographic range from vast Gangetic plains to the Thar Desert and coastal regions of south to Himalayas in north. The power availability in Himachal Pradesh is quite low as compared to border sharing states like Punjab and Haryana.

In Himachal Pradesh, there is very diminutive data available on commercial and non-commercial energy availability and use patterns. A study was conducted in which energy–crop yield link was investigated and the variation in crop production energy consumption were determined at various altitudes. High yielding varieties, pesticides, fertilizers and other energy inputs altogether play a role in wheat production, since it is the most widely produced cereal grain on the planet. The most important set of factors responsible for increased wheat yield is energy input, technology and agroclimatic zone. Using a variety of different energy sources which includes renewable, non-renewable power, direct and indirect energy. The eventual

input-output ratio is influenced by the energy input and output as yield of each system. Wheat growing has become more vigorous in recent years as Indian cultivation has been switched from human and animal-based production system to a mechanized farming methods. This involves making the most use of available energy inputs to boost output even higher in the key wheat growing regions. The main goal of energy consumption is to raise the output of farms and reduce the input energy as well as the different harmful effects. To achieve this by calculating, analysing and utilization of the energy for wheat production in different wheat growing regions of Himachal Pradesh, taking into account technology, energy input and agro-climatic zones.

Material and Methods

Field experiment was conducted during rabi season at research stations of Department of Agronomy, CSK HPKV, Palampur, Malan, Bajaura and Dhaulakuan in Himachal Pradesh (Table 1) to evaluate the different energy consumption in wheat production with changing altitudes. The different energy input resources are distributed in different categories, like direct, indirect energy, renewable and non-renewable energy. The direct energy source of input in farms i.e., human, water, and diesel were used for different procedures of wheat production, like land preparation, sowing, fertilizer application, weeding, harvesting, threshing, and transportation. Likewise, the indirect form of energy input sources like seed, fertilizers, farmyard manure, weedicides, tractor and implements, were collected for determining the energy consumption as well as economics in production of wheat in the relevance of location. The input energy was compared based on renewable and non-renewable energy. According to the labour usage, operations are listed for the labour requirement per operation and calculated the total usage of direct power in particular operation for the energy requirement (Table 2). The calculation was done in hours of labour-power used in wheat production.

All these energy inputs were multiplied with their respective energy coefficients and the total energy input in crop production was computed. Output energy sources consisted of different products such as grain yield and by-products like straw. The ratio of grains and straw in wheat is 1:1.5. The
calculation was done using data of yield per ha and Table 1: Detail of Geographical location of the study multiplying it with their respective energy equivalents (Table 3). Farmyard manure was transported to the field and spread over the land manually. The land preparation practices involved were ploughing, levelling, bund making and seedbed preparation with tractors and different field implements. The farmyard manure and harvested grains were transported by the tractor. The sowing and fertilizer application were done by spreading manually. After 30 days of sowing, weeding was done by two methods viz. manual weeding and spraying weedicides (Chemical weed control). Harvesting was done manually and threshing was performed by a tractor-operated thresher with the help of labour.

The maximum operations were performed with direct energy i.e., human power as compared to indirect energy i.e., tractor and diesel. Different energy levels of different operations were calculated and the computed input-output energy of the wheat crop was used to study the relationship. To evaluate the different energy-related parameters such as net energy gain, efficiency, total energy, ratio and specific energy the following formulae were used (Mani et al., 2006; Chamsing et al., 2006; Modi et al., 2018).

The energy data available from different direct energy sources of farm energy e.g., human and mechanical and different operations of wheat crop cultivation was collected. Likewise, the data on indirect energy sources were also collected for defining complete energy utilization in the production of wheat crop at different locations.

Total energy invested in complete process is calculated by adding both total direct energy and total indirect energy. Net energy is calculated by subtracting energy output to total input energy (MJ/ha) and ratio is calculated by dividing energy output by total energy input. Specific energy is calculated by dividing the energy input (MJ/ha) by yield (Kg/ha). The experiment was laid out in one sample t test to determine the significant differences between means of energy consumption in crop production in the selected altitudes. The following different energy related efficiency parameters were determined (Mani et al., 2006; Chamsing et al., 2006; Modi et al., 2018).

Total Energy Output (MJ/ha) = (Yield x Energy equivalent) + (Wheat straw x Energy equivalent).

area.

SN	Province	Zone	Altitude (m)
	Himachal Pradesh		
1.	Dhaulakuan	Ι	411
2.	Malan	II	1109
3.	Palampur	II	1291
4.	Bajaura	III	1074

Table 2: Labour Used in different operations of wheat production (MJ).

Operation	Labour	Machine	Total
(Human Power)	Man-	Operator	
	hours	Machine-	
		hours	
Land preparation	8	8	16
Sowing	80	-	80
FYM transportation and spreading	160	-	160
Applicationoffertilizers (urea, SSP,MOP)	64	-	64
Weeding and intercultural operation	200	-	200
Application of weedicide	16	-	16
Harvesting	120	-	120
Threshing	40	5	45
Cleaning	50	-	50
Transportation	4	4	8

Table 3: Energy equivalents for various sources of input energy (Jat et al., (2020); Modi et al., (2018); Parveen et al., (2020); Mani et al., (2007)).

Direct and Indirect Energy Input	Units	Energy equivalent (MJ/unit)
Labour	Man-hour	1.96
Diesel	litres	56.31
Seeds/yield seeds	Kg	13.47
Straw	Kg	12.5
FYM	Kg	0.30
Urea	Kg	27.88
Nitrogen	Kg	60.0
МОР	Kg	11.1
SSP	Kg	6.7
Herbicide	Kg	254.45

Results and Discussion

Amongst all locations, Bajaura consumed more energy i.e., 20880.16 (MJ/ha) for wheat production. The total energy consumed in Palampur, Malan, Dhaulakuan was recorded as 20385.4, 20431.6, 20326.8 and 20880.2 MJ/ha respectively (Table 4). This may be due to low rainfall at Dhaulakuan and Bajaura, the number of irrigations was more as compared to Palampur and Malan. So, the input energy of irrigation, harvesting and threshing were (171081.7 MJ/ha) and lowest at Palampur at Dhaulakuan and Bajaura as compared to other (134215.1 MJ/ha) and at Malan (148787.4 MJ/ha) locations. The basic and standard treatment processes for wheat sowing at the different locations were the same but area-based conditions were different with altitudes like irrigation, transportation. weeding and So, proper management of natural or rain water streams which were suggested for optimum energy use too enhances the crop output. Maximum output energy (Table 5) was obtained at location Bajaura

and Dhaulakuan (160174.3 MJ/ha) per hectare energy was obtained. The highest net output return (energy) at location Bajaura because the grain and straw produced is maximum (171081.7 MJ/ha) (Table 6 and Figure 1). This may be due to wheat grain yield which was recorded to be highest (5110 kg/ha) and at Palampur, the grain yield was (3830 kg/ha) recorded lowest.

OPERATIONS	Dhaulakuan	Malan	Palampur	Bajaura
Zone	Ι	II	III	IV
Land (ha)	1	1	1	1
Source of power	TRACTOR	TRACTOR	TRACTOR	TRACTOR
Land Preparation	921.4	921.4	921.4	921.4
Sowing	156.8	156.8	156.8	156.8
Energy of Operator	15.7	15.7	15.7	15.7
Seed	1347	1347	1347	1347
Irrigation	648	400	320	467
Weeding by Manually	109.8	125.4	125.4	156.8
Herbicide	591.1	591.1	591.1	591.1
Fertilizer	10661.4	10661.4	10661.4	10661.4
Application of Fertilizer	125.4	125.4	125.4	125.4
FYM	3000	3000	3000	3000
Transportation & application of FYM	466.4	632.2	707.1	962.1
Harvesting	203.8	250.9	219.5	266.6
Threshing	2313.2	2313.2	2313.2	2313.2
Transport	291.8	370.2	300.5	420.5
Total input energy	20851.8	20910.7	20804.5	21405.2

Table 4: Energy input (MJ/ha) for wheat production in different locations of H.P.

Table 5: Total Energy output (MJ/ha) relation for wheat in different locations of H.P.

OPERATIONS	Dhaulakuan	Malan	Palampur	Bajaura
Output energy of grain yield	63174.3	59537.4	51590.1	68831.7
Output energy of straw yield	97000	89250	82625	102250
Total output energy	160174.3	148787.4	134215.1	171081.7

Table 6: Net energy, Energy ratio, Specific energy relation for wheat in different locations of H.P.

OPERATIONS	Dhaulakuan	Malan	Palampur	Bajaura
Net Energy	139322.475	127876.64	113411.1	149676.7
Energy Ratio	7.68	7.12	6.45	8.0
Specific Enegy	0.33	0.35	0.40	0.31

Conclusion

and there is a direct relation among energy

From this research, it is concluded that higher the consumption and crop productivity. The data energy input more will be the output (grains and required for results was obtained from different straw). The yield varies with increase in altitude energy sources on the basis of utilization. The maximum use of energy was at location Bajaura



Figure 1: Graph between energy input and output.

because the long spell, good crop health to provide **Conflict of interest** more number of irrigations required more labour for harvesting, threshing and more crop yield.

References

- Ashraf, M. N., Mahmood, M. H., Sultan, M., Banaeian, N., Usman, M., Ibrahim, S. M., Butt, M. U. B. U., Waseem, M., Ali, I., Shakoor, A., & Khan, Z. M. (2020). Investigation of Input and Output Energy for Wheat Production: A Comprehensive Study for Tehsil Mailsi (Pakistan). Sustainability, 12, 6884.
- Chaudhary, V. P., Gangwar, B., & Pandey, D. K. (2006). Auditing of Energy Use and Output of Different Cropping Systems in India. Agricultural Engineering International: the CIGR Ejournal, 3, Manuscript EE 05 001.
- Chaudhary, V. P., Gangwar, B., Pandey, D. K., & Gangwar, K. S., (2009). Energy auditing of diversified rice-wheat cropping system in Indo-gangetic plains. Energy, 34(9), 1091-1096.
- Chilur, R., & Yadachi, S., (2017). Energy Audit of Maize Production System of Selected Villages of North Karnataka. India. International Journal Current Microbiology and Applied Science, 6(8), 3564-3571.
- Jat, H. S., Jat, R. D., Nanwal, R. K., Lohan, S. K., Yadav, A. K., Poonia, T., Sharma, P. C., & Jat, M. L. (2020). Energy use efficiency of crop residue management for sustainable energy and agriculture conservation in NW India. Renewable Energy, 155, 1372-1382.
- Modi, R. U., Ali, M., Parmar, R. P., & Namdev, S. K., (2018). Energy Audit Application for Rice-Wheat Cropping System. Oriental Journal of Computer Science and Technology, 11(4), 209-218.
- Mani, I., Kumar, P., Panwar, J. S., & Kant, K., (2007). Variation in energy consumption in production of wheat-

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

maize with varying altitudes in hilly regions of Himachal Pradesh, India. Energy, 32, 2336-2339.

- Nassir, A. J., Ramadhan, M. N., & Alwan, A. A. M. (2021). Energy Input-Output Analysis in Wheat, Barley and Oat Production. Indian Journal of Ecology, 48(1), 304-307.
- Parveen., Singh, A., & Dogra, R. (2020). Energy requirement for the sowing of wheat after the in-situ management of paddy residues. International Journal of Agricultural Engineering, 13(1), 10-18.
- Singh, H., Singh, A. K., Kushwaha, H. L., & Singh, A. (2007). Energy consumption pattern of wheat production in India. Energy, 32, 1848-1854.
- Singh, G., Singh, P., Sodhi, G. P. S., & Tiwari, D. (2021). Energy auditing and data envelopment analysis (DEA) based optimization for increased energy use efficiency in wheat cultivation (Triticum aestiumL.) in north-western India. Sustainable Energy Technologies and Assessments, 47. 101453.
- Saad, A. A., Das, T. K., Rana, D. S., Sharma, A. R., Bhattacharyya, R., & Lal, K. (2016). Energy auditing of a maize wheat green gram cropping system under conventional and conservation agriculture in irrigated north-western Indo-Gangetic Plains. Energy, 116, 293-305.
- Singh, P., Benbi D. K., & Verma, G., (2020). Nutrient Management Impacts on Nutrient Use Efficiency and Energy, Carbon, and Net Ecosystem Economic Budget of a Rice-Wheat Cropping System in Northwestern India. Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 21, 559-577.
- Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal





Carbon dioxide sequestered by trees in an urban institution: A case study

Ritica Mohan

Department of Environmental Sciences, University of Jammu, Baba Saheb Ambedkar Road, Jammu Tawi (J&K), India

Saima Qamar

Department of Environmental Sciences, University of Jammu, Baba Saheb Ambedkar Road, Jammu Tawi (J&K), India

Anil K. Raina 🖂

Department of Environmental Sciences, University of Jammu, Baba Saheb Ambedkar Road, Jammu Tawi (J&K), India

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 18 December 2021	The geographical location, climate, topography and most important human
Revised : 03 march 2022	interference has contributed to the characteristic flora of the old campus of
Accepted : 10 March 2022	University of Jammu. A total of 24 tree species having 153 individuals
	belonging to 14 families have been recorded. Out of 24, 23 species belong to
Available online: 23 May 2022	Angiosperms (22 dicots and 1 monocot) whereas, only 1 species belong to
	Gymnosperms. Overall, Moraceae was found to be the dominant family. The
Key Words:	total growing stock, total biomass, total carbon content within university
Above ground biomass	campus has been assessed to be 215663.99cm ³ , 107.83kg, 50.68kg respectively.
Below-ground biomass	The total CO ₂ sequestered by trees and net oxygen produced have been
Carbon sequestration	estimated to be 185.84kg and 495.65kg, respectively. Thus, the old campus of
Oxygen production	University of Jammu with lot of built-up area, roads, lawns, parking places,
Trees	garden, etc. has sequestered considerably good amount of carbon and also
	produced considerable amount of oxygen as compared to its size, and its
	potential for sequestration can be enhanced with the help of management
	practices and plantation of more trees/shrubs within the permissible areas.

Introduction

The Urban Forest structure i.e., tree species composition, size and location, etc. provide the basis for understanding its functions that can affect urban inhabitants and also help to improve the management system to maximize the environmental and social benefits. As urban forests sequester and affect the emission of CO₂ from urban areas, which have 50% of global population across the globe, consume up-to 75% of total energy and 60% of water sources and contribute about 80% of GHG emissions despite being concentrated only on 2.5% of world geographical area (McGranahan et al., 2005), thus, can play a critical role in combating increasing levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide. They also play an important role in affecting atmospheric concentration of CO₂, act as sink of atmospheric carbon, modulate earth's carbon balance and help in mitigation of climate change (Chavan and Rasal, 2010; Eneji et al., 2014; Marak

and Khare, 2017). Tree vegetation constitutes an important natural resource having productive, protective, aesthetic and regulatory functions of tangible and intangible nature. Growth of tree vegetation in an urban area is a function of several simultaneous factors. Higher population density, more fossil fuel and other resources consumption, presence of more concretised and artificial surfaces in urban regions have led to accelerated climatic differences and their impacts on vegetation in urban environment than rural. Tree canopies provide a cooling effect on the microclimate of the region, reduces vehicular pollution and also capture largesize particulate matter (Beckett et al., 2000) which have far reached implications towards air quality standards along with sequestration in mitigation strategies. Trees simultaneously sequester carbon as they grow and emit the carbon to the atmosphere after their death/decay, there by influencing air temperatures and building energy use and consequently alter carbon emission and absorption from urban sources. The net carbon sequestration can be achieved by urban plantings up to 18 kg CO_2 per year per tree which will correspond to 3 to 5 forest trees of similar size as well as health (Ferrini and Finni, 2011).

Therefore, effective management and manipulation of the urban tree cover in a planned and costeffective way by understanding its structure and function can potentially yield a wide range of benefits to the urban region (McPherson et al., 1994). Many studies related to tree biomass and carbon content have been conducted across the world by Nowak and Crane (2002), Nowak et al. (2013), Fares et al. (2017), Brack (2002), Kiran and Kinnary (2011), Ugle (2010), Velasco et al. (2016), Nowak et al. (2007) and Zhao (2015) etc. Similarly, few studies in Jammu and Kashmir on forest biomass and carbon have been carried out by Dar and Sundarapandian (2015), Wani et al. (2017), Handa et al. (2017), Dar and Sahu (2018), Gairola et al. (2020) while, few studies on biomass and carbon sequestration potential of trees of forest area, outside forest area, urban and of sacred grooves were investigated by Jasrotia and Raina (2017), Sharma et al. (2020), Mahajan et al. (2021), Devi (2017), Kour and Sharma (2017), Ahmed and Sharma (2018), Bhat et al. (2019) and Priya and Sharma (2018). So, keeping in view the importance of tree vegetation in urban habitat our main aim of the study was to evaluate the carbon content and sequestration potential of urban trees especially in an institution to understand and to comply with aim of sustainable living.

Material and Methods Study area

The Old Campus of University of Jammu (Lat. 32°43'28.59" and Long. 74°50'58.61", Altitude: 336m above msl and Area: 410.5 acres) located near Canal Road, Nawabad, Jammu, J&K (UT) and is now utilized only for residential accommodation of teaching, non-teaching staff and students (Boy's hostel). It lies in the foot-hills of outer Shivaliks with climate typically of sub-tropical type having hot summers and cold winters with an average summer and winter temperature of 30.7 °C and 10.5 °C, respectively. June is the warmest and January is the coldest months of the year with average yearly

precipitation of 42 inches (1,100 mm) where the bulk of the rainfall is contributed by monsoon in the months from June to September.

Data collection

Field surveys for total enumeration of trees with diameter of ≥ 10 cm [at breast height (dbh) i.e., 1.37m above from the ground] were conducted within area of university campus. Circumference (in cm) at dbh was measured and recorded (Ravindranath and Ostwald, 2008).

Data analysis

Volume was calculated using volumetric equation based on diameter (FSI,2013) (Table 1). The volume (kg) was converted into above-ground biomass (kg) by multiplying it with wood density (g/cm³) (FAO 1993) (Table1) and biomass expansion factor (BEF) which is calculated using Exp $\{3.213-0.506*Ln (Volume)\}$. The below ground biomass (kg) of the trees was calculated using root to shoot ratio of 0.26 (Mokany et al., 2006). Above-ground biomass (kg)and belowground biomass (kg) were added to get the Total Biomass(kg). Finally, the carbon storage (kg) was estimated by multiplying total biomass using the default value of carbon fraction of 0.47 (IPCC, 2006). The estimated carbon stock was converted into CO_2 sequestrated by multiplied it with 3.667. The oxygen production (kg) was calculated by multiplying CO_2 sequestered with 2.667.

Results and Discussion Floristic analysis

A total of 24 species belonging to 14 families have been recorded from the area. Moraceae has been found to be the dominant family. Total number of individuals of all the tree species has been observed to be 153 within the campus, *Mangifera indica* being the most dominant species with 21 individuals followed by *Alstonia scholaris* (20 individuals) and *Morus alba* (14 individuals). List of the observed species has been presented in alphabetical order with their common name and family in **Table 1**.

Biomass C stocks, CO_2 sequestered and O_2 produced by trees.

Live biomass includes both the aboveground biomass and below ground biomass. This pool is likely to change frequently, even annually, much faster than other pools and is an important indicator of the impact on benefits related to carbon



Figure 1: CO₂ Sequestered and O₂ produced by tree Species

mitigation and other matters (Ravindranath and Ostwald, 2008). Globally, live forest biomass in aboveground tissues and belowground contributes $\sim 80\%$ and $\sim 20\%$, respectively while, in the Indian forests, aboveground and belowground biomass contributes 79% and 21% (Chhabra et al., 2002). In the present investigation, total live tree biomass within the campus has been estimated to be 107.83kg contributed by aboveground (85.58kg i.e., 79%) and belowground (22.25kg i.e., 21%) and thus, is in line with the reports of above and below ground biomass of Indian forests.Total carbon content possessed by trees in the present study area has been recorded as 50.68kg which has been contributed by 40.22kg of aboveground and of belowground biomass 10.45kg carbon, respectively. From this, it has been estimated that 185.84kg of CO_2 has been sequestered by trees in the study area. Dubal et al. (2013) in their studies at Shivaji university campus with an area of 874 acres reported that 1314 individuals of trees (belonging to 38 species) have sequestered 158268kg of carbon. Though the area is little more than double, the number of individuals of trees and sequestered carbon is ~ 8.5 times more, thereby reflecting that almost same amount of carbon has been sequestered by individual trees.While, Chavan and Rasal (2012) reported 1650kg (1.65t) of carbon stock among 1658 individuals (belonging to 20 species) within university campus of Dr. B.A.M. University, Aurangabad. Though the number of

individuals studied was ~10times more than the present investigation, the carbon stock was ~33 times higher. Similarly, Villiers et al. (2014) and Sarel et al. (2017) and Flora et al. (2018) reported 15000kg (15ton), 580900kg and 4565.928 kg carbon content in their university campuses which is $\sim 80, 3000, 24$ times higher than present study, respectively. Whereas, Gulcin et al. (2021) reported 5.2kg C/m² above ground biomass which was ~60 times higher in an area i.e., 2.5 times (988.425 acres) more than study area. Over all, the comparative studies were found to have more carbon content because of larger area as well as a greater number of individuals within their study area. Since, one ton of carbon storage in the tree species represents removal of 44/12 or 3.67t of carbon from the atmosphere and the releasing of 2.67t of oxygen back. Net oxygen produced by trees within the study area has been workout to be 495.65kg which is lower than 2959.68 t ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ of oxygen produced by the 28 tree species in Konnagar Municipality estimated by Abhijit et al. (2017). While, Sharma et al. (2019) reported 5777818.399 kg in Jiwaji University campus. As the O₂ produced is affected by the density of trees, the less amount of O₂ produced in the present area may be due to the smaller area as maximum area is covered as built-up area in the campus. The total biomass, carbon content, carbon sequestered as well as oxygen produced was recorded maximum for Eucalyptuscitridora having 6 individuals followed by Morus alba (14), Alastonia scholaris (20), Eriobotrya

Table1: List of the observed tree species within the campus of University of Jammu.

SCIENTIFIC NAMES	LOCAL NAME	FAMILY	VOLUMETRIC EQUATION	WOOD DENSITY (g/cm ³)
Alastonia scholaris(L.) R. Br.	Satpatra	Apocynaceae	V=0.193297-2.267002D+10.679492 D ²	0.629
Azadirachta indica A.Juss.	Neem	Meliacea	V/D ² =0.007602/D ² 0.033037/D+1.868567+4.483454D	0.69
Citrus limon (L.) Osbeck	Lemon	Rutaceae	V/D ² =0.007602/D ² 0.033037/D+1.868567+4.483454D	0.6
Dalbergia sissoo Roxb. ex DC.	Indian rosewood	Fabaceae	V=0.25412D ² H-1.83911D ² +0.07907H-1.40296	0.34
Eribotrya japonica (thunb.) Lindl.	Laquat	Rosaceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.7758
Erythrina variegate L.	Parijat	Fabaceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.6
Eucalyptus citriodora(Hook.) K.D. Hill & L.A.S. Johnson	Safeda	Myrtaceae	V=0.02894-0.89284*D+8.72416*D ²	0.64
Ficus benghalensis Linn.	Bargad	Moraceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.49
Ficus elastica Roxb. ex Hornem.	Rubber tree	Moraceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.6071
Ficus religiosa Linn.	Peepal	Moraceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.443
Grevillea robusta A.Cunn.ex R.Br.	Silver oak	Protoaceae	V/D ² =0.007602/D ² 0.033037/D+1.868567+4.483454D	0.6
Litchi chinensis Sonn.	Litchi	Sapindoideae	$V/D^2 \!\!=\!\! 0.007602/D^2 0.033037/D \!+\! 1.868567 \!+\! 4.483454D$	0.88
Mangifera indica L.	Mango	Anarcardiaceae	V=0.193297-2.267002D+10.679492 D ²	0.37
Melia azedarach L.	Dreank	Meliacea	V=-0.0351+5.32981D ²	0.4629
Morus alba L.	Shahtoot	Moraceae	V=0.167174-1.735312D+12.039017D ²	0.6224
Morus nigra L.	Toot	Moraceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.6156
Populus ciliate Wall. ex Royle	Poplar	Salicaceae	V=0.193297-2.267002D+10.679492 D ²	0.3887
Psidium guajava L.	Guava	Myrtaceae	V/D ² =0.007602/D ² 0.033037/D+1.868567+4.483454D	0.6
Pterospermuma cerifolium (L.) Willd.	Kanankchampa	Sterculiaceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.6
Pterygotaalata (Roxb.) R. Br.		Malvaceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.6
Syzigium cumunii L.	Jamun	Myrtaceae	V/D ² =0.2421/ D ² 2.68191/D+14.77955	0.468
Thevetia peruviana (Pers.) K. Schum.	Luckynut	Apocynaceae	V=0.00471+1.79326 D ²	0.6
Toona ciliate M. Roem.	Toon	Meliacea	V=0.193297-2.267002D+10.679492D ²	0.427
Ziziphus jujuba Mill.	Baer	Rhamnaceae	V/D ² =0.007602/D ² 0.033037/D+1.868567+4.483454D	0.597

Species	Total	Total	Basal area (cm ²)	Total	Total	Total Biomass	Total Carbon	Total CO2	Total O2
	Individuals	Volume		ABG (kg)	BGB (kg)	(kg)	(kg)	Sequestered	produced
		(cm ³)						(kg)	(kg)
Alastonia scholaris	20	134392.00	46422.00	13.38	3.48	16.85	7.92	29.05	77.47
Azadirachta indica	3	391.12	3391.20	0.57	0.15	0.72	0.34	1.24	3.30
Citrus limon	3	194.07	1657.90	0.35	0.09	0.44	0.21	0.76	2.03
Dalbergia sissoo	4	6.33	7134.10	0.08	0.02	0.10	0.05	0.17	0.45
Eriobotrya japonica	8	22821.40	9507.90	5.93	1.54	7.47	3.51	12.88	34.36
Erythrina indica	4	13438.00	6003.70	2.90	0.75	3.65	1.71	6.29	16.77
Eucalyptus citridora	6	327794.00	18275.00	20.38	5.30	25.68	12.07	44.25	118.02
Ficus bengalensis	3	624.58	1256.00	0.50	0.13	0.63	0.30	1.09	2.91
Ficus elastica	4	3503.56	3454.00	1.70	0.44	2.14	1.01	3.69	9.84
Ficus religiosa	4	11411.70	6267.40	2.23	0.58	2.81	1.32	4.85	12.94
Grevellia robusta	4	255.91	2185.40	0.46	0.12	0.58	0.27	1.01	2.69
Litchi chinensis	2	146.52	1256.00	0.36	0.09	0.46	0.22	0.79	2.11
Mangifera indica	21	5640.68	49273.00	4.11	1.07	5.18	2.43	8.93	23.81
Melia azadirach	9	23790.20	7661.60	4.92	1.28	6.20	2.91	10.69	28.50
Morus alba	14	78075.00	11317.00	14.57	3.79	18.36	8.63	31.65	84.40
Morus nigra	8	4982.08	5727.40	2.86	0.74	3.61	1.70	6.22	16.58
Populas ciliata	3	30108.40	3629.80	2.74	0.71	3.45	1.62	5.95	15.87
Psidium guajava	5	347.73	2976.70	0.60	0.16	0.76	0.36	1.31	3.49
Ptrerospermuma cerifloium	3	1867.00	2172.90	1.06	0.28	1.33	0.63	2.30	6.13
Sterculia alata	7	6909.87	6414.40	3.12	0.81	3.93	1.85	6.77	18.05
Syzigiumcumini	8	594.07	10035.00	0.99	0.26	1.24	0.58	2.14	5.72
Thevatia peruviana	3	1519.44	1984.50	0.97	0.25	1.22	0.57	2.10	5.61
Toona ciliata	4	728.53	6342.80	0.58	0.15	0.73	0.34	1.26	3.36
Zizyphus jujuba	3	225.35	1318.80	0.21	0.06	0.27	0.13	0.47	1.24
Total	153	669767.40	215663.99	85.58	22.25	107.83	50.68	185.84	495.64

 Table 2: Biomass and Carbon stocks in observed tree species within the campus of University of Jammu.

for Dalbergia sisoo (4) followed by Zizyphus jujube (3), Citrus limon (3) and Litchi chinensis (2).

Conclusion

Thus, the old campus of University of Jammu with lot of built-up area, roads, lawns, parking places, garden, etc. has sequestered considerably good amount of carbon and also produced considerable amount of oxygen ascompared to its size, and its potential for sequestration can be enhanced with the help of

References

- Abhijit, M., Tanmay, R. C., Nabonita, P., Sufia, Z. and Ankita, M. (2017). Oxygen generation by dominant urban trees: a case study from Konnagar Municipality, West Bengal, India. Biomed J Sci & Tech Res., 1(1).
- Ahmed, J., & Sharma, S. (2016). Assessment of Above Ground Carbon Stock in Trees of Ponda Watershed, Rajouri (J&K). Journal of Forest and Environmental Science, 32(2), 120-128.
- Beckett, K. P., Freer-Smith , P. and Taylor, G. (2000). Particulate pollution capture by urban trees: Effect of species and wind speed. Global Change Biology, 6(8):995 - 1003.
- Bhat, A. H., Sharma, J., & Jaryan, V. (2019). Role of Sacred groves in carbon sequestration in Jammu and Kashmir.International Journal of Scientific Research and Review. 07 (04).
- Brack, C. L. (2002). Pollution mitigation and carbon sequestration by an urban forest. Environmental pollution, 116, S195-S200.
- Chavan, B. L. and Rasal, G. B. (2012). Carbon sequestration potential of young Annona reticulate and Annona squamosa from university campus of Aurangabad. International Journal of Physical and Social Sciences, 2 (3):193-198.
- Chavan, B. L. and Rasal, G. B. (2012). Total sequestered carbon stock of Mangifera indica. Journal of Environment and Earth Science, 2(1):37-48.
- Chhabraa, A., Palriab, S. and Dadhwala, V. K. (2002). Growing stock-based forest biomass estimate for India. Elsevier, Biomass and Bioenergy, 22: 187-194.
- Dar, D. A. and Sahu, P. (2018): Assessment of biomass and carbon stock in temperate forests of Northern Kashmir Himalaya, India. Proceedings of the International Academy of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, 8(2): 139-150.
- Dar, J. A. and Sundarapandian, S. (2015): Variation of biomass and carbon pools with forest type in temperate

japonica (8) and the minimum values was recorded management practices and plantation of more trees/shrubs within the permissible areas.

Acknowledgement

Authors are grateful to UGC for providing financial assistance under SAP (DRSII) and JRF to one of the author (Ritica Mohan).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

forests of Kashmir Himalaya, India. Environ Monit Assess, Springer, 187:55.

- De Villiers, C., Chen, S., Jin, C. and Zhu, Y. (2014). Carbon sequestered in the trees on a university campus: a case study", Sustainability Accounting, Management and Policy Journal, 5 (2) 149-171. https://doi.org/10.1108/SAMPJ-11-2013-0048.
- Devi, R. (2017). Carbon storage by trees in urban parks: A case study of Jammu, Jammu and Kashmir, India. Int. J. Adv. Res. Dev, 2(4), 250-253.
- Dubal, K., Ghorpade, P., Dongare, Meena. and Patil, S. (2013). Carbon Sequestration in the Standing Trees at Campus of Shivaji University, Kolhapur. Nature Environment and Pollution Technology An International Quarterly Scientific Journal. 12(4) 725-726 2013.
- Eneji, I. S., Obinna, O. and Azua, E. T. (2014). Sequestration and carbon storage potential of tropical forest reserve and tree species located within Benue state of Nigeria. Journal of Geoscience and Environment Protection, 2:157-166.

FAO(1993).http://www.fao.org/news/archive/news-by date/1993/en/

- Fares, S., Paoletti, E., Calfapietra, C., Mikkelsen, T. N., Samson, R. and Thiec, D. L. (2017). Carbon sequestration by urban trees. In The Urban Forest (31-39). Springer, Cham.
- Ferrini, F. and Fini, A. (2011). Sustainable management techniques for trees in the urban areas. Journal of *Biodiversity and Ecological Sciences*, 1(1):1-19.
- Flora, G., Indhu, M.A., Derisha, L., Devi, S. D., Initha, D. M. P., Shibani, W. and Ranjini, N. (2018). Estimation of Carbon Storage in the Tree Growth ofSt.Mary's College (Autonomous) Campus, Thoothukudi, Tamilnadu, India. Journal of Emerging Technologies and Innovative Research, 5 (8):260-268.

FSI (2013). https://www.fsi.nic.in/forest-report-2013

Gairola, S., Sharma, J., and Vyasa, D. (2020). Carbon Stocks and Anthropogenic Disturbances in Temperate Coniferous Forests of Jammu Region in Western Himalaya, India.

- Gülçin, D. and van den Bosch, C.C.K. (2021): Assessment of Above-Ground Carbon Storage by Urban Trees Using LiDAR Data: The Case of a University Campus. *Forests*. 12, 62.
- Handa, A. K., Dhyani, S. K., Bhat, G. M., Malik, A. R., Dutt, V., and Jain, A. (2017). Quantification of carbon stocks and sequestration potential through existing agroforestry systems in the hilly Kupwara district of Kashmir valley in India. *Current Science*, 782-785.
- International Panel of Climate Change (IPCC) (2006). Good Practice Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Switzerland: Intergovernmental panel on climate change.
- International Panel of Climate Change (IPCC) (2006). IPCC guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories, prepared by the national greenhouse gas inventories programme.
- Jasrotia, R. S., and Raina, A. K. (2017). Temporal variation in tree biomass and carbon stocks of *Pinus roxburghii* Sargent forests of Rajouri forest division in Jammu & Kashmir State. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 18(3), 123-133.
- Kiran, G. S., and Kinnary, S. (2011). Carbon sequestration by urban trees on roadsides of Vadodara city. *International Journal of Engineering Science and Technology*, 3(4), 3066-3070.
- Kour, K., and Sharma, S. (2017). Bio-sequestration potential of trees outside forest in the plains of District Samba, J&K, India. *Environment Conservation Journal*, 18(1&2), 127-135.
- Mahajan, V., Choudhary, P., Raina, N. S., and Sharma, P. (2021). Carbon sequestration potential of trees in arable land-use and allometric modelling for dominant tree species in sub-tropics of Jammu and Kashmir. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, 42, 414-419.
- Marak, T. and Khare, N. (2017). Carbon Sequestration Potential of Selected Tree Species in the Campus of Shuats, Allahabad. *International Journal for Scientific Research & Development*, 5(6):63-66.
- McGranahan, G., Marcotullio, P., Bai, X., Deborah, B., Braga, T., Douglas, I., Elmqvist, T., Rees, W., Satterthwaite, D., Songsore, J. and Zlotnik, H. (2005). "Urban Systems," in Rashid Hassan, Robert Scholes and Neville Ash, eds., Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Current State and Trends. Findings of the Condition and Trends Working Group of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (Washington, DC: Island Press, 2005), 795-825.
- McPherson, E., Nowak, D. J., and Rowntree, R. A. (1994). Chicago's Urban Forest Ecosystem: Results of the Chicago Urban Forest Climate Project, General Technical Report No. NE-186, U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, Radnor, PA.

- Mokany, K., Raison, R. J., and Prokushkin, A. S. (2006). Critical analysis of root: shoot ratios in terrestrial biomes. *Global Change Biology*,12: 84–96.
- Nowak, D. J., & Crane, D. E. (2002). Carbon storage and sequestration by urban trees in the USA. *Environmental pollution*, 116(3), 381-389.
- Nowak, D. J., Greenfield, E. J., Hoehn, R. E., and Lapoint, E. (2013). Carbon storage and sequestration by trees in urban and community areas of the United States. *Environmental pollution*, 178, 229-236.
- Nowak, D. J., Hoehn, R., and Crane, D. E. (2007). Oxygen production by urban trees in the United States. *Arboriculture & Urban Forestry.* 33 (3): 220-226., 33(3).
- Priya, K., & Sharma, S. (2018). Carbon stock and sacred groves of Doda, Jammu and Kashmir. *Perspectives on biodiversity of India*, 281.
- Ravindranath, N. H. and Ostwald, M. (2008). Carbon Inventory Methods: Handbook of GHG Inventory, carbon Mitigation and Roundwood Production Projects. Advances in Global Change Research 29-Springer Science+ Business Media, B.V: ISBN-13:978-1-4020-6546.
- Saral, A. M., Selcia, S. S. and Devi, K (2017). Carbon storage and sequestration by trees in VIT University campus. *IOP Conf. Ser.: Mater. Sci. Eng.*, 263 (022-008).
- Sharma, H. K., Sharma, M. V., Janshirani, R. K. and Gautam, M. (2019). Atmospheric Carbon Control and Oxygen Production by Urban Green Campus, *RRJoLS*, 131-139.
- Sharma, M., Kumar, B., Mahajan, V., and Bhat, M. I. J. (2020). Ridge Regression Model for the Estimation of Total Carbon Sequestered by Forest Species. In *Statistical Methods and Applications in Forestry and Environmental Sciences* (181-191). Springer, Singapore.
- Ugle, P., Rao, S., and Ramachandra, T. V. (2010). Carbon sequestration potential of urban trees. *Proceedings of the Lake*, 1-12.
- Velasco, E., Roth, M., Norford, L., and Molina, L. T. (2016). Does urban vegetation enhance carbon sequestration? *Landscape* and urban planning, 148, 99-107.
- Wani, Akhlaq. A., Joshi, P. K. Joshi., Singh, Ombir and Pandey, Rajiv (2012): Carbon Inventory Methods in Indian Forests -A Review. *International Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 2(6): 315-323.
- Zhao, C., and Sander, H. A. (2015). Quantifying and mapping the supply of and demand for carbon storage and sequestration service from urban trees. *PLoS One*, *10*(8), 0136392.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.



Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Assessment of the effects of fungicide (Thiram) on somatic cells of broad bean (*Vicia faba* L.)

Naina Srivastava 🖂

Department of Botany, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun, Uttarakhand, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 05 December 2021	Present study was carried out to know the impact of fungicide (Thiram) on
Revised : 27 February 2022	somatic cells of broad bean (Vicia faba L.). Thiram is one of the most effective
Accepted : 03 March 2022	fungicide. Significant inhibition of mitotic index and increase in the frequencies
	of chromosome aberrations were observed. Results of the study indicate that
Available online: 23 May 2022	both the plant bioassay found to be sensitive indicators for the genotoxicity
	assessment as the outcome of majority test system. Using plant bioassays for
Key Words:	testing and monitoring environmental chemicals or pollution has many
Chemicals	advantages. The mitotic index decreases due to exposure of plant extract with
Chromosomal Aberrations	thiram in higher concentration as 150, 300, 550, 800 ppm for 8h and show
Genotoxic	reducing effect that is 21.00, 20.70, 18.61 and 16.77 in comparison to control
Mitotic Index	that is 21.19. The higher concentrations of fungicide showed the genotoxic
Pest	effects and damage the chromosomal integrity.

Introduction

Fungicide are the chemical substances, which is applied worldwide in public sectors and agriculture areas. Due to its high biological activity and in few cases of their persistence in the environment, the use of fungicide can lead undesired effects on animal health especially human and to the environment. On the other hand, fungicide play a significant role in rural health program comprises of the control of biting, noxious, irritating, annoying or contaminating insects and other pests, which infest human and animals (Crosby, 1981). Fungicide residues enters in food chain due to their indiscriminate use in public and agriculture areas. The residues of fungicides can be detected in different feed crops, food stuffs, flesh and meat, poultry, fish and in milk products. The modern agricultural practices represent a very large input of toxic chemicals in our environment (Crosby, 1981: Ajay and Sarbhoy, 1987). Chemical fungicides have contributed greatly to the increase of yields in agriculture by controlling diseases and also towards checking the diseases (Amer and Farah, 1974). The need to increase the production of food for the rapidly growing world population is a big challenge. Fungicides are used to control the

population of pests. The biological activity of fungicide is attained by different mode of action. A large number of synthetic fungicides are under use. They belong to different chemical groups and are classified on the basis of their chemical structure and properties. Chemical structure of fungicide is a key to the action of these pesticides. Their usage has increased manifolds in disease control management without considering their harmful side effects on plants, animals and human beings (Ajay and Sarbhoy 1987). Although, the use of these chemicals has become essential, but their ingredients have induced acute toxic effects (Amer and Farah, 1974) (Badr and Elkington, 1982). The toxic effect of endosulfan is not necessarily a result of direct application, some pesticides accumulate into the food upto a toxic level and affect the public health (Dryanovska, 1987; Yadav, 1986; Cantor etal., 1992; Mehmet & Huseyin, 2017). Vicia faba L. (2n = 12), of the family Fabaceae, have homozygous genotype because of self-pollination (Gulfishan et al., 2010). Thus, Vicia faba based established bioassavs have role to study chromosome anomalies due to their large and visible chromosome (Asthana and Kumar, 2014;

Zehring *et al.*, 2022). Present study was carried out to know the impact of fungicide (Thiram) on somatic cells of broad bean (*Vicia faba* L.).

Material and Methods

Thiram is a fungicide and belongs to the ethylene bisdithiocarbamate (EBDC) chemical class. The fungicide of EBDCs class are used in agriculture area to prevent crop damage and to protect harvested crops from fungal infections during storage or transport. Thiram is a widely used, broad-spectrum fungicide and a metabolite. The roots of plants were cut off when the length of roots become 1.5-3.0 cm in length and then fixed in a chemical acetic acid-ethyl alcohol (1:3) V/V. After that the process of hydrolysis is done in 1N HCL. At last, the sample/replicate is stained by using Feulgen squash technique. For each treatments and control, three replicates were used and examined. The experiments were done in laboratory at normal room temperature (22±2°C).

The mitotic index and the mitotic inhibition were calculated according to the standard formula. Mitotic Index (MI) and chromosomal aberrations (CA) in mitotic cells frequency were scored from the slides observation. Many cells were observed to score the mitotic index and chromosomal aberrations in each concentration. All observations were taken from temporarily prepared slides. In each sample, many cells were observed to record data of mitotic index and different chromosomal aberrations (Yuzbasioglu *etal.*, 2003).The formula for calculating mitotic index and abnormality percentage are :-

Mitotic Index (MI %) = Total No. of dividing cell / Total No. of cells observed X 100

Results and Discussion

Present study was carried out to know the impact of fungicide (Thiram) on somatic cells of broad bean (*Vicia faba* L.). Thiram is one of the most effective fungicide. Significant inhibition of mitotic index and increase in the frequencies of chromosome aberrations were observed. Results of the study indicate that both the plant bioassay found to be sensitive indicators for the genotoxicity assessment as the outcome of majority test system. Using plant bioassays for testing and monitoring environmental

chemicals or pollution has many advantages. The mitotic index decreases due to exposure of plant extract with thiram in higher concentration as 150, 300, 550, 800 ppm for 8h and show reducing effect that is 21.00, 20.70, 18.61 and 16.77 in comparison to control that is 21.19. The higher concentrations of fungicide showed the genotoxic effects and damage the chromosomal integrity (Table 1).

Table 1: Effects of fungicide on mitotic index in rootmeristem of Faba bean (Vicia Faba) after 8hexposure

Treatment	Concentration (PPM)	Mitotic Index
Control	0	21.19
Thiram	150	21.00
	300	20.70
	550	18.61
	800	16.77

Thiram affects the duration of each mitotic stage of each replicate as compared to control. It also play an important role in reducing mitotic index, indicating mitotic inhibition and increase in the frequency of abnormal mitosis, significantly. Star metaphase was one of the chromosomal abnormalities observed. Such type of abnormality was also observed after treatment of Vicia faba L. root tips with Thiram and considered as being a fore step of disturbance of the spindle completely. The effect of Thiram on root mitosis stimulates that of colchicine in the type of abnormal metaphase and anaphase and the induction of polyploidy cells as well as accumulation of metaphases. The threshold dose (dose of pesticides on which they retain their fungicidal property but have little or no cytotoxic/ genotoxic effect. The result show that the metaphase stage in treated root tip cells (Vicia faba) was also the most influenced stage by extract treatment and the total percentage of its abnormalities was higher than other mitotic stages. In this respect, abnormalities in the other mitotic stages was observed in the following sequence as Prophase> anaphase>telophase for all replicates / treatments. The study revealed that Thiram had a detrimental effect on the test material, there was inverse relation between the mitotic index and the dosage and time of treatment, and the direct relation between the mitotic index and the dosage and the time of treatment of percentage of abnormalities,

treatments not only brought down the frequency of dividing cells, but also produced a good number of anomalies in the mitotic cells. There was a notable decrease in the mitotic index and gradually increase in the chromosomal abnormalities as the concentration of the experimental solution and the time of treatment increased. The cytotoxic effects of fungicide were assessed employing chromosomal aberration bioassay in root tip cells. Different cytological aberrations viz., non-orientation and mis-orientation of chromosomes and stickiness, bridges, preconscious movement, laggards and fragments, diagonal spindle formation were observed in increased frequency with increasing concentrations of fungicides. These abnormalities have also been reported for several extracts and chemicals already observed by many workers (Yadav, 1986; Nwakanma et al., 2009; Mohamed and El-Ashry, 2012; Yuzbasioglu et al., 2003).

Conclusion

Finally, this work provides the information about the effect of fungicide Thiram on plant cells. Results of the study indicate the genotoxicity of Thiram as

References

- Ajay K.J., & Sarbhoy R.K. (1987). Cytogenetical studies on the effect of some chlorinated pesticides I. Effect on somatic chromosomes of *Lens* and *Pisum*. *Cytologia*, *52*, 47–53.
- Amer S.M., & Farah O.R. (1974). Cytological effects of pesticides. VI. Effects of pesticides "Rodor" on the mitosis of *Vicia faba* and *Gossypium barbadense*. *Cytologia*, 39, 507–514.
- Asthana, M., & Kumar, A. (2014). Dose Response of Viola odorata on Meiotic and Mitotic Chromosomes of Vicia faba. British J Pharm. Res. 4(4), 520-530.
- Badr A., & Elkington T.T. (1982). Antimitotic and chromo-toxic effects of isoproturon in *A. cepa* and *H. vulgare. Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 22, 265–270.
- Cantor K.P., Blair A., Everett G., Gibson R., Burmeis_ter L.F., Brown L.M., Schuman L., & Dick, F.R., (1992). Pesticides and other agricultural risk factors for non-Hodgkin's lymphoma among men in Iowa and Minnesota. *Cancer Res.*, 52, 2447–2455.
- Crosby G.D. (1981). Pesticides as an environmental mutagen in genetic toxicology: An agricultural Perspective. R.A. Fleck, A. Hollander (Eds.). Plenum Press, N.Y.
- Dryanovska O.A. (1987). Mutagenic effect of the herbicide alachlor during meiosis in *Tradescantia paludosa*. Acad. Blug. Sci., 40, 73–76.
- Gulfishan, M., Khan, A.H., & Bhat, T.A. (2010). Studies on cytotoxicity induced by DES and SA in *Vicia faba* Var. major. *Turk. J. Bot.*, 34, 31-37.

compared to biopesticides. According to the earlier study, the biopesticide also affect the cells but not significantly. So, conclusively we can say that the biopesticides are safer alternative as compared to chemical pesticides. Increasing use of agricultural chemicals for improving the field crops is now in routine use. Now a day, biopesticides are achieving a modicum of growth as alternative to conventional pesticides. However, their full potential has yet to be reached.

Acknowledgement

We are thankful to Dr. Ajay Saksena, Principal, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun for their moral support and providing the necessary facilities. We are also thankful to Dr. S.P. Joshi, Head, Department of Botany, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun for immense moral support and providing the necessary facilities.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Mehmet, Cengiz, Karaismailoglu & Huseyin, Inceer, (2017). Evaluation of potential genotoxic and cytotoxic effects of deltamethrin insecticide on somatic chromosomes of *Helianthus annuus* L., *Caryologia*, 70(4), 295-301.
- Mohamed, F.I., & El-Ashry, Z.M. (2012). Cytogenetic Effect of Allelochemicals *Brassica nigra* L. extracts on *Pisum sativum* L. World Applied Sciences Journal, 20(3), 344-353.
- Nwakanma, N.M.C., P.G.C. Odeigah, & B.O. Oboh, (2009). Genotoxic effects of *Gongronema latifolium* and *Vernonia amygdalina* using the *Allium* test. In: Book of Proceedings, 4th UNILAG Conference and Fair, Nigeria, October 21-22, pp: 81-90.
- Yadav, S.K. (1986). Antimitotic and Cytological Activities of Tropical Forest Tree: *Tamarindus indica. J. Trop. Forestry*, 2(1), 53-58.
- Yuzbasioglu, D., Unal, F., Sancak, C., & Kasap, R., (2003). Cytological Effect of Herbicide Racer "Flurochloridone" on A. cepa. Caryologia, 56(1), 97–105.
- Zehring, J., Walter, S., Quendt, U., Zocher, K., Rohn, S. (2022). Phytic acid content of Faba beans (*Vicia faba*) annual and varietal effects and influence of organic cultivation practices. Agronomy, *12*, 889.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

 \bigcirc

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/

Environment Conservation Journal

ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Species richness and abundance of Coccinellids (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) in agricultural ecosystem of Doiwala region, Dehradun (U.K), India

Pushpendra K. Sharma 🖂

Department of Zoology, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun (U.K.), India.

Pramod Chandra Khanduri Department of Zoology, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun (U.K.), India.

Rashmi Tvagi Rawat

Department of Psychology, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun (U.K.), India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 02 January 2022	Present study was carried out to know the community structure of coccinellid
Revised : 03 March 2022	beetles (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) in agricultural ecosystem of Doiwala region,
Accepted : 11 March 2022	Dehradun (U.K.), India during January 2021 to December 2021. During the
Available online: 23 May 2022	study period, a total of 8 species of ladybird beetles, which belong to 7 genera under 1 family, 3 subfamilies and 3 tribes were recorded, viz., <i>Brumoides</i> suturalis (Fabricius), <i>Coccinella septumpunctata</i> (Linn.), <i>Coccinella transversalis</i>
Key Words:	(Fab.), Cheilomenes sexmaculata (Fab.), Hippodamia variegata (Goeze),
Biocontrol Agents	Harmonia dimidiata (Fabr.), Oenopia sauzeti (Mulsant) and Henosepilachna
Community Structure	vigintioctopunctata (Li). Out of these eight species, seven were predatory and
Diversity	one was phytophagous. The only phytophagous species was H.
Ladybird Beetles	vigintioctopunctata (Li). Maximum species of coccinellids were collected from
Predator	site-3 (7 species), then followed by site-4 (6 species), site-1 and site-2 (5 species
	each).

Introduction

Coccinellids are predatory and phytophagous in nature and belong to family Coccinellidae of order Coleoptera. Coccinellidae is distributed worldwide and classified into 06 subfamilies: Coccinellinae. Scymninae, Coccidulinae, Chilocorinae. Sticholotidinae and Epilachninae (Vandenberg, 2002). The coccinellids are small in size with an oval, oblong or hemispheral body shape (Majerus, 1994). Most species of coccinellid beetles are an important biocontrol agent of pests such as thrips, aphids, mealybugs, scale insects, coccids, adelgids, aleyrodids and mites (Sharma et al., 2021). The family Coccinellidae is composed of 5,200 described species throughout the world. Fleming (2000) described 4,000 species of predatory coccinellids including more than 300 species from India and Pakistan. Saeed et al. (2016) reported 13 species of ladybeetles belong to 11 genera and 3 subfamilies from district Buner. Khyber

Pakhtunwa-Pakistan. Ahmad et al., (2017) reported 9 species from district Sargodha, Pakistan. Dorji et al. (2019) reported 91 species of coccinellids and out of them 17 were recorded for the first time from Bhutan. Poorani (2002) have described 400 species of ladybird beetles from Indian subregion. Joshi and Sharma (2008) have recorded 31 species of coccinellid beetles from district Haridwar and out of these, 19 species of coccinellids were reported for the first time from the district Haridwar, (U.K.), India. Joshi et al. (2010) have reported 21 species of coccinellids from Pauri-Garhwal district (Uttarakhand), India. Sharma et al., (2014) have observed the feeding potential of Coccinellla septumpunctata Linn. on cowpea aphid, Aphis craccivora Koch. Harit (2015) reported 13 species (9 predatory and 4 polyphagous) of coccinellids from Champhai district of Mizoram state (North East India). Sharma (2016) have described the lifecycle of a predatory ladybird beetle Coccinella transversalis (Fabr.). Sharma et al., (2017) reported 65 species from Himachal Pradesh. Sharma and Joshi (2019) have described the detailed morphological and taxonomical descriptions of two coccinellid beetles Micraspis discolor (Fabr.) and Micraspis vincta (Gorham) recorded from Haridwar district, (Uttarakhand), India. Das et al. (2020) have reported 44 species of coccinellids that belong to 22 genera and 6 tribes from Arunachal Pradesh, East Himalaya, India. Sharma et al. (2021) reported 9 species of coccinellids from district Sambhal (U.P.). The coccinellids fauna of the Indian subcontinent is diverse and rich, but scanty studied by scientists as compared to those from other continents of the world. The objective of present study was to know the species richness and abundance of ladybird beetles in agriculture ecosystem of Doiwala Block, Dehradun (U.K.), India.

Material and Methods

Study Area

Present study was conducted in and around Doiwala region of Dehradun District (U.K.). The Climate of the district is temperate and varies from tropical to severe cold throughout the year. The study area shows three distinct seasons winter, summer and monsoon. Paddy is the important kharif crops. Wheat is the main crop of rabi and is grown in all parts of the study area. Sugarcane, Rice and mustard are other important crops. Present study was conducted at four different study sites having agricultural field (Table-1).

Sampling of Coccinellid beetles

Sampling of insects was conducted at an interval of 30 days during January 2021 to December 2021. Coccinellids were collected by visual hand-picking method. The study area is divided in 4 sites. Each site was divided and studied into a quadrate of 10x10m. Random sampling was done at a fix interval of 30 days.

Taxonomic Study of Coccinellid beetles

The insects were collected into plastic medium sized vials and then transferred into an insect collecting bottles having ethyl acetate-soaked cotton. After insect collections, these bottles were brought to the laboratory and the coccinellid beetles were taken out from the bottles for stretching and pinning. The entomological pins No.2 were used to Henosepilachna vigintioctopunctata (Li). Out of

fix the individuals. The coccinellids beetles were dried in oven at 60 °C for three days in order to preserve them. The coccinellids were labelled with paper having all necessary information regarding taxonomic position and then set into insect boxes. The adult specimens of coccinellid beetles were properly studied under binocular microscope. The insects were separated and identified into different genus / species with the help of taxonomic keys of coccinellids.

Results and Discussion

Present study was conducted at four sites, representing agricultural ecosystem of Doiwala region, Dehradun (U.K.), India during January 2021 to December 2021. During the study period, a total of 8 species of ladybird beetles were collected from all four sites.

(A) Vegetational Composition

During the study period, specimens of coccinellids were collected from four sites representing agricultural ecosystem of wheat. mustard. sugarcane, paddy and some other herbs and weeds plants (Table-1). The descriptions of each site are as follows:

Site-1: The site-1 having the agriculture field of Sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum) and Loki (Lagenaria sp.).

Site-2: The site-2 having the agriculture field of Loki Sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum), (Lagenaria sp.), Pumpkin (Cucurbita sp.), Pigeon pea (Cajanus cajan) and Pea (Pisum sativum).

Site 3: The site-3 having the agriculture field of wheat (Triticum vulgare), mustard (Brassica campestris L.), Rice (Orvza sativa), Loki (Lagenaria sp.) and Pumpkin (Cucurbita sp.).

Site 4: The site-4 having the agriculture ecosystem having Wheat (Triticum vulgare), Rice (Oryza sativa), Mustard (Brassica campestris L.), and Loki (Lagenaria sp.).

(B) Taxonomic Composition of Ladybird beetles During the study period, a total of 8 species of ladybird beetles belong to 7 genera under 1 family, 3 subfamilies and 3 tribes were recorded, viz., Brumoides suturalis (Fabricius), Coccinella septumpunctata (Linn.), Coccinella transversalis (Fab.), Cheilomenes sexmaculata (Fab.), Hippodamia variegata (Goeze), Harmonia dimidiata (Fabr.), Oenopia sauzeti (Mulsant) and

SN	Sites	Locations	Crop Combinations of Sites
1.	Site-1	Balawala	Sugarcane and Loki
2.	Site-2	Doiwala	Sugarcane, Loki, pumpkin Pigeon Pea and Pea
3.	Site-3	Harrawala	Wheat, Mustard, Rice, Loki and Pumpkin
4.	Site-4	Nakraunda	Wheat, Rice, Mustard and Loki

Table 1	1:0	Crops	combina	tion of t	four d	lifferent	sites o	of Doiw	ala	Block	during	Jan. to) Dec.	2021
		C- 0 0 0												

Table 2: Taxonomic composition of coccinellids in four sites during Jan. to Dec. 2021

SN	Coccinellidae species	Sites					
(A) Subfan	nily: CHILOCORINAE	S-1	S-2	S-3	S-4		
(I) Tribe	Chilocorini						
1.	Brumoides suturalis (Fabricius)	+	-	+	-		
(B) Subfan	nily: COCCINELLINAE						
(II) Trib	e Coccinellini						
2.	Coccinella septumpunctata (Linn.)	+	+	+	+		
3.	Coccinella transversalis (Fabricius)	+	+	+	+		
4.	Cheilomenes sexmaculata (Fabricius)	+	+	+	+		
5.	Hippodamia variegata (Goeze)	-	+	+	+		
6.	Harmonia dimidiata (Fabricius)	-	-	-	+		
7.	Oenopia sauzeti (Mulsant)	+	-	+	-		
(C). Subfami	ily: EPILACHNINAE						
(III) Tribe H	Epilachnini						
8.	Henosepilachna vigintioctopunctata (Li)	-	+	+	+		
	Total	05	05	07	06		

+ Species Present, - Species Absent

Table 3: Abundance of coccinellid beetles in four sites during Jan. 2021 to Dec. 2021

SN	Coccinellidae species	Sites					
(A) Subfan	nily: CHILOCORINAE	S-1 S-2 S-3 S-4					
(I) Tribe	Chilocorini						
1.	Brumoides suturalis (Fabricius)	24	-	23	-	47	
(B) Subfan	nily: COCCINELLINAE						
(II) Trib	e Coccinellini						
2.	Coccinella septumpunctata (Linn.)	51	39	68	53	211	
3.	Coccinella transversalis (Fabricius)	37	44	52	39	172	
4.	Cheilomenes sexmaculata (Fabricius)	29	23	40	57	149	
5.	Hippodamia variegata (Goeze)	-	19	27	23	69	
6.	Harmonia dimidiata (Fabricius)	-	-	-	12	12	
7.	Oenopia sauzeti (Mulsant)	17	-	14	-	31	
(C). Subfami	ly: EPILACHNINAE						
(III) Tribe E	Epilachnini						
8.	Henosepilachna vigintioctopunctata (Li)	-	17	23	21	61	
	Total	158	142	247	205	752	

Table 4: Species richness, population density and % age of coccinellids during Jan. to Dec. 2021

Parameters	Site-1	Site-2	Site-3	Site-4
Species Richness	05	05	07	06
Density/hectare	53	47	82	68
Percentage	21	19	33	27

was phytophagous. The only phytophagous species (Li) and Hippodamia variegata (Goeze) were was H. vigintioctopunctata (Li). The only moderately common and were present in only three phytophagous species was H. vigintioctopunctata sites. Two species viz. Brumoides (Li) (Table-2). From this study, it was observed that (Fabricius) and Oenopia sauzeti (Mulsant), were Coccinella septumpunctata, C. transversalis and less abundant and were present in only three sites. Cheilomenes sexmaculata were the dominant One Species Harmonia dimidiata were less species as they were recorded in all four sites. Two abundant and were present only in one site. Highest

these eight species, seven were predatory and one species viz., Henosepilachna vigintioctopunctata suturalis

number of coccinellids species were collected from site-3 (7 species), then followed by site-4 (6 species), site-1 and site-2 (5 species each).

(C) Abundance of Ladybird beetles

A total of 752 individuals of ladybird beetles were collected at four sites having agricultural ecosystem. Maximum numbers of ladybird beetles (247) were collected from site-3 followed by site-4 (205), site-1 (158) and site-2 (142). From above study. observed that it was Coccinella septumpunctata (Linn.) was the most abundant species (211) followed by C. transversalis (Fab.) (172), and Cheilomenes sexmaculata (Fab.) (149) in terms of no. of individuals and were recorded from all four sites. Hippodamia variegata (Goeze) (69) and Henosepilachna vigintioctopunctata (Li) (61) were moderately abundant species in terms of no. of individuals and were present only in three sites. Brumoides suturalis (Fabricius) (47) and Oenopia sauzeti (Mul.) (31) were less abundant species in terms of no. of individuals and were present only in two sites. Harmonia dimidiata (Fab.) (12) were less abundant species in terms of no. of individuals and were present only in one site. From above study, it was also observed that three species were common and recorded from all four sites. Two species were moderately common and were present only in three sites. Two species were less common and were present only in two sites. One species were less abundant and were present only in one site (Table-3).

(D) Population Density

Highest number of coccinellids species were collected from site-3 (7 species), followed by site-4 (6 species), site-1 and site-2 (5 species each). Density of Ladybird beetles species was 53/ha in site-I, 47/ha in site-II, 82/ha in site-III and 68 in site-IV (Table-4). In site-I, C. septumpunctata had the highest density (17/ha), followed by C. transversalis (12.33/ha) and C. sexmaculata (9.66 /ha). In site-II, C. transversalis had the highest density (14.66/ha) followed by C. septumpunctata (13/ha) and C. sexmaculata (7.66 /ha). In site-III, C. septumpunctata had the highest density (22.66/ha) followed by C. transversalis (17.33/ha) and C. sexmaculata (13.33/ha). In site-IV, C. sexmaculata had the maximum density (19/ha) followed by C. septumpunctata (17.66/ha) and C. transversalis (13/ha). Maximum percentage sharing (33 %) of coccinellids fauna was shared by site-3, then

followed by site-4 (27 %), site-1 (21 %) and site-2 (19%) (Table-4). Pajni and Singh (1982) reported 30 species of ladybird beetles from different study sites of Chandigarh. Pajni and Verma (1985) discussed male genitalia of 25 coccinellids from Chandigarh region. Singh and Singh (1990) have recorded four new species of coccinellids viz., Epilachna shilliensis, *E*. convextata. Ε. septemocellata and E. crecentomaculata from Shilli, Himachal Pradesh, Omkar and Bind (1996) have recorded 05 species viz., B. suturalis (Fabr.), I. cincta (Fabr.), M. discolor (Fabr.), M. vincta (Gorham) and P. bisoctonata (Muls.) from Lucknow (U.P.), India. Joshi and Sharma (2008) have reported 31 species of coccinellids from Haridwar district. Joshi et al., (2010) reported 21 species of Ladybird beetles from different study sites of district Pauri-Garhwal (U.K.), India. Sharma and Joshi (2010) reported 25 species of ladybird beetles from different study sites of district Dehradun.

Conclusion

The occurrence of 08 species of ladybird beetles in four different study sites recorded in only one-year study indicate that Doiwala region have good community structure of coccinellids. The chances of disturbances in environment of agriculture ecosystem are high, as due to heavy infestations of pests, the economic cash crops are a target of a lot of toxic chemicals and insecticides that also affect the non-target insect fauna of that ecosystem. Any change in agricultural environment may lead the disappearance or repulsion or migration disappearance of coccinellids. As a result, the community size of coccinellid beetles may be decreased. Further observation is required in those regions that were not studied to fully explore the coccinellids fauna. Thus, the present study points out that the distribution, species richness and abundance of insect species may depend on plant community structure, availability of prey species and climate of the study area. As coccinellids play a principal role in suppression of crop pests, hence, this study may be useful in understanding the preypredator interactions.

Acknowledgement

We are highly thankful to Dr. V.V. Ramamurthy, Ex. Principal Scientist, Division of Entomology, I.A.R.I.,

New Delhi and Dr. J. Poorani, Principal Scientist, Bangalore, India for helping in taxonomic identification. We are also thankful to Dr. Ajay Saksena, Principal, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun for giving the valuable suggestions and providing the necessary facilities. We are also thankful to Dr. Shashi Kiran Solanki, Head,

References

- Ahmed, K.S., Majeed, M.Z., Rafi, M.A., Sellami, F., & Afzal, M. (2017). Biodiversity and species distribution of coccinellids (Coccinellidae: Coleoptera) in district Sargodha (Punjab) Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal Zoology*, 49(5), 1749-1759.
- Das, P., Chandra, K., & Gupta, D. (2020). The Ladybirds Beetles (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) of Arunachal Pradesh, East Himalayas, India with new combinations and new country records. *Bonn Zoological Bulletin*, 69(1), 27-44.
- Dorji, C., Loday, P., & Vorst, O. (2019). A preliminary checklist of the Coccinellidae of Bhutan (Insecta: Coleoptera). *Zootaxa*, 4712 (5), 497-530.
- Flemming, R.C. (2000). Lady beetles. Entomological Notes No. 6. Published as a service of Michigan Entomological Society.
- Harit, D. N. (2015). Exploration of coccinellid (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) fauna of different Ecosystems in Champhai District of Mizoram State, North East India. *Res. J. Agriculture and Forestry Sciences*, 3(5), 21-24.
- Joshi, P.C., & Sharma, Pushpendra, K. (2008). First records of coccinellid beetles (Coccinellidae) from the Haridwar, Uttarakhand, India. *The Nat. Hist. Jr. of Chulalongkorn* University, 8(2), 157-167.
- Joshi, P.C., Sharma, P.K., & Khamason, L. (2010). Species Composition and Population dynamics of Coccinellids from Pauri-Garhwal District of Uttarakhand, India. J. Appl. Bio-Sci., 36(1), 43-47.
- Majerus, M.E.N. (1994). Ladybirds. Harper Collins London, 359 pp.
- Omkar, & Bind, R.B. (1996). Records of aphid natural enemy's complex of Uttar Pradesh. V. The coccinellids. *J. Adv. Zool.*, *17*(1), 44-48.
- Pajni, H.R., & Singh, J. (1982). A report on the family Coccinellidae of Chandigarh and its surrounding area (Coleoptera). *Res. Bull. Punjab Univ. Sci.*, 33, 79-86.
- Pajni, H.R., & Verma, S. (1985). Studies on the structure of the male genetalia in some Indian Coccinellidae (Coleoptera). *Res. Bull. Punjab Univ. Sci.*, 36, 195-201.

Department of Zoology, D.A.V. (P.G.) College, Dehradun for immense moral support and providing the necessary facilities.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Poorani, J. (2002). An annolated checklist of the Coccinellidae (Coleoptera) (excluding Epilachninae) of the Indian subregion. *Oriental Insects, 36*, 307-383.
- Saeed, K., Khattak, M.N.K., Khan, M.F., & Naz, F. (2016). Ladybird Beetle (Coccinellidae; Coleoptera) of District Buner, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa-Pakistan. J. Appl .Env. Biol. Sci., 6(2), 58-78.
- Sharma, P.L., Verma. S.C., Chandel, R.S., Chandel, R.P.S., & Thakur, Priyanka. (2017). An inventory of the predatory Coccinellidae of Himachal Pradesh, India. *Journal of Entomology and Zoology Studies*, 5(6), 2503-2507.
- Sharma, Pushpendra K. (2016). Study on Life-tables of a predatory Coccinellid *Coccinella transversalis* (Fabr.) (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae). *Cheetal*, 53(1), 19-23.
- Sharma, Pushpendra K., & Joshi, P.C. (2019). Distributional pattern, morphological and taxonomical descriptions of *Micraspis discolor* (Fabr.) and *Micraspis vincta* (Gorham) (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) reported from district Haridwar, (U.K.), India. J. Env. Bio-Sci., 33(1), 85-88.
- Sharma, Pushpendra K., & Joshi, P.C. (2010). New Records of Coccinellid Beetles (Coccinellidae: Coleoptera) from District Dehradun, (Uttarakhand), India. New York Jr. Sci., 3(6), 112-120.
- Sharma, Pushpendra K., Joshi, P.C., & Sharma, Vijay. (2014). Feeding potential of seven spotted ladybeetle *Coccinellla septumpunctata* Linn. (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) on cowpea aphid, *Aphis craccivora* Koch. J. Env. Bio-Sci., 28(1), 105-108.
- Sharma, Pushpendra K., Mishra, A.K., & Singh, Sakshi (2021). Species Richness and Abundance of Coccinellids (Coleoptera: Coccinellidae) in agricultural ecosystem of Doiwala region, Dehradun (U.K), India. J. Exp. Zool. India, 24(2), 1381-1385.
- Singh, Tarlok, & Singh, V.K. (1990). Four new species of genus *Epilachna* Chevrolat (Epilachniae: Coccinellidae: Coleoptera) from India. *Entomon*, 15(1&2), 27-35.
- Vandenberg, N.J. (2002). Coccinellidae Latreille, 1807. P 371-389. In: H. Arnett & M.C. Thomas (eds.) American beetles vol. 2 Polyphaga Boca Raton, CRC Press 861 P.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

399

Environment Conservation Journal

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Present status and future directions for management of root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in chickpea

Ashish Kumar 🖂

JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P., India Vedant Gautam

JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P., India

R. K. Tiwari

JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Rewa, M.P., India

Stuti Sharma JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P., India

Javant Bhatt

JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P., India

Radheshyam Sharma

JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P., India

R. Shiv RamaKrishnan

JNKVV, College of Agriculture, Jabalpur, M.P., India

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 08 December 2021	Chickpea is a popular legume crop in Asia and Africa's semi-arid regions.
Revised : 23 February 2022	Crop production gains, on the other hand, have been modest, owing to biotic
Accepted : 11 May 2022	and abiotic stressors. Among the different biotic stresses, nematodes portray
	serious threat to chickpea production and colossal losses have been reported
Available online: 23 May 2022	due to stress-free infection by other pathogens on infection with root lesion
	nematode (RLN). The worldwide distribution of two major species of RLN
Key Words:	namely P. thornei and P. neglectus made them a focus research area especially
Chickpea	on management aspect. In dryland farming areas of southeastern Australia, the
Eco-friendly Management	P. thornei alone can cause yield losses of up to 40% in cereals and legumes.
RLN and Resistance source	Despite the fact that chickpea breeders have been working persistently to
	generate superior chickpea varieties with increased resilience or tolerance to
	biotic and abiotic challenges, contemporary biotechnology technologies can
	help to speed up this process. To incorporate these tools and/or accelerate
	breeding programmes, identification of RLN resistant source with its genetic
	factor is first step in developing improved cultivars. However, study of
	resistance screening methods for chickpea against RLN is limited and
	standardization of different factors for development of a stable screening
	methodology distinguishing various levels of resistance is the need of the hour
	in KLN research.

Introduction

legume crops is chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). It is Pradesh, Chhattisgarh, Rajasthan, Maharashtra, grown on an estimated 14.56 million hectares in more than 55 countries, producing 14.78 million tonnes (FAOSTAT, 2017). India, Australia, Myanmar, Ethiopia, Turkey, Pakistan, Russia, Iran, Mexico, the United States, and Canada are the top chickpea producers (FAOSTAT, 2019). It is planted on 10.22 mha in India, with a production of security as a source of dietary protein and key

One of the most commercially important food 9.53 mt and a productivity of 967 kgha⁻¹. Madhya Uttar Pradesh, Andhra Pradesh, and Karnataka collectively produce 95.71 per cent of the country's chickpea production and 90 per cent of the country's area (Anon, 2013-14).

> Chickpea is a nutrient-rich cool-season pulse crop that plays a critical role in ensuring global food

amino acids. Fixing atmospheric nitrogen, contributing to soil fertility, acting as a disease break, and suppressing weeds are all essential roles it performs in farming systems. The global average yield of chickpea is less than 1 t/ha, significantly less than the 6 t/ha potential output under favourable and irrigated circumstances (Varshney et al., 2017). This huge gap between actual and predicted chickpea yields is attributable to biotic challenges including insects, bacteria, fungi, nematodes, and viruses, as well as abiotic factors like drought, nutritional shortages, salinity, and cold (Roorkiwal et al., 2016; Kumar et al., 2021).

Since 1961, chickpea productivity has consistently increased, but its vulnerability to biotic and abiotic stressors has also increased, presumably due to the restricted number of germplasm accessions/donor parents used and reused (Muehlbauer and Sarker, 2017). Chickpea is attacked by air borne, borne. and soil borne seed pathogens (Chattopadhyay et al., 2001). More than 75 pathogens have been reported to infect chickpea (Nene et al., 1984). Globally, the loss of chickpea output due to plant parasite nematodes is estimated to be 14 per cent among the various biotic stressors (Sasser and Freckman, 1987). Accurate nematode species determination necessitates a thorough understanding of nematode taxonomy and/or the use of molecular diagnostic methods. Root-knot nematodes (Meloidogyne artiella, M. incognita, and M. javanica), chickpea cyst nematode (Heterodera ciceri), and root-lesion nematode (Pratylenchus thornei) are the most common worms that infect chickpea.

The root lesion nematodes, *Pratylenchus* spp. [*Pratylenchus thornei* Sher & Allen, 1953 (Tylenchida, Pratylenchidae)], is among one of the most important constraints to legume production and have a wide distribution in many regions in Turkey (82% of chickpea fields) and affect many agricultural crops around the world (Tanha *et al.*, 2009; Behmand *et al.*, 2019). *Pratylenchus thornei*, *P. neglectus, Pratylenchus penetrans* Cobb, 1917 and *Pratylenchus crenatus* Loof, 1960 (Tylenchida: Pratylenchidae), are the most important root lesion nematodes in the world (Vanstone *et al.*, 1998). Among the root lesion nematodes, *P. thornei* and *P. neglectus* are globally distributed and they enter the root tissue of host plant for feeding and

reproduction (Nicol et al., 2004). Also, some studies indicated that in terms of damage caused by these nematodes is of second importance as a nematode problem in the world after root-knot nematodes (Barker & Noe, 1987; Jatala & Bridge, 1990). P. thornei is one of the most dominating species of plant parasitic nematodes that can cause yield losses of up to 40% in cereals and legumes in dryland cropping areas of southeastern Australia (Thompson et al., 1995; Vanstone et al., 1998), chickpea in India with particular refence to Madhya Pradesh (Tiwari et al., 1992). Chickpea, infested with RLNs showed symptoms of stunted growth and leaf chlorosis and causes yield losses greater than 50% in chickpeas (Castilo et al., 1998; Castilo & Vovlas, 2007). Conventional breeding technologies are being continusly employed for development of elite chickpea varieties. However, success is limited and time consuming for incorporation of resistance factor against different biotic and biotic factors. The modern biotechnological tools have significantly facilitated generation of huge amount of genomic resources development to accelerate such activities. To incorporate these tools and/or accelerate breeding programmes, identification of RLN resistant source with its genetic factor is first step in developing improved cultivars. However, study of resistance screening methods for chickpea against RLN is limited and standardization of different factors for development of a stable screening methodology distinguishing various levels of resistance is the need of the hour in RLN research. Recent advancement in generation of genomic resources in chickpea (Hiremath et al., 2011, 2012; Gujaria et al., 2011) will certainly lead to identify of QTL conferring resistance to RLN in chickpea which can be utilized further for incorporation in molecular breeding platform.

Root Lesion Nematode

The Root Lesion Nematode (RLN), Pratylenchus thornei Sher and Allen, is a migratory endoparasite (Figure 1) that causes large yield losses and is regarded one of the most important plant-parasitic nematodes (Tiwari et al., 1992). Inside the root cortex, RLNs penetrate, feed, and migrate, causing necrotic lesions and root cavities (Figure 2). Under ideal conditions, the nematode reproduces mitotically and parthenogenitically (Fortuner, 1977), producing eggs in the cortex and completing its life cycle in 6 weeks. More than 60 species of

Management approach	Сгор	Reference
Soil amendment by different plant bi	-products	
Oil cakes of neem, castor bean, groundnut, linseed, sunflower and soybean	Chickpea	Tiyagi and Shamim, 2004
Powdered (seed kernel, seed coat, and Achook at 20 per cent w/w) neem formulations	Chickpea	Mojumder, 1999
Liquid (Neemark and Nimbecidine @5 per cent v/w) neem formulations	Chickpea	Mojumder, 1999
Mustard and Linseed cakes	Groundnut	Sebastian and Gupta, 1995
Jatropha cake @ 2 t/ha	Tomato	Patel and Patel, 2007
Mustard, castor and Jatropha cakes @ 30 g/plant	Bottle guard	Verma and Nandal, 2007
Bioagents		
Trichoderma harzianum	Chickpea	Pant & Pandey, 2002
	Maize	Windham et al., 1989
	Tomato	Rao et al. 1997
T. koningii	Maize	Windham et al., 1989
<i>T. harzianum</i> with neem cake	Tomato	Reddy et al., 1998
Trichoderma and Gliocladium	Sunflower	Shankaranarayanan et al., 1999
Trichoderma viride	Chickpea	Pandey et al., 2003, Dwivedi et al., 2008
Pseudomonas fluorescens	Chickpea	Dwivedi et al., 2008
Paecilomyces lilacinus	Chickpea	Zaki and Maqbool, 1992; Vyas et al., 1997
	Mashbean	Shahzad et al., 1996
	Groundnut	Vyas et al., 1997
	Tomato	Lin <i>et al.</i> , 1993; Ekanayake and Jayasundara, 1994; Parveen and Gaffar, 1998; Khan and Saxena, 1996
	Medicinal herbs	Park et al., 1993
	betelvine	Jonathan <i>et al.</i> , 1995; Nakat <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Hazarika <i>et al.</i> , 1998; Pathak and Saikia, 1999
	Mung bean, Okra	Shahzad and Gaffar, 1987, 1989; Esteshamul-Haque et al., 1995
Pochonia chlamydosporia	Vegetables	Kerry and Diaz, 2004
	Okra	Dhawan <i>et al.</i> , 2007
	Pistachio	Ebadi et al., 2018
	Monocot and dicot	Tolba <i>et al.</i> , 2021
	hosts	

Table 1: Successful management of nematodes in crops using eco-friendly approaches.





Figure 1: *Pratylenchus thornei*, a root lesion nematode of chickpea. Figure 2: Symptoms due to *Pratylenchus thornei*, a root lesion nematode on chickpea roots as lesions.

Pratylenchus exist (Loof, 1991), all of which can be distinguished only by small morphological and morphometric changes. In North Africa (Di Vito *et al.*, 1994a), Turkey (Di Vito *et al.*, 1994b), and Spain (Castillo *et al.*, 1996), RLNs are the most common plant-parasitic nematode detected in chickpea crops.

The root-lesion nematode Pratylenchus thornei is the most common species that causes damage to chickpea crops around the world. P. thornei is found in major chickpea-growing countries such as Australia (Thompson et al., 2000), India, and Pakistan, India (Sharma et al., 1992), North Africa (Di Vito et al., 1994a), Turkey (Di Vito et al., 1994b), and Spain (Castillo et al., 1996). P. thornei is emerging as a serious threat to chickpea production in India, which is the world's largest producer and consumer of gram. High populations of P. thornei have been reported in Madhya Pradesh (Baghel and Singh, 2013), Rajasthan (Ali and Sharma, 2003), Maharashtra (Varaprasad et al., 1997), and Uttar Pradesh (Sebastian and Gupta, 1995). During chickpea crop surveys in North Africa and the Mediterranean region, Brazil, and North America, numerous more Pratylenchus species have been identified and reported.

Root-lesion nematodes are migratory endoparasites that cause severe necrosis of epidermal, cortical, and endodermal cells in chickpea roots by feeding in the cortical parenchyma. A combination of stylet thrusting and enzymatic weakening of the host cell walls facilitates both root penetration and migration inside root tissues (Castillo & Vovlas, 2007). Wheat, in addition to chickpea, has been identified as a possible RLN host (Di vito *et al.*, 1987).

Chickpea-RLN interactions

Taylor *et al.* (2000) established parasitic behavior of *Pratylenchus thornei* in chickpea and further specified that it's life cycle can be from 45 to 65 days depending upon different environmental features and host availability. However, under artificial conditions using carrot disk culture, *P. thornei* can take 25 to 35 days to complete its life cycle ubder the temperature incubation at 20 to 25° C (Castillo *et al.*, 1995). Therefore, many generations of *P. thornei* can happen in one crop season (Sikora *et al.*, 2018). Bridge and Starr (2007) affirmed that all the motile stages of *Pratylenchus* are parasitic. They further specified

the behavior of migratory endoparasites and their feeding was confined inside the cortex, deposited eggs singly in the cavities formed by migration of nematode inside the paranchymatic cells of plant roots. De Waele and Elsen (2007) reported that reproduction in the females of *Pratylenchus thornei* is by mitotic parthenogenesis and males are rare. Pudasaini *et al.* (2008) confirmed that females of *P. thornei* deposit eggs in the soil. The eggs and nematodes of *P. thornei* can withstand in the soil under the conditions when host plants are not available. Under the circumstances of slow drying of soil, a high proportion of these nematodes can withstand and survive under these prevailing dry vicinity (Thompson *et al.*, 2017, 2018).

Depending upon the population of P. thornei, damage may vary and as a consequence of its infection huge segments of cortex are degraded, and subsequently absorption capacity of roots is also significantly reduced (Jaques and Schwass, 1956). The population of P. thornei remained inside the cortical tissues of chickpea roots, according to Tiwari et al. (1992). P. thornei infection results in dark brown to black lesions on chickpea roots. Rootlesion nematode damage is often less noticeable than root-knot or cyst nematode damage (Sharma et al., 1992), and signs of P. thornei root damage do not necessarily manifest themselves on above-ground plant parts. In addition to these symptoms, sometimes plant weight reduction, reduced per cent pollen fertility, lesser number of pods, lower water absorption capacity and lesser chlorophyll content of leaves could also be witnessed due to RLN when compared with healthy chickpea plant (Tiyagi and Parveen, 1992). The above ground symptoms imitate nutrients and water deficiencies symptoms (Taylor et al., 1999). The lesions generally first appear on roots as water-soaked area after initiation of penetration of root epidermis by P. thornei. The elliptical shaped water-soaked lesions of 1 to 2 mm in length are formed over time and change in colour takes place to olive green and finally to radish brown colour (De Waele and Elsion, 2007).

The roots of chickpea are significantly damaged upon infection by *P. thornei*. However, chickpea plant inoculation with different numbers of lesion nematodes (10, 100, 1000, and 10000 RLN/plant) identified 100 nematode/kg soil as threshold value for significant growth character reductions. At the lowest inoculum level, nematode multiplication

Total No. <u>No. of lines</u>		of lines		
of lines	of lines Resistant Moderately		Source of germplasm	Reference
screened		resistant		
215	35	68	Indian Institute of Pulse Research (IIPR), Kanpur;	Tiwari et al.,
			JNKVV, Jabalpur, India	1992
600	0	17	International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-	Ali and
			arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Pantancheru, Telangana,	Ahmad,
			India and IIPR, Kanpur, India	2000
453	1	14	International Center for Agricultural Research in the	Thompson
			Dry Areas (ICARDA), ICRISAT, Australian cultivars	<i>et al.</i> , 2011
			and breeding lines	
147	21	18	Collection of primary, secondary and tertiary gene	Di Vito et
			pool (Primary: C. echinospermum, C. reticulatum;	al., 1995
			Secondary: C. bijugum, C. judaicum, C. pinnatifidum,	
			C. chorassanicum; Tertiary: C. cuneatum, C.	
			yamashitae)	
96	2	0	ICRISAT accessions	Jatav and
				Tiwari, 2019
174	13	40	Collection of primary, gene pool (C. echinospermum,	Reen et al.,
			C. reticulatum)	2019

 Table 2: Identification of resitance sources for P. thornei in chickpea.

was at its peak (Walia and Seshadri, 1985). Threshold damage level of RLN in chickpea has been identified as 2 nematodes/g of soil (Bhatt, 1994). The nematode's reproduction index decreases with increase of inoculum densities greater than 5000 nematodes per plant (Castillo et al., 1995). The temperature ranging from 10 - 25°C, favours the egg hatching in P. thornei with steady increase in root penetration in the first 11 days after inoculation. All the migratory stages of P. thornei are proficient enough for root penetration and give rise to syptom expression (Castillo et al., 1996). In total, 47% to 84% of the population of RLN is could be identified in the vertical layer of soil from the top 0-10 cm, and 64-94% of the RLN population could be recovered from the top 20 cm soil zone (Taylor and Evans, 1998). However, it may be present upto 30 cm (Smiley et al., 2008; Jatav, 2019)

Management strategies for nematode population

Nematicides are nematode-killing chemicals which include two primary categories of synthetic nematicides, fumigants and nonfumigants. Fumigants are often sold as liquids that react with soil water to release gases that kill a variety of organisms (including plants). They're biocides that can be used in a variety of situations. When the soil

temperatures are acceptable, fumigants should be used in the fall or spring. In soil water, nonfumigant nematicides do not volatilize. In some cases, they can be used before, during, or even after planting. The range of these substances is frequently not as extensive as that of fumigants. They not only control nematodes, but also reduce the population of beneficial nematodes. Besides using nematicides, eco-friendly management strategies like use of different plant bi-products and bioagents are ecofriendly approaches for management of nematodes. Plant-parasitic nematode management has traditionally relied on organic amendments. When disintegrating materials emit poisonous substances, nematode population levels may drop quickly, but longer-term impacts could include an increase in nematode antagonists. Plant-parasitic nematodes tolerance may be enhanced due to improved crop nutrition and plant development as a result of amendment application. The success in nematode control may be governed by several factors including the type of used material, processing/composting of material, rate of application, test arena, crop rotation practice adoption and different agronomic techniques, soil type, climate conditions, and other environmental factors. The suppressive effects of different plant bi-products as organic amendements have been reported to exhibit not only detrimental effects on nematode populations but also in improvement of found. Di Vito et al., 1995 screened 141 varieties structure of soil and water holding capacity (WHC) ultimately resulting in enhanced growth and yield. Chickpea root-knot nematodes can be effectively suppressed adopting pre-sowing seed treatment practice using different biopesticides, insecticides, and bioagents (Mishra et al., 2003).

Apart from soil amedments, different biagents have also been identified in the capacity of controlling nematode population in soil. Seed or soil application of bioagents not only increases the egg parasitization but also significantly enhances plant growth parameters. Successful application of these plant bi-products and bioagents in chickpea and other crops is listed in table 1.

Resistance sources for RLN

When it comes to screening germplasm for sources of resistance, precise and reliable phenotyping is critical. For generating the phenotypic data of different lines/varieties, precise phenotyping is required under controlled environmental conditions using a known initial population of nematodes and/or eggs. The RLNs need to be extracted and quantified (in terms of nematode population) either from both roots and soil or any one of them before and after experimentation in case of migratory rootlesion nematodes. P. thornei resistance levels have been reported in connection to the reproduction factor (final nematode population/initial nematode population) by researchers (Tiwari et al., 1992; Di Vito et al., 1995), or as number of nematodes (population count) per unit of root and/or soil (Thompson et al., 2011; Reen et al., 2019). Visual lesions observed on infected roots should not be counted and measured for consideration od nematode population or indicator of resistant reaction because these lesions are just symptoms and not a direct indicator of population of nematodes (Ali and Ahmad, 2000).

In India (Tiwari et al., 1992; Ali and Ahmad, 2000, Gautam, 2021) and Australia (Thompson et al., 2011), sources of P. thornei resistance and moderate resistance have been recognized in the C. arietinum cultigen, in breeding lines and in accessions in the ICRISAT genebank. Tiwari et al., 1992 reported 35 resistant and 68 moderately resistant varieties out of 215 screened varieties of chickpea for the resistance against P. thornei and

taken from primary and secondary gene pool and observed seventeen different varieties in each catgory of resistant and moderately resistant. A comprehensive list of chickpea varieties screened against P. thornei is provided in table 2. In general, it has been reported that wild chickpea exhibited higher level of resistance in comparison to of C. arietinum cultivars (Reen et al., 2019; Zwart et al., 2019).

Conclusion

Human population expansion coupled with stunning changes in global food consumption patterns under unpropitious climatic alterations is posing formidable obstacles towards attaining sustainable global food security. Chickpeas are recognised as cost-effective sources of plant-based protein for human consumption, as well as being good to the environment due to their intrinsic nitrogen-fixing capacity. Chickpea development is critical in the rapidly transitioning global landscape where booming anthropogenic activities are causing irreversible natural resource depletion. Nematodes are important pests of agricultural crops, causing annual global economic losses of more than 100 billion dollars. Furthermore, chickpea damage from nematodes can make it more susceptible to disease and other pressures. Three essential aspects for the integrated control of plant-parasitic nematodes in chickpea are accurate diagnosis, effective crop rotations or fallow times, and identification, development of tolerant/ resistant crop cultivars. To accomplish these elements in nematode management, extensive expertise of nematode taxonomy and/or application of molecular diagnostic tools are essential. Due to the extensive host range of nematodes, crop rotation options are limited in nematode-infested farms, and nematicides are avoided for environmental and economic reasons. The employment of bioagents with resistant cultivars is the most successful and long-term technique for overcoming restrictions to chickpea production induced by plant-parasitic nematodes. Growing resistant cultivars offers the benefit of avoiding nematode reproduction and lowering existing crop output losses. Furthermore, when resistant cultivars are grown, nematode populations remaining in the soil to damage later crops are reduced, benefiting the entire farming system.

Acknowledgement

AK is thankful to Science & Engineering ResearchBoard (SERB) of Department of Science & Technology (DST), Government of India for providing the financial assistance in conducting the

References

- Ali, S. S. & Ahmad, R. (2000). Screening of chickpea germplasm against nematode. *International Chickpea and Pigeonpea Newsletter*, 7, 8–9.
- Ali, S. S & Sharma, S. B. (2003). Nematode survey of chickpea production areas in Rajasthan, India. *Nematology Mediterranea*, 31, 147–149.
- Anon (2013-14). Ministry of Agriculture, Government of India. http://agricoop.nic.in.
- Baghel, K. S. & Singh, R. (2013). Alarming population of *Pratylenchus* spp. in chickpea growing areas in Rewa and its vicinity. *Environment & Ecology*, 31 (1A), 328-333.
- Barker, K. R. & Noe, J. P. (1987). Establishing and using threshold population levels. *Vistas on nematology*, 75-81.
- Behmand, T., Eelekcioglu, N. Z., Berger, J., Canan, C. A. N. & Elekcioglu, I. H. (2019). Determination of plant parasitic nematodes associated with chickpea in Turkey. *Turkish Journal of Entomology*, 43(4), 357-366.
- Bhatt, J. (1994). Effects of different levels of inoculum of migratory nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* (Filipjev, 1936) Sher and Allen 1953 on growth of gram, *Cicer arietinum* (L.) *Advances Plant Science*, 7(2), 239-243.
- Bridge, J. & Starr, J. L. (2007). Plant nematodes of agricultural importance: A color handbook. Academic Press, San Diego, CA, USA.
- Castillo, P., Trapero casa, J. L. & Jimenez-Diaz, R. M. (1996). The effect of temperature on hatching and penetration of chickpea roots by *Pratylenchus thornei*. *Plant Pathology*, 45(2), 310-315.
- Castillo, P., Vovlas, N. & Jiménez-Diaz, R. M. (1998). Pathogenicity and histopathology of *Pratylenchus thornei* populations on selected chickpea genotypes. *Plant Pathology*, 47, 370–376.
- Castillo, P. & Vovlas, N. (2007). *Pratylenchus* (Nematoda: Pratylenchidae): diagnosis, biology, pathogenicity and management. In: Hunt DJ, Perry RN (eds) Nematology monographs and perspectives, Chap 6, Brill, Leiden, p. 52.
- Castillo, P. J. L., Jimenez-Diaz, R. M., GomezBarcina, A. & Vovtas, N. (1995). Parasitism of the root-lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* on chickpea. *Plant Pathology*, 44(4), 728-733.
- Chattopadhyay, P. I., Glick, W. H. & Huber, G. P. (2001). Organizational action in response to threats and opportunities. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44(5), 937-955.

part of this study at JNKVV, Jabalpur.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- De Waele, D. & Elsen, A. (2007). Challenges in tropical plant nematology. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 45, 457–485.
- Dhawan, S. C., Babu, N. P. & Singh, S. (2007). Bio-management of root knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne incognita*) on okra by egg parasitic fungus *Pochonia chlamydospora*, National. Symposium. on Nematology in 21st Century Emerging Paradigms, Assam. Agricultural. University. Jorhat 22-23. pp 102.
- Di Vito, M., Greco, M. N. & Zeccheo, G. (1987). Effect of plant parasitic nematode at various initial inoculums densities on yield parameters of wheat in Turkey. *International Journal of Nematology*, 8(11), 85-88.
- Di Vito, M., Greco, N., Halila, H. M., Mabsoute, L., Labdi, M. & Beniwal, S. P. S. (1994a). Nematodes of cool season food legumes in North Africa. *Nematology Mediterranea*, 22, 3-10.
- Di Vito, M., Zaccheo, G., & Catalano, F. (1995). Response of chickpea lines to *Meloidogyne artiella* and *Pratylenchus thornei*. *Nematology Mediterranea*, 23, 81.
- Di Vito, M., Greco, N., Oreste, G., Saxena, M. C., Singh, K. B. & Kusmenoglu, I. (1994b). Plant parasitic nematodes of legumes in Turkey. *Nematology Mediterranea*, 22, 245-251.
- Dwivedi, K., Upadhyay, K. D., Verma, R. A. & Ahmad, F. (2008). Pathogenic effect of *Pratylenchus thornei* on protein content and yield of gram (*Cicer arietinum L.*). *Indian Journal of Nematology*, 38(2), 138-140.
- Ebadi, M., Fatemy, S. & Riahi, H. (2018). Biocontrol potential of Pochonia chlamydosporia var. chlamydosporia isolates against Meloidogyne javanica on pistachio. Egyptian Journal of Biological Pest Control, 28, 45.
- Ekanayake, H. M. R. K. & Jayadsundara, N. J. (1994). Effect of Paecilomyces lilacinus and Beauveria bassiana in contolling Meloidogyne incognita on tomato in Sri Lanka. Nematology Mediterranea, 22, 87-88.
- Ehteshamul-Haque, S., Abid, M. & Ghaffar, A. (1995). Efficacy of *Bradyrhizobium* sp., and *Paecilomyces lilacinus* with oil cakes in the control of root rot of mungbean. *Tropical Science*, 35, 294-299.
- FAOSTAT. (2017). Statistics Division, Food and Agricultural Organization of United nations. www.faostat.fao.org.
- FAOSTAT, (2019). Statistics Division, Food and Agricultural Organization of United nations. www.faostat.fao.org.
- Fortuner, R. (1977). Pratylenchus thornei. Commonwealth Institute of Helminthology. Descriptions of plant-parasitic nematodes. 7(93).

Environment Conservation Journal

- Gautam, V. (2021). Investigations on prevalence, identification of resistance source and management of Root lesion disease caused by *Pratylenchus thornei* in Chickpea. M.Sc. thesis, JNKVV, Jabalpur.
- Gujaria, N., Kumar, A., Dauthal, P., Dubey, A., Hiremath, P., Bhanu Prakash, A., Farmer, A., Bhide, M., Shah, T., Gaur, P., Upadhyaya, H. D., Bhatia, S., Cook, D. R., May, G. D. & Varshney, R. K. (2011). Development and use of genic molecular markers (GMMs) for construction of a transcript map of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 122, 1577–1589.
- Hazarika, K. P., Dutta, K. & Saikia, L. (1998). Field efficacy of Pacilomyces lilacinus against root knot nematode in betelvine. *Phytopathological Research*, 11, 171-173.
- Hiremath, P. J., Farmer, A., Cannon, S. B., Woodward, J., Kudapa, H., Tuteja, R., Kumar, A., Bhanuprakash, A., Mulaosmanovic, B., Gujaria, N., Krishnamurthy, L., Gaur, P. M., Kavikishor, P. B., Shah, T., Srinivasan, R., Lohse, M., Xiao, Y., Town, C. D., Cook, D. R., May, G. D. & Varshney, R. K. (2011). Large-scale transcriptome analysis in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum L.*), an orphan legume crop of the semi–arid tropics of Asia and Africa. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, *9*, 922–931.
- Hiremath, P. J., Kumar, A., Penmetsa, R.V., Farmer, A., Schlueter, J. A., Chamarthi, S. K., Whaley, A. M., Carrasquilla-Garcia, N., Gaur, P. M., Upadhyaya, H. D., Kavi Kishor, P. B., Shah, T. M., Cook, D. R. & Varshney, R. K. (2012). Large-scale development of cost-effective SNP marker assays for diversity assessment and genetic mapping in chickpea and comparative mapping in legumes. *Plant Biotechnology Journal*, 10, 716-732.
- Jaques, W. A. & Schwass, R. H. (1956). Root development in some common New Zealand pasture plants. New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research, 1, 199-216.
- Jatala, P. & Bridge, J. (1990). Nematode parasites of root and tuber crops. In: Luc, M. Sikora, A. Bridge, J. (eds). Plant parasitic nematodes in subtropical and tropical agriculture. Wallingford (UK). CAB International. ISBN 0-85198-630-7. pp 137-180.
- Jatav, R. & Tiwari, S. P. (2019). Genetic Variability of Chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) Genotypes against Pratylenchus thornei and Rhizoctonia bataticola. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences, 8(3), 1625-1632.
- Jatav, R. (2019). Genetic variability for resistance against root lesion nematode and dry root rot fungus in chickpea. Ph.D. thesis, JNKVV, Jabalpur.
- Jonathan, E. I., Padmanabhan, D. & Ayyamperumal, A. (1995). Biological control of root-knot nematode on betelvine, Piper betel by *Paecilomyces lilacinus*. *Nematology Mediterranea*, 23, 191-193.
- Kerry, B. & Hidalgo-Diaz, L. (2004). Application of *Pochonia* chlamydosporia in the integrated control of root knot nematode on organically grown vegetable crops in cuba. *Bulletin-IOBC/WPRS/SROP*, 27(1), 123-126.
- Khan, T. A. & Saxena, S. K. (1996). Comparative efficacy of Paecilomyces lilacinus in the control of Meloidogyne spp., and

Rotylenchulus reniformis on tomato. Pakistan Journal of Nematology, 14, 111-116.

- Kumar, A., Bohra, A., Mir, R. R., Sharma, R., Tiwari, A., Khan, M. W. & Varshney, R. K. (2021). Next generation breeding in pulses: Present status and future directions. *Crop Breeding and Applied Biotechnology*, 21(s), e394221S13.
- Lin, M. S., Ma, M. A., Shen, S. W. & Mao, Q. F. (1993). Culture of the fungus *Paecilomyces lilacinus* and its use in the control of the tomato root knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita*. *Chinese Journal of biological control*, 9, 116-118.
- Loof, P. A. A. (1991). The family Pratylenchidae, In: W.R. Nickle (ed), Manual of Agricultural Nematology. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York. pp. 363–421.
- Mishra, S. D., Dhawan, S. C., Tripathi, M. N. & Nayak, S. (2003). Field evaluation of bio-pesticides, chemicals and bio-agents on plant parasitic nematodes infesting chickpea. *Current Nematology*, 14, 89-91.
- Mojumder. (1999). Effect of seed treatment of chickpea with neem products and neem-based pesticides on nematode multiplication in soil and the grain yield: *International Journal of Nematology*, 9(1), 76-79.
- Muehlbauer, F. J. & Sarker, A. (2017). Economic importance of chickpea: Production, value, and world trade. In: Varshney, R., Thudi, M., Muehlbauer, F. (eds) The Chickpea Genome. Compendium of Plant Genomes. Springer, Cham. 5-12.
- Nakat, R. V., Acharya, A., Rao, D. V. S., Jonathan, E. I., Washnikar, R., Jha, S., Singh, U. S. & Sitaramaiah, K. (1998). Evaluation of *Paecilomyces lilacinus* for the management of root-knot nematodes, *Meloidogyne incognita* on betelvine. *Proceedings – National Symposium Pest Management Horticulture Crops, Bangalore, 1*, 308-311.
- Nene, Y. L., Sheila, V. K. & Sharma, S. B. (1984). A world list of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum L.*) and pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan* (L.). Millsp.) pathogens. ICRISAT Pulse Pathology Progress Report 32. Patancheru 502 324, Andhra Pradesh, India: International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics.
- Nicol, F. (2004). Adaptive thermal comfort standards in the hothumid tropics. Annual review of Phytopathology, 29(1), 167-192.
- Pandey, G., Pandey, R. K. & Pant, H. (2003). Efficacy of different levels of *Trichoderma viride* against root-knot nematode in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). Annals of Plant protection Sciences, 11, 96-98.
- Pant, H. & Pandey, G. (2002). Use of *Trichoderma harzianum* and neem cake alone and in combination on *Meloidogyne incognita* galls in chickpea. *Annals of Plant Protection Sciences*, 10, 175.
- Park, S. D., Choo, Y. D., Jung, K. C., Sim, Y. G & Choi, Y. E. (1993). Field application of egg and Iarval parasitic fungi and chemicals for controlling root-knot nematodes on some

medicinal herbs. Korean Journal of Applied Entomology, 32, 105-114.

- Parveen, S. & Gaffar, A. (1998). Use of *Paecilomyces lilacinus* in the control of *Fusarium oxysporum* root-knot infection on tomato. *Pakistan Journal of Nematology*, 16, 71-57.
- Patel, B. A. & Patel, S. K. (2007). Efficacy of Jatropha formulation against root knot nematodes in tomato nursery and field condition, National Symposium on Nematology in 21st Century: Emerging Paradigms (nov.22-23) pp 33.
- Pathak, J. J. & Saikia, B. (1999). Biological control of root-knot nematode of betelvine. *International Academicia*, 3(1), 117-120.
- Pudasaini, M. P., Viaene, N. & Moens, M. (2008). Hatching of the root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus penetrans*, under the influence of temperature and host. *Nematology*, 10, 47-54.
- Rao, M. S., Reddy, P. P. & Nagesh, M. (1997). Management of root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* on tomato by integration of *Trichoderma harzianum* with neem cake. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection*, 104(4), 423–425.
- Reddy, P. P, Nagesh, M., Devappa, V. & Verghese, A. (1998). Management of *Meloidogyne incognita* on tomato by integration of *Trichoderma harzianum*, *Glomus fasciculatum* and neem cake. Advances in IPM for Horticulture crops. Proceeding of the first National symposium on pest Management. In Horticulture crops: environmental Implication and Thrust Bangalore, India. pp349-352.
- Reen, R. A, Mumford, M. H. & Thompson, J. P. (2019). Novel Sources of Resistance to Root-Lesion Nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) in a New Collection of Wild Cicer Species (C. *reticulatum* and C. *echinospermum*) to Improve Resistance in Cultivated Chickpea (C. arietinum). Phytopathology, 109(7), 1270-1279.
- Roorkiwal, M., Rathore, A., Das, R. R., Singh, M. K., Jain, A., Srinivasan, S., Gaur, P. M., Bharadwaj, C., Tripathi, S., Yongle, L., Hickey, J. M., Aaron, L., Tim, S., Jose, C, Jean-Luc, J. & Varshney, R. K. (2016). Genome-enabled prediction models for yield related traits in chickpea. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 1666.
- Sasser, J. N., & Freckman, D. W. (1987). A world perspective on nematology: The role of the society. In *Vistas on Nematology*, eds J. A. Veech and D. W. Dickson (Hyattsville, MD: Society of Nematologists), 7-14.
- Sebastian, S. & Gupta, P. (1995). Population dynamics of *Pratylenchus thornei* in infested fields at Allahabad. *Indian Journal of Mycology Plant Pathology*, 25, 270-271.
- Shahzad, S. & Gaffar, A. (1989). Use of *Paecilomyces lilacinus* in the control of root rot and root-knot disease complex of okra and mung bean. *Pakistan Journal of Nematology*, 7, 47-53. season food legumes. In Linking Research and Marketing Opportunities for Pulses in the 21st Century (pp. 491-506). Springer, Dordrecht.

- Shahzad, S. & Gaffar, A. (1987). Field application of *Paecilomyces lilacinus* and furadan for the control of root-knot disease of okra and mung. *International Nematology*, 4, 33-34.
- Shahzad, S., Dawer, S. & Gaffar, A. (1996). Efficacy of Paecilomyces lilacinus inoculum pellets in the control of Meloidogyne incognita on mashbean. Pakistan Journal of Nematology, 14, 67-71.
- Sankaranarayanan, C., Hussaini, S. S., Kumar, P. S., Rangeshwaran, R., Dhawan, S. C. & Khushal, K. K. (1999). Antagonistic effect of *Trichoderma* and *Gliocladiuin* spp. against the root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne incognita*) on sunflower. In: Proceeding of National symposium on Rational Approaches in Nematode Management for Sustainable Agriculture, India, pp. 23–25.
- Sharma, S. B., Smith, D. H., & McDonald, D. (1992). Nematode constraints of chickpea and pigeonpea production in the semiarid tropics. *Plant Disease*, 76, 868-874.
- Sikora, R. A., Claudius-Cole, B. & Sikora, E. J. (2018). Nematode parasites of food legumes in Plant Parasitic Nematodes. In Subtropical and Tropical Agriculture, 3rd Edn, (eds R. Sikora, D. Coyne, J. Hallmann, and P. Timper), Boston, MA: CABI, 290–345.
- Smiley, R., Sheedy, J. & Easley, S. (2008). Vertical Distribution of *Pratylenchus* spp. in Silt Loam Soil and Pacific Northwest Dryland Crops. *Plant Disease*, 92, 1662-1668.
- Tanha, M., Nicol, J. M., Kazemi, H., Ebrahimi, N., Gitty, M., Ghalandar, M., Mohammadi, M., Pour, & Khoshkhabar, M. (2009). Cereal cyst nematodes, root rot pathogens and root lesion nematodes affecting cereal production in Iran. In: Riley, I.T., J.M. Nicol & A.A. Dababat (eds.), Cereal Cyst Nematode: Status and Research and Outlook, pp: 51–55. CIMMYT, Ankara, Turkey.
- Taylor, S. P. & Evans, M. L. (1998). Vertical and horizontal distribution of and soil sampling for root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) in South Australia. *Australasian Plant Pathology*, 27, 90-96.
- Taylor, S. P., Hollaway, G. J. & Hunt, C. H. (2000). Effect of field crops on population densities of *Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei* in south eastern Australia; Part 1: *P. neglectus. Journal* of Nematology, 32, 591-599.
- Taylor, S. P., Vanstone, V. A., Ware, A. H., McKay, A. C., Szot, D. & Russ, M. H. (1999). Measuring yield loss in cereals caused by root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus neglectus* and *P. thornei*) with and without nematicide. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, 50, 617-622.
- Thompson, J. P., Greco, N., Eastwood, R., Sharma, S. B. & Scurrah, M. (2000). Integrated control of nematodes of cool

not barley to stored soil moisture in the Hermitage long-term tillage experiment. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, 35(7), 1049-1055.

A. M., Gogel, B. J., et al. (2011). Hybridisation of Australian

Thompson, J. P., Reen, R. A., Clewett, T. G., Sheedy, J. G., Kelly,

Thompson, J. P., Mackenzie, J. & Amos, R. (1995). Root-lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) limits response of wheat but

408

Environment Conservation Journal

chickpea cultivars with wild *Cicer* spp. increases resistance to root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei* and *P. neglectus*). Australasian Plant Pathology, 40, 601-611.

- Thompson, J. P., Rostad, H. E., Macdonald, B. J. & Whish, J. P. M. (2018). Elevated temperature reduces survival of peak populations of root-lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei*) after wheat growth in a vertisol. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 54, 243-257.
- Thompson, J. P., Rostad, H. E. & Whish, J. P. M. (2017). Survival of root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus thornei*) after wheat growth in a vertisol is influenced by rate of progressive soil desiccation. Annals of Applied Biology, 170, 78-88.
- Tiwari, S. P., Vadhera, I., Shukla, B. N. & Bhatt, J. (1992). Studies on the pathogenicity and relative reactions of chickpea lines to *Pratylenchus thornei* Sher and Allen 1953. *Indian Journal of Mycology and Plant Patholology*, 22, 255-9.
- Tiyagi, S. A. & Parveen, M. (1992). Pathogenic effect of root lesion nematode (*Pratylenchus thornei*) on plant growth: Water absorption capability and chlorophyll content of chickpea. *International Chickpea Newsletter*, 26, 18-20.
- Tiyagi, S. A. & Shamim, A. (2004). Biological control of plant parasitic nematodes associated with chickpea using oil cakes and *Paecilomyces lilacinus*. *Indian journal of Nematology*, 34 (1), 44-48.
- Tolba, S. R. T., Rosso, L. C., Pentimone, I., Colagiero, M., Moustafa, M. M. A., Elshawaf IIS, Bubici G, Prigigallo MI, & Ciancio A. (2021). Root Endophytism by *Pochonia chlamydosporia* Affects Defense-Gene Expression in Leaves of Monocot and Dicot Hosts under Multiple Biotic Interactions. *Plants*, 10(4), 718.
- Vanstone, V. A., Rathjen, A. J., Ware, A. H. & Wheeler, R. D. (1998). Relationship between root lesion nematodes (*Pratylenchus negleclus* and *P. thornei*) and performance of wheat varieties. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture, 38, 181-188.

- Varaprasad, K. S., Sharma, S. B., & Loknathan, T. R. (1997). Nematode constraints to pigeonpea and chickpea in Vidarbha region of Maharashtra in India. *International Journal of Nematology*, 7, 152–157.
- Varshney, R. K., Thudi, M. & Muehlbauer, F. J. (2017). The chickpea genome: An introduction. In The Chickpea Genome (pp. 1-4). Springer, Cham.
- Verma, K. K. & Nandal, S. N. (2007). Efficacy of organic cakes in the management of root knot nematode (*Meloidogyne javanica*) in bottlegourd, National. Symposium. on Nematology. in 21st Century: Emerging Paradigm. 22-23. pp 58.
- Vyas, R. V., Patel, H. R., Patel, D. J. & Patel, N. B. (1997). Biological suppression of root-knot nematode -white grub pest complex attacking groundnut. *International Arachis News*, 17, 40-41.
- Walia, R. K. & Seshadri, A. R. (1985). Pathogenicity of the root lesion nematode *Pratylenchus thornei* on chickpea. *International Chickpea Newsletter*, 12, 31.
- Windham, G. L., Windham, M. T. & Williams, W. P. 1989. Effect of *Trichoderma spp.* on maize growth and *Meloidogyne* arenaria reproduction. *Plant Disease*, 73, 493-495.
- Zaki, M. J. & Maqbool, M. A. (1992). Effects of Pasteuria penetrans and Paecilomyces lilacinus on the control of rootknot nematodes on brinjal and mung. Pakistan Journal of Nematology, 10, 75-79.
- Zwart, R. S., Thudi, M., Channale, S., Manchikatla, P. K., Varshney, R. K. & Thompson, J. P. (2019). Resistance to Plant-Parasitic Nematodes in Chickpea: Current Status and Future Perspectives. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 10, 966.
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Chemical and morphological variations in Terminalia bellirica (Gaertn.) Roxb. - a species of commercial ayurvedic formulation triphla from central India

Hari Om Saxena 🖂 Tropical Forest Research Institute, Jabalpur (M.P), India N. D. Khobragade Forest Research Centre for Skill Development, Chhindwara (M.P.), India Samiksha Parihar Tropical Forest Research Institute, Jabalpur (M.P.), India M. Kundu Tropical Forest Research Institute, Jabalpur (M.P.), India G. Rajeshwar Rao Tropical Forest Research Institute, Jabalpur (M.P.), India **Ganesh Pawar** Tropical Forest Research Institute, Jabalpur (M.P.), India

ARTICLE INFO ABSTRACT Received : 28 December 2021 Terminalia bellirica is one of the high traded medicinal plant species, mainly Revised : 15 February 2022 known for its fruits which are bestowed with numerous biological activities and Accepted : 11 May 2022 used in treatment of various ailments. The fruits are one of three ingredients of well-known Ayurvedic formulation 'TRIPHLA'. The purpose of this study was to determine the variations for Gallic acid (GA), a chemical marker compound, Available online: 23 May 2022 as well as for key morphological traits (height, girth at breast height, clear bole height, fruit size) in trees from central Indian states viz. Madhya Pradesh, **Key Words:** Chhattisgarh and Maharashtra. In this investigation, we also explored the Terminalia bellirica correlation between the chemical marker and morphological features. The Chemical and morphological study suggested the maximum GA content (0.98±0.42%) in populations of variations Keregaon range of Dhamtari forest division of Chhattisgarh state which can be Gallic acid considered as superior chemotypes/ populations. The correlation analysis Correlation Central India exhibited the positive association between fruit size and GA content.

Introduction

Terminalia bellirica (Gaertn.) Roxb., commonly constituents in the plant. Some of the important known as 'Baheda' or 'Belleric myrobalans' is a prime member of Combretaceae family. It is a widely distributed tree species especially in the Indian subcontinents. There are numerous traditional systems of medicines such as Ayurveda, Siddha, Unani & Chinese medicine that use this plant and its parts. T. bellirica itself has been reported to be effective against cancer, diabetes, diarrhoea, microbial infection, wound healing, bronchitis, spasm, fever, and liver disorder (Deb et al., 2016). The pharmaceutical importance of the plant is due to an ample variety of phytochemical

phytoconstituents of the plant are β -sitosterol, gallic acid, chebulagic acid, ethyl gallate, ellagic acid, galloyl glucose (Gupta et al., 2017). The fruit is the most important part of T. bellerica which is substantially used in traditional medicines along with fruits of Terminalia chebula and Phyllanthus emblica for a well-known formulation 'Triphala' (Zhang et al., 2019). This miraculous combination is described to treat a myriad of health disorders. The annual demand of fruits of this species is approximately 2000-5000 metric tonnes (NMPB). The fruit is diarrhoeic, laxative,

Corresponding author E-mail: *hariomsaxena81@gmail.com* Doi: https://doi.org/10.36953/ECJ.0211162.2305 This work is licensed under Attribution-Non Commercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) © ASEA

astringent, anthelmintic, antipyretic; used to aid digestion, bronchitis, asthma, dyspepsia, piles, diarrhoea, cough, blisters, eye diseases, scorpion-stings, and as a hair tonic (Mallik *et al.*, 2012).

GA (3,4,5-trihydroxy benzoic acid), one of the subtypes of phenolic acid (Figure 1) is a colourless or slightly yellowish crystalline compound is one of the most profusely found compounds in various parts of *T. bellirica* (Fernandes and Salgado, 2016).



Figure 1: Chemical structure of GA (3, 4, 5-trihydroxybenzoic acid).

This compound for a long has been a keen point of interest for researchers due to its extensive pharmaceutical properties. The anti-microbial property of GA is exhibited due to its ability to disrupt the integrity of bacterial cell membrane, along with inhibition of enzymes in DNA replication, electron transport chain, and cellular respiration (Omojate et al., 2014). The HIV-1 enzymes, attachment, and penetration of HSV-1, HSV-2, and HCV are obstructed by GA (Kahkeshani et al., 2019). GA escalates the activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutathione reductase (GR). Thus, the substance inhibits ROS-induced carcinogenesis and works effectively as an anti-cancerous agent. It is also effective against gastrointestinal (Chatterjee et al., 2012), cardiovascular (Priscilla and Prince, 2009), inflammatory (Bai et al., 2021), metabolic (Gandhi et al., 2014), and neuropsychological diseases (Nagpal et al., 2013).

Bioactive marker compounds are responsible for the quality and efficacy of medicinal plants and their products which have specific physiological action on the human body (Joshi and Uniyal, 2008; Akinmoladun *et al.*, 2007). WHO and modern herbal pharmacopoeia strongly stressed on the need of quality assurance of medicinal plants with respect to their bioactive ingredients (Kaushik *et al.* 2010; Vasudevan, 2009). GA is reported as a

chemical marker compound in fruits of *T. bellirica* (Gupta *et al.*, 2003). The present investigation has been planned for selection and evaluation of natural populations of *T. bellirica* in terms of GA content in its fruits for identification for superior populations in three central Indian states i.e. Madhya Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Maharashtra. The correlation study between morphological traits of *T. bellirica* with GA content in its fruits was also accomplished.

Material and Methods Chemicals and reagents

GA standard was purchased from Sigma Aldrich, India. Solvents and chemicals used in the experiments were of AR grade.

Collection of *T. bellirica* fruits and recording of morphological data

Mature fruits of *T. bellirica* were harvested in the last week of February from forest divisions of Madhya Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Maharashtra states (Figure 2), and brought to the laboratory where they were washed in tap water to remove dust particles, depulped, dried, powdered, and stored in airtight containers for further chemical analysis. Morphological data viz. tree height, GBH, CBH, and fruit size (Figure 3) were also recorded along with GPS coordinates of collection sites.



Figure 2: Study sites of *T. bellirica* in central India.

Processing and extraction fruit samples

2.5 gm dried and finely powdered fruit pulp samples were taken in conical flasks containing 50

mL of 2N HCl and heated for 30 minutes over a boiling water bath, cooled and filtered.



Figure 3: (a) Recording GBH of tree (b) Fruits of *T. bellirica* (c) Recoding size of fruit with vernier caliper

The filtrate was transferred to a separating funnel and extracted twice with 75 mL (50; 25) of diethyl ether. The pooled diethyl ether layers were washed two times with distilled water, dried over anhydrous sodium sulphate and filtered. The filtrate was evaporated and the concentrated extract was dissolved in 10 mL of methanol for analysis (Saxena *et al.*, 2015).

High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) analysis for quantification of GA

GA content in fruit pulp was determined by using the reported HPLC method with some modifications (Saxena *et al.*, 2015).

Preparation of standard solution

Standard solution of 1 mg/mL of GA was prepared. Working solutions having concentration range of 100 - 300 μ g/ mL was prepared by further diluting with methanol.

Chromatographic analysis

: Methanol: Water: Acetic acid
(25: 75:0.1)
: 20 μl ⁻¹
$: 1.0 \text{ mL min}^{-1}$
: 254 nm
: 10 min

The standard solution and fruit samples were filtered separately using 0.2 μ m filters, and 20 μ L of each were injected into an HPLC Water 515 series column with a C-18 Xbridge equipped with a Photo Diode Array (PDA) detector, samples were run for 10 minutes. Peak identification was performed by comparison of retention times and diode array spectral characteristics with the

standard. The calibration curve was generated by linear regression based on the peak areas. Linearity was obtained over five different concentration range of 2 - 6 μ g per injection with r² = 0.997.

Specificity ascertained by comparing the peak purity of standard and samples through their HPLC chromatograms. Peak corresponding to GA in the sample was completely in agreement with the standard. Quantity of GA in fruit samples was calculated using the obtained linear regression equation.

Morphological traits

Morphological data viz. tree height, girth at breast height (GBH), clear bole height (CBH) and fruit size of *T. bellirica* trees were recorded (Mohammad *et al.*, 2020). A hypsometer (Model - Vertex 5, Make - Haglöf Sweden AB, Sweden) was used to measure tree height and clear bole height. Girth at breast height was measured by looping a measuring tape around the tree trunk at a height of 1.37 m above ground level in a plane perpendicular to the trunk's axis. Size of fruits was measured using vernier caliper.

Statistical analysis

Correlation analysis was conducted between morphometric traits and GA content (Mohammad *et al.*, 2020). For HPLC analysis, the samples were analysed in triplicates and the results are expressed as Mean±SD.

Results and Discussion

Representative HPLC chromatograms of GA standards and samples resolved under the chromatographic conditions is described in Figure 4 and 5. The retention time of GA fruit sample and standard was frame at 5.4 ± 0.01 min.. Chromatographic analysis of extracted fruit samples revealed the presence of GA.

Chemical and morphological variations

Results showing the variations in GA content in fruit samples of *T. bellirica* collected from 07 forest ranges of Madhya Pradesh, Chhattisgarh and Maharashtra states are given in Table 1. GA concentration varies from 0.43 ± 0.09 to 0.98 ± 0.42 per cent among different locations. The highest GA concentration (0.98%) was observed in the fruit sample collected from Keregaon range belonging to Dhamtari forest division of Chhattisgarh state and the lowest GA concentration (0.43%) was found in the fruit sample collected from Chhattisgarh state and

of West Chhindawra forest division of Madhya populations of different locations of three states Pradesh state. The results showed significant variation (P < 0.05) in GA content among the 07 locations of different states. Morphological traits showed significant variability among the

(Table 1). The tree height ranged from 8.77 m to 19 m, GBH of tree from 0.91 m to 2.43 m, CBH from 3.04 m to 6.75 m and average size of fruit from 323 mm^2 to 725 mm^2 .

States	Forest Divisions	Forest Ranges	Height (m)	Girth at Breast Height (m)	Clear Bole Height (m)	Avg. size of fruit (length x width) in mm ²	Gallic acid (%) Mean ± SD
Maharashtra	Bhandara	Bhandara	14.87±6.10	1.59±0.82	4.10±2.48	537.67±175.29	$0.84{\pm}0.30$
Manarashtra	Gondia	Gondia	$11.00{\pm}1.73$	1.07 ± 0.38	3.87±1.86	725.00±147.10	$0.60{\pm}0.04$
	Dhamtari	Keregaon	9.53±2.40	0.91±0.13	4.95±3.23	652.75±105.90	0.98±0.42
Chnatusgarn		Singpur	8.77±2.29	0.95±0.23	3.04±1.59	640.25±85.15	0.71±0.19
Madhya Pradesh	West Chhindwara	Chhindwara	19.00±3.56	1.68±0.19	6.75±0.50	494.00±101.60	0.43±0.09
	South Balaghat	Lougur	18.50±3.54	2.43±0.30	5.50±2.12	423.00±89.10	0.65 ± 0.02
	Betul Forest	Mohada	11.00±3.0	1.80±0.20	4.00±1.00	323.00±23.0	0.60±0.30

Table 1: Morphological traits and gallic acid (%) of T. bellirica

Table 2: Inter-character correlation between different traits of T. bellirica

	Avg. size of fruit (length x width) in mm ²	Girth of tree (m)	Height of tree (m)	Clear bole (m)	Gallic acid (%) in fruits
Avg. size of fruit (LxW) in mm)	1	-0.82	-0.47	-0.31	0.36
Girth of tree (m)	-0.82	1	0.79	0.48	-0.41
Height of tree (m)	-0.47	0.79	1	0.80	-0.50
Clear bole (m)	-0.31	0.48	0.80	1	-0.37
Gallic acid (%) in fruits	0.36	-0.41	-0.50	-0.37	1



Figure 4: HPLC chromatogram of gallic acid standard



Figure 5: HPLC chromatogram of fruit sample

	Avg. size of fruit (length x width) in mm ²	Girth of tree (m)	Height of tree (m)	Clear bole (m)	Gallic acid (%) in fruits
Avg. size of fruit (length x width) in mm^2		-0.82	-0.47	0.31	0.36
Girth of tree(m)	-0.82	1	0.7864	0.48	-0.41
Height of tree (m.)	-0.47	0.79	1	0.80	-0.5
Clear bole (m.)	-0.31	0.48	0.80	1	-0.37
Gallic acid (%) in fruits	0.36	-0.41	-0.5	- 0.37	1

Figure 6: Shaded correlation matrix depicting relationship between different morphometric traits with GA (%) in fruits of *T. bellirica*.

Correlation study

Phenotypic inter-character correlation in all the possible combinations were computed and showed as shaded correlation matrix that depicting relationship between different morphometric traits and GA content (Figure 6). A close examination of the correlation analysis between morphological and chemical parameters revealed that GA content showed positive and significant correlation only with fruit size. With rest of characters, GA content showed a non-significant association (Table 2).

The positive correlation between fruit size and GA content may be explained by the hypothesis that the

fruit colour modifies the chemical composition of phytochemicals, bioactive (phenolics) compounds etc. In case of T. bellirica, with the maturity, the fruit colour and size modify which may be the reason for increased GA content in bigger fruits. Our notion is corroborated by previous research revealing more coloured and larger fruits with improved pomological features and altered nutritional components and phenolics in the 'Kordia' sweet cherry (Prunus avium L.) (Usenik et al., 2014). Moreover, another study reported the inconstant change in phytochemicals with respect to the fruit size (Kesta, 1988). Thus, it can be concluded that there is no specific trend of correlation of chemical content with the fruit size and it may vary according to the species, locations and environmental conditions.

Conclusion

Present work is the first comprehensive investigation revealing the high level of variations in chemical and morphological traits of T. bellirica. The study showed the populations of Keregaon range belonging to Dhamtari forest division of Chhattisgarh state contained maximum GA content, hence the superior chemotypes. Further, since the fruit size was found to have positive association with GA content, it should be given high weightage during the selection of superior chemotypes of T. bellirica. The work carried out in this study will be this valuable species.

Acknowledgement

The help and support extended by the Director of Tropical Forest Research Institute during the study is greatly acknowledged. The financial support was

References

- Akinmoladun, A.C., Ibukun, E.O., Afor, E., Obuotor, E.M., Farombi, E.O. (2007). Phytochemical constituent and antioxidant activity of extract from the leaves of Ocimum gratissimum. Scientific Research and Essays, 2: 163-6. https://doi.org/10.5897/SRE.9000731
- Bai, J., Zhang, Y., Tang, C., Hou, Y. Ai. X., Chen, X., Zhang, Y., Wang, X., Meng, X. (2021). Gallic acid: Pharmacological activities and molecular mechanisms involved in inflammation-related diseases. Biomédecine & pharmacothérapie, 133:110985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110985
- Chatterjee, A., Chatterjee, S., Biswas, A., Bhattacharya, S., Chattopadhyay, S., Bandyopadhyay, S.K. (2012). Gallic acid enriched fraction of Phyllanthus emblica potentiates indomethacin-induced gastric ulcer healing via e-NOSdependent pathway. Evid -based Complement Alter. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/487380
- Deb, A., Barua, S., Das, B. (2019). Pharmacological activities of Baheda (Terminalia bellerica): a review. Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry 5(1):194.
- Fernandes, F.H., Salgado, H.R. (2016) Gallic acid: review of the methods of determination and quantification. Critical Reviews in Analytical Chemistrv. 46:257-65. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408347.2015.1095064
- Gandhi, G.R., Jothi, G., Antony, P.J., Balakrishna, K., Paulraj, M.G., Ignacimuthu, S., Stalin, A., Al-Dhabi, N.A. (2014). Gallic acid attenuates high-fat diet fed-streptozotocininduced insulin resistance via partial agonism of PPARy in experimental type 2 diabetic rats and enhances glucose uptake through translocation and activation of GLUT4 in PI3K/p-Akt signaling pathway. European journal of pharmacology 745:201-16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.10.044
- Gupta, A., Kumar, R., Kumar, S., Pandey, A.K (2017). Pharmacological aspects of Terminalia bellirica. Molecular Biology and Pharmacognosy of Beneficial Plants. AA Mahdi, M. Abid, MMAA Khan, MI Ansari, RK Maheshwari (Eds) Lenin Media Private Limited: Delhi, India. 52-64.
- Gupta, A.K., Tandon, N., Sharma, M. (2003). Quality Standards of Indian Medicinal Plants. An ICMR Publication, New Delhi.1:198-209.

of great help in management and conservation of extended by the Indian Council of Forestry Research & Education, Dehradun, India [Project ID: 269/TFRI/2019/FRCSD-1 (ICFRE) (22)].

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Joshi, D.D., Uniyal, R.C. (2008). Different chemo types of Gokhru (Tribulus terrestris): A herb used for improving physique and physical performance. International Journal of Green Pharmacy, 2: 158-61. DOI:10.4103/0973-8258.42734
- Kahkeshani, N., Farzaei, F., Fotouhi, M., Alavi, S.S, Bahramsoltani, R., Naseri, R., Momtaz, S., Abbasabadi, Z., Rahimi, R., Farzaei, M.H., Bishayee, A. (2019). Pharmacological effects of gallic acid in health and diseases: A mechanistic review. Iranian Journal of Basic Medical Sciences, 22:225. doi: 10.22038/ijbms.2019.32806.7897
- Kaushik, S., Sharma, P., Jain, A. and Sikarwar, M.S. (2010). Preliminary phytochemical screening and HPTLC fingerprinting of Nicotiana tabacum leaf. Journal of Pharmacy Research, 3(5): 1144-1145.
- Ketsa, S. (1988). Effects of fruit size on juice content and chemical composition of tangerine. Journal of Horticultural Science, 63(1): 171-174.
- Mohammad, N., Sonkar, M., Pardhi, Y., Rana, P.K. and Dahayat, A. (2020. Assessment of morphological variation and association studies in Litsea glutinosa (Lour.) CB Rob. from Central India. Journal of Sustainable Forestry, 39(2): 207-220. https://doi.org/10.1080/10549811.2019.1632720
- Nagpal, K., Singh, S.K., Mishra, D.N. (2013) Nanoparticle mediated brain targeted delivery of gallic acid: in vivo behavioral and biochemical studies for protection against scopolamine-induced amnesia. Drug Delivery 20:112-9. https://doi.org/10.3109/10717544.2012.738437
- NMPB (2022). https://nmpb.nic.in/medicinal list
- Mallik, J., Das, P., Karon, B. and Das, S. (2012). A review on phytochemistry and pharmacological activity of Terminalia bellirica. International Journal of Drug Formulation and Research, 3(6): 1-5.
- Omojate, G.C., Enwa, F.O., Jewo, A.O., Eze C.O. (2014) Mechanisms of antimicrobial actions of phytochemicals against enteric pathogens-a review. Journal of Pharmaceutical, Chemical and Biological Sciences, 2:77-85.

- Priscilla, D.H. and Prince, P.S.M. (2009). Cardioprotective effect of gallic acid on cardiac troponin-T, cardiac marker enzymes, lipid peroxidation products and antioxidants in experimentally induced myocardial infarction in Wistar rats. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 179(2-3): 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2008.12.012
- Saxena, H.O., Maolankar, S., Madave, R., Soni, A. and Gupta, R. (2015). Quantification of phenolic acids in fruits of Solanum xanthocarpum from three agroclimatic regions of Madhya Pradesh using HPLC. *Indian Journal Tropical Biodiversity*, 23(1): 46-52.
- Usenik, V., Stampar, F., Petkovsek, M.M. and Kastelec, D. (2015). The effect of fruit size and fruit colour on chemical composition in 'Kordia'sweet cherry (*Prunus avium* L.).

Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 38: 121-130. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2014.10.007

- Vasudevan, H. (2009). DNA fingerprinting in the standardization of Herbs and Nutraceuticals. *The Science Creative Quaterly*, 4.
- Zhang, X.R., Kaunda, J.S., Zhu, H.T., Wang, D., Yang, C.R., & Zhang, Y.J. (2019). The genus Terminalia (Combretaceae): An ethnopharmacological, phytochemical and pharmacological review. *Natural Products and Bioprospecting*, 9(6): 357-392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13659-019-00222-3
- **Publisher's Note:** ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Journal homepage: https://www.environcj.in/



Environment Conservation Journal ISSN 0972-3099 (Print) 2278-5124 (Online)



Morphometric analysis for sustainable development of natural resource management by using remote sensing and GIS techniques in Tikamgarh District, M.P., Central India

Karuna Nidhan Singh 🖂

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, IGKV, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India.

Ramesh Singh

ICRISAT Development Centre, International Crop Research Institute for Semi-Arid Tropics, Hyderabad, Telangana, India.

Dhiraj Khalkho

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, Indira Gandhi Krishi Vishwavidyalaya, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India.

Mahendra Prasad Tripathi

Department of Soil and Water Engineering, IGKV, Raipur, Chhattisgarh, India.

ARTICLE INFO	ABSTRACT
Received : 25 November 2021	Study of morphometric parameters decides the suitable location and adjustable
Revised : 16 February 2022	natural resource management (NRM) practices along with durability and
Accepted : 01 March 2022	sustainability. Morphometric study of a region provides the various geological,
	topographical and others parameters which supports during the design and
Available online: 2021	implantations of various water conservation approaches. Garhkundar –Dabar
	(GKD) watershed having two parts as first treated watershed and second
Key Words:	control watershed, located in Tikamgarh District of Madhya Pradesh, Central
Garhkundar-Dabar watershed	India was selected for this analysis. ArcGIS ver. 10.3 was used for analysis and
Morphometric parameters	found IV th order stream in treated watershed area of 850 ha (8.50 km ²) and II th
Natural Resource Management	order stream in control watershed area of 268 ha (2.68 km ²). In treated
Remote Sensing	watershed, 19 streams were found in first order while 12, 5 and 1 streams were
Geographical Information System	obtained in second, third and fourth order respectively. Similarly, 6 and 4
	streams were found in first and second order respectively in control watershed.
	This study conclude all aspects of morphometric parameters viz. linear, areal
	and relief which elaborate the geometric as well as topographic features to
	support and identified the best location for various conservation interventions
	and their implementation with a long sustainability. RS and GIS based
	morphometric analysis provides the way of replication of conservation
	development
	ucvelopment.

Introduction

over space and time is influenced by soil, area of vegetation, geology, geomorphology and structural components and their location. All the hydrologic and geomorphic process of a watershed is mainly depend on the basin of an area and their flowing pattern. Earth's surface, its shape and dimension of its landforms all such configurations elaborated by morphometric measurement and mathematical analysis (Agarwal, 1998; Obi Reddy et al., 2002). Morphometric study of a region was carried

Development of a basin and its drainage pattern out by thematic map generated in GIS environment to identify the appropriate places for artificial groundwater recharge structures. The field survey also required to find out the suitability and sustainability of proposed artificial groundwater recharge structures. Thereby, by RS and GIS recharge structures implemented and found 264.82 Mm³ (30%) groundwater recharge (Kumar et al., 2016). Due to high demand of water and depletion of groundwater recharge, RS and GIS provided a great opportunity during master plan for artificial

Corresponding author E-mail: singhkarunanidhan@gmail.com Doi: https://doi.org/10.36953/ECJ.021982-2220 This work is licensed under Attribution-Non Commercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) © ASEA
recharge to groundwater in India (Pati, 2019). Due to the increase in demand of natural resources such as land and water, management of these resources at a watershed scale has become one of the important strategies for attaining a sustainable environment (Hema et al., 2021). The information as a result of morphometric analysis of watersheds could be used as decisive tool in water resource management, conservation of soil erosion, landslide susceptibility mapping, evaluation of groundwater potential, and prioritization of watersheds (Salvi et al., 2017; Jena and Dandabat, 2019). In view of the of morphometric analysis importance for Sustainable Development of Natural Resource Management, this study had been taken in Garhkundar-Dabar (GKD) located at Tikamgarh district of Madhya Pradesh, Central India.

Material and Methods

Selected watershed named Garhkundar –Dabar (GKD) was located at Tikamgarh district of Madhya Pradesh, Central India (figure 1). Watershed widely spread in longitudinal direction between 78° 52' 41" to 78° 54' 44" E and latitudinal direction between 25° 26' 24" to 25° 28' 31" N. Watershed categorized into two parts based on its geographical area first treated watershed area of 850 ha and second control watershed area of 268 ha. Watershed comprises four Panchayati villages namely Shivrampur, Dabar, Rautiana and Kundar in the Tikamgarh District of Madhya Pradesh, India. The range of watershed altitude above mean sea level (MSL) varies from 208 to 285 m.

Watershed is agro-climatic in nature among the Plateau Hill Region and suffers Central ecologically by hot moisture semi-arid and typical semi-arid sub-tropical features. The mean temperature of region varies from 3 °C to 49 °C. The geology and geomorphology of the watershed is characterized by hard rock terrains of archaen granite found below 8 m depth and disintegrated rock fragments locally called 'murram' are found between 25 to 800 cm depth. The soil of watershed is shallow (10-50 cm) variants of red soils, known as Parwa (Entisol) and Rakar (Alfisol) with having poor water holding capacity.

Base map of the basin is prepared in GIS environment by using ArcGIS ver. 10.3. Watershed geometry is systematic description which is understood by morphological characteristics of

watershed. To understand the geometry of drainage basin and its stream channel system, basically three morphometric measurements were adopted i.e. (i) linear aspect (ii) areal aspect (iii) relief aspect. The proper way of analysis is presented by the flow chart (figure 2) and formulations for morphometric measurements are tabulated in Table 1. DEM of watershed was downloaded from USGS by digital elevation through SRTM with spatial resolution of 30 m (figure 3). For best land use, slope map and contour map of the study area is shown in figure 4 and 5 respectively.

Results and Discussion

Various thematic maps including slope map, contour map and drainage network has been carried out for the GKD watershed. Percent areal extent in different DEM classes at GKD watershed is shown in Table 2. Slope was divided into eight classes as per guidelines of IMSD (1995) and tabulated in table 3. Similarly, various contours are listed in table 4. Natural drainage system of watershed is shown in figure 6. Various parameters of drainage network viz. drainage area, stream order, no. of stream, stream length and maximum length were calculated in GIS software and from these parameters various drainage characteristics such as bifurcation ratio (Rb), drainage density (D_d), stream frequency (Fs) circulatory ratio (Rc), elongation ratios (Re) were estimated for sustainable development of natural resource management. The field survey of study area was also carried out to find out the suitability of proposed artificial groundwater recharge structures.

Stream order is the first step for morphometric characteristics of the watershed and thereby, the stream ordering was ranked based on hierarchic ranking method proposed by Strahler (1964). Streams of the watershed were counted along with their length from mouth to drainage divide and measured with the help of ArcGIS 10.3 based on the law by Horton, (1945). The order wise stream numbers and stream length of the area was designated as first to fourth order and first to second order for treated and control watershed respectively. There was a decrease in stream frequency as the stream order increases (figure 7 & 8). The main stream (outlet) of watershed was found in 4th order stream of 0.02 km. Total length of stream segment was maximum in the first order stream of 8.46 km for treated watershed while in case of control watershed, total length of stream segment was 2.92 km (Table 5). The length of drainage path in treated and control watershed was found 3.18 km and 2.14 km respectively. There was a decrease in stream length as the stream order increases (figure 9 & 10). Such type of result indicated flowing of streams from high altitude, lithological variations, and moderately steep slopes. The mean stream length (L_{sm}) and stream length ratio (R_L) was also calculated which provided a



Figure 1: Location map of Garhkundar-Dabar (GKD) watershed

general idea about the permeability and its status in the region. The value of bifurcation ratio varied between 1.58 to 5 in treated watershed are characteristics of minimum structural disturbances while mean bifurcation ratio is observed as 2.99 and 1.5 in treated and control watershed respectively (Table 6). This indicated that the drainage pattern of the basin has not been affected by the structural disturbance (Nag, 1998).

The area enclosed by watershed boundary line is called drainage area. Drainage area of treated and control watershed was measured with the help of ArcGIS and recorded 850 ha (8.50 km^2) and 268 ha (2.68 km^2) respectively. The ratio of total number of stream segments of all orders to the area of watershed is called stream frequency or channel

frequency (Horton, 1932). The value of stream frequency (Fs) indicated positive correlation with the drainage density of the basin and suggesting that increase in stream population with respect to increase in drainage density. The estimated value of stream frequency for treated and control watershed was 4.35 and 3.73 exhibit positive correlation with the drainage density value of the area, indicating the increase in stream population with respect to increase in drainage density (Table 6). The value of drainage density of the area was recorded 2.09 and 2.10 km/km² for treated and control watershed respectively indicates low drainage density. This low drainage density shows the coarse drainage



419

Environment Conservation Journal



Figure 3: DEM of GKD Watershed

25°28'30"N

25°28'0"N

N"05"72°22

N..0.12.022

Z5°26'30"N

Z5°26'0"N

N"05'25'30"N

0 0.150.3

78°52'30"E

0.6 0.9

78°53'0"E



78°52'30"E

Z5°28'30"N

78°53'0"E 78°53'30"E 78°54'0"E 78°54'30"E

260

25°28'30"N

N"0'82°25

N..027'30"N

25°27'0"N

25°26'30"N

25°26'0"N

N"05°25'30"N

25°28'30"N

25°28'0"N

25°27'30"N

25°27'0"N

25°26'30"N

N.,0,92

250

25°25'30"N

Drainage order

Outlet

78°54'0"E

Ist order stream IInd order stream

IIIrd order stream

-IVth order stream

78°54'30"E

N

Contour

225

230

255

260

265

270

275

280

285

N

Figure 4: Slope map of GKD Watershed.

gend

Outlet

Ailes

78°53'30"E 78°54'0"E 78°54'30"E



Viles

78°53'30"E

420 Environment Conservation Journal

Z5°25'30"N

0 0.150.3

78°52'30"E

0.6

0.9

78°53'0"E

5.6-8.8%

8.8-12.9%

12.9-18.3%

18.3-25.4%

34.4-54.4%

25.4-34.4%

N"05'25'30"N



Figure 7: Relationship between stream number and stream order for treated watershed.





Figure 9: Relationship between stream length and stream order for treated watershed.



Figure 8: Relationship between stream number and stream order for control watershed

Figure 10: Relationship between stream length and stream order for control watershed.

pattern and semi-arid climate of the study area. The coarse texture gives more times for overland flow and hence leads to groundwater recharge. Smith (1950) has classified drainage density into five different classes. The drainage density less than 2 indicates very coarse, between 2 and 4 is related to coarse, between 4 and 6 is moderate, between 6 and 8 is fine and greater than 8 is very fine drainage texture. According to Horton (1932), form factor (R_f) may be defined as the ratio of basin area to square of the basin length. The value of form factor (R_f) was observed 0.49 and 0.25 for treated and control watershed respectively as per definition given by Horton (1932), suggested that the basin is elongated and would have lower peak flow foe longer duration. The value of elongation ratio (R_e) was found 0.79 and 0.57 for treated and control watershed respectively. The values of Re generally vary from 0.6 to 1.0 over a wide variety of climatic and geologic conditions. Values close to 1.0 are typical of regions of very low relief, whereas values in the range 0.6–0.8 are usually associated with high relief and steep ground slope (Strahler 1964). These values can be grouped into three categories namely (a) circular ([0.9), (b) oval (0.9–0.8), (c) elongated ((0.7)). The value of elongation ratio of the area was 0.79 indicated that the study area was elongated with high relief and steep ground slope. The circulatory ratio (R_c) was recorded 0.39 and 0.53 for treated and control watershed respectively

0.53 for treated and control watershed respectively (Table 6). Circulatory ratio influenced by the length and frequency of streams, geological structures, land use/land cover, climate, relief and slope of the basin. Circularity ratios range 0.4–0.5 which indicates strongly elongated and highly permeable homogenous geology. The value of circulatory ratio was 0.39 indicated that the basin is elongated in shape, has low discharge of runoff and is highly permeability of the subsoil condition. Vertical distance from the highest elevation point of watershed to the point of mouth of that particular watershed is called basin relief or total relief.

Morphor	netric parameters	Methods	References
Linear	Stream order (U)	Hierarchical order	Strahler, 1964
aspect	Stream number (Nu)	Number of streams of each order	Strahler, 1964
	Stream length (Lu)	Length of the stream	Horton, 1945
	Mean stream length	Lsm = Lu/Nu where, Lu=Stream length of order 'U'	Horton, 1945
	(Lsm)	Nu=Total number of stream segments of order 'U'	
	Stream length	$R_L = Lu/Lu-1$; where Lu=Total stream length of order	Horton, 1945
	ratio (R _L)	'U', Lu-1=Stream length of next lower order.	
	Bifurcation	Rb = Nu/ Nu+1; where, Nu=Total number of stream	Horton, 1932
	ratio (Rb)	segment of order'u'; Nu+1=Number of segment of next	
		higher order	
	Length of overland	Lof = 1/2Dd where, $Dd=Drainage$ density	Horton, 1945
	flow (Lof)		
Areal	Drainage density (D _d)	$D_d = L/A$ where,	Horton, 1945
aspect		L=Total length of streams;A=Area of watershed	
	Constant channel	$Lof = 1/D_d$ where,	Horton, 1945
	maintenance (C)	D _d =Drainage density	
	Stream frequency (Fs)	Fs = N/A where,	Horton, 1945
		N=Total number of streams; A=Area of watershed	
	Drainage texture ratio	$T = N_1/P$ where, N_1 =Total number of first	Horton, 1945
	(T)	order streams; P=Perimeter of watershed	
	Form factor (R_f)	$R_f = A/(L_b) 2$; where, A=Area of watershed,	Horton, 1932
		L_b =Basin length	1050
	Circulatory ratio	Rc= $4\pi A/P2$; where, A=Area of watershed,	Miller, 1953
		$\pi = 3.14$, P=Perimeter of watershed	0.1 1056
	Elongation ratio	Re= $2N(A/\pi)/L_b$; where, A=Area of watershed, π =3.14,	Schumn,1956
	(Re)	L _b =Basin length	
Relief	Basin relief (B _b)	Vertical distance between the lowest and highest points	Schumn, 1956
aspect		ofwatershed.	,
	Relief ratio (R _h)	$R_{h}=B_{h}/L_{b}$; where, $B_{h}=Basin$ relief; $L_{b}=Basin$ length	Schumn, 1956
	Ruggedness number	$R_n = B_h \times D_d$; where, B_h =Basin relief; D_d =Drainage	Strahler, 1958
	(\mathbf{R}_n)	density	
	Relative relief (R_r)	$R_{r=}B_{h}/B_{p}$; where, B_{h} =Basin relief; B_{p} =Basin perimeter	Melton (1957)

 Table 1: Analytical approaches for morphometric measurements.

Table 2: Areal extent of various DEM classes in GKD watershed

Sr. No.	DEM classes (m)	Area (ha)	Area (%)	DEM classes (m)	Area (ha)	Area (%)	
	Catchment-I (Trea	ted)		Catchment-II (Cor	Catchment-II (Control)		
1	208-217	129.96	15.29	208-211	17.73	6.61	
2	218-224	175.69	20.67	212-214	31.41	11.72	
3	225-230	196.46	23.11	215-217	36.9	13.76	
4	231-236	192.80	22.68	218-220	50.94	19.00	
5	237-242	73.27	8.62	221-224	37.44	13.96	
6	243-250	39.96	4.70	225-228	44.64	16.65	
7	251-259	19.98	2.35	229-231	25.65	9.57	
8	260-269	14.85	1.75	232-233	13.05	4.87	
9	270-285	7.03	0.83	234-239	10.35	3.86	
	Total	850.00	100.00		268.11	100.00	

Sr. no.	Slope (%)	Area (ha)	Area (%)	Slope (%)	Area (ha)	Area (%)		
	Catchment-I (T	reated)		Catchment-II (Control)				
1	0-2.50	200.34	23.57	0-1.77	51.48	19.20		
2	2.64-5.56	262.71	30.91	1.86-3.58	66.33	24.74		
3	5.59-8.76	190.17	22.37	3.73-5.83	67.41	25.14		
4	8.84-13.08	105.39	12.40	5.89-7.93	39.42	14.70		
5	13.18-18.46	48.09	5.66	8.01-10.09	25.2	9.40		
6	18.50-25.34	23.31	2.74	10.14-12.49	11.43	4.26		
7	25.53-34.32	14.03	1.65	12.5-15.15	4.95	1.85		
8	34.42-54.80	5.96	0.70	15.47-20.17	1.89	0.70		
Total		850	100.00		268.11	100.00		

Table 3: Areal extent of various slope classes in GKD watershed

Table 4: Linear extent of various contour classes in GKD watershed

Sr. No.	Contour (m)	Number of	Length of	Contour (m)	Number of	Length of	
	Catchment-	I (Treated)	contour (km)	Catchment-II (Control)			
1	210	5	3.45	210	6	3.98	
2	215	9	12.00	215	10	6.71	
3	220	19	11.94	220	19	11.11	
4	225	18	25.60	225	11	5.56	
5	230	26	27.86	230	12	5.23	
6	235	37	22.95	235	11	1.69	
7	240	19	10.87				
8	245	9	7.58				
9	250	5	5.55				
10	255	5	4.47				
11	260	5	3.97				
12	265	6	2.48				
13	270	3	1.48				
14	275	3	0.83				
15	280	1	0.46				
16	285	1	0.06				

Table 5: Characterization of drainage network

Parameters	Ist order	Ist order IInd order		IVth order
Treated watershed				
No. of streams	19	12	5	1
Min. length (km)	0.08	0.08	0.08	0.02
Max. length (km)	1.43	1.49	1.65	0.02
Mean stream length (km)	0.45	0.55	0.53	0.02
Total length(km)	8.46	6.61	2.66	0.02
Control watershed				
No. of streams	6.00	4.00		
Min. length (km)	0.09	0.53		
Max. length (km)	1.25	0.89		
Mean stream length (km)	0.45	0.72		
Total length(km)	2.72	2.91		

 Table 6: Morphometric characteristics of Garhkundar Dabar watershed

Linear aspect:

	Stream order	No of streams	Stream length (km)	Mean stream length (km)	Stream length ratio	Bifurcatio n ratio	Mean bifurcatio n ratio	Length of main channel (km)	Length of overlan d flow (km)	Basin length (km)	Basin perimete r (km)	Finenes s ratio
Treated	Ist	19	8.46	0.45	0.00	1.58						
watersh	IInd	12	6.61	0.55	0.78	2.40	2.99	4.55	0.24	4.16	16.63	0.25
ed	IIIrd	5	2.66	0.53	0.40	5.00						
	IVth	1	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.00						
Control	Ist	6	2.92	0.49	1.07	1.50						
watersh	IInd	4	2.71	0.68			1.50	2.84	0.24	3.27	7.99	0.41
ed												

Areal Aspect:

	Drainage	Drainage	Constant of	Stream	Form	Circulatory	Elongation	Unity	Watershed	Drainage
	area (sq	density	channel	frequency	factor	ratio	ratio	shape	shape	texture
	km)		maintenance					factor	factor	ratio
Treated	8.5	2.09	0.48	4.35	0.49	0.39	0.79	1.43	1.38	2.23
watershed										
Control	2.68	2.10	0.48	3.73	0.25	0.53	0.57	2.00	1.54	1.25
watershed										

Relief Aspect:

	Total relief (m)	Relief ratio	Ruggedness number	Relative relief
Treated watershed	77	0.02	0.16	0.005
Control watershed	31	0.01	0.07	0.004

In this study, total relief was recorded 77 and 31 m for treated and control watershed respectively. The relief ratio was found as 0.02 and 0.01 for treated and control watershed respectively showed the major portion of the basin having gentle slope (Table 6). The relief ratio normally increases with the decreasing drainage area and size of the subwatersheds of a given drainage basin (Gottschalk, 1964). It measures the overall steepness of a drainage basin and is an indicator of the intensity of the erosion processes operation on the slope of the basin.

Conclusion

The morphometric analysis carried out for the GKD watershed confirms that stream length decreases as the stream order increases and such type of result indicates flowing of streams from high altitude, lithological variations, and moderately steep slopes. Mean bifurcation ratio indicated that the drainage pattern of the basin had not been affected by the structural disturbance. Low drainage density of the area showed the coarse drainage pattern and semi-arid climate of the study area. The value of form factor indicated that the basin was elongated and would have lower peak flow for longer duration. The value of elongation ratio of the area indicated that the study area was elongated with high relief

References

- Agarwal, C.S., (1998). Study of drainage pattern through aerial data in Naugarh area of Varanasi district U.P. *Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing*, 26: 169-175.
- Gottscalk, L.C. (1964). Reservoir sedimentation. In: V. T. Chow (edition), Handbook of Applied Hydrology. *McGraw Hill Book Company, New York, Section* 7-1.
- Hema H.C., Govindaiah S., Lakshmi S., Surendra, H.J., (2021). Prioritization of sub-watersheds of the Kanakapura Watershed in the Arkavathi River Basin, Karnataka, Indiausing remote sensing and GIS. *Geol, Ecol, Landscapes*, 5(2):149–160.
- Horton, R.E., (1932). Drainage basin characteristics. *Trans.* Am. Geophys. Union, 13, pp. 350-360.
- Horton, R.E., (1945). Erosional development of stream and their drainage basin. Hydrogeological approach to quantitative morphology, *Bulleting of Geological Society of America*, 56, pp. 275-370.

and steep ground slope. The value of circulatory ratio indicated that the basin was elongated in shape, had low discharge of runoff and highly permeability of the subsoil condition. This analysis will be used as a guideline for site suitability and sustainable development of natural resource management. Study also shows that GIS techniques have efficient tools in delineation of the drainage pattern to understanding the status of land form and their processes, drainage management and evolution of groundwater potential for watershed planning and management. This work will be useful for sustainable development of natural resource management.

Acknowledgement

Authors express warm thanks to ICAR-Central Agroforestry Research Institute, Jhansi and Garhkundar-Dabar (GKD) watershed for providing important research data and other institute members who have contributed their amicable knowledge to achieve the object. Authors are also thankful to UGC, Govt. of India for economically supports with Grant no. of BININ01682573.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

- Jena, R.K., Dandabat, A.K. (2019). Estimation of morphometric study on Shetrunji river using remote sensing and GIS. ISH - Hydro 2019 International Conference-Osmania University.
- Kumar, T., Tripathi, M.P., Katre, P., Tiwari, P. (2016). Groundwater recharge plan for Durg district of Chhattisgarh using satellite data and GIS technique. *Agric. Res. J.*, 53 (2): 234-242.
- Melton, M.A. (1957) An analysis of the relations among elements of climate, surface properties and geomorphology. *Dept. Geol., Columbia University, Technical Report*, 11, Proj.NR389-042. off. of Nav. Res., New York.
- Miller VC (1953) A quantitative geomorphic study of drainage basin characteristics in the clinch mountain area. *Tech Report-3. Dep Geology, Columbia Univ.*
- Nag, S.K., (1998). Morphometric Analysis using Remote Sensing Techniques in the Chaka Sub-watershed, Purulia

- District, West Bengal. Journal of the Indian Society of Remote Sensing, 26 (1&2), 69-76.
- Obi Reddy, G.E., Maji A.K., Gajbhiye K.S., (2002). GIS for Morphometric Analysis of drainage basins, *GIS India*, 4, pp. 9-14.
- Pati, G.C. (2019). Master plan for artificial recharge to groundwater in India. *Ministry of Jal Shakti, Govt. of India*.
- Salvi, S.S., Mukhopadhyay, S., Ranade, S.D., Rajagopalan, A. (2017). Morphometric Analysis of River Drainage Basin/Watershed using GIS and RS: A Review. Int J Res Appl Sci Engineering Technology, 5(V).
- Schumm SA (1956). Evolution of drainage systems and slopes in Badlands at Perth Amboy, New Jersey, Geol Soc Am Bull 67 : 597—646.
- Smith KG (1950). Standards for grading texture of erosional topography. *Am J Sci* 248:655–668
- Strahler, A.N. (1958). Dimentional analysis applied to fluvially eroded landforms. *Bull. Geol. Soc.Am.*, v. 69. pp. 279-299.
- Strahler, A.N., (1964). Quantitative geomorphology of drainage basins and channel networks In: *Handbook of* applied hydrology. Section 4—11. McGraw Hill Book Co, New York.
- Publisher's Note: ASEA remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and figures.

Subscription/ Membership Information

Membership of Action for Sustainable Efficacious Development and Awareness (ASEA), INDIA is open for all those interested in the field of environment. There are two types of membership's available *i.e* Annual Membership and Life[#] Membership. All Members are entitled to get Environment Conservation Journal free and are entitled to submit their papers/ articles for publication in the journal.

MEMBERSHIP FORM/ SUBSCRIPTION FORM

Name	
Designation	
Qualification	
Organization	
Address	
Electronic Addres	S
Telephone	Fax Number

Type of Membership	Annual []	Life [#] []
Attach Biodata along wi	th this applic	ation		

Subscription/Membership Fee

	India		Abroad		
	Annual (In Rs.)	Life [#] (In Rs.)	Annual (In US\$)	Life [#] (In US\$)	
Individual	2000	15000	75	1000	
Institutional	5000	25000	250	2500	

All remittance should be paid by DD in the name of Environment Conservation Journal, Payable at Haridwar (U.K.) India, and be sent to Prof. D.R. Khanna, 405-Vivek Vihar, Ranipur More Haridwar, 249407 (Uttarakhand), INDIA. For and queries or enquiries you may contact us on <u>environcj@gmail.com</u>

[#]Note: Life membership is for 10 years

Xerox of this form may be used if required Website: www.environcj.in

